SYRIA BETWEEN BYZANTIUM AND ISLAM: MAKING INCOMMENSURABLES SPEAK

Volume 1

Jack Boulos Victor Tannous

A DISSERTATION

PRESENTED TO THE FACULTY

OF PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE

OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

RECOMMENDED FOR ACCEPTANCE

BY THE DEPARTMENT OF

HISTORY

Adviser: Peter Brown

November 2010

© Copyright by Jack Boulos Victor Tannous, 2010. All rights reserved.

Abstract

This dissertation deals with the social and cultural history of the Middle East in the Late Antique and early medieval periods. It attempts to address two large historiographic questions—the character of the Byzantine Dark Ages and nature of early Christian-Muslim interactions—from the perspective of the Aramaic-speaking Christian population of the Middle East. The first section focuses on the sophisticated intellectual culture that developed among Syriac-speaking Christians in the Late Antique and early medieval periods and contrasts its efflorescence with the fate of Greek at the same time. It is argued that the Greco-Arabic translation movement of Abbasid Baghdad represents the culmination of a Syriac tradition of scholarship which stretches back to Late Antiquity. The second section of the dissertation seeks to answer the question of why such a culture of scholarship and translation should have developed in the Syriac-speaking world when it did. The nature of interconfessional relations between Christian groups is examined and it is argued that Middle Eastern Christianity in the early medieval period was characterized by a diversity of Christian groups whose separation into distinct churches was only partial, with a consequent intense competition between these groups for adherents. It was this diversity and competition that fueled the development of the flourishing intellectual culture encountered in the first section of the dissertation. It is argued, moreover, that much of the intellectual activity which was taking place among Miaphysites was being driven by the needs of a curriculum of study for educating a distinctly Miaphysite clergy. The final section of the dissertation attempts to understand the place of Islam in the picture of the early medieval Middle East given in the first two sections. Christian-Muslim interaction and religious conversion are examined, as are Late Antique continuities into an Islamic context. Just as the history of Byzantine culture is more than Greek, I argue, the history of the Middle East is much more than the history of the politicallydominant Muslim minority which ruled it: we cannot understand early Islam unless we see it as a minority religion taking shape among a majority population adhering to highly-sophisticated and more ancient rival confessions.

For my Father, Boulos Issa Tannous. In gratitude for everything.

Acknowledgements

Looking back on my time at Princeton, I feel a profound gratitude for all that has been given to me by so many generous friends and teachers. The debts I have incurred are too many to enumerate and too great to ever hope to pay back. Indeed, it is with not a little bit of fear and trembling that I sit down to write out my acknowledgments—fear that I will unintentionally omit to mention the kindness and help of one or more people and trembling to think that it might upset them or give them cause for offense. This dissertation, to the extent that it contains anything worthwhile, is a product of the things I have been taught and learned from dozens of people all over the world over the course of more than a decade. I feel almost as if my sole role has been to try to integrate what others have taught me into one vaguely coherent text.

Before I get to my time at Princeton, I should mention my two previous academic homes, for friends and teachers (and teachers who became friends) at both places helped not a little amount in my intellectual formation, such as it has been. At the University of Texas, it was Denise Spellberg who first got me excited about the history of the Middle East. I can still recall vividly the amazement, curiosity and delight her classes stirred up in me. After my last class with her and even for years after I left Texas, Denise continued to be a source of support and encouragement. It would not be inaccurate to say that had I never stumbled, through a series of fortuitously interlocking circumstances, in my first semester at UT into her Intro to the Middle East class, this dissertation would never have been written and I may never have formally studied the Middle East. She should not, of course, be blamed or punished for that fact, however. Also at Texas, Professor Peter Abboud and Dr. Aman Attieh gave me a deep love for the Arabic language and an ability to speak and read its classical form with an ease and facility that has served me well for years now. Peter Abboud in particular, who speaks the most beautiful Arabic of anybody I have ever met, anywhere, taught me much in the classroom about the grammar and elegance of Arabic; he also taught me about dignity, character, and faith. I feel blessed and fortunate to have had to the chance to meet and study with such a wonderful person, a Yafawī, no less, who knew my family in Mandatory Palestine.

I came to Oxford a kid from Texas, full of enthusiasm to study Eastern Christianity but with little knowledge of the subject. I had the good fortune of landing in the classroom of Sebastian Brock in his last year of teaching there. Words cannot express the wonder of being able to sit at the feet, so to speak, of the master, and learn about Syriac literature and history from him. The bibliography and footnotes of this dissertation are only faint indications of the amount I (and everybody else in Syriac studies) have learned from the *malphono rabo*. It was back in the spring of 2003 that Sebastian suggested to me in his office in the Oriental Institute on Pusey Lane that I work on the letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes. The genesis of this dissertation and my specific interest in the early medieval Middle East in large part go back to studying those letters and trying to understand the world from which they emerged. Sebastian's successor, David Taylor, was my teacher my second year at Oxford and I learned an enormous amount from him about not only Syriac but about a number of other kinds of Aramaic, too. David taught me more than Aramaic, however. He was also a model for me of how a teacher should be—always willing to do new things and follow the interests of the students, wherever they lead, even when it required much work and sleepless nights on the part of the instructor. I found solace and justification for my own owl-ish behavior in David's love of the wee hours of the morning as the time to do his work. Over the years, David has become a late night email correspondent, a source of sage comments and advice, and a constant supporter and advocate. He has stayed my teacher, even after I left Oxford. But he has moreover become my good friend. The corrections he sent to me at the last second saved me from a huge number of shameful mistakes and typos in this dissertation; yet another reason to feel gratitude to him. Also at Oxford, Alison Salvesen taught me Septuagint, patiently read large amounts of Christian Greek with me and, since I left has, like David, become a supporter, advisor and friend. I feel great pride and thankfulness to have had the chance to be part of Syriac studies at Oxford.

At Princeton, my good fortune of having a large number of gifted and generous teachers continued. Michael Cook inducted me into the tradition of Islamic studies in one of the most challenging and stimulating courses I have taken in my entire life. Professor Cook's enthusiasm for and delight in his subject is something which is truly to be emulated. His meticulously close reading of papers is another. Throughout my time at Princeton, Professor Cook has organized lively and very useful seminars in a variety of specialized subjects which have added extra dimensions to my education there. The Ibn Taymiyya course he funded and sponsored, with its attendant conference, was one of the academic highlights of my time in graduate school. Professor Cook's written work has also been a stimulus to me, going back to my time as an undergraduate. This dissertation is in part an attempt to offer my own humble take on and questions and problems he raised long ago and which have provided me with food for thought and contemplation for years. I have also benefitted from conversations and advice from Professor Cook during my entire time as a graduate student.

William Chester Jordan was another very important part of my formation at Princeton. I came there with no intention of studying the High Middle Ages—indeed, not even knowing that it was a field—but because of his influence, at one point I wondered whether Professor Jordan might just seduce me into his period. But my Latin was not good enough and so the Syriac-speaking Orient was stuck with me. Professor Jordan's razor-sharp mind, exacting high standards, love of words and love for language, appreciation of beautiful style and lively, intense, seminars (and bad, corny jokes) will always come to my mind when I look back on my first two years of graduate school at Princeton. I will also always think of him when I ponder the question of why Vikings would need a king. Professor Jordan gave me a sense for the tradition of Princeton History and for its importance in the wider field of historical studies. Beyond the academic realm, Professor Jordan's concern for and constant mentoring of his graduate students, thoughtfulness and advocacy on their behalves, not to mention his character and integrity made him someone to look up to both inside and outside the seminar room. I believe that five Wild Turkeys, some of them neater than others, once told him that he was a role model; I tend to agree.

John Haldon came to Princeton my second year there and it is hard to imagine my education as an historian having been complete had I not studied with him. Professor Haldon introduced me to the field of Byzantine studies, awoke me to the importance of economic and administrative history, gave me a great appreciation for Marxist historical analysis, made it possible for me to take part in real archaeological survey work. And more. Professor Haldon has also, like others, been an advocate and supporter in all that I have done. I can attest as well that he is also one who looks out for and takes care of his graduate students. What is more, in Princeton, in Turkey and in Austria, I have had not a small amount of fun listening to Professor Haldon recount memorable stories of escapades, high crimes and misdemeanors. I am grateful for all the help he has been to me at Princeton, all the good times I have had with him at Princeton, in Austria and in Turkey, and of course, for all that he has taught me about thinking about the past in a rigorous and analytical way.

Other teachers should also be mentioned: Mark Cohen, who taught me about the Geniza and who taught me about dhimmis. Shahab Ahmed and Yossi Rapoport, who taught me about Ibn Taymiyya and his times. Danny Curcic, who let me sit in on his undergraduate courses and graduate seminars and who taught me about Byzantine art and architecture, both in the classroom and seminar room, but also at a number of different Hellenic Studies events over the years and even in Greece. Manolis Papoutsakis, who taught me to keep Nöldeke's grammar within arm's reach at all times. Patricia Crone, whose seminar I took (well, sort of—at least half of it) and who generously let me attend closed events at the Institute for Advanced Studies, whose written work has influenced me quite a bit, and whose comments on part of this dissertation, at the very end, proved unsurprisingly challenging and incisive. Aron Zysow, who taught me usul al-figh and kalām, but who also taught me an enormous amount about the history of scholarship and bibliography and engaged me in no small number of fascinating and stimulating conversations in and around B-floor. It is as a person who holds the love of scholarly labor as an ideal that I say with the greatest respect that Professor Zysow is perhaps the clearest living example of philoponia I can think of. And that's saying a lot. He plays purely and solely for the love of the game. Maria Mavroudi's presence for two of my years here at Princeton was a true pleasure and I profited enormously from both study with her and conversation with her about scholarship. Her enthusiasm and curiosity was as infectious as her mastery of Greek was humbling. David Armstrong, who taught me Greek at Texas, has been a friend, visitor and general source of delight over the years. Dimitri Gondicas has been a supporter and constant source of encouragement for my entire time at Princeton. Hellenic Studies which, I have maintained for a long time, is the classiest outfit on a campus full of classy organizations, felt like home for me while I was a graduate student. I cannot even begin to count how many HLS classes I took, how many lunches I attended, how many evening talks I was present at, not to mention the funding HLS gave me for various summer escapades and for my studies at Princeton. Though I never took a class with Heath Lowry, I learned a great deal from him at the Prodromos Monastery in Serres and at Hellenic Studies events and feel fortunate for the time he so generously shared with me.

There are scholars at other institutions to be thanked as well: several discussions with Robert Hoyland at key moments in my research and writing provided

me with important insights and food for thought. On more than one occasion, John Watt gave me tips and guidance which proved enormously helpful. Bas ter haar Romeny was generous in conversation and in giving me a copy of his important edited volume on Jacob of Edessa. Luk van Rompay was similarly generous in conversation and information. Muriel Debié always discussed Syriac matters with me with a charity and good humor that went neither unnoticed nor unappreciated.

When it comes to friends, I do not even know where to begin. Since my time at Texas, Gene Fojtik has been a dear friend and constant intellectual interlocutor. Scott Johnson is a person whom I think I have learned something from in every conversation I have had with him over the past seven years. He has pushed me and challenged me in ways which I have always appreciated and profited from. Bob Kitchen was a fellow lover of Syriac and a wonderful source of encouragement, both when he was here in Princeton and when he has been in Regina; he also took time between weddings and baptisms on a weekend in late September to cast a critical eye at this dissertation and for that I am grateful. Seeing Tom and Lynn Charles and Professor Charles West and his wife, Ruth, every Sunday at church was always a highlight of the week for me and brought sunshine even during the darkest times. George and Christine Kiraz have been generous and hospitable in ways beyond belief to me for years; *philoxenia* is still alive and indeed, flourishes, in their home in Piscataway. When I taught at Rutgers, Christine would cook me a wonderful dinner of Middle Eastern food on Wednesday nights. Sitting and talking with them about Syriac over her Mardinli fare for an entire semester was another one of many highlights of my time at Princeton. George's generosity to me in giving me books and helping me in other ways has been a great boon to my research. Without his help, I more than likely would not have been able to get hold of the Karshūnī Life of Theodota of Amid, which played such an important role in my research for this dissertation. I can only say *tawdi sagi* to them for everything and feel the weight of its inadequacy to express gratitude as I do it. Hidemi Takahashi and Andreas Jueckel are two other Syriac pilgrims whose conversation I have enjoyed and benefitted from. Kristian Heal has been a partner in crime for some time now and his work in making rare Syriac printed material widely available will gain him, I hope, treasure in heaven. It has certainly earned him gratitude in my heart. In Aleppo, Bishop Mar Gregorios Yuhanna Ibrahim was a wonderful host and source of encouragement for my work; he made it possible for me to visit the site of Qenneshre. In Jerusalem, Bishop Sawiros Malki and Abouna Shemoun Jan showed me hospitality that would have made Abraham proud and allowed me to photograph the *Life* of Theodota at St Mark's Monastery. Columba Stewart—a fellow Texan, fellow Houstonian, and fellow Syriacist and enthusiast for manuscripts—and his work at the Hill Museum and Manuscript Library made my dissertation possible in a way that would have been inconceivable even when I entered Princeton through making difficult-if-not-impossible-to-obtain Middle Eastern mss. readily available to me. All the mss. from Mardin which are cited in this dissertation were made possible by the work of HMML's amazing digitalization initiatives. Columba's friendship is yet another one which I have been blessed by.

One of the best things about Princeton for me was the rich community of graduate students from whom I learned an enormous amount about history and also about life. Uri Simonsohn, Yaron Ayalon, Alan Verskin, Krisztina Szilagyi, Amr Osman

and Intisar Rabb in NES (Hey Intisar, ... This is It!) were all good friends and people who taught me much. Luke and Aubrey Yarbrough were thoughtful and generous friends as well, interaction with whom I always appreciated. Luke's detailed comments on my dissertation went above and beyond the call of duty and saved me from many embarrassing errors. George Hatke was both roommate and friend; his staggering erudition was a source of constant profit, amazement and enjoyment for me. Yossi Witztum was something of an intellectual kindred spirit who taught me more than he will ever know or probably want to know and whose conversation I invariably enjoyed and benefitted from. His amazingly meticulous, close reading of this dissertation in its final stages saved me from embarrassing translation and transcription errors. Alden Young and Mike Woldemariam were two friends whose company I also not only thoroughly enjoyed every time I had the privilege to share it: they were also two friends whom I learned a great deal from and I feel grateful to have had the chance get to know them. Fadzilah Yahaya was a friend whose thoughtful support and generous cooking were also crucial in getting me through the tribulations of graduate school. Conversations with Jessica Lowe in the study room and elsewhere were always a source of delight, as was correspondence with her. Valeria Lopez-Fadul's encouragement and conversation helped with the dissertation at the end. Helen Pfeifer was another valued interlocutor. Manu Radhakrishnan's constant encouragement was always appreciated. Loubna El Amine, Katie Ghantous, Manar Moursi and Chantal Hayek were always and unfailingly a lot of fun. Loubna was maybe the only person I knew in Princeton who was always willing to dance, perhaps even more than I. Hanging out with Chantal Hayek in New York and talking about the ism fā'il and the maf'ūl bihi—among other things—made one hot summer quite cool. Bob Macgregor and Zack Chitwood cooked for me and made Hibben 1S the best apartment a grad student could hope for during my fifth year. You guys were really just great. Living with Karam Nachar was both an introduction to and a graduate seminar in post-colonial theory and subaltern studies. If he reads this dissertation, he will see his influence on me in more than one place. Late-night debates with Karam about the Middle East, about the Arabic language, about politics, about religion, about the *ancien régime* and everything else were for both of us, I think, sometimes exasperating but always fun and a source of new knowledge and insight. Nancy Khalek provided me good advice and acted as something of a mentor early in my time at Princeton and even after she left. Similarly, Dan Schwartz gave me more help and guidance than he probably realizes and has been a close and valued friend for years. Princeton felt much the poorer for me after he left. Travelling around Syria and Lebanon with him and Richard Payne was truly the trip of a lifetime. Richard, of course, who came in the same year as I did, taught me much about life and scholarship both in seminars and in discussions and debates we held on at least three different continents. Whatever happens in life, Richard and Dan, we'll always have Ugarit. Damian Fernandez helped recruit me to come to Princeton; I still remember how we sat in Chancellor Green cafe and spoke in Spanish and how he told me of the wonders of Borrow Direct. During my time there we took classes together and became good friends, hanging out in Princeton, New York, San Diego and even Vienna. He is my favorite *tangero* and the mention of his name conjures up pleasant associations. I hope we'll be able to hang out in Chicago and DC, soon. David Michelson, Craig Caldwell, and Ariel Lopez, other members of the Late Antique Tribe, were also valued

friends, with whom I had good times, and great discussions and from whom I feel fortunate to have learned. Christian Sahner, whom I knew as an undergrad and whom I had the happy opportunity to re-connect when he returned as a graduate student was a valued friend and confidant. Thomas Carlson had a Syriac soul which I always appreciated. It was with happiness and profit that I got to know Joe Ricci and Lain Wilson at the end of my time in Princeton. At the very end of the dissertation ordeal, when I was at Dumbarton Oaks, the unforgettable Christian Flow caught and saved me from a few embarrassing typos. Also at the very end, Jeannette Rizk made things very interesting.

In my six years at Princeton, the Revolting Masses, our History Department softball team, won the league championship two times and this past summer, if I had dived for a certain low-hit fly ball to the outfield in the bottom of the last inning, we may have won a third. It's one of those historical counterfactuals which I'll think about for a long time. The Masses had nothing to contribute to my dissertation, but they contributed much to my life. To Tom, Angie, Eric, Andy, Bob, Bill, Chris, Nick, James, Tom, John M., Evan, John S., Bland, Joe, and all the others: thanks guys, for all the great memories, all the fun Saturday mornings and summer evenings, more than one magical first week of August, the goofy emails and sarcasm, the bad pizza at Conte's and mediocre food at the Annex, child-size servings of spaghetti, lobster from Maine and missing car keys, Purple Thunder, the News Print Bat, dunking volleyballs, 'Sleepless in Seattle,' and everything else. The Revolting Masses are one of the best institutions in a town full of great institutions and I feel grateful to have worn the red for as long as I did.

The inimitable Lena Salaymeh, an iconoclastic firebrand with a passion for early Islamic history, descended on Princeton in the Fall of 2007 from Berkeley, making it probably the most memorable of many memorable semesters for me at Princeton. Ideas discussed and debated with Lena appear throughout this dissertation, which has benefitted enormously from her insights. Her encouragement and subtle editorial advice have been great boons to me in my time at Princeton and it has always been with great fondness that I look back on her time there.

I met Tom Boeve when I was still a student at Oxford. Little did I know then, Tom would become one of my closest friends at Princeton. His quiet confidence, cool demeanor, sage advice and encouragement meant more to me than he will ever realize.

My first memory of meeting Sara Brooks was, I think, at the old Annex (of sacred memory) many moons ago. Sara drove me around, sometimes even across state lines, she cooked amazing meals, she ate with me at Zorba's way too many times, she listened to me ramble about just about everything, she endured more awful movies of my choosing than any one human being should be forced to suffer through; she was also one of the most considerate and thoughtful people whom I knew while at Princeton and my time there would have been different and poorer had she not been around.

Jeremy Friedman was my roommate for three years in graduate school and he is one of the smartest people I have ever met; I learned an enormous amount about many things from him. He invited me into his home, introduced me to his family, taught me about Judaism, international relations and the Mets. Jeremy also helped me to see things about my dissertation that I couldn't (or didn't) see myself. He is one of my closest friends and I feel grateful for having had the chance to get to know him and learn so much from him.

Larry Stratton, Tom's roommate, became another one of my closest friends at Princeton. Our lunches every Sunday after church at Nassau Pres were the pivot around which my week revolved. We would discuss life and school, politics, the starry sky above, the moral law within, and everything in between. 3 AM runs to the airport or trips to the US Open Tennis finals were all part of what it meant to be in Larry's universe. Larry's thoughtfulness, his generosity, his irrepressible smile and enthusiasm made the lives of a number of graduate students both at Princeton Theological Seminary as well as Princeton University much brighter and richer. First and foremost, mine.

I met Markus Kohl in my room in Staircase 34 at Oriel College, Oxford, in the fall of 2002. He wore all black and what at the time seemed to be combat boots. I had no idea at the time that this philosophy student with a view of the world that would make Schopenhauer look like an optimist would become one of my closest friends. For all the conversations, over all the years, at Oxford, but especially at Princeton, for all his support, his advice, his patience, his encouragement, his sympathy, his empathy, his toleration of my sophistries and his vitiation of the livability criterion, for opening his house in Trier to me, for everything, I can only say thank you so very much. Vielen, vielen dank.

Jaimiaal Jordan is someone whom I first met when I was 10 years old. He has been a source of support and encouragement to me throughout my life and knows me better than almost anyone in the world. He is more than a friend: he is family. I am grateful to him for the help he was to me, in good times and bad, at UT, at Oxford, at Princeton and now in Washington, DC, where, to my delight, we are neighbors.

I met John-Paul Ghobrial in September 2002 on a night flight across the Atlantic. Fate had us seated next to one another. We were both Marshall Scholars and we quickly became close friends while at Oxford. Without knowing what the other was doing, we both applied to and got into the Princeton History Department. I could not have made it through Princeton without JP's help. He is my best friend. When JP was in Princeton, I once said, I felt like I could breathe with both lungs. Much of this dissertation has been discussed and batted around with him and the final product, whatever its merits, is much improved for having had John Paul's insights to ponder over the years. Our good times have been too many and too much fun to recount; being around JP is like living in an episode of 'Seinfeld.' Among other things, he is the greatest dancer I know and possessed of a delicious wit. Beyond this, I have learned as much from him as I have from any class or any seminar; it was JP who encouraged me to go for the 'big questions' and not just be an antiquarian. I don't know that I have succeeded in looking at some of the big questions, but I have thought about his challenge for years. When I think of JP, I always think of that line from Sirach: $\varphi(\lambda) \varphi(\lambda)$ πιστὸς φάρμακον ζωῆς. At the end of my time in Princeton, I battled a volcano to fly to England and be the best man in John-Paul's wedding. Another JP adventure I will never forget. Thanks for everything, habibi. Thank you so much.

Peter and Betsy Brown have been wonderful to me in their generosity, their hospitality, their concern and their help. I learned so much from both of them over the course of more dinners and desserts at their house than I can remember. Professor

Brown's boundless and unfailing enthusiasm and encouragement, his apposite comments, his helpful references, his close reading and insightful suggestions, his gentle proddings—all these and more helped shepherd this dissertation along the stages of life's way. Professor Brown taught me as much or more outside of the classroom as in it, not only at his house, but at GSLA meetings, at Hellenic Studies lunches and events; he even had the patience to once sit and listen to me vent about intellectual frustrations when I caught him after a dinner on campus once. What is more, Professor Brown's belief in and encouragement of the importance of travel and of seeing the places one writes about made it possible for me to visit important places in both the Middle East and Europe, knowledge of which added dimensions to my understanding of my area of study which are as hard to precisely articulate as they are real and palpable. I could not have asked for a better adviser in graduate school and I feel enormously blessed to have had the privilege of studying with him and learning from him. And one special and unexpected joy of my time at Princeton was becoming a pen pal of sorts with Betsy, whose encouraging notes were always something I greatly appreciated and treasured.

My brother, Issa, and my sister, Kate, have been there for me through the years and I could not have survived graduate school without them. My mother, Candace, too, who gave me a love of language and a love of the past and taught me how to write.

Finally, I should thank my father, Boulos, whom I have spoken with almost every day, often multiple times a day, from all over the world, for the twelve years I have been in school, for this thoughtfulness and concern, for his generosity, for his encouragement, for his faith in me, for his love. Of all the many people who have helped me as I wrote this dissertation, it was he who helped me the most. And not just with the dissertation, but with life. He has been the rock of support which makes everything I do possible. I dedicate this dissertation to him as a small token of gratitude for all that he has done for me and for being better than the best father anyone could have ever asked for. *Alf shukr*.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iii
Introduction: Syria(c) Between Byzantium and Islam	1
Part I: Between Sergios and Ḥunayn. Or, Whatever Happened to the Dark Ages?	
Chapter 1: Did Antiquity Ever End? The View From Baghdad	22
Chapter 2: The Technique and Approach of Late Antique Scholarship	107
Chapter 3: Jacob of Edessa: Scholar at Work	169
Part II: Identity Politics: Society in the Early Medieval Middle East	
Chapter 4: Canon Fodder	213
Chapter 5: A society in flux	243
Chapter 6: Power on Heaven and Earth	287
Chapter 7: Creating a Church? As Easy as ABC. Education and Community Formation	
	316
Chapter 8: Continuities: Personal and Institutional	341
Part III: What Difference did Islam Make?	
Chapter 9: On Christians and Muslims, I: A House with Many Mansions	379
Chapter 10: On Christians and Muslims, II: A Religion with a Thousand Faces	407
Chapter 11: On Christian and Muslims, III: The More Things Change, the More They Stay	
the Same	430
Chapter 12: Rubbing Shoulders: A Shared World	481
Conclusion: A Syrie Trilingue?	570
APPENDIX: On the History of the Text of the Qur'ān	

Works Cited

Introduction: Syria(c) Between Byzantium and Islam

If all of the Aramaic documents in the world were placed in one room, 90% of them would be written in the Aramaic dialect of Edessa, a city in SE Turkey which is today known as Urfa. This Aramaic dialect is called 'Syriac.' For half a millennium, from the fourth century to the ninth, Syriac was the literary lingua franca of much of the population of the Middle East. Syriac writers have left us a broad and rich literature; for students of Christian history, only Greek and Latin are more important and in fact, a number of important Greek works are now preserved only in Syriac. In Late Antiquity and the Middle Ages, Syriac-speaking missionaries established churches in South India and throughout Central Asia, all along the Silk Road. They reached China by 635 and the traditional Mongolian alphabet is based on the Syriac script as a result of this medieval missionary work. One indication of the importance of Syriac in the cultural history of the Middle East is the fact that much of the religious vocabulary of the Qur'ān is actually not Arabic but rather consists of words which were brought into Arabic from Syriac. Scholars have suggested, for example, that the words 'Qur'ān,' 'Allāh,' and 'sūra,' are all Syriac loan words which came into Arabic.

Despite its immense interest and importance, Syriac has not been as widely taught and studied as Greek and Arabic have. And, although there is a deep tradition of Syriac scholarship in the West which goes back to the sixteenth century, most of that scholarship has focused on Syriac written in the pre-Islamic period. As we move into the sixth, and especially the seventh centuries and beyond, the amount of scholarship becomes increasingly thin and large numbers of texts, often of great interest and importance, remain neglected, understudied and even unpublished.

To students of the late antique and early medieval Middle East, this is a very unfortunate situation. Because of the importance of Syriac as a spoken language and as a language of culture in the region, trying to write about the Middle East in this period without having a strong sense for what is going on in the Syriac-speaking world would be perhaps like trying to write a cultural history of Miami in the later part of the 20th century based only on English-language sources and not using Spanish material as well. This is true for Byzantinists who come at the region from the viewpoint of Greek as well as for Islamicists who come at the region from the viewpoint of Arabic. In the early medieval period, speakers of all three of these languages lived side-by-side with one another, married, talked, debated, fought and worked together. If the early medieval Middle East was a shared world between speakers of these three languages, there is no reason why we should study texts written in them in isolation.

This dissertation represents an attempt to bring Syriac perspectives to bear on questions in Byzantine history and Islamic history in the late antique and early medieval Middle East; my aim is to attempt to integrate these three fields of study in addressing two major historical questions relating to the Middle East in this period. Simply put, the two questions relate to the culture of the Middle East that the Arabs found when they conquered the region in the seventh century and the culture of the Middle East which resulted from those conquests.

In the 630s and 640s, Arab armies swept over what is today Iraq, Syria, Jordan, Israel, Palestine, Lebanon, Egypt, Iran and parts of southern Turkey. By the middle of the eighth century, they had conquered territory stretching from Spain in the West to lands deep in the heart of Central Asia in the East. In the wake of these conquests Arab

tribes emigrated from the Arabian Peninsula and settled in the areas their armies had taken. Exact figures are hard to come by, but the number of Muslims who emigrated and settled cannot have been very large. The great Islamicist Claude Cahen estimated that somewhere between 100,000 and 200,000 Muslims settled in the totality of these newly-conquered lands. Patricia Crone, another well-known Islamicist, has suggested that the number of Muslim immigrants and settlers at the very most cannot have been more than 500,000 people. The population of the conquered regions at that time, by contrast, was between 20 and 30 million people. If we focus only on the Middle East and we fast forward to today, we find that the overwhelming majority of the region is now Muslim; most of its population would self-identify as Arab and many of those who would not call themselves Arabs speak Arabic, if not as a native language, then definitely as a second one. How did this massive transformation happen? Where did all those conquered peoples and their descendants go? What happened to their culture, their language, their beliefs?

Here, therefore, is the one historical question I am interested in taking up in this dissertation: the issue of the Arabization and the Islamization of what was once a Byzantine Middle East. How did the Middle East turn into an Arabic-speaking Muslimmajority region? How did the Arab Muslim conquerors of the seventh century relate to the cultures and beliefs of the people whom they ruled over? These are questions that have occupied Islamicists.

My other question is one that has occupied Byzantinists: what was the state of the Byzantine Empire which the Arabs encountered in the seventh century? What of the societies these Muslims conquered and were now coming into contact with?

The seventh century had been something of a near-death experience for the Byzantine Empire. The Byzantines lost much of the Balkans to Slavic invaders and fought and eventually won a brutal, decades-long war with the Persian Sassanian Empire only to lose much of the Middle East to the Arabs soon thereafter. The seventh century was also a momentous age for Byzantium because it was in this century that the great cities which were the canvass upon which the achievements of Greece and Rome had been displayed underwent dramatic changes and in some cases, simply ceased to exist. Scholars have spilled a great deal of ink debating these changes—one camp prefers to speak of what happened to Byzantine cities in the sixth and seventh centuries as 'decline' and another thinks that 'transformation' is a better way to frame the issue. Notwithstanding semantic differences, there is actually broad agreement as to what happened to Byzantine cities as Late Antiquity progressed. The story that scholars tell goes something like this:

Shifts in investment priorities among Christianized elites meant that the physical appearance of cities was changing: large churches were now being built rather than polytheist temples. Theaters had fallen into disuse. The great fora which had been so characteristic of the classical city were increasingly encroached upon by new building; the rectilinear grid of the city was giving way to narrow and winding streets. The curial class that had been responsible for running and adorning the cities began to weaken and eventually disappeared. What was going on was a shift from the classical *polis* to what we think of as the Islamic *madina*, even before Muḥammad was born. And the death of the classical city in the Byzantine world is regarded by many as marking the border line between antiquity and the Middle Ages.

Tied up with the change in cities were important changes in Greek literature. In the course of the sixth to eighth centuries, the composition of works in many secular genres ground to a halt: historical, philosophical and medical writing all essentially dried up, as did other genres. Much literature was still being written, but it was now of a different kind and usually related in some way to the life and mission of the Christian church. The classical world seemed to have vanished.

Here now are two historical questions: how a small number of Arabs related to the societies they found in the Middle East once they had conquered and the state of those societies as portrayed by Byzantinists. How does Syriac fit into this picture?

First, Byzantine history. Regardless of whether one is an advocate of calling the changes in Byzantine culture in the seventh century 'decline' or whether one is in favor of a kinder, gentler position of 'transformation,' the image of a Byzantine society that both sides agree on—wracked by wars and plague, contracting and vanishing cities, important literary genres disappearing—does not leave one feeling that the seventh century was the most culturally robust period in the Empire's history.

Discussions among scholars, however, of the changes that happen to Byzantine culture in the sixth and especially seventh century share several characteristics: they tend to focus on the culture of the city and they tend to operate on an unspoken equation between 'Greek literature' and 'Byzantine literature.' If, however, we look at what's going on outside the cities and if we broaden our definition of Byzantine literature to include Syriac, things look quite different. Indeed, if for some reason, all the seventh and eighth-century Greek literature in the world were to disappear tomorrow and scholars had to gauge the cultural vitality of Middle Eastern society and

its continuity with previous centuries based only on Syriac and Arabic evidence from this period, the picture they would get would be a photographic negative of what we currently have. The seventh century was a time of great flourishing in the Syriacspeaking world. In fact, in the nearly two thousand years of recorded history of the Syriac language, stretching from the first century till today, one could make an argument that the high point of Syriac culture was actually the seventh century. At precisely the time that Greek literature was witnessing the disappearance of a number of classical genres, some of precisely these same things were flourishing in Syriac. At a time when almost no philosophy was being done in Greek, anywhere, a number of bilingual figures in the seventh and eighth century Middle East were busy translating and/or commenting on Aristotle. Many have heard of Boethius or Bede or Cassiodorus or maybe even Philoponos, but how many have heard of Silvanos of Qardu, Severos Sebokht, Athanasios of Balad, Jacob of Edessa, George of the Arabs? And others like Hnanisho' I, Mar Aba II of Kashkar, Yonan, and Theophilos of Edessa? All of these figures were working on Aristotelian philosophy in Syriac in the seventh and eighth centuries. Also during this period, when Byzantine historical writing went into hibernation, Syriac writers were busy producing a number of historical works. There was scientific writing, too, and we have strong reason to believe that a tradition of medicine continued unabated in the Syriac-speaking world as well. In the eighth century, Theophilos of Edessa even translated the Iliad and Odyssey into Syriac.

Most of this literary activity was going on, not in cities, where such things had traditionally taken place, but rather in monasteries. What the Syriac evidence points us to is the development in the Late Antique Middle East of a sort of secondary

Romanitas, one which differed from the civic Romanitas which had so defined the culture of the Roman Empire. Most of the Syriac-speaking Christians who were involved in producing these texts belonged to churches which were seen as heretical and the late antique period saw the development of an alternative, intellectual and cultural elite in these dissident movements, an elite whose primary base of operation was a network of monasteries in Syria and Mesopotamia rather than in cities.

If we look only to Greek sources, we will miss the great cultural efflorescence which peaked in the Middle East in the seventh and eighth centuries. If we look only to Greek sources, we will also easily miss the fact that the fabled Greco-Arabic translation movement of ninth-century Baghdad, which witnessed the translation of an enormous amount of secular Greek literature into Arabic, was merely a continuation of this secondary, non-civic late antiquity, a late antiquity which had never ceased and which never had a 'Dark Century,' a late antiquity that was super-charged by 'Abbasid imperial patronage. Nearly all the translators of 'Abbasid Baghdad were Syriacspeaking Christians and many of their translations actually first went from Greek into Syriac and then from Syriac into Arabic. A highly sophisticated culture of translation had developed in the Syriac-speaking world over the previous half millennium and it can be shown that what these scholars were doing differed only in degree but not in kind from what Syriac-speaking scholars had been doing for hundreds of years before.

My comments just now should not be misinterpreted as a sort of Gospel of Syrian exceptionalism, either. This Syriac evidence can help us to think in new ways about Greek-speaking late antiquity as well. What the Syriac evidence makes us aware of in a particularly vivid way is that there was much more going on culturally in late

antiquity than just the super-sophisticated rhetorical culture of the cities which tends to attract our attention. That the Syrians chose to hold on to certain things relativizes the importance of some of the literature that was not held on to in the seventh century: maybe genres that were very important to some people were not so important to others. How many Americans would feel that their culture had suffered an irreparable loss if Neiman Marcus stopped issuing its annual Christmas catalog?

A Syriac perspective, therefore, broadens and enriches our understanding of the cultural vitality of the societies which Muslims conquered in the seventh century and gives us cause to think about how we evaluate the changes that were occurring then. What now can Syriac tell us about how those Muslims related to those societies?

Earlier, I attempted to suggest that in the period after the conquests, Muslims were a very small minority, a drop in a much bigger sea. Not only were they a small minority, many of these Muslims had converted to Islam in the waves of group conversions that occurred at the end of Muḥammad's life once he had achieved political hegemony. After Muḥammad's death, many Muslims apostatized and had to be forced back into the new religion by force, through warfare. What this means for us is that a great number of Muslim settlers in the Middle East probably did not know all that much about Islam. And they were now living among larger communities of people who adhered to highly sophisticated and more ancient systems of belief. Given their demographic status and the fragility of the Islamic identity of many of the conquerors, they faced a real threat of assimilation.

In this precarious situation, we should not be surprised to find that the religious leaders of the early Muslim community had an anxiety of influence. We can see this

reflected in various injunctions attributed to Muḥammad. 'He who imitates a people is one of them,' the Prophet is supposed to have said. 'He who imitates others does not belong to us,' he is also claimed to have stated. Another report had him ordering Muslims: 'Do not imitate Jews and Christians.' Various ḥadīth ordered Muslims to dye their beards differently from those of the People of the book, to wear different clothing, to don different footwear, to wear their facial hair differently. Part of what it meant to be a Muslim was that you were *not* a Christian or a Jew.

Despite anxieties of influence and attempts to keep it at bay, however, the Arab conquests would have an enormous effect on the conquerors and their religion. Scholars have pointed to a host of continuities between the Late Antique and early Islamic periods: everything from coins to Arabic grammatical thinking have been held up as examples of the Arab conquerors adapting local practices and traditions for their own purposes. The minarets on mosques are probably an adaptation of Syrian church towers. Muslims shared Christian and Jewish saints and pilgrimage sites, visited and socialized at Christian monasteries, attended Christian church services, sought healing from Christian holy men, believed in the apotropaic power of the Eucharist, had their children baptized by priests, and ingested a large amount of Jewish and Christian Biblical and post-biblical lore into their own literature, which they referred to as *Isrā'īlīyāt*—literally, 'Israelite stuff.' A large number of sayings of Jesus from the New Testament re-appear in Muslim literature, attributed to either Muhammad or to some other unnamed mystic or wise man; the Lord's Prayer is even found attributed to Muhammad. What's more, scholars have discerned in the biography of Muhammad a number of incidents clearly modeled on Biblical stories, from the life of Christ and also

from the life of David. Early Muslim ascetics were known to associate with Christian monks and the woolen cloak that gave *sūfī*s their name was probably an imitation of the woolen garments worn by Christian ascetics. Studies have been done, mostly in Arabic, which show the great influence that a Syriac linguistic substrate has had on the colloquial Arabic of the different parts of Greater Syria. And so it goes.

All of these things point to a simple reality: the Arab conquests resulted in a hybrid culture, one in which a number of Late Antique, pre-Islamic elements continued and survived, though not without learning to speak in Arabic and putting on an Islamic name tag. The question of how all these elements 'entered the bloodstream of Islam,' to use Patricia Crone's expression, is an arresting one and raises a question of social history: what were the milieux of contact, where Christians and Muslims rubbed shoulders and where such cultural transfers might have happened? Here is where Syriac can offer us some help.

As an example, I'll offer the case of Islamic theology, which is known as *kalām*. Scholars have long debated the relationship between the beginnings of Islamic theology and Christian theology; even in the medieval period, Muslims made connections between the first important theological movement in Islam and the role of Christian converts in its beginnings. *Kalām* texts are characterized by a distinctive dialectical technique where opponents are presented with a series of disjunctive questions which back their targets into absurd corners and which are designed to leave those opponents confounded, speechless, and defeated. Some thirty years ago, Michael Cook wrote an important article in which he showed that this disjunctive, aporetic style which appears in *kalām* texts is actually characteristic of pre-Islamic Christian

theological texts produced all over the Middle East. Although the texts Cook pointed to were in Syriac, he suggested that the style probably originated in Greek. Cook made some suggestions as to how the distinctive aporetic style of these Christian works made it into an Islamic context, but came to no firm conclusions. 'We need fresh air, not the repetition of a closed canon of references whose original contexts we have long forgotten,' he wrote, 'We also need not to be afraid of the primary sources. For what is gold to the Islamicist may be dross to the Syriacist.'¹

With Cook's charge in mind, let us look at a letter written by a figure named George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes. George died in 724 and was a polymath who knew Greek and Syriac and probably also Arabic. The first of his extant letters is a response written to the Abbot of a prominent monastery in Northern Syria. The Abbot had sent George 22 questions, Christological polemic, which he, or somebody associated with the monastery had received and needed help answering. In contacting George, the Abbot was 'phoning a friend.'

The questions themselves are very boring to a modern reader. What makes them fascinating for the historian, however, is their form: they are written in precisely the sort of aporetic style that was characteristic of *kalām*. Though the questions were written in Syriac, I have been able to locate 11 of the 22 in a variety of other Greek and Syriac texts with different attributions.² We can literally see in this letter of George an example of this disjunctive style of questioning moving across linguistic boundaries, from Greek to Syriac. Just as interesting is George's identity: he was a bishop over

¹ Cook, 'The Origins of Kalām,' Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 43 (1980), p. 43. ² See my, "Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes," pp. 671-716, in Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz, (Piscataway, NJ, Gorgias Press, 2008). Reprinted as Jack Tannous, Between Christology and Kalam? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes (Analecta Gorgiana 128) (Piscataway, NJ, Gorgias Press, 2009).

Christian Arab tribes. We know that these tribes knew both Syriac and Arabic and we also know that they were involved in some of the earliest Christian-Muslim religious interaction in the Middle East. So, what we have in this one letter is an example of the world of Syriac, Greek and Arabic all coming together in a single document and providing us insight into one potential avenue Late Antique cultural forms traveled as they made their way into an Islamic context.

This dissertation represents an attempt to take very seriously the reality that the early medieval Middle East was a multilingual kaleidoscope of cultures, peoples and religions living side by side and rubbing shoulders. In this region, linguistic boundaries did not necessarily translate into cultural boundaries. For this reason, two of my fundamental contentions are that 'Byzantine culture' includes more than just Greek and that Middle Eastern history after the 640s is much more than the history of the elite, (small) Muslim minority who ruled it. Indeed, we cannot make sense of that minority and of Islam unless we understand it as developing and crystallizing in a majority non-Muslim context. Scholars of Byzantium and early Islam who take seriously the existence and activities of the Middle East's Aramaic-speaking majority in the early medieval period will find new perspectives on the region and culture that the Arabs encountered when they arrived and the hybrid culture that their conquests helped create.

Organizational Overview

I have divided this dissertation into three large sections, each aimed at addressing different, but ultimately related, questions. The first section, 'Between Sergios and Hunayn. Or, Whatever Happened to the Dark Ages?' deals with the question

of the transformation in Byzantine literary culture which took place between the sixth and ninth centuries—between, that is, the lifetimes of two of the greatest translators in the Syriac tradition, Sergios of Resh'ayna (d. AD 536) and Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq (d. AD 873). My aim in this section is to look at the transformation of of Byzantine literature not from the perspective of Greek, but rather from the perspective of Syriac and Arabic. Rather than a story of decline, darkness or even serious transformation, what we find, I argue, are massive continuities in intellectual culture extending across these centuries.

Chapter 1 begins in the ninth century, in 'Abbasid Baghdad, with Ḥunyan b. Isḥāq, the most important and famous of all the Greco-Arabic translators; I use him as a wedge to crack open notions of a Byzantine 'Dark Age' by offering a history of Greco-Syriac translation and Syriac intellectual culture which contrasts sharply with the fate of Greek literature at that same time: the period between the lives of Sergios and Ḥunayn was perhaps the most fruitful and exciting in the history of Syriac scholarship.

I offer a close reading of Ḥunayn's celebrated *Risāla* as a way of entering into the world of Greco-Arabic scholars; Ḥunayn, I argue, should not be seen as an Islamic figure at all, but should rather be viewed very much as a person operating directly out of an unbroken tradition of Syriac scholarship which stretched back to the heart of Late Antiquity—he was, after all, an Arab Christian who was a deacon in a church in which Syriac was the liturgical language. I attempt to show that while various genres of Greek literature stopped being produced in the course of the sixth through ninth centuries, many of precisely these same genres continued and indeed flourished in Syriac at the same time. Having suggested that we view the question of the transformation of Byzantine literature from the periphery—Syriac and Arabic—and not the center—

Greek—the Syriac evidence I adduce, I suggest, gives us reason to re-evaluate and invert those terms. What scholars have traditionally seen as being at the center of Byzantine high culture—those genres whose cessation have earned the early medieval period the sobriquet of a 'Dark Age'—were actually peripheral in terms of their importance in the wider context of Late Antique high culture. On this reading, notions of a Byzantine Dark Age or of a cultural decline in the early medieval prove doubly unsatisfying: first, on a very literal level, by implicitly understanding Byzantine culture to mean 'Greek' culture, they fail to take into account the flourishing world of Syriac at the same time. Second, and more profoundly, they pronounce a verdict of decline or darkness on the basis of a vision of Late Antiquity which puts at the center certain kinds of super-elite literary genres that we should rather view as having been at the periphery in terms of the broader feast of high culture.

This first section of the dissertation represents an argument for continuity between the scholarly world of 'Abbasid Baghdad and the scholarly world of high Late Antique Syria. To this end, I attempt to show that there are continuities in more than just genre between Ḥunayn's world and the Late Antique period, there are also continuities in scholarly approach. I devote Chapter 2 to demonstrating that the philological techniques which Ḥunayn was famous for represented an intensification of the philological approach that had been employed by Syriac-speaking scholars living well before him and even before the coming of Islam. Chapter 3 offers a study of the scholarly activities of Jacob of Edessa as an example of a forerunner and antecedent of Hunayn in the Syriac tradition.

The second section of the dissertation, entitled 'Identity Politics: Society in the Early Medieval Middle East,' seeks to answer the question of why the flourishing culture of scholarship and translation encountered in the first section of the dissertation should have sprung up and continued in Syria when it did. I use the canons of Jacob of Edessa, in addition to a number of other Syriac sources, to attempt to give a detailed portrait of the social history and intercommunal relations of Middle Eastern Christian communities in the seventh and eighth centuries.

In Chapter 4, I discuss Jacob of Edessa's view of canon law and his anger at its widespread violation as a background for understanding the rich body of canons he has left us. Using those canons, along with a number of other Syriac sources, I attempt to delineate a view of seventh-century Middle Eastern society in which there was confessional chaos and a blurring of boundary lines between various Christian groups.

In Chapter 5, I continue with this point and suggest this was a period in which a doctrinal partition of different Christian groups had taken place, but their actual separation into different Christian bodies was not yet complete: sociology lagged behind ideology. I try to give some idea of the breadth of possibilities of Christian belief, a topic I return to later in Chapter 9, and suggest that Orthodoxy (however one defined it) was a minority position. The diversity of adversarial Christian groups and resultant intense competiton for believers between them manifested itself in different ways. One consequence was the emergence of a culture of widespread, low-level theological debate and dispute among Christians of competing confessions. Another was the proliferation of competing schools and centers of education. This latter development leads us to the monastery of Qenneshre, which was the most important

location for Greco-Syriac translation in the Syriac-speaking world of the sixth to ninth centuries.

In Chapter 6, I address the question of the means that members of the theological elite, like Jacob of Edessa, had to remedy the very chaotic confessional situation that existed on the ground. Their most important tool, I contend, was the control they had over access to the Eucharist and in this chapter, I explore the central importance the Eucharist was seen to have in Christian life. The key to fully and properly controlling the administration of the Eucharist, I argue, as well as the formation of a distinct, well-defined Miaphysite (or 'Monophysite') Christian community, was the creation of a clergy possessed of a clear Miaphysite self-understanding. In the context of intense inter-communal dispute and attempts at 'sheep stealing,' such a clergy would also be equipped to both ideologically defend Miaphysite views as well as launch attacks on rivals. Fundamental, therefore, to remedying the messy Christian confessional situation of the early medieval Middle East, was the development by Miaphysites of a distinct curriculum of study.

In Chapter 7, I turn my attention to the question of education and attempt to sketch out what education seemed to have looked like for Christians in the seventh and eighth centuries. I next try to discern what the precise Miaphysite curriculum of study may have been and make the suggestion that much of the translation activity undertaken by Miaphysites in the seventh century can ultimately be traced back to the monastery of Qenneshre, a place we had previously encountered; the engine driving much of the translation which took place was in fact the need to create a distinctively Miaphysite educational syllabus as well as the necessity of playing catch-up with

Chalcedonian rivals who already had access to the texts that were being translated because they knew Greek. The efflorescence of Syriac scholarship in the early medieval period was, therefore, a by-product of attempts to try to counter-act and deal with the diversity and intense competition which characterized the various Middle Eastern Christian groups.

In Chapter 8, I return to the question of continuity, which dominated the first section of the dissertation, and look at it in both an institutional and personal perspective, in light of the history of Qenneshre. Built in the sixth century and destroyed in the ninth, Qenneshre provides a bridge which directly connects Late Antiquity and the Islamic period; what is more, one can construct teacher-pupil lines of alumni, so to speak, of Qenneshre, which potentially stretch from the age of Justinian to the late Umayyad period. Fallout from Christological controversies and persecutions which reached back to the fifth century had created an alternative, Miaphysite elite in Syria whose basis of operation was monasteries in rural areas, the most important of which was Qenneshre. In this chapter, I also explore the economic foundations of Syrian and Mesopotamian monasteries—put bluntly, how they paid their bills. Since these monasteries had their own independent economic resources they represented cultural powerhouses which stood beside, and to a certain extent, were self-sufficient with respect to, older urban cultural centers. In this chapter, I argue for the need for a de-sectarianized history of the Middle East, which does not view the various Christian groups—Jacobite, Nestorian, Chalcedonian—in isolation from one another.

Such a point, however, opens me to the charge that I have engaged in writing what amounts to a very sectarian history of the Middle East: I have written more than

three hundred pages and not dealt with the most important event in the past fifteen hundred years of Middle Eastern history: the emergence of Islam. I have been attempting to tell a story of continuity: how does Islam fit into that?

In Part III, 'What Difference Did Islam Make?' I attempt to address the question of early Christian-Muslim interactions and the nature of conversion to Islam. I argue that discussions of 'early Christian-Muslim interactions' leave uninterrogated the two most important words in that sentence: 'Christian' and 'Muslim' and substitute the beliefs of theological elites for the beliefs of the bulk of the adherents of these two religions.

Seeking to remedy this, in Chapter 9, I attempt to establish that Christianity in the seventh and eighth centuries encompassed a large spectrum of beliefs. We should not think about Christianity in terms of a set of propositional doctrines, I argue, but rather as an adherence to a set of Christian symbols and rituals which provided means for dealing with very concrete and real difficulties in life.

Similarly, in Chapter 10, I take up the meaning of 'Islam' in this early period and make the argument that 'Islam' in the post-conquest period perhaps did not mean a lot to many of the people whom historians have regarded as Muslims: most conversions to Islam came late in Muḥammad's life and were not individual, highly-interiorized personal decisions, but rather were undertaken in the context of tribal shifts in political allegiance to a powerful new leader who was establishing hegemony in western Arabia. I also attempt to adduce evidence which suggests that in this early period, 'Islam' was in the process of development, debate and dispute among a very

small number of theological elites whose views were not representative of the bulk of Muslims in existence at that time.

Having attempted to nuance and broaden our understanding of the spectrum of Christianity and Islam in the seventh and eighth centuries, in Chapter 11, I look at the issue of conversion and suggest that if we jettison a view of conversion from Christianity to Islam which privileges (abjuration of) belief in certain propositions—like the Incarnation or the Trinity—or affirmation of the prophethood of Muhammad—and instead, adopt a view which views religion in terms of adherence to certain rituals and symbols, it becomes quickly clear that it was possible to convert from Christianity to Islam and hold on to much of one's previous Christian practice. On this view, conversion to Islam, especially an Islam that was young and evolving, did not represent much of an ideological change at all. Taking my cue from the work of scholars such as F.W. Hasluck and S. Vryonis, who found widespread Christian continuities among Muslims in the Ottoman period, I adduce evidence for similar widespread continuities in Christian practice among Muslims of the early medieval period. A full and proper understanding of the history of the early medieval Middle East requires that historians properly grapple with the demographic realities of the region: Muslims were a small minority surrounded by a majority of non-Muslims who adhered to highly sophisticated and more ancient, rival faiths.

In Chapter 12, the final chapter, I attempt to drive this demographic point home: contrary to the way scholarship has almost uniformly dealt with the region, I argue that the history of the Middle East is not the history of the politically dominant Muslim minority that ruled it. Assumptions by scholars that Muslims achieved

numerical hegemony in the region within a few centuries of the conquests rest on naked assertion without any evidence or evidence which is very problematic. To understand the Muslim minority that ruled the Middle East, one must understand it as existing in dialogue and competition with the non-Muslims around it and must learn to see the anxiety of influence Islam's minority status triggered among Muslim elites. Despite attempts at keeping Muslims from appropriating the traditions and customs of those around them, precisely this happened on a large scale. I offer an (incomplete) list of various pre-Islamic, Late Antique elements (usually Christian) which were adopted by Muslims and which have come to be seen as Islamic, at least on a popular level. The existence of these pre-Islamic, Late Antique continuities in the Islamic tradition raises the issue of how they were brought on board, so to speak. To answer this question, I attempt to sketch out some of the milieux of social contact where Muslims and non-Muslims were rubbing shoulders and where such transfers and appropriations of knowledge and practices might have happened. The aim of this chapter, and of this third part in general, is to offer a more profoundly de-sectarianized vision of early medieval Middle Eastern history: it is not only to challenge the assumption that Middle Eastern history and Islamic history are the same, but also to contend that it is not possible to study early Islam without being aware of the non-Muslim majority in whose midst early Muslims found themselves dwelling.

Part I: Between Sergios and Hunayn. Or, Whatever Happened to the Dark Ages?

Chapter 1: Did Antiquity Ever End? The View From Baghdad.

The ancestor of today's 'Late Antiquity' first crawled out of the sea in the final decade of the nineteenth century. Originally a term used by an art historian interested in speaking of the unique style of a particular age, over the subsequent sixty years, the idea of focusing on the later, post-Constantinian Roman Empire as a distinct field of study would be taken up by and gradually evolve in German, French and Anglo-Saxon historical scholarship.³ By the final third of the twentieth century, the Late Antique period had become a fully-formed and robust field, walking upright as an independent area of historical inquiry. The explosion of Late Antique studies brought with it growing pains and uncertainties—among them, the question of fixing the boundaries of Late Antiquity as well as the usefulness and desirability of deploying notions of 'decline,' crisis and catastrophe to describe the various changes that took place in the Late Antique period.⁴ Peter Brown's *The World of Late Antiquity*, a seminal work in the study of the period, dated Late Antiquity from AD 150 to 750,⁵ but a variety of other starting and stopping points for the period were also put forth: Bowersock, Brown and Grabar's Late Antiquity: A Guide to the Postclassical World suggested that the era ran from

³ On the history of the notion of 'Late Antiquity,' see J.H.W.G. Liebeschuetz, 'The birth of Late Antiquity,' *Antiquité Tardive* 12 (Turnhout, 2004), pp. 1-18, reprinted in *idem., Decline and Change in Late Antiquity* (Aldershot, 2006), no. XV. For art historian Alois Riegl (1858-1905) as the 'discoverer of Late Antiquity,' see pp. 3-5. See also the reflections of Peter Brown in his 'The World of Late Antiquity Revisited,' *Symbolae Osloenses* 72 (1997), pp. 5-30. I am grateful to Peter Brown for his comments to me about Alois Riegl's original aims.

⁴ On the question of decline, see, for instance, J.H.W.G. Liebeschuetz, 'Late Antiquity and the concept of Decline,' *Nottingham Medieval Studies* 45 (2001), pp. 1-11; *idem.*, 'Transformation and Decline: Are the Two Really Incompatible?' in J.-U. Krause and C. Witschel, eds., *Die Stadt in der Spätantike— Niedergang oder Wandel? Akten des internationalen kolloquiums in München am 30. und 31. Mai 2003* (Stuttgart, 2006), pp. 463-483, esp. pp. 476-478; *idem.*, 'The use and abuses of the concept of "decline" in later Roman history. Or, was Gibbon politically incorrect?' with following discussion by Av. Cameron, B. Ward-Perkins, M. Whittow, and L. Lavan, in L. Lavan, ed., *Recent Research in Late-Antique Urbanism, Journal of Roman Archaeology*, ss. 42 (Portsmouth, Rhode Island, 2001), pp. 233-245. Also cf., Av. Cameron, 'The Perception of Crisis,' *Morfologie sociali e culturali in Europa fra Tarda Antichità e alto Medioevo*, vol. 1 (Spoleto, 1998), pp. 9-31.

⁵ P. Brown, *The World of Late Antiquity: AD 150-750* (London, 1971).

250 to 800, for instance.⁶ Regardless of whether one started Late Antiquity with the beginning of the Tetrarchy in 284 AD or with the reign of Constantine the Great, or whether one ended it with the assassination of the emperor Maurice in 602 AD or with the Arab conquests of the 630s or whether one chose some other set of dates—e.g., 200, 395, 425, 600, 700, 800⁷—there was a wide and general feeling that this period of time shared a bundle of characteristics distinct enough to merit demarcating it as a discrete field of study. Broadly speaking, the standard narrative of Late Antique history focused on transformations which could be placed in one of two categories: the fundamental, long-term changes that resulted from the administrative, military and fiscal reorganization of the Roman Empire in the wake of the so-called 'Crisis of the Third Century' (which may or may not have actually been a crisis)⁸ and the wide-ranging ramifications of the Christian revolution which swept the empire during this same period.⁹

My purpose in this chapter is not to assay an answer to a question so large as When Antiquity Ended, to put, as it were, a death date on the Classical World's tombstone. It is, rather, much more modest. I am interested in a smaller matter, one aspect of the massive cultural transformation which took place in the eastern Roman world between the sixth and ninth centuries: the changes which took place in learning

⁶ See G.W. Bowersock, P. Brown, O. Grabar, *Late Antiquity: A Guide to the Postclassical World* (Cambridge, Mass., 1999), p. vii.

⁷ For these dates, see C. Ando, 'Decline, Fall, and Transformation,' *Journal of Late Antiquity* 1.1 (2008), p. 32.

⁸ On the crisis, see. A. Giardina, 'The Transition to Late Antiquity,' in *The Cambridge Economic History of the Greco-Roman World*, vol. 1, edd. W. Scheidel, I. Morris and R. Salle (Cambridge, 2007), pp. 757-768 and C. Witschel, *Krise –Rezession – Stagnation? Der West des römischen Reiches im 3. Jahrhundert n. Chr.* (Frankfurt am Main, 1999), pp. 375-377. For a defense of a third-century crisis, see W. Liebeschuetz, 'Was there a Crisis of the Third Century?' in *Crises and the Roman Empire: Proceedings of the Seventh Workshop of the International Network Impact of Empire (Nijmegen, June 20-24, 2006)* (Leiden, Boston, 2007), pp. 11-20.

⁹ The first part of Peter Brown's classic *The World of Late Antiquity*, 'The Late Roman Revolution,' for example, trains its focus on the social and religious transformations which characterized this period.

and literary culture. Discussions of the transformation or even decline of literary culture in Late Antiquity focus on Greek and Latin evidence and as such, represent a very metropolitan perspective on Late Antique society.¹⁰ Indeed, it comes as no surprise at all that one of the more strident recent advocates of 'decline' in the ancient world writes from the perspective of the Western empire and begins his book with an autobiographical notice informing his readers that he grew up in Rome, 'the heart of the empire,' noting that perhaps as a result of the place of his birth and early formation, the 'essential outlines' of the view which he summarizes as 'with the fall of the empire, Art, Philosophy, and Decent drains all vanished from the West,' 'have always come naturally to' him.¹¹ Though comparatively few scholars actually hail literally from Rome, for many scholars with a background in classics, trained in reading the 'Greats' of the ancient world, Rome, Alexandria, Constantinople or some other great antique urban center serve as discursive homes, so to speak. As a result, the viewpoint of the Greek or Latin-speaking elites of the metropole can come more naturally.

The image of antiquity known and cherished for centuries in the West has been decidedly tilted in favor of a small slice of the spectrum of human experiences of the antique world: the art, literature and way of life that fired imaginations from Petrarch to Byron and still inspires today was produced by and for a very small urban elite. The Romans ruled their domain indirectly through a large network of cities of widely

¹⁰ For the bias towards Greek and Latin and the Mediterranean world in Late Antique studies, cf. J. Walker, 'The Limits of Late Antiquity: Philosophy between Rome and Iran,' *The Ancient World* 33:1 (2002), pp. 49-51. See M. Morony, 'Bayn al-Fitnatayn: Problems in the Periodization of Early Islamic History,' *Journal of Near Eastern Studies* 40:3 (1981), p. 248 for a comment on the influence of a 'metropolitan theory of culture' on periodizaton.

¹¹ See B. Ward-Perkins, *The Fall of Rome and the end of Civilization* (Oxford, 2005), p. 3 for the autobiographical disclosure, p. 2 quotes William Robertson on the consequences of fall of Rome, a view which Ward-Perkins summarizes as 'In other words, with the fall of the empire, Art, Philosophy and decent drains all vanished from the West.'

varying size and importance; of the 1,000 or so units of governance in the eastern empire, for example, at least 900 of them were cities.¹² 'Geographically,' A.H.M. Jones wrote, 'the map of the empire was a mosaic of city territories,'¹³ and the empire itself is perhaps most usefully thought of as a 'commonwealth of cities.'¹⁴ As a result, cities often hold center stage, both in their social structure and in the culture associated with them. And over the course of the Late Antique period, a variety of factors—including plague, brutal warfare, earthquakes, and changes in imperial administrative structure, in addition to Christianity—combined to transform radically the urban layout and culture of the empire. When it comes to fixing the borders of Late Antiquity, these cities are like canaries in a mineshaft: their fate is seen to be indicative of the lot of the ancient world itself. It is is seductively simplistic, therefore, to say that when the ancient city changed, indeed, when it came to an end, so did antiquity.¹⁵

When viewed from the metropolitan perspective of Rome, Constantinople, Antioch or Alexandria and from a Greek or Latin vantage point, the 'decline' and demise of certain aspects of classical literature does perhaps seem self evident. By the late sixth century, Christianization and the changing nature of cities and the urban elite were beginning to have an effect on Greek culture and literature. These shifts led to the emergence of what has been termed 'New Themes and Styles' in Byzantine literature: the seventh and eighth centuries witnessed a great deal of writing still

¹² A.H.M. Jones, *The Later Roman Empire*: 284-602, vol. 1, (Baltimore, 1986), p. 714.

¹³ Jones, *The Later Roman Empire*, vol. 1, p. 713.

¹⁴ P. Brown, The Rise of Western Christendom (2nd ed., Oxford, 2003), p. 54. cf. idem., Power and Persuasion in Late Antiquity: Towards a Christian Empire (Madison, 1992), p. 25.

¹⁵ cf. Av. Cameron, *The Mediterranean World in Late Antiquity: AD 395-600* (London and New York, 1993), p. 152: 'unlike the medieval world, the civilization and high culture of classical antiquity, and thus also of the Roman empire, rested on a network of cities. The end of classical antiquity thus seems to imply the end of classical cities, and vice versa.' Also, cf. J. Haldon, *Byzantium in the Seventh Century: The Transformation of a Culture*, Revised ed. (Cambridge, 1997), pp. 445-447 and C. Wickham, *Framing the Early Middle Ages: Europe and the Mediterranean, 400-800* (Oxford, 2005), p. 595.

taking place in Greek, as Averil Cameron has pointed out, but it was in new and different genres and therefore off the radar screen of most traditional historians.¹⁶ Kazhdan spoke of the literature of the 'Dark Century' as being dominated by 'the "three H's:" homiletics, hymnography and hagiography.¹⁷ Treatises against heresies, Questions and Answers, *catenae*, acts of councils, saints lives, apocalypses, catecheses, hymns and sermons—these are the genres in which the literary remains of this period come down to us.¹⁸

The flip side of this emergence of 'New Themes and Styles' was the disappearance of more traditional types of writing. The period stretching for 250 years or so after the end of the reign of Justinian in 565 has been regarded as a nadir in Byzantine cultural history, the 'Dark Ages.' 'From our point of view,' Paul Lemerle wrote, 'there was no poorer period in the whole history of Byzantium, if we judge it by the documentation which has come down to us.'¹⁹ Now, the less classical, more popular Greek—pioneered, as it were, by Malalas—was to become the norm. The composition of secular literature came to an almost complete halt. Kazhdan spoke of a 'Farewell to Historicity;' such historical works as might have been produced were 'either doubtful or insignificant,' and further, 'the century and a half after George of Pisidia and the

¹⁶ See Av. Cameron, 'New Themes and Styles in Greek Literature: Seventh-Eighth Centuries,' pp. 81-105, in Av. Cameron and L. I. Conrad, edd., *The Byzantine and Early Islamic Near East I: Problems in the Literary Source Material* (Princeton, 1992), cf. p. 85: 'Yet an enormous amount of writing was going on in the seventh and eighth centuries. ... We simply do not "see" it unless we look harder than most historians are used to doing, and in different directions.' Also cf., *idem.*, 'New Themes and Styles in Greek Literature, A Title Revisited,' in S.F. Johnson, ed., *Greek Literature in Late Antiquity: Dynamism, Didacticism, Classicism* (Aldershot, 2006), pp. 11-28.

¹⁷ A. Kazhdan, L.F. Sherry and C. Angelidi, *A History of Byzantine Literature (650-850)* (Athens, 1999), p. 139.

¹⁸ I have taken this list of new genres from E. Chrysos, 'Illuminating Darkness by Candlelight: Literature in the Dark Ages,' pp. 15-16, in P. Odorico and A. Agapitos edd., *Pour une «nouvelle» histoire de la literature byzantine. Problèmes, methods, approaches, propositions* (Paris, 2002).

¹⁹ P. Lemerle, *Byzantine Humanism: The First Phase*, trans. H. Lindsay and A. Moffat, (Canberra, 1986), p. 81.

Paschal Chronicle was a barren period in the development of Byzantine historical writing.^{'20} Though there may have been texts written which are no longer extant, we possess no Greek historical writing from about 630 to about 810.²¹ This was a similarly sterile period for philosophy: between Stephen of Alexandria and John Damascene, only a handful of rather meager texts can stake any claim to being Byzantine philosophy;²² indeed, it is not until Leo the Mathematician in the ninth century that Byzantine philosophy remerges in its own right and not indirectly in theological works.²³ After George of Pisidia, working in the reign of Herakleios, imperial panegyric stopped being written.²⁴ The cupboard is similarly bare when it comes to other secular genres in this period: letters, legislation, epigrams, medical writing and inscriptions all vanish or very nearly so.²⁵ Even in terms of manuscripts, the sixth to ninth century is a particularly penurious age: practically no secular and only a small handful of religious manuscripts survive from this period.²⁶

Things look pretty grim for Byzantine high culture when viewed from Constantinople. In this chapter, however, I propose abandoning the traditional metropolitan perch of the great Roman cities of the Mediterranean for that of ninthcentury Baghdad; I will leave behind Greek and Latin for two other languages, Arabic

²⁰ Kazhdan et al., *A History of Byzantine Literature* (650-850) pp. 20-21; p. 21 lists the historical works (no longer extant) which may have been composed in the 'Dark Century.'

²¹ See C. Mango, "The Tradition of Byzantine Chronography," *Harvard Ukrainian Studies* 12/13 (1988-89), pp. 364-365. See also M. Whitby, 'Greek Historical Writing after Procopius: Variety and Vitality,' in Av. Cameron and L.I. Conrad, edd., *The Byzantine and Early Islamic Near East I: Problems in the Literary Source Material* (Princeton, 1992), pp. 25-80, esp. the section, pp. 66-74, 'The End of Traditional Historiography.'

²² See M. Roueché, 'Byzantine Philosophical Texts of the Seventh Century,' Jahrbuch der Österreichischen Byzantinistik 23 (1974), pp. 65, 67.

²³ See Lemerle, Byzantine Humanism: The First Phase, pp. 81-82 and H. Hunger, Die Hochsprachliche Profane Literatur der Byzantiner I (München, 1978), p. 18.

²⁴ See Kazhdan et al., A *History of Byzantine Literature* (650-850), p. 145.

²⁵ See Whitby, 'Greek Historical Writing,' p. 69; Chrysos, 'Illuminating Darkness by Candlelight,' p. 13; Lemerle, *Byzantine Humanism*, pp. 81-82.

²⁶ See Lemerle, *Byzantine Humanism*, pp. 82-84.

and Syriac. It is a fatal, self-impoverishing mistake to understand 'Byzantine literature' to refer only to 'Greek literature' and an error to limit Byzantine culture to regions under the political control of Constantinople or even governed by (Chalcedonian) Orthodox rulers. Obolensky created a Byzantine Commonwealth in medieval Eastern Europe.²⁷ My intent is to move the borders of this notional commonwealth south and east and my aim will be to view the question of the change of Late Antique literary culture from an alternate, expanded perspective—to see how the questions of decline and transformation look when viewed from other cultural centers and not the perch of the elites of certain Mediterranean cities, and to ascertain their validity when viewed from the ninth century and not the prosperous condition of the Age of the Antonines. Viewed thus, things look quite different. Indeed, seen from the alternative perspective of Arabic and Syriac sources, the 'Dark Ages' never seemed to have occurred at all in the Middle East. Or so I shall argue.

We will encounter a rich efflorescence of translation, scholarship and study among the Syriac-speakers of the Middle East in the early medieval period. The existence of such activity will call into question the actual importance of the hyperliterary urban culture of the late antique period which has been the focus of much traditional scholarly attention. What the evidence from Syria will suggest is that there were many strands of sophisticated cultural activity going on in the Late Antique and early medieval periods: many career paths, as it were, lay open before intelligent young men on the make, and societies in these centuries expressed their high cultural energies in pluriform ways. Focusing on only the elite rhetorical culture of the cities

²⁷ See D. Obolensky, *The Byzantine Commonwealth: Eastern Europe* 500-1453 (New York/Washington, 1971).

obscures the breadth and variety of these expressions and leaves us with a false sense of loss or cultural sterility when one of them, the one which scholars have looked most keenly at, abates.

My argument will therefore operate on two planes: at a fundamental level, will be the sheer fact that many genres which ceased in Greek in the course of the early medieval period not only continued in Syriac, but thrived. To a certain extent, therefore, notions of cultural decline will be found to be unsatisfying, on their own terms, by virtue of their provincialism—they are unaware of (or undervalue) the world outside of Greek sources, a world which, in the Middle East at least, was often literally next door.

At a second, and deeper level, however, the way and contexts in which these genres continued and flourished will suggest that the Dark Age in Byzantine high culture perhaps was not as important as we have made it out to be: picking out only one strain of high culture and using its vicissitudes to gauge the cultural vigor of a wider society actually misses quite a bit which is going on in that society. What the Syriac evidence points us to in a particularly clear way is precisely this: that much more was going on culturally than writing epigrams or imposing imperial panegyric in Late Antiquity, as interesting as these might have been and may still be. The Syrians were exceptional not for having participated in this wider feast of Late Antique culture, either; what made them exceptional was that they supped at it longer than others did. This being the case, the example of Syria offers us the chance to broaden our understanding of Late Antique culture throughout the eastern Mediterranean.²⁸

 $^{^{\}rm 28}$ I am grateful to Peter Brown for suggesting to me many of the ideas and turns of phrase in the previous paragraphs.

I will proceed as follows. I will look at the *Risāla* of Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq and use it as a gateway to enter into the study of a ninth-century scholar-translator working in Baghdad. Next, I will place Ḥunayn's methods and activities in the context of Greco-Syriac translation activity that extends back into the heart of the Late Antique period. Ḥunayn was operating out of a continuous, unbroken tradition of translation of both religious and secular texts from Greek into Syriac. While Greek production of texts in secular genres may have almost completely withered away in the course of the seventh and eighth centuries, such activities continued, in unbroken succession in Syriac and then later in Arabic. The various putative crises and catastrophes of the sixth, seventh and eighth centuries had no discernible effect on these activities. In fact, they reached their zenith when the alleged Dark Ages were at their nadir.

Trying to understand Hunayn, the tradition he worked from, and the history of the multilingual space he occupied will eventually lead us back to the seventh and eighth centuries, to the history of a monastery called Qenneshre, and to an inquiry into the nature of early 'Islamic' society in the Middle East. These are questions which will occupy us in subsequent chapters. By the time I have finished, my hope is twofold. Greek will have been parochialized in discussions of the end of the ancient world and paradoxically enough, Islam will have been relativized in importance in discussions of the early 'Islamic' Middle East.

Before we can achieve such lofty goals, however, we must first begin with the *Risāla* of Hunayn. It is to that document that I now turn.

30

Hunayn and his Risāla

In the year 848 AD (231 AH) Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq wrote a letter to a man named 'Alī b. Yaḥyā. 'Alī was one of the scribes of the Caliph al-Ma'mūn as well as a boon companion to the Caliph. Known as 'Ibn al-Munajjim,' 'the son of the astrologer,' 'Alī himself reportedly had an inclination towards medicine and for that reason had had a number of books on that subject translated for himself.²⁹ This was perhaps why 'Alī had written to Ḥunayn and told him that there was need of a document which collected all the information one might need about the medical books of the ancients—which ones were needed, what they contained and even how the books were divided up. 'Alī wanted Ḥunayn to compose just such a document for him.

Hunayn, however, had undergone a personal calamity and had lost his books.³⁰ Without books, he had informed 'Alī that his memory was not up to the task of providing such a list. He also, however, had let 'Alī know that a Syriac-speaking Christian had made a similar request, asking him to provide an enumeration of the books of Galen and furthermore, requesting that Hunayn mention for him which of those Hunayn and others had translated into Syriac and other languages. Hunayn had

²⁹ On 'Alī, see Ibn Abī 'Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā' fī ṭabaqāt al-aṭibbā' (Beirut, 1965), p. 283. Also see M. Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq and His Period,' *Isis* 8:4 (1926), p. 714 on 'Alī. His father was Muḥammad b. Musā, 'al-Munajjim,' on whom also see Ibn Abī 'Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 283.

³⁰ Fellow doctors had plotted against him and tricked him into spitting on an icon before the Caliph al-Mutawakkil. This triggered a chain of events that ended up with Hunayn receiving 100 lashes, being imprisoned, having all his furniture and household items and books confiscated and having his home destroyed with water. See Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, '*Uyūn al-anbā*', p. 268. On this whole incident, see also, G. Saliba, 'Competition and the Transmission of the Foreign Sciences: Hunayn at the 'Abbasid Court,' *Bulletin of the Royal Institute of Inter-Faith Studies* 2:2 (Autumn 2000), 85-101. Saliba provides an ET of the entire incident as reported by Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a. F. Rosenthal thought that only the broad outlines of this story had any basis in real events and thought most of it to be inauthentic, see his discussion of it in 'Die Arabische Autobiographie,' *Analecta Orientalia* 14 (1937) 15-19, especially his critical remarks on pp. 18-19, but compare with Saliba's comments, 'Competition and the Transmission,' p. 101, n. 10. Hunayn is eventually restored to the Caliph's good graces and is given three of the Caliph's own dwellings to live in. The Caliph has brought to him everything he needs, including books, though it is not clear whether these are the same books he had previously lost. See '*Uyūn al-anbā*', p. 270.

in fact written the unnamed man just such a letter, in Syriac. When 'Alī learned of it, he asked Ḥunayn to translate it for him, quickly, into Arabic.³¹

Hunayn's Syriac letter is now lost, but the Arabic translation he made of it for 'Alī b. Yaḥya, the 'Abbasid scribe, along with the additional information he included in the Arabic version, does survive. Known as the *Risāla*, or simply, *Letter*, it is an extraordinary document, listing 129 works of Galen, describing their contents, their authenticity and whether they have been translated (and by whom and for whom) into Arabic or Syriac. It is an important source for the history of ancient medicine. From it, for example, we learn of eight books of Galen which were available in ninth/thirdcentury Baghdad but which are no longer known today.³² It has also been used as a primary basis for attempting to reconstruct the curriculum of the ancient medical school at Alexandria.³³

The letter furthermore provides an invaluable and precious window into the cosmopolitan world of ninth/third-century Baghdad and the mixing of cultures, languages and traditions which took place there. It offers its reader a window into the practices of Ḥunayn, known in the medieval West as Johannitius, one of history's most famous translators, and the networks of patrons and translators whose interactions formed one of the engines which powered the famous Greco-Arabic translation movement of the 'Abbasid period.

What makes the *Risāla* that Ḥunayn wrote perhaps most interesting is that it makes for quite compelling reading. The letter allows us to see a medieval polyglot

³¹ See G. Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq über die syrischen und arabischen Galen- übersetzungen (Leipzig, 1925), pp. 1-2 (Arabic text); 1-2 (GT).

³² See Meyerhof, 'New Light,' p. 721.

³³ See A.Z. Iskandar, 'An Attempted Reconstruction of the Late Alexandrian Medical Curriculum,' *Medical History* 20 (1976), pp. 235-258.

scholar at work, translating, revising, critiquing others, searching for manuscripts. Reading it transports us in a direct and palpable way into the private study of a past master and plants us in the middle of a vibrant circle of Christians, Muslims and even Sabians who were actively engaged in appropriating and expanding upon Antique and Late Antique science. This being so, it will provide a useful entry point for trying to understand the transformations that learning and culture underwent in the passage between the Late Antique and early Medieval periods. It will further help us engage the question of what the so-called decline in traditional literary culture in the pivotal period of the sixth to ninth centuries.

Before writing the original Syriac letter, Hunayn apparently had had some sort of exchange or correspondence with the unnamed Syriac-speaking Christian (*rajulan min al-suryāniyyīn*) who had made the initial request for a listing of medical works. Hunayn had told him that Galen himself had written a book, the *Pinax* ('I translated it as '*al-Fihrist*'') which did precisely what the man wanted: it described the works of Galen, their various aims, and the divisions of each one. It seems that Hunayn had suggested that the man read the *Pinax*, which was available in both Syriac and Arabic.³⁴

But this was apparently not good enough. What was needed was an updated version of the *Pinax*, a sort of annotated bibliography. The man, according to Hunayn, had responded to the suggestion of reading the *Pinax* by saying 'we, along with others who read the books [of Galen] in Syriac and in Arabic [and] have this goal, have a need

³⁴ Hunayn describes to 'Alī b. Yaḥyā the beginning of the Syriac letter he had written and seems to paraphrase its preliminary contents. For the following summary which I give, see Bergsträsser, Hunain *ibn Isḥāq*, p. 2 (Arabic text). He begins, 'The first thing—may God strengthen you!—I started with in that document [sc. the original Syriac letter] was that I named the man and I described what he had asked. I said, "You have asked me that I make a description for you of the matter of the books of Galen..." (cf. GT p. 2)

to know what has been translated of these books into the Syriac and Arabic tongue[s] and what has not been translated.³⁵ Furthermore, he continued, more things needed to be known: what Ḥunayn himself had translated and what others had translated, which books Ḥunayn first translated and then later revised or re-translated, whom the books were translated for, the measure of ability of each person doing the translating, even the point in a person's life when the translation was carried out. All of these were important pieces of information: all could help a person know whether a book was available and help evaluate its quality.

The desire to know who the patron of the translations was is an interesting one. Perhaps it could have been the result of several factors. Different patrons, as we will see, may have had different preferences in how they wanted things translated, for one. More practically, knowing whom a book had been translated for could have been important in helping track down a copy of it.

The desiderata of the Syriac-speaker apparently continued: another element which was important for Ḥunayn to mention was the availability of manuscripts, when that was pertinent. One might also need to know, he noted, which of the books that have not been translated he has found a Greek manuscript for, which of them have no Greek copy in existence, and which of them have only partial copies, 'for this matter is necessary so care can be taken to translate what has been found of them and so that what has not been found can be looked for.'³⁶

The requested document had a number of detailed demands, but Ḥunayn eventually realized that if it were to be written, it would be useful to many others,

³⁵ G. Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 2 (Arabic); GT, p. 2.

³⁶ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, pp. 2-3 (Arabic); GT, p. 2.

including himself: 'When you said what you did about this matter, I realized that you had been right in your statement and that you had summoned me to a task whose benefit included you and me and many [other] people.'³⁷ Nevertheless, just as Ḥunayn would later tell 'Alī b. Yaḥyā, his task was made difficult by the unhappy loss of his books: 'for a long time, I continued to delay in what you had asked and to put you off because of the loss of all my books which I had gathered, book by book, my entire life, since I began to have understanding, from all the countries I had passed through.'³⁸ Nevertheless, as with 'Alī b. Yaḥyā, Ḥunayn did write up the document that had been requested, relying upon his memory to do so rather than his books. The Syriac letter formed the basis of the Arabic *Risāla*, which we now possess.

Because one of Hunayn's stated aims in the *Risāla* was to comment about the availability of Greek manuscripts for works which had not been translated, the document offers us the equivalent of a split time in a race: in the journey of ancient texts from antiquity to the present, we can see in the *Risāla* the state of the question as it stood in the ninth century. Like scholars today who travel to remote libraries and monasteries in search of new manuscripts or rare texts, Hunayn traveled widely in search of documents. Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a (d. 668 AH/AD 1269) reports that Hunayn went to a number of countries and to the furthest parts of Byzantium (*bilād al-rūm*) looking for copies of books he planned to translate.³⁹ This image is confirmed by the evidence of the *Risāla*. We have already seen Hunayn's comment about collecting books in all the

³⁷ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 3 (Arabic); GT, p. 2.

³⁸ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 3 (Arabic); GT, p. 2.

³⁹ 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 260.

countries he passed through.⁴⁰ Another passage, quite famous, gives an even more vivid description of the lengths Hunayn was willing to go to in search of a prize. Looking for Galen's *On Demonstration* (no. 115 of 129 in his list), he traveled through some of the most culturally rich areas of the former Roman world, only to have mixed results:⁴¹ 'Till the present, a complete copy of the book *On Demonstration* in Greek has not fallen into the hands of any one of our day, despite the fact that Gabriel [b. Bukhtīshū'] has concerned himself with seeking it out with great care. I myself have made the utmost effort in looking for it. In search of it, I went throughout the regions of all the Jazīra and Syria and Palestine and Egypt until I reached Alexandria. I found nothing of it, save in Damascus, [where I found] about half.' The sections Hunayn did find, however, were not unproblematic: 'they are not in sequential order and incomplete.' Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū', a prominent physician, had also found parts of the *On Demonstration*, but they were not the same as the ones Hunayn had found.⁴²

The *On Demonstration* was not the only book Hunayn had trouble locating. No. 67 in the *Risāla*, the *Book on Pulse, against Archigenes* was also not to be found: 'This book has not been translated till this point, nor have I seen a manuscript of it in Greek.

⁴⁰ On Muslim scholars looking for manuscripts, see F. Rosenthal, *The Technique and Approach of Muslim Scholarship* (Rome, 1947), pp. 18-20. NB, however: Hunayn was a Christian member of the Church of the East (a 'Nestorian'), not a Muslim.

⁴¹ Hunayn gives the titles of the books of Galen in Arabic. Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, pp. 46-48 provides their Greek equivalents. I rely on Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq,' pp. 690-701, for the Latin equivalents which I will supply in the footnotes. In my English translations of their titles, I have often been guided by Bergsträsser's German renderings. In general, I give page numbers to Bergsträsser's German translation because I frequently have consulted it in making my own English translation.

 $^{^{42}}$ See Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 47 (GT p. 39). The book in question is also known as the De Demonstratione.

Nevertheless, some people, whose report I trust, have informed me that they have seen it in Aleppo. I carefully sought it there, but did not get hold of it.'43

Some books were simply not to be found at all. No. 80, the On Medicines Which are *Easy to Find*, may have dealt with medications which were easy to track down, but manuscripts of it were not: 'I have not found a Greek manuscript of this book at all and have not heard that anyone has a copy, despite the fact that I have been searching for it with extreme care.' He perhaps took solace in knowing that others before him had been unable to find the book as well, 'I have found that Oreibasios mentioned that he did not find a manuscript of this book in his time.⁴⁴ Of the On Abridging the Books of Marinos on Anatomy (no. 22), he wrote, 'till this point we have not seen it, nor have I heard anyone saying that he has seen it or that he knows where it is located.⁴⁵ The same is the case for Hunayn's next entry, no. 23, the On Abridging the Book of Lykos *Concerning Anatomy*: 'The story of this book is the same as what precedes it. I have not seen it and I know of no trace of it.⁴⁶ No. 29, the book On what Lykos Did Not Know About *Anatomy* elicits the comment: 'As for me, I have not seen it and have not heard that anybody has seen it.⁴⁷ No. 30, On What He Disagrees with Lykos On, has the same response: 'I have not seen it and I do not know anyone who has seen it.'48 On no. 97, his

Marini.

⁴³ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 33 (GT p. 27). This is the *De pulsibus adversus Archigenem*. He adds at the end of this entry, 'A copy of it has fallen into the hands of Muhammad b. Mūsā.' This may have been a later addition written in by Hunayn as he updated the work after its original composition.

 ⁴⁴ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 37 (GT pp. 30-31). This is the De Remediis Parabilibus.
 ⁴⁵ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 20 (GT p. 16). This is the Epitome Librorum Anatomicorum

⁴⁶ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 20; (GT p. 16). This is the Epitome Librorum Anatomicorum Lyci.

⁴⁷ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 22 (GT p. 18). This is the Ignorata a Lycone in Anatomia.

⁴⁸ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 22 (Arabic); GT p. 18. This is the Adversus Lycum.

Commentary on the Book on Forewarning, he writes, 'In the case of this book, I have not found a copy of it up till this point.'⁴⁹

There were other books which Hunayn could not find whose titles he does not even mention. The *Risāla* was, as we have already mentioned, a sort of bibliographic essay which used Galen's Pinax, where Galen himself had made a list of all his works, as its basis. Between entries 107 and 108 in the Risāla, Hunayn indicates that he has been unable to locate a number of them: 'As for the rest of the books which [Galen] mentions in his Catalog (al-fihrist, i.e., the Pinax), in which he follows the opinion of Hippocrates, I have not come across anything of them in Greek up till this point. Nor have I come across anything of the books which he said he composed following Aristotle, save what has already been mentioned. As for the books which he said he followed Asklepiades in, I have only found one small treatise.⁵⁰ Another similar comment comes between entries 128 and 129 in the *Risāla*. Here we are informed of more books of Galen mentioned in the *Pinax* which were unavailable in Hunayn's day: 'As for the books in which he followed the example of the People of the Portico (*ashāb al-riwāq*, i.e., the Stoics), I have not come across anything of them. Nor have I come across anything from the books in which he follows the way of the $\sigma o \phi_1 \sigma \tau \alpha i$. As for the books which are shared by Grammarians and Rhetoricians, despite their abundance, I have only found one treatise of them.^{'51}

⁴⁹ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 43 (Arabic); GT p. 35. This is the In Hippocratis Praedictionum Libr. Comm.

⁵⁰ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 45 (Arabic); GT p. 37. Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq,' p. 722, gives the following genuine works of Galen which are not mentioned by Hunayn: De Dignotione ex Insomniis, De Propriorum Animi Cujusque Affectuum Dignotione et Curatione, Quomodo Morbum Simulantes sint Dephrehendendi, De Substantia Facultatum Naturalium, De Ptisana, Quod Qualitates Incorporeae sint, De Captionibus penes Dictionem.

⁵¹ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 51 (Arabic); GT p. 42.

For all his mention of manuscripts he looked for or which he had never seen, Hunayn makes many more references to Greek manuscripts which he possesses in his personal library. Often, Hunayn will mention that he has a Greek copy of the text in question, but that he did not have the opportunity to translate it. For example, in entry no. 54, On the Diagnosis of the Affections of the eyes, ⁵² he writes, 'I had a Greek manuscript of it in my possession, but I did not have the free time to translate it.⁵³ In the case of no. 48, *On the Organ of Smell*, he reports that he was not even able to read the text: 'I had a copy of it in Greek in my possession, though I did not have the free time to read it.' We even get a sense at times for the demand on Hunayn's time from different translation projects. About no. 46, On the Opinions of Hippocrates and Plato, he writes, 'Job translated this book into Syriac but no one else up till this point has translated it. I had a number of Greek manuscripts of it in my possession, but I was distracted from them by others.' Such statements are usually followed by curiously contradictory ones which report that Hunayn did in fact translate the work in question. In the case of entry 46, for instance, he adds, 'Then, I later translated it into Syriac...'⁵⁴ Similarly, in entry no. 98 on Galen's Commentary on the Book κατ' ἰητρεῖον, Hunayn informs us 'I fell into a possession of a copy of [the book] in Greek, but I did not have the chance to read it, not to mention to translate it. I do not know anyone who has translated it; a copy of it in

⁵² Fī dalā'il 'ilal al-'ayn, I use here Meyerhof's translation of this title; cf. 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq,' p. 695.

⁵³ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 30 (Arabic); GT p. 24.

⁵⁴ Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, pp. 26-27 (Arabic); GT p. 21. This is De Placitis Hippocratis et Platonis.

Greek is present in my library (*fī kutubī*). Then I translated it later into Syriac and I made a summary of it....⁵⁵

This state of affairs can be explained by the fact that the *Risāla* apparently underwent revision. In his conclusion to the book, Hunayn tells us that he had written the document in the year 1167 of Alexander (231 AH/AD 856) when he was 48 years old. In a sort of Postscript, he then writes that in the year 1175 of Alexander (249 AH/AD 864) he added to it what he had translated since the letter was initially composed.⁵⁶ A Post-Postscript as well as a reference to translation work done by Hunayn 'about two months before his death' suggests that the *Risāla* was updated even after Hunayn's death.⁵⁷

Hunayn makes reference to having Greek manuscripts of certain books in his library more than thirty times in the course of the *Risāla*;⁵⁸ he also makes comments on the condition of the manuscripts which he used as the basis for various translations. For entry no. 28, on Galen's book *On Erasistratos' Science of Anatomy*, for instance, Hunayn remarks, 'No one before me had translated this book, so I myself translated it into Syriac...despite the fact that I only found one manuscript of it, full of things which had fallen out (*kathīrat al-isqāț*) and which was missing a small part of its end. It was only

⁵⁵ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 43 (Arabic) ; GT p. 35. This is the In Hippocratis De Officina Medici Comment.

⁵⁶ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 52 (Arabic); GT pp. 42-43. On detecting the different layers in the *Risāla*, see Bergsträsser's comments, pp. IX-X.

⁵⁷ For the comment about two months before Ḥunayn's death, see entry no. 61, Bergsträsser, *Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq*, pp. 31-32 (Arabic text). For a reference to Ḥunayn's son, Isḥāq making a translation after his father's death, see entry no. 41, Bergsträsser, *Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq*, p. 25 (Arabic text).

⁵⁸ See, e.g., the following entries in Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq* (page numbers refer to the Arabic text): 3 (p. 5), 40 (p. 25), 44 (p. 26), 46 (p. 27), 48 (p. 27), 54 (p. 30), 55 (p. 30), 58 (p. 31), 59 (p. 31), 63 (p. 32), 65 (p. 32), 77 (p. 36), 81 (p. 38), 82 (p. 38), 89 (p. 40), 90 (p. 40), 98 (p. 43), 102 (p. 44), 104 (p. 45), 105 (p. 45), 106 (p. 45), 107 (p. 45), 114 (p. 47), 122 (p. 50), 124 (p. 50), 128 (p. 51), 129 (p. 52). Entries 47 (p. 27), 73 (p. 35), 92 (p. 41), 93 (p. 41) and 111 (p. 46) most likely also refer to Greek manuscripts in Hunayn's possession; no. 83 (pp. 38-39) may as well.

with great labor that I was able to extract its main points; it nevertheless turned out intelligible. My intention in it was, to the best of my ability, not to depart from the ideas of Galen.'⁵⁹ Manuscript quality, when combined with the age of the translator, could produce poor results. Of no. 43, *On Arteries: Whether Blood Flows through them by Nature or Not*, he reports, 'I had translated it into Syriac when I was a young man, for Gabriel [b. Bukhtīshū']. Nevertheless, I did not trust in its accuracy, for its manuscript was a single one, full of errors. Then, [later] I finally translated it [again] into Syriac with great attention to detail.⁶⁰ He has similar things to say about no. 108, *On the* Substance of the Soul, what it is According to the Opinion of Asklepiades: 'I translated this treatise into Syriac for Gabriel [b. Bukhtīshū'] when I was young and I do not trust in its accuracy since I translated it, in addition to this, from a single manuscript which was not sound (laysat bi-sahīha).⁶¹ A manuscript with gaps might merit brief mention, as in the case with no. 128, the Commentary on the Second of the Books of Aristotle, called $\pi \epsilon \rho i$ έρμηνείας: 'We have found an incomplete manuscript (nuskha nāgisa) of it,'⁶² but lacunae were not necessarily a barrier to translation. Concerning no. 122, On What Plato Said about the Science of Medicine in his book known as the $T_{i\mu\alpha\tilde{l}o\varsigma}$, he reports 'I found it in Harrān, though its beginning is a bit lacking (yangusu galīlan) and I did not have the chance to translate it. Then, I later translated it into Syriac and I made complete the gap (nuqsan) at its beginning.'63

⁵⁹ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 22 (Arabic); GT p. 17. This is the De Erasistrati Anatome.

⁶⁰ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, pp. 25-26; GT p. 21. This is the In Arteriis Natura Sanguis Contineatur.

⁶¹ Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, pp. 45-46 (Arabic text); GT p. 37 This is the De Substantia Animae secundum Asclepiadem.

⁶² Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 51 (Arabic text); GT p. 42. This is the In Alterum Aristotelis De Interpretatione Librum.

⁶³ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 50 (Arabic text); GT p. 122. NB: 'in Harrān' is a variant which Bergsträsser published later in Neue Materialien zu Hunain ibn Ishāq's Galen Bibliographie (Leipzig, 1932), p.

Hunayn's concern with mentioning manuscripts, translators, different translations and even the age of translators gives us a vivid picture of the process of revision and correction that went into making a translation. As we have seen, Hunayn would travel to acquire books and manuscripts and he seems to have been constantly on the lookout for new and better manuscripts and would correct previous translations on the basis of new evidence. In a well-known passage describing Galen's book, *On Sects* (entry no. 3), he offers the following picture of the translation history of the text: 'Galen's composition of this text was when he was a youth of thirty years or a little older, upon his first entry into Rome. Before me, a man called Ibn Sahdā, one of the inhabitants of Karkh, had translated it into Syriac. He was weak in translation. Then I translated it when I was a young man of twenty years or a little older for a doctor, among the inhabitants of Jundīsābūr, who is called Shīrīshū' b. Qutrub, from a Greek manuscript which was full of defects (*kathīrat al-isqāt*). Then, after that, when I was forty or thereabouts, Hubaysh, my student, asked me to improve it after a number of Greek manuscripts of it had been collected and were with me. So I collated those manuscripts with one another until I had one good manuscript on their basis. Then I collated that manuscript with the Syriac and I corrected it. It is my custom to do that with everything that I translate.'64

^{23,} after the discovery of another manuscript of the *Risāla*. The text Ḥunayn is here referring to *De Iis quae Medice scripta sunt in Platonis Timaeo*. The 'then later' in this passage (*thumma ... min ba*'d) is probably an addition Ḥunayn made when he updated the *Risāla* in AD 864/249 AH.

⁶⁴ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, pp. 4-5 (Arabic text) (GT p. 4), along with improvements to the text made available in *idem.*, *Neue Materialien*, p. 14. This is the *De Sectis*. F. Rosenthal provides an ET of this passage in *The Classical Heritage in Islam*, trans. E. and J. Marmorstein (London and New York, 1975), p. 20. Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq,' pp. 690-691, also provides an ET.

The collation of manuscripts to produce better and more accurate editions receives at least fifteen separate mentions in the course of the Risāla;⁶⁵ it was a standard part of the method of third/ninth-century translators in Baghdad. In describing Galen's book On the Means of Recovery (no. 20, fi hilat al-bur'), Hunayn offers the following vivid portrait of what this process actually looked like: 'Sergios [of Resh'ayna] translated this book into Syriac. His translation of the first six sections happened when he was still weak and had not grown strong in translation. Then he translated the eight remaining sections after he had been trained, so his translation of them was more correct than his translation of the first sections. Salmawayh pressed me to improve the second part for him and expected that to be easier and better than translating it [anew]. So he collated part of the seventh section with me. He had the Syriac with him and I had the Greek with me and he would read out to me in Syriac. Whenever something which disagreed with the Greek would pass by me, I would tell him about it and he would begin to make corrections—until the process became burdensome for him and it became clear to him that a translation from the beginning would be easier and stylistically superior and would be better organized. So he asked me to translate those sections and I translated them entirely.'66

Comparing manuscripts with one another to achieve better readings, as we have seen, was a common practice. It could lead to either a revision or a new translation altogether and Ḥunayn seems to have shown a preference at times for making

⁶⁵ See, e.g., the following entries in Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq* (page numbers refer to the Arabic text): 3 (pp. 4-5), 20 (pp. 16-18), 36 (pp. 23-24), 37 (p. 24), 39 (p. 25), 53 (pp. 29-30), 68 (p. 34), 69 (p. 34), 84 (p. 39), 86 (p. 39), 88 (p. 40), 113 (pp. 46-47), 123 (p. 50), 126 (p. 51), 127 (p. 51).

⁶⁶ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, pp. 17-18 (Arabic text) (GT p. 14), with reference to idem., Neue Materialien, p. 16. This is the Methodus Medendi. A freer ET of this passage is available in Rosenthal, The Classical Heritage in Islam, pp. 20-21 and also in Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq,' pp. 692-693.

completely new translations rather than simply revising old ones. In the case of *On Simple Medicines* (no. 53), he reports 'Joseph the Priest made a poor and miserable translation of the first part—which is five sections—into Syriac. Then Job [of Edessa] subsequently translated it better than Joseph had done, but he did not execute it as he should have. Then I translated it into Syriac for Salmawayh and I exerted a great deal of effort in carrying it out. Sergios [of Resh'ayna] had translated the second part of the book and Yūhannā b. Māsawayh asked me to collate the second part of this book and correct it, so I did, despite the fact that it would have been best to retranslate it.⁶⁷ We hear similar things in relation to no. 24, On the Disagreements which have occurred *Concerning Anatomy:* 'Job of Edessa translated this book, but fixing it up tired me out,⁶⁸ so I retranslated it for Yūhannā b. Māsawayh into Syriac and I produced a most excellent version.^{'69} In some cases, Hunayn might make a collation and revision which bordered on a fresh translation, as was the situation with Galen's *Commentary on the Book of* Aphorisms (no. 88): 'Job [of Edessa] made a bad translation of it and Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū' desired an improvement of it, but instead increased its corruption. So I collated the Greek with it and improved it with a correction which resembled a translation.⁷⁰

In addition to the importance of discovering and collating Greek manuscripts of the works in question, a significant reoccurring theme in the *Risāla* is the production of multiple Syriac or Arabic revisions and versions of the same Greek text by different

⁶⁷ Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 30 (Arabic text); GT p. 24. This is the De Simplicium Medicamentorum Temperamentis et Facultatibus.

⁶⁸ fa-a'yānī islāḥahu. Or perhaps, 'it defied my efforts at improvement.' Bergsträsser apparently found this phrase somewhat obscure. His German translation rendered it, 'es war mir unmöglich, es (diese Übersetzung) zu verbessern (?).' See Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 16 (GT).

⁶⁹ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 21 (Arabic text); GT pp. 16-17. Meyerhof ('New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq,' p. 693) calls this book, *De Anatomica Dissensione*, and notes 'This book is lost.'

⁷⁰ Bergsträsser, *Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq*, p. 40 (Arabic text); GT pp. 32-33.

translators and sometimes, even by the same translator.⁷¹ Hunayn's comments on entry no. 113, *On The Opinions He Believes*, provide a succinct illustration: 'Job [of Edessa] translated it into Syriac and I translated it into Syriac for Ishāq, my son. Thābit b. Qurra translated it into Arabic for Muḥammad b. Mūsā. 'Īsā b. Yaḥyā translated it into Arabic. Isḥāq collated it with the original and I improved it for 'Abd Allāh b. Isḥāq.'⁷²

Often these two points merge: the new availability of manuscripts leads to a fresh collation and a new translation or an improvement on a previous one. Concerning Galen's *On the Method for Preserving Health* (no. 84, *fi-1-ḥīla li-ḥifẓ al-ṣiḥḥa*), for example, Ḥunayn reports, 'Theophilos of Edessa made a disgusting and bad translation of this book into Syriac. Then, I myself translated it for Bukhtīshū' b. Gabriel. At the time I translated it, I only had one manuscript available. Then, I later found another Greek manuscript, so I collated it and corrected it from the Greek.'⁷³ There is a similar story to tell about no. 74, *On the Powers of Victuals*: 'Sergios translated it then Job [of Edessa] and then I myself translated it for Salmawayh, at first from a manuscript that was not sound (*ṣaḥīḥa*). Later, I was interested in copying it for my son, and had gathered into my possession a number of Greek manuscripts of it, so I collated it and corrected it and corrected it and produced a summary of it in Syriac, along with a number of treatises of what many of the Ancients had spoken concerning this art, which I added to it.'⁷⁴

⁷¹ For examples of texts with multiple versions or revisions, see, the following entries in Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq* (page numbers refer to the Arabic text): 24 (p. 21), 43 (p. 26), 49 (pp. 27-28), 53 (pp. 29-30), 55 (p. 30), 64 (p. 32), 72 (p. 35), 75 (p. 36), 87 (p. 40), 102 (p. 44), 103 (p. 44), 113 (pp. 46-47), 119 (p. 49), 120 (p.49), 121 (p. 49), 123 (p. 50), 125 (p. 51), 126 (p. 51), 127 (p. 51).

⁷² Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, pp. 46-47 (Arabic text); GT p. 38. This is De Propriis Placitis.

⁷³ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 39 (Arabic text); GT p. 32. This is the De Tuenda Sanitate.

⁷⁴ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 35 (Arabic text); GT p. 29. The one textual change to this passage included in *idem*. *Neue Materialien*, p. 21, does not change its meaning. This is the *De Alimentorum Facultatibus*.

The discovery of new manuscripts might combine with something else to spur new translations: simple bad fortune. We have already seen Hunayn's description of his collation of no. 20, On the Means of Recovery: Sergios of Resh'ayna made a poor translation, which Hunayn and Salmawayh began to collate and revise. Then Hunayn simply executed a new translation of the first part of the text. But this was only the beginning of the story. 'We were in al-Raqqa at the time of the expeditions of al-Ma'mūn' when this happened, Hunayn tells us. Salmawayh 'presented [the newly translated sections] to Zakariyya b. 'Abd Allāh, who is known as "al-Ṭayfūrī," when he wanted to go down to the City of Peace [sc. Baghdad] to have them copied for him. Then a fire happened in the boat where Zakariyya was and the book was burned and no copy was left of it. Then, after some years, I translated the book [again] from its beginning for Bukhtīshū' b. Gabriel and I had in my possession a number of manuscripts in Greek of its last eight sections. I collated them and established a correct version from them and translated them with the most attention and eloquence I could. As for the first six sections, I only came across one manuscript and it was a manuscript full of errors at that. For that reason, I was unable to complete those sections to the appropriate extent. Then I came across another manuscript, and I collated it with it and I improved it as much as I was able. I would devote myself to collating it a third time if a third manuscript were to happen my way, for the Greek manuscripts of this book are rare because it was not among those things read in the schools of Alexandria. This book was translated [into Arabic], from the Syriac copies which I translated, by Hubaysh b. al-Hasan for Muhammad b. Mūsā. Then after he translated it, he asked me to look over the last eight sections for him and to correct defects I found; so I complied

46

with the request and did it well.⁷⁵ In the case of *On That the Prime Mover is Not Moved* (no. 125, *fī anna al-muḥarrik al-awwal la yataḥarrak*), someone's misplacing a translation meant that a fresh one had to be made: 'I translated it into Arabic during the caliphate of al-Wāthiq for Muḥammad b. Mūsā,' Ḥunayn writes, 'After that, I translated it into Syriac and 'Īsā b. Yaḥyā translated it into Arabic because the copy which I had translated earlier had gone missing.⁷⁶

In the *Risāla* Ḥunayn mentions twenty-three different people who were either patrons commissioning translations or, who like his son Isḥāq or his student 'Īsā b. Yaḥyā, were connected to him in some way and as a result were the recipients of translations he made. Examining Ḥunayn's comments about the recipients of translations shows that patrons played an active role in determining how a translation was produced.

Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh, for example, was a prominent Christian physician whose family origin was in Jundīsābūr. He is reported to have served no less than six caliphs: Hārūn al-Rashīd, al-Amīn, al-Ma'mūn, al-Mu'taṣim, al-Wāthiq and al-Mutawakkil. He also had an interest in translation—Hārūn al-Rashīd put him in charge of translating ancient books which were found in Amorium and Ankyra and other Byzantine cities when they were raided by Muslim armies.⁷⁷ Yūḥannā makes a number of appearances in the *Risāla* as the commissioner of a translation: Ḥunayn and his nephew Ḥubaysh b.

⁷⁵ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 18 (Arabic text); GT pp. 14-15.

⁷⁶ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 51 (Arabic); GT pp. 41-42. This is In Primum Movens Immotum.

⁷⁷ For this information on Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh, see Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', pp. 246-247 and more generally, pp. 246-255. Also see, Jamāl al-Dīn Abī al-Ḥasan 'Alī b. Yūsuf al-Qifṭī (Ibn al-Qifṭī), Tārīkh al-ḥukamā' (Leipzig, 1903), pp. 381-391. M. Ullmann, *Die Medizin im Islam* (Leiden, 1970), pp. 112-115.

al-Ḥasan made as many as perhaps twenty different translations or revisions of Greek for Yūḥannā. All these texts were translated into Syriac, too—none went into Arabic.⁷⁸

Yūḥannā is unique among the patrons Ḥunayn mentions for his apparently strong preference and even demand for precise and accurate translations. When Hunayn mentions having made a translation for Yūḥannā, he not infrequently also mentions the pains he took to produce something with accuracy and exactness. No other patron has such comments consistently associated with his name. Concerning the book, *On Bones*, for example (no. 7), Ḥunayn reports, 'Sergios translated it into Syriac with a poor translation. Then I translated it some years ago for Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh. My intention in translating it was to plumb the depths of its ideas with the utmost detail and clarity because this man loves clear expression and constantly pushes for it.'⁷⁹ Similarly, in the case of the book *On Pulse* (no. 16), we learn that it was translated by Sergios of Resh'ayna and Job of Edessa. 'And I myself have translated this book, all of it,' Ḥunayn states, 'some years ago, for Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh, and I took great care to be clear and use fine language in it.'⁸⁰ About *On the Crisis of Illness* (no. 18), he informs us, 'Sergios translated it and some years ago, I improved it and made a great

⁷⁸ Syriac texts translated for Yūḥannā included (page numbers refer to the Arabic text in Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq): On Bones (no. 7, pp. 7-8), On Muscles (no. 8, p. 8), On Nerves (no. 9, p. 9), On Veins (no. 10, p. 9), On Pulse (no. 16, p. 13), On the Crisis of Illness (no. 18, pp. 15-16), On the Days of Crisis (no. 19, p. 16), On the Treatment of Anatomy (no. 21, p. 19), On the Disagreement that Takes Place Concerning Anatomy (no. 24, p. 21), A Book on the Anatomy of the Instruments of the Voice (no. 34), On the Anatomy of the Eye (no. 35), On the Movement of the Chest and the Lung (no. 36), On the Voice (no. 38, p. 23), On Simple Medicines (no. 53, pp. 29-30), On Ethics (no. 119, p. 49). Hunayn does not explicitly mention a patron for the following works: On the Dissection of Dead Animals (no. 25, p. 21), On Dissecting Living Animals (no. 26, p. 21), On Hippocrates' Science of Anatomy (no. 27, p. 21), On Erasistratos' Science of Anatomy (no. 28, p. 22), On the Anatomy of the Uterus (no. 31, p. 22), but connects them with his translation of no. 24, which he does explicitly state was done for Yūḥannā. So far as I can tell, Ḥunayn lists no texts as having been translated into Arabic for Yūḥannā.

⁷⁹ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 8 (Arabic text); GT p. 6. This is De Ossibus ad Tirones.

⁸⁰ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, pp. 14-15 (Arabic text) (GT p. 12), with reference to idem., Neue Materialien, p. 16. This is De Pulsibus.

effort to correct it for Yūhannā b. Māsawayh.⁸¹ After giving a long description of the contents of *On Practical Anatomy*⁸² (no. 21), Hunayn writes, 'Job of Edessa translated this book into Syriac for Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū' and I recently improved it for Yūhannā b. Māsawayh. I took great care in correcting it.⁸³ As we have already seen above, Hunayn tells us that he translated no. 24, On the Disagreements which have occurred Concerning Anatomy, for Yūhannā b. Māsawayh and that he produced a 'most excellent version' of it for him (*takhallastuhu ahsana takhallusin*).⁸⁴ Entries 24-28 and 31 were apparently translated as a group for Yūhannā by Hunayn,⁸⁵ speaking about no. 27, On Hippocrates' Science of Anatomy, Hunayn reports, 'Job translated this into Syriac. Then I myself translated it along with the books I mentioned before it. In completing it, I was extremely meticulous.³⁶ Another prominent feature of Hunayn's *Risāla* is its identification of spurious works of Galen, and in his comments on no. 34, On the Anatomy of the Instruments of the Voice, we have examples of both Hunayn's critical remarks as well as more hints of Yūhannā's expectations for translation work done on his behalf: 'This book is one section and forged in the language of Galen. It is neither Galen nor is it some other Ancient. It is, rather, the work of one of the Moderns who assembled it from the books of Galen; furthermore, the one who assembled it was weak.

⁸¹ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 16 (Arabic text); GT pp. 12-13. This is *De Crisibus*.

⁸² Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 19, fī ʻilāj al-tashrīḥ, lit. On the Treatment or Management of Anatomy. This is De Anatomicis Administrationibus, the ἀνατομικαὶ ἐγχειρήσεις.

⁸³ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 20 (Arabic text); GT p. 16.

⁸⁴ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 21; GT pp. 16-17.

⁸⁵ These are On the Anatomy of Dead Animals (25; De Anatome Mortuorum), On the Anatomy of Living Animals (26, De Vivorum Anatome), On Hippocrates' Science of Anatomy (27, De Hippocrates Anatome), On Erasistratos' Science of Anatomy (28, De Erasistrati Anatome) and On the Anatomy of the Uterus (31, De Uteri Dissectione). Each of these books had been previously translated by Job of Edessa and in the case of each of them, Hunayn states that he translated or retranslated it 'along with the preceding book,' 'along with the books which I have just mentioned,' or 'along with the rest of the anatomical books which I translated,' see Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, pp. 21-22, and emendations in *idem., Neue Materialien*, pp. 17-18.

⁸⁶ Bergsträsser, *Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq*, p. 21; GT p. 17.

Nevertheless, Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh asked me to translate it, so I complied with him in that. I do not recall whether I translated it as a [new] translation or whether I [just] improved it. I do know, however, that I executed it as best I could.'⁸⁷

The *Risāla* also shows other patrons playing an active role in determining how the translations they commission were produced; different patrons seemed to have had different preferences in terms of style and wording. Speaking about On the Voice (no. 38), for example, Hunayn informs us about its initial translation, 'I did not translate this book into Syriac and none of my predecessors translated it, but I did translate it into Arabic for Muhammad b. 'Abd al-Malik, the Wazīr, about twenty years ago. I exerted great effort in carrying out the translation, in accordance with the fine intellect that man possessed.' This was, however, the beginning and not the end of the story of this book. 'Then Muhammad read it,' Hunayn continues, 'and changed many phrases in it in accordance with what he thought was better.' But different patrons might have different ideas as to what constituted good style and a quality translation, for 'Then Muhammad b. Mūsā looked into it, and the first manuscript as well, and he selected the first manuscript and had it copied.' Because the different patrons favored different versions, there was a chance that both were now available to be read: 'I wanted to make this clear for you,' Hunayn tells 'Alī, in the *Risāla*, 'so that you would know the reason for the difference between the two manuscripts, if they are present.^{'88} In this case, Muhammad b. Mūsā, also known as Abū Ja'far, seems to have had ideas as to what made for a better or worse translation. Just as he provides us with a fairly precise description of what the process of collation looked like, Hunayn also provides us with a more

⁸⁷ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 23 (GT p. 18), with reference to idem., Neue Materialien, p. 18. This is Vocalium Instrumentorum Dissectio.

⁸⁸ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 24 (Arabic text); GT pp. 19-20. This is De Voce et Anhelitu.

detailed description of the sort of 're-writes' a patron might request if he was not entirely satisfied with the style of the work he received. Speaking about the book *On Corpulence* (no. 56), Hunayn lays out his usual stylistic aims as a translator. 'I translated it recently for Bukhtīshū',' he reports, 'in the manner of speech I customarily use in translating, which is, in my view, the speech which is the most elegant and vigorous and closest to the Greek without violating proper Syriac (*huqūq al-suryāniyya*).' In this particular case, however, Hunayn's usual method produced results which were not to the liking of Bukhtīshū'. 'Then Bukhtīshū' asked me to retranslate it in language that was simpler (*ashal*) and more fluid (*aslas*) and more expansive (*awsa*') than the first, so I did it.'⁸⁹

Muḥammad b. Mūsā, we have just seen, could show definite predilections for certain types of style over others. He exhibits the same behavior in Ḥunayn's description of *On Withering* (no. 72). 'Stephanos translated it into Arabic,' Ḥunayn reports, 'and I corrected it in places about which Abū Ja'far had doubts and concerning which he has asked me, but I did not finish fixing it. Then I translated it into Syriac and 'Īsā translated it into Arabic.'⁹⁰ Muḥammad b. Mūsā seems to have taken a particularly hands-on approach to the translations he commissioned, even to the point in possibly engaging in the act of collation, much like Salmawayh did in the description of collation cited above. Speaking of the book *On the Powers of the Soul which Follow the Mixing of the Body* (no. 123), Ḥunayn states that he translated it into Syriac for Salmawayh and that based on this translation, Ḥubaysh translated the text into Arabic

⁸⁹ Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, pp. 30-31 (Arabic text) (GT, p. 25), with reference to idem., Neue Materialien, p. 20. This is De Plenitudine (Plethora).

⁹⁰ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 35 (Arabic text); GT p. 28. This is De Marcore (Marasmo).

for Muḥammad b. Mūsā. 'It reached me that Muḥammad collated the Greek with it with Stephanos,' he reports, 'and improved it in places.'⁹¹

There are also indications in the *Risāla* that a patron might prefer to have a work translated piecemeal, rather than all at once. Part of what Ḥunayn had to report about the *Commentary on the Book of Aphorisms* (no. 88) has already been cited—Job of Edessa's bad translation and Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū''s failed attempt at an improvement, followed by Ḥunayn's translation of it into Syriac. The *Commentary*, however, also had a life in Arabic, and it is here that we gain a glimpse into another possible patron-translator arrangement for producing a text. 'Aḥmad b. Muḥammad, who is known as Ibn al-Mudabbir, had asked me to translate it for him, so I translated one section of it into Arabic,' Ḥunayn reports. 'Then he ordered me not to begin to translate another section until he read that section which I had translated. But the man became busy and the translation of the book was interrupted.' The project of translating the *Commentary on the Book of Aphorisms* was not over, however. Another patron stepped in. 'When Muḥammad b. Mūsā saw that section,' Ḫunayn continues, 'he asked me to finish the book, so I translated it entirely.'⁹²

What 'Dark Ages'? Whence Hunayn?

Hunayn is just an example. His *Risālā* focuses on medical works and does not, for the most part, deal with philosophical or other secular types of literature. But we know that Hunayn was also active in translating non-medical texts as well. He translated the entirety of Aristotle's περὶ ἑρμηνείας, περὶ γένεσεως καὶ φθορᾶς and περὶ

⁹¹ Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 50 (Arabic text); GT p. 41. This is Quod Animi Mores Corporis Temperamenta sequantur.

⁹² Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 40 (Arabic text) (GT p. 33), also with reference to idem., Neue Materialien, pp. 21-22.

ψυχῆς into Syriac, as well as Book Two of the *Physics* along with Alexander of Aphrodisias' commentary and Book 11 of the *Metaphysics*; portions of Hunayn's Syriac translations of the Ἀναλυτικά and Ἀποδεικτικά of Aristotle survive, as well as fragments of his Syriac translation of the $\pi\epsilon\rho$ 'Aριστοτέλους φιλοσοφίας of Nicholas of Damascus.⁹³ Furthermore, Hunayn may also have translated Theon's commentary on the *Categories* into Syriac.⁹⁴ And there is more: we know Hunayn commented on Plato's *Republic*, aided in the translation of the *Laws*, translated the entirety of the *Organon* and may have also translated the Περì ποιητικῆς.⁹⁵ He translated other works of Plato, Porphyry, Artemiodoros, Ptolemy, Menelaos, Autolykos, Apollonios, Hippocrates and Dioscorides. And of course, Hunayn did more than just translate—he composed original works as well.⁹⁶ All of this, of course, is in addition to the 99 complete or partial translations or revisions of previous translations into Syriac and 43 complete or partial translations into Arabic of Galenic works which Hunayn carried out.⁹⁷ In fact, Ibn Abī Uşaybī'a lists some 111 works by Hunayn in Arabic.⁹⁸ These ages do not seem very Dark at all. Hunayn's is hardly a world where secular genres have died; on the contrary, many were still flourishing.

⁹³ For this information, see A. Baumstark, *Geschichte der Syrischen Literatur* (Bonn, 1922), pp. 228-229.

⁹⁴ Compare the comments of Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 229 with those of W.F. Macomber, 'The Literary Activity of Hunain b. Ishaq in Syriac,' *Mahrajān li-afrām wa-ḥunayn/Ephrem-Hunayn Festival* (Baghdad, 1974), p. 554.

⁹⁵ Macomber, 'The Literary Activity of Hunain b. Ishaq in Syriac,' p. 565. For the view that the Περὶ ποιητικῆς was translated into Syriac for the first time by Ḥunayn's son Isḥāq, see O.J. Schrier, 'The Syriac and Arabic Versions of Aristotle's *Poetics*,' in G. Endress and R. Kruk, edd., *The Ancient Tradition in Christian and Islamic Hellenism* (Leiden, 1997), pp. 264-265.

⁹⁶ For a listing of Hunayn's extant original compositions and translations, see C. Brockelmann, *Geschichte der arabischen Litteratur*, vol. 1 (Leiden, 1943), pp. 224-227 and *idem., Geschichte der arabischen Litteratur*, suppl. 1 (Leiden, 1937), pp. 366-369.

⁹⁷ Macomber, 'The Literary Activity of Hunain b. Ishaq in Syriac,' pp. 568-567.

⁹⁸ For lists of Ḥunayn's works based on the testimony of various medieval Arabic sources, see Samir, 'Maqāla fī 'l-ājāl li-Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq,' pp. 405-414.

An objection may be lodged at this point that my argument has been something of a dodge. Against the observation that secular genres of Greek literature for all intents and purposes stopped being written in the several centuries after Justinian, I have brought forth the counterexample of a ninth-century figure, the majority of whose work only survives in Arabic. Hunayn died in 873 AD (270 AH) and was in fact a younger contemporary of Leo the Mathematician (d. after 869), a figure who is seen as marking the end of the intellectual Dark Ages in Byzantium. The 'Dark Ages,' it might be argued, were already coming to an end before Hunayn had begun his dazzling career and he should be viewed as representing the same cultural awakening after a period of contraction that his older contemporary Leo does. Hunayn belongs to medieval, 'Islamic' society, it will be suggested: I have no right to claim him for Late Antiquity nor do I have any justification for saying that his *oeuvre* has any relevance to the question of the Dark Ages.

The opposite, in fact, is the case. Hunayn is very much a Late Antique figure and the *Risāla* is a thoroughly Late Antique document. It would be tempting to view the cosmopolitan, multilingual and sophisticated milieu of 9th century Baghdad as a beaming pulsar of intellectual activity which shone forth after the dark and sterile epoch of the seventh and eight centuries—and wrong. Hunayn's *Risāla*, which patiently lists the Muslim patrons who funded the extensive translation activities of Hunayn's lifetime, makes it evident that the particular social formation of 'Abbasid Baghdad provided an environment in which there was a thirst for Greek secular texts and an

54

ability to pay for them which stimulated the burst of translation activity.⁹⁹ But a demand for texts and an ability to pay for their translation are merely necessary conditions for the sort of translation activity that actually took place. Without individuals skilled and trained in medicine, philosophy and other antique arts, who were also able to move texts and ideas across linguistic lines, these demands would have gone unfulfilled. If in some profound sense Hunayn and his fellow translators were not deeply Late Antique, the storied Greco-Arabic translation movement never could have happened. We are not dealing with a rebirth, but rather a linguistic appropriation of something that was already there.

A moment's reflection shows that attempts to minimize the importance of the Syriac tradition of scholarship to which Hunayn and other translators belonged in the history of the translation movement are neither convincing nor satisfying.¹⁰⁰ The case of Syriac studies in Europe shows nicely what would have occurred had the hunger for Greek knowledge and texts in the 'Abbasid period not been satisfied by the presence of a living tradition stretching back to the Late Antique period that Muslim patrons could turn to and draw upon. In 1312, the Council of Vienne ordered that Hebrew, Chaldean (i.e., Syriac), Arabic and Greek be taught at Paris, Oxford, Bologna, Salamanca and the Papal Court. In each place, there were to be two lecturers for each language whose job also was to include translating texts from these languages into Latin; funds to pay for

⁹⁹ This is the point of D. Gutas, *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture: The Graeco-Arabic Translation Movement in Baghdad and Early 'Abbāsid Society (2nd-4th/8th-10th centuries)* (London/New York, 1998), pp. 20-22.

¹⁰⁰ Gutas' otherwise excellent *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture* is marred by a tendency to downplay the importance of the Syriac background to the movement.

these teaching positions were to be secured by special ecclesiastical taxes.¹⁰¹ In at least some parts of England there is evidence of the tax being paid for about five years, although eventually it stopped being collected, apparently due to a lack of enthusiasm for the Council's decree among Church leaders.¹⁰² Nevertheless, there does seem to have been instruction in Greek and Hebrew at Oxford around this time, probably done by a Jewish convert to Christianity; there is no evidence, however, for the teaching of Syriac.¹⁰³ In 1434, the Council of Basle re-affirmed the decree of Vienne about the teaching of Hebrew, Syriac, Greek and Arabic, but it had no apparent consequences in England;¹⁰⁴ indeed, so far as Syriac is concerned, the renewed decree must have had no effect for all of Europe—the first European to know any Syriac at all seems to have been Teseo degli Albonesi (b. 1469), who learned some Syriac in Rome from a Maronite priest named Joseph, around 1515.¹⁰⁵ In other words, it was not until western Europeans had direct contact with representatives of a living tradition that they were able to begin to learn Syriac.¹⁰⁶ A figure like Roger Bacon may have thought that Greek, Arabic, Hebrew and Syriac contained the most important texts to be had in philosophy, theology and

¹⁰¹ See R. Weiss, 'England and the Decree of the Council of Vienne on the teaching of Greek, Arabic, Hebrew, and Syriac,' in *idem., Medieval and Humanist Greek: Collected Essays*, (Padova, 1977), pp. 68-69. Weiss understood 'Chaldean' to mean 'Syriac.' So, too, did Ugo Monneret de Villard, see *idem., Lo Studio dell'Islām in Europa nel XII e nel XIII Secolo* (The Vatican, 1944), p. 44. On foreign language study in Europe in the Middle Ages more generally, see B. Bischoff, 'The Study of Foreign Languages in the Middle Ages,' *Mittelalterliche Studien: Ausgewählte Aufsätze zur Schriftkunde und Literaturgeschichte*, vol. 2, (Stuttgart, 1967), pp. 227-245, reference to the Council of Vienne on p. 245. B. Altaner, 'Raymundus Lullus und der Sprachenkanon (can. 11) des Konzils von Vienne (1312)' *Historisches Jahrbuch* 53 (1933), p. 217, argues that the context of the decree was clearly one in which the Catholic church was concerned about missions and attempts at union with oriental churches; attempts at understanding the Chaldean referred to in the decree as Biblical Aramaic rather than the Syriac in use by eastern churches are therefore mistaken.

¹⁰² Weiss, 'England and the Decree of the Council of Vienne,' pp. 72-73.

¹⁰³ Weiss, 'England and the Decree of the Council of Vienne,' pp. 75-76.

¹⁰⁴ Weiss, 'England and the Decree of the Council of Vienne,' p. 74.

¹⁰⁵ See S.P. Brock, 'The Development of Syriac Studies,' in *The Edward Hincks Bicentenary Lectures*, ed. K.J. Cathcart (Dublin, 1994), pp. 95-96 and A. van Roey, 'Les débuts des etudes syriaques et André Masius,' in *V Symposium Syriacum 1988*, ed. R. Lavenant (Rome, 1990), pp. 11-12.

¹⁰⁶ cf. Brock, 'The Development of Syriac Studies,' p. 95

science,¹⁰⁷ and the Council of Vienne may have desired that Syriac be taught in leading centers of education because it would help missionary activities and would contribute to understanding the Bible,¹⁰⁸ but simple demand, even when money was available for patronage, was not enough to bring instruction and translations into being. The failed decrees of the Council of Vienne and then the Council of Basle show exactly where demand for texts, translations and instruction without supply leads—nowhere. Even if Maslama had been successful in conquering Constantinople in 717, the Arabs surely still would have had to have gotten their knowledge of Greek culture and history through Middle Eastern means: if one wanted to have Greek translated into a Semitic language in the early medieval period, it was the Syrians who had monopolized the market. Without the skill and knowledge of multilingual Syriac-speaking translators, familiar with the Greek tradition, the desire of 'Abbasid elites for Greek texts would have most likely experienced the same frustration and non-fulfillment as that of the Councils of Vienne and Basle in the West.

But of course, no such thing occurred. It was not until the Maronite Patriarch Simeon sent Joseph the priest along with a sub-deacon and a deacon to the Fifth Lateran Council in Rome in 1515 that European scholarship hungry for knowledge of Syriac was able to come into contact with individuals who could satisfy that craving.¹⁰⁹ In the east, however, Muslim elites did not have problems of supply, for in the Syriac-

¹⁰⁷ See R. Weiss, 'The Study of Greek in England During the Fourteenth Century,' in *idem.*, in *Medieval and Humanist Greek: Collected Essays*, (Padova, 1977), p. 85: 'Not only did [Bacon] value [Greek] for the sake of learning, but also because he believed that all the most significant texts in theology, philosophy, or science, happened to be either in Greek or Arabic or Hebrew or Chaldean, the latter meaning of course Syriac.'

¹⁰⁸ Weiss, 'England and the Decree of the Council of Vienne,' p. 69.

¹⁰⁹ For the sub-deacon Elias and the deacon Moses who accompanied the priest Joseph, see van Roey, 'Les débuts des etudes syriaques et André Masius,' pp. 11-12.

speaking monasteries and cultural centers of Syria and Mesopotamia, Late Antiquity had never really ended. Business continued as usual.

This was not the case in Byzantium. Lemerle, for instance, could find almost no Greek manuscripts, secular or religious, from the sixth to ninth centuries. The situation in Syriac is, by contrast, quite different from that in Greek. Looking only at the 2,600 or so Syriac manuscripts preserved in Western libraries, S.P. Brock and D.G.K. Taylor were able to count 42 dated Syriac manuscripts from the sixth century, 16 dated manuscripts from the seventh century, 25 dated manuscripts from the eighth century, and 43 dated manuscripts from the ninth century.¹¹⁰ It is worth observing that of the four secular Greek palimpsests from this period Lemerle was able to point to, the overwriting of two of them was in fact actually in Syriac.¹¹¹ Brock and Taylor's count only included dated manuscripts; if the survey had included manuscripts dated to certain centuries based on paleography, the number of Syriac manuscripts we possess from the sixth to ninth centuries would have been considerably higher.¹¹² This contrast

¹¹⁰ See S.P. Brock and D.G.K. Taylor, *The Heirs of the Ancient Aramaic Heritage: The Hidden Pearl, volume II,* (Rome, 2001), p. 245.

¹¹¹ BL Add. 17,210 and BL 17,211. See Lemerle, *Byzantine Humanism: The First Phase*, pp. 82-84.

¹¹² S.P. Brock, *The Bible in the Syriac Tradition*, 2nd ed., (Piscataway, NJ, 2006), p. 44, offers the following numbers of extant manuscripts or manuscript fragments, by century, for only one text (albeit an important one)-the Peshitta Old Testament: sixth century: 27 mss; seventh century: 32 mss; eighth century: 10 mss; ninth century: 12 mss. These numbers presumably include mss. dated both by explicit dating references and also by paleography. A read through Wright's Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, for example, reveals many mss. which Wright dates to the seventh century, for example, based on orthography, but which have no colophon explicitly stating when they were composed. The following mss. might be mentioned: sixth or seventh century: p. 6, Add. 14,426, Peshitta Genesis; p. 6, Add. 14,444 Peshitta Genesis; p. 12, Add. 12,172 Peshitta Joshua; p. 13, Add. 14,439 Peshitta Joshua, p. 13, Add. 14,666 (a vellum leaf) from Peshitta Joshua; p. 18, Add. 14,443 (fol. 35-71) Proverbs of Solomon; p. 18, Add. 14,443 (fol. 72-98), Book of Ecclesiastes, Book of Wisdom; p. 23, Add. 17,106 (fol. 1-73) Peshitta Jeremiah; p. 27, Add. 14,666 (fol. 38-46) Fragments of the Peshitta Twelve Minor Prophets; p. 27, Add. 14,666 (fol. 37), a single vellum leaf, contains part of Peshitta Hosea; p. 45, Add. 17,114, Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 46, Add. 14,449 Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 47, Add. 14,457 Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 47, Add. 14,458 Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 49, Add. 14,452: Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 50, Add. 12,137: Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 62, Add. 14,454: Peshitta first three Gospels; p. 63, Add. 12,141: Peshitta Matthew and John; p. 68, Add., 14,669 (foll. 29-33) part of Peshitta Matthew; p. 71, Add., 17,119, Peshitta John; p. 81, Add., 14,472 Peshitta Acts and Catholic Epistles; p. 83, Add., 18,812 Peshitta Acts and Catholic Epistles; p. 88, Add. 14,477

between Greek and Syriac manuscripts becomes especially striking when it is remembered that while there are some 55,000 Greek manuscripts extant,¹¹³ the number of Syriac manuscripts is considerably less—something greater than 10,000.¹¹⁴ Furthermore, almost all Syriac manuscripts extant from the fifth to ninth century, including some 140 dated manuscripts, come from only one of two places: St. Catherine's Monastery in the Sinai and Dayr al-Suryān in the Wadi Natrun,¹¹⁵ and both of these places are quite distant from the Mesopotamian heartland of Syriac. Even given a much smaller total of extant manuscripts from which to draw and a smaller number of locations to preserve them, the Syriac manuscript remains from the Byzantine 'Dark Ages' dwarf those of Greek.

Peshitta Pauline Epistles; p. 90, Add. 14,481 Peshitta Pauline Epistles; p. 90, Add., 14,669 (foll. 57-59) Fragments of Peshitta Pauline Epistles; p. 97, Add. 12,142 (foll. 1-73): *Ecclesiasticus/Wisdom of Jesus, Son of Sirach*; p. 98, Add. 14,446 1 and 2 *Maccabees*; p. 146, Add. 17,217 (foll. 54), fragment of a lectionary; Seventh Century: p. 22, Add. 14,669, (fol. 25) vellum leaf containing Peshitta *Isaiah* 27:30-28:15; p. 24, Add. 12,136 Peshitta *Ezekiel*; p. 27, Add. 14,668 (fol. 12-19), Part of a ms of Peshitta Twelve Minor Prophets; p. 28, Add. 17,106 (fol. 74-87) Part of LXX *Isaiah*; p. 28, Add. 14,442 (fol. 1-46) *Genesis*; p. 54, Add. 14,463 Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 55, Add. 14,468: Peshitta Four Gospels; p. 68, Add.,14,669 (foll. foll 27 and 28): partial Peshitta *Matthew*; p. 92, Add. 14,468: Peshitta Pauline Epistles; Seventh or Eighth Century: p. 93, Add. 14,666 (foll. 51-55) part of Peshitta 2 *Corinthians*

¹¹³ cf. A. Dain, *Les Manuscrits*, (Paris, 1964), p.77

¹¹⁴ See Brock and Taylor, *The Heirs of the Ancient Aramaic Heritage*, p. 245: 'No estimate of the number of surviving Syriac manuscripts has ever been attempted, but it probably runs to well over 10,000; at least 3,000 are provided by their scribes with dates, and these range from November 411 (leaving aside the legal documents from 240, 242 and 243) to the present day, for Syriac manuscripts continue to be copied.' Also cf. F. Briquel-Chatonnet, 'Les manuscrits syriaques,' in *Nos sources: arts et littérature syriaques* (Antélias, 2005), p. 40, 'Le nombre des manuscrits syriaques conservés est difficile à évaluer, mais il est de l'ordre de plusiers milliers, sans doute au delà d'une dizaine de milliers.' By way of comparison, there are more than 300,000 Latin manuscripts (see Dain, *Les Manuscrits*, p. 77) and some 30,000 extant Armenian manuscripts (see C. Renoux, 'Langue et littératures (Paris, 1993), p. 109.) It should be noted that a large number of Syriac manuscripts were destroyed in the course of the latenineteenth and early twentieth century. Yusūf al-Qas 'Abd al-Aḥad al-Bakhzānī has collected a large amount of evidence, much of it relating to the destruction and loss of Syriac manuscripts and libraries from the medieval period to the present, in his *Krūkhyo 'am kthobe srīte mbadre/Jawla ma'a makhtūtat suryāniyya mub'athara* (Aleppo, 1994).

¹¹⁵ See Brock, 'The Development of Syriac Studies,' pp. 103-104, and Brock and Taylor, Brock and Taylor, *The Heirs of the Ancient Aramaic Heritage*, p. 245.

Dark for whom?

What we have seen is that Ḥunayn and the Syriac-speaking Christians who formed the large majority of the Greco-Arabic translators in ninth-century Baghdad¹¹⁶ were operating out of a continuous and vibrant tradition of translation and study of Greek texts—both secular and religious. The Syriac-speaking intellectual world of which Ḥunayn was a part experienced no break or cultural 'caesura' like that which (so we are told) took place in Byzantine Greek literature.¹¹⁷ For them, a 'Dark Age' never happened. It is only if we understand 'Byzantine literature' and 'Byzantine culture' to exclusively mean 'Greek literature' and 'Greek culture' that any assertions or statements about a certain kind of cultural sterility or discontinuity can gain any traction; but the two are in no way coterminous.

Looking to Syriac it becomes immediately evident that many of the traditional Late Antique secular genres never in fact did come to an end. There is no cultural discontinuity between what we conceptualize as the Late Antique and early medieval and 'Islamic' periods, no sharp break or decline followed by a phoenix-like rising from the cultural ashes. The *Risāla* of Ḥunayn certainly gives no evidence that Ḥunayn himself saw any such break. It seems, rather, that he saw similarity between what Christians were doing in his day and the techniques of study and instruction in the

¹¹⁶ There were a few Sabians as well, e.g. Manṣūr b. Athānās (see Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Isḥāq*, p. 49) (Arabic text)) and Thābit b. Qurra (see Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Isḥāq*, pp. 36, 47 (Arabic text); on Thābit, see the entry of R. Rashed and R. Morelon in *El*², also, cf. K. van Bladel, *Hermes Arabicus*, (PhD diss., Yale, 2004), pp. 107-109. For the 'vast majority' of translators as Syriac-speaking Chritians—Melkites, Syrian Orthodox and members of the Church of the East, see the comments of D. Gutas, *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture* (London/New York, 1999), p. 136.

¹¹⁷ See the comments of H. Hunger about a 'politisch-kulturelle Zäsur' taking place in Byzantium after the reign of Herakleios in *Die Hochsprachliche Profane Literatur der Byzantiner*, vol. 2 (München, 1978), p. 231.

famous medical schools in Alexandria. After he has listed twenty books of Galen and given their translation history, for example, Hunayn makes the following comment:

These are the books to which reading was limited in the place of medical instruction in Alexandria. They would read them in the order which I have set out their mention. They would gather every day to read an important work from these and to try to understand it, just as our Christian companions today gather every day in the places of instruction which are known as 'schools' $[\sigma \chi o \lambda \dot{\eta}]$ to [study] an important work from one of the books of the ancients. As for the remaining books, individuals would read them, each one on his own, after instruction in those books which I mentioned, just as our companions today read commentaries on the books of the ancients.¹¹⁸

A discontinuity only exists if we limit our view to Greek—where some literary genres abate while other, new ones flourish—or Arabic—which emerges in this period from relative obscurity and an almost completely oral existence to become one of the history's great written literary and scientific languages.

Syriac, by contrast, stands in a unique, intermediate relationship to these two. It both exhibits many of the new 'themes and styles' that Greek literature does and at the same time continues many of the older genres which wither away in Greek. It was Syriac-speaking Christians like Hunayn who, precisely because they stood in a continuous, unbroken tradition (which can be called 'Late Antique' because its genesis and development lay in Christian scholarly activity which took place in a Late Roman context), were able to render that tradition into a new idiom where it would be continued, altered and expanded. Al-Fārābī (d. 339 AH/950 AD), for example, nicknamed *al-mu'allim al-thānī*, the 'the second teacher' (after Aristotle, who was the first), had for his philosophical teacher a member of the Church of the East named Yūḥannā b. Ḥaylān (d. 910 AD); al-Fārābī in turn, was one of the teachers of the famous

¹¹⁸ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, pp. 18-19 (Arabic text) (GT p. 15), along with improvements to the text made available in idem., *Neue Materialien*, p. 17. My translation, but see the ET of Gutas in *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, p. 15.

Syrian Orthodox philosopher Yaḥyā b. 'Adī (d. 974 AD), whose rich philosophical library was used by Ibn al-Nadīm to help write the celebrated *Fihrist.*¹¹⁹ Yaḥyā b. 'Adī and al-Fārābī were both also the students of the famous East Syrian Christian Abū Bishr Mattā b. Yūnus (d. 940 AD), the leading logician of the early tenth-century and the most important figure in Baghdādī Aristotelianism.¹²⁰ Similarly, in the field of medicine, Samir Khalil estimates that some sixty different Christian authors composed medical works in Arabic before the year 1000,¹²¹ this out of a total of some 134 authors composing in Arabic on this subject.¹²² Indeed, Christians were famous for their medical expertise. In a well-known story, al-Jaḥiẓ (d. 255 AH/AD 868-869) tells us that Asad b. Jānī was a physician. At one point, when business was bad, someone pointed out to Asad that the year had been one of plague and that disease was rampant, 'You are learned and you have patience and service, eloquence and knowledge—how have

¹¹⁹ For Yūḥannā b. Ḥaylān as teacher of al-Fārābī see Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 605; for al-Fārābī as the teacher of Yaḥyā b. 'Adī, see ibid., p. 318. On Yaḥyā b. 'Adī and Ibn al-Nadīm, see the article on Yaḥyā written by G. Endress in El² and see also F.E. Peters, *Aristoteles Arabus: The Oriental Translations and Commentaries on the Aristotelian Corpus* (Leiden, 1968), p. 19, n. 2. On Yaḥyā also see S. Griffith, *The Church in the Shadow of the Mosque: Christians and Muslims in the World of Islam* (Princeton, 2008), pp. 122-125.

¹²⁰ See G. Endress's article on Mattā b. Yūnus in EI^2 ; also see F. Zimmermann's helpful and informative discussion in idem., Al-Farabi's Commentary and Short Treatise on Aristotle's De Interpretatione, (London, 1981), pp. cv-cviii, cx. Note Zimmermann's comments on al-Fārābī's relationship to his Christian teachers, p. cx: 'It would appear that al-Farabi, while following his teachers' lead in essentials, contrived to rebuke them over essentials. ... His aim in studying philosophy was to create an Islamic philosophy. He had no intention of being identified with what ostensibly was a Christian school of thought.' Zimmermann's comments in a footnote on the same page (n. 2) merit quoting in full: '[Al-Fārābī's] life's work was devoted to converting the illusion into a reality [with respect to creating an *Islamic* philosophy]. In his lifetime, this seems to have isolated him a little from the mainstream Aristotelian movement, which for about two generations after him was characterized by a remarkable degree of co-operation and intellectual exchange between Muslims and Christians. In 987 the Fihrist (262.8-14), relying on information provided by contemporary exponents of the movement, has surprisingly little to say about al-Farabi. In the following generations Muslim and Christian teaching moved apart. Al-Hasan ibn Suwār's recension of the Organon (P) quotes none but Christian authorities. Avicenna (980-1037), building on al-Farabi and rejecting the Christian school of Baghdad, finally established an emancipated, separate, Islamic tradition of philosophy.'

¹²¹ See S. Khalil, 'La "Geschichte des arabischen Schriftums" et la literature arabe chrétienne,' *Orientalia Christiana Periodica* 44 (1978), p. 466. For this point, cf. R. Le Coz, *Le médecins nestoriens au moyen âge* (Paris, 2004), p. 92.

¹²² See F. Sezgin, *Geschichte des Arabischen Schriftums*, vol. 3 (Leiden, 1970), pp. 203-340.

you been brought to such a business slump (al-kasād)?' he was asked. Asad, we are told, replied, 'In the first place, in their eyes, I'm a Muslim. Before I even practiced medicine—no, in fact, before I was born—people have believed that Muslims are not successful in medicine.' Furthermore, he went on, 'My name is "Asad." My name should have been "Salībā"¹²³ or "Gabriel" or "John." My kunya is "Abū Hārith" and it should be "Abū 'Īsā" or "Abū Zakariyya" or "Abū Ibrāhīm." I am wearing a white cotton robe, but my robe should be black silk. My pronunciation is an Arab one,' he continued, 'but my language should be that of the people of Jundīsābūr,' referring to the Iranian city home to eminent Syriac-speaking medical doctors.¹²⁴ This was a society in which Christians enjoyed considerable cultural prestige and power. Elsewhere, al-Jāhiz would acknowledge that the Christians were wealthy, that they were rulers of kingdoms, that their clothes were cleaner and their crafts more excellent.¹²⁵ Meyerhof noted that in his important biographical dictionary of doctors, 'Uyūn al-anbā' fī tabagāt al-atibbā', Ibn Abī Usaybi'a has information on 130 Christian doctors in the ninth century. By comparison, in the same century we are given information on 3 Sabians, 3 Jews and 5 Muslims.¹²⁶ The large number of Christians in medicine can perhaps also be seen

¹²³ sc. 'Cross.'

¹²⁴ al-Jāḥiẓ, Kitāb al-bukhalā', ed. T. al-Ḥājrī (Cairo, 1967), p. 102. 'Peter' here is 'Bīrā, not Buţrus. In his edition of al-Bukhalā', Zāfir Kūjān (Damascus, 1963) suggests (p. 232, n. 2) that Bīra is a corruption of Bitra, i.e., Buţrus. His list of names is different as well: Salība, Murāyl (Murā'īl), John and Bīrā (p. 232). FT available in C. Pellat, *Le livre des avares de Ğahiz*, (Paris, 1951), pp. 147-148. On Jundīsābūr, see F.R. Hau, 'Gondeschapur—eine medizinschule aus dem 6. Jahrhundert n. chr.,' *Gesnerus* 36 (1976), pp. 98-115; H.H. Schöffler, *Die Akademie von Gondischapur: Aristoteles auf dem Wege in den Orient* (Stuttgart, 1980); Le Coz, *Les médicins nestoriens*, pp. 53-66.

¹²⁵ Abū 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ, al-Mukhtār fī 'l-radd alā al-Naṣārā (Beirut, 1991), p. 64; also cf. p. 68. NB: Finkel's edition of this text, *Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ* (Cairo, 1344), p. 18, reads 'their water is cleaner' (*mā'ahum anẓaf*) rather than 'their clothes are cleaner' (*thiyābahum anẓaf*).

¹²⁶ M. Meyerhof, 'Notes sur quelques médecins juifs égyptiens qui sont illustrés à l'époque arabe,' *Isis* 12:1 (1929), p. 116. The numbers gradually shift, however, and Muslims come to predominate in the profession. Meyerhof (p. 117) gives the following numbers for subsequent centuries: 10th: 29 Christians, 4 pagans (i.e., Sabians), 6 Jews, 30 Muslims; 11th century: 4 Christians, 7 Jews and 'une grande majorité de

reflected in the exception Caliph al-Muqtadir made to an order issued in 296 AH (AD 908): no Jews or Christians were to be used in public service, save in medicine and money changing.¹²⁷ In his *Answer to the Christians* al-Jāḥiẓ noted that Byzantine women (*banāt 'l-rūm*) gave birth to Muslim rulers and that among the Christians there were theologians, doctors, astrologers, intellectuals and wise philosophers, something which was not seen among the Jews.¹²⁸

Describing the philosophy or medicine written or practiced by such people, Christians, as 'Islamic' rather than 'Late Antique' risks obscuring as much as it reveals; moreover, it helps build a wall of separation between the Late Antique and 'Islamic' periods, supporting a false binary which makes the massive continuities between the two less apparent. Indeed, al-Jāḥiẓ's efforts to stress that Aristotle, Ptolemy, Euclid, Galen, Demokritos, Plato and others were Greek and 'neither Byzantine nor Christian'

Musulmans.' P. Pormann, 'The Physician and the Other: Images of the Charlatan in Medieval Islam,' Bulletin of the History of Medicine 79 (2005), p. 213, remarks that 'we must take these figures with a pinch of salt,' but does grant that 'even if we allow for a large margin of error, the figures appear to indicate,' among other things, 'in the ninth and tenth centuries, the majority of physicians were non-Muslims.' Another indication of the large number of Christians in the medical profession can be seen in Hunayn b. Ishāq's account of the conspiracy plotted against him which ended with him stripped naked, beaten and imprisoned, with his wealth confiscated and his home flooded. According to Hunayn, the people who plotted against him were members of his family and his students (see 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 264). Later, he remarks that the people who conspired against him would come to him for help diagnosing a difficult disease, even as they schemed (i.e., they were doctors) and then states, 'I do not appeal to the Lord to judge between them and me; rather, I remain silent, for they are not one, two, or three, but fifty six men, most of them Christian and they need me while I need them not.' Translation G. Saliba (with slight modification), in *ibid.*, 'Competiton and the transmission of the foreign sciences: Hunayn at the 'Abbasid Court,' Bulletin of the Royal Institute for Inter-Faith Studies 2:2 (Autumn 2000), p. 92. Arabic text in 'Uyūn alanbā', p. 266. See Saliba's article for a full discussion of the full incident and a translation of Hunayn's account of it (Arabic text in 'Uyūn al-anbā', pp. 264-271. Rosenthal thought only the broad outlines of this story had any basis in real events and thought most of it to be inauthentic; see his discussion of it in F. Rosenthal, 'Die Arabische Autobiographie,' Analecta Orientalia 14 (1937), pp. 15-19, especially his critical remarks pp. 18-19, and compare with Saliba's comments, 'Competitition and the Transmission,' p. 101, n. 10. What is important here is not whether the incident reported occurred precisely in all its detail, but rather the comment that most of the 56 docotors allied against Hunayn were Christians.

¹²⁷ See Ibn Taghrībirdī, al-Nujūm al-zāhira fī mulūk miṣr wa-'l-qāhira (Cairo, 1963-1964), vol. 3, p. 165. For this point, cf. P. Pormann, 'Islamic Medicine Cross Pollinated: A multilingual and multiconfessional maze,' in A. Akasoy, J.E. Montgomery and P.E. Pormann, edd., *Islamic Crosspollinations: interactions in the medieval Middle East* (Cambridge, 2007), p. 76.

¹²⁸ Abū 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ, al-Mukhtār fī 'l-radd alā al-Naṣārā (Beirut, 1991), p. 61; see also, *idem., Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī* 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ (Cairo, 1344), p. 16.

suggests that in the ninth-century, people at the heart of the 'Abbasid period were understanding such authors in precisely these terms. 'They claim that the Greeks were one of the tribes of the Byzantines (*al-rūm*),' *al-Jāḥiẓ* complained, 'and so boast in their religion against the Jews and exalt themselves over the Arabs and are proud towards the Indians, to the point that they claim that our learned men are followers of their learned men and that our philosophers have copied their example.'¹²⁹

Late Antiquity Lives On I: The Case of Philosophy

The strong cultural continuities between what are commonly conceptualized as the Late Antique and Islamic periods in the Middle East are perhaps most clear in the realm of philosophy. I have already noted the nearly complete break in the Greek philosophical tradition between Stephen of Alexandria (d. after 619/620) in the reign of Herakleios and Leo the Mathematician (d. after 869) in the ninth century; apart from a few logical compendia, the only thing that might be considered philosophy is found 'indirectly' in the theological works of Maximos Confessor and John Damascene. If we look to the Syriac philosophical evidence, however, the picture could not be more different from what we have in Greek. The seventh and eighth centuries witnessed a flurry of philosophical activity in the Syriac-speaking world. In the seventh century, the West Syrian Bishop Severos of Sebokht (d. 666-667 AD) was responsible for translating the commentary of Paul the Persian on the π epì ἑpuηνείας into Syriac from

¹²⁹ See al-Jāḥiẓ, al-Mukhtār fī 'l-radd alā al-Naṣārā, p. 62-63; cf. idem, Thalāth rasā'il, pp. 16-17. Gutas, Greek Thought, Arabic Culture, pp. 86-88 offers an ET of this text and more from the same passage. He understands al-Jāḥiẓ's comments to be made against the Byzantines and as part of an anti-Byzantine and anti-Christian foreign policy of al-Ma'mūn. As al-Jāḥiẓ himself did not know Greek, was writing in Arabic and lived in an environment in which Arabic-speaking Christian scholars and intellectuals were numerous and seemed to be responding to criticisms of Islam leveled in Arabic emanating from such circles, it seems more sensible to me to understand the immediate audience for such remarks not to be Greek-speaking Christians in the Eastern Roman Empire, but rather Christians living in al-Jāḥiẓ's immediate milieu who were making such claims of Christian cultural superiority over Arabs, Jews and Indians.

Middle Persian; Severos also was likely the translator of a logical compendium Paul the Persian composed in Middle Persian for Khusro I.¹³⁰ BL Add., 17,156 contains fragments of another Syriac commentary on the περὶ ἑρμηνείας which is anonymous but which may also be Severos' work.¹³¹ He furthermore wrote a tract in 638 explaining the different kinds of syllogisms in Aristotle's Ἀναλυτικὰ πρότερα; although Severos explicitly states that such an elucidation would be very useful for a complete understanding of the ideas of Aristotle's Ἀποδειτικά, we unfortunately have no evidence of a translation or commentary by him on this book.¹³² We do possess, however, letters Severos wrote on other Aristotelian topics: one to a priest named Aitīlāhā of Nineveh explaining the meaning of certain key terms in the περὶ ἑρμηνείας, and another letter written to a periodeute named Yonan, about logic.¹³³ In an astronomical work dating to 662, Severos would cite Plato's Timaeus.¹³⁴ Miaphysite

¹³⁰ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 246

¹³¹ See W. Wright, *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 3 (London, 1872), p. 1162. This suggestion stems from the fact that the fragments are grouped with other philosophical texts, all written by Severos.

¹³³ For this information about Severos' works, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 246 and S.P. Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' in C. Burnett, ed., *Glosses and Commentaries on Aristotelian Logical Texts: The Syriac, Arabic and Medieval Latin Traditions* (London, 1993), pp. 6, 13, 14. NB: Severos' letter to Yonan is on logic, not rhetoric, as Wright suggests in his *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum* vol. 3, p. 1162. See Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 6, n. 26. See also Cambridge Add. 2812, fol. 109a-116a.

¹³⁴ See F. Nau, 'La cosmographie au VIIe siècle chez les Syriens,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 5 (15) (1910), pp. 249-250; for the date, see p. 248. For other examples of Platonic citations in Syriac literature (in this case, putative Platonic citations) see, E. Lanz, 'Syrische Platonzitate in der Rhetorik des Anton von Tagrit,' in Göttinger Arbeitskreis für syrischen Kirchengeschichte, ed., *Paul de Lagarde und die syrischen Kirchengeschichte mit einem Geleitwort von Prof. D. Hermann Dörries* (Göttingen, 1968), pp. 129-134. For a quote from Plato in Syriac on the temple of the Sabians, see S.P. Brock, 'A Syriac Collection of Prophecies of the Pagan Philosophers,' *Orientalia Lovaniensia Periodica* 14 (1983), p. 210 (repr. in *idem., Studies in Syriac Christianity: History, Literature, Theology* (Hampshire, 1992), article VII).

Patriarch Athanasios II of Balad (d. 683-684 AD) was a student of Severos Sebokht.¹³⁵ Athanasios made a revision of a sixth-century Syriac translation of the Ἐισαγωγή of Porphyry in the year 645.¹³⁶ What is more, he made translations of Aristotle's 'Αναλυτικὰ πρότερα, 'Αποδειτικά, Τοπικά and Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων which are now all lost.¹³⁷ It was Athanasios who elevated Jacob of Edessa (d. 708) to the episcopacy.¹³⁸ Jacob stands out as one of the most brilliant polymaths in the entire Syriac tradition whose work covered a number of different areas. In the field of philosophy, he produced a revised translation of Aristotle's Κατηγορίαι as well as a collection of philosophical definitions with the title Ἐγχειρίδιον.¹³⁹ The latter work contains half a dozen definitions which come from Aristotle's Μετὰ τὰ φυσικά Δ, and mistakenly translating a ἦ as the Syriac *aw* ('or'—i.e, reading ἦ as ἤ) led Furlani to suggest Jacob had read the *Metaphysics* in Greek.¹⁴⁰ In his eleventh letter to John, the

¹³⁵ cf. J.-B. Abbeloos and T.J. Lamy, edd. and trans., *Gregorii Barhebraei: Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, vol. 1 (Louvain, 1872), col. 287.

¹³⁷ For reference to Athanasios' lost translation of the Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων, see Kh. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syro-arabes* (Beirut, 1948), pp. 198-199, where Abū al-Khayr al-Ḥasan b. Siwār criticizes Athanasios for not understanding Aristotle's ideas in the text; perhaps in the same way that Ḥunayn's later and more accurate translations meant that Sergios of Resh'ayna's translations were not copied and preserved, Athanasios' translations suffered a similar fate. For Athanasios' lost translation of the Ἀποδειτικά and the Τοπικῶν see S.P. Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy from the Late Eighth Century on Translations From Greek,' *Arabic Sciences and Philosophy* 9 (1999), pp. 238, 246. In general on Athanasios' translation and commentary activity, see S. P. Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' in C. Burnett, ed., *Glosses and Commentaries on Aristotelian Logical Texts* (London, 1993), pp. 4-5.

¹³⁸ See Barhebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, vol. 1, col. 289.

¹³⁹ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 251, 255; S.P. Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' in C. Burnett, ed., *Glosses and Commentaries on Aristotelian Logical Texts* (London, 1993), pp. 4, 5.

¹⁴⁰ See G. Furlani, 'Di alcuni passi della Metafisica di Aristotele presso Giacomo d'Edessa,' Rendiconti della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Morali Storiche e Filologische 5:30 (1921), pp.

Stylite of Litarb, Jacob cites passages from the now-lost ὁ πρὸς Νημέρτινον λόγος of Porphyry.¹⁴¹ Shortly before his death, Athanasios also elevated George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes (d. 724) to the episcopacy;¹⁴² George had quite possibly been a student of Athanasios.¹⁴³ George produced a revision of the translation of the Κατηγορίαι as well as a commentary on that work. Moreover, George translated the περὶ ἑρμηνείας and provided an introduction to it; he translated the Ἀναλυτικὰ πρότερα, as well, with both commentary and introduction.¹⁴⁴ Furlani suggested that George's commentary on the 'Ἀναλυτικὰ πρότερα indicated that he was drawing upon an unknown Greek commentator who had certain affinities with John Philoponos, but who was not in fact Philoponos.¹⁴⁵ In addition to these works, eleven of George's letters are still extant today. They cover a large variety of topics and I will return to them later in this

^{268-273;} Furlani's suggestion comes on pp. 272-273. Also, cf. H. Hugonnard-Roche, 'Jacques d'Édesse et sa reception d'Aristote,' in, *idem.*, *La logique d'Aristote du grec au syriaque* (Paris, 2004), pp. 52-53. Hugonnard-Roche points out that the six definitions taken from the *Metaphysics* occur in the order which they occur in the text and suggests that he himself may have pulled the quotes out of the *Metaphysics*; he also notes the possibility that Jacob has taken them from a commentary or some sort of school handbook.

¹⁴¹ See W. Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, (London, 1871), p. 600. Also see n. 905, below.

¹⁴² See J.-B. Chabot, ed. Chronique de Michel le syrien, patriarche jacobite de Antioche (1166-1199) (Paris, 1899-1910), vol. 4 (Syriac) 446-447, vol. 2 (FT) 474. cf. Bar Hebraeus, Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, vol.1, col. 293

¹⁴³ See my, 'Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes,' in *Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock*, ed. G. Kiraz (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), p. 674.

¹⁴⁴ cf. Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 257; Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' pp. 4, 7-8. See R.J. Gottheil, 'The Syriac Versions of the Categories of Aristotle,' *Hebraica* 9 (1893), pp. 166-215; G. Furlani, 'La Versione e il Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni all' Organo Aristotelico,' *Studi Italiani di Filologia Classica* n.s. 3:2 (1923), pp. 305-333; idem., 'Le Categorie e gli Ermeneutici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' *Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei*. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche, serie 6, vol. 5, fasc.1 (1933), pp. 5-68; *idem.*, 'Il Proemio di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Primo Libro dei *Primi Analitici* di Aristotele,' *Rivista degli Studi Orientali* 18 (1940), pp. 116-130; idem., 'Sul Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Primo Libro degli *Analitici Anteriori* di Aristotele,' *Rivista degli Studi Orientali* 20 (1943), pp. 47-65; *idem.*, 'Sul Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Secondo Libro degli *Analitici Anteriori* di Aristotele,' *Rivista degli Studi Orientali* 20 (1942), pp. 229-238; idem., 'Il Primo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele e Filologiche, serie 6, vol. 5, fasc.3 (1935), pp. 145-229; *idem.*, 'Il Secondo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' *Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei*. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche, serie 6, vol. 5, fasc. 3 (1935), pp. 145-229; *idem.*, 'Il Secondo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' *Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei*. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche, serie 6, vol. 5, fasc. 3 (1935), pp. 145-229; *idem.*, 'Il Secondo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' *Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei*. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche, serie 6, vol. 6, fasc. 3 (1937), pp. 233-287.

¹⁴⁵ See Furlani, 'Sul Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Secondo Libro degli *Analitici Anteriori* di Aristotele,' pp. 232, 238.

dissertation. For now, it suffices to point out that these letters contain explicit philosophical content, most notably when George responds to a question about the meaning of the phrases 'major premiss' and 'minor premiss' (credited as coming from 'the Philosopher,' i.e., Aristotle) with a discussion that includes references to the Katηγορίαι and περὶ ἑρμηνείας.¹⁴⁶ To be added to this list of authors is another nowlost translation or revision of the Katηγορίαι carried out by a certain Yonan, possibly to be identified with the Yonan the Periodeute whom Severos Sebokht wrote in the midseventh century about logic.¹⁴⁷

Severos, Athanasios, Jacob, George and Yonan are all West Syrian, Miaphysite figures, yet there was also philosophical activity taking place among members of the Church of the East in the seventh century, though it is all unfortunately either lost or unedited. Silvanos of Qardu is an almost completely unstudied East Syrian figure of the first half of the seventh century who wrote on the Ἐισαγωγή, Κατηγορίαι and περὶ ἑρμηνείας.¹⁴⁸ 'Anānīsho' was a classmate of the Catholicos Isho'yahb III (ord. 628; d. 643, 644, or 646) at the School of Nisibis. Thomas of Marga's *Book of Governors* informs us that once 'Anānīsho' came to live in the Monastery of Beth 'Ābe, 'Rabban 'Anānīsho' the wise of understanding labored so hard in the study of books that he surpassed all who were before or after him in his knowledge.'¹⁴⁹ In the monastery, 'Anānīsho' lived an ascetic

 $^{^{146}}$ See BL Add. 12,154, fols. 273b-275a (11.2.1-11.2.8 in my edition and translation). Also, see George's very Aristotelian comments at section 6.1.14 (fol. 244b) and sections 13.1.3-13.1.4 (fol. 284b)

¹⁴⁷ The translation is referenced in the scholia to Paris BN Arabic 2346, cf. Kh. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syro-arabes* (Beirut, 1948), pp. 180 and 380. Georr understands the name of the translator he refers to as 'Yubâ,' but H. Huggonnard-Roche, 'Sur les versions syriaques des *Catégories* d'Aristote,' *Journal asiatique* 275 (1987), pp. 219-220, suggests the name should be read as 'Yūnān', i.e., Yonan, and suggests that this might be the same Yonan written to by Severos Sebokht. For all this, see Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 3, n. 2 and p. 4, n. 8

¹⁴⁸ cf. Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 197.

¹⁴⁹ Translation, Budge in E.A.W. Budge, trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Margâ A.D. 840*, vol. 2 (London, 1893), p.177. For the Syriac, see *idem.*, *The Book of Governors:*

life of silence. An ascetic life, however, did not preclude him from engaging in philosophical pursuits: 'The noble 'Anānīsho' composed definitions and divisions of various things, [sc. ὄροι and διαιρέσεις¹⁵⁰] which were written on the walls of his cell. And when his brother Mar Isho'yahb came to pray in this monastery, and saw the division of the sciences of philosophy of his brother 'Anānīsho', he begged him to write a commentary on them for him, and send it to him, which 'Anānīsho' actually did. And he wrote to him a clear exposition in many lines from which will be apparent to everyone who reads them the greatness of his wisdom.'¹⁵¹ In this same century, we furthermore know from 'Abdisho' bar Brika's fourteenth-century verse catalogue of Syriac writers that the East Syrian Catholicos Ḥnanisho' I (d. 699-700 AD) composed a commentary on 'the *Analytics*.'¹⁵²

The writers surveyed thus far are for the most part seventh or early eighth century figures. This by no means indicates that philosophical activity came to a halt in the Syriac-speaking world after the death of George of the Arabs in 724. Indeed, philosophical translation and writing continued throughout the eighth century. According to 'Abdisho', Mar Aba II of Kashkar, an East Syrian Catholicos, wrote a

¹⁵² i.e., the Ἀναλυτικὰ πρότερα and the Ἀναλυτικὰ ὕστερα See J. Assemani, Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana, vol. 3 (Rome, 1725), p. 154: καιζαζάνκ ἰσος. On Ḥnanishoʻ, see Baumstark, Geschichte, p. 209.

commentary on the entirety of Aristotle's logic;¹⁵³ Bar Hebraeus notes that Mar Aba was 'skilled in ecclesiastical books and logic' and that 'he was always occupied in the reading of books.'¹⁵⁴ If we believe the report that Aba was 110 years old when he died in 751 AD, then he would have been a contemporary of Jacob of Edessa and George of the Arabs.¹⁵⁵ The Maronite Theophilos of Edessa (d. 785 AD) was perhaps born in 695 AD and would have been in his teens when Jacob of Edessa died and in his twenties when George of the Arabs died. By the late 750s, Theophilos was part of the entourage of the Caliph al-Mahdī. Theophilos eventually became al-Mahdī's chief astrologer and is possibly best known for his astrological writings, though he also produced a Syriac translation of the σοφιστικοὶ ἔλεγκοι which eventually served as the basis for two later Arabic translations of the same work.¹⁵⁶ Theophilos also apparently produced a translation of the 'Aναλυτικά πρότερα.¹⁵⁷ David bar Paulos was a West Syrian figure who was probably born in the region of Nineveh in the middle of the eighth century or perhaps a little before;¹⁵⁸ his literary remains include a commentary on the

¹⁵⁴ See Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, vol. 3, col. 153. האמלשאים השאדה הבאדה זיע המה זהמה המה אבעליה באליים היער מסיג מעראון העראים אורס (I have corrected typos in Abbeloos and Lamy's edition here). For this point, cf. W. Wright, A Short History of Syriac Literature (London, 1894/repr. Piscataway, NJ, 2001), pp. 186-187.

¹⁵⁵ On Aba, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 214.

¹⁵⁶ See Kh. Georr Kh. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syro-arabes* (Beirut, 1948), p. 31. On Theophilos see R. Hoyland, *Seeing Islam as Others Saw It* (Princeton, 1997), pp. 400-409 and Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 341-342.

¹⁵⁷ Referred to in glosses on Paris Ar. 2346, see Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 190.

¹⁵⁸ See I.E. Rahmani, Studia Syriaca seu collectio documentorum hactenus ineditorum ex codicibus syriacus, vol. 1 (Charfeh, 1904), p. 67.

Kατηγορίαι.¹⁵⁹ Among the extant works of Isho'bokht, the East Syrian Metropolitan of Rev-ardashir, who was active during the Catholicate of Ḥnanisho' II (sed. 773/774-779/780 AD), is a treatise entitled 'the Ten Categories' written to 'lovers of instruction' who had constantly been asking him about 'certain things among the books of the philosophers,' especially about 'the ten kinds of categories.'¹⁶⁰ This is probably the same Isho'bokht who wrote a philosophical tract on potentialities.¹⁶¹

Hnanishoʻ II, whose catholicate is used to date the life of Ishoʻbokht¹⁶² was succeeded as East Syrian Catholicos by Timothy I in 780 AD. Timothy would serve as the head of the Church of the East until his death in 823. Like many of the names I have mentioned thus far, Timothy was a polymath with broad interests. Among Timothy's literary remains are a collection of 59 letters, only about two-thirds of which have been edited and published. On the basis of two of these letters, one written about 782/783 AD (no. 43) and the other in 799 AD (no. 48), we know that the Caliph al-Mahdī commissioned Timothy to help translate the Τοπικά into Syriac and Arabic.¹⁶³ In the

¹⁵⁹ See E. Sachau, *Die Handschriften-verzeichnisse der Königlichen Bibliothek zu Berlin* (Berlin, 1899), p. 331, c, (Berlin Syr. 88). On David bar Paulos, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 272-273. Also see A. Barsoum, *al-Lu'-lu' al-manthūr fī tā'rīkh al-'ulūm wa-'l-ādāb al-suryāniyya* (repr. Glane, Holland, 1987), pp. 325-329. S.P. Brock, 'From Antagonism to Assimilation: Syriac Attitudes to Greek Learning,' in N. Garsoïan, T. Matthews and R. Thomson, edd., *East of Byzantium: Syria and Armenia in the Formative Period*, (Washington, DC, 1982), pp. 24, suggests that David bar Paulos may have been an important link between Syrian Orthodox philhellenes of the seventh century like Jacob of Edessa and East Syrian scholars in "Abbasid Iraq.

¹⁶⁰ See W. Wright, A Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts preserved in the Library of the University of Cambridge, vol. 1 (Cambridge, 1901), p. 638, no. 7 (Cambridge Syr. Add. 2812) ملة علم علم علم علم علم علم التعم خ المالة حمالة العلم التعميم التعميم التعميم علم المالة المحمدة من التعميم التعميم التعميم المالة المحمدة من ال

¹⁶¹ See E. Sachau, *Die Handschriften-verzeichnisse der Königlichen Bibliothek zu Berlin* (Berlin, 1899), p. 332, no. 32 (Berlin Syr. 88).

¹⁶² For the *floruit* of Isho'bohkt, see E. Sachau, ed., and trans., *Syrische Rechtsbücher*, vol. 3, (Berlin, 1914), p. IX. For the dates of Ḥnanisho' II, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 215

¹⁶³ See S.P. Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy from the Late Eight Century on Translations from Greek,' *Arabic Sciences and Philosophy* 9 (1999), p. 233. The Syriac text of these letters can be found in H. Pognon, *Une version syriaque des aphorisms d'Hippocrate*, (Leipzig, 1903), pp. xvi-xviii, xxi-xxii.

course of *Letter 43*, Timothy also refers to several other philosophical works available in Syriac, the first one, complete, which 'gives the opinion of all the earlier philosophers and sets out the Ideas and Platonic Forms,' and the second one, incomplete, which 'begins by speaking of matter, species, and negation, following Aristotelian teaching.'¹⁶⁴ The same letter perhaps indicates that there existed by Timothy's time Syriac translations or scholia of some kind on the Περὶ ῥητορικῆς and Περὶ ποιητῶν, or that these texts were being read in Greek in Syriac-speaking monasteries.¹⁶⁵

The Syriac philosophical tradition continued after Timothy—I have already mentioned in passing Yūḥannā b. Ḥaylān, Yaḥyā b. 'Adī, Abū Bishr Mattā and to their names could be added others—Abū Nūḥ, Timothy's secretary who worked with him on the translation of the Toπικά and who also translated philosophical works from Greek into Arabic,¹⁶⁶ Iso'dnah of Basra, a mid-ninth century East Syrian who wrote a treatise on logic,¹⁶⁷ Abū Yaḥyā al-Marwazī, the teacher of Abū Bishr,¹⁶⁸ and of course, Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq, to name only several.¹⁶⁹ Furthermore, recently (re)-discovered manuscripts at Dayr al-Suryān in Egypt hold the promise of new philosophical material in Syriac re-

¹⁶⁴ Trans. Brock, 'Two Letters of Patriarch Timothy,' p. 237. Brock, p. 243, was unable to identify the first treatise.

¹⁶⁵ See Brock, 'Two Letters of Patriarch Timothy,' p. 236 (also see below), though NB, Brock, pp. 241-242, could locate no other solid evidence for the existence of Syriac translations of these books in this time. Timothy's request that scholia or commentaries on these books be sought at the Monastery of Mar Mattai, 'whether in Syriac or not' (see below) is taken by John Watt to mean that Greek commentaries were most likely present at the Mar Mattai. See J. Watt, 'Al-Fārābī and the History of the Syriac *Organon*,' in *Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock*, ed. G. Kiraz (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), p. 761.

¹⁶⁶ The first three books of the *Organon* and a Greek collection on the $Ei\sigma\alpha\gamma\gamma\gamma\eta$ —see Brock, 'Two letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 241. Also see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 218.

¹⁶⁷ See 'Abdisho''s verse catalog in Assemani, *Bibliotheca Orientalis*, vol. 3, p. 195, محمعه . . On Isho'dnah, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 234.

¹⁶⁸ See Peters, *Aristotles Arabus*, p. 18, n. 13, quoting *al-Fihrist*, 'He was a Syrian and everything he wrote on logic and other subjects was in Syriac.'

¹⁶⁹ In general, Brock's 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' is an excellent and indispensible guide to Aristotelian philosophy in Syriac.

emerging into the light of day.¹⁷⁰ My argument thus far, however, requires that I go no further than Timothy, for with Timothy we at last reach the lifetime of Ḥunayn, who was born ca. 809 AD.¹⁷¹ Unlike the Greek philosophical tradition leading up to Leo the Mathematician, which had essentially ground to a halt, the Syriac philosophical tradition from Late Antiquity to Ḥunayn's 'Abbasid Baghdad remained continuous, unbroken and flourishing.

Not just a tradition, a *living* tradition

I have spoken of the Syriac philosophical tradition as being a 'living' one. To demonstrate this, more is needed than a mere listing of scholars who wrote on philosophical topics in Syriac and the dates, sometimes approximate, in which they lived. We need evidence that later scholars knew of the work of earlier ones and were using the earlier work as a stepping-off point for their own. Unfortunately, because so much fundamental work of textual editing and analysis remains to be done in the field of Syriac philosophy, such evidence cannot be easily adduced in the quantities that one would like; indeed, because some texts are only known to us through references in other works, we will never be able to know the precise relationship between certain writers and the broader philosophical tradition in Syriac. Nevertheless, even given the greatly underdeveloped state of research into this subject, we do have indications that later authors in the Syriac philosophical tradition were aware of earlier ones and were

¹⁷⁰ See S. Brock and L. van Rompay, 'The Syriac Manuscripts of Deir al-Surian: Some First Impressions,' *Newsletter of the Levantine Foundation* 1 (2006), p. 4: 'Ms. 22 is another manuscript which received some attention in our May campaign...these ninety-four folios (distributed over 10 quires) at an unknown point in time were bound together with a most remarkable collection of thirty-two folios, taken from five different manuscripts, mostly of the 9th and 10th centuries. The content of these folios is Greek philosophy, a field in which Syriac Christians were very much interested. While some of these texts are known from other Syriac manuscripts and have been the subject of recent scholarship, others seem to be unique. They refer to various Greek philosophers and commentators of Plato and Aristotle, and deal with such topics as the origin of matter and the nature of the human soul.'

¹⁷¹ i.e., 194 AH. See Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 263.

self-consciously continuing and responding to their work. In other words, we have evidence that more than just a continuous tradition, we are dealing with one which is connected, breathing, changing and growing.

The first thing that can be pointed to to indicate the continuous, interconnected nature of the philosophical tradition is the existence not just of translations of Greek philosophical works, but of *revised* translations. We have already seen in the *Risāla* of Hunayn that Hunayn frequently revised and corrected previous translations; he in fact sometimes seemed to have a preference for a completely new translation as opposed to a revision. I will return to this point, but at the moment it will suffice to observe that Hunayn's impulse toward revision of previously executed translations is a characteristic hallmark of the Greco-Syriac tradition, one which appears in a number of different genres—in translations of medicine, as evidenced by Hunayn's Risāla, but also in theology and perhaps most famously, in the area of Biblical translation. Philosophy was no different. An anonymous translation of the Κατηγορίαι made in the sixth century was revised in the seventh by Jacob of Edessa.¹⁷² The $E_{IO}\alpha\gamma\omega\gamma\dot{\eta}$ was translated into Syriac in the early sixth century; this same translation was later revised by Athanasios of Balad in the seventh.¹⁷³ Furthermore, Sergios of Resh'ayna quotes a translation of the $E_{I}\sigma\alpha\gamma\omega\gamma\dot{\eta}$ in his introduction of logic in a version which is similar to vet not identical to the anonymous early sixth-century translation of that text.¹⁷⁴ Because texts have been lost and because we lack proper studies of the nature of the connections between different versions of texts, it can be difficult to know which texts

¹⁷² Cf. H. Hugonnard-Roche, *La logique d'Aristote*, 'Introduction,' p. 12.

¹⁷³ See S.P. Brock, 'Some notes on the Syriac translations of Porphyry's Eisagoge,' in Mélanges en hommage au prof. et penseur libanais Farid Jabre (Publications de l'Université libanaise, Section des études philosophiques et sociales) 20, 1989, pp. 44-46.

¹⁷⁴ Cf. Brock, 'Some notes on the Syriac translations of Porphyry's Eisagoge,' pp. 42-43, 46.

were fresh translations and which texts were revisions of previously executed translations. Whether revision or new translation, however, Syriac philosophical texts underwent constant translation and re-translation between the sixth and tenth centuries. The Κατηγορίαι were translated perhaps as many as five times between the sixth and ninth centuries.¹⁷⁵ The Περὶ ἑρμηνείας had at least three different translations.¹⁷⁶ The Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα was translated some five times.¹⁷⁷ The Ἀναλυτικά ὕστερα had between three and five different translations.¹⁷⁸ There were at least three Syriac translations of the Τοπικά.¹⁷⁹ Finally, there were at least three different translations of Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων in this period.¹⁸⁰

It has become common for scholars to assert that only part of the *Organon* was ever available in Syriac; in the case of at least some of them, making this point serves as part of a larger program of giving credit for Syriac translational activities to 'Abbasid patronage and minimizing the Syriac tradition's internal interest in philosophical

¹⁷⁵ Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' pp. 3-4 lists an anonymous translation as well as the revisions by Jacob of Edessa and George of the Arabs, in addition to lost translations by Hunayn and Yonan.

¹⁷⁶ Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 4 lists an anonymous translation, an extant translation by George of the Arabs and a lost translation by Hunayn.

¹⁷⁷ See Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 4. This includes an anonymous, partial translation, a lost translation by Athanasios of Balad, and a translation by George of the Arabs. Paris Ar. 2346 contains glosses which also refer to translations by Theophilos and Hunayn which are no longer extant: see Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 190.

¹⁷⁸ Athanasios of Balad made a lost translation of this (see below, n. 198). We also have reference to a partial translation by Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq and a full translation by his son Isḥāq b. Ḥunayn. Furthermore, Paris Ar. 2346 states that its translation of the Ἀναλυτικά ὕστερα was done by Abū Bishr b. Mattā 'from the Syriac,' which may refer to another, otherwise unknown translation (See 'Abd al-Raḥmān Badawī, *Manțiq Arisțū* (Cairo, 1949), p. 407). Paris Ar. 2346 also has two marginal glosses which refer to the translation of a 'Marāyā,' (see Badawī, *Manțiq Arisțū*, vol. 2, p. 379, n. 9 and vol. 2, p. 443, n. 3; this may have been another Syriac translation. On the version of Marāyā, see R. Walzer, 'New Light on the Arabic Translations of Aristotle,' p. 99 in *idem., Greek into Arabic: Essays on Islamic Philosophy*, (Oxford, 1962). For all this, see Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 5 and Peters, *Aristoteles Arabus*, pp. 17-18. See also Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 195.

¹⁷⁹ See Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 5 and Peters, *Aristoteles Arabus*, pp. 20-23. These were by Athanasios, Abū Nūḥ (who collaborated with Timothy I—see Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' pp. 235-236) and Isḥāq

¹⁸⁰ See Brock, 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' p. 5 and Peters, *Aristotles Arabus*, pp. 23-26. These three translations were by Athanasios, Theophilos and Abū Bishr Mattā (d. 940 AD).

activity. But such an assertion is simply wrong. It is worth emphasizing, therefore, that by the end of the life of Athanasios of Balad (d. 686), some seven decades before the beginning of the 'Abbasid era, the entire *Organon* was available in Syriac—not just the first three books plus the 'Eισαγωγή.¹⁸¹ These activities of translating, revising and retranslating were going on well before the descendants of al-'Abbās rose to supreme political power in the Middle East.

A brief yet palpable glimpse of what exactly I mean by continuous and living philosophical tradition and of the awareness later commentators and translators had of the work of earlier ones can be found in the two letters of the Patriarch Timothy I to which I have already referred. *Letter 43*, written to Pethion, the head of a 'Nestorian' ¹⁸² school northeast of Mosul,¹⁸³ amounts to a shopping list of texts that the Nestorian Patriarch wants Pethion to try to lay his hands on. Timothy began his letter by telling Pethion that the Caliph al-Mahdī had commissioned him and Abū Nūḥ to translate the Toπικά and that the task of translation was now done. Nevertheless, he was still

¹⁸¹ Gutas mistakenly suggests that only the first three books of the *Organon* plus the Ἐισαγωγή were available in Syriac before the "Abbasid translation movement. See *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, p. 22. F.E. Peters makes the same assertion in *Aristotle and the Arabs: The Aristotelian Tradition in Islam* (New York and London, 1968), p. 58. Also cf. Zimmermann, *Al-Farabi's Commentary and Short Treatise*, p. xcvii. John Watt has shown that there were two separate traditions of philosophical study in Syriac. The first, more common one, focused on the Κατηγορίαι, Περὶ ἑρμηνείας, and Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα (through I.7); a similar focus on the first several books of the *Organon* can also be found among Late Antique Latin authors and is not in fact unique to Syriac at all. Watt suggests that the similarity in both the Syriac and Latin traditions goes back to the 'Greek scholastic tradition.' Syrians were merely studying the same things that everyone else was studying and interested in during the Late Antique period. There was, however, another tradition which was interested in studying the later books of the *Organon* as well, which is evidenced in the translation of these books into Syriac: the Ἀναλυτικά ὕστερα, the Τοπικά and the Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων. For this and more detailed analysis, see J. Watt, 'Al-Fārābī and the History of the Syriac *Organon*' in *Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock*, ed. G. Kiraz, (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), pp. 752-758.

¹⁸² Because of its common usage at a both popular and scholarly level, I will sometimes use the adjective 'Nestorian' to describe East Syrians or members of the Church of the East. The adjective, however, is an historically and theologically problematic one. See S.P. Brock, 'The "Nestorian" Church: A lamentable misnomer,' *Bulletin of the John Rylands Library* 78 (1996 [1997]), pp. 53-66.

¹⁸³ The School of Mar Abraham in Bashosh—see Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p.
240

interested in getting hold of material related to the Τοπικά and other Aristotelian works. This is why Timothy had written to Pethion. 'Let your Eminence sagely ask and enquire whether there is some commentary or scholia by anyone, whether in Syriac or not, to this book, the *Topika*, or to the *Refutation of the Sophists*, or to the *Rhetorika*, or to the *Poetika*; and if there is, find out by whom and for whom (it was made), and where it is.'¹⁸⁴ These questions about authorship, patronage and even location of manuscripts bear uncanny resemblance to the sorts of questions that, as we have already seen, Hunayn was trying to offer in his *Risāla*. We can safely assume that these concerns were not unique to either Timothy or Hunayn or to the 'Islamic' period, they were part of a common manuscript culture which stretched back to the Late Antique period. This is a point I will return to below.

Though the head of the Nestorian Church, Timothy had no problem seeking manuscripts from or using the scholarship of rival, competing communions: 'Enquiries on this,' he continued, 'should be directed to the Monastery of Mar Mattai.' Recognizing the delicacy of the situation, however, Timothy cautioned, 'but the enquiries should not be made too eagerly, lest the information, (the purpose of the enquiry) being perceived, be kept hidden, rather than disclosed.'¹⁸⁵ Mar Mattai was a prominent Miaphysite monastery and as the leader of a competing and rival communion, Timothy's enquiries would not be met with openness, hence his exhortation to discretion. The riches of Mar Mattai's library crop up more than once in Timothy's letters: in *Letter 9*, he writes to Sergios the Doctor, 'Enquire what books are

¹⁸⁴ Translation Brock. See 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 236.

¹⁸⁵ Translation Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 236.

there at Mar Mattai and let me know about them; enquire about rare books, as many as you can, and let me know.'¹⁸⁶

At the level of scholarship, however, there seems to have been something of a 'Republic of Letters' in Timothy's day, operating above the animus of sectarian strife not only does Timothy want books from a Miaphysite monastery, he has also been in conversation with Job, the Chalcedonian Patriarch, about scholarly aids to the study of Aristotle's works: 'Job the Chalcedonian,' he writes, 'told me that he has seen a small (number) of scholia on the *Topika*, but only, he said, on certain chapters. But let your Chastity doubly enquire about scholia or a commentary on these books.'¹⁸⁷

Timothy was interested in more than just the Τοπικά. He also needed the remainder of the homilies of Gregory Nazianzen, as translated by Paul of Edessa and revised by Athanasios of Balad: 'Send us the other volume of Athanasios, so that we can copy it out. We have the first.'¹⁸⁸ Then there was need for several other philosophical texts on natural principles, which I have mentioned already above: 'Search out to see if these treatises can be found.' Timothy also wanted Nemesios of Emesa's *On the Nature of Man*: 'Search out for a work by a certain philosopher, called Nemesios, on the structure of man.' Finally, not only did he want the work of (Pseudo-)Dionysios, Timothy also had a preference for certain translators: 'Please search out and copy for us Dionysios in the translation of Athanasios or that of Phokas.'¹⁸⁹

¹⁸⁶ Cited and quoted by Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 242.

¹⁸⁷ Translation Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 236.

¹⁸⁸ Translation Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 237. I have altered the spelling of the name 'Athanasios' here.

¹⁸⁹ Translation of all these passages by Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 237. I have altered the spellings of the names 'Nemesios,' 'Dionysios' and 'Athanasios.'

Timothy was operating in the same tradition of scholarship as Ḥunayn, one which stretched back without interruption for centuries, well into the Late Antique period. There was no discontinuity or break. Like Ḥunayn and the rest of the scholars I have mentioned thus far, there was no 'Dark Age,' nor were they engaging in scholarly practices or activities that differed greatly from what their predecessors had been doing before the Islamic conquests. Striking in Timothy's letter is the co-existence of interests in both secular and religious texts: Jacob of Edessa, Athanasios of Balad, and Hunayn, among others, were all similarly involved in translating both religious and secular texts from Greek into Syriac or Arabic. Timothy was aware of what and of who had come before him and was keen to learn from and benefit from the fruits of the labors of previous scholars—regardless of their ecclesiastical affiliation: like Athanasios, Phokas, the translator of (Pseudo-) Dionysios was another member of the Miaphysite church.

Phokas, whose work Timothy was eager to profit from, has also, like Timothy, left us a precious witness to the rootedness and sense of organic connection with the toil of those who came before that Syriac scholars operated out of. There was a selfconsciousness and self-awareness of continuity at work. BL Add. 12,151, dated to 804 AD, contains a note written by a Phokas bar Sergios of Edessa, a Syrian Orthodox translator, probably of the later seventh century¹⁹⁰—in other words, the Phokas Timothy referred to in *Letter 43*—in which Phokas speaks about both his reasons for

¹⁹⁰ On Phokas, see A. Baumstark, *Geschichte der syrischen Literatur* (Bonn, 1922), pp. 271-272. See also Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 244 and *idem.*, 'Towards a History of Syriac Translation Technique,' in *III' Symposium Syriacum 1980*, ed. R. Lavenant, (Rome, 1980), p. 10. Brock, 'Jacob of Edessa's Discourse on the Myron,' *Oriens Christianus* 63 (1979), p. 21, is able to date his translation of Pseudo-Dionysios to perhaps ca. 684-686 AD. For a similar point, though less precise in dating (only to before Jacob's death in 708 AD), cf. W. Strothmann, *Das Sakrament der Myron-Weihe in der Schrift* De Ecclesiastica Hierarchia *des Pseudo-Dionysios Aeropagita in syrischen Übersetzungen und Kommentaren*, vol. 2, (Wiesbaden, 1978), pp. XIX-XX.

translation as well as the history of Greek translation into Syriac and the effects it has

had on the language. Ironically enough, though Phokas speaks of a desire to make the

texts he translates understandable to the reader, he himself writes in a dense,

Hellenizing Syriac:

...placing my trust in God who says 'The one who seeks shall find and the one who asks shall receive and for the one who knocks, it shall be opened unto him' [Mt. 7:7], [I will say the following:] not because I am diligent to obtain glory for myself through such things, or to find fault with that one's¹⁹¹ education. It is only that I show clearly—so that the mind of the reader not be darkened from the very beginning of the work's narration (that is, from the first encounter [with the text]) by the difficulty and complexity of words with the result that he has no profit by reading them—that either while condescending [to use] the Syriac language and being diligent in everything to make plain the things which are stated, [Sergios] in certain places made his phrasing obscure, or perhaps, as it seems to me, because at that time, many people were still not fully trained in this art of translating from the Greek language, until the point when the age progressed and brought forth through the passage of its generations other lovers of toil [sc. $\varphi_i \lambda \delta \pi \sigma_i$], like the holy and blessed ones Athanasios, Patriarch of Antioch and Jacob, the bishop of Edessa who, through their ability smoothed this road as much as possible and who, after a fashion, married to the two languages. From their union, they begat beneficial fruits, along with other [translators] before them who are still unnamed. Thereafter, the craft [of translating] was polished and bright and through their care, they obtained for the Syrians unusual turns of phrase from the precision of the Greeks.¹⁹²

¹⁹¹ Sergios of Resh'anya, the first translator of the work into Syriac.

¹⁹² For the Syriac text, see Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, (London, 1871), p. 494 and G. Wiessner, Zur Handschriftenüberlieferung der syrischen Fassung des Corpus בו מביל da בלא הבלא הבל: לאלמא הילי: ההכא בשבעי בא לשבי לי ההכא השבעי Dionysiacum (Göttingen, 1971), p. 199. הודוש בהפשמע לשי נשמי איי אי אי אי אי גר גרבי ולבי איי שלי י בי איי שלי י בי איי שלי איי איי איי איי איי איי איי beati so: Do know. Nor in the indiand. in as as which and be so line or astick of the ושאבע לה סועותי. אם כבו איתי ובכמאכוא לנ. ואב בגל ולא ההא באישיא בובעל. אואוושה ההם הביהלה אישואה העביבא היאש אישוא ולביבא העשיא אשניא ולביבא. אמנשיות של היושא של היא אישו אישו אישו אישו אישו איש השבחא גמורשיטים. טעייי בעקביםא טראנמויא אטבוטואאי טבעי ביידי ביידי אטעייי لا المعمة المعرفة المعرفة المعرفة (Brackets indicate a reading I have taken from Wright's edition over Wiessner's). The Syriac of this passage is rather obscure and I have tried to be as literal as possible; I am most grateful to Yossi Witztum for his insights into the meaning of this particular text. See the lessliteral FT of M. van Esbroeck in idem., 'La triple preface syriaque de Phocas,' in Y. de Andia, ed., Denys l'Aréopagite et sa postérité en Orient et en Occident (Paris, 1996), p. 172. P. Sherwood gives a summary, brief

Phokas' comments highlight yet another sense in which Hunayn and the other Greco-Syriac and Greco-Arabic Christian translators of the 'Abbasid period were operating in a continuous, Late Antique tradition: apart from texts and ideas, there was the sheer fact of language and translation technique.

Hunayn has been credited for literally changing the Arabic language, for introducing into it constructions and possibilities of expression which had previously not existed and for helping to fashion a scientific vocabulary that is still in use today, over a thousand years later,¹⁹³ but when he and other Greco-Arabic translators, the large majority of whom, as I have already noted, were Syriac-speaking Christians, approached the task of translating Greek works into Arabic, they had the benefit of the experience and achievements of nearly half a millennium of Greco-Syriac translation activity to draw upon to help them deal with the host of translational issues which confront the translator seeking to render a Greek text into a Semitic language.¹⁹⁴ To be sure, Hunayn's achievement was a great one, but it was enabled by centuries of work by translators before him. Syriac-speaking scholars were themselves aware of the moulding that their language had undergone in order to make it a better vehicle for Greek texts. Indeed, Jacob of Edessa, possibly a friend of Phokas of Edessa,¹⁹⁵ who

discussion and partial ET in his 'Sergius of Reshaina and the Syriac Versions of the Pseudo-Denis,' *Sacris Erdiri* 4 (1952), pp. 181-183.

¹⁹³ M. Ullmann, *Islamic Medicine* (Edinburgh, 1978), p. 9, observes that Hunayn 'introduced analytical-syntactical constructions which made Arabic into an instrument capable of expressing complicated and abstract ideas. This creation of a language is a philological achievement of the first order...' On the Greco-Arabic translators' development of an Arabic scientific vocabulary and style that continued to be in use into the twentieth century, see D. Gutas, *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture* (London/New York, 1998), pp. 136-141, esp. p. 141, n. 53 and the literature cited therein.

¹⁹⁴ For some of these problems, cf. R. Le Coz, *Le médecins nestoriens au moyen âge* (Paris, 2004), p.
90. In general, see also, S. P. Brock, 'The Syriac Background to Hunayn's Translation Techniques,' *Aram* 3 (1991), pp. 139-162.

¹⁹⁵ See S.P. Brock, 'Jacob of Edessa's Discourse on the Myron,' Oriens Christianus 63 (1979), p. 21

explicitly credited Jacob in the passage quoted above with helping to make the Syriac language more precise through neologisms, also recognized the effect that translation and re-translation was having on the Syriac language. Writing a letter on orthography to scribes, Jacob counseled them not to reject new or strange words because they did not know their meaning. In offering his prescription, Jacob also gave some historical perspective on the development of Syriac vocabulary:

Neither جامعاً، a property, nor جامعاً، property, was known a hundred years ago to the Syriac language, and is certainly not found among the Syrian Doctors, viz. Mār Ephraim, Mār Jacob, Mār Isaac, or Mār Philoxenos, nor in any of those books, which in those times were translated from the Greek; neither was جامعات, quality, known, nor the noun جنمهمج، مىتارى But instead of جامعاً، they said جامعتن: instead of جامعتج, quality or species, جام; instead of جامعات, they put either جنمه or جامعات, or, as for the most part, they said

Syriac-speaking scholars themselves were aware of the development and sharpening of the tool of their language as an instrument for conveying and reflecting accurately Greek expressions and ideas and this is a theme that has been picked up by modern scholars. Sebastian Brock has written of the stages that Greco-Syriac translation passed through between the fourth and seventh centuries—renderings became increasingly literal, even to the point of woodenness—and Syriac authors appropriated Greek style to the point that one cannot be certain whether some texts were originally written in

Syriac or in Greek.¹⁹⁷ Indeed, it was the constant honing and increasing sophistication of Syriac translation technique and the changing standards of what was considered an acceptable and good translation that in part fueled the constant revisions and re-translations that are so characteristic of Syriac translation history.

The reliance of 'Abbasid-era translators on the translational insights and technique of their predecessors can again be illustrated from a letter of Timothy I, his *Letter 48*, written to Sergios, the Metropolitain of Elam in 183 AH (799 AD). The letter centers on the meaning of the word $\alpha \dot{\nu} \lambda \eta \tau \rho (\delta \epsilon \varsigma \text{ in '} A \nu \alpha \lambda \upsilon \tau \iota \kappa \dot{\alpha} \, \check{\nu} \sigma \tau \epsilon \rho \alpha \text{ I.13. Timothy and}$ others had found it somewhat delphic and recourse had to be made to a seventhcentury Syriac translation, by Athanasios, to clarify what precisely the word meant:

Aulētrides does not mean 'playing' or 'drunkenness', or even 'wine presses'; (no), they are '(flute-) playing women'. We learnt this first of all from the translation that Athanasios made of the *Apodeitikē*, [sc. the 'Aναλυτικά ὕστερα] from Greek into Syriac; there he wrote '(flute-) playing women' corresponding to *aulētrides*. Later we also (learnt it) from the Book of the *Topika*, for there he everywhere puts '(flute-) playing' for *aulētridion*, and '(flute-) playing women' for *aulētrides*.¹⁹⁸

As in the case of *Letter 43*, we here have evidence of earlier translations and commentaries being studied and used by later scholars to help them in their own translational and philosophical activities. One alternative to looking to earlier translations for help in understanding obscure words was to seek the help of

¹⁹⁷ See Brock's classic piece, 'From Antagonism to Assimilation: Syriac Attitudes to Greek Learning,' in *East of Byzantium: Syria and Byzantium in the Formative Period*, edd. N. Garsoian, T. Mathews and R. Thomson (Washington, DC, 1982), pp. 17-34. In 'The Syriac Background to Hunayn's Translation Techniques,' p. 145, Brock adds a fourth period or stage to the famous three periods of Greco-Syriac translation activity outlined in 'From Antagonism to Assimilation,' in order to include the Greco-Syriac translations which occurred in 'Abbasid Baghdad.

¹⁹⁸ Translation Brock, 'Two letters of Patriarch Timothy,' p. 238. I have altered the spelling of 'Athanasios' here.

contemporaries who knew Greek well. For Timothy, as for others,¹⁹⁹ this meant asking the Chalcedonians: 'Nevertheless your eminence should be aware,' he writes,

that the word [sc. $\alpha \dot{\upsilon} \lambda \eta \tau \rho (\delta \epsilon \varsigma]$ is a strange one and unusual, even in Greek, as I believe. For when we were translating the book of the *Topika* into Arabic from Syriac, we had with us some Greeks, and one of them was the Patriarch of the Melkites; only with difficulty could they understand the word, and the fact that they accepted (the translation) '(flute-) playing women' was either the result of our happening upon it in the translation of Athanasios, or as a result of their own achievement.²⁰⁰

Timothy's *Letter 48* was written 113 years after the death of Athanasios in 686 AD and like his *Letter 43*, it discloses a world where Nestorian, Miaphysite and Chalcedonian Christians worked together and read one another's scholarship, regardless of sectarian affiliation. Secular genres have hardly died here, but at the same time, Timothy's interest in reading *Christian* texts produced by members of the rival Miaphysite church show that a certain secularism, or perhaps ecumenism, existed in spheres outside of the traditional secular areas like philosophy or medicine where one might expect to find them.²⁰¹ It should perhaps come as no surprise that we possess a letter from about this time, written by Ephrem, the Nestorian Metropolitain of Elam to Gabriel b.

¹⁹⁹ Brock, 'Two Letters of Patriarch Timothy,' p. 246, notes that when Bar Bahlul defines the Greek word *orarion* in his lexicon, he states that he sought help from the Melkites for its etymology. Cf. Bar Bahlul, *Lexicon Syriacum auctore Hassano Bar Bahlule*, vol. 1 (Paris, 1901), col. 87: 'I asked many of the Melkites concerning it, but they did not know its translation. Nevertheless, one said...'

²⁰⁰ Translation Brock, 'Two Letters of Patriarch Timothy,' p. 239. I have altered the spelling of the name 'Athanasios' here. See Walzer, 'The Arabic Translations of Aristotle,' in *Greek Into Arabic*, pp. 105-106 for discussion of how this was rendered in Abū Bishr's Arabic translation (as 'singing and its instruments'). See also, 'Abd al-Raḥmān Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol. 2 (Cairo, 1949), p. 351, n. 4 for the Arabic gloss which refers to the Syriac translation rendering αὐλητρίδες as *mughanniyyāt*, 'singing girls.' This instance of Athanasios having better knowledge of Greek than Timothy's contemporaries should be kept in mind when reading Gutas' assertion, *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, p. 138, that 'It is therefore inaccurate to say or infer that Greek culture "flourished" in the monasteries and Christian centers before the first century of Islam, and that the Graeco-Arabic translation movement simply drew upon the preexisting knowledge of Greek of the Christians. The translators were forced to improve their knowledge of Greek beyond the level of previous Syriac scholarship.' Here we have a case where the previous Syriac scholarship had a superior knowledge of Greek.

²⁰¹ NB: This predates by more than a century the 'Nestorian Humanism' that Zimmermann speaks about among the Baghdad Aristotelians. See *Al-Farabi's Commentary and Short Treatise*, p. cxii, for an illuminating and brief description of the interfaith and ecumenical nature of the philosophical enterprise which existed in Baghdad over the course of four generations.

Bukhtīshū' (d. 827 AD/AH 212), on the question of whether it was permissible to take the Eucharist of the Romans (i.e., Melkites) or the Jacobites (i.e., Miaphysites). Ephrem's answer, which begins by explicitly invoking syllogistic reasoning and goes on to list a host of other reasons why the Melkites are not Orthodox ('not because they hate Severans...even Arians hate Manichees and they are not Orthodox at all!'²⁰²), ends with an ominous warning: 'He who takes of their Eucharist is excommunicate. Be careful, therefore, and warn others!'²⁰³ Intercommunion in this period was apparently taking place at more than just the intellectual level.

The Paris Organon²⁰⁴

One last document can be brought forth to indicate the lack of discontinuity between the Late Antique and 'Islamic' periods in the Syriac philosophical tradition and the artificiality of schemes of historical periodization which seek to separate the two: the famous Paris *Organon*. The rich glosses of Paris Ar. 2346 are the scholarly equivalent of the icons which stare at worshippers in an Orthodox church: they give one a strong sense of a great communion of saints (or scholars, as the case may be), watching over one as one reads through the text. These glosses and colophons were published in part by Khalil Georr²⁰⁵ and 'Abd al-Raḥmān Badawī²⁰⁶ and analyzed in a famous article by

خ لَج معد عمه عمه عمه): جسافته مقه. ميدانه تخدي مامة لكستك Mingana 587, fol. 360a. تحدي مامة

²⁰⁴ I am grateful to John Watt for alerting me to the importance of this text and its glosses.

²⁰⁵ Kh. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syro-arabes* (Beirut, 1948), published the Arabic glosses of the Κατηγορίαι: (text): pp. 361-386, (FT) pp. 149-182. He also published glosses from the same ms. of the following books: Περὶ ῥητορικῆς (pp. 186-189), Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα (pp. 190-193), Ἐισαγωγή (pp. 193-194), Ἀναλυτικά ὕστερα (pp. 194-195), Τοπικά (pp. 195-197) and Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων (pp.198-200).

²⁰⁶ See 'Abd al-Raḥmān Badawī, *Manțiq Arisțū*, vols. 1-3 (Cairo, 1948-1952): 'Αναλυτικά πρότερα (vol. 1, pp. 101-306; 'Αναλυτικά ὕστερα (vol. 2, pp. 307-465); Τοπικά (Bks. 1-6: vol. 2, pp. 467-672; Bks. 7-8: vol. 3, pp. 673-733); Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων (vol. 3, pp. 735-1018); and Ἐισαγωγή (vol. 3, pp. 1019-1068).

Richard Walzer²⁰⁷ and they show nicely how the Late Antique Syriac philosophical tradition which began in the sixth century was still flourishing deep into what is usually regarded as the 'Islamic' Middle Ages.

Like sediment layers which disclose the history of a body of water, the glosses of the Paris Organon are not dissimilar to Hunayn's Risāla: only these allow one to see the history of the philosophical tradition, not the medical tradition. The curtain is pulled back and we see later scholars relying upon and disagreeing with the work of scholars who have come before them. The snapshot we are given, however, is at a different point than the one we receive in the *Risāla*. If in the *Risāla* our time split comes in the mid-ninth century, in the Organon, we are now in the tenth and eleventh centuries.²⁰⁸ Peters refers to three phases of the Baghdad translation movement. The first phase, before the reign of the Caliph al-Ma'mūn (813-833 AD/197-218 AH), was characterized by a literal approach to translation. The second period centered around Hunayn b. Ishāq and his associates and witnessed the use of a smoother Arabic style in the rendering of texts. In the third phase, ca. 900-1020 AD, translations executed in the first period of the translation movement were revised and refined and there was an increasing focus on ideas in understanding and teaching the concepts in the texts.²⁰⁹ The Paris Organon is a product of this third period. The conversation is still going on, though the surroundings are now different from what they were in the seventh or eighth or even ninth centuries.

²⁰⁷ R. Walzer, 'New Light on the Arabic Translations of Aristotle,' pp. 60-113 in *idem., Greek into Arabic: Essays on Islamic Philosophy*, (Oxford, 1962)

²⁰⁸ cf. Walzer, *Greek into Arabic*, pp. 62, 65-66.

²⁰⁹ See Peters, *Aristotle and the Arabs*, pp. 59-61.

This conversation is moreover still very much an 'ecumenical' one. In the same way we saw the Nestorian Timothy I seeking out Miaphysite scholarship and turning to Chalcedonians for learned advice, the scholarship reflected in Paris Ar. 2346 operates above the fray of sectarian division. This is the Baghdad of Zimmermann's 'Nestorian Humanism.²¹⁰ Here, the Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα is based on the Arabic translation of the Melkite Theodore Abū Qurra (d. ca. 830 AD).²¹¹ The manuscript as it now exists was written in 1018 AD (408 AH) and is a copy of the autograph of the Nestorian al-Hasan b. al-Suwār (d. after 1017). Ibn Suwār's copy was itself based on the autograph of his teacher, the Miaphysite Yahyā b. 'Adī (d. 974) and a marginal note indicates that the autograph of Yahyā b. 'Adī which Ibn Suwār was copying from had at least in part been written in 929 AD (317 AH). Furthermore, to make the pedigree of the text even more complicated, it seems that the choice of using the translation of Theodore Abū Qurra for study and comment, and not that of somebody else, went back to the Nestorian Abū Bishr, Yahyā b. 'Adī's teacher.²¹² In other words, what we have is a Melkite translation, transmitted with the glosses of a Nestorian and his Miaphysite teacher who commented on a particular translation because the Miaphysite's own teacher, a Nestorian, preferred it. More than two hundred years of translation and commentary by Christians of all stripes are reflected in this one manuscript. We are dealing with a tradition in which separated ecclesiastical communions do not mean separated scholarly ones.

²¹⁰ See above, note 201.

²¹¹ See Badawī, *Manțiq Arisțū*, vol. 1, p. 101.

²¹² For 317 AH as the date of Yaḥyā fīnishing reading the Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα through the seventh chapter, see Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol. 1, p. 132, n. 1 and also Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 190 (with FT). For all this information about the history of the text and Abū Bishr as the one responsible for the selection of Abū Qurra's translation as school 'textbook,' see Walzer, *Greek into Arabic*, pp. 77-78.

Ibn Suwār and the other group of scholars we now confront no longer knew Greek as Ḥunayn or Athanasios did: they only knew Syriac and Arabic. Nevertheless, many of the scholarly practices and attitudes which were so evident in Ḥunayn's *Risāla* are on display here as well.²¹³ Ḥunayn, as we saw in the *Risāla*, was constantly collating and seeking out new Greek manuscripts. Ibn Suwār did not have the ability to collate with the Greek, but this did not stop him from collating the various Syriac and Arabic versions which were available to him. The marginal notes, as Walzer pointed out, of Ibn Suwār's edition of the Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα contain 56 references to different Syriac translations of the same text; reference is also made two times to other Arabic versions and on 18 different occasions, other editions of the same translation of Abū Qurra are cited.²¹⁴ Jacob of Edessa is cited here²¹⁵ and Athanasios of Balad, as we will see in a moment, was known as well.

Like Ḥunayn, Ibn Suwār could criticize the work of scholars who came before him. In Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα I.3, 25b1.17, Abū Qurra translates the Greek ('ἡ δ' ἐν μέρει ἀντιστρέφει') correctly: *wa-ammā al-juz'iyya, fa-tan'akisu*—'As for the particular, it converts.' Ibn Suwār, however, in a note, informs us that the early ninth-century Melkite, Yaḥyā b. al-Biṭriq²¹⁶ has gotten this wrong: 'In the translation of Ibn Biṭriq,' he writes, '[it is]: "as for the particular, it does not convert." (*fa-lā tarji'ū*) He has made an

²¹³ cf. R. Walzer, 'Islamic Philosophy,' p. 7 in *idem., Greek into Arabic: Essays on Islamic Philosophy* (Oxford, 1962), p. 7, 'A third school of translators, who, however, did not know any Greek, used the Syriac translations of the school of Hunain very freely for their Arabic versions and followed the same standards of philological accuracy, discussing variants of earlier Syriac or Arabic versions. They built up a definite syllabus for the study of Aristotle, consisting of translations selected from version prior to Hunain and also versions emanating from his school.'

²¹⁴ See Walzer, *Greek into Arabic*, p. 94, for this information.

²¹⁵ Jacob's translation of the Κατηγορίαι is cited, see, Kh. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 380 (Arabic), p. 174 (FT). He is called 'Jacob the Ascetic.' (Ya'qūb al-Zāhid)

 $^{^{216}}$ On whom see the article, s.n., by F. Micheau in EI^2 .

error.²¹⁷ As I have already pointed out, however, references to Syriac versions are more common than references to Arabic ones in this particular book. So, for example, after the beginning of Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα I.4, 25b.1.27-31, Ibn Suwār gives the alternate translation of the same passage by Theophilos of Edessa and notes: 'this agrees with the translation of Athanasios [of Balad]. But Ḥunayn agrees with Theodore [Abū Qurra].²¹⁸ A passage a little further along in the Ἀναλυτικά πρότερα (I.4, 26a1.31) elicits the following observation about previous versions: 'This section has strong disagreement in the Syriac translations. In the translation of Theophilos [of Edessa] and Athanasios [of Balad] it is in this way,' Ibn Suwār notes, giving an alternate rendering, 'But,' he continues, 'in the translation of Ḥunayn, it is in this way,' then offering Ḥunayn's translation.²¹⁹

Athanasios of Balad, whose work had been an important resource for Timothy in understanding the To π iká did not receive the same measure of respect from Ibn Suwār, who offered a rather harsh assessment of the quality of Athanasios' translation of Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων in his colophon to that book:²²⁰

The translator, in the process of rendering the meaning, must understand it in the language into which he is translating, to the point that he can conceptualize [the meaning] in the same way the person stating it conceptualizes it and also must know how to use the language from which he translates and into which he translates. Since the monk Athanasios did not understand the ideas of Aristotle, there is no doubt that defects entered into his translation. Furthermore, since those—whose names have been mentioned—who translated this book into Arabic from the Syriac translation of Athanasios did not have a commentary on it, they relied on their understanding in [trying to] grasp its ideas. Each was

²¹⁷ See Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol. 1, p. 112.18 and p. 112, n. 5. Also see Walzer, *Greek into Arabic*, p. 85, whence I have taken the Greek text. Also, I have relied on and slightly altered Walzer's ET.

²¹⁸ See Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol.1, p. 113.33-36 and p. 113, n. 4. Cf. Walzer, *Greek into Arabic*, p. 85. ²¹⁹ Badawī, *Manțiq Arist*ū, vol. 1, p. 116.30-33 and p. 116, n. 2. See Walzer's discussion, *Greek into*

Arabic, p. 86. He notes that nearly all the important variants between the Syriac versions can also be found in Greek mss.

²²⁰ Which was copied into in Paris Ar. 2346. See Badawī, *Manțiq Arist*ū, vol. 3, p. 1017.

diligent in trying to attain the truth and grasp the aim which the Philosopher intended, and so they altered what they translated into Arabic from the translation of Athanasios.

But this is not all Ibn Suwār has to say. The note continues, amounting to something of

a history of the Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων's reception in ninth and tenth century

Baghdad. We are offered an example of one such person who followed the Syriac

without a commentary:

Therefore, because we wanted to become acquainted with what was available to each one of them, we have written out all of the translations which have come into our possession in order to study each one and so that recourse can be made to one against the other in grasping the meaning. The virtuous Yaḥyā b. 'Adī wrote a commentary on this book. I have seen a large part of it: its size is about two-thirds of [the book], in Syriac and in Arabic. I think he completed it, but it was not among his books after his death and I have had various thoughts about this situation. Sometimes I think that he destroyed it because it did not please him; at other times, I think that it was stolen—and this is my stronger supposition. He made the aforementioned translation of this book before he wrote a commentary on it and for this reason a certain amount of difficulty attaches itself to his translation, since he did not have full control over the meaning [at that time] and therefore followed the Syriac in his translation.

But Ibn Suwār had more than just Athanasios of Balad and Yaḥyā b. 'Adī available to

him in his study of the Π ερì τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων. There were others as well:

In this time of ours there is a commentary on [the $\Pi\epsilon\rho$ i tŵv σοφιστικŵv έλέγχων] by Alexander of Aphrodisias, in Greek. A quire in its beginning is defective²²¹ and only a bit of it has been excerpted. It has also reached me that Abū Isḥāq Ibrāhīm b. Bakkūsh²²² translated this book from Syriac to Arabic and that he would meet with Yūḥannā the Greek priest and geometer, who is known as Ibn Fatīla, in order to improve passages in it based on the Greek: but [a copy of it] has not come into my possession. It is also said that Abū Bishr, may God have mercy on him, corrected the first translation and made another translation, but it has not come into my possession, either. I have written down this statement so that the person into whose possession this book falls will

 ²²¹ Read ta'jizu with Badawī, Manțiq Arisțū, vol. 3, p. 1018 against Georr's ya'jiru (Les Catégories d'Aristote, p. 199). Georr, Les Catégories d'Aristote, p. 200, translates it, 'le premier fascicule a été détruit.'
 ²²² For this vocalization, see Badawī, Mantig Aristū, vol. 3, p. 1018.

know the nature of its affair and the reason for my recording all the translations in the way which they are written [here]. 223

The similarities between these kinds of statements by Ibn Suwār and the sorts of comments made by Ḥunayn in the *Risāla* are striking. There is a common critical awareness of the translational tradition as well as a similar philological approach. Ḥunayn gave us a vivid portrayal of how he collated Galen's *On the Means of Recovery* with Salmawayh: here, Ibn Suwār speaks of Ibrāhīm b. Bakkūsh meeting with Yūḥannā the priest and geometer to do precisely the same thing. The colophon to the Ἐισαγωγή, contained in the same manuscript, offers another witness to this common practice. After informing us that the book was translated by Abū 'Uthmān al-Dimashqī, a final line states: 'collated with a copy read before Yahyā b. 'Adī, and it agreed.'²²⁴

Other marginal notes speak of collational activities as well. The colophon to the 'Αναλυτικά ὕστερα informs us that Abū Bishr Mattā 'translated [it] from Syriac into Arabic' and that the manuscript in question had been 'transcribed from a copy of al-Ḥasan b. Suwār' which was in turn 'collated with a copy written from the copy of of 'Īsā b. Isḥāq b. Zar'a which was transcribed²²⁵ from a copy of Yaḥyā b. 'Adī and it was also found to agree with it.'²²⁶

Paris Ar. 2346 actually contains more than just the *Organon* of Aristotle and the Έισαγωγή. It contains the Περὶ ῥητορικῆς and the Περὶ ποιητικῆς as well. The former

²²³ For this text, see Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, pp. 198-199 (FT: pp. 199-200), and Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol. 3, pp. 1017-1018. The two editions should be compared with one another, cf. the comments by Walzer, *Greek into Arabic*, p. 83. On the history of the Περὶ τῶν σοφιστικῶν ἐλέγχων in Arabic and for information on the translators named in these passages, see Peters, *Aristoteles Arabus*, pp. 23-26.

²²⁴ See Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 193 (with FT). Text also available in Badawī, *Manțiq Arisțū*, vol. 3, p. 1068.

²²⁵ al-manqūla, Georr, Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syro-arabes, p. 195, translates this as 'collationnée.'

²²⁶ Badawī, Manțiq Aristū, vol. 2, p. 465. See also Georr, Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syro-arabes, p. 195, which contains a FT.

contains the notes of the logician Abū 'Alī b. al-Samḥ (d. 1027), like Ibn Suwār, a student of Yaḥyā b. 'Adī. Ibn al-Samḥ, too, was a Christian, and most likely earned his bread by working as a bookseller.²²⁷ Like Ibn Suwār and Ḥunayn and others, Ibn al-Samḥ collated manuscripts in the course of producing his copy of the Περὶ ῥητορικῆς. 'You must know,' he writes in a marginal note,

that I copied this manuscript from an Arabic copy. As for whatever I found in it that I doubted, I would go back to a sound Syriac copy. I would look at whatever had to be fixed, would correct it and write it down corrected in this copy. When I got to this point in copying, I found in it: "The first section of this book is complete." But I found in the Syriac and in another Arabic copy much material from the first section, so I have written it down. With it, the first chapter is complete...²²⁸

In another marginal note, written in the margin of the third section of the $\Pi \epsilon \rho i$

ρήτορικῆς, Ibn al-Samh offers the following description of the manner he went about

putting his text together:

This book is not very useful...for the art of logic, for its study and it has not paid it [sc. logic] satisfactory regard. For this reason, there does not exist for it a sound copy or concern to correct it.²²⁹ And I found a very defective copy of it in Arabic and I also found another copy of it in Arabic which was less defective than that, so I decided to make this copy from this second manuscript. [For] whatever error I found in the second manuscript, I would go back to that [first] copy. If I found it correct, I would copy what I found to be sound. But if I found it to be defective and ... I would return to a Syriac manuscript. If I found it sound, I would record it on [this manuscript's] margin. But if I found it defective, I would record it, despite its defectiveness²³⁰ and I would make a mark like this [s] on the line on which it was. So I collated this copy and I was diligent that no imperfections should occur in its text. Let everyone know that.²³¹

 $^{^{227}}$ For this, see S.M. Stern, 'Ibn al-Samḥ,' Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society 1/2 (1956), p. 32. For Ibn al-Samḥ as a bookseller, see p. 32, n. 2.

²²⁸ Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 186 (also contains a FT).

²²⁹ nuskha ṣaḥīḥa aw ma'nā bi-taṣḥīḥihā, which Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 188, translates as 'un exemplaire correct ou corrigé minutieusement.' Yossi Witztum has suggested to me that this should be translated as no 'one interested in correcting it.'

²³⁰ wa-in wajadtuhu saqīman uthbituhu 'alā suqmihi. I am grateful to Luke Yarbrough and Yossi Witztum for help understanding the Arabic here. Cf. also the translation of Georr *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 188: 'si je la trouvais fausse, je ne faisais aucune correction.'

²³¹ Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 188. Ellipses reflect ellipses in Georr's text.

Hunayn had relied on Greek texts. Now, Syriac translations came to take the role of Greek in being the court of last resort when there was a problem in the Arabic versions. This can also been seen in the note written at the end of the second section of the Toπικά. 'I found at the end of this section,' it reads, 'something which says the following:'

"In this section there are a small number of places which we have translated according

to what the literal meaning of the words required when we were unsure about the [exact] sense [of the passage] (*wa-lam yaṣiḥḥ lanā ma'nāhā*). We would examine the passage again and would indicate what seemed to be its correct sense to us. It was copied²³² from the copy of al-Ḥasan b. Suwār, which he corrected from copies which he had examined that were based on [a copy of] Abū Bishr:²³³ when [he encountered] disagreement between manuscripts, he went back to the Syriac and he fixed [the translation] according to what the Syriac manuscripts required.^{"234}

Written below this, in a different hand is another note which gives one more layer to

the history of the text:

The first section, along with the second, was collated with an ancient manuscript whose copyist mentioned that he wrote it out in the year 298 (AH =910 AD) from the corrected original exemplar, which had been translated from the Greek and that he had collated the two sections against it and that they had been collated with the Greek as well and been found correct by that measure, for the two were also in agreement [with the Greek].²³⁵

From Timothy I in the late eighth century, through the ninth and tenth-century world

of the Paris Organon, therefore, there is an ongoing awareness by scholars of the work

of those who came before them, in Syriac and later, in Arabic, and constant and

²³² Also possibly, 'I have copied.' (*nusikhat* vs. *nasakhtu*). Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 196, understands this in the passive sense.

²³³ allatī ṣaḥḥaḥāhā min nusakh naẓara fīhā 'alā Abī Bishr. Georr, Les Catégories d'Aristote, p. 196, translates this: 'corrigée d'après des copies revises par Abû Bišr...'

²³⁴ See Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol. 2, pp. 531-532 and cf. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, p. 196 for the Arabic text and an FT.

²³⁵ See Badawī, *Manțiq Arisț*ū, vol. 2, p. 532 and cf. Georr, *Les Catégories d'Aristote*, pp. 196-197 for the Arabic text and an FT. NB: On p. 196 Georr notes that this note is in a different hand than the preceding ones.

ongoing attempts to refine and improve translations. These Syriac-speaking scholars were engaged in precisely the same sorts of activities of translating, collating and revising that Syriac-speaking scholars had been undertaking for centuries. The continuity here is more than just one in content, it is one of approach and philological methodology.

Late Antiquity Lives on II: Evidence of Other Secular Genres in Syriac

I will return to the question of continuities in methodology in my next chapter. At present, however, I would like to continue to look at the question of continuities in genre. I have focused here on continued philosophical activity in Syriac, but other secular genres persisted in Syriac even as they disappeared in Greek. Severos Sebokht (d. ca. 667) has left behind several different astronomical works: a treatise on the astrolabe,²³⁶ one on lunar eclipses, another on the phases of the moon, and another on constellations.²³⁷ The seventh and ninth of the eleven extant letters of George of the Arabs, written in AD 714 and AD 716 respectively, deal extensively with astronomical and chronological matters.²³⁸ Although Theophilos of Edessa (d. 785) was an astrologer in the service of the Caliph al-Mahdī, he has left us no astronomical or astrological works in Syriac;²³⁹ the East Syrian Patriarch Timothy I (d. 823), however, another associate of of al-Mahdī, composed a now-lost 'Book of the Stars.'²⁴⁰

²³⁶ For which, see F. Nau, 'Le traité sur l'astrolabe plan de Sévère Sabokt,' *Journal asiatique* n.s. 13 (1899), pp. 56-101, 238-303.

²³⁷ Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 246.

²³⁸ These were published by V. Ryssel in 'Die astronomischen Briefe Georgs des Araberbischofs,' *Zeitschrift für Assyriologie und Verwandte Gebiete* 8 (1893): 1-55 and are sections 10.1.1-10.9.14 and 12.1.1-12.4.7 in my edition of the letters.

²³⁹ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 341-342.

²⁴⁰ See J.S. Assemani, Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana vol. 3.1 (Rome, 1725), p. 158: (Timothy composed "The Book of the Star." Also cf. R.J. Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I (Studi e Testi 187) (The Vatican, 1956), p. 6.

Between Paul of Aigina, who lived through the Arab conquest of Alexandria, and the monk Meletios, who lived at some point during the Iconoclast era, Krumbacher and Hunger provide little in the way of evidence for the Greek study of medicine.²⁴¹ But in the Syriac-speaking world, medicine was still being studied and written about. When the 'Abbasid Caliph al-Mansūr summoned the Nestorian physician Jūrjis b. Gabriel from Jundīsābūr 148 AH (AD 765) to treat a stomach ailment, we are told by Ibn Abī Usaybi'a that the Caliph's advisors referred to Jūrjis as the 'head of the doctors of Jundīsābūr' and that Jūrjis took two students, Ibrāhīm and Īsā, with him to Baghdad; a third student, Sarjis, is also mentioned.²⁴² Jūrjis would translate a number of books from Greek into Arabic for al-Mansūr and he would also compose a medical handbook in Syriac.²⁴³ We need not fall into the error of thinking that a full-fledged hospital existed in Jundīsābūr at this time to use this story as evidence that the study of medicine was going on among East Syrian Christians during the so-called Dark Ages; otherwise, we would have to assume that the learned Jūrjis and his students spontaneously generated, medical knowledge and all, from nothing.²⁴⁴ That we lack detailed and reliable evidence

²⁴¹ See K. Krumbacher, A. Ehrhard, and H. Gelzer, *Geschichte der Byzantinischen Litteratur von Justinian bis zum Ende des Oströmischen Reiches (527-1453)*, 2nd ed., (Munich, 1897), p. 614: 'In den nun folgendend dunkeln Jahrhunderten herrschte in der Medizin wie in den übrigen Profanwissenschaften fast vollständige Unfruchtbarkeit.' Also see H. Hunger, *Die Hochsprachliche Profane Literatur der Byzantiner I* (München, 1978), pp. 302-305.

²⁴² Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, '*Uyūn al-anbā*', pp. 183-184. Note how Jūrjis greets the Caliph in Arabic and Persian, p. 184; he must have been a polyglot.

²⁴³ For Jūrjis as Greco-Arabic translator Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 279 and for the information here in general, Ullmann, *Die Medizin im Islam*, p. 108.

²⁴⁴ See M.W. Dols, 'The Origins of the Islamic Hospital: Myth and Reality,' *Bulletin of the History of Medicine* 61:3 (1987), p. 377, for the point that Jundīsābūr probably had a seminary where medical texts were also studied. Dols, *ibid.*, pp. 371-377, provides an overview of hospitals and medical study in Syriac sources. On the 'myth' of a large medical school at Jundīsābūr, see P. E. Pormann and E. Savage-Smith, *Medieval Islamic Medicine* (Washington, DC, 2007), pp. 20-21. Writing around 660 AD, Anastasios of the Sinai offers evidence of their being infirmaries in Greek-speaking monastic contexts, too. For references to a νοσοκομεῖον see F. Nau, ed. 'Le texte grec des récits du moine Anastase sur les saints pères du Sinaï,' *Oriens Christianus* 2 (1902), p. 79 (a paralytic in the infirmary at St Catherine's) and also p. 83 (the pope gives money for the founding of an infirmary in a monastery near Rome).

of the specific tradition of medical study from which Jūrjis emerged does not mean that such a tradition never existed: his existence and the presence of students with him at Jundīsābūr means it must have. Where there is smoke, there must have been fire. Jūrjis was the patriarch of the renowned Bukhtīshū' family physicians who would remain prominent and serve caliphs for eight generations and some three centuries.²⁴⁵

That the study of medicine was going on in the Syriac-speaking world in the seventh and eighth centuries should come as no surprise: by the sixth century, Greek medicine had acquired a Syriac calling card. When he died in 536, Sergios of Resh'ayna (d. 536) left behind translations of all or part of a large number of Galen's medical works into Syriac, 26 of which were known to Ḥunayn in the ninth century.²⁴⁶ Another Syriac-speaking physician named Solomon was also writing in the sixth century, though his work is now known only through citations, including by al-Rāzī.²⁴⁷ It was at some point between the sixth and eighth centuries that the anonymous Syriac *Book of Medicines* was written, a work which cites both Sergios and Solomon and which itself would be used extensively in the Arab period by Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh and 'Alī b. Rabban al-Ṭabarī.²⁴⁸

²⁴⁵ For the Bukhtīshū' family, see Ullmann, *Die Medizin im Islam*, pp. 108-111. For Christian doctors prominent in the Umayyad period, see S. Qāshā, Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī khilafat banī Umayya, vol. 3 (Beirut, 2005), pp. 574-585.

²⁴⁶ Hunayn lists the following works as having been completely or partially translated by Sergios: 4: On the Craft of Medicine; 6: To Glaukon; 7: On Bones; 8: On Muscles; 9: On Nerves; 10: On Veins; 11: On the Elements; 12: On Mixing; 13: On Natural Powers; 14: Book on Causes and Symptoms; 15: Diagnosing the Maladies of Inner Body Parts; 16: On Pulse; 17: On the Classes of Fevers; 18: On the Crisis of Illness; 19: On the Days of Crisis; 20: On Therapy; 49: On the Uses of the Body Parts; 53: On Simple Medicines; 54: On the Indications of the Illnesses of the Eye; 66: The Summary of his large book on the pulse; 71: Book on the opening of Veins; 74: On the Powers of Victuals; 76: Book on $\chi \acute{\nu} \mu \circ \varsigma$; 79: On the Structure of Medicines; 80: Medicines which are Easy to Find; 101: Commentary on the book on the Nature of the Embryo. M. Dols, 'Syriac into Arabic: The Transmission of Greek Medicine,' Aram 1 (1989), p. 45, states that Sergios translated 32 works of Galen into Syriac, but neither lists the works nor offers a citation to support this.

²⁴⁷ F. Sezgin, *Geschichte des Arabischen Schrifttums*, vol. 3 (Leiden, 1970), pp. 176-177.

²⁴⁸ See Sezgin, *Geschichte des Arabischen Schrifttums*, vol. 3, pp. 177-178.

Sergios' translations of Galen's works made available to the Syriac-speaking world all but two of the eighteen works which comprised the curriculum of medical study in Alexandria.²⁴⁹ Furthermore, from a passage from the *Risāla* quoted above, we learn that the physician Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh asked Ḥunayn to collate and correct Sergios' translation of the work *On Simple Medicines*;²⁵⁰ similarly, Bukhtīshū' b. Jibrīl would ask Ḥunayn to go over and fix Sergios' translation of *Diagnosing the Maladies of the Inner Body Parts*.²⁵¹ In other words, Sergios' medical books were in fact in use in the ninth century and were not merely antiquarian curiosities discovered by a manuscript hunter like Ḥunayn.

The patrons of Sergios' translations are mostly unknown, but Ḥunayn does tell us that Sergios translated *Diagnosing the Maladies of the Inner Body Parts* (no. 15) twice: once for Theodore, the Bishop of Karkh and once for a man called al-Yasha (Elisha).²⁵² We know from Sergios himself that Theodore actually helped him translate some of Galen's works out of Syriac into Greek.²⁵³ There was an active interest, therefore, in the study of medicine among the members of the church hierarchy—in addition to laymen—and church institutions provided a setting for the continued study of medicine in this period.²⁵⁴ Indeed, the canons of the East Syrian Ḥenānā (d. ca. 610)

²⁴⁹ See H. Hugonnard-Roche, 'Note sur Sergius de Reš'ainā, traducteur du grec en syriaque et commentateur d'Aristote,' in G. Endress and R. Kruk, eds., *The Ancient Tradition in Christian and Islamic Hellenism* (Leiden, 1997), pp. 123-124.

²⁵⁰ See above, n. 67. cf. Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 30 (Arabic text).

²⁵¹ Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, pp. 12-13 (Arabic text).

²⁵² Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 12 (Arabic text), p. 10 (GT), with reference to *idem.*, *Neue Materialien*, p. 15. NB: Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, '*Uyūn al-anbā'*, p. 283, describes Theodore's eager desire for translations.

²⁵³ See S.P. Brock, *A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature* (Kottayam, 1997), p. 202 and see note 253, below.

²⁵⁴ V. Nutton, *Ancient Medicine* (London and New York, 2004), pp. 302-306 provides an overview of the relationship between Chrisitianity and medicine in the Late Antique period; p. 303 offers examples of individuals who were both clergymen and doctors.

suggest that the School of Nisibis had some sort of hospital or infirmary attached to it for the treatment of sick students;²⁵⁵ the canons furthermore suggest that there were students at the School who studied medicine in addition to students who were studying theology. These two groups were to be kept separate from one another, though some students would apparently leave scholarship in order to study medicine.²⁵⁶ And though Vööbus had doubts as to whether they actually went back to the School of Nisibis, 'Abdisho' (d. AD 1318) has left us Arabic canons claiming to be from the school which suggest that at a certain point young students who were chosen for medicine there (*man yukhtār li-1-țibb*) might be separated off and sent to the 'hospital' (*bīmāristān*);

²⁵⁶ See Canons 19 and 20 of Henānā, in Vööbus, *The Statutes of the School of Nisibis*, pp. 100-101: محمد محمد المحمد محمد المحمد ال

these were nevertheless supposed to have some basic familiarity with the Bible and the liturgy.²⁵⁷

The lines between theology and medicine would not always be clear. Hunayn notes that a certain priest named Joseph had made a partial translation of Galen's *On Simple Medicines* (no. 53).²⁵⁸ In his letters, Jacob of Edessa would compare the task of the spiritual doctor with that of the physical one,²⁵⁹ and the spiritual works of Jacob's lateseventh century East Syrian contemporary Simeon of Ṭaybūtheh represented a medicalization of Christian mysticism.²⁶⁰ Simeon also wrote a now-lost book on medicine;²⁶¹ perhaps some sort of compendium, it would be frequently cited by al-Rāzī later in the Middle Ages.²⁶²

There are other things as well. Severos Sebokht, for example, wrote on geography.²⁶³ According to Bar Hebraeus, Theophilos of Edessa, the Maronite astrologer who served al-Mahdī, translated 'the two books of Homer which are about

²⁵⁷ See Vööbus, *The Statutes of the School of Nisibis*, p. 109: (translation Vööbus) 'All the younger ones read the Psalms of David, the books of the New Testament and the lessons which are read on Sundays, feast- and commemoration-days' who ever among them is set apart for the priesthood, has to read besides the text also a short commentary by Mār Ephrēm and a long one by Mār Theodore' and who ever is set apart for the study of medicine will be sent to the hospital. In short—all children of Christians before their introduction to professional training, shall read David [sc. the Psalter], the New Testament and the sections of the lessons.' For Vööbus's doubts about the canons, see *ibid.*, pp. 109-111.

²⁵⁸ See Bergsträsser, *Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq*, p. 30.

²⁵⁹ See e.g., Jacob's second letter to John of Litarb, BL Add. 12,172, fol. 81a and his third letter to John of Litarb, BL Add. 12,172, fol. 82a. Also, see n. 499, below.

²⁶⁰ See the comments of A. Mingana in A. Mingana, ed. and trans. 'Medico-Mystical Work, by Simon of Ṭaybūtheh,' *Woodbrooke Studies, vol. 7: Early Christian Mystics* (Cambridge, 1934), p. 1: 'Special importance attaches to the author's mystical writings from the fact that he was a physician, who endeavored to explain scientifically the different faculties of the soul in relation to the body and to the performance of the various exercises of asceticism.'

²⁶¹ See J. Assemani, *Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana*, vol. 3, p. 181: جمصه، عرب المعالية عرب المعالية المحالية المعالية المحالية المعالية ال معالية المعالية المعالي

²⁶² See F. Sezgin, *Geschichte des Arabischen Schriftums*, vol. 3 (Leiden, 1970), p. 179.

²⁶³ See the fragments On the inhabited and uninhabited Earth, and On the measure of the Heaven and Earth and the Mountain which is between them published in E. Sachau, Inedita Syriaca: Eine Sammlung syrischer Übersetzungen von Schriften griechischer Profanliteratur (Vienna, 1870), pp. صلح – ملح.

Ilion from Greek into Syriac.²⁶⁴ The eighth letter of George of the Arabs (written in 715) provides a Syriac witness to the *Life of Aesop* at a time when the Greek textual tradition of the *Life of Aesop* is barren;²⁶⁵ moreover, it provides a missing link to help explain an eighth- or ninth-century Uighur version of the *Life*.²⁶⁶ Jacob of Edessa's *Hexaemeron*, which was finished by George of the Arabs after Jacob's death, is a treasure-chest of information on a wide variety of topics: his text deals with geography, astronomy, zoology/natural history and anthropology, among other things, often in great detail.²⁶⁷

A tradition of historical writing continued in Syriac throughout the seventh, eighth and ninth centuries and a number of different Syriac chronicles have been preserved from this period or survive the works of later historians. The seventh-

²⁶⁵ BL Add. 12,154, fols. 276a-276b (sections 11.6.1-11.6.2 in my edition); George is actually explicating a reference to the *Life of Aesop* that occurs in a letter of Jacob of Edessa (BL Add. 12,172, fols. 78a-b). See B.E. Perry, *Aesopica. A series of Texts relating to Aesop or ascribed to him or closely connected with the literary tradition that bears his name*, vol. 1 (Urbana, 1952), pp. 23, n. 51 (esp. p. 24), for the seventh-toeleventh century gap in the textual tradition in the Life of Aesop. More recently, see P. Avlamis, 'Aesopic Lives: Greek Imperial Literature and Urban Popular Culture,' (PhD, diss., Princeton University, 2010), pp. 54-71, for a correction and nuancing of Perry, esp. pp. 59-62 on the importance of the Syriac witnesses to the history of the transmission of the text. I am grateful to Pavlos for guidance in this subject and for bringing to my attention the significance of the witness of George's eighth letter to the study of the *Life of Aesop*.

²⁶⁶ See L. Rásonyi Nagy, 'Das uigurische Aesop-Josïpas Fragment,' *Byzantinisch-Neugriechische Jahrbucher* 7 (1930), pp. 429-443, which posits a seventh-eighth century intermediary to explain the Uighur text. I am grateful to Pavlos Avlamis for this reference.

²⁶⁷ For an overview of the scientific content of Jacob's *Hexaemeron*, see L'Abbé Martin, 'L'Hexaméron de Jacques d'Édesse,' *Journal asiatique* (8^{ème} sér.) 11 (1888) 401-90. See also, M. Wilks, 'Jacob of Edessa's Use of Greek Philosophy in His Hexaemeron,' in B. ter Haar Romeny, ed., *Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day* (Leiden/Boston, 2008), pp. 223-238 as well as M. Greatrex, 'Memra One, Two and Four of the Hexaemeron of Jacob of Edessa: Introduction, Translation and Text,' (Phd, diss., University of Wales, College of Cardiff, 2000).

century *Melkite Chronicle* covered history from creation till shortly after the death of Herakleios in 641.²⁶⁸ The Maronite Chronicle began with Alexander the Great and ended in the mid 660s.²⁶⁹ The East Syrian *Khuzistan Chronicle* deals with the final fifty years the Sassanian Empire.²⁷⁰ John of Phenek's *Ktābā d-resh Mellē* begins with creation and ends in the late seventh century.²⁷¹ Jacob of Edessa composed a chronicle which was meant to continue the work of Eusebios and which apparently ended in the year AD 692; unfortunately, it survives only partially and in citations in the works of later authors.²⁷² Two short world chronicles, the Chronicle to the year 724 and the Chronicle to the year 775 were also written in this time.²⁷³ The *Chronicle to the year 846* begins at creation and continues into the ninth century.²⁷⁴ We have several other short chronicles as well: what survives of the Chronicle to the year 813 covers the years AD 775-813; the Chronicle to *the year 819* begins with Christ, but nearly a majority of it focuses on the seventh and eighth centuries.²⁷⁵ The important *Ecclesiastical History* of Miaphysite Patriarch Dionysios of Tell Mahre (d. 845) survives in only very fragmentary form, but has been preserved through its extensive use by later historians like Michael the Syrian and Bar Hebraeus.²⁷⁶ Another important work, the *Zugnin Chronicle* begins with creation and continues to AD 775.²⁷⁷ We do not know for sure the exact coverage of the now-lost *Chronicle* of the Maronite Theophilos of Edessa, but it seems to have been at least ca.

²⁶⁸ See S.P. Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing: A Survey of the Main Sources,' *Journal of the Iraqi Academy (Syriac Corporation)*, 5 (1979/1980), p. 320.

²⁶⁹ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 320.

²⁷⁰ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 302.

²⁷¹ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 301.

²⁷² Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 319.

²⁷³ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 318.

²⁷⁴ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 313.

²⁷⁵ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' p. 314.

²⁷⁶ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' pp. 313-312.

²⁷⁷ Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' pp. 317-314.

590-750. Theophilos' work is now no longer extant, but three later important historians in Greek, Syriac and Arabic—Theophanes, Dionysios of Tellmahre, and Agapios of Manbij—drew extensively upon it for their work. Robert Hoyland has speculated that Theophilos' work may have in fact been a classicizing history.²⁷⁸ In addition to all these works, we have several other short historical notices preserved from the eighth century.²⁷⁹

The 'Dark Ages': the Cultural Climax of Late Antiquity?

If there was a memo about there being a Dark Ages, it did not go out in Syriac. Significant aspects of Late Antique literary culture—both secular and religious continued to live and flourish among the Syriac-speaking Christians—Miaphysite, Chalcedonian and Nestorian—of the Middle East through the darkest parts of the socalled 'Dark Ages.' Byzantinists looking for green shoots of learning in the sixth to ninth centuries need only look a little further east in order to find a veritable garden in bloom. For Syriac-speaking Christians, Late Antique culture reached its peak in 'Abbasid Baghdad, in the Greco-Arabic translation movement for which they supplied much of the intellectual muscle. This movement represented the results that could be achieved when the provincial scholarly culture that had developed in Syriac monasteries between the sixth and eighth centuries was combined with the finances and patronage of a metropole whose elites were not separated from them ecclesiastically and therefore often at enmity with them.

²⁷⁸ For this point, see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 406-407. On Theophilos' *Chronicle* in general, see *ibid.*, 401-409. Hoyland gives an attempted reconstruction of the *Chronicle* of Theophilos, which he refers to as the 'Syriac Common Source,' in *ibid.*, pp. 631-671.

²⁷⁹ See Brock, 'Syriac Historical Writing,' pp. 319-318, for his description of 'historical notices' dealing with 712-716 and short 'historical excerpts' dealing with 763-764.

The fact that Muslim rulers and metropolitan elites were now paying to have texts translated rather than local Christian bishops, Christian provincial elites or Christian congregations²⁸⁰ does not mean that the scholarly practices and intellectual tradition which one sees in a document like the *Risāla* were any less Late Antique or that Ḥunayn himself was doing anything different from what Jacob of Edessa or Athanasios of Balad or Sergios of Resh'ayna had been doing. In fact, in his day Ḥunayn was consciously compared by others to Sergios and was seen as a sort of Sergios *redivivus*: 'By God,' one contemporary is reported to have said of the young Ḥunayn, 'if his life goes on, he will certainly outshine Sergios!'²⁸¹ To be sure, the resources and patronage of imperial elites made possible breadth and quality of work and translation that was not possible for Syriac-speaking Christians, many often persecuted by the Imperial Church, to achieve while under Byzantine rule.²⁸² The difference between these figures and Ḥunayn, however, was one of degree, not kind, and the divisions and labels that are placed upon them—Late Antique versus Medieval, Byzantine versus

²⁸⁰ For Syrian Orthodox Patriarch Athanasios Gamālā as the patron who commissioned the Syro-Hexaplaric OT translation, see A. Vööbus, *The Hexapla and the Syro-Hexapla. Very Important Discoveries for Septuagint Research* (Stockholm, 1971), pp. 42-43. Bishops also might commision the translation of secular medical works as well. Hunayn notes that Sergios translated *On Diagnosing Maladies of Inner Body Parts* (*De Locis affectis*) for Theodore, Bishop of Karkh. See Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 2 (Arabic), p. 12. For different types of Christian patrons of manuscripts, see, e.g., the colophon of BL Add., 14,479 (534 AD), which was paid for by a person from the village of Be-'Aital near Himş; BL Add. 14,478 (622 AD), written for John bar Sergios from the village of Halūgā of Sarūg who bought the ms. for the price of 14 carats; BL 14,430 (724 AD) which was paid for by Constantine, Bishop of Mardin and also partially funded by , see (Wright suggests vocalizing this as Ṣarai) the deacon of Tel-beshmai; BL Add. 14,485 and Add. 14,486 (both from 824 AD) were both paid for by the congregation of the church of Aḥudemmeh at Ḥarrān. For these manuscripts, see W. Wright, *Catalogue of Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 1,(London, 1870), pp. 86, 90, 15, 146, 149.

²⁸¹ Stated by Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū'. See Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, '*Uyūn al-anbā*', p. 259.

²⁸² G. Saliba, *Islamic Science and the Making of the European Renaissance* (Cambridge, Mass. and London, 2007), pp. 8-9, is quite dismissive of the quality of work done by Syriac-speaking scholars like Sergios, Severos Sebokht and George of the Arabs, referring to the method of Sergios as 'crude,' for example. He does acknowledge that the sophistication of Severos and George was on par with contemporary 'Byzantine' (sic) sources. Saliba's attitude is typical of the metropolitan perspective which ignores, downplays, and simply looks down upon the importance of Syriac provincial scholarly activity: p. 9, 'Why should the poorer Byzantine subjects, as the Syriac-speaking subjects were, know more than the more sophisticated and much richer Byzantine overlords?'

Islamic—say more about the academic formation and curricula of study of scholars in our own period than they do about anything actually happening between the sixth and ninth centuries; such labels also have the unhappy consequence of obscuring the deep connections and continuities which existed.

The fundamental contention of this chapter has been rather simple: it is strictly correct to say that without Sergios of Resh'ayna, Athanasios of Balad, Jacob of Edessa and others like them, Hunayn and the Greco-Arabic translation movement would have been inconceivable. When viewed from other, alternate centers—from the Syriacspeaking world of the Middle East—and not the the traditional urban centers which have occupied the attention of most scholars—Rome, Alexandria, Constantinople or Antioch—the alleged Dark Ages look quite different: the notion of a 'Dark Ages' in much of Byzantine culture becomes a chimera.

This is the case for several reasons: first, for the simple reason that many of the genres which ceased in Greek continued unabated and indeed flourished in Syriac. At a more profound level, however, the Syriac evidence gives us cause to re-evaluate what Late Antique participants in high culture in Late Antiquity actually held to be central and worth holding on to. The Syriac evidence points us to a suggestive conclusion: it was the sort of things we have seen in this chapter—philosophy, medicine, history— which were actually the most important to the mass of people living at that time. It was precisely these things, after all, that they never stopped producing. Looking at the evidence of which secular genres continued in Syriac, as we have done in this chapter, gives us a perspective which is free from the heavy shadow cast by the weight of post-Renaissance classical scholarship and humanism, which have valorized the sorts of

105

literary genres which (Theophilos of Edessa's translation of Homer in Syriac excepted) were not taken up by the Syrians. The beauty of such literature and the attention it traditionally has received in Western scholarship has, one might suggest, distorted our image of its importance and place in Late Antique high culture in general.

It is by viewing Late Antique high culture from what I have termed the periphery—the perspective of Syriac—that we actually subvert and, indeed, invert our notions of cultural center and cultural periphery. What the Syriac evidence suggests is that the hyperurban literary culture that scholars have traditionally focused their energies on was actually quite peripheral when it came to the broader streams of Byzantine secular culture. Put slightly differently, a very modern focus on what was actually rather peripheral at the time—the purview of only one portion of a small urban elite—has eclipsed what was actually at the center historically. The Syrians did not take take over certain genres because it was those genres which in reality were not all that important.

When viewed from outside the limited world of classical *paideia*, therefore, it becomes evident that the heart of Late Antique secular culture never stopped in the early medieval period. On the contrary, it continued, unbroken, and reached its climax in ninth-century 'Abbasid Baghdad.

106

Chapter 2: The Technique and Approach of Late Antique Scholarship

In the last chapter, I attempted to explore continuities in learning and certain types of literary genres and production that existed between the the Late Antique and 'Islamic' periods. Certain genres which had withered away in Greek continued to flourish in Syriac during a period allegedly characterized by decline and darkness. An indispensible context for viewing Hunayn, the Greco-Arabic translation movement and the Christian Aristotelians of Baghad, I argued, is that of the scholarly culture which developed among Syriac-speaking scholars of the Near East in the sixth and seventh centuries. In this chapter, I will attempt to make a similar argument for continuity. Rather than highlighting the continuities in genre, however, I shall rather focus on continuities in scholarly practice between the Late Antique and 'Islamic' periods.

The *Risāla*, though written in Arabic (at least in the recension we possess—recall that it was originally composed in Syriac and written for a Syriac-speaking Christian), presents us with a world of scholarly practices that are quite familiar to anyone with a knowledge of the history of Late Antique Syriac scholarship and philhellenism; the same holds true for the philological technique evidenced in the glosses of the Paris *Organon*. The Ḥunayn we see through the *Risāla* was doing what Syriac-speaking scholars had been doing since the age of Justinian (and before)—this is the sense in which the *Risāla* is a thoroughly Late Antique document. There is no need to speculate that Ḥunayn learned to collate and examine different manuscripts from the example of Galen,²⁸³ nor is there anything 'Islamic' about the technique and approach to

²⁸³ cf. L. D. Reynolds and N. Wilson, *Scribes and Scholars: A Guide to the Transmission of Greek and Latin Literature* 3rd ed., (Oxford, 1991), p. 57: 'It is possible that the scrupulous consideration and comparison of divergent texts was a technique that he learnt at least in part from Galen, who employs much the same methods in handling the difficult text of the Hippocratic Corpus.' Scholars looking for

scholarship he adopts—Ḥunayn's precedents lie much closer to home: he was working from a living, vibrant and unbroken tradition of Syriac scholarship. Indeed, Rosenthal²⁸⁴ and Walzer²⁸⁵ both recognized that Ḥunayn's translational activities in Arabic had a context in the Syriac scholarly tradition from which he emerged, something which becomes apparent through examining the Syriac tradition before him.

Put differently, the concern for collation and for philological accuracy and precision evident in both the *Risāla* of Ḥunayn and in the Paris *Organon* is remarkable for the amount of testimony to such practices contained in one place, but the practices themselves are not unique. Ḥunayn represents a particularly strong intensification of a pre-existing and continuous scholarly tradition, not a new approach to scholarship. He is a branch—to be sure a large and strong one—on a tree whose roots stretch back for centuries before him into the Roman period. He is not a new tree. The original one was never cut down.

One of the most notable scholarly practices Ḥunayn engages in in the *Risāla* is the collation of manuscripts. In his tenth-century Syriac dictionary, Bar Bahlūl does not offer a definition of the Syriac word for 'collation,' *pūḥāmā*, but he does offer a definition for a related word, *peḥmā*, 'comparison,' which, perhaps unsurprisingly, he defines by quoting Ḥunayn.²⁸⁶ Ḥunayn's concern for collation has attracted the

Hunayn's geneology in the Greek- speaking world would do better to connect his philological practices to those of Origen, who brought pagan textual-critical practices to bear on the text of the Bible.

²⁸⁴ cf. The Technique and Approach of Muslim Scholarship, pp. 26, 28-29.

²⁸⁵ cf. *Greek into Arabic* pp. 80-81. Note the contrasts Walzer draws between the philological method of Hunayn and those of Ibn Suwār in the Paris *Organon*.

²⁸⁶ See R. Duval, ed., *Lexicon Syriacum autore Hassano Bar Bahlule*, vol. 2, (Paris, 1901), col. 1533.

attention of various modern scholars.²⁸⁷ But collating manuscripts was something

Syriac-speaking scribes and scholars like Hunayn had been doing for centuries.²⁸⁸ 'Let

everyone who borrows this book,' reads the colophon of a Peshitta New Testament

manuscript written in the same year that Muhammad made the hijra to Madina-AD

622

to read or to copy from or to collate from—or, moreover, if it happens that it is lost and he finds it—and then keeps it for himself or cuts something out of it or effaces something in it and does not return it to its owner, have the leprosy of Gehazi cling to him and his seed forever.²⁸⁹

Very similarly-worded colophons referring to manuscripts being borrowed for the purpose of collation or copying are common in Syriac manuscripts and occur both before the Islamic conquests and after²⁹⁰ and the existence of such stock colophons,

²⁸⁷ See, e.g., Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain ibn Ishâq and his period,' p. 707; G. Strohmaier, 'Hunayn b. Ishak as a Philologist,' *Ephrem-Hunayn Festival* (Baghdad, 1974), pp. 542-540; W.F. Macomber, 'The Literary Activity of Hunain b. Ishaq in Syriac,' *Ephrem-Hunayn Festival* (Baghdad, 1974), p. 568. Gutas, in his drive to de-emphasize the importance of the Syriac background to the Greco-Arabic translation movement, seeks to credit the Muslim patrons of the translations with the development of the high-level philological technique of the translators and not the monastic context where the translators were trained. See *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, pp. 140-141.

²⁸⁸ This is something Rosenthal recognized. See F. Rosenthal, *The Technique and Approach of Muslim Scholarship* (Rome, 1947), p. 26.

באב גם גיב אילי See Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, p. 91 באר הער בא געיי לה לבאבא הנאי: געויא בה אים גיבאאים בעה אים געשית בעה: אים אחב איעה גאיבי איבי אים: אים אים בא היא אים גער אים בלאה, אים פשם בעה בגת: אישא בה בגת מלא לפוא לה לביה. גיבה ג געו, גרבם בה מכוי בק לבלת... For Gehazi, see 2 Kings 5:27.

employed for centuries, suggests that collating manuscripts was a routine practice in the Syriac context.

The West Syrian David bar Paulos (fl. late eighth century) has left us a letter in which he discusses the activities of the seventh-century Rabban Sabroy and his sons Ramīshū' and Gabriel. Ramīshū' and Gabriel, we are told, were from the monastery of Mar Mattai. Both would punctuate and correct books. Ramīshū' had a son named Sabrīshū' who left his father's monastery and moved to a different one in the region of Marga. At this monastery, David bar Paulos tells us, a youth and a servant sought entry but were not initially received. When the head of the monastery, however, saw that they had a beautiful way of life and were more learned than their contemporaries, he gave them each a cell in the monastery:

The two of them would take a book in which there was not any points of vocalization or correction. Each of them would enter into his cell and would punctuate on his own. And when they would go over the correction of the two of them, there was no addition made to one by the other. They did this with many books.

A number of well-known scholars, David bar Paulos writes, would follow Rabban Sabroy

and his descendants in correcting and vocalizing manuscripts.²⁹¹

More than just common colophons employing standardized language indicate that collation was a common practice among Syriac scribes and scholars: we also have explicit references to acts of manuscript collation having taken place, often by named individuals. A note in a manuscript containing Peshitta Daniel and written in 532 AD states that 'this book was carefully collated in the Monastery of the Easterners,' a place which Wright speculates may have been in Edessa.²⁹² A manuscript written in the year 599 AD and containing Peshitta Joshua contains a note informing us that it was 'collated from a manuscript of the school of the Armenians.²⁹³ We have references to more than just one volume being collated as well: 'These books were collated in the Monastery of Mar Zakai,' reads a note in a manuscript of Peshitta Mark, written in 583 AD, 'Let he who reads pray for the sake of Our Lord for everyone who toiled in the collation of these books. I, Sābā, the priest, have written this. Pray for me!'²⁹⁴ Hunayn was a Christian Arab and we even have references to Christian Arabs engaging in manuscript collation in what was most likely a pre-Islamic context. A note in a manuscript containing the Peshitta Gospels, dated by Wright to the sixth or seventh century, asks that

Our Lord work His mercies and compassion on the great Day of His coming upon everyone who collated this book and who had concern about its collation from errors—it was collated with great care by Mar Qashīsh, the Arab priest of Nahrā

²⁹² BL Add. 14,445. See Wright, *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 1, p. 26. حصل حمل المنابع المنابع

²⁹³ BL Add. 17,102. See Wright, *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 1, p. 12. The set of the second for the same Greek word, $\sigma_X \circ \lambda \eta$, as the Arabic *iskūl* which Hunayn used when he compared the pedagogical practice of his Christian contemporaries with those of the medical schools of Alexandria: this was no doubt the word used in the Syriac original of the *Risāla*.

²⁹⁴ BL Add. 14,464, See Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, p. 70. אפעב באבא היא גבויא גבוי אוב בל היא גבויא גבוי הארא מבא מצעא באבעל באבעל באראן אינא מבא מצעא באבעל בא בל א

d-Qastrā, along with his $\sigma \dot{\nu} \gamma \kappa \epsilon \lambda \lambda \sigma i$ who were diligent with him, Mar Yūḥanān bar Daniel, the Arab (*ṭayāyā*) and Mar Yūḥanān, the deacon who is from AWNMRA (he is an Arab (*ʿarbāyā*) by race)—may God, for the sake of Whose name they worked assiduously for the collation of this book, grant them a good recompense.²⁹⁵

As we have seen, both Hunayn and the Paris Organon give indications that collation was

at least sometimes done in teams of two people working together. We have similar

indications of this practice of oral collation taking place in pre-Islamic Syriac contexts.

A colophon in a manuscript containing the Peshitta Gospels states that

This book was completed in the twenty-fifth year of Khusro bar Hūrmuz [615 A.D.], King of the Persians, in the holy city of Nisibis, during the lifetime of the diligent shepherd, Mar Bāshā, the Metropolitan, and Mar Matai, the head of the teachers, and Mar Ahā, the teacher and Mar Bar Sahdē, the instructor.²⁹⁶ Mar Gabriel Qaṭrāyā obtained, as if it were his, and collated it with great care in the presence of the true teacher Mar Māran Zkā, who is among the Fathers, for his benefit and for the benefit of all the inhabitants of his region.²⁹⁷

The specific mention here of collation taking place, *qdām*, 'in the presence' or 'before'

another person, suggests that the comparison was an oral collation, like that described

by Hunayn. We also have a note written in the year 600 AD in a Peshitta Psalter which

²⁹⁶ For discussion of the precise meanings of *maqryānā* and *mhagyānā*, which I have rendered rather blandly as 'teacher' and 'instructor,' respectively, here, see, A. Vööbus, *The Statutes of the School of Nisibis* (Stockholm, 1961), p. 83, n. 41 and n. 42. The former's job likely included instruction in grammar as well as instruction in liturgical reading and chanting; the latter perhaps was responsible for teaching elementary reading and for helping the student overcome the differences between the demotic and classical languages.

is even more explicit about manuscript collation being undertaken by two individuals,

as we saw in Hunayn and the Paris Organon:

In the year 911 [AG] this book was collated in the holy congregation of Ramshā. Samuel and Matai, from the Monastery of the Easterners in Edessa, made the collation when they had gone out of their monastery in exile ($\dot{\epsilon}\xi o\rho(\alpha)$), in the days of Maurice the Emperor and Domitian, the bishop of Melitene. It was collated with great care from a manuscript possessed by the Monastery of the Easterners. Now then, do not erase a point from it! And do not edit it and rely upon your knowledge, O man! But know that you will give a response to God and will be reckoned as one who despoils the sanctuary!²⁹⁸

The Sixth Book of the Select Epistles of Severos of Antioch contains a note which suggests

that two people were involved in its production. It was translated in AD 669 by

Athanasios of Nisibis (who may or may not have been the same person as Athanasios II

of Balad²⁹⁹); another individual, a priest named Severos, may have written down the

text at the dictation of Athanasios. This is how Wright understood the Syriac of the

note.³⁰⁰ Brooks understood it in a similar way, rendering it:

Translated from Greek into Syriac by the religious presbyter Athanasius of Nisibis and written at his dictation by the devout presbyter Severus, at the instance of the saintly bishops, Matthew of the city of Berrhoea and Daniel of the city of Edessa, in the year nine hundred and eighty of the Greeks. But for our Lord's sake, let every reader pray for them!³⁰¹

²⁹⁹ Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, p. 564 identifies Athanasios of Nisibis with Athanasios of Balad, but E.W. Brooks (in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *The Sixth Book of the Select Letters of Severus, Patriarch of Antioch in the Syriac Version of Athanasius of Nisibis*, vol. II, part I (London, 1903) p. X, n. 1) and Baumstark (*Geschichte*, p. 259) hold that they are distinct persons.

³⁰⁰ cf. Wright, *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 2, p. 564, 'Another note on the same page states that these letters were translated from the Greek by the priest Athanasius of Nisibis, who dictgated tohem to the priest Severus, at the request of Matthew, bishop of Aleppo, and Daniel, bishop of Edessa, A. Gr. 980, A.D. 669.'

³⁰¹ E.W. Brooks, ed. and trans., *The Sixth Book of the Select Letters of Severus, Patriarch of Antioch in the Syriac Version of Athanasius of Nisibis*, vol. II, part II (London, 1904), p. 464. Syriac text in idem., ed. and trans., *The Sixth Book of the Select Letters of Severus, Patriarch of Antioch, in the Syriac Version of Athanasius of*

MQBL MNH was understood by both scholars to suggest dictation; both seem to have read it as an Aph'el form—*maqbel meneh*—which, more literally might mean something like 'while Severos was facing him' or 'receiving from him.' One possible meaning of the Aph'el form of Q.B.L., however, is in fact 'to collate' or 'to compare.'³⁰² In other words, we might take this note to mean that Severos helped Athanasios collate the book which was translated and that more than just mere dictation was going on. Regardless of how the note is read, however, it is further evidence for team production of texts.

And there is more of the same. A manuscript containing Peshitta 1 Kings and part of 2 Kings, written in 724 AD—that is, the late Umayyad period, over eight decades before Ḥunayn's birth—contains another witness to such group efforts at collation, stating, 'Theodosios of Tella and the brother Abraham, from the Monastery of the Thorns, collated this book. Let everyone who reads [it], pray for them!'³⁰³ Another manuscript, from the same year, 724 AD, and containing Peshitta Numbers, reflects perhaps most explicitly the same sort of collational activity that Ḥunayn spoke about undertaking with Salmawayh, though in this case, the collation was Syriac-Syriac and not Greek-Arabic. 'Our Lord Jesus the Messiah,' a note probably written in 817 AD, when Hunayn was a boy of perhaps eight, implores

³⁰² See Y. Manna, Qāmūs kaldānī-'arabī (Beirut, 1975), s.v. qbal (the fourth meaning given for aqbel, p. 653, is qābala, 'āraḍa al-kitāb. Qābala is the standard verb for collation used by Ḥunayn and in the Paris Organon.)

³⁰³ BL Add. 14,430. See Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, p. 16: בערה מאה גער איר גער אין גער אין גער אין גער אין גער אין אין אין אין גער אין גער אין גער אין גער אין גער אין

have mercy on the feeble, sinful and miserable (man), who has need of the mercy of God, Rūbīl the sinful deacon, who read this Testament with his master Mār Abraham Ḥaḥunāyā (?); and they inserted (words) in it, and restored (injured passages) in it, and made erasures from it; but this they did only where it was proper. Lord, give a blessing, that every one who reads in these books may pray for Rūbīl the sinner, who sewed, and read, and renovated, and for Abraham his master abundantly and especially...³⁰⁴

Indeed, the practice of collating manuscripts by Syriac-speaking scribes and scholars

would continue well into the Middle Ages. 'With the help of God,' a subscription in a

manuscript dated AD 1234 and containing the Four Gospels, begins

the Gospel according to John, the Holy Apostle, is ended, along with the other three Evangelists, his companions—Matthew, Mark, Luke—according to the true and precise translation of Thomas of Harkel, which was collated from four accurate manuscripts and which was also confirmed and verified at the hands of the late Mar Dionysios, the Bishop of Amīd, who is Jacob bar Ṣalībī [d. 1171 AD] and now with the righteous...³⁰⁵

We can see some of the effects of this collation in notes in manuscripts. A short note

prefaced to Psalm 151 in the Syro-Hexapla informs the reader that 'In the case of this

Pslam, it has written, 'of David,' but it is outside the [established] number; it is not,

³⁰⁴ BL Add. 14,428. Translation by Wright. See idem., Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, p. 9: حماحیه که مخسم حل انتخاب می مندی که مندی می به مندی می از British Museum, vol. 1, p. 9: حماحیه که مخسم حل انتخاب منهای الدیلی مندی که مندی که مندی می منافع المناخ مندی که مندی که

³⁰⁵ BL Add. 17,124, see Wright, *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 1, p. 42. مراجع المحمد من محمد المحمد ال

therefore, found in all manuscripts.³⁰⁶ At some point in the ninth century, a scribe, who had no doubt been involved in collation, inserted John 7:50-8:12—the *pericope adultera*—in the Harklean translation into fifth- or sixth-century manuscript of the Peshitta New Testament. 'This passage (σύνταξις) is not found in all manuscripts,' a note added before the text reads, 'but the Abbat Mar Paul found it in one of the Alexandrian manuscripts and translated it from Greek into Syriac, as it is found here.'³⁰⁷ Translation might also be accomplished by a pair working together. Sergios of Resh'ayna's (d. 536) *Introduction* to Aristotle's *Categories* was written for Theodore, the Bishop of Karkh. At the beginning of this work, Sergios speaks of having worked on translating some of the works of Galen with the help of Theodore: 'When we were translating certain works of the doctor Galen from Greek into Syriac,' he writes, 'I used to translate, while you would write it down after me, correcting the Syriac wording, in accordance with the requirements of the idiom of this language.'³⁰⁸

Looking outside of Syriac evidence, it become apparent that the sorts of practices we have been discussing were phenomena characteristic of manuscript culture across the Late Antique world. A sixth- or seventh-century note in the famous Codex Sinaiticus, for example, indicates that it underwent an oral collation and collating books orally in pairs is in fact a practice for which we have both Greek and

³⁰⁶ See A.M. Ceriani, ed., Codex Syro-Hexaplaris Ambrosianus Photolithographice editus (Monumenta sacra et Profana ex Codicibus Praesertim, vol. 7) (Milan, 1874), fol. 38v. جאج. حجادت من من من من من من من من م

³⁰⁷ BL Add. 14,470, see Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, pp. 40-41. مصلحمیت که حملامی بی تنسبه معددسته. به با محمد متر همکم. حسد هر بی تنسبه ۲۰۰ مرد مرد می از هما ما حمد می از هم است. بی مرد می از هم ا

³⁰⁸ Translation S.P. Brock in *idem.*, A *Brief Outline of Syriac Literature* (Kottayam, 1997), p. 202. For this Theodore as Theodore the Bishop of Karkh Juddan, see Brock's comments, p. 201.

Latin evidence going back to at least the early fourth-century AD.³⁰⁹ The philological techniques employed by Hunayn and the Paris *Organon* extend back deep into the heart of the Roman period.

As was earlier the case, another remarkable letter (no. 47) of the Nestorian Patriarch Timothy I, the head of Ḥunayn's church whose life overlapped with Ḥunayn's for about a decade and a half, provides a vivid illustration of the persistence of Late Antique scribal practices evidenced in the texts surveyed thus far into the 'Abbasid period and into Ḥunayn's own lifetime in a Syriac context.

Letter 47 was written to Sergios, the bishop of Elam, in probably ca. 796-797 AD³¹⁰ and deals with the production of copies of the Syro-Hexapla, a seventh-century translation of the fifth column of Origen's *Hexapla*, which was Origen's own revised translation of the Septuagint.³¹¹ The Syro-Hexapla was translated by the Miaphysite Paul of Tella and Timothy I has been credited with initiating its use in the East Syrian Church.³¹² Timothy begins the letter by noting that he obtained a copy of the Syro-Hexapla, 'written on sheets [χάρται] using the Nisibene format,' by means of the

³⁰⁹ T.C. Skeat, 'The Use of Dictation in Ancient Book Production,' *Proceedings of the British Academy* 42 (1956), pp. 193-194 reproduces the colophon with an ET. Skeat shows on p. 194 that the collation note from Origen's *Hexapla* was written ca. 309. Skeat also cites a colophon to a work of Irenaeus (Hist. Eccles. V.20.2) which shows that individual collation was also a scribal practice. For more Greek and Latin evidence for collation in pairs, see P. Petitmengin and B. Flusin, 'Le livre antique et la dictée: nouvelles recherches,' in *Mémorial André-Jean Festugière: antiquité païenne et chrétienne* (Genève, 1984), pp. 249-251. See also the reports of early Muslims comparing different codices of the Quran together in the period before the 'Uthmānic recension of the text had gained hegemony in Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-maṣāḥif* (Cairo, 1936), pp. 156-157.

³¹⁰ See R.J. Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I (Studi e Testi 187) (Rome, 1956), p. 71. NB, however, that Brock suggests the letter was 'written towards the end of Timothy's life' in 828. See idem., A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature, p. 245.

³¹¹ On the fifth column, see N. Fernández Marcos, *Introducción a las Versiones Griegas de la Biblia*, 2nd ed., (Madrid, 1998), pp. 217-224; and K.H. Jobes and M. Silva, *Invitation to the Septuagint* (Grand Rapids, 2000), pp. 51-53.

³¹² cf. B. ter Haar Romeny, 'The Syriac Versions of the Old Testament,' in *Nos sources: arts et littérature syriaques* (Antélias, 2005), p. 82 and in general, *idem.*, 'Biblical Studies in the Church of the East: The Case of Catholicos Timothy I,' in *Studia Patristica* vol. 34, edd. M.F. Wiles, E.J. Yarnold and P.M. Parvis (Leuven, 2001), pp. 503-510.

'diligence of our brother Gabriel [b. Bukhtīshū'] synkellos [σύγκελλος] of the resplendent caliph.'³¹³ This is the same Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū' who appears as a patron in the *Risāla* now showing up as being involved in the production of not just 'secular' medical works, but also of Christian texts. Seven different works of Galen were translated for him by either Ḥunayn or by Job of Edessa;³¹⁴ in fact, Ḥunayn's very first translation of a text of Galen, (no. 17) *On the Classes of Fevers*, was executed for Gabriel.³¹⁵ Here in *Letter 47* we see Gabriel obtaining a copy of a Syriac biblical manuscript; in the *Risāla*, however, as we have already mentioned, we hear of Gabriel seeking out a copy of Galen's *On Demonstration* 'with great care', though only finding 'some sections of it,' some different from the ones Ḥunayn had located. Job of Edessa, we are told, 'translated for [Gabriel] what he had found of it.'³¹⁶

When Gabriel had secured a copy of the Syro-Hexapla for Timothy, he had apparently asked that several copies be written out for him. Timothy provides a revealing image of the process by which Biblical manuscripts were produced:

We hired six scribes and two people to dictate, who dictated to the scribes from the text of the exemplar. We wrote out the entire Old Testament, with Chronicles, Ezra, Susanna, Esther and Judith, producing three manuscripts, one for us and two for the resplendent Gabriel; of those two, one was for Gabriel

³¹³ Trans. Brock, A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature, p. 246. For the Syriac text, see O. Braun, 'Ein Brief des Katholikos Timotheos I über biblische Studien des 9 Jahrhunderts,' Oriens Christianus 1 (1901), p. 300: הבאהב בל מדאימא בכיבא הארא נים נביא העפילה איני געובן וביא,

³¹⁴ See Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq (page numbers refer to the Arabic text): Translated by Hunayn: no. 13, On Natural Powers, pp. 10-11 (translated when Hunayn was about 17 years old); no. 17, On the Classes of Fevers, p. 15; no. 43, On the Arteries (translated when Hunayn was a young man), pp. 25-26; no. 108, On the Substance of the Soul, what it is, according to the Opinions of Asklepiades, pp. 45-46 (translated when Hunayn was a young man). Translated by Job: no. 16, On Pulse (a partial translation), pp. 14-15; no. 21, On the Treatment of Anatomy, pp. 15-16; no. 115, On Demonstration, pp. 47-48.

³¹⁵ See Bergsträsser, *Hunain ibn Ishāq*, p. 15 (Arabic text) (GT p. 12): 'Sergios made a translation of this book which was not praiseworthy. I myself translated it first for Gabriel b. Bukhtīshū', while I was a young man and this was the first book I translated of the books of Galen into Syriac. Then, after I became a grown man, I scrutinized it and found defects in it, so I fixed it with care. I corrected it when I wanted a copy for my son and I also translated it into Arabic for Abū al-Ḥasan Aḥmad b. Mūsā.'

³¹⁶ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 47 (Arabic text) (GT p. 39), with reference to idem., Neue Materialien, pp. 22-23.

himself, and the other for Beth Lapat [sc. Jundīsābūr], for this is what Gabriel had instructed in writing. The manuscripts have now been written out with much diligence and care, at the expense of great trouble and much labour, over six months more or less.³¹⁷

The Syro-Hexapla, as we will see in a little bit, was equipped with a sophisticated

textual-critical apparatus which employed the Aristarchian signs employed in Origen's

Hexapla.³¹⁸ The presence of copious textual variants and critical symbols meant that

copying out the manuscripts represented a particularly difficult task. 'For no text is so

difficult to copy out or read as this,' Timothy continued,

seeing that there are so many things in the margin, I mean readings of Aquila, Theodotion, Symmachus and others, taking up almost as much space as the text of the Septuagint in the body of the manuscript. There are also a large number of different signs above them—how many, it is not possible for anyone to say.³¹⁹

We have been interested in the question of the collation of manuscripts and Timothy

provides us with perhaps the clearest description of the process which we possess in

Syriac:

The copying was done as far as possible using correction, seeing that it had been made from dictation; the copies were gone over a second time and read out. As a result of the excessive labor and work of correction, my eyes were harmed and I nearly lost my sight—you can get an idea of the weakness of our vision from these shapeless letters that we are writing now. Even the exemplar from which we were copying, however, contained errors, and most of the Greek names were

³¹⁸ On the Ἀριστάρχεια σήματα see H.B. Swete, An Introduction to the Old Testament in Greek (repr. New York, 1968), pp. 69-73.

³¹⁹ Translation Brock, A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature, p. 246. Syriac text in O. Braun, 'Ein Brief des Katholikos Timotheos I über biblische Studien des 9 Jahrhunderts,' pp. 300, 302: المحمد المحمد مالية المحمد من المحمد ا محمد المحمد ال

written in reverse: the person who wrote them must have had a knowledge of Greek as weak as our own, apart only from the fact that he was not aware of the reversal of the characters he was writing, whereas we were at least aware of that! For he had not noticed the replacement and interchange of the characters, sometimes writing the letter chi in place of kappa, and zeta in place of chi, as well as putting all sorts of other things. We, however, recognized the situation. At the end of every biblical book the following was written: "This was written, collated and compared with the exemplar of Eusebius, Pamphilius and Origen." This then, is the way the Hexapla had been copied.³²⁰

The continuity in practice in book production which existed between the Late Antique and 'Islamic' periods in the Syriac tradition can be seen by simply comparing Timothy's statements with the colophons and evidence adduced above. Furthermore, like collation in pairs, the practice of producing manuscripts through dictation is one which we have evidence from centuries before the 'Abbasid period. A colophon to a manuscript containing the *De Incarnatione* of Athanasios, for example, written in 564 AD, asks for the favor of God 'upon John the scribe, priest (and) scribe of Edessa who wrote (this book), and upon Leontios of Jerusalem, a brother who dwells in the same monastery [sc. Bayt Mar Qurga] who dictated to the scribe.'³²¹

³²⁰ Translation Brock, A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature, pp. 246-247. Syriac text in O. Braun, 'Ein Brief des Katholikos Timotheos I über biblische Studien des 9 Jahrhunderts,' pp. 302, 304: حجم المع المحمد المحم

Collation Again: Multilingual Collation

Hunayn is famous for undertaking the collation of manuscripts across languages—Greek, Syriac and Arabic—and it may be objected that I have only adduced examples of Syriac-speaking scholars collating Syriac manuscripts with other Syriac manuscripts. Such an objection, however fails, because we also possess evidence that Syriac-speaking scholars were engaged in multi-lingual comparisons of manuscripts well before Hunayn's lifetime. As I have already mentioned, Paul of Edessa would translate the *Hymns* of Severos of Antioch, along with the hymns of John bar Aphtonia and others, into Syriac in the early seventh century and later in that same century; later, Paul's translation of these same hymns would be revised by Jacob of Edessa. The autograph of Jacob's translation in fact, written in 675 AD, still survives.³²² Jacob appended to the end of his translation a note which provided the history of the text and which also represents another witness to the existence of sophisticated multilingual philological technique in the Syriac tradition before Hunayn. The hymns, Jacob wrote,

have been translated from the Greek tongue into the Edessene or Syriac speech by the saintly Mar Paul who was bishop of the city of Edessa, while he was on the island of Cyprus, in flight from the Persians. And they have been with great care and love of toil [sc. $\varphi \iota \lambda o \pi o v i \alpha$] corrected and compared with the Greek manuscripts with all possible accuracy by me the poor and sinful Jacob the lover of toil [sc. $\varphi \iota \lambda o \pi o v o \zeta$] ... and with all the carefulness in my power I have distinguished between the words of the teacher and those that were added by the same Mar Paul in order that the number of rhythmical divisions might be equal when the words are pronounced, on account of the brevity and succinctness of the expressions of this Syriac language in comparison with the Greek language, by writing the words of the teacher in ink, and writing those that were added in red paint ($\sigma \eta \rho \iota \kappa \delta v$); while the words which the translator altered, for the same reason, inserting one expression in place of another, in order that the measure of the period might agree with the rhythm of the Greek

³²² BL Add. 17, 134, Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, pp. 330-

words, I have written for you in small, fine letters above the same groups of words between the lines, in order that you may easily know how they stand in the Greek whenever you wish to do so; and how the proofs and testimonies from the scriptural words of the Holy Scriptures in the hymns themselves run, without variation and without addition or diminution.³²³

Jacob also executed a partial revision of the Syriac text of the Old Testament where he

engaged in a similar process of collating across languages. In this instance, however, he

drew upon not just Greek manuscripts but also other Syriac versions when producing

his translation. At the end of his translation of the book of Numbers, a colophon reads:

Corrected from the two traditions—from that of the Syrians and from that of the Greeks—by the venerable Jacob, the Bishop of Edessa. [In] the year 1016 of Seleucus the King of the Greeks, in the month of October, in the great monastery of Tel 'Ada.³²⁴

Similarly, the colophon to Jacob's revision of 1 Samuel reads:

This First Book of the Kingdoms was corrected as far as possible and with much difficulty from the different traditions—from that of the Syrians and from those of the Greeks—by the holy Jacob bishop of Edessa, in the 1016th year of the Calendar of the Greeks [AD 705], or rather of King Seleucus, the third indiction, in the great monastery of Tel 'Ada.³²⁵

³²³ Translation E.W. Brooks, The Hymns of Severus and Others in the Syriac Version of Paul of Edessa as Revised by James of Edessa in R. Graffin and F. Nau, edd., Patrologia Orientalis vol. 7, (Paris, 1911), pp. 801-802. I have slightly altered his translation. The are shown in the strain the series of the stranslation. The area of the strain the series of the strain of the strans of the strain of the

³²⁵ Translation A. Salvesen, The Books of Samuel in the Syriac Version of Jacob of Edessa (Leiden, 1999), p. 67 (English section). I slightly altered the spelling of 'Tel 'Ada.' Syriac text in *ibid.*, p. 90, مەرىكى مەرىكى مەرىكى تەرىكى تەرىكى تەرىكى خىمىكى دۇ مەمىكى خىمىكى تەرىكى تەرىكى خىمىكى تەرىكى تەرىكى تەرىكى تەر

Careful study of Jacob's revison of 1 and 2 Samuel and a portion of 1 Kings has clarified just what exactly Jacob meant in this colophon. His translation was a revision of the Peshitta, and in undertaking this revision of the Peshitta, he relied most heavily on a Greek text from the Lucianic tradition of the Septuagint, though he also had recourse to the Syro-Hexaplaric version of the OT for his new renderings.³²⁶ In other words, over a century before the birth of Ḥunayn and decades before the 'Abbasid revolution we have a scholar collating Greek and Syriac texts to produce an improved translation.

But of course, Jacob was not unique in employing this type of philological technique. Several years before Paul of Edessa executed his translation of the *Homilies* of Severos and others, one of the most impressive philological feats in the entire Syriac tradition was carried out by Thomas of Harkel, a scholar who, like Paul and Jacob, had been educated in the monastery of Qenneshre. In 616-617 AD, Thomas made a revision of the New Testament translation of Philoxenos. Whereas Philoxenos' motivation for sponsoring a revision of the Peshitta NT had been theological, as we have seen, studying the differences between the Harklean text and the remainders of the Philoxenian text that have survived only as quotations in Philoxenos' writings indicates that Thomas of Harkel's motivation seemed to have been philological—he sought to

³²⁶ The basis of his revision was the Peshitta text. For this and the relative dependency of Jacob's revision on Greek and Syro-Hexaplaric traditions, see R. Saley's conclusions in *The Samuel Manuscript of Jacob of Edessa: A Study in Its Underlying Textual Traditions* (Leiden, 1998), pp. 118-121.

bring the text of the Syriac New Testament into more direct formal equivalence with the Greek original.³²⁷ The colophon attached to the Harklean Gospels refers to the history of the Philoxenian version which Thomas revised and also offers an example of the same sort of bilingual collation that we see in the *Risāla*:

This is the book of the four Holy Gospels which was translated from the Greek language into Syriac with great precision and and much care, at first in the city of Mabbug in the year 819 of Alexander the Macedonian [508 AD], in the days of the venerable Mar Philoxenos the confessor, the bishop of the city. Afterwards, it was revised³²⁸ with great diligence by me, Thomas the poor, on the basis of two³²⁹ Greek manuscripts which are extremely accurate and precise, in the Enaton of the great city of Alexandria, in the holy monastery of the Antonine monks. Moreover, it was written and collated in the aforementioned place in the year 927 of Alexander, the fourth indiction [616 AD]. As to how much toil and diligence I had over it and its companion volumes, the Lord—who will recompense each person for his deeds with His righteous and correct judgment, through which we will be found worthy of the mercies which come from Him—alone knows.³³⁰

At exactly the same time and in precisely the same monastery of the Antonine monks

where Thomas of Harkel was working at the Enaton outside of Alexandria, another

man, Paul, bishop of Tella, was busy producing a hyper-literal mirror translation of

³²⁷ For this, see S.P. Brock's 'The Resolution of the Philoxenian/Harclean Problem,' in *New Testament Textual Criticism: Its Significance for Exegesis. Essays in Honor of Bruce M. Metzger*, edd. E.J. Epp and G.D. Fee (Oxford, 1981), esp. pp. 336-341 and also *idem.*, 'Towards a History of Syriac Translation Technique,' *Orientalia Christiana Analecta* 221 (1983), p. 9, reprinted in *idem., Studies in Syriac Christianity: History, Literature, and Theology* (Hampshire, 1992), article X.

³²⁸ *etpaḥḥam*, literally 'collated,' but here, the word must mean 'revised' given Brock's findings about the relationship between the Philoxenian and Harklean versions. For the disagreement about the meaning of this particular word in this colophon, see Brock, 'Resolution of the Philoxenian/Harklean Problem,' p. 326.

³²⁹ In the margin 'three' is written.

³³⁰ Colophon Found in Vat Syr 268, prepared by A. Juckel and printed in G.A. Kiraz, Comparative Edition of the Syriac Gospels: Aligning the Sinaiticus, Curetonianus, Peshitta and Harklean Versions, 2nd ed., vol. 4 (Piscataway, NJ, 2002), p. 369: مععامت، دعمت مركعا حرمت من منه منه منه المحمة من محمد منه منه المحمة منه المحمة منه منه المحمة منه المحمة منه المحمة منه منه المحمة منه المحمة منه المحمة منه المحمة منه منه المحمة المحمة المحمة منه منه المحمة المحمة منه منه المحمة منه المحمة منه منه منه المحمة ا

Origen's revision of the Septuagint, between 615 and 617, known as the Syro-Hexapla.³³¹ As with Thomas of Harkel, Paul of Tella used more than one Greek manuscript in producing his Syriac translation of the Biblical text. The colophon to Paul's translation of Exodus even reports manuscript collation which his own Greek text had previously undergone as well as collation of the Hebrew text of the Bible at the hands of Origen. 'The book of Exodus, according to the translation of the LXX.,' Paul's colophon reads,

is ended. In the exemplar from which it was translated into the Syriac tongue was this epigraph: 'Taken from a (copy of the) Hexapla, which (was arranged) according to the (different) versions, and collated with one which was furnished with the (various readings of the) versions.' This (copy of) Exodus was also collated with an accurate exemplar, in which was this epigraph: 'The translation of the LXX. was transcribed from (a manuscript of) the Hexapla, in which the Hebrew (text) was collated according to the Hebrew (text) of the Samaritans.' And (this manuscript) was corrected by the hand of Eusebius Pamphili, as the epigraph shows; from which (manuscript) too the things taken from the Samaritan text have been previously inserted, merely as an evidence that great pains were taken with the copy.³³²

One characteristic of colophons attached to the Syro-Hexapla is that they often reproduce the colophons which were present in the Greek manuscripts from which the translations were made and these colophons allow one to see the Alexandrian philological practices of Origen entering into a Syriac-speaking context. The colophon

³³¹ Paul was perhaps helped by assistants in his translational activities. For a discussion of the date of the Syro-Hexapla, based on colophons, see A. Vööbus, *The Pentateuch in the Version of the Syro-Hexapla. A fac-similie Edition of a Midyat MS. discovered 1964* (CSCO 369: Subsidia 45) (Louvain, 1975), pp. 10-13 and on the Syro-Hexapla in general, see Brock, *The Bible in the Syriac Tradition*, pp. 27-29.

to the Minor Prophets in Ceriani's massive photolithographic edition of half of the

Syro-Hexapla provides a vivid example of one such colophon:

The book of the Twelve Prophets is ended. It was translated from the tradition of the Seventy, those who translated the Holy Scriptures from the Hebrew language to Greek in Alexandria the Great City, in the days of Ptolemy, the King of Egypt, before the coming of Christ. Now the Greek book—from which this Syriac book of the Twelve Prophets was translated—was collated, as it was inscribed in it, from an ancient manuscript (from which were also taken many things from the version [lit. tradition]) in which it was inscribed, along with these following things. 'The Twelve Prophets were taken from a manscript [written] according to the version of the Tetrapla. Pamphilios and Eusebios precisely made corrections.' This book was then translated into Syriac in the city of Alexandria in the month of January of the year 928 of Alexander [AD 617], the fifth indiction.³³³

Biblical Studies as Philological Incubator

I have already cited a number of examples from Biblical manuscripts and will cite many more examples of scholarship related to the Bible in Syriac in order to demonstrate that Hunayn was employing nothing more than a philological approach that had developed in the Syriac tradition in Late Antiquity. Though understanding the Baghdad Greco-Syriac-Arabic translation movement of secular Greek texts in the context of a tradition of Syriac scholarship that had developed with relation to biblical and patristic texts may seem to be incongruous or inappropriate, viewing men like Hunayn or Gabriel primarily as figures concerned with secular matters is a distorting

prism which obscures their firm rootedness in the traditions of Syriac-speaking Christian scholarship of Late Antiquity. It should not be forgotten that though we think of Hunayn primarily as a translator of secular texts written by authors like Galen and Aristotle, he was also a Biblical translator who found time to carry out a translation of the Septuagint into Arabic which was regarded by many of his time as the most sound available.³³⁴ Moreover, Hunayn was a deacon in the church and wrote at least nine separate works on religious topics.³³⁵ Timothy's *Letter* 47 on the Syro-Hexapla and Biblical and patristic scholarship in the Late Antique Syriac tradition is, therefore, very germane to providing a proper and full context to the celebrated translational activities of ninth-century Baghdad. As a Biblical translator, Hunayn would have been keenly aware of the diversity of versions in Syriac, in addition to the variety of translations available of other patristic texts. His activities of translating and revising the works of Galen represented an application to the domain of philosophy techniques that Syriac-speaking scholars had developed in the area of Biblical and patristic translation. Viewing these different areas of translation and study in isolation from one another forces an artificial distinction on the material—often the same men worked on both biblical or patristic 'religious' texts as well as philosophical 'secular' ones. In addition to his translation of Aristotle's Κατηγορίαι, for example, Jacob of

³³⁴ See S. K. Samir, 'Maqāla fī 'l-ājāl li-Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq,' *al-Machriq* 65 (1991), p. 414. This translation is unfortunately no longer extant, see Brock, 'The Syriac Background to Ḥunayn's Translation Techniques,' p. 153.

³³⁵ See S.K. Samir, 'Maqāla fī 'l-ājāl li-Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq,' pp. 413-414, for a listing of ten different works by Ḥunayn which had a religious character (one of these was his Biblical translation). See *ibid.*, p. 404 for Ḥunayn as a deacon (which Samir infers from medieval reports that he wore a *zunnār*). For the report that Ḥunayn 'would wear a *zunnār*,' see Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 262.

Edessa also made a revision of the Old Testament and also revised translations of the *Cathedral Homilies* and *Hymns* of Severos of Antioch.³³⁶

Both Hunayn and the Paris *Organon* could at times adopt a critical attitude toward previous translations, as we have seen. Such an awareness of deficiencies in previous translations can be readily found in the Syriac scholarly tradition out of which both Hunayn and the Paris *Organon* emerged; this was not some unique sensibility that only appeared once Muslim patrons began funding secular translations. It was a part of the internal dynamic of the Syriac tradition and was a development which surfaced as attitudes changed towards translation technique and what different estimations of what amounted to a good translation evolved.

I have already indicated that one hallmark of the Greco-Syriac tradition is the constant retranslation of previously translated texts as attitudes towards what made for a desirable translation shifted between the fourth and seventh centuries. The various revisions and fresh translations of different philosophical texts evidenced in the marginalia of the Paris *Organon* and the medical translations referred to in the *Risāla* are only two examples of this phenomenon. I have just mentioned Jacob of Edessa's work in this area: he revised the sixth-century translation of the *Cathedral Homilies* of Severos of Antioch made by Paul of Kallinikos as well as the early seventh-century translation of the *Hymns* of Severos and others made by Paul of Edessa. But more than

³³⁶ On Jacob's revision of the Old Testament, see W. Baars, 'Ein Neugefundenes Bruchstück aus der Syrischen Bibelrevision des Jakob von Edessa,' *Vetus Testamentum* 18 (1968), pp. 548-554; A. Salvesen, 'The Purpose of Jacob of Edessa's Version of Samuel,' *The Harp* 8-9 (July 1995-1996), pp. 117-126 and *idem.*, *The Books of Samuel in the Syriac Version of Jacob of Edessa* (Leiden, 1999), pp. ix-xv. On his revision of Paul of Kallinikos's translation of the *Cathedral Homilies* of Severos, see M. Brière, 'Introduction générale aux homélies de Sévère d'Antioche,' in *Les homilae cathedrales de Sévère d'Antioche: traduction syriaque de Jacques d'Édesse* (PO 29) (Paris, 1960), pp. 7-72. On the translation of the *Hymns* of Severos and others, see E.W. Brooks, *The Hymns of Severus and Others in the Syriac Version of Paul of Edessa as revised by James of Edessa*, (PO 6) (Paris, 1911), pp. 5-7.

Severos experienced revision.³³⁷ Basil of Caesarea's *De Spiritu Sancto* was translated in the late fourth century and then re-translated most likely in the seventh.³³⁸ Similarly, a collection of twenty-eight homilies of Basil was translated into Syriac in the fifth century and another version was then produced in the seventh.³³⁹ There furthermore seem to have been two translations of the *Constitutiones Asceticae*, attributed to Basil in the Syriac tradition. There also may have been two translations of Basil's *Hexaemeron*, one done by Athanasios II of Balad in AD 666-667.³⁴⁰ The works of (Ps) Dionysios were first translated into Syriac in the sixth century by Sergios of Resh'ayna and then revised by Phokas of Edessa in the late seventh century and may have also been retranslated or revised by Athanasios II of Balad in the seventh century as well.³⁴¹ The current underdeveloped state of research on the works of Gregory of Nyssa in Syriac

³³⁷ For what follows, I rely in part on D. King, 'Paul of Callinicum and his place in Syriac Literature,' *Le muséon* 120 (2007), pp. 327-349, esp. 327-328.

³³⁸ See D.G.K. Taylor, *The Syriac Versions of the* De Spiritu Sancto by Basil of Caesarea, (CSCO 576: SS 228) (Louvain, 1999), pp. XXV-XLII.

³³⁹ See P.J. Fedwick, 'The Translations of the Works of Basil before 1400,' in *idem., Basil of Caesarea: Christian, Humanist, Ascetic: A Sixteen-Hundredth Anniversary Symposium*, vol. 2 (Toronto, 1981), pp. 449-451 and S.P. Brock, 'Basil's *Homily on Deut. xv 9*: Some remarks on the Syriac manuscript tradition,' in J. Dümmer, ed., *Texte und Textkritik: Eine Aufsatzsammlung* (Berlin, 1987), pp. 62-66. On the homilies, also see S.P. Brock, 'Traduzioni Siriache degli Scritti di Basilio,' in *Basilio tra Oriente e Occidente*, edd. É. Baudry, S. Brock, et al. (Magnano, BI, 2001), pp. 168-173. This latter article contains valuable information about the manuscript tradition of the works of Basil in Syriac.

³⁴⁰ For these points, see Fedwick, 'The Translations of the Works of Basil before 1400,' pp. 448-449. See also I. Barsoum's comments (*al-Lu'lu' al-manthūr fī ta'rīkh al-'ulūm wa-'l-ādāb al-suryāniyya* (repr. Glane, 1975), p. 590) about MS Za'farān 241 containing references to a translation of Basil's *Hexaemeron* by Athanasios in AD 666-667.

³⁴¹ On the Syriac translations of the corpus of Ps.-Dionysios, see Strothmann, *Das Sakrament der Myron-Weihe*, vol. 2, pp. XI-LX, esp. pp. XII, XIX-XXXII and P. Sherwood, 'Sergius of Reshaina and the Syriac Versions of the Pseudo-Denis,' *Sacris Erdiri* 4 (1952), pp. 174-184; J.-M. Hornus, 'Le corpus dionysien en syriaque,' *Parole de l'orient* 1 (1970), pp. 69-93 builds on Sherwood and corrects him. On the manuscript tradition of the Dionysian Corpus in Syriac, see G. Wiessner, *Zur Handschriftenüberlieferung der syrischen Fassung des Corpus Dionyiacum* (Göttingen, 1971). For Sergios' translation, see I. Perczel, 'Sergius of Reshaina's Syriac Translation of the *Dionysian Corpus*. Some Preliminary Remarks,' in C. Baffioni, ed., *La diffusione dell' eredità classica nell' età tardoantica e medievale: Filologia, storia, dottrina* (Alessandria, 2000) pp. 79-94. Van Esbroeck 'La triple preface syriaque de Phocas,' pp. 171-179 gives a FT of Phokas' 'triple preface' to his Syriac translation. A version by Athanasios is suggested by Timothy I's request to Pethion: 'Please search out and copy for us Dionysios in the translation of Athanasios or that of Phokas,' (trans. Brock), n. 184 and n. 185, above and also cf. I. Barsoum, *al-Lu'lu' al-manthūr fī ta'rīkh al-'ulūm wa-'l-ādāb alsuryāniyya* (repr. Glane, 1975), p. 590.

prevents us from stating whether they underwent revision or retranslation,³⁴² but we do know that Basil's 38th Epistle, actually the *De differentia essentiae et hypostaseos* of Gregory of Nyssa, was translated into Syriac and then revised at least two different times.³⁴³ The *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen were first translated at the end of the fifth century, experienced a revision in the sixth, and were revised again in 623-624 by Paul of Edessa, using a different group of Greek manuscripts. Athanasios II of Balad seems to have produced a corrected version of Paul of Edessa's translation which moved it even closer to the Greek.³⁴⁴ The poems of Gregory Nazianzen were translated in 665 by Januarios Kandidatos and then translated again in 804-805 by Theodosios of Edessa.³⁴⁵ The *Homilies* of John Chrysostom on Matthew experienced two separate translations in the fifth century.³⁴⁶ We also have two different Syriac translations of Proklos of

³⁴² See M.F.G. Parmentier, 'Syriac Translations of Gregory of Nyssa,' *Orientalia Lovaniensia Periodica* 20 (1989), pp. 143-193 for a survey of the works of Gregory of Nyssa in Syriac. Also cf. Parmentier's comments, p. 143: 'It is not easy to say whether we can assume that (at least some of) the works of Gregory of Nyssa were translated more than once.'

³⁴³ M.F.G. Parmentier, 'Gregory of Nyssa's *De differentia essentiae et hypostaseos* (CPG 3196) in Syriac translation,' in H.R. Drobner and C. Klock, edd., *Studien zu Gregor von Nyssa und der Christlichen Spätantike* (Leiden, 1990), pp. 17-55.

³⁴⁴ See J.-C. Haelewyck, *Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca I: Oratio XL* (Turnhout, 2001), pp. VI-XIII; A.B. Schmidt, *Sancti Gregorii Nazinzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca II. Orationes XIII, XLI* (Turnhout, 2002), pp. X-XII; J.-C. Haelewyck, *Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca III: Orationes XXVII, XXXVIII, XXXIX*, (Turnhout, 2005), pp. V-VI; *idem., Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca IV: Orationes XXVII, XXIX, XXX et XXXI* (Turnhout, 2007), pp. V-VI; S.P. Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia* (Cambridge, 1971), pp. 30-31. Also cf. A. de Halleux, 'La version syriaque des Discours de Grégoire de Nazianze,' in J. Mossay, ed., *II. Symposium Nazianzenum: Louvain la-Neuve, 25-28 août 1981*, (Paderborn, 1983), pp. 109-110. See also, A. Schmidt, 'The Literary Tradition of Gregory of Nazianzus in Syriac Literature and its Historical Context,' *The Harp* 11-12 (1998-1999), 127-134; cf. p. 128: 'It was in 624 that the famous translator and syriac [sic] author Paul, bishop of Edessa, subjected the homilies to a new translation. The first translation had not only been thoroughly revised, but was translated anew on the basis of different Greek manuscripts.'

³⁴⁵ See see I. Guidi, 'Di un⁷ Iscrizione Sepolcrale Siriaca e della Versione dei Carmi di S. Gregorio Nazianzeno fatta da Candidato di Âmed,' in *Actes du dixième congrès international des orientalistes. Session de Genève 1894*, part 3 (Leiden, 1896), pp. 78, 82; Bar Hebraeus, Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, vol. 1, col. 363, and Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 259, 276.

³⁴⁶ J.W. Childers, 'Chrysostom's Exegetical Homilies on the New Testament in Syriac Translation,' in E.A. Livingstone, ed., *Studia Patristica* 33 (Leuven, 1997), pp. 510-511.

Constantinople's important *Tomus ad Armenios.*³⁴⁷ Philoxenos of Mabbug sponsored a revision of the Syriac translation of the symbols of Nicaea and Constantinople in ca. 500-501.³⁴⁸ The *Explanatio Duodecim Capitulorum* of Cyril of Alexandria was translated into Syriac probably before 484 AD and then a revised translation was produced in the first half of the sixth century.³⁴⁹ The Syriac version of the *Lives of the Prophets* goes back perhaps to the sixth-century; there seems to have been some slight revision of the translation at a later date, possibly the seventh century.³⁵⁰ The *Life of Epiphanios* was probably translated into Syriac in the sixth century and then a revised translation was produced, most likely in the seventh.³⁵¹ Apart from new translations and revisions, Syriac preserves a number of Greek texts in different recensions. There is an abbreviated and a longer version of Athanasios' *Expositio in Psalmos*.³⁵² Syriac has a long

³⁴⁷ See L. van Rompay, 'Proclus of Constantinople's "Tomus Ad Armenios" in the Post-Chalcedonian Tradition,' in C. Laga, J.A. Munitiz and L. van Rompay, edd., *After Chalcedon: Studies in Theology and Church History Offered to Professor Albert van Roey for his Seventieth Birthday (Orientalia Lovaniensia Analecta* 18) (Leuven, 1985), pp. 428-433, 437-449.

³⁴⁸ See A. de Halleux, 'La philoxénienne du symbole,' in *Symposium Syriacum, 1976 : célébré du 13 au 17 septembre 1976 au Centre culturel Les Fontaines de Chantilly, France : communications* (OCA 205) (Rome, 1978), pp. 295-315.

³⁴⁹ D. King, *The Syriac Versions of the Writings of Cyril of Alexandria: A study in Translation Technique* (CSCO 626: *Subsidia* 123) (Louvain, 2008), pp. 315-318. For the dating of these translations, see pp. 356-357. King suggests the revision may date to the time of Paul of Kallinikos' work (the 520s and 530s), but also suggests that the revision may in fact have been executed before 521 AD.

³⁵⁰ See S.P. Brock, 'The *Lives of the Prophets in Syriac*: Some Soundings,' in C. Hempel and J.M. Lieu, edd., *Bibilical Traditions in Transmission* (Leiden/Boston, 2006), pp. 21-37. (cf. p. 22: 'This text represents basically the same translation, but with some revision on the basis of the Greek; this revision displays a number of of features characteristic of the translation practice of the Syrohexapla (and of the seventh century in general)...' Also cf. p. 32 for comments on this revision.

³⁵¹ See S.P. Brock, 'Two Syriac Translations of the Life of Epiphanios,' in J. Herrin, M. Mullet, and C. Otten-Froux, edd., *Mosaic: Festschrift for A.H.S. Megaw* (Athens, 2001), pp. 19-25.

³⁵² See R.W. Thomson, Athanasiana Syriaca Part IV: Expositio in Psalmos. 1. Abbreviated Version 2. Longer Version (CSCO 386-387: SS 167-168).

and a short recension of the *Life* of Anthony.³⁵³ There are also at least three different recensions of the *Physiologos* preserved in Syriac.³⁵⁴

The best known and most thoroughly studied case of translation, revision and re-translation of a particular text in the Syriac tradition is unsurprisingly that of the Syriac Bible, which saw a dizzying number of versions of both the Old and New Testaments produced between the second and seventh centuries, including the Diatessaron, the Peshitta Old Testament, the Old Syriac Gospels, the Peshitta New Testament, the Philoxenian New Testament, the Syro-Lucianic (possibly Philoxenian) Old Testament, the Harklean New Testament, the Syro-Hexaplaric Old Testament and the Old Testament revision of Jacob of Edessa.³⁵⁵ At the risk of overly schematic simplification, these translations are initially free and easy to read and become increasingly literal; by the seventh century, the Syro-Hexaplar Old Testament and the Harklean New Testament are wooden 'mirror' translations which reflect every particle of the Greek *Vorlage*. The shift has been described as being from reader-oriented to text-oriented translations.³⁵⁶

The proliferation of Biblical translations was something that Syriac-speaking Christians themselves were keenly aware of and could comment on. It is here that we

³⁵³ For both these, see R. Draguet, *La vie primitive de s. Antoine conservée en syriaque* (CSCO 417-418: SS 183-184) (Louvain, 1980).

³⁵⁴ See A. van Lantschoot, 'Fragments syriaques du Physiologus,' *Le Muséon* 72 (1959), pp. 37-38. NB: K. Ahrens, *Das 'Buch der Naturgegenstände'* (Kiel, 1892) also contains an amalgamation of material from the *Physiologos* and other sources. See *ibid.*, pp. 4-5.

³⁵⁵ The best introduction to the history of the Bible in Syriac is S.P. Brock's, *The Bible in the Syriac Tradition*, 2nd ed., (Piscataway, NJ, 2006).

³⁵⁶ Sebastian Brock has provided us with our understanding of the history of Syriac translation technique. For these points, see (among other things), his 'Towards a History of Syriac Translation Technique,' *Orientalia Christiana Analecta* 221 (1983), pp. 1-14, reprinted in *idem., Studies in Syriac Christianity: History, Literature, and Theology* (Hampshire, 1992). Also see his 'The Syriac Background to Hunayn's Translation Technique,' which takes his treatment of the history of Syriac translation technique into the Islamic period. D. King, however, provides a salutary caution against 'impos[ing] a linear model of "development" upon Syriac translation history.' See his remarks in *idem.,* 'Paul of Callinicum and his Place in Syriac Literature,' *Le Muséon* 120 (2007), pp. 337-338.

find remarks of later translators and writers on the quality of earlier translators which are akin to the critical remarks we encounter in Ḥunayn's *Risāla* and the Paris *Organon*. In his *Letter* 47, Timothy I notes that the Syro-Hexapla as a translation is quite different from the Peshitta translation which was in use among East Syrian Christians:

It has endless differences from the text which we employ. I am of the opinion that the person who translated this exemplar in our possession was working from the versions of Thedotion, Aquila and Symmachus, since for the most part there is a greater resemblance to them than to the Septuagint.³⁵⁷

Some two hundred and fifty years before Timothy penned those lines, a man named

Paphnutios wrote a letter to Moses of Aggel at some point in the middle of the sixth

century, ³⁵⁸ asking him to translate the *Glaphyra* of Cyril of Alexandria into Syriac.³⁵⁹ In

Moses' reply, which amounted to a preface to his translation of the Glaphyra, he made a

similar reference to the existence of different renderings of the Bible:

I implore the reader therefore to consider the text of this tome, for it is profound. When he finds a citation ($\chi \rho \tilde{\eta} \sigma \iota \varsigma$) from the Holy Scriptures—for they are noted in the translation—let him not be in doubt if they do not agree with the [Biblical] codices of the Syrians, since the versions and translations of the Scriptures are very diverse. If he wishes to find the truth [of this statement], he will be amazed at the differences which exist between the tradition of the Syriac [i.e., the Peshitta] and the Greek language [of the original] when he encounters the version of the New [Testament] and David [sc. the Psalms] that Polycarp, whose soul is at rest, the Chorepiscopos made into Syriac for Philoxenos of Mabbug, the faithful teacher who is worthy of good memory.³⁶⁰

³⁵⁷ Translation Brock, A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature, p. 247. Syriac text in O. Braun, 'Ein Brief des Katholikos Timotheos I über biblische Studien des 9 Jahrhunderts,' p. 304: مال جمه د میک منه د میک د ک د میک د

³⁵⁸ On Moses of Aggel see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 160-161. Assemani put his floruit ca. 550; see Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana, vol. 2 (Rome, 1721), p. 82.

אסיש איז גין לסי היא גערטין בעלא איגלים האט גערטין איז איז גין לא איז גין ארטיטין אוט איז גערטין גערטין איז איז געער פארטין גערטין גע ארא עלד גע עער גערט גערט גערט גערט גערט איז גערטין גערטין גערטין גערטין גערטין גערטין גערטין גערטין גערטין גערט

Jacob of Edessa, writing about a century and a half later, shows much of the same critical awareness of diversity in various Biblical translations. In a scholion on Joshua 8:30 ("'Joshua built an altar for the Lord God of Israel on Mount Gabala"), Jacob notes that 'In Deuteronomy, in the manuscript of the Samaritans, it is written that Moses told them to build the altar "on the Mountain of Gerazim," and not on that of Gabala.'³⁶¹ A knowledge of variants could explain a number of textual aporias and difficulties which confronted the careful student of the Bible and its history. Some have argued that Eliezer the Damascene was actually the same as Ishmael, Jacob notes in another scholion. Among the reasons that this cannot be the case is that we know who Eliezer's mother was and she was called Masek and not Hagar.

Thirdly, the name of the mother of Eliezer is known and is brought forth in the Divine Scripture here, as can be seen in the manuscripts of the Scriptures in the version of the Greeks—that which was rendered from the Hebrew language to Greek by the seventy-two translators [of] the Hebrew writings—in that, instead of these things, 'Look, I have made my my heir to be Eliezer, the son of Mesek the Damascene, my steward' [Gen. 15:2] is written. Mesek, therefore, is not Hagar and Hagar is not Mesek. Eliezer the son of Mesek is not Ishmael the son Hagar. The son of Hagar, Ishmael is not—Eliezer the son of Mesek as it

محنيه مراحك، جمعه مرحك، معمول مراحة، يحمد معنا مراحة، يهمية مراحة، الغير معنا مراحة العربية معنا مراحة العربية معنا مراحة العربية المراحة معنا مراحة المحمد المراحة المحمد المراحة المحمد المراحة المحمد المراحة المحمد المراحة المحمد المراحة المحمد المحم محمد المحمد محمد المحمد ا

³⁶¹ Syriac text in J. Assemani, Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana, vol. 1, (Rome, 1719), p. 489: הבא אמן הא היא היא גאמאי אין באני אין גערא געראי גער הער גאבי גערא גער גאבי געראי גערא

has been seen by some people to be the case. On the basis of these things, therefore, it is known that Eliezer is not Ishmael. $^{\rm 362}$

In his seventh letter to John the Stylite of Litarb, Jacob deals with questions of chronology and how many years have passed since Creation—John was unsure about just how many years that had been. There have been a number of authors of chronicles, Jacob tells John, both before and after Eusebios—he lists Africanos, Clement of Alexandria, Andraos, Magnos, Hippolytos, Metrodoros, Andronikos—but 'none of them has been able to bring forth a chronicle which agreed with that of the others, not only in the comparison and fixing of the dates of kingdoms against one another, but they also have not spoken in agreement about the number of years in an era. Instead, some have recorded more [years], some have written down less.' The explanation for the diversity of chronological schema was very easily explained: 'This is,' Jacob wrote, 'because of differences in their versions of the Holy Scriptures.'³⁶³ Jacob would appeal

to differing Biblical versions more than once in his correspondence with John. In his thirteenth letter to this stylite, written between 704 and 708,³⁶⁴ Jacob takes up the question of a textual variant in Jonah 3:4:

Now concerning the matter of 'forty days' or 'three,' I have the following to say. In the versions³⁶⁵ of the Greeks, 'three days' is written and not 'forty.' Know well that, for my part, I agree with the reading 'three days' because it would have caused more amazement for the people: it was alarming and brought about sorrow that leads to fear and repentance—moreso than the reading 'forty' would have, implicit in which is much delay and which would have given them the ease of thinking either that the reality [of Nineveh's imminent destruction] was not true or that, if it was true, they could flee and leave the city, going out from it and remaining far away from it until the ordained period had passed.³⁶⁶

Jacob's correspondent, John of Litarb (who also exchanged letters with George of the

Arabs) was a very close reader of the Scripture. Even the smallest detail might trigger a

question. Some of the most challenging passages for translators both today and in the

early medieval world were ones with rare vocabulary words. A single verse in 2 Kings 4

referred to some sort of wild fruit and John wanted to know which fruit exactly it was:

You have also asked, 'what are these fruits of the wild vine, about which it is written that one of the sons of the prophets gathered and threw into a pot $(\kappa \alpha \delta o \varsigma)$ '?³⁶⁷

איר הכווה ביא האה א השאר א אינא א איי ובאר א איי א אייי א איי א א

³⁶⁴ For this date, see F. Nau, 'Traduction des lettres XII et XIII de Jacques d'Édesse (exégèse biblique)' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 10 (1905), p. 197.

³⁶⁵ Lit. 'traditions.'

Jacob, however, was unable to answer. The manuscript tradition in Greek and in Syriac

disagreed, he explained, and he was left to simply outline the divergences in the

tradition and fall back upon his own speculation in the case of this textual difficulty.

Now, concerning things like these, O Brother, you researcher and lover of labor (sc. $φ_i \lambda \delta \pi o v o \varsigma$), know well that neither I nor someone else can decide the matter with precision, since what is written in manuscripts among the Syrians as 'wild vine,' is written 'young plant in the field' among the Greeks, and instead of 'fruits,' 'wild cucumbers,' and instead of 'went out to collect wild herbs,' 'to collect ari \bar{u} th' (sc. $\alpha \rho \omega \theta$) is written in manuscripts among the Greeks. 'Ari \bar{u} th' is a Hebrew word which is unknown, even to me and even to the Greeks who called it thus in their Scriptures. As to what it is, therefore, do not marvel that I have said that I do not have a ready response concerning things like this, because I do not completely rely in my answers to you on Hebrew vocabulary. Indeed, know this: he who goes out to collect wild herbs in a time of famine collects many things—even things which are not eaten—on account of his want. So perhaps we can say—since 'young plant [of the field]' and 'cucumbers of the field' are written-either that these things, which are called 'colocynths,' and from whose contents remedies are made, were an astringent and purgative medicine, or perhaps that these are those things which country people customarily call 'wild gourds.' But after all these things, I will say this: as to what is true here, I can by no means say.³⁶⁸

Jacob's friend, George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes, was also aware of the existence of

different Biblical versions and the divergences among them and, he, too, had opinions

as to which version was the most trustworthy. In a letter written to a recluse named

Joshua in AD 714, George takes up a number of issues which Joshua had raised relating to the *Demonstrations* of the fourth-century writer Aphrahat. One of these centered around the ages of several of the Patriarchs as reported by Aphrahat. The problem, George points out, is one of different Biblical versions:

So, in the Demonstration 'On the Cluster of Grapes,' [Aphrahat] said that Noah lived until 58 years of the life of Abraham, who was in Ur of the Chaldeans and that it was there that he died and was buried. Furthermore, concerning Shem, he said that he lived until 52 years of the life of Jacob. Know, therefore, O lover of instruction, that this writer made all his calculations according to the tradition of the Jews and not according to the Septuagint translation or according to the tradition of the Samaritans, as you yourself wrote me before.

Once he has identified the source of the difficulty, George offers a clear prescription for

its remedy:

But as for you, cling to the tradition which is in accordance with the Septuagint and follow it, especially in the issue of the years of the chief of the Patriarchs, because learned writers bear witness that [the LXX version] is more true than these others. You should hold³⁶⁹ that from Adam to the Flood, there were 2242 years, and from the Flood until Abraham, there are 943 years and from Adam until Abraham, there are 3185 years. From Abraham until Israel's Exodus from Egypt, there are 515 years, and from the Exodus until the beginning of the building of the Temple, there are 480 years, as it is written in the Book of Kings.³⁷⁰ From the beginning of the building of the Temple until its burning by Nebuchadnezzar, there are 441 years. From the burning of the temple until the beginning of the Greeks, there are 280 years. In sum, therefore, from Adam until the Era of the Greeks, there are 4901 years and from Adam until this [present] year of the Greeks, 1025, there are 5926 years, there being 74 years lacking from 6,000.³⁷¹

³⁶⁹ Lit., 'Cling and follow, holding that...'

³⁷⁰ 1 Kings 6:1

Apart from such explicit references to and discussions of different Biblical translations in Syriac authors, we have the physical evidence of Biblical manuscripts themselves whose margins were littered with variant readings from different versions-the late antique or early medieval equivalent of an apparatus criticus.³⁷² 'The margins are thickly covered with notes,' Wright wrote of a manuscript of the book of Syro-Hexplaric translation of the Psalms, copied in the first half of the eighth century, 'consisting chiefly of the various readings of Aquila, Symmachus, Theodotion, the Quinta and the Sexta...There are also many Greek words written on the margins in elegant slanting uncials...³⁷³ Wright's words could also serve as an accurate description of Ceriani's photolithographic edition of Milan ms C 313 Inf, a beautiful Estrangela copy of about half of the Syro-Hexapla from the late eighth or early ninth century, whose ample margins are eager to offer its readers variant readings, Greek words and quotations from the Fathers.³⁷⁴ Indeed, the presence of abundant marginal variant readings is one of the hallmarks of Syro-Hexaplaric manuscripts. 'What catches the eye whenever one opens a codex of the Syro-Hexapla,' Arthur Vööbus wrote, 'is the margin.

איד בישא גיביאי גיביאי. מפא גער איז גער איז גער איז גער איז גער איז גיביאי גיביע גער גיביאי גיביאי גיביאי גיביא סבי איז גע מער איביע איביע גיביאי גער איבי גער איבי גער איבי גער איז גער איז גער איז גער איז גער איז גער איז גע

³⁷² After the Bible, the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen represent perhaps the most complex case of multiple translation in the Syriac tradition. BL Add. 12,153 provides an example of a ms. of the *Homilies* of Gregory which provided variant readings among the notes in the margins; see the comments of Wright in his *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 2, p. 426: 'The margins of this manuscript are covered with notes, in the same handwriting as the text, which are probably due either to the translator Paul or to the patriarch Athanasius II. Many of them are either various readings...or references to Scripture; but others relate to the occasions of the sermons, or are explanatory of words or passages in them.'

³⁷³ About BL Add., 14,434. Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, p. 35.

³⁷⁴ See A.M. Ceriani, ed., *Codex Syro-Hexaplaris Ambrosianus Photolithographice editus (Monumenta sacra et Profana ex Codicibus Praesertim*, vol. 7) (Milan, 1874). Brock provides a useful summary of information about this ms. in *idem., The Bible in the Syriac Tradition*, pp. 47-48, which I have relied upon here.

This is more or less thickly set with a textual critical apparatus. In every respect, the nature of the textual critical apparatus is outstanding. What is accumulated here is ... far more complete than can be found in any known Greek manuscript of the Hexaplaric text of the Septuagint. Numerous readings are given from Aquila, Symmachus, and Theodotion and in the Psalter also from the Quinta and the Sexta. In addition to this material, the margin is occasionally furnished with some scholia. Short introductions have also been prefixed to certain parts of the version. In many cases these were taken from the writings of various scholars.³⁷⁵

More than references to alternate Greek versions, Syro-Hexaplaric manuscripts would also contain variant readings from the Hebrew text and from the Samaritan Pentateuch.³⁷⁶ George of the Arabs had been aware of the differing chronological schemes presented in the LXX, the Hebrew, and the Samaritan text of the OT. It does not require a particularly difficult stretch of the historical imagination to suppose he had access to a Syro-Hexaplaric manuscript which contained all these variant traditions in the rich forests of its margins. And collecting variant readings, of course, was not limited to Biblical manuscripts alone. Among the works Lazarus of Beth Qandasa (fl. ca. AD 774) has left us is a commentary on the Pauline Epistles.³⁷⁷ Appended to the commentary is a note written by Lazarus's student, George of Beth Naqe, which discusses the meanings of various paratextual elements and symbols in the manuscript. 'I am in possession of another copy,' George writes in his note, 'which is

³⁷⁵ A. Vööbus, The Hexapla and the Syro-Hexapla. Very important Discoveries for Septuagint Research (Stockholm, 1971), p. 51.

³⁷⁶ And other philological material as well. See A. Vööbus' discussion of the 'Textual-Critical Physiognomy' of a Midyat ms. containing the Syro-Hexaplaric Pentateuch in *idem., The Pentateuch in the version of the Syro-Hexapla. A fac-simile Edition of a Midyat MS. discovered 1964* (CSCO 369: Subsidia 45) (Louvain, 1975), pp. 37-39. For images of another Syro-Hexaplaric manuscript, see *idem., The Book of Isaiah in the Version of the Syro-Hexapla. A facsimile edition of MS. St. Mark 1 in Jerusalem with an Introduction* (CSCO 449: Subsidia 68) (Louvain, 1983), in which see pp. 23-27 for a discussion of the textual-critical sigla employed by the manuscript as well as the content of its margins.

³⁷⁷ For Lazarus' floruit, see Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, p.610, note. On Lazarus, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 271, and Wright, A Short History of Syriac Literature, pp. 162-163.

like this; and I have been helped by it, collecting other types [of readings] from it.'³⁷⁸ The textual-critical material in the margins of Syro-Hexaplaric manuscripts or the collecting of variant readings by George of Beth Naqe represents the the same world of scholarly practices that we encounter in the marginalia of the Paris *Organon*.

The Syriac reader would encounter variations in the Biblical text from more than just the competing Biblical translations which existed: within the same Bible, there was the problem of New Testament citations of the Old which did not correspond to the OT text as it stood. Keen students of the Scriptures among the Christians no doubt discovered this both through their own personal study and also in polemical encounters with Jews. We can see such an awareness in Timothy I's *Letter 47*, which I have already referred to. In the second half of this remarkable document, Timothy reports that manuscripts of the Hebrew Bible had been recently discovered near Jericho—a reference to what are today known as the Dead Sea scrolls.

We have learnt from certain Jews who are worthy of credence, who have recently been converted to Christianity, that ten years ago some books were discovered in the vicinity of Jericho, in a cave-dwelling in the mountain. They say that the dog of an Arab who was hunting game went into a cleft after an animal and did not come out; his owner then went in after him and found a chamber inside the mountain containing many books. The huntsman went to Jerusalem and reported this to some Jews. A lot of people set off and arrived there; they found books of the Old Testament, and, apart from that, other books in Hebrew script.³⁷⁹

³⁷⁸ BL Add., 14,683, Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, p.612. ארב ל, ד- אב יב עעא איניא גיפס מבסא אראסמי, מכעמ אולעב ל, ד- אב וניא איניא בי איניא איניא בעיא איניא בעיא איניא

For Timothy, the discovery of these new Old Testament manuscripts held out the

exciting opportunity that copies of the OT which corresponded more faithfully to the

Old Testament text which seems to be presumed by certain writers in the New.

Because the person who told me this knows the script and is skilled in reading it, I asked him about certain verses adduced in our New Testament as being from the Old Testament, but of which there is no mention at all the Old Testament, neither among us Christians, nor among the Jews. He told me that they were to be found in the books that had been discovered there.³⁸⁰

There were a number of missing Old Testament passages that Timothy had in mind and

which he was eager to find in the newly-discovered manuscripts. He had sent off a list

of unaccounted-for verses which were to be looked for.

When I heard this from that catechumen, I asked other people as well, besides him, and I discovered the same story without any difference. I wrote about the matter to the resplendent Gabriel, and also to Shubhalmaran, metropolitain of Damascus, in order that they might make investigation into these books and see if there is to be found in the prophets that 'seal', 'He will be called Nazarene' [Matt. 21:23], or 'That which eye has not seen and ear has not heard' [1 Cor. 2:9], or 'Cursed is everyone who is hung on the wood' [Gal. 3:13], or 'He turned back the boundary to Israel, in accordance with the word of the Lord which he spoke through Jonah the prophet from Gad Hfar,' and other passages like them which were adduced by the New Testament and the Old Testament but which are not to be found at all in the Bible we possess. I further asked him, if they found these phrases in those books, by all means to translate them. For it is written in the Psalm beginning 'Have mercy, O God, according to your grace' [Ps. 51], 'Sprinkle upon me with the hyssop of the blood of your cross and cleanse me.' This phrase is not in the Septuagint, nor in the other versions, nor in the Hebrew. Now that Hebrew man told me, 'We found a David [i.e. a Psalter] among those books, containing more than two hundred psalms.' I wrote concerning all this to them. ... If any of these phrases are to be found in the aforementioned books it will be evident that they are more reliable than the texts in currency among the Hebrews and among us. Although I wrote, I have received no answer from them on this matter. I have not got anyone

sufficiently capable with me whom I can send. The matter has been like a burning fire in my heart and it has set my bones alight.³⁸¹

There was also the existence of translated Greek patristic texts whose embedded Biblical citations might differ from the same passage as translated in the Syriac Bible. At some point in the late fifth or early sixth century, Gregory of Nyssa's *Commentary* on the Song of Songs was translated into Syriac.³⁸² Two letters were inserted as prefaces to the translation: the first requested that the translation be made and the second was written as an 'apologia' for the work once it had been translated. The translator, who never gives his name, was keenly aware of the differences in Greek and Syriac translations of the OT. In his translation, he had chosen to render the Biblical text of the Song of Songs directly from the Greek of Gregory's *Commentary* and not insert its Syriac equivalent; he had done the same for other Biblical citations in the *Commentary* and was worried about the disturbance the discrepancy between the Biblical text as cited in his translation and the standard Syriac text of the Bible might cause in his reader, so he addressed this problem directly in his letter. 'But now I ask of your love that your mind not be disturbed or troubled,' he wrote,

³⁸² For this date, see C. van den Eynde, La version syriaque du commentaire de Grégoire de Nysse sur le cantique des cantiques: ses origines, ses témoins, son influence (Louvain, 1939), p. 64.

when, once we have entered the translation, you find that the arrangement of the words of this book differs from the arrangement of those words which are set down in the Syriac book [of the Song of Songs]. For the translation—neither of this book, nor of the rest of the Holy Scriptures—which was from the Hebrew to the Greek does not agree with that which was from the Hebrew to Aramaic. Instead, the form and arrangement differ, noun-for-noun and verb-for-verb, in many places because there are words or nouns in the Hebrew language that correspond to two meanings, or perhaps even three. On account of this, when the Greeks were translating, it was necessary for them to set down a noun or a word in one form and for the Syrians to set it down in another form, which differs—as is the case with the word which is written at the beginning of this book: the Greek and the Aramaic translate it differently.

One did not need to go beyond the second verse of the Song of Songs to find an example

of the Greek and Syriac versions differing:

For, 'may he kiss me,' differs from 'he has kissed me.'³⁸³ In the Aramaic, the Bride speaks of something that has already happened—'he has kissed me with the kisses of his mouth.' In the Greek, however, she asks for something which has not yet happened to her—'may he kiss me with the kisses of his mouth.'

The dilemma which confronted the translator was a rather basic one: Gregory spoke

Greek and used the Greek Bible as the basis for his work; trying to make the words of

Gregory's analysis apply to the text of the Syriac Bible, especially when it differed,

would result in confusion.

Therefore, the Blessed Gregory agrees with this meaning in his commentary, seeing that he was a Greek and exegeted from the Greek. But as for us, if we had subsequently written down this word as it is stated in the Syriac, we would have corrupted the order of the commentary in that it would have been a word foreign to his exegesis.

Verse three of the first chapter of the *Song of Songs* provided yet another example of

diverging translations and offered the translator of the Commentary more grist for

discussion:

To give another example, a little bit later, it is stated in the book, 'Your name is the oil of myrrh ($\mu \dot{\nu} \rho \rho \alpha$), for this reason, maidens have loved you.'³⁸⁴ The Greek,

³⁸³ Song of Songs, 1:2

³⁸⁴ Song of Songs, 1:3

however, does not translate it this way, but rather in the following manner: 'Your name is a clear oil ($\mu \dot{\nu} \rho \sigma \nu$), for this reason, maidens have loved you.' It was not possible that we set it down as it is in the Syriac, lest, as I have said above, it fit strangely in the words of his commentary since the commentator of necessity follows the Greek text. On account of this, we have set it down as it was phrased in the Greek. However, because this noun 'oil' ($\mu \dot{\nu} \rho \sigma \nu$) is Greek and is unknown to all Syrians, we had to write it down according to what it does, and for this reason, we wrote it in the following way: 'Your name is a pleasant and clear oil.' ($\mu \dot{\nu} \rho \sigma \nu$ is an oil which is compounded with many different spices which dissolve in it and it then comes to have this name—like nard and glaucium.)

Such was the nature of the differences between the Syriac and Greek texts of the Song of

Songs, and indeed, the entire OT, that the translator could have continued to multiply

examples, but for the sake of his reader, chose not to. 'Lest I wear you out with many

examples,' he went on

I suppose that these things will suffice to convince you that so that your eyes will not be confused at the difference in words which you will discover have not been set down as in the Syriac. Indeed, we have not done this only with the words of this book of the Song of Songs, but also with the rest of the wording with the other books of Scripture which the exegete cites as witnesses for his argument, for in all the Holy Scriptures there is this difference from place to place between the Syriac and the Greek.³⁸⁵

³⁸⁵ C. van den Eynde, La version syriaque du commentaire de Grégoire de Nysse sur le cantique des cantiques: ses origines, ses témoins, son influence (Louvain, 1939), pp. 73-75: سمد المناه المراجع المراجع الم כך לבמא מים המובין כת בבאבא מהו יואי. לא מסא גיו בבל כנו שלבא ובינה אלא. לא המיא באבאי. אב לא געובא גבול כע מהגיאי. מגא גמסול כך בבוא לימונאי. למ, גמסול כך בבוא לאוכיאי. אל משעור מה אמבמא הלוא הבון הושלמת שלמת בהביואא מעדאאא. בא ואיוא פו גדשי אים שדיחי באלא היא אין מאר האפנה, די בעי ביו אין איש איש איבא אים אין אין אין אין אין אין אי הטוא בו הפיניים. באמביבא איניוא נעידה נעיר לידא אם לפל גראי. המהוייא להב באמביבא nitor inter the said in the said card card in the said of the said האמוניאיט אודביאי. בשעלאי הי געו הי אי וניבע ב ה ה ובבעו. אי וד אודביא באי בל בדות ובן בום הסא לה אביא בלאאי. וצבע לב איי בן נהצבאא ובהכבה. איי ובי הנוא וין. אם בובל ובובע המה מובו, כא לבה שבישים ואמב גי ביאו מוד אביו כם במלאי משוא גבהוא שבאי. באר בלעד א ועבאי. גלא כבי שא מאמ געשעבים מי גבי שאי גבי שאי געשאי גע איי גאולא איי גאולא כי לבלי. אממא and to water and and for tension. con, warder should chi our ril. or the air re

The problem, the translator recognized, was not just one of differences between the Syriac and the Greek; there were also differences between the various Greek versions of the Old Testament. 'As for all these translations,' he wrote,

despite the fact that they are all translated into one language, they differ from one another in many words and expressions, because each one of the translators translated into Greek according to what he was able to understand from the word or expression which he found in the Hebrew, as in the case of this word '*rephaim*' [Is. 26:14]. For in the case of this word, in the Hebrew language it is sometimes understood to mean 'doctors' and sometimes understood to mean 'mighty men.' Though the [Hebrew] word does not change, it is reflected with different [Greek] words. For this reason, there are some translators who render it 'doctors' and some who render it 'mighty men.' And we find many words in this manner [$\tau \alpha \xi \iota \varsigma$].³⁸⁶

The preface to Gregory's Commentary along with the comments of Moses of Aggel, as

well as the perplexed questions of Jacob and George's correspondents show that

beginning in at least the early sixth century, the differing versions of the Bible and of

Biblical citations was causing bewilderment and confusion among readers of Syriac

Christian literature. The proliferation of Biblical and other translations in Syriac meant

³⁸⁶ van den Eynde, La version syriaque du commentaire de Grégoire de Nysse, pp. 75-76: בז ליס בסלמס במשמא: בד לב בעד לביא בלמס בעמין. אלא בבדמא מכמל בדיא מביאא מבעלבי בי עוד אי. בדמא כל בי ביאא אים בי שלא ליא בידמא מיא דומאלב בי ביאא אים בי שלא בביאי. גרביבע מסא בבבדיאי. כבם מסא לעמיי. אישי מדמ דריים אישי בי מיא אים בי ביא מסא בביאי בי גרביבע מסא בבבדיאי. ביע מיס אישי ליאי ביעמי אישי ביישי מיא דו בי ביאא אים בי ביא מסא ביישי גרביבע מסא בבבדיאי. ביע מיס אישי ביע מישי ביישי ביישי גרביבע מסא בבבדיאי. ביעם מישי ביע מישי ביישי ביישי ביישי גרביבע מסא ביישי אישי ביישי אישי ביישי מישל ער אישי ביישי ביישי ביישי גרמי מישי ביישי מישי גרמי אישי ביישי מישי גרמי גרמי ביישי גרמי גרו גרמי ביישי גרמי גרמי ביישי ג'ישי ביישי ביישי

that it was not uncommon for readers in the Syriac-speaking world to confront the phenomenon of different translations and to have to try to make sense of their existence. The distance from an awareness of a variety of translations, to evaluating the relative quality of those translations is not a far one. Here, we are knocking on the door of the *Risāla*.

Everyone's a Critic: Dissatisfaction with Previous Translations

Undertaking the new translation of a text implies some sort of dissatisfaction with whatever translation is already in existence and the sheer abundance of revisions and re-translations of Greek texts in Syriac suggests that there was plenty of dissatisfaction to go around in the world of Syriac scholarship. This is more than just a supposition, too—we possess explicit criticisms of previous translations from the pens of Syriac scholars. It is in this context and tradition that we should understand Ḥunayn and the Paris *Organon*'s critiques of previous translations.

One of the motors driving the constant revision and retranslation of Syriac Biblical texts was theological controversy and the need for more precise renderings of the Greek text to employ polemically against theological adversaries. This was the setting in which Philoxenos of Mabbug (d. ca. 523) commissioned his chorepiscopos Polycarp to make a revision of the Peshitta New Testament in 507/8 AD. In his *Commentary on the Prologue of John*, Philoxenos, writing over three centuries before the *Risāla* was composed, explains his reasons for commissioning a revision to the existing Peshitta text:

When those of old undertook to translate these [passages of the] scriptures they made mistakes in many things, whether intentionally or through ignorance. These mistakes concerned not only what is taught about the Economy in the flesh, but various other things concerning different matters. It was for this

147

reason that we now have taken the trouble to have the Holy Scriptures translated anew from the Greek.³⁸⁷

Philoxenos was particularly concerned about several NT passages which might be used

to support a Nestorian Christological stance. Matthew 1:1 and Matthew 1:18 were two

such passages:

Concerning now those things which are known to be set down in the Syriac [sc. the Peshitta]: 'the Book of the birth of Jesus Christ, the son of David, the son of Abraham,' and also, 'As for the the nativity of Jesus Christ, it happened in this way.' In the Greek, from which it is well-known that the books of the NT were translated, this is not what was written; rather, instead of 'nativity,' both passages have 'becoming'; nevertheless, the person who translated it for some reason unknown to me preferred to translate by 'birth' and 'nativity' instead of 'becoming.'³⁸⁸

Another translation that Philoxenos took issue with was Hebrews 10:5:

Again, the passage 'you have established me with a body'—indicating the inhomination by means of which the Son fulfilled the Father's will and became a sacrifice on behalf of all—was translated by them as 'you clothed me with a body'. Thus it can be everywhere recognized that they have not translated the Apostle, but introduced their own opinion into the renderings.³⁸⁹

³⁸⁷ Translation S.P. Brock in 'The Resolution of the Philoxenian/Harclean Problem,' p. 328 in New Testament Textual Criticism: Its Significance for Exegesis. Essays in Honor of Bruce M. Metzger, edd. E.J. Epp and G.D. Fee (Oxford, 1981). Syriac text in A. de Halleux, ed. Philoxène de Mabbog. Commentaire du prologue johannique (Ms. Br. Mus. Add. 14,534) (CSCO 380: SS 165) (Louvain, 1977), p. 53 محمد عدم عدم المعرفي المحمد. حمق المحمد المحمد المحمد المالية المحمد معند المحمد المح

Philoxenos' displeasure with faulty renderings could lead him to explicitly chastise the translators of the Peshitta and reproach them even as he was reproaching heretics.

'One should not,' he writes,

consider that we have here unnecessarily prolonged our discussion concerning this matter. It has been, rather, because we seek—in addition to censuring the one who translates, since going beyond the truth of that which is written, he has set down words which he considered appropriate for the Syriac language or which he thought were proper to God, as if he knows that which is greater than him, that these things are fitting for Him—to rebuke the ignorance of the heretics who accept, only just, this point that God was born of a woman [Galatians 4:4], but who now refuse [to accept] the statement [about] 'becoming' [John 1:14]. They say that it is not proper that 'becoming' be said of God, so that it is not therefore the thing which the Scripture teaches that they find themselves accepting about God, but only what seems good to them.³⁹⁰

In fact, Philoxenos's assessment of the translation of the Peshitta could be much

harsher than that of Hunayn or the Paris Organon towards preceding translations. The

latter two might only suggest that the translations were of a low quality or the

translators did not have a sufficient knowledge of Greek. Philoxenos, on the other

hand, would go beyond judgements of the translators' knowledge to ones about their

moral status.

But if those who translated [the Peshitta] thought this, namely, that it was not good that 'the becoming of Christ' be set down in the Syriac language, or '[the becoming] of God,' or '[the becoming] of the Son,' they should have known that it is not appropriate for the one who is concerned to translate the truth to choose which of these words is suitable for each one of the languages [sc. Greek and Syriac]. Instead, [he should be concerned with] seeking out which ones are the phrases and words which were spoken by God or by His Spirit through the Prophets and Apostles, for these things which are set down in the Holy

Scriptures are not the offspring of human thoughts that they might receive revision or emendation. With respect to the Greeks: each one of these passages or words which we have mentioned was stated by the Evangelists or by the Apostle was set down just as has been stated by us—'Became from the seed of David in the flesh,' [Romans 1:3] and not 'was born in the flesh,' and also, 'The book of the becoming of Jesus Christ,' [Matthew 1:1] as well as 'As for Jesus Christ, his becoming happened in this way,' [Matthew 1:18]. Because the books of the New Testament were spoken in their language, they should all the more agree with these things which were written down among them, and not to what has been translated by some person or another and which which are of his opinion and not of the teaching of the Spirit. Everyone who changes or translates differently sentences and words which have been spoken by the Spirit is therefore not only blameworthy and deplorable but also wicked and a blasphemer and an associate of Marcionites and Manichaeans, who themselves removed from the Scriptures those things which have been spoken by God and also made changes and set down other things which seemed good to them. When Theodore and Nestorios—who are the leaders of the heresy of human worship—had fallen into this, they had the temerity to change some passages in the Scriptures and to translate others in a contrary way.³⁹¹

Philoxenos took issue with other translations of the Greek of the New Testament

present in the Peshitta³⁹² despite the fact that his own knowledge of Greek may have

³⁹¹ Philoxène de Mabbog. Commentaire du prologue johannique, pp. 51-52: אמבוֹם מנה א אמבוֹם יישר איז ארא איז ארא ג משל המה לוו: הוא שביי ונוא אשות כלצוא מהו בא המש והשיות אים ואלוו אים וביא: וול מהא למו להר. בי הלה האינה הלא למהן לבל עו הן לעייוי הלא להגריה להי ויה עם היויא נפני אלא להבא ד אואר געמשבא ארשיא אינדיא אינישא אינדי בבוצבא מנשאי גבינ גבור אבעא אינדיא אינדיא אינדיא אינדיא אינדיא אינדיא א ioh אמשאי. להוא גם האיוי בל עוד בן מלא השלא השלא השל א האל במגו גאא אמני בן ioh אסיג לשקלא מכן שלעואי: מכוא מעיבי איר בא גאולאוכי כען. גמי ה וו בא גווניו כבסו י טלם רישל בבשו . ואסב באבא המיטה ושיר בעייאי ו וביים משיא איאימות ובא הארא בגאל בו איי ודב בי הי ומס אולפים: מלי ואינייטי ובמבו נאמא וילמ: מלט ויטלביא ודב ומעאי אישממת, בו בל בי אואד אואדעון: האמר אם בעובה המשרה עוועא אינה גומה אישארי גבוים בי גרוה איש אין אישאר אישאר אישאר אישאר אישאר אי دمام عد محمه العليم العليم العدمان العدم العليم المعلم المعلم المعلم المعام العليم المعام معم مع مالع FT in A. de Halleu, trans. Philoxène de Mabboq. גבוארא והשיעובה ולביות להפינה גלה הבלא. Commentaire du prologue johannique (CSCO 381: SS 166), pp. 51-52.

³⁹² See the other passage cited by Brock, 'Resolution of the Philoxenian/Harclean Problem,' p. 329. See also, e.g., *Philoxène de Mabbog. Commentaire du prologue johannique*, p. 51, 'It merits pointing out that the Apostle here [cf. Romans 1:3] said, 'became' and not 'was born in the flesh,' as it pleased the ancients [sc. Peshitta translators] who translated from the Greek to render. They gave the ability to the heretics to understand "another who was born in another." ما محيد المحيمة المحيمة المحيد المح

perhaps been less than perfect.³⁹³ His critical remarks about translators were moreover not solely limited to the *Commentary on the Prologue of John*. In his *Letter to the Monks of Senoun* Philoxenos also voices complaints about the way Syriac Bible translators have handled words with important Christological implications. 'But,' he writes

as for those who in every age have translated the Scriptures from the Greek language to the Syriac, being careful to preserve neither the precision of the aforementioned terms among the Greeks nor the truth of the doctrine, they have spoken falsely and written down what seems good to them or the expression which they supposed was customary in the Syriac language. They did not understand that if, along with the phrase, 'He became flesh,' which was translated into Syriac, these other expressions had been translated, they would have become customary usage with everyone and no one would have been caused to stumble at them. But I think that they perhaps thought that it was fitting for Syriac that it forever remain impoverished and that it not move forward by means of the increase of knowledge.³⁹⁴

Philoxenos appeals here to a notion of linguistic and translational progress—

translations could be made precise and more accurate and a language could be rendered a more supple medium for conveying important nuance and shades of meaning. Centuries before Hunayn would criticize previous translators for the quality of their renderings and before he would speak of himself as having made poorer translations in his youth, we have here a Syriac-speaking scholar articulating ideas of

³⁹³ Note his confusion between אליצסוג and אליאריקטוג in Philoxène de Mabbog. Commentaire du prologue johannique, p. 43,: 'The reason which made the one who translated to set down 'nativity' rather than 'becoming' is either that perhaps the reading of the nouns for 'becoming' and 'nativity' in the Greek language resemble one another, for two nūns are written in the noun for 'becoming,' one after another, but in 'nativity' there is only one...' حملت المحمد مداد من معند معند المحمد المح

progress and accuracy which statements like Hunayn's presuppose. The passage from Jacob of Edessa's letter on orthography, quoted above, where Jacob mentions certain technical philosophical words in Syriac not being used by Philoxenos, in addition to other Syriac Fathers, indicates that the same process of linguistic devolpment and increasing precision continued to operate after Philoxenos' time. And Miaphysite retranslations would not go unnoticed and uncritized by rivals in the Church of the East: in the eighth century, Shahdost of Tirhan would condemn his theological adversaries and the damage they had done to Scripture. 'In the likeness of the swine of the forest,' he wrote,

they dared to corrupt the vineyards of the divine scriptures. For they have warred without shame against the words which are spoken about the manhood of our Lord, and which manifestly declare the duality of his natures. And they changed and drew them after their opinions which they had learned from the ancient Jews. For they are like the enemies of the salvation of all.

Shahdost would then go on to list passages which had been changed and mistranslated in order to support a Miaphysite theological agenda.³⁹⁵

Other instances of such awareness of the deficiencies of previous translations can also be found in the Syriac tradition. Sergios of Resh'ayna's translations come under at times sharp criticism by Hunayn in the ninth century. Sergios, however, translated more than just Galen and already in the seventh century, Syriac-speaking scholars were aware of imprecision in his work. I have already cited the late seventh-

century figure Phokas of Edessa as evidence for there being an awareness on the part of Syriac-speaking scholars of a continuous and interconnected nature of their tradition of translation. Unsurprisingly, Phokas of Edessa also was aware that the translations that came before him could stand improvement. The translation of (Ps) Dionysios that Phokas executed (and which Patriarch Timothy I later sought a copy of) also contained scholia, much of which were a translation by Phokas of the $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\theta$ έσις of John of Scythopolis [Baishan]. Phokas offers the following information about his own translation of this work:

Now, as I have stated, new insight bursts forth every day out of the searching and study of the Holy Scriptures, for those who meditate upon them. Providentially, this holy book which has been spoken of, which is written in Greek script, has come into my humble hands: in it are scholia (that is, marvelous explanatory notes) on these words whose meaning has been difficult, as we have had occasion to mention. It was written by an Orthodox individual, worthy of good memory, a scholar ($\sigma\chio\lambda\alpha\sigma\tau\iota\kappa\delta\varsigma$) by trade, but John by name, from the city of Scythopolis. I have taken great care, as one who is not able...in translating the scholia from the Greek language to Syriac, in addition to those things which I found in the old translation of Sergios, [things] *which are not translated with precision.*³⁹⁶

Like Philoxenos in his Letter to the Monks of Senoun and Hunayn after him, Phokas of

Edessa was aware that translations could be improved and that continued study of a

text could lead to increases in precision and progress in understanding its exact meaning.

I have already mentioned that the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen were first translated at the end of the fifth century then revised in the sixth and again in 623-624. George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes (d. 724 AD) has left us a letter, probably from the first several decades of the eighth century, which shows both that different versions of the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen were being read and which also indicates that poorquality translations were a problem that readers confronted. George's *Letter 6* is a response to a query written by his synkellos Jacob about a passage in Gregory's *Oration 2*, which concerns priesthood. Jacob was having problems understanding a passage in this homily. George begins by quoting the passage which Jacob had sent to him. It is written in a tortured Syriac which borders on the nonsensical:

[I write] since you asked me, O my spiritual son and priest, Mar Jacob, about a certain passage of Gregory the Theologian's ($\theta \epsilon o \lambda \delta \gamma o \varsigma$) which is located in that apologetic homily concerning priesthood,³⁹⁷ which he composed when he returned from Pontus and which runs as follows: 'Indeed, first of all, of the things we have spoken, this one merits caution: that we not appear bad painters of wondrous virtue, or rather, I say that as regards [being] painters, the [caution] is not [against being] bad, but rather [against being] a bad archetype for the many. Otherwise, we will not run far from the proverb: we presume to heal others while we ourselves break out in sores.'³⁹⁸

³⁹⁷ Oration 2.13. For the Greek text, see J. Bernardi, *Grégoire de Nazianze: discours 1-3 (Sources chrétiennes 247)* (Paris, 1978), p. 106: Πρῶτον μὲν δὴ τοῦτο, ὧν εἴπομεν, εὐλαβεῖσθαι ἄξιον, μὴ φαινώμεθα τῆς θαθμασίας ἀρετῆς κακοὶ ζωγράφοι, μᾶλλον δὲ ζωγράφον οὐ φαύλων ἴσως, τῶν δὲ πολλῶν φαῦλον ἀρχέτυπον, ἢ τῆς παροιμίας μὴ πόρρω θέομεν, ἄλλους ἰατρεύειν ἐπιχειροῦντες αὐτοὶ βρύοντες ἕλκεσι.

Before George even attempts to explicate the meaning of this passage, he pauses to

comment on the poor quality of the translation, as well as the existence of other

similarly bad translations of works of the Fathers in Syriac:

In the first place, I will remind you, O beloved in Our Lord, that the translation of this passage from Greek into Syriac has not been done with precision and the passage has not been ordered in a way that fits the sense and meaning of the Teacher. For this reason, it is all the more difficult and a source of uncertainty for readers and interpreters, as is the case with many other [passages] in the writings of the holy teachers and other authors: they are difficult and sources of uncertainty for the same reason.³⁹⁹

As a result, George's first act of explanation is to offer a better translation of the

passage in question. To do so, he cites his own teacher—Athanasios of Balad, a name

which we have already encountered a number of times:

Now, the rendering of this passage is more apt and precise in the way that Patriarch Athanasios, who is among the saints, explained to me.⁴⁰⁰ In the following way: 'In the first place, therefore, of the things we have spoken, this deserves our caution: that we not appear bad painters of wondrous virtue, or rather [that we not appear] a bad archetype; perhaps it is not bad for painters, yet it is nevertheless bad for the many, or we will not run far from the proverb: "We presume to heal the many while we ourselves are breaking out in sores." This is a more straightforward rendering of the passage.⁴⁰¹

⁴⁰⁰ Compare to scholion in Add. 14,725, (See W. Wright, *Catalogue of Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum* (London, 1871), vol. 2, p. 443). '*pasheq lī*' or 'translated for me.' Cf. V. Ryssel, *Georgs des Araberbischofs: Gedichte und Briefe* (Leipzig, 1891), p. 63 'mir übersetzt,' though I.E. Barsoum, *al-Lū'lū' almanthūr fī tārīkh al-'ulūm wa-'l-ādāb al-suryāniyya* (Baghdad, 1976), understood it to mean 'explained,' cf. p. 312, '*kamā sharaḥa lī...*' This verb could potentially mean the same as *tareṣ*, 'to correct,' *afeq*, 'to translate, edit,' and *targem*, 'interpret, translate.' See comments on the meanings of these verbs in S.P. Brock, 'Zur Überlieferungsgeschichte der Nonnos zugeschriebenen mythologischen scholion im Syrischen,' *ZDMG*, Supplementa 1,2 (1969), p. 462; idem., *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia* (Cambridge, 1971), pp. 28-29; J.-C.Haelewyck, *Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera. Versio Syriaca I: Oratio XL* (CSCG 49: Corpus Nazianzenum 14) (Turnhout/Leuven, 2001), pp. VII-VIII.

As Hunayn would do over a century later, George gave his estimation and evaluation of the relative worth of different renderings.⁴⁰²

In the Beginning...was Greek

⁴⁰² The final part of *Letter 6* offers an improved translation of another passage from the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen. See BL Add. 12,154 fol. 264b (section 9.3.1 in my edition): 'From that [homily] concerning Gorgonia, his sister: "Of those of the promise, and of those of Isaac—from whom—and of those whose offering is a reasonable sacrifice and a lamb and a type (τ ύπος) of that which is more excellent, which entered in on his behalf." [It is translated] more clearly as follows: "Of those of the promise, and of those of whom Isaac is, and of those whose offering is the reasonable sacrifice, Isaac, and that lamb which entered in on his behalf and which was a type (τ ύπος) of that which is more excellent."" (ω συ σ. ω σ.

Pentateuch. There seems also to have been another biblical translator named Josephus (not to be confused with Flavius Josephus).⁴⁰³

These translations and revisions also generated comments about the relative reliability and attractiveness of different versions; Antiochene Biblical exegesis, modeled on the pagan grammatical tradition, would have included as part of its method a discussion of alternate readings from other translations of a given verse or passage in the Scripture.⁴⁰⁴ Like biologists combing rainforests for exotic and rare species of plants and animals, modern scholars have devoted entire lives to carefully and patiently collecting references to witnesses to these various versions in patristic texts. A study of the fragments of Eusebios of Emesa's (d. before 360 AD) Commentary on *Genesis* shows him citing the Hebrew Bible, in addition to the Syriac and (rarely) Aquila, Symmachos and Theodotion when problems confronted him in the text of the Septuagint; Eusebios could admit that there were errors in the translation of the Septuagint and even in the Syriac and appeal to the Hebrew was given pride of place in solving obscurities in the Septuagint text of Genesis.⁴⁰⁵ Origen, by contrast, could cite other Greek versions as well as the Hebrew in his exegesis, but did not give the latter the same priority that Eusebios of Emesa would after him and maintained a preference

⁴⁰³ For complexity of subject, the study of the Greek versions of the OT is perhaps only rivaled by the study of the Diatessaron. For the information in this paragraph, see N. Fernández Marcos, *Introducción a las versiones Griegas de la Biblia*, 2nd ed. (Madrid, 1998), esp. pp.119-178, 227-239. See also, K.H. Jobes and M. Silva, *Invitation to the Septuagint* (Grand Rapids, 2000), pp. 29-44. On τò έβραῖος/τò ἑβραϊκον and ò σύρος, see the discussion in R.B. ter Haar Romeny, *A Syrian in Greek Dress: The Use of Greek, Hebrew, and Syriac Biblical Texts in Eusebius of Emesa's Commentary on Genesis* (Louvain, 1997), pp. 51-75.

⁴⁰⁴ For this, see R.B. ter Haar Romeny, *A Syrian in Greek Dress*, pp. 97-98. This comparison of different versions was supposed to have occurred in the part of exegesis known as τὸ διορθωτικόν, though ter Haar Romeny notes that textual critical discussions of variants might also occur in τὸ ἐζηγητικόν and τὸ κριτικόν and in fact, in the case of Eusebios of Emesa (p. 105), his discussion occurs as part of τὸ ἐζηγητικόν and τὸ κριτικόν and infrequently as part of τὸ διορθωτικόν.

⁴⁰⁵ See ter Haar Romeny, *A Syrian in Greek Dress*, pp. 106-112.

for the renderings of the Septuagint.⁴⁰⁶ Likewise, Eusebios of Caesarea seems to have had a preference for the Septuagint over other versions: when it diverged from the Hebrew, it was because the latter had been changed; Eusebios might also appeal to other Greek versions, but did so in order to help understand a passage in the Septuagint. In very rare instances, he might prefer Aquila, Symmachos, Theodotion and the Hebrew when they all agreed against the Septuagint.⁴⁰⁷ Jerome, for his part, when confronted with a problem in the Biblical text would at the very least defer to the Hexaplaric Septuagint of Origen, but for him, the ultimate authority lay with the Hebrew text which he would read with the elucidating help of Aquila, Symmachos, Theodotion and rabbinic tradition.⁴⁰⁸ Theodore of Mopsuestia's attitude towards the various available versions of the OT changed with time; he recognized that the the Septuagint was a translation of the Hebrew text and thus the latter had a special place of authority, but interestingly, Theodore still held the Septuagint as the preferred version. The Hebrew text's economy of expression meant that translating it too literally into Greek would cause confusion; he therefore held that the Septuagint translation was the best Greek method of accessing the Hebrew. As for other Greek translations of the OT, they would come to be cited less and less in Theodore's work; 'the Syrian,' too, would come to be viewed with suspicion and as containing errors.⁴⁰⁹ Even Ephrem the Syrian could be involved in this game: in his *Commentary on Genesis* he twice makes reference to a non-Peshitta translation of the Biblical text without

⁴⁰⁶ See ter Haar Romeny, *A Syrian in Greek Dress*, pp. 116-120 for a discussion of Origen's use of different biblical versions and a comparision of his attitudes with those of Eusebios of Emesa.

⁴⁰⁷ See ter Haar Romeny, A Syrian in Greek Dress, pp. 120-124.

⁴⁰⁸ See ter Haar Romeny, A Syrian in Greek Dress, pp. 124-131.

⁴⁰⁹ See ter Haar Romeny, A Syrian in Greek Dress, pp. 135-137.

referring to his source by name. Whatever his source, its translation is identical to none other than the Jewish Targum Ongelos.⁴¹⁰

Every Translator has a Story

One of the most notable characteristics of the *Risāla* is Ḥunayn's practice of giving the translation history of each work of Galen listed; as we have seen, these translation histories might contain often harshly critical comments on the quality of the translations. In 392 AD, however, over four centuries before the birth of Ḥunayn, Epiphanios of Salamis (d. 403 AD) composed a work referred to by scholars as *On Weights and Measures* which in effect did the same thing—not for the works of Galen, but rather for the Greek translations of the Hebrew Bible. *On Weights and Measures* survives as a whole only in a Syriac translation for which two complete manuscripts survive: one written between 648 and 659 AD, and one written before the ninth century.⁴¹¹

Epiphanios begins *On Weights and Measures* with a discussion of the meaning of the various textual-critical signs a reader might encounter in the Greek Biblical text: the asterisk, the obelus, the lemniscus and the hypolemniscus—Aristarchian symbols that Origen had introduced into his revision of the Septuagint to signal divergences among the various Greek versions and the Hebrew text.⁴¹² The treatise then shifts to the question of the translations themselves: 'And it is well for us also to explain the

⁴¹⁰ For this, see R.B. ter Haar Romeny, 'The Peshitta and its Rivals,' *The Harp* 11-12 (1998-1999), p. 24 and also see n. 6. Ephrem does this at Genesis 49:10 and 49:23.

⁴¹¹ There are also extracts preserved in so-called Syriac masoretic manuscripts associated with the monastery of Qarqafta. See M. Sprengling, 'Forward,' p. viii and J.E. Dean, 'Introduction,' pp. 2-6, in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures: The Syriac Version (Studies in Ancient Oriental Civilization* 11) (Chicago, 1935). For Epiphanios' composition of On Weights and Measures in 392, see *ibid.*, p. 2. The critical edition of the Greek text can be found in H. Μουτσουλα, 'Τὸ «Περὶ μέτρων καὶ σταθμῶν» ἔργον Ἐπιφανίου τοῦ Σαλαμῖνος' ΘΕΟΛΟΓΙΑ 44 (1973) pp. 157-209. For the Georgian version of On Weights and Measures, which has been transmitted in two separate parts, see M.-J. van Esbroeck, ed. and trans., *Les versions géorgiennes d'Épiphane de chypre*. Traité des poids et des mesures (CSCO 460-461: SI 19-20) (Louvain, 1984).

⁴¹² See Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures, trans. Dean, pp. 16-23

matter of the translators,' Epiphanios writes, 'For a knowledge of them will be helpful to you, since by the inclusion of their story it will be seen who and whence and of what race each of them was, and what was the cause of their translating.'⁴¹³ At this point, the history behind the translation of the Septuagint, as well as the OT translations of Aquila, Symmachos and Theodotion is given. Also discussed are the anonymous translations scholars refer to as the Quinta and Sexta⁴¹⁴ as well as Origen's activities in putting together the Hexapla and the Octapla.⁴¹⁵

Epiphanios pulls no punches in letting his readers know how he views the quality of certain translations. Aquila was a pagan convert to Christianity who then apostasized to Judaism and learned Hebrew to translate the Old Testament to Greek.

He was moved not by the right motive, but (by the desire) to distort certain of the words occurring in the translation of the seventy-two [sc. the Septuagint] that he might proclaim the things testified to about Christ in the divine Scriptures to be fulfilled in some other way, on account of a certain shame that he felt (to proffer) a senseless excuse for himself. And this second translation by Aquila came about after such a (long) time as this...But we must say, beloved, the words in it are incorrect and perversely translated, (words) which carry condemnation for him in the very translation he made.⁴¹⁶

Symmachos was a Samaritan, 'of their wise men, but unhonored by his own people.'

'Afflicted with the lust for power,' and 'angry with his tribe,' he converted to Judaism

⁴¹³ Translation Dean, Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures, pp. 23-24. Syriac text in ibid., p. 92 (51c-51d): גם לבלא גילע מלי גור מישטא לאי געו מיג שאא גילע מלי פג אומס בעמא אינאי געמי געריי גער אינאי געמי אומס בעלא למס אוגא באלא למי

⁴¹⁴ On the Quinta, Sexta and Septima, see N. Fernández Marcos, Introducción a las Versiones Griegas de la Biblia, 2nd ed., (Madrid, 1998), pp. 163-169 and S. Jellicoe, The Septuagint and Modern Study (Oxford, 1968), pp. 118-124. cf. K.H. Jobes and M. Silva, Invitation to the Septuagint (Grand Rapids, 2000), p. 50.

⁴¹⁵ See Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures, trans. Dean, pp. 24-37.

and executed a translation of the Old Testament 'in order to pervert the translation current among the Samaritans.'⁴¹⁷ Theodotion was a Marcionite-turned-Jew who also made a translation that, to its credit, agreed in a number of places with the Septuagint, 'for he derived many (peculiar) practices from the translational habits of the seventytwo [sc. the translators of the Septuagint].'⁴¹⁸ Epiphanios has a very clear notion of which of the various Greek translations was superior: the Septuagint.

Now you become the judge, O great lover of the good, of such a matter as this, whether the truth is more likely to be found with these three—I mean Aqula, Symmachos, and Theodotion—who, moreover, were not together, but were remote from one another in both time and place; and there were not many, but only three, and yet they were unable to agree with one another. Or (was the truth) with the seventy-two, who were the first to translate, were at the same time, and were divided into thirty-six groups, according to the command of the king? And, furthermore, they did not converse with one another, but by the Holy Spirit they brought out the entire translation in absolute agreement; and where there was need for an addition in explanation of a word, it was the same among them all. Though they did not know what each one by himself was translating, they agreed absolutely with one another, and the translations were identical. And where they cast out words, they translated in agreement with one another. So it is clear to those who through love of the truth seek to investigate that they were not merely translators but also, in part, prophets.⁴¹⁹

⁴¹⁷ Translation Dean, Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures, pp. 32-33. For Syriac text, cf. ibid., p. 96 (55c-55d): : الما الحج عنه المالا الحج المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية الم المالية المحمة المحمد منه المحمد المالية المحمد المالية المحمد المحمد منه المحمد منه المحمد منه المحمد المحمد الم

⁴¹⁸ Translation Dean, Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures, p. 33. For Syriac text, ibid., p. 96 (56a): مار المار المار المار المار الماري (56a): مارم مع ماري الماري ا

Hunayn's motivation for evaluating previous translations in the *Risāla* is more philological than that of Epiphanios in *On Weights and Measures*—there is a clear theological agenda at work in the treatise—but the similarity between what the two documents are in part doing—listing and evaluating previous translations of a certain text (or texts) remains nevertheless striking. Had Hunayn perhaps read *On Weights and Measures*? Though we lack a clear connection between Hunayn and Epiphanios, the survival of *On Weights and Measures* as a complete work only in Syriac suggests that it was a work being read by Syriac-speaking scholars concerned with Biblical translation and textual criticism (recall its discussion of Aristarchian symbols)—which Hunayn, as a Bible translator himself undoubtedly was. We furthermore also know that *On Weights and Measures* was in fact being read in the ninth century in Iraq from the work of a near-exact contemporary of Hunayn, Moshe bar Kepha.

Moshe (d. 903) was a Miaphysite born in 813, some five years after Ḥunayn. Hailing from Balad, Moshe was a periodeute in Takrit for ten years and was elected bishop of Beth Reman, Beth Kiyonaya and Mosul around 863. Though not as famous as his contemporary Ḥunayn, Moshe was also a prolific writer of broad interests whose works included a *Hexaemeron*, an introduction to the Κατηγορίαι, a treatise on free will and predestination, an ecclesiastical history, and a number of commentaries, biblical, patristic and liturgical.⁴²⁰ Among his works, Moshe has left us an *Introduction* to the Psalms,⁴²¹ which interests us here because it provides more context for seeing Ḥunayn

⁴²⁰ On Moshe bar Kepha, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 281-282, Wright, A Short History of Syriac Literature, pp. 207-211 and S.P. Brock, A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature, pp. 69-70. NB: Brock dates Moshe's birth to ca. 833.

⁴²¹ See G. Diettrich, ed. and trans., *Eine jakobitische Einleitung in den Psalter* (Giessen, 1901). For Moshe bar Kepha as author of this work, see J-M Vosté, 'L'introduction de Mose bar Kepa aux psaumes de

and his activities as examples of Late Antique phenomena best understood in the context of Syriac scholarly activity.

Moshe's introduction has thirty-two chapters, each dealing with a different question related to the Psalms. Of particular relevance to us here is the twenty-eighth chapter, which 'shows how many translations from the Hebrew language to the Greek language the Old Testament has, and how many from the Hebrew language to the Syriac language, and which of these translations is the most precise of all the translations.'⁴²² In its concern for discussing the number of different translations available for a particular work and their relative quality, this chapter is not unlike one of the entries in the *Risāla* on a certain work of Galen. Given that Moshe and Ḥunayn were contemporaries, it is not hard to imagine that the *Risāla* and Moshe's introduction were written within decades or even years of one another.

In Chapter 28 of his *Introduction*, Moshe discusses the historical circumstances surrounding six different Greek translations of the Hebrew Old Testament: the Septuagint, as well as that of Aquila, Symmachos and Theodotion. He also refers to the Quinta and Sexta and describes the activities of Origen. Critical remarks can be found here as well: we are told that Aquila 'translated the books of the Old Testament from the Hebrew language to the Greek, not according to right opinion but rather perverse. With regard to those things which are written correctly in the Scriptures concerning

David,' *Revue Biblique* 38 (1929), pp. 217-219. For this point, see R.B. ter Haar Romeny, 'The Peshitta and its Rivals,' p. 24, n. 9.

Christ, he translated them in a different and twisted way.⁴²³ Though not always identical to the work of Epiphanios, Moshe's discussion of the history of these different translations is in fact largely derivative of *On Weights and Measures*.⁴²⁴ But the *Introduction* is no mere example of a later scholar copying from an earlier one: it provides an excellent example of how Syriac-speaking scholars continued traditions from a Greek-speaking context like Epiphanios' and developed them in light of their own circumstances. Moshe does not just discuss the history of Greek translations of the Old Testament and parrot the wording of Epiphanios: he continues the discussion and makes it relevant in a Syriac-speaking context. There were also translations of the Bible into Syriac and there have been different opinions as to which one was superior:

In our own Syriac tongue there are two translations of the Old Testament. One is the Peshitta, which we read; this was translated from Hebrew into Syriac. The Peshitta was translated from Hebrew into Syriac in the time of king Abgar of Edessa, as Mar Jacob [of Edessa] has said. Mar Jacob says that Addai the Apostle and the believing king Abgar sent a man to Jerusalem and the region of Palestine, and they translated the Old Testament from Hebrew into Syriac. The version of the Seventy Two was translated from Greek into Syriac, by Paul, bishop of Tella d-Mauzelat, in the time of the emperor Heraclius, according to some people. Of all these translations the Peshitta, which was translated from Hebrew into Syriac, is most exact, in that they say that the Hebrew tongue is closely related to Syriac. But Philoxenus of Mabbug says that of all the versions, that of the Seventy Two is the most exact: this is clear from the fact that our Lord and his disciples adduced testimonies from it in the Gospel and Acts, and so too did Paul.⁴²⁵

⁴²⁴ See Diettrich, *Eine jakobitische Einleitung in den Psalter*, p. 108, n. 1 and p. 110, nn. 1-4.

Moshe's *Introduction* therefore provides us with evidence that Syriac-speaking scholars in ninth-century Iraq—Ḥunayn's contemporaries and 'friends' as he called them⁴²⁶ were still engaging in the types of scholarly activities that had been preoccupying Christian scholars since the time of Origen. Already in the late fifth or early sixth century, the translator of Gregory of Nyssa's *Commentary* on the Song of Songs had included a brief history of the Greek translations of the Bible as part of his translator's apologia.⁴²⁷ It is also worth pointing out that brief histories of the translation of the Bible from Hebrew into Greek—essentially accounts like that of Moshe bar Kepha in Chapter 28 of his *Introduction*, only more compressed—might also be attached to the end of Syro-Hexaplaric manuscripts.⁴²⁸ Given his thirst for manuscripts, there is little doubt that Hunayn would have come across such micro-histories of translations.

The *Risāla* therefore represents a merging of the tradition of commenting on the history (and quality) of previous translations of a text (the Bible) with the bibliographic tradition represented by the *Pinax* of Galen—the first book Ḥunayn enumerates in the *Risāla*—a book which Job of Edessa had translated into Syriac and which Ḥunayn himself

מגא גם גשבש מאדים. אפמה בי לשיא הינא ללשיא מהוישא .. פהלא אפימסהפא גאלא גבהולא בוכוח [ג]בלא הוסעהם איטי גאנשין אביק יו גבן בלהם החלי בפואא. הגא פשילאא גאופשטא בי לשיא בבויא לשיא מהוישא שאילא .. כה, גלשיא בבויא פו ב השבבר לשיא מהוישא אהביק ..

⁴²⁶ Aṣḥābunā See Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 18 (Arabic text) (GT p. 15), along with improvements to the text made available in idem., *Neue Materialien*, p. 17. cf. n. 118, above.

⁴²⁷ See C. van den Eynde, La version syriaque du commentaire de Grégoire de Nysse sur le cantique des cantiques, (Louvain, 1939), pp. 75-76. On the contents of this apologia/letter, see above discussion.

⁴²⁸ For example, the translation of the Septuagint, Aquila, Symmachos, Theodotion, the Quinta and the Sexta are all mentioned (and the history of some of them described) in the colophon to 4 Kings reproduced in P. de Lagarde, *Bibliothecae Syriacae* (Gottingen, 1892), pp. 255-256. For this point, I draw on R.B. ter Haar Romeny, 'Biblical Studies in the Church of the East: The Case of Catholicos Timothy I,' in M.F. Wiles, E.J. Yarnold eds, *Studia Patristica* vol. 34: *Historica, Biblica, Theologica et Philosophica* (Leuven, 2001), p. 510, n. 30.

later translated into Syriac and Arabic. In Ḥunayn's own words, Galen's goal in the *Pinax* was 'to describe the books which he composed and what his objective was in each one of them and what motivated him to write them, and for whom he wrote them, and at which point in his life.'⁴²⁹

Understanding Ḥunayn and other Syriac-speaking Greco-Arabic translators as still operating very much in a world of Late Antique Syriac Biblical and patristic scholarship casts new and interesting light on phenomena that scholars have previously puzzled over. Strohmaier has pointed out that in Greco-Arabic translation literature, translators usually dealt with the names of ancient lands and peoples by merely transcribing them into Arabic. Sometimes, however, these ancient names were replaced by ones which corresponded to the ninth- and tenth-century world in which the translators lived. 'Die Motive für dieses Verfahren,' he wrote, 'sind nicht deutlich.'⁴³⁰ Unclear as the motives may have been, Strohmaier suggested that translators may have been influenced by the Byzantine practice of giving neighboring peoples classical names when referred to in chronicles. There also, he proposed, might have been a certain desire to keep texts purely Arabic at play in the decision to use contemporary names and peoples in translations.⁴³¹

The actual motive, however, may actually have been much closer to home, for the Peshitta Old Testament engages in the exact same sort of selective 'modernizing' that Strohmaier detected in Greco-Arabic translation literature. As in the Greco-Arabic

⁴²⁹ G. Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Isḥāq über die syrischen und arabischen Galen- übersetzungen (Leipzig, 1925), p. 3 (Arabic text); GT p. 3.

⁴³⁰ See G. Strohmaier, 'Völker- und Ländernamen in der Griechisch- Arabischen Übersetzungsliteratur,' *Philologus* 118 (1974), pp. 266-271; quote from p. 266.

⁴³¹ G. Strohmaier, 'Völker- und Ländernamen in der Griechisch- Arabischen Übersetzungsliteratur,' p. 271.

translation literature, the Peshitta Old Testament usually prefers to simply transcribe place names.⁴³² Nevertheless, modernizing does take place: 'Qardu for Ararat, Matnin for Bashan, Indian for Ethiopian, Arab for Ishmaelite,' Weitzman notes. 1 Chronicles 13:5, 18:9 and 2 Chronicles 8:4 replace Hamath with Antioch, for example, and translators inserted locales in their own neighborhood in northern Mesopotamia in place of more distant and unfamiliar names: 'The Aramean district of Soba is thus equated with Nisibis in 1 Chr. 18-19. Harran was substituted for Aram Ma'achah at 1 Chr. 19:6. Mabbog is specified as Pharoah Neco's objective at 2 Kgs. 23:29 (where it is added to the text) and at 2 Chr. 35:20 (where it replaces Carchemish, in fact some 40 km to the north), in the account of Josiah's death at 2 Chron. 35:20.^{'433} This practice of modernizing names can actually be found in the Targums as well.⁴³⁴ In the Syriac tradition, furthermore, the practice of 'modernizing' or 'updating' place names to make them local and contemporary extends beyond the pages of the Bible. Ephrem the Syrian also engages in the practice.⁴³⁵ The Syriac-speaking Greco-Arabic translators were merely doing what Syriac-speaking scholars had been doing for half a millenium.

⁴³² See M. Weitzman, *The Syriac Version of the Old Testament: An Introduction* (Cambridge, 1999), p.

⁴³³ Weitzman, *The Syriac Version of the Old Testament*, pp. 48-49.

48.

⁴³⁴ As Weitzman points out, *The Syriac Version of the Old Testament*, pp. 48-49, most of the examples of modernizing he offers are paralleled in the Targums. See also S.P. Brock, 'Jewish Traditions in Syriac Sources,' *Journal of Jewish Studies* 30 (1979), pp. 213-214 for this point. Brock also offers the following examples of modernizing/updating: Gen. 14:7 Hazazon-tamar in the Hebrew becomes En Geddi in the Peshitta and Deut. 1:46 Qadesh in the Hebrew becomes Reqem in the Peshitta. In both these cases, the Targum parallels the Peshitta in its updating. For these points, also see, S.P. Brock, *The Bible in the Syriac Tradition*, 2nd ed., (Piscataway, NJ, 2006), pp. 25-26.

⁴³⁵ I am grateful to Alison Salvesen for this point. She has given me the following references for this point: R.M. Tonneau, ed., *Sancti Ephraem Syri in Genesim et in Exodum* CSCO 152, SS 71 (Louvain, 1955), p. 65, lines 24-26, Erek = Edessa; Akar = Nisibis; Kalya = Ctesiphon; Rechoboth = Adiabene; Kalach = Hatra; Resen = Resh Aina. According to Alison, the first four of these changes occur in the Palestinian Targum. This is also based on her talk, 'Who's a Suryoyo? Some Syriac Writers on Syria and Syrians,' talk delivered at Princeton University, January 14, 2005.

In a later, Western medieval context, for Adelard of Bath perhaps translating 'Bath' in the place of 'Baghdad,' see C.S.F. Burnett, 'Some comments on the translating of works from Arabic into Latin in

the mid-twelfth century,' in A. Zimmermann and I. Craemer-Ruegenberg, eds., Orientalische Kultur und Europäisches Mittelalter (Berlin/New York, 1985), p. 164.

Chapter 3: Jacob of Edessa: Scholar at Work

Though Ḥunayn's contemporaries made explicit comparisions between him and Sergios of Resh'ayna, we unfortunately do not possess enough evidence about Sergios' career and attitudes to be able to make such a comparison ourselves. We do, however, possess a large amount of material from the pen of Jacob of Edessa, one of the most important philhellenes and scholars to have emerged from the Syriac-speaking world of the Middle East. Jacob studied at Alexandria, translated Aristotle and the Bible, wrote on scientific matters in his *Hexaemeron*, composed a chronicle, wrote extensively on canon law and was responsible for the beginnings of Syriac grammar; Baumstark compared him to no less a figure than Jerome.⁴³⁶ In this chapter, my goal will be to attempt to sketch out a profile of Jacob as a scholar with the ultimate aim of bringing into clearer definition one of the most important Syriac scholarly antecedents to the 'Abbasid translation movement. Jacob represented the high point of a seventh-century Syriac intellectual renaissance and in the course of this chapter we will meet some of his other learned contemporaries as well.

To Err is Scribal

Syriac-speaking scholars were aware that not all manuscripts were created equal and that one needed to take manuscript variation and copyist error into account when closely studying a text. In his letter to scribes on orthography, Jacob of Edessa noted that he regarded the art of the scribe as 'exalted over all the arts.'⁴³⁷ 'Just as,' he

 ⁴³⁶ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 248. For studies on Jacob's work on history, law, Biblical translation and exegesis, grammar and translation, philosophy, liturgy, as well as his life, see most recently B. ter Haar Romeny, ed., *Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day* (Leiden/Boston, 2008).
 ⁴³⁷ G. Phillips, *A Letter by Mār Jacob Bishop of Edessa on Syriac Orthography* (London, 1869), p P. *<*,

ر السابة، العداد من المعالية من المعال المعالية من الم المعالية من الم

contended, 'the art [of the scribe] is great and noble and first of all the arts, so too should carrying it out be much more honorable than all [other] practical endeavors.'⁴³⁸ Those who are scribes, he argued, should be marked by mental acuity and intelligence. Reality, however, did not live up to Jacob's high expectations. 'Instead,' he lamented, 'I see that even here the craft suffers great wrong.

Those who are much more deficient than many others—for the most part in intellect and natural cleverness—are coming in and learning [the art of the scribe] and laboring in it and copying out books, all the while knowing neither what they are seeing nor what they are writing when scribes dictate words. It is not so that they might make more mistakes that [copyists] are brought up [by me], but rather that they might receive [what I am saying] joyfully and learn and be corrected. Let them make haste to come forward [to what I am saying], wisely and discerningly, and they will know that we know many things concerning this art of the scribe—we who read more than they write.

Not only were the people doing scribal work in Jacob's day regrettably not very clever,

they also did not seem to know where their ecclesiastical loyalties were supposed to lie

and could do work for the opposing team. A question posed by a certain Addai to Jacob

asked whether it was right for an Orthodox monk to copy out polemical questions

which were against the Orthodox faith for a Heretic, in return for money or some other

payment. Such a person, Jacob responded, 'is a traitor to the faith and to Christ, even if

he does not sell it off for thirty pieces of silver like the original Betrayer.'439 Scribes

were also prone to laziness and cutting corners when it came to doing their jobs. Jacob provides a listing of a whole host of unfortunate scribal shortcuts.

Indeed, they work hard to fill up the number of quires, [arranged] in sections, either squeezing the lines together or squishing together the letters of the text or stretching them out or shortening them or pressing them together on account of rubrication or adding and taking away letters or splitting a certain word into two (and they divide it in a way that is inappropriate!) or they combine two words into one improperly. We, however, who dictate, make every effort that the sense and meaning of the things which are written be maintained and securely preserved in writing for those who encounter [the text], even if it means that the rubrication at the end of [some] lines is unintentionally corrupted by scribes—something which they are expert in [sc. correctly rubricating], but which they do not do.

Recognizing that his task might be a futile one and required his counseling scribes to

take the more difficult path in executing their work, Jacob nevertheless sets himself to

providing a list of prescriptions for scribes to follow.

But so the objective of the things which we have stated be known to them, look now, I will set down for them a few cautionary statements with a view toward them being more careful about our aim, even if it means that they treat their own interest with scorn when [, in the course of writing a manuscript,] they learn that it would be quite convenient that a line jut out more or lack something, or that there be something which obstructs the sense or damages the meaning.⁴⁴⁰

chiha ديممه: خدمه. 'The scribe who writes out a polemical text for a heretic is a second Judas.' Literally, 'A second Jew,' but cf. suggested emendation of C. Kayser, *Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa: übersetzt* und erläutert zum theil auch zuerst im grundtext veröffentlicht, (Leipzig, 1886), p. 45, n (a GT is to be found on the same page). In light of the Mardin textual witness, Kayser's emendation was correct.

Jacob's first fear was a very basic one: he worried that scribes would not copy the text they had as it was, but would rather let habit interfere with accurately reproducing what the text in front of them said.

In the first place, I order all those who write out the books which I have translated and composed that, as much as they are able, they not intentionally alter any of the various things which they are accustomed to write—neither the letters nor the points—unless if by chance a clear error is found (for every human makes mistakes)—be it ours, or that of the scribe who has learned from us, or of those who collated, or that of the eye of the one who was dictating which slipped and erred from correct sight.

What Jacob was particularly worried about was that scribes who copied his works

would not adhere to his own particular ideas for how words should be correctly spelled,

but would instead change his preferred spelling to conform with what was more

common.

In the next place, [scribes] are not to add and insert those letters which we have cut out of names and words or from other parts of speech, not if the names are Hebrew and not even if they are Greek or Roman. They should not write 'Solomon' معلمته according to their custom, in the place of my own معلمته. I know quite well what it is I have written...⁴⁴¹

⁴⁴¹ A Letter by Mār Jacob Bishop of Edessa on Syriac Orthography (London, 1869), pp. a – m. هدهمهم خفذ خذ خذ خذ محمد محمد و الحاص محمد و المحمد و حلقت محمد محمد المحمد المحمد المحمد و المحمد محمد و المحمد محمد و المحمد و المح

Jacob had good reason to worry about scribal copying errors, and not just with respect to his own compositions and translations. He knew from personal experience that faulty texts were circulating and that they led to a confusion in readers that was sometimes simply insoluble given the nature of the manuscript tradition. In Jacob's thirteenth letter written to John the Stylite of Litarb, he takes up a variety of biblical questions which had perplexed John enough to pass them along. One question related to the sisters of King David and Jacob himself had to admit that he had no good answer: 'As for the question about Zeruiah, the mother of Joab and Abishai and Asahel⁴⁴² and concerning Abigail, the mother of Amasa bar Jether,'⁴⁴³ he wrote, 'it comes from textual corruptions which serve as impediments so that there is no answer to it.' Undeterred by the nature of the biblical texts, Jacob still attempted to offer a solution to John's difficulties: he identified two different textual problems lying at their root. The first problem was with John's own Biblical text:

Nevertheless, for the sake of your repose, O brother, I will not walk away from it empty and silent. Know, therefore, that Zeruiah and Abigail are sisters and that the two of them are the daughters of Jesse and the sisters of King David. As for the textual corruptions which you have in your statement about these women, they are the following. You say that Jether is the father of Amasa, an Israelite man: but he is not an Israelite. Instead, in the place of 'Israelite' (ܐܝܘܪܠܝܐ) it is [actually] 'Ishmaelite' (ܐܝܘܪܠܝܐ)—from the race of Ishmael, the son of Abraham.

In addition to John's personal text being corrupt, there was a more general problem of the Biblical text that everybody possesed having been corrupted by derelict scribes:

ج المعنة، المحتركة ا محتركة المحتركة المحتركة

⁴⁴² cf. 2 Sam. 2:18, 1 Chron. 2:16

⁴⁴³ cf. 1 Chron. 2:17

The second textual corruption is one that has been committed by negligent scribes now for a long time. You say about Abigail that she is the mother of Amasa, the daughter of Nahash (בענד) when she is [in reality] the daughter of Jesse (,>,, and you write down 'Nahash' (בענד) instead of 'Jesse' (,>, -, on account of the similarity of the words. These are the textual defects which have caused error and uncertainty for you and for this reason it is difficult for you to say that Zeruiah and Abigail are sisters and the daughters of Jesse.⁴⁴⁴

The key for Jacob was in understanding 2 Samuel 17:25 in the light of 1 Chronicles 2:16-

17; when he himself sat down to make a revision of the Peshitta translation of 2 Samuel,

he emended his text (perhaps following an already harmonized Greek exemplar) along

precisely the lines he had suggested to John.445

Scribal mistakes could explain other problems as well. John was also interested

in whether the Jews were called 'Hebrews' on account of Eber, the son of Shelah.

Jacob's answer is in the affirmative:

I will state it for you in truth: the Jews are called 'Hebrews' on account of Eber, the son of Shelah,⁴⁴⁶ for it was from him that Abraham, whom God chose, descended by race. [He descended] also from those who were living in Ur of the Chaldeans, among whom was preserved the first and Adamic language. They were called 'Hebrews' by everybody on account of Eber.

⁴⁴⁵ For these points, see A. Salvesen, *The Books of Samuel in the Syriac Version of Jacob of Edessa* (Leiden, 1999), pp. xiv-xv.

⁴⁴⁶ cf. Gen. 10:24

There were, however, false etymologies of the name 'Hebrew' floating around, and Jacob traced these back to a defective manuscript tradition of the Bible. Jews were called Hebrews because of Eber,

it was not because of the fact that Abraham crossed over the Euphrates, as some fatuous person made up and handed down, having come to this by means of a textual corruption in the Greek Scripture, since he saw that it was written in the Scripture 'Abraham the $\pi\epsilon\rho\alpha\tau\eta\varsigma$,'⁴⁴⁷ that is, 'one who crosses over,' from the fact that he crossed the Euphrates River.⁴⁴⁸

Jacob, in fact, believed that many names in the Bible had been changed and corrupted, a view which he puts forth in his fourteenth letter to John of Litarb, where he takes up a number of Biblical questions which John has put foward. The fourth of these questions revolved around the issue of whether the Philip who baptized the eunuch of the Candace and who taught the Samaritans in Acts 8 was Philip the Apostle or another Philip, a deacon; Jacob argues that it was in fact Philip, a deacon and not the Apostle. In the course of the discussion, Jacob refers to the Eunuch's master as 'the Candace, the Queen of the region of Sheba,'⁴⁴⁹ and once he has finished his argument about Philip's identity, he takes up the issue of how he has referred to the Queen. 'Do not marvel,' he tells John,

that it is the 'Candace, the Queen of Sheba' that I have called her and not the 'Queen of the Ethiopians'⁴⁵⁰ like the Holy Scripture does. It is so that I might

⁴⁴⁷ Gen. 14:13

⁴⁵⁰ Lit., 'Cushites,' حمقت

make known to you these things which are unknown to you. Indeed, many things like these are to be found in the Divine Books, in which names and words have been changed—not only in terms of the manner of speaking [about them], but also in the scripture, which even itself wants to speak in a customary manner.

The Bible, therefore, contains information which is strictly speaking, inaccurate, because when referring to people and places, it communicates in the way which conforms to the norms and customs of the world in which it was written. In Jacob's letter on orthography, as we have seen, he gave rigorous orders that scribes not follow their customary ways of writing certain words and adhere to Jacob's own spelling choices. In the case of the Eunuch of Acts 8, it becomes clear why this is the case: when scribes and authors follow custom and habit when writing their texts, it introduces problems. Jacob, who in his life would burn a book of canon law at the gate of the patriarchal monastery in angry protest against the hierarchy's insouciance at the laws' lax observation,⁴⁵¹ was a person scrupulous in his attention to detail and accuracy. 'Know therefore what I am saying to you,' he continues

and pay attention: in the regions of the Ethiopians it has never been heard of nor have there ever been written stories handed down that a woman has ruled in their land. But, in the regions of Sheba, as the histories report, from the earliest time a woman has ruled over them—the daughter of Sheba, their first father. Even in the time of Solomon, the King of Israel, a woman was ruling over them—and she came to him, as it is written. Moreover, in the stories about Alexander the king of the Greeks, it is written that he went to the Candace, the Queen of Sheba. From this, therefore, it is known that that believing official who had come to pray in Jerusalem was from the Queen of Sheba and not from the Queen of the Ethiopians, even if the name [of the place] was different [in the Bible], for the prevailing custom at that time was to call all those who were by color black 'Ethiopians.'⁴⁵²

⁴⁵¹ See J.-B. Chabot, ed. Chronique de Michel le syrien, patriarche jacobite de Antioche (1166-1199) (Paris, 1899-1910), vol. 4 (Syriac) 445-446, vol. 2 (FT) 472. See also, J.-B. Abbeloos and T.J. Lamy, edd. and trans. *Gregorii Barhebraei: Chronicon Ecclesiasticum* (Louvain, 1893), vol. 1 cols. 290-291.

גם שנו אחת ה, כלבאא השבא הלה השבא הלה לבאא הבחשיא איי איי BL Add. 12,172, fol. 122b: האיי הבחשי אור שנו איי איי באבא מושא: איביא האחר באי מליי הלא יהיבן לאי. לא ואוגילי. שביאאא גיארא היי האיי מליי השאבשי בהאבא אלמיא: האאעלים במי שלמא מולא לי בלעה בריגא המכללא: אלא ביא איי בבאבא: הו

As someone who was bilingual and who had studied the Bible closely in both Greek and Syriac, Jacob's comments about the many names in Scripture being changed according to custom could have, in fact, been a recognition of the 'updating' of place names which I have mentioned above as a characteristic of the Peshitta translation.

Nevertheless, Jacob's view that the writers of Scripture or scribes copying manuscripts might alter the text or corrupt it so that it was no longer precisely accurate extended beyond place names. In the same fourteenth letter to John of Litarb, Jacob next takes up the question of whether Mary had a true, physical sister, as suggested by John 19:25—which reported that standing near the Cross were Jesus' mother and the sister of his mother—and his answer is emphatic: 'it was not the case that the Holy Virgin had a fleshly sister—one should in no way think or suppose this, for she was utterly without a fleshly brother or sister!'⁴⁵³ Jacob argues that one Mary present at the Cross was the Holy and Blessed Virgin Mary, the mother of Jesus, while the other Mary an old woman, the wife of Joseph and the mother of the men thought to be the brothers of Jesus (Simon, Joses, Jacob, Judah). This Mary was called the sister of the Virgin Mary 'on account of great love and also because they were thought by everybody to be the wives of Joseph and the two of them were called as such.' Here Jacob introduces again the argument from customary speech in order to explain the

difficulty presented by the text: 'This was the reason that this woman is called the sister of his Mother—from habit—and John made use of it out of custom and wrote of her that she was "the sister of His mother."⁴⁵⁴ The same argument surfaces in Jacob's scholia on the Old Testament. How is it possible that God could both repent that He had made Saul King (1 Sam. 15:11) and yet at the same time it not be possible for God to repent or for the gifts of God to be subject to repentance (cf. Romans 11:29)? This apparent tension only exists for those who take the words of the Scripture too literally. We need to understand that God was accomodating himself to human speech:

...what is the intent of this human passage which is written: 'God repented,' like one who is mutable, when He is in truth immutable—'because he had made Saul King over Israel'? Indeed, the Divine Scripture speaks according to human custom, because it is spoken to humans and because of their obtuseness and the inability of their minds... and as for 'He repented for having made Saul king': when we consider [them] intelligently, these do not indicate to us that God changed and afterwards repented; instead, [they mean] that, having condescended, He acts and speaks, in every instant and in all eventualities, only in accordance with the ability of our weakness, pardoning the stupidity of our childishness and providing us with salvation...⁴⁵⁵

A passage in the book of Ecclesiastes ('All his friends and companions went around in

the streets with weeping and wailing while mourning, and with suffering and pain,

לא איאי איזער א גארא איזער איזע גארג איזער גארג איזער איזע גער גער איזער גער גער איזער גער גער איזער גער גער איזער א גער גערער גערער איזער גערער איזער גערערער גערערער גערער איזער איזער איזער איזער איזערע איזער איזער איזער איזער איזער איזער איזער איזער איזערעערעע

they groaned and lamented his death^{'456}) is explained by recourse to customary speech: 'He said these things,' Jacob writes in a scholion preserved in the famous catena of the Edessene monk Severos, 'according to the custom of the ancients, who would mourn for many days over one who had passed away.'⁴⁵⁷ God's words to Cain after the murder of Abel and Cain's response to God, Jacob explains in another scholion, were never really spoken at all. 'This story concerning Cain,' he notes,

is entirely literal and in our custom of speaking and stated using personification. For God did not speak one of these words to Cain; neither did Cain respond to God with one of these [words] which are written. It is rather the case that the aim of these words is to demonstrate the evil mind of Cain and the sentence of judgment which went forth against him from God on account of the abundance of his evil-doing...⁴⁵⁸

Why, Jacob asks in his Commentary on the Pentateuch, did God make an oath to

Abraham by cutting animals in half and passing between them as Genesis 15 reports?

We have, once again, an example of God accommodating himself to customary human

forms of communication. 'Indeed,' Jacob writes,

the custom held among humans at that time that when they sought to confirm oaths with one another, they would divide an animal and pass between the parts carrying torches and establish a firm covenant. For this reason, the Lord spoke these words to Abraham, to confirm his intention, that He would give him a son.⁴⁵⁹

⁴⁵⁶ NB: This lemma only matches part of Ecclesiastes 12:5. For the Syriac text, see BL Add. 12,144, fol. 122b: הארשה הביה הישה הביה הישה הביה הישה הביה הישה הביה הישה הביה המשישה הישה הארשה הארשה הארשה של הארשה הארשה הארשה הארשה של הארשה של הארשה הוארשה הארשה הוארשה הוארשה הוארשה הוארשה הארשה הוארשה ה

In addition to errors in the Biblical text which resulted from sloppy scribal work, there were statements in the Scripture which were, when judged factually, inaccurate and wrong even if they had been properly transmitted by copyists. These types of errors were the result of God speaking to humans in terms that they could actually discern and understand.

Jacob was not alone in that the error of a scribe or some sort of other agenda on the part of the author might result in a text or manuscript which taken at face value was in fact misleading. His friend and fellow philhellene George of the Arabs might also refer to such behavior when he himself was dealing with some sort of textual problem. In a letter written in 714, George, would explain an inaccurate quotation of the text of 1 Corinthians 15:44 by Aphrahat by suggesting that 'He [Aphrahat] said, 'it is buried,' instead of 'it is sown,' either because he was following a manuscript which he had with him at that time or perhaps he sought to change the phrase ($\lambda \xi \iota \varsigma$) in accordance with his aim.'⁴⁶⁰ A scholion by Ḥunayn in Galen's *De Anatomicis Administrationibus* shows a similar logic at work, this time, however, applied in the realm of a secular text. 'Hunayn said,' the scholion begins,

'We have found in three Greek manuscripts which we have come across up to this point—with the exception of the Syriac manuscript—that, according to what we find Galen says after a little bit, "This middle part is not cartiligenous, but is rather bony." If that is so, then one of two things must be the case: it must either be an error of the scribe or there must be a person who supposed that he was fixing the text and so changed it and corrupted it.⁴⁶¹

⁴⁶¹ M. Simon, ed., Sieben Bücher Anatomie des Galen. ANATOMIKΩN ΕΓΧΕΙΡΗΣΕΩΝ BIBΛΙΟΝ Θ-IE, vol. 1, (Leipzig, 1906), pp. 118-119, For this quote, see Strohmaier, 'Hunayn b. Ishak as a Philologist,' Ephrem-Hunayn Festival (Baghdad, 1974), p. 541. For De Anatomicis Administrationibus as the Latin title of Fī 'ilāj altashrīḥ, see Meyerhof, 'New Light,' p. 693. According to Ḥunayn, this book was translated into Syriac by Job of Edessa and later improved by Ḥunayn; see Bergsträsser, Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq, p. 20 (Arabic) (no. 21).

For George, invoking scribal corruption was a strategy to be used in dealing with Bible difficulties. The omission of the names of Ahazia, Joash and Amuzia in Matthew's genealogy of Christ could be explained away with reference to scribal actions which had an unhappy effect on the text. 'George of the Nations,' Dionysios bar Salibi (d.

1171) reports in his Commentary on the Gospels,

says that Matthew was not silent about these three persons, nor did he change the number of generations and state 14 [generations] instead of 17. Instead, because he wrote his Gospel for the Jews, most of whom were conversant in the Greek language, they wanted to translate it from Hebrew to Greek—and the Greek language is unable to pronounce *het*, *'e*, *sāde* like the Hebrew and Syriac languages, [in fact,] it does not even have deep guttural letters in its alphabet. When the translators came to Joram (مەنح), they said that he begat Ahazia (مرماسه) and that this one begat Joash (عرمه) and this one [begat] Amuzia (مد جمهم) and Amuzia (مد جمهم) Uzia (مدممه). They wanted to write the names in Greek and wrote that Joram begat Οχοζιαν (הבמובא) and Οχοζιας $(\kappa_{1}, \kappa_{2}, \kappa_{2})$ [begat] Iwav (שירה) and Iwac (שירה) [begat] Oµooiav (הגשמשאר) and Ομοσιας (مصمیم) [begat] Οσιαν (مراجعه). When others after them came to write the Gospel in Greek, they skipped over the passage 'Joram begat Οχοζιαν (مدامهم) [i.e., Ahazia (مدامهم)] and wrote that Joram begat الالالمام (مدامهم) [i.e., Uzia (حمد)] on account of the similarity of the names and their differing only in the letter $k\bar{a}ph$. They did this unintentionally perhaps, or intentionally so that the line of generations would add up to 14 for them because the numbers seven and fourteen were greatly beloved to those who believed from the Jews. So in this way were corrupted manuscripts handed down to all the nations.⁴⁶²

⁴⁶² I. Sedlaček and J.B. Chabot, Dionysii bar Ṣalībī: Commentarii in Evangelia (CSCO, series 2: SS 98) (Paris, 1906), pp. 38-39: השהי הישהי ה

See also Hunayn's scholion in Simon, *Sieben Bücher Anatomie des Galen*, p. 117, 'Hunayn said: As for this passage (*kalām*)—that is, his statement which is written down, "in what is among these things," —we have found it in a certain Greek manuscript connected to the passage concerning the muscle. If it is shifted to another language, it must be placed later and be after the statement, "I first saw the muscles of the tongue," and the place of his statement (which is the one written down) is taken by what is set down (i.e., "the muscles of the tongue,"). I believe the manuscript on the basis of which I translated is more correct."

The critical attitude, however, that Syriac-speaking scholars adopted towards texts covered more than just a concern for manuscript errors and other problems in transmission—in other words, more than just textual or 'lower' criticism. There was also keen interest in issues of authorship and authenticity—'higher' criticism. It is to this issue that I now turn.

Manuscripts in search of an Author

In the *Risāla*, Hunayn shows a concern for identifying the authentic works of Galen. On six different occassions, he points out a work attributed to Galen which is actually masquerading falsely under the name of the great doctor or which he is unsure about being authentically Galenic.⁴⁶³ In his entry no. 34, *On The Anatomy of the Instruments of the Voice*, for example, Hunayn notes that the work 'is forged in the language of Galen and is neither from Galen nor from someone else among the Ancients. Instead, it is from one of the Moderns who assembled it from the books of Galen. And the one who assembled it, in addition to this, was weak.'⁴⁶⁴ In addition to the *Risāla*, Hunayn has left us a short work which deals with works of Galen not

⁴⁶³ Cf. Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain ibn Ishâq and His Period,' p. 721.

⁴⁶⁴ Bergsträsser, Hunain ibn Ishāq, p. 23 (Arabic text), p. 18 (GT), also with reference to *idem.*, *Neue Materialien*, p. 18. This is *Vocalium Instrumentorum Dissectio* (Meyerhof, 'New Light on Hunain ibn Ishâq and His Period,' p. 694).

mentioned in his π ív α ξ ;⁴⁶⁵ in this treatise, Hunayn takes up the question of inauthentic books of Galen, rejecting some books as falsely attributed based on their style or their ideas.⁴⁶⁶ He also offers suggestions as to why some books have been claimed incorrectly as Galenic: they might be compilations of Galenic material, or attempts by people to pass off their own work under Galen's name, or simply a result of incompetence people thinking that the author of the first work in a manuscript was the author of all the works it contained.⁴⁶⁷ Hunayn had a very keen critical eye: his judgements about the authenticity of various works of Galen differ little from the assessments of modern philologists.⁴⁶⁸

As with other elements we find in Ḥunayn, this concern with authenticity and the critical evaluation of works is another characteristic of the Syriac scholarly tradition before him. The seventeen letters written by Jacob of Edessa to John the Stylite of Litarb, for example, are full of discussion of such matters—not with respect to Galenic works, but rather with respect to Biblical and other religious compositions. The concern Jacob and John show takes several forms. The first and most basic is one

⁴⁶⁵ See M. Meyerhof, 'Über echte und unechte Schriften Galens, nach arabischen Quellen,' Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Philosophisch-Historische Klasse 28 (1928), p. 533.

⁴⁶⁶ cf. Meyerhof, 'Über echte und unechte Schriften Galens, nach arabischen Quellen,' p. 539, 'Die Bücher, welche wir mit dem Namen des Galens bezeichnet gefunden haben, ohne daß die Beredsamkeit (Eleganz) ihrer Sprache derjenigen des Galenos gleicht, noch die Kraft ihrer Ideen denen, sind folgende…'

⁴⁶⁷ cf. Meyerhof, 'Über echte und unechte Schriften Galens, nach arabischen Quellen,' p. 539: 'Ferner haben wir noch andere Schriften vorgefunden, welche mit dem Namen der Galenos bezeichet, aber nicht von ihm sind, sondern aus seiner Schriften kompiliert und von anderen Autoren verfaßt und noch ihm benannt sind; einige davon waren schon vor Galenos verfaßt worden und sind von anderen mit dem Namen Galens bezeichnet worden: entweder weil der verfasser gern seinen Besitz an galenischen Schriften um solche vermehren wollte, welche andere nicht besaßen, oder wegen des Kritiklosigkeit, welche eine unveränderliche Eigenschaftliche Eigenschaft der Törichten ist, so daß sie, wenn sie in einer Schrift(rolle) mehrere Bücher finden, und sie im ersten derselben den Namen irgendeines Menschen (Verfassers) antreffen, sie denken, daß die übrigen Bücher von dem gleichen Mann seien. Daher finden wir so häufig Bücher des Rouphos in Schriften, welche mit dem Namen des Galenos bezeichnet sind, wie z.B. die Abhandlung über den Theriak (oder über Gelbsucht).'

⁴⁶⁸ See Meyerhof's comments in 'Über echte und unechte Schriften Galens, nach arabischen Quellen,' p. 541.

which wanted to know who the author was of a certain book. Did Moses write the book of Job, John inquires at one point? Jacob's answer is short and straightforward—yes.⁴⁶⁹ David, Jacob writes in another place, was not the author of all the Psalms: there were other authors as well: Asaph, Ethan the Ezrahite, Heman, Moses, Jeremiah, Solomon, and Jeduthun, in addition to others whose names were not recorded.⁴⁷⁰ The author of the Quqite hymns was not Mar Jacob of Pesilta, or anybody else named 'Mar Jacob' for that matter, but was rather a deacon called Simeon Quqāyā, a potter from the village of Gāshīr who lived in the time of Philoxenos.⁴⁷¹ The poet Isaac of Antioch is actually three different Isaacs: one from Amīd who was a disciple of Mar Ephrem and who lived in the time of the Emperor Arkadios, another one from Edessa who lived at the time of Zeno who wrote a homily about a man he came across in Antioch with a parrot named ψιτακκός (lit. 'Parrot') that was trained to recite the longer version of the Trisagion, and a third and final Isaac, also from Edessa, who lived at the time of the Bishop Paul and who initially was a believer (i.e., a Miaphysite) but eventually became a Chalcedonian and wrote *memre* which contained Chalcedonian theology.⁴⁷² And of course, Jacob and John were not alone in their interest in authorship. George, Bishop of the Arabs, Jacob's friend, wrote a letter to a recluse name Joshua in AD 714 in which he

⁴⁷⁰ W. Wright, 'Two Epistles of Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa,' *Journal of Sacred Literature and Biblical Record* 10 (1867), p. FT in Nau, 'Traduction des lettres XII et XIII,' pp. 272-273.

⁴⁷¹ See BL Add. 12,172, fols. 121b-122a. Most of the portion of the fourteenth letter from Jacob to John the Stylite relating to the delightful story of Simeon the Potter is printed in W. Wright, *Catalogue of Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vol. 2 (London, 1870), pp. 602-603.

⁴⁷² BL Add. 12,172, fols. 123a-123b.

responded to a question about the authorship of the *Demonstrations* of Aphrahat (whom he referred to as 'the Persian Sage') by meticulously combing through their contents in order to glean all the information he could about the author's identity, place of living, and time period;⁴⁷³ perhaps as an indication of its quality, George's work on the identity of Aphrahat is cited by modern editors in their introductions to editions of the *Demonstrations*.⁴⁷⁴

Jacob's view of the authenticity of a source would influence his view of its validity. It was not lawful, he noted in a canon on sorcerers, for a cleric or a layman to take for himself an answer from the book which is called 'The Lot of the Apostles:' this work was not in fact from the Apostles. Those who violated Jacob's rule were to be held back from the sacraments.⁴⁷⁵ John wrote to Jacob apparently referring to extra-biblical

⁴⁷³ BL Add. 12,154, fols. 245b-248b (sections 7.2.1-7.2.10 in my edition). This is George's fourth letter. The part of the letter deals with the identity of 'the Persian Sage.' Parts two and three also deal with aspects of the *Demonstrations*.

⁴⁷⁴ See e.g., W. Wright, *The Homilies of Aphraates, The Persian Sage* (London, 1869), pp. 3-4, 8. With his edition, Wright also published the first three sections of George's Letter 4 (see *ibid.*, pp. 19-37); cf. also, I. Parisot, *Patrologia Syriaca*, vol. 1, (Paris, 1894), pp. X, XII-XIII, XIV, XVI-XVII. J. Forget, *De Vita et scriptis Aphraatis, Sapientis Persae, dissertatio historico-theologica* (Louvain, 1882), pp. 1-55, began his work on Aphrahat by publishing George's Letter 4.

⁴⁷⁵ *Nomocanon*, ed., Bedjan, p. 101: 'Concerning Sorcerers: Jacob of Edessa. It is not lawful for a cleric or a layman to receive for himself an answer from a certain book, and neither from that which is called "The Lot of the Apostles," in that it is not of them. Otherwise, let him be held back from the mysteries.' בש הלשיד ו ביושי הב של ביש הש בשבי או שוב של האיש בורי ש של היושי אישי היושי אישי הידי אישי אישי אי pp. 111-112; C. Kayser, Die Canones Jakob's von Edessa (Leipzig, 1886), pp. 2, 21 (Syriac). A shorter version can also be found in A. Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I, (CSCO 367: SS 161) (Louvain, 1975), p. 268, with ET in idem., trans., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 368: SS 162), p. 244. My ET made with slight reference to that of Vööbus. The longest version of this canon occurs in the collection of Jacob's canons in Mardin 310, fols. 202a-202b: المناعمه مم لدنا مرجم للمناجر المالية المرجم المعادية المرجم المحصولة ال בא באש אים נושים אם לאוצ אעובי, את כך הים הכאמוא בשא השלעאי. אם כך אם בא אים כך המאידוו: הסטר לא וגם לם לבו שלייא גימר בא באל ברא כל בלח: טלא כך במא מים גלא אינומת, מה אש היושה השלב בי חה הו הו הי אר א מעצטמר בא הלשהים השלאום הציבו הלה יהשלביו וש ומשו מואי. אך כל מלוי מא איליםת: ולא באלאפים ווינים כל לביים אא מואי. ויפל כל ווי לי ווים. אך גין גידא אשמחת, סוגא אשל לח אב גו צא מות גביים למנאי וגל גבת ה, גול מב גי גו צה. אב Addai: Whether it is right for a clergyman or a حمد אר שבאי ארבא. הבא גבאי מבחל אר monk to take an answer, either for himself or for another person, either from that which is called 'The

stories which stated that Lot had additional people in his family. For Jacob, such statements were 'full of foolishness' and he refused to accept them: they had not been handed down by Moses.⁴⁷⁶ In a scholion on the Nephilim of Genesis 6:1-4, Jacob cites 'stories (which are) old and (are) additional to those which are (found) among the Hebrews' about their destruction by means of brutal civil war accompanied by incredible destruction. The destruction was so enormous, he notes, that people authored ridiculous and erroneous apocryphal stories about it.⁴⁷⁷ In his sixth letter to John of Litarb, Jacob takes up the question of whether the Virgin Mary was of the seed of David; he uses a 'syllogism' to 'demonstrate to every Christian or Hagarene [sc.

 476 'Now as for what was stated about the ten righteous men, whether there were [any] in Sodom: it is full

Lot of the Apostles,' or from the Gospel, or from the Psalter ('David'), or from any other book at all, whatever it is; and if it is not right, what should a person who has used things such as these suffer? Jacob: It is entirely not right for a Christian to take answers, either from 'The Lot'—which is not 'of the Apostles' but rather of the Evil One and his disciples—or from the Gospel or from the Psalter ('David') or from any other book at all. As for the one who does this, if he is a clergyman and will not be persuaded to distance himself from this error, he should fall from his station. But if he is a monk, and educated and he has a certain rank which comes from ordination, in addition to falling from his rank, he should also be cut off from communion for a fixed time. This should also be the case with a layman.' The version of this canon which is recorded by Bar Hebraeus is an abridgement of Jacob's longer, original ruling; in the original ruling, the basis for rejecting the 'Lot of the Apostles' is not its unapostolic origin, but in the abridged version recorded by Bar Hebraeus, this seems to be the basis for rejection. For the 'The Lot of the Apostles' in Syriac, see G. Furlani, '*Una recensione siriaca delle* Sortes apostolorum,' *Atti del Reale Istituto Veneto di Scienze, Lettere ed Arti* (1922-1923) 82.2, pp. 357-363.

⁴⁷⁷ The Syriac text of this scholion is unpublished, but D. Kruisheer has published an ET of it, which I have drawn upon. See, D. Kruisheer, 'Reconstructing Jacob of Edessa's *Scholia*,' in J. Frishmann and L. van Rompay, edd., *The Book of Genesis in Jewish and Oriental Christian Interpretation: A Collection of Essays* (*Traditio Exegetica Graeca* 5) (Louvain, 1997), p. 194 (quote). Also, cf. Jacob's comments on p. 195, '(This destruction) was so enormous and surpassed (all astonishment) that also some heretic and erring people impiously composed poetical myths concerning them, (myths) full of nonsense and error, and said that out of their excrement the earth had been made firm and out of their skin the heaven had been stretched out.'

Muslim] who asks about this that the Virgin Mary, that holy one and God-bearer, is of the seed of David, even if this is not shown forth from the Scriptures.⁴⁷⁸ Because there was no explicit scriptural evidence that Mary was from the seed of David, people in Jacob's day were apparently attempting to prove this to be the case by making appeals to extra-canonical scriptures. Jacob disapproved of using these texts as authorities in such discussions. One should use his syllogism to make this point, and not try to do it

by means of citing a passage as testimony concerning this matter from strange and additional stories which are brought forth in many circles and cited and invoked, but which are not from the Holy Scriptures. For, know well, O lover of truth, that I am aware that there are certain histories which have been written by zealous people of their own accord although they do not possess testimonies from the Scriptures which show that the Holy Virgin Mary, the Mother of Christ, is the daughter of Anna and the daughter of Joachim the Righteous, about whom those who authored those stories assert that he was the son of Panther and that Panther the brother of Melchi was the son of Jannai, who descended in lineage from the race of the tribe of Levi. He dwelt in the region of Galilee, near a spot in the area in which the city of Tiberias was built. But look now, just as I have already previously stated, I do not want to show true what is being demanded by means of an additional proof from a spurious story...⁴⁷⁹

In his thirteenth letter to John of Litarb, Jacob also shows his antipathy to relying on untrustworthy sources for his understanding of Biblical history. One of the many

things John wanted to know was whether the son of the widow of Sarepta whom Elijah

brought back to life (1 Kings 17:22) was Jonah, who preached to Ninevah. Jacob

dismisses this connection as false and lacking a basis in a reliable source. 'Now this

account,' he writes

is written in certain histories which do not have any trustworthiness. They are ascribed to the holy Epiphanios, the Bishop of Cyprus, saying that that child whom Elijah the prophet revived is Jonah the prophet. So far as I am concerned, however, O beloved brother and lover of truth, know well that I speak to you according to the truth: I have never been persuaded to believe that any one of these [stories] speaks the truth nor I am persuaded [now] nor do I accept that I should either think or say that these stories are either from the holy Epiphanios or that that child that Elijah revived was Jonah the prophet—even if and despite the fact that people will contend and say that these stories are from the aforementioned saint, I will not agree that the child whom Elijah revived was Jonah the prophet. Neither, moreover, does it seem to even be true, because the matter is very far and distant in time from the other event. For from the beginning of the reign of Ahab until Pekah, the son of Remaliah, [2 Kings 15:25] the King of Israel, until the time of Joatham, the King of Judah—the ones in whose time it is thought that Jonah went down to Ninevah-there is a total time of 170 years. On the basis of this, the statement [about Jonah being the same as the revived boy] is not to be regarded as true. It has seemed best to me to speak in this way about this matter.⁴⁸⁰

All these examples show that Jacob had a strong sense that certain documents were

more reliable than others as sources for history and that he was most ready to

disregard and even disparage texts that did not meet his standards for trustworthiness.

And Jacob's concern for authenticity was in keeping with broader trends in the world of

Eastern Christianity of his day: the Acts of the Sixth Ecumenical Council (680-681) are notable for the concern they show for outing Monothelete textual forgeries.⁴⁸¹

Jacob could also critically evaluate the authenticity of purported claims of authorship based on style and ideas, just like Ḥunayn would later do with the works of Galen. In his first letter to John, he notes that the Stylite had written out of perplexity—he had read some *memre* containing strange ideas and does not know what to make of them: 'For now you have written to me, O brother,' Jacob noted, 'concerning causes of confusion which have come upon you in certain *memre* that you have encountered in which there are passages that are alien to the thinking of the doctors of the Church.'⁴⁸² The cause of the doubt was a dissonance between the strange doctrines present in the *memre* and their attribution to one of the most important of Miaphysite theologians: Jacob of Sarugh. Jacob of Edessa was emphatic and withering in his repudiation of this attribution:

Understand then and know what I am saying to you: these *memre* which are written and falsely ascribed to the teacher Mar Jacob do not belong to Mar Jacob, nor do they belong to the Spirit who spoke through him and through all the doctors of the Church. Learn Jacob from Jacob and pass judgement on them, that they are not from Jacob.⁴⁸³ Neither are they from Ephrem, his teacher and

⁴⁸¹ See S. Wessel, 'Literary Forgery and the Monothelete Controversy: Some Scrupulous Uses of Deception,' *Greek, Roman, and Byzantine Studies* 42 (2001), pp. 201-220. I am grateful to Peter Brown for this reference.

⁴⁸³ Or, 'Jacob [of Edessa] has learned from Jacob, and passes judgement on them...' This is how both Nau, 'Cinq lettres de Jacques d'Édesse,' p. 435, and Schröter 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' p. 274, understand the passage, presumably because they understand the imperative of عله to be علم. But for عله as an imperative form of عله in this manuscript, cf. also BL Add. 12,172, fol. 81b, ln. 23: ... ۲۵ مد له لحجد حددنده ۲۰ مراه الع علي also see Jacob of Edessa's letter to Simeon the Stylite in BL Add. 17,168, fol. 158a: على جدي جرم مدي : درجد محدم من 'Learn therefore from these things that envy is better than praise...' In support of Nau and Schröter's understanding, however, Yossi Witztum has pointed out to me that PSQ is not the imperative

neither do they come from sound men who possess the mind of Christ. Instead, these *memre* are from a small-time rhetorician and sage from [Jacob's] time period who wanted to garner attention for himself and include himself among [the ranks of] authors. He considered himself to be a writer and an exegete and blew and smeared his boogers on the teacher Mar Jacob. In certain passages of his words, he has at places lifted select thoughts and ideas from the works of the Teacher and inserted them into his own speech. Moreover, he has borrowed certain elements in certain places—relying on [Jacob's] thinking and logic—things which he [actually] heard [being spoken] behind weaving looms, and by people sitting at the gates, and from those who were drinking alcohol and even from those who were repulsively gathered together on seats in dungheaps and speaking foolish nonsense, and he has placed [them], without fear [of being found out] in these *memre* which he has stitched together.⁴⁸⁴

Jacob had his reasons for rejecting the attribution of these *memre* to Jacob of Sarugh.

He was very familiar with the works of Jacob of Sarugh-he had presumably 'learned'

Jacob from Jacob—and he knew that the author of these bogus memre was doing things

that the authenic Jacob of Sarugh never did with his own compositions.

[Ps. Jacob] composed in two meters—doing only this thing well, though he did not realize that he composed them in two meters, with the result that they are known not to be from the Teacher Mar Jacob, who never wrote anything at all in the entirety of his verse *memre* that was not according to one meter—that which is twelve syllables and which is divided into three sections [$\kappa \iota \beta \iota \iota_1$], four syllables apiece. [Ps. Jacob] has neither the accent nor the organization [$\tau \iota \delta \iota \iota_1$] [of Jacob] in the things which he says; neither does his manner of speaking, nor his idea[s],

form of *psaq*, which would suggest that one should read YLP as a perfect and not an imperative. PSQ, however, could be read as the imperative of *paseq*, which would support my reading.

nor his meaning, not even the appearance [εἰκών] and arrangement of his words. $^{_{485}}$

Jacob's objection to the memre's authenticity was built on more than just stylistic

grounds. For him, what was being said was more important than how precisely it was

being said, and on the level of meaning and ideas, Ps.-Jacob had fallen woefully short of

the doctrinal purity of the real Jacob of Sarugh.

Now, it would have been right to consider him worthy of pardon for erring in such small things had he not been found to go astray in bigger matters. Since, however, he is without a clue in everything [big and small], he shall also be without forgiveness [in everything], for he has said many things which do not accord with the mind of the mystagogues of the Church and the Spirit of God will not accept the things falsely attributed to it.⁴⁸⁶

Jacob then offers a list of some of Ps.-Jacob's doctrinal aberrations:

He says that on the first day, spiritual, incorporeal hosts were created along with the heavens and the earth—something which neither Moses wrote nor the Doctors of the Church have handed down. He has also stated that the intelligences—those rational and secondary lights—are not in the image of God, their Creator (I am speaking about the angelic and heavenly hosts, the servants of God who do His will), and that Adam is greater and more excellent than Gabriel and Michael. Moreover, in his mind, he has thought that this sack which has two openings—one for putting in and one for taking out—is the invisible and inimitable image of God. Furthermore, about Satan—who was created with the cherubim and who was made a being of light along with all the spiritual hosts who, because of his arrogance and boasting against God became darkness, saying 'I will ascend to heaven and will place my throne higher than the clouds

⁴⁸⁶ Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' p. 270: جاب المحمد المعدمة العامي المعامية العامي المعامية المعامية المحمد المعامية المحمد المعامية المحمد المعامية المحمد ا محمد المحمد المح

and the stars and I will be like the Most High,^{'487} and who had to fall and be made darkness a long and immeasurable time before this world came into being—[he says that] he fell on the sixth day and that it was because he envied the glory of Adam that he was dismissed from his rank. These things are not to be found stated in the words of the Holy Scriptures, nor are they expressed by the Interpreters of these [Scriptures]. They are, rather, found clearly written in the books of men who are heretics and in error and who are the opponents of God and the mind of the Doctors of the Church.⁴⁸⁸

This list, it turns out, was only a partial one of the erroneous ideas to be found in the bogus *memre*. Jacob goes on to list other ideas present in the pseudepigraphal *memre* which he regards as nothing more than foolish nonsense and then so that 'they will be known to every one and no one will be led astray by them as being written by the teacher Mar Jacob,'⁴⁸⁹ he describes the meter of each of the two poems and gives their incipits: 'these are the two *memre* that this man fabricated and composed as he supposed concerning the Hexaemeron, in the likeness [of the work of] Mar Jacob. He

 $^{^{487}}$ cf. Is. 14:14. Jacob cites this same verse in connection with Satan in his thirteenth letter to John the Stylite, see W. Wright, 'Two Epistles of Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa,' *Journal of Sacred Literature and Biblical Record* 10 (1867), p. **.**

⁴⁸⁸ Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' p. 270: محمدة وصمحه المعادية المحمد المعالية المحمد المعالية المحمد المعالية المحمد محمد المحمد الم המארז הבשל בם הנויזא היוחמום הלעלי ב מוה הנומה ב מהאנה הלו שמא אידה משלבה המשלבה בבסגמס, יידנאמא אילי איט מיט, בלאביא משבינאי בשיביא גאלמא גלבגין צ בינתי סגוב הכיואו אות כק גבו את הכיבאת הריבאת האמבו באו בעות החוא עאוא האול לה ואוין בהולא עו מאנאה הם ושבת בומבא אולביו, מנוחה אול שבו שת בלמם עייולאא האממנוא: הם והקאר והבאל המשאבליוטאמ ובל אלמא מסא עצהבאי בו אמי ולצמיא אמם הלבל בק ביוא הבהברא אמעל בהוש האחה וגיא אוא לדלוגיאי מה ואיל מה אחר לע ונפיר בברו ניצה א מות ונחה א מאי בלבאי: איות איזאיא מאליצעואי וביטבא ובאלא עבלי מוכלל ועמת לת באיםוח ואות אינות ובי וו לשמו השלא הבאש הבאש הבארא מהיצא אים לבשביני האביי הי האבא הבאיב לא בבאש הבא הבא אים אים אין א ביצ א היא אים אי אטחחו האואה געובאים הלשיע הבאבא געבוא בבאבאי מעשט איי משטרשי ואייני אייני אייני אייני אייני אייני אייני אייני א المتعامة GT in ibid., pp. 274-275. FT in F. Nau, 'Cinq lettres de Jacques d'Édesse,' pp. 435-436. In التعامية عدما المعالية ال his thirteenth letter to John of Litarb, Jacob takes up this issue of when exactly Satan fell and how long it was before he fell; among other things, he says that we cannot know because it has not been stated in the Scriptures. See W. Wright, 'Two Epistles of Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa,' pp. - , For commentary on all the different doctrines listed in this passage and discussion of various patristic and Jewish sources where they can be found, see Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' pp. 282-289.

⁴⁸⁹ Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' p. 271: حجلة الملك المحلية Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' p. 271: حجلة المحلية المحلية المحافية المحلية محلية المحلية المح

passed them off as that of the Teacher—not [out of humility], fleeing from becoming known and being praised in vain by singers of empty compliments, but rather [fleeing] from becoming known and having his foolishness repudiated.'⁴⁹⁰

Jacob's attitude towards pseudepigraphy was far from simple, however. He did not simply equate the falsely attributed with bad and the correctly attributed with good; he could grant that pseudepigraphy had its uses and benefits. Perhaps Jacob's kind attitude towards this practice had something to do with the fact that he himself had engaged in it, composing an apocalypse prefaced to the Syriac *Testamentum domini nostri Jesu Christi* in the name of none other than Christ himself.⁴⁹¹ We see Jacob's more nuanced view of false attribution in his eighth letter to John of Litarb, where he responds to three different questions, the first of which relates to the number of books written by Solomon. John was confused: Clement of Alexandria had stated there there were five books of Solomon, but other Doctors of the church—Athanasios, Basil, Gregory, Amphilochios and Eusebios, among others—had stated that there were only three books of Solomon.⁴⁹² Jacob himself was not sure why this might be the case but was willing to hazard a guess: perhaps it was the case that Clement regarded the book

⁴⁹¹ For Jacob as the author of this apocalypse, see H.J.W. Drijvers, 'The Testament of Our Lord: Jacob of Edessa's Response to Islam,' *Aram* 6 (1994), pp. 104-114.

Wisdom as having been written by Solomon and furthermore, he may have divided the book of Proverbs into two parts.⁴⁹³ In order to put John's anxious mind at ease, Jacob also stated that he would append a 'copy of a certain small scholion concerning Wisdom—i.e., the All Virtuous—which is called by many 'of Solomon,' which I composed out of a love of toil while working diligently on a revision of [the translation of] the book, along with others.'⁴⁹⁴ Jacob's scholion on the book of Wisdom vividly exhibits his interest in issues of textual authenticity as well as his keen awareness of the practice of pseudepigraphy and its motivations.

This book, which is called 'The Great Wisdom' among the Syrians and 'All-Virtuous Wisdom' [sc. $\dot{\eta} \pi \alpha \nu \dot{\alpha} \rho \epsilon \tau \circ \varsigma \sigma o \phi (\alpha]$ among the Greeks is actually not from Solomon. It is, however, inscribed and classed by many lovers of toil [sc. $\phi \iota \lambda \dot{\sigma} \pi \sigma \nu \circ \iota$]—i.e., those who read [it]—with the books of Solomon. Nevertheless, it seems to me that two things concerning it are proper and true: that it is not right to decide and assert strongly that it is from Solomon and that we should consider it and class it along with the books of Solomon insofar as its author, although not Solomon himself, wrote and arranged his entire work in the persona of Solomon and placed his inscription on it. Therefore, these two things which I have said are true: that it is not from Solomon and that it is from Solomon.

Jacob recognized that there was a tension between the book's ascription and the reality

of its authorship. At the same time, he also knew that the book, though not actually

written by Solomon had much that was spiritually profitable in it and that the person

who had actually written it had done so with good motives.

This should also be added and stated concerning it: its author was in truth a God-fearing man and of good mind; he was from the Greeks or from the Hebrews and from among those [who lived] in that tumultuous era which was full of persecution against the God-fearing people of the Hebrews, for he was in

⁴⁹³ See BL Add. 12,172, fol. 95a and Nau, 'Cinq lettres,' p. 429 for FT.

the time of Judah Maccabee and his brothers. Like a zealous and God-fearing person, he decided to write the book in the persona of Solomon for the exhortation and consideration of the nation of the Jews. He did not inscribe and write upon it the name of his own person so that it would be worthy of acceptance and credence.

Jacob's experience in translation meant that he had a sense for literature which had

been originally composed in Syriac and literature which had been translated into it. He

could therefore tell that Wisdom was originally written in Greek and not Hebrew,

though he knew the author wanted to give the opposite impression—that the book had

originally been written in Hebrew and later translated into Greek.

It is also probable that he wrote it in the language and speech of the Greeks while giving the idea that he had translated it and transmitted it from the Hebrew language, either because all the people in that time were speaking Greek or perhaps because he sent it to those who were scattered among the Greeks...⁴⁹⁵

Another factor complicating Jacob's attitude towards critical questions was that

his views of authorship were informed by a model of the Christian community which

saw it comprised of some who could handle materials and information which might

cause doubt and difficulty and some who simply could not. He was a spiritual elitist:

dissimulation in the name of the spiritual well-being of weaker brethren was actually

something to be encouraged. This spiritual and intellectual elitism, however, was dictated by a pastoral concern for weaker believers, not arrogance. In his fourteenth letter to John, Jacob writes that he has responded with few words to the subjects of John's inquiry, 'although I know that they need many words.' 'But know well,' he continues, 'I have intentionally kept them short and withheld because I judge that matters such as these [should not be] spoken to everyone.' John, Jacob noted, was a person who had many people asking him about the things he himself had written to Jacob about. As a result, Jacob wrote, 'I will set down the same rule for you: be vigilant and do not give what is holy to dogs and throw pearls before swine...do not speak to everyone about those things which are mystical and which should not be spoken of in front of everybody.⁴⁹⁶ Similarly, in his second letter to John, Jacob informs the Stylite that 'there are many things in the laws of the Spirit which are written and true, but which we should not offer answers about to everyone who asks concerning them...showing prudence on account of the [enquirer's] insufficiency, seeing that perhaps when he hears the precision of the response, not only will he not receive healing with respect to what he asks, but also with respect to what is [already] living and sound within him—everything will die and perish.' Sometimes, Jacob reminded John, when weak and incapable people hear difficult things, they simply leave and go away from the faith—as evidence, he quotes John 6:66. 'Consider,' he therefore tells him,

what it is I am saying to you and let these secret things be for you alone and for your soul and your heart and your mind and your conscience. I do not know what more I should say. Do not tell me what you have written to me: 'I have shown these things to many people, and they have been troubled at them in bewilderment.' To what end do you act this way and show forth these things? For what purpose are they made to doubt and caused to have difficulty and made ill? You see that not everybody is sufficient [to deal with] an idea and not everybody can bear it. Nor does everybody possess a mind which is nourished and beneficial. Instead, sometimes something deadly will come upon those who hear [such things]. Have you not looked upon the seed which fell upon the shallow and rocky ground? As soon as the sun shone and waxed hot against it, it immediately withered.⁴⁹⁷ Know [this], if what I am saying is agreeable to you, and learn to be prudent in places and to say one thing instead of something [else] to various people out of good judgment, either 'I don't know,' or 'I have not learned this matter precisely,' as you get a sense for a person's inability [to deal with difficult matters]. Do not answer each person everything he asks of you and give the bone of bull to an infant, so that he runs away and you become for him a cause of loss, or we choke him off when he is still one of those who is in need of milk.⁴⁹⁸

We see how Jacob's spiritual elitism intersected with his critical approach towards texts in his thirteenth letter to John of Litarb, a letter in which he takes up a large number of questions relating to a number of different Biblical stories. His responses here, more than anywhere else in his letters to John, offer us a glimpse of the critical scholar at work. The second question Jacob responds to in this letter deals with

⁴⁹⁷ cf. Matthew 13:5

an interesting question—the origin of reading and writing. John wanted to know if there was literacy before Moses:

As for the second question which you asked, O brother, 'is what is said true, namely that there was no writing and letters before Moses'? Why have you only stated, 'it is said,' and you have not also made the statement, 'it is written'? Indeed, there is a homily given—know well—and a treatise written [about this topic] by the holy Athanasios, that apostolic man who is truly the teacher of all the church in the entire inhabited world.

At first blush, it seems rather odd that Athanasios, or John or Jacob for that matter,

would have held strong opinions about when writing did or did not exist. Nevertheless,

Athanasios had staked out a position on this issue and held that writing did not exist

before Moses' time. Jacob, however, had no problem in disagreeing with such a

weighty authority.

Nevertheless, it is not true, for even that holy man was a human being, and all humans lie, as it is written [cf. Ps. 116:11] and all humans err because they are human. All humans go astray by nature and all human speech is weak and easy to take apart. There is no one in all of humanity who speaks like a human and yet does not make mistakes in what he says.

More than just Jacob's view of human fallibility was at play in his disagreement with

Athanasios. He also knew the reason why Athanasios had taken the stand on the

history of writing which he had. Athanasios' concerns were not about historical reality;

what was really at stake for the Bishop of Alexandria were contemporary theological

disputes—he was attempting to cut the ground out from beneath the feet of his

opponents.

Now, many people at the time of this saint had gone mad and were speaking foolishness, each according to his own will, and were putting forth many and diverse apocryphal scriptures and each one was citing evidences from them in accordance with their skewed point of view. In addition to all the apocryphal scriptures, those people who were making arguments were also citing the apocryphal book of Enoch. Just like a wise and crafty physician who wishes to restrain the commotion of a sick person completely forbids [the sick man] from all food—although it is not right to do so—both the harmful and the healthy, [Athanasios] forbade and cut them off from everything alike, from those which were true and from those which were untrue, so as to prevent them from being attracted and attached to apocryphal scriptures. Along with all these books [which he forbade], he also [cut them off] from the book of Enoch, which is authentic, saying in one of his festal letters, 'Where have they gotten the book of Enoch from? For there was neither writing nor letters before the Flood.'

Jacob was fond of metaphors which equated the task of the bishop or teacher with that

of a medical doctor,⁴⁹⁹ and he justified Athanasios' deliberately inaccurate portrayal of

the past as a form of spiritual paternalism: this was done for the good of the patient.

As further evidence that Athanasios was not solid in his belief that there was no

writing before the Flood, Jacob was able to point out that Athanasios made his assertion

to this effect rather quickly, almost in passing. One could read between the lines:

This is the statement which this saint made—briefly. It was not with many deliberate words and extended discussion that he made it, such that everyone would definitely be compelled to consent to it.

Athanasios did not have a monopoly on misrepresenting the past for the spiritual

benefit of his audience. Jacob would argue that no less than Basil had done the exact

same thing:

Know well that it is like the following, O you man who loves toil (sc. $\varphi_i\lambda\delta\pi\sigma\nu\sigma\varsigma$) and who is worthy of mention! It is like the statement the holy Basil made in his homilies on fasting, when he wanted to forbid the drinking of wine to those who were fasting, namely, that there was no wine before the Flood. This, too, is of course not true, since there were vines and the human mind—that discoverer of necessary things—was not inactive for that entire period of two thousand years or more and did not come up with this necessary invention of squeezing out wine from grapes and make for itself this essential and pleasant drink.

Just as there must have been wine before the Flood, so too must there have been

writing. For Jacob, it was simply not plausible to hold otherwise:

⁴⁹⁹ See e.g. his comments in his third letter to John of Litarb, BL Add. 12,172, fol. 82a (NB: on the same page, he also refers to Cyril of Alexandria as a 'wise physician of souls,' (حميته المعنه المعنه)) and in his fifth letter to John of Litarb, BL Add. 12,172, fol. 85a.

I am saying the same thing about this invention of letters and writing—it is indispensable. In reality, it is the craft which is above all [other] crafts. Know well, O man, that the mind of humans did not remain throughout that entire period without the discovery of letters.

This whole discussion, however, had more than just an academic tinge to it.

Underlying it was the very real question of the authenticity of the Book of Enoch.

Let this be believed by you: both wine was discovered by the people at that time and they also made writing and letters for themselves and moreover, so far as the book of Enoch is concerned, some have cited it since the times of the Apostles. Jude the Apostle brought forth evidence from it in his catholic epistle. That there was writing, therefore, before Moses, the written stories which are cited by the Jews demonstrate: they are not false. Concerning Moses, they state that his father Amram taught him writing and Hebrew letters along with the writing of the Egyptians while he was a child and still in the house of Pharoah. From this, we have a basis to say that there really was writing and letters before Moses.⁵⁰⁰

⁵⁰⁰ Syriac text in W. Wright, 'Two Epistles of Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa,' Journal of Sacred Literature and Biblical Record 10 (1867), pp. ل – ۱. بط المنابع رجم بالمسلم بالمخب بهاتمه، بها المنابع المالم مع אריוא: וא מרא שב מרא אב ובאבא. אב עו וא ואב ובאבא אונו וע. א אייו א איי אייו א איי א איי א איי א איי א איי א איי האביו האוצ האביו הנפשא אייגויוביום היוור גובל טע ישטיטעוגאיע עדייום שן עביאב האבינים לם המה אהו של היש האשות הביו היושע מה שרו ולש השאה אין האינים האשונים. האשונים האשונים ביו האשונים ביושא כי על איבוא ובאיב: וכל בועא באו: כלר וביועא מי וכל ביועא מי ובו ביועא מב וונו: וכל כלוא וביועא אוואא ה, הבינה לאי הי. הוא אוע בי בלחה ביווא ואי ביוניא באוא ביו בא אי ביוא אי ביו איי ביו איי איי ביו איי איי באדה הלדיה מגיאה מבינובה: מבועו היאם המם בעמו ג אינה שמה לא הביא וליביא אינה איל ובאל בילמ: מה אב בי זם יא משוז אידל שי אב אב אים איש איש איש איאי ז ב מוא אידל איד אב איש אים באש מאם בי איש איש איש איש א בוו הל זבו הר הישא בוגבאה אמשא עבעליו הב בא ויש בא העשבו המשחו הבו האים א בי הישא הישא הישא הישא והיש באא לה בלבאה אב בי בלה באיבים לאא: מבי בשע בעולא בעל מבי ביא אנואא: איבוא ועבאא איני ביא איני ב ישאר זה איז יור היאיד א משאי השאב בא שאר העלי האל בא באליא ועוי אין איזי א מאיר א גע אין איז א איז איז א איז אי בעוד ה א גדואה אסין השאש וגב איבא למי באבא ועו אי בי אבאא מבי א באר העו אי באר א געו אי באר מער א באי באר בער א אל מהא מות למביאי מנוא שי הלאא אי ואבי מידא מוא באשא יאי בישארא ויא באשאי א וא ביא איי איי איי איי איי איי איי מגיאוא מכבלא באי ארי האיניא וובן בלאי שויי איביא וובן באי ארי ארי א האיביא וובן לאי אבא א א א א א א א א א א א א איאנה עבוד גביא האיד לעלא אינע בדלא האיז אראלאי. אב ה, גאדי מרגבא באישאיד באשאנהט בדאר מטי גבל א מראה בג י בא מסא גובלא בק מטי גם יובי שביא געביא: גאפלא אשל מסא מביל . מסיא גבינינאא מה השבעוא גם במאר אלי שלא ובאה וכא מה גאדם אלשת גשנעא האליו: מאר השבע המא לה לשבעולא מודא אלה עלא: געה io עבוא בי שבאי: 10 בבר למ שבעא מוא אלה א המאאר. באמת אסדינה אלא באיש החא מסיא ובינינא באמ וביא מס: גאי שבינאא גבאיבאאי. איש ארא א באינ וג אם גבוא: מדמידעלא למסא לאי מוא: ואב עדיא אישבעה למס, בעעאא ומינה: מאב מה: העיילבו ב מחוובו הה הא האמאשו איה מ מוויו הבאב שהם . ב מחל סובב הנושמם האביאב

Jacob was also very aware of the precarious nature of textual transmision and that books could be lost in the course of time: the Church of his day was only in possession of a fraction of what had been written in previous ages. Jacob's interest in lost books was such that he is reported to have faked a conversion to Judaism at one point in order to discover new-old books. He was convinced that Jews had kept certain books away from the pagans and for themselves and wanted to translate their secrets into Syriac.⁵⁰¹ In his *Commentary on the Pentateuch*, Jacob would refer to the 'story of the Hebrews' when discussing a passage.⁵⁰² John of Litarb was also aware that there were books written by important figures in sacred history which were no longer extant. At another point in his thirteenth letter to John of Litarb, Jacob takes up another question from John: there were books of Solomon which he had heard or read about, but which he had not seen:

Along with all these things which have been stated, now let these other items be set down, for the sake of your repose, O brother, which are really great frivolities and from which there is no profit in speaking. 'What are these three thousand proverbs which, it is written, Solomon spoke? What thousand and

דעל המשאי: ואלפת אב שאהואת אבימת, מפיא מבאיבואא בדיגאא שת מפיא מים והב דיאי בי جمحہ میر جمعہ FT available in Nau, 'Traduction des lettres XII et XIII,' pp. 206-208.

⁵⁰¹ This story is reported in the Armenian version of the history of Michael the Syrian. See V. Langlois, Chronique de Michel le Grand, patriarche des Syriens jacobites (Venice, 1868), pp. 20-21. NB: the comments about different versions of the Scriptures which are also made: 'Les espirits critiques ne doivent pas s'étonner de trouver dans la supputation des temps, des intervalles d'années plus ou moins longs, car nour rencontrons beaucoup des divergences dans la version des Septante et dans les écrits d'autres interprètes, et notamment dans la traduction que le roi Abgare fit faire par ordre de Saint Thadée. Cette version fut revisée par Jacques d'Édesse qui se fit Juif, supposant que les Juifs, par jalousie, n'avaient pas volu communiquer tous leurs livres aux païens.' cf. Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 3, (London, 1872), p. xxii, n and K.-E. Rignell, A Letter from Jacob of Edessa to John the Stylite of Litarb Concerning Ecclesiastical Canons (Lund, 1979), p. 23. Also cf. Langlois, Chronique de Michel le Grand, pp. 244-245: 'Saint Jacques vivait à cette époque, il était né dans la province d'Antioche; c'était un homme rayonnant de grâce et ami des sciences' il fut nommé évêque d'Edesse et feignet de se faire juif, afin d'avoir le moyen de traduire leurs secrets en langue syriaque.' ⁵⁰² See Mingana 147, fol. 4b.

five songs? What is the discourse he gave on trees and roots and on cattle and birds, and on reptiles and fish, and on the remainder of other things?'

Jacob, too, was aware that Solomon had written many works, but he lacked any

information about the precise number and even his Jewish informants were unable to

provide him with detailed information about Solomonic bibliography:

That the man [sc. Solomon] composed, O man who loves toil (sc. $\varphi \iota \lambda \delta \pi \sigma v \sigma \varsigma$), we have heard and read; but none of the commentators has transmitted to us concerning which are the books in which [Solomon] wrote, or as to what they are called, nor have we heard [about this] from a person of the Hebrews. Moreover, we do not know how to speak about what has not come down to us and which has not been handed over to us.

Jacob did not find it surprising that some books which Solomon had written had not

been transmitted to the present. This was the case for other sacred authors as well and

Jacob attached a theological interpretation to this state of philological affairs: we

possess those books which God wanted us to have.

Do not be surprised when you hear that all the books which Solomon composed in his wisdom have not come down to us, for even holy books which Moses wrote and those of the prophets have not come down to us, but rather, [we have] only the parts of these which God permitted Ezra the priest to rescue and write down and organize so that they be transmitted and come down to us, that by them and from them we might learn the knowledge of those things which are proper. Furthermore, not even everything Ezra wrote has come down to us: of the 90 books which it is written and stated that he composed, only those which are read out in church have come down to us.

Jacob also speculated as to why God might not permit certain books to survive. A

recurring notion in many of his letters is that of the spiritual profit or yūthrānā of his

recipient.⁵⁰³ In terms of lost writings, he deploys this same idea to explain their

⁵⁰³ For examples of Jacob's use of the notion of *yūthrānā*, see Schröter 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' p. 268, ln. 2 (Letter 1); BL Add. 12,172, fol. 81a, ln. 23 (Letter 2), fol. 83a, ln. 10 (Letter 4). See also MS Mardin 310, fol. 208a, ln. 2 (letter to Addai the priest which has been excerpted as a source of canons). Also cf. Mardin 310, fol. 212b, ln. 28, fol. 213b, ln. 5 and BL Add. 12,144, fol. 114b (a scholion of Jacob on Ecclesiastes preserved in the *Catena* of Severos).

disappearance. Certain texts did not survive because they had nothing profitable-

*yūthrānā—*in them.

Know, therefore: neither have the books of Solomon come down to us; perhaps there was nothing profitable for the soul in them, otherwise, they would have come down. Maybe, it was for this reason that God ordained that they not be transmitted.

Another possible explanation of lost writings was that of redundancy or overlap.

Perhaps the same things contained in texts which no longer survived were preserved in

other writings; though we have lost some compositions, their contents have come

down to us in other vessels, so to speak.

Perhaps there was in these things which were about trees and roots and animals and birds and reptiles and fish a certain knowledge for the craft of bodily medicine, like what we find in these [books] which are among the Greeks and Egyptians since, as regards the proverbs and wise sayings that it is written he composed, it is known that some of them are those which we possess and read; we neither count them nor do we reckon and see how many they are in the Book of Proverbs which we possess.

John had written to Jacob stating that there were 1,005 songs of Solomon, but as in the

case where John had had a Biblical manuscript which corrupted certain names, John's

numbers here were inaccurate and Jacob had to correct him.

Now concerning the songs [of Solomon], I have already remarked and will inform you, O brother who is worthy of mention, that it is not 1,005 but 5,000 songs that we have in our possession, so that when you have learned this, it will not be demanded of me to say which ones they are, since you see all this abundantly diffused wisdom of Solomon, and you will pardon my feebleness.⁵⁰⁴

Jacob had spent time in Alexandria 'gathering wisdom,'⁵⁰⁵ and perhaps because of his time there, he was aware of the regionally contingent nature of certain church practices. In his canons, he showed an awareness of the different way things were done in Syria, in Egypt and Alexandria, and among the Greeks.⁵⁰⁶ Jacob was also aware that rites in the church developed historically: 'Know, then, O spiritual brother of mine,' he wrote to the priest Addai, in response to a question about the rite of the Blessing of the Waters,

that not all these things which are in this order which now prevails in the churches have taken hold from the beginning among Christian people. They have, rather, slowly increased and been adopted by means of gradual additions and new ideas, till the point that they have attained such a degree of fine harmony and fair construction in the rites which the Church follows in this time, though originally neither the name nor the mention of this rite of the blessing (that is, consecration) of the waters was at all present in the Church, just as even now is still the case among the people of Alexandria and among all those who are in Egypt. Nevertheless, afterwards, when this custom that they bless the waters on the night of this feast [sc. Epiphany] began to be adopted, one by one, priests began to form the habit of saying a short prayer. One would say this [prayer] as he was able and as he knew, but another one [would say] a different one, longer or shorter—in every church, as they knew, in all the

⁵⁰⁵ For Jacob's time in Alexandria, see Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 4, p. 445 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. 471 (FT): אופי אוד אויים, אוד איין אויין אוייע אויין א

⁵⁰⁶ See, e.g., T.J. Lamy, *Dissertatio de Syrorum fide et disciplina in re eucharistica* (Louvain, 1859), p. 168 and Kayser, *Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa*, p. 15. In ibid., p. 17, Jacob refers to the practices of ascetic men whom he knows 'in the East.'

churches which are in the region of the Greeks. And afterwards, Proklos, the bishop of the island of Cyprus,⁵⁰⁷ a holy man and a teacher, wrote and set down that great prayer which is placed in the rite...at times it was used in the blessing of the waters, as is the case now. Although by itself it suffices for this rite and the ordering of the waters and he would not say another [prayer], he would nevertheless sometimes say it over the waters of baptism, with a slight variation of certain words in it. As for that [prayer] which was accepted by the holy Mar Epiphanios, the archbishop of Cyprus: he added and introduced [new elements] to it, as are in other prayers. [He added] that section [which goes] 'May the head of the serpent be bruised under the seal and type of Your Cross,' as I have found written concerning it in the prayer. He constantly used [the prayer] in holy baptism. Slowly, however, it turned into this version of this rite and these prayers which are in it were put together and arranged. We only see four prayers in it which have been arranged and assembled and handed down, though there are a few, pretty ancient manuscripts in which there are only three prayers...⁵⁰⁸

Conclusion to Part I

Jacob's historical consciousness and critical awareness are remarkable; he is

perhaps the most vivid Syriac antecedent to Hunayn, but of course is not the only one.

⁵⁰⁸ BL Add. 14,715, fols. 170a-170b. المر ملب المراج الم المراج المراج المراج BL Add. 14,715, fols. 170a-170b. לבתר אחר האושי האשא בעולאי בא שהוא לביב להא בכש הבי האש איר בעל בעל איר בעל בעל ב דכ האמשע כיג מהמפאא השבעמא גבאיגא באיגא: בגיא געע למגא בלה שביי הא שביי הא האמנה גד הביא אולבי ביא הוא בו ביא הנאי בו בו הנדאה (בו ביא אין לבי אבלא שבר אם בהרווח) האמנות אין הביא אין בי אמלוחת, להוא בישא מה ואלבמעודיא הלאה בלחה ב חנה בו ברבי וים. באוב וים בו שו ועלבא בעוא מאים היוב האומבו וכעול היא עואי וביוש האמל הי היא מואי והאש בעואי גבון ביו איוש ליש ליש אינים שיו עוש ולא הלא שו הא היה אילו מואי. אישי ו[א] שבע המא אים א העולא ול אשו איל אינו א ול ובהואא: כבל בגואא אישי גיגבים מהם. כבלמים בגואא. מלים גאולא היהניאי. כאובן גים בוחש אפימים ומטפוש אוואא: עבוא מושא ומכלפוא: בו בבו טמת א לאא ה, וכאא ומיבא בה בלבשא: מס האמטמר, ושלי. ובא אינלימי ביניאי באנדיים שבוימי. בוב, די באלישנו הסא בא בא הלם. הנישו המשבתאם המשבת הנוח אתל חל המשם לי אתותול בי הרצח לי אר המשבת המשל הלו הבי לי הבי לי אלי מסא איניולא כוב, וין של היא והשבהו שלא אלי מסא לא. שע שהעלא ואל צרא והנוע הוע ב, חלב ובה. לה, איוא ומבלה מו כיו, אפיבינוט וע אבים ומטווטי. אמפי אבל בה. איי ואיול בי להאה אינינואה: הי, ונאוי אים ויש היאונא שלל בעוצא לאנוא בא הי והצבא הארא הבי האבא הי בי להצבא היא בי לבראי די בחדי האיט בי היושר משלאינים איולאינים יבוש מנשי האיט אישר אין באי באיר שאר שאר שאר שאר איין באיי איין איין אי הכמו. אדב בלמהו יב לאמל מוגן במי גלבשהמה, האמנהמה, בג איל מגעגוא בא במיא גרמה. בג איל מגעגוא בא ב מאא See also T.J. Lamy, Dissertatio de تصليل ملاقة في لملام في محلم عنه منه منه منه عنه الله في الملام في المعام. Syrorum fide et disciplina in re eucharistica (Louvain, 1859), p. 100, for Jacob speaking about a custom having ʻpreviously taken hold in this region of the East.' הרא המאה אוארא אראאא איז איז ארא ארא ארא איז איז א איז איז

⁵⁰⁷ It is not clear who this Proklos is. There is no mention of a Proklos of Cyprus in Greek texts (see M. Geerard and F. Glorie, edd. *Clavis Patrum Graecorum*, vol. 5 (Turnhout, 1987) pp. 96-97) and similarly, a Proklos of Cyprus is unknown in Syriac (see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, index, s.n. Proklos). In both Greek and Syriac, the best-known Proklos is Proklos of Constantinople.

Because Syriac-speaking Christians found themselves in a situation where their normative religious texts were written in languages which differed from the language they spoke, studied and prayed in, there is a sense in which translation, re-translation and increasing philological exactitude and concern would eventually become inevitable and unavoidable, at least among Christian communities with a scripturalist bent or in which theological disagreement rooted in the interpretation of the Bible became heated. And an upshot of the critical-philological turn the Syriac tradition took was the emergence of groups of scholars who had a set of skills that could be applied to the translation of other texts from Greek. Muslim patrons who sought to have Greek texts rendered into Arabic, therefore, might be seen as something like a rugby coach looking for rugby players who has the good fortune of stumbling upon an American football team. Such an analogy is slightly misleading, however, since many of the sorts of texts that were translated in the Greco-Arabic translation movement—philosophical and medical—had already been rendered into Syriac before the 'Islamic' period. But the broader point remains: When Hunayn sat down to write his Risāla, the critical awareness and philological technique he had at his disposal were, like medical and philosophical study, things which had deep roots in the Syriac tradition of which he was a member.

Several larger points come out of this recognition. Dimitri Gutas' important and otherwise excellent *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, for example, is unfortunately marred by regular, clumsy attempts to downplay the importance of the Syriac contribution to the fabled Greco-Arabic translation movement.⁵⁰⁹ Such attempts raise the question of

⁵⁰⁹ In addition to problems I have already discussed, one can offer the following as well. Gutas cites Brock's observation that more Greek material was translated into Armenian than into Syriac as a

Syriac and Syriac sources in our understanding of the Late Antique and early medieval Middle East. How should scholars attempt to integrate these sources into our narratives? And more broadly: who speaks for the Syrians?⁵¹⁰ Gutas can be forgiven for his biases against the Syriac tradition: though he can perhaps read some Syriac, he is not a Syriacist and his efforts, such as they are, to speak about the subject reveal he has no profound acquaintance with Syriac language, culture and history; in this respect, he is quite typical of scholars writing about the history of the Late Antique and early medieval Middle East. His attempts to represent the Syriac tradition and give it voice (or, as the case may be, take that voice away) therefore are representative of a host of similar attempts by scholars from different disciplines—usually in Byzantine or Islamic studies—who try (at least sometimes) to speak for Syriac-speaking Christians without really knowing what those Christians said and wrote and while lacking a serious knowledge of their traditions.⁵¹¹

way of suggesting that much ado should not be made about the pre-Islamic Greco-Syriac achievement (Gutas, *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, p. 22, n. 17). Such a point, of course, is misleading for the simple reason that none of the Greco-Arabic translators were Armenians, whereas nearly all of them were Syriac-speaking Christians. The comparison with Armenian is as useful as a comparison with Latin or Coptic (or Chinese, for that matter) would be—it is an interesting point, but insofar as there was not a population of Armenians in 'Abbasid Baghdad or even under 'Abbasid rule, whom Muslim elites were turning to for translation services, it is ultimately not germane. Armenian is not closely related to Arabic and it is not immediately obvious that being the heir to a finely-honed tradition of half a millennium of translation from Greek into Armenian would have made one especially well equipped to render Greek texts into Arabic. This hardly needs pointing out and is to a certain extent irrelevant: Gutas's not-so-secret aim is to credit the Muslim patrons who paid for the translations for the cultural achievement of the translation movement (see, e.g., Gutas, *Greek Thought, Arabic Culture*, p. 141). As I attempted to show with the Western case of the Council of Vienne, having the funding and desire for language study or translation is simply not enough if there is no one with the actual know-how to actualize those wishes.

⁵¹⁰ By which I mean the Aramaic/Syriac-speaking Christians of the Middle East.

⁵¹¹ This is especially true in the case of scholars who know Arabic: the similarlity and comparative ease of reading Syriac once one has spent long hours learning the intricacies of Arabic can easily seduce one into thinking that he or she is qualified to speak with confidence about a field with which one has relatively little experience and familiarity. This false sense of expertise is especially perilous once one realizes that Syriac studies is a field which is still relatively underdeveloped and in which many important texts remain untranslated and even unedited. For these reasons, a little bit of Syriac can be a dangerous thing.

This is no trifling matter, either, for we are not dealing with a small and insignificant minority group when we talk about about Syriac-speaking Christians. I will take the point up later in this dissertation, but we should not forget that these communities comprised the majority of the population of the Middle East in the Late Antique and early medieval period. Gutas' efforts to represent the Syriac tradition consequently bring to the fore the larger question of how the voices and existence of these Christians are (not) integrated into our understanding of the region's history in this period and how this (non) integration distorts our understanding of the early medieval Middle East. The question of these Christian groups and the role they are given in our historical narratives is one of immense importance and is something to which I will return.

A second important point arises out of the evidence that has been amassed in these first three chapters, one which relates to the question of how we think about Late Antique culture in general. One way to take the evidence I have presented in my first three chapters is as a simple assertion of Syrian and Syriac exceptionalism. In the face of the standard seventh-century script of Byzantine studies, one which lists certain Greek genres has having taken a hiatus and lists other (newer, Christian) genres as flourishing, I have, it might appear, simply and vigorously waved a flag from Syria and said, 'Not here! Not here!' And, to an extent, this is precisely what I have done: I have attempted to show that narratives which take for granted the decline or transformation of Byzantine literature between the sixth and ninth-century suffer from a certain myopia: they are impoverished by their implicit understanding that 'Byzantine literature' and 'Greek literature' are coterminous. If, however, we broaden

208

our concept of Byzantine literature to include other languages of the empire which through translations from Greek and by virtue of a shared way of life and common experiences of Byzantine rule—were direct partakers and participants in Byzantine high culture, the dramatic nature of the abatement of certain genres seems much less dramatic. On this view, talk of a Byzantine Dark Age proves unsatisfying when measured by its own standards.

But the signifcance of the Syriac evidence goes even deeper than this: more than make us aware of the Syriac world, so to speak, next door, it recasts our understanding of the importance of the changes in Greek literature which scholars like Lemerle, Kazhdan and Cameron have pointed to. We have seen that the Syrians held on to some secular Greek genres—most notably philosophy and medicine, but they also continued to write history, had an interest in science, and even dabbled in Homer and studied rhetoric⁵¹²—but they did not hold on to other genres—say, epigrams, imperial panegyric and certain kinds of literature. One way of construing this evidence is to read it as suggesting that the things which Syriac-speaking Christians held on to and continued throughout the so-called Dark Age were those things which were actually held by large parts of Late Antique society to be more important and useful than the hyper-urban, rhetorical genres that did not fare so well as the Empire passed through the straights of the seventh century. Perhaps the loss or abatement of these things was not such a great loss, at least in the eyes of educated contemporaries, after all?

What the Syrian evidence does for us is cast into stark relief the literary priorities and tastes many of the educated in late antiquity actually had: though

⁵¹² See J.W. Watt, ed. and trans., *The Fifth Book of the Rhetoric of Antony of Tagrit* (CSCO 480-481: SS 203-204) (Louvain, 1986). On Anton of Takrit (fl. 9th century), see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 278.

humanists and classicists in the West have for centuries often gravitated towards the texts produced by ancient experts in rhetoric, not everybody actually living at that time necessarily shared this value judgement. On this reading of the situation, we would see the fullness of Late Antique high culture as extending well beyond the sort of things produced by men trained in rhetoric. There were many career options, so to speak, which lay before wealthy youth who had the leisure and resources to pursue an education. Rhetoric was just one and was not necessarily the default choice. In the late fourth century, for example, we find Libanios complaining that boys from good backgrounds who traditionally would have received a rhetorical education in Antioch were instead rushing off to Beirut to be trained in law.⁵¹³ Similarly, well before Libanios' complaint, one could also point to the example of Galen: the son of a rich architect, it has been suggested that he could have taken the career path of a sophist or simply become a man of means and leisure. Instead, he chose to pursue medicine. The things he wrote certainly garnered the attention of others and of posterity, too: Nutton estimated that Galen's works account for 10% of all extant Greek literature written before AD 350.⁵¹⁴ Certainly no writer of the Second Sophistic which Galen might have been a part of had he elected to do so, can claim such a staggering figure.

What the Syriac evidence does is relativize the importance of the cessation of certain literary activities as one strand in a larger garment of Late Antique elite culture. If these activities were perhaps not as central to Late Antique high culture as we

⁵¹³ See A.F. Norman, trans., *Antioch as a Centre of Hellenic Culture as Observed by Libanius* (Liverpool, 2001), p. 95. For this point and discussion of Libanios' comments, see C. Humfress, *Orthodoxy and the Courts in Late Antiquity* (Oxford, 2007), pp. 10-11.

⁵¹⁴ For Galen as a possible sophist or wealthy gentleman, see V. Nutton, *Ancient Medicine* (London, 2004), p. 218, and more generally on his background, see pp. 216-218. For Galen as author of some 10% of extant Greek literature written before AD 350, see *ibid.*, p. 390, n. 22.

thought, the loss of at least some of them in the sixth, seventh and eighth centuries should not be seen as being as all that significant after all. One thread may have been pulled away, but the larger garment still remained. And with this understanding, the world of Ḥunayn, in which medical, philosophical and scientific texts were the focus of scholarly energy would have been as or even more continuous with the Age of the Antonines in its interests and priorities than the world of a figure like Libanios. What would make the Syrians exceptional therefore is not that they had an interest in such things, but rather that they continued a broader Late Antique interest in them longer than anybody else.⁵¹⁵

Which brings me to the question of why: what was it about Syria that allowed a sophisticated culture of scholarship and translation to develop and flourish when and where it did? Can I provide some sort of social or economic context that might explain this efflorescence? Moreover, what exactly have I meant when I have spoken of an unbroken Late Antique tradition? To attempt to answer these questions, we must head north from Baghdad, along the Euphrates to a monastery called the Eagles' Nest which was the epicenter of much of the Syriac-language scholarship of the early Middle Ages. Trying to understand this place, we will perhaps at last find some answers.

⁵¹⁵ I am heavily indebted to the comments, suggestions and words of Peter Brown for the ideas in the previous four paragraphs.

Part II: Identity Politics: Society in the Early

Medieval Middle East

Chapter 4: Canon Fodder⁵¹⁶

In the first section of this dissertation, I have attempted to sketch out two phenomena which characterized the Late Antique and early Medieval Middle East. The first relates to the 'Dark Ages' when viewed from Arabic and Syriac sources: at the same time that certain types of Greek literature were at their nadir, some of precisely the same genres, most notably philosophy, were flourishing and reached their zenith in Syriac. This thriving is related to a second phenomenon: between roughly the fourth to ninth centuries, the Middle East witnessed the translation of a large amount of Greek literature into Syriac and the eventual development of a highly refined and subtle Greek-into-Syriac translation technique. By the late seventh century, a sophisticated culture of scholarship existed among Miaphysites in Syria. At the same time as these two phenomena were taking place in the Middle East, a third was occurring as well: what might be called the region's gradual sectarianization. Michael Morony has noted that one of the most important transformations in Middle Eastern society between the fourth and ninth centuries was the shift from a society where personal identity was a matter of 'language, occupation, or geographical location' to a society where the most important aspect of identity was a religious one. For Morony, the shift to a 'society' composed of religious communities' 'is fundamental to the formation of Islamic society

⁵¹⁶ I have presented portions of this second section of my dissertation in the papers 'You are What You Read: Qenneshre and the Miaphysite Church in the Seventh Century,' (at the Corpus Christi Classical Seminar in Oxford, March 4, 2009) and as 'Jacob of Edessa and His Hexaemeron,' (as part of the Princeton Religion Department's Spring 2010 workshop in Late Antiquity and later at the Religion in Late Antiquity Colloquium under the same name). These papers are eventually to be published in collected volumes, the first edited by Philip Wood, the second, edited by Sarit Kattan and Lance Jenott.

and serves as the single most important distinction between Muslim and Hellenistic society.'⁵¹⁷

I am concerned here with the shift from a Late Roman/Byzantine society to an 'Islamic' one, but Morony's insight will nevertheless prove useful. It is this third phenomenon—the gradual sorting out of Christian communities in the Middle East into increasingly distinct and separate groups—a process that started well before the birth of Islam—that will provide us with the social context needed to make sense of the first two. It is my contention that, so far as Middle Eastern Christians are concerned, these three phenomena—the emergence of religion as the most important aspect of personal identity, the flourishing of certain kinds of Syriac literature in the seventh and eighth centuries and the translation of large amounts of Greek literature into Syriac—are related. My argument will be a very simple one: it was the conflicts generated as the Christians of the Middle East slowly separated themselves into distinct churches that fueled the translation and re-translation of Greek texts and also promoted the flourishing of Syriac literature.

My argument in this section of the dissertation will need to zig-zag back and forth in time a bit, but my ultimate destination will be a monastery called Qenneshre located across the Euphrates River from the town of Jirbās, very close to the modern Syrian-Turkish border.

⁵¹⁷ See M. Morony, *Iraq after the Muslim Conquest*, 2nd ed., (Piscataway, NJ, 2005), p. 277. NB, in his 'History and Identity in the Syrian Churches,' in J.J. van Ginkel, H.L. Murre-van den Berg, and T.M. van Lint, eds. *Redefining Christian Identity: Cultural Interaction in the Middle East since the Rise of Islam* (Orientalia Lovaniensia Analecta 134) (Leuven/Paris/Dudley, MA, 2005), p. 1, Morony places this development between the fifth and seventh/eighth centuries: 'The emergence of separate sectarian group identities among Christians in the Middle East was an historical process that lasted from the fifth century to about the seventh or eighth centuries, but the memory of that process was a powerful factor in the preservation of sectarian group identities.'

Jacob of Edessa and Canon Law

Before we can arrive at Qenneshre, however, I want to make some soundings to try to get a sense for the lay of the religious landscape in the seventh and early eighth century. I would like to look at some of the evidence for the state of inter-Christian relations which can be found in sources which have scarcely been utilized by scholars studying the seventh and early eighth centuries, most importantly, the canons of Jacob of Edessa (d. 708).

After serving as Bishop of Edessa for four years, Jacob quit his post in anger over the widespread neglect of canon law; the year was perhaps 688.⁵¹⁸ Jacob confronted the Patriarch Julian about the lack of observance of church canons, but was advised to go along with the times. Outraged, he burned the book of canon law before the gate of the Patriarch's monastery (probably Qenneshre⁵¹⁹) yelling out that he was burning something that was superfluous and useless.⁵²⁰ Jacob would go on to write a treatise against those who dared to transgress the law and trample ecclesiastical canons.

⁵¹⁸ For a discussion of the possible dates of Jacob's ordination and the conflicting evidence, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 248, n. 3. Also see, O.J. Schrier, 'Chronological problems concerning the lives of Severos bar Mašąā, Athanasios of Balad, Julianus Romāya, Yoḥannān Sābā, George of the Arabs and Jacob of Edessa, *Oriens Christianus* 75 (1991), pp. 66, 74. Neither Bar Hebraeus (cf. J.-B. Abbeloos and T.J. Lamy, edd., *Gregorii Barhebraei: Chronicon Eccleisiasticum*, vol. 1, (Louvain, 1872), co. 289), nor Michael the Syrian (cf. J.-B. Chabot, ed. and trans., *Chronique de Michel le Syrien, patriarche Jacobite d'Antioche*, 1166-1199, (Paris, 1899-1910), IV 445 = II 471 (FT)) give the exact year of Jacob's ordination, but both state that his tenure as Bishop of Edessa lasted four years. H.J.W. Drijvers, 'The Testament of Our Lord: Jacob of Edessa's Response to Islam,' *Aram* 6 (1994), p. 107, states that it was 684 without offering any evidence for this view, though this is the date which Schrier argues for in *ibid.*, p. 74.

⁵¹⁹ In the life of Theodota of Amid, we see Patriarch Julian living at the monastery of Qenneshre. See St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 547b (section 13 in my edition).

The complete work is now lost, but excerpts from its twelfth chapter have been preserved in two different manuscripts in the British Library.⁵²¹ What survives of the twelfth chapter of this otherwise-lost treatise casts light on Jacob's understanding of the very nature of Christianity and the importance of the law to its true practice. For Jacob, Christianity as a religion was actually older than any other religion—paganism, Judaism, 'barbarianism,'—it was something as old as creation itself. Christianity was nothing more than the covenant between God and humans.⁵²² This covenant between God and humans had been established a number of different times—no less than six: God established a covenant with Adam in Eden when he commanded him not to eat the fruit of the tree; the covenant was established a second time with Adam and his

congregation and entrusted his see to Mar Julian the Patriarch and left with two of his disciples, Daniel and Constantine. For before he left, he had argued with the Patriarch and bishops about their observing ecclesiastical canons, but nobody listened to him at all. Instead, they were counseling him to consent to all things according to the age and happenings. On account of this, he brought forth the book of ecclesiastical canons and burned it with fire before the door of the patriarchal monastery, crying out and saying: 'It is these canons which are trampled upon by you and not observed that I am burning like things which are superfluous and useless...' cf. the ET available in S.P. Brock, *A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature*, p. 269.

השיויאי. אם הביארי א איזא א גרומט א גרומט א גרומט א גרועא א גרועדאי. אם השאר א א איזא א איז א איז א איז א איז א סוכיוא השמאא איי ויאיש ויאי איי הי הומיייא בי כוכו הוא השמאא המהו הואאי. הבי באמי ואד בעלא הגיעלא גאבל עהשבא גבעישא לבלגא מיאי. האי גלגאולי שהיל בוביא אילי לב גבעיידא בשליים אלאי. אפי בובוא אייי איייא ומבע בטוא מוא ביסוא מסעיייא. בי אבעלי ובשייעא פומם ג'הא בענידא, 'Christianity is an exalted and necessary thing and an exalted and venerable name. Although it is thought to be something new and later than all the ways of life and religions of humans, it is, as I judge, the first and most ancient and that which is older than barbarianism, and paganism and Judaism, and all the doctrines and religions which the mind of humans have introduced into this world, and it is, so to speak, equal in age to the creation of human beings, even if it has taken up this noble and venerated appellation in recent times, from the point when Christ our Savior, for the sake of our salvation, became a human and delivered us. When he had taught us all the true knowledge of God and made us true worshipers of the Divinity, he bestowed upon us this great and marvelous name. For what is Christianity save the covenant of God with humans?'

children after Adam's sin; the covenant was established a third time with Noah and his children; a fourth time, with Abraham and Isaac; a fifth time, with the children of Israel by means of Moses. The sixth establishment of the covenant was done by God himself, in the person of Christ.⁵²³

The Last-Chance Covenant⁵²⁴

The seventh and final covenant between God and humanity, Jacob writes, will come at the end of the world, when God judges each person according to his or her deeds and rewards or punishes him or her accordingly. The time of the coming of the seventh covenant will be like that of the previous six: when God sees His covenant

⁵²³ cf. BL Add. 12,154, fols. 165a-165b [bracketed parts taken from BL Add. 17,193, fol. 58b]: منحك וא גאנמא גלמול בעושאי. בין אוכול, גבוא אלמא לבושא טוביא בין לבמו. המבמ בפוגימא בים ומים ואיאסה, הנאי המבר לה נבהמא הפהמוא ובנה התבה לבצילהוא ביאהי הוחוח ונלוח בו אבי לה. גא האל בבינוא ואיעא האינא היא אלא אלי אלי איר איני גאואאמים האא גא לבינואא. מיבא היא איר א אין אין אין אין איר א האלחא עדא ובן. הגד אולאמעת ואאניתר לבעידאי ובאו שבאיאואי [גבללא ה היער א ארא אין א ארא אין א ארא אין א ארא אין א יר אישאי גאישאי: גאיביא אאאמים אפער איביאא שלא איביא אארי איביא אאארי איביא אאלי איביא אאלי איביא אאאמים איבע א להוא נהע הלהוא בההת, ובנאא זי זאובי. להוא אבומת האישות א וובנאא זותבי. להוא בהא זבע אישו איל ביו ביו בה שא הבאבאיש. הכאו אינו נושא אי בי מביל איר ואילוא מבוא אאבל בובני ובנים aison inter a restruct and and the internet out at us a land a contact a contact אמל אאא ביואאי ביישה אמינאא א ביישה מסיטי מיט מעט איניגע איניגע איניגע איניגע איניגע א איניא איניא א א איניא ג אסט ארידי ארטע איזים איזים איזים איזים אריי אראא איזי ארטער איזים איזים איזים איזים איזיים איזיים איזיע איזיע א באבו באבי השוצאי הי ביו לא ביו לה ביו לה ביו לה ביו לה ביו באבת אה בל בה אי ובאנה הבאבאי אירי ובאבר [באב] how the covenant of God with humans, is from האבר באבת למבא. the time when God created the first man in His image and placed him in Paradise, whatever this is, and set down for him a law and a commandment which was from Him and gave him freedom of the will and admonished him to keep it when He said to him: "If you keep the commandment, you will live, and if you do not keep [it], you will die." We see that the covenant of God therefore was set down and entrusted to humans once, then it was set down and given to humans [many times afterwards]. And after many things: [concerning the covenant of God with is which men: how it was set down and came into being many times and was trampled and transgressed] [Jacob writes]: And a second time [it was given to] Adam and to his children, which is now this law which is natural and unwritten. And a third time with Noah and with his children. And a fourth time, with Abraham and Isaac. And a fifth time, with the people of the children of Israel by means of Moses and in written form. And after other things [Jacob writes]: As I have stated, in this way the covenant of God has been handed down at various times, though changing, until the coming of Christ. At that point, when He saw the wickedness and severity of the sickness of humanity, He Himself, the author of Laws and the maker of covenants came to the race of humans and became human and went about with them and taught and instructed them. And He in His person renewed the covenant with humans a sixth time, though it was not with ink that he wrote it or on stone tablets as he wrote by means of Moses. Rather, it was by means of his saving blood which he shed on our behalf that he wrote his covenant.'

⁵²⁴ I am grateful to Peter Brown for this title.

being disregarded and sees that nobody is observing His law, He visits his people and

renews it. Jacob believed that such was the situation in his own day:

Now the seventh and last and most perfect of all the covenants is after the end of this world, in that blessed world without end. He is going to establish a covenant with us when He gives to each person according to his deeds: to the righteous, that which eye has not seen and ear has not heard and which has not entered into the heart of a human, [cf. 1 Cor. 2:9] but to the wicked and iniquitous and the transgressors of the law, eternal torment. And this is obvious. Just as in these other periods, as soon as He was seeing that His covenant was completely disregarded and there was not even one person who was observing His law, He immediately was visiting and renewing His covenant, and gradually drawing closer to that which is more perfect. It is in this [same] way that He is now acting after this sixth period, which is with us Christians, for as soon as He sees that we are completely watering down His covenant and abandoning His law—just as, I think, it has now been abandoned by us and we have acted wickedly more than any generation, and look, the seventh period is already at the point of coming insofar as all his laws and commandments are trampled upon and negated (it is for this reason that this labor of zeal concerns me)—He Himself will pass into this world and will hasten to the completion of that seventh covenant. Although the same Person establishes it with humanity as established the sixth, this is nevertheless clear: He does not always establish a covenant with us peacefully, but He will rather establish with us this seventh covenant in a frightening and forceful and intolerable manner.⁵²⁵

Jacob was quite serious in his belief that the laxity he saw around himself meant that

the advent of the seventh and final age of the world was at hand and that a dramatic

and violent end was quite possibly approaching. H. Drijvers has argued persuasively

that a short apocalypse prefaced to the Clementine Octateuch was, along with the Octateuch itself, a text containing a large number of ecclesiastical canons, the work of Jacob of Edessa.⁵²⁶ A colophon to one manuscript of the work states that it was translated from Greek into Syriac by 'Jacob the poor' in the year 998 of the Greeks—i.e., 687 AD, perhaps one year before Jacob quit his see in disgust and anger at the nonobservance of church canons.⁵²⁷

Known as the *Testament of Our Lord*, this short apocalypse has Jesus appear to the Disciples after the Resurrection. They ask Christ to tell them of the signs of the end times, so that they will be able to tell the believers at that time in order for them to be aware and be saved.⁵²⁸ In response, Jesus describes famines, wars, political events and portents in the heavens which will all indicate that the end is nigh; Jesus' description of the state of the churches offers us a clue to how Jacob himself viewed the church of his day:

There will be many disturbances in the assemblies and among the nations and in the churches, for wicked shepherds will rise up, unjust, despisers, greedy, lovers of pleasure, lovers of profit, lovers of money, full of words, boasters, arrogant, perverts, empty, effeminate, vainglorious, who come like adversaries against the ways of the Gospel and who flee from the narrow gate [cf. Mt. 7:13] and who cast away from themselves everyone who is wounded and have no pity

⁵²⁶ See H. J.W. Drijvers, 'The Testament of Our Lord: Jacob of Edessa's Response to Islam,' *Aram* 6 (1994), pp. 104-114, esp. p. 107.

⁵²⁷ See I.E. Rahmani, *Testamentum Domini Nostri Jesu Christi* (Mainz, 1899; repr. Hildesheim, 1968), p. 148: جند تحقیق کی العنای العام محمد محمد کا محمد محمد کا محمد محمد کا محمد کا محمد کا محمد کا در محمد کا در ا 'The second book of Clement is ended. It was translated from the Greek language to Syriac by the poor Jacob in the year 998 of the Greeks.' cf. Drijvers, 'The Testament of Our Lord,' p. 104.

⁵²⁸ There is no critical edition of the *Testamentum Domini* and at least five different versions of the apocalyptic portion of it have been published: P. de Lagarde, *Reliquiae Iuris Ecclesiastici Antiquissimae* (Vienna, 1856; repr. Osnabrück/Wiesbaden, 1967), pp. $- - \sqrt{}$; Rahmani, *Testamentum Domini Nostri Jesu Christi*, pp. 2-18; F. Nau, 'Fragment inédit d'une traduction syriaque jusqu'ici inconnue du *Testamentum D.N. Jesu Christi*,' *Journal asiatique* 9° sér., 17 (1901), pp. 233-256; J.P. Arendzen, 'A New Syriac Text of the Apocalyptic Part of the "Testament of the Lord," *Journal of Theological Studies* 2 (1901), pp. 401-416; A. Vööbus, ed. and trans., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367-368; SS 161-162) (Louvain, 1975), pp. 1-7 (Syriac) and pp. 27-31 (ET). See Drijvers, 'The Testament of Our Lord,' pp. 104-105, 110, for discussion of these various publications.

on My wound. They reject every word of truth and treat every path of piety with contempt. They do not mourn over their sins. Therefore, unbelief, the hatred of brothers, wickedness, presumption, bitterness, contempt, jealousy, enmity, contentions, acts of theft, acts of oppression, drunkenness, debauchery, wantonness, excess, fornication, and all acts which oppose the commandments of life will be spread throughout the nations, for mournfulness and humility and peace and acts of mercy and gentleness and poverty and pity and weeping will flee from many because the shepherds heard of these things but did not practice them, nor did they show forth My commandments, being [instead] examples of wickedness among the people. And there will come a time when people from among them will deny Me and will cause confusion in the land and will trust in worldly kings; but those who persevere to the end in my name will be saved [cf. Mt. 24:13]. At that time, they will set down commandments for humans that are not according to the Scripture and commandment,⁵²⁹ those things with which the Father is pleased, and my elect and holy ones will be rejected by them and will be called unclean among them. But these are orthodox, pure, earnest, gentle, merciful, earnest, pleasant...⁵³⁰

In the Testament of Our Lord, Christ himself speaks of pastors not obeying His

commandments; this emphasis on obeying the commandments of Christ should be read

in light of Jacob's treatise against those who transgressed ecclesiastical canons. For

Jacob, the commandments and teaching of Christ went to the very heart of his

understanding of Christianity. It was the teaching of Christ which distinguished

⁵³⁰ My translation. Syriac text in Vööbus, *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367; SS 161), pp. 3-4: . Kaz Khazi in a ana a ang kazi ka a לא באושיו. בבשיואי. בנאי. דעובת מעאימא אי. דעובת במאו ואי. דעובת בשבאי. שבדאי, דב אי. שב אוואי. השולשואי העשמאי השישאי בשאילו שיש שישי שישי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישי דאמנעלעם ב. השדעת דב ואדשא אלעים אי. הדיטת בעומם בא ואבדאי. האא עאנת של ואבדאי דיאל. הבסלת בשדראה לא משרטולאי שנאול אינאי ביינטלא בינטולאי ביניטלאי בביניטלאי בעורבטלאי. עדידה געבהואא וניהואא הבלמע מבהדהואא מלי המדב מסהבאינא להמבל פהפגיא דיייאי נבוהם. ביו בי שביאאי. אבאא מבביבאלאי. ושינאי וויעראאי. מעומאאי מבשבואלאי. מעולאי. בביאי. בלא ודבהולא שרכה אנה ולא בבום. האפלא נהתה בהפונא ולל. כו מנה , אהם להפאא וושיבהולא באראי. רשו אב ע מושבו אי וכוא אי אירא גי ורבו הבי מישט ע מושט אי אישור ז אידא ובי אי איא אי הרא הדבואה אשנה גם והכמובי ביוה ביוה לי לי לא לא אינו בי ומוה בי ומוהה ב המובא לבועואי ל ריש איא באבא הפטעונא. בשלי באי המשאלי בא העמים באי העשאלי בא העיע באבא איי בא השיי איי א איי בא איי איי איי איי by Vööbus in The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 368; SS 162), pp. 28-29, though it should be used with caution and checked against the Syriac text. For this passage and Jacob, cf. Drijvers, 'The Testament of Our Lord,' pp. 111-112.

 $^{^{\}rm 529}$ For the disagreement of various manuscripts on the wording of this phrase, see Arendzen, 'A New Syriac Text,' p. 409, n. 1.

Christianity from all other doctrines and religions. Furthermore, insofar as Christianity was the covenant of God with human beings, Jacob asserted that we should call people who lived before the time of Christ yet who were looking forward to His coming 'Christians.' God gives humans a covenant and a law and commandments to live by; though it has come in different forms and in different times through different human agents and then finally through God's own Son, it is nevertheless still fundamentally the same agreement between God and humans.⁵³¹ 'Indeed, therefore,' Jacob wrote

with Adam in Paradise, with [Adam] and with his children after the departure from Paradise, with Noah and again, with Abraham, with Moses and the Children of Israel, and again, with us Christians—the word of God which came to human beings and the law and commandment that was given to them by Him to observe and live by—it is this that is the covenant of God which is with us humans—even if they [sc. the covenants] have different titles, being given through different persons.⁵³²

בעשהת, האפאוט, בדראת האאטיע, בערה. עלב השעוא בישלעא הואא ביאלרת אין בערים אוראים בישלעא ביאלים ביש מיבא גאלאא גיר אבאר איש בי געוליי בי בישלייא בי באמלי איי גאולאא איי געוליא ביא מעל איי גאראלא איי גאליא איי געוליגא دا معلمه المعنية المعديمة المعديمة والمعالية عند مع ما معد المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالي בתוא וא אדיו וגא אביו וגבול א המורעולא אינלי בי בעור א אילי בק בלתה העלאא. בא עובה אא אילי מחות הא הי הי מוכיא א ומות באולא ורשיעואי. אב בו שלעומא וום ואשולכה. אוהם ביו גורשייוא בשביא המה אהיאילי. הבגור באוליאה באנביא המהל. אב בוהם, שבל אינויא העוד ראוניאיז האיאוראים ב טמוביו טמור . ב טמשאינו ביו האמניל ביו היאישיים הניהב אתל טמיו והביאב כמבי הסום. כלל מוא אבין ומייא בייליטואא בי בלמי ועלא. בו למיבא ואלמא ה מעל מני א מיי א למי believed in His sufferings and who have been delivered by His death and have been called by His name, are named "Christians" in the Greek way rather than Messiah-ites and He is the covenant of God which is with us, on account of Whom we are also called "Christians." Moreover, the covenant, as I have said, is named 'Christianity,' the teaching of Christ our Savior, by which we are distinguished from all the doctrines and religions of humans in this world. It is in this way that we have stated that Christianity is ancient and first, more so than all religions—I mean paganism, and barbarianism, and also Judaism, this error which the errant killers of God now hold to. But the original Judaism which is before the coming of Christ should be called 'Christianity,' if it was faithfully expecting Christ and because His coming was prophesied. As for all the other ancient covenants, which were made with the righteous of old, they should also be called "Christianity," if they were all awaiting the coming of Christ. For this reason, we have said that Christianity is older than all religions, since we call the covenant of God which is with those who were expecting Christ "Christianity."

Jacob went so far as to explicitly define what exactly Christianity was:

Definition of Christianity: We say therefore that Christianity is the covenant of God which is with humans, which is perfected by means of Orthodox faith in God and by means of a knowledge and confession of the Economy which God the Word suffered on our behalf when He became human, and by means of being born again through water and the Spirit [cf. John 3:5] and partaking in the sufferings and death of the only begotten Word, our Lord Jesus Christ, and by means of receiving His holy Body and Blood, and by means of a pure and holy way of life, which imitates Christ as much as it is possible for a human to imitate Christ. It [sc. the covenant] is fulfilled through the observation of the laws and commandments of God and through the hope and expectation of the resurrection of human bodies from among the dead and of the judgment and recompense of the world which is to come.⁵³³

Understanding Christianity in this way was pivotal for Jacob; this definition was the way by which 'we are distinguished and different from all the pagan nations and the Jews, those who are in error and wicked and without law.'⁵³⁴

In the covenant between God and humans that was Christianity, the human end of the bargain involved observing God's laws and commandments. Jacob's attempt at confronting the Patriarch Julian about widespread abuse of ecclesiastical rules must have sprung from a deep conviction that the very essence of Christianity was being violated and vitiated by a certain antinomism prevalent in the church. Apparently, some people in his day held to the view that merely having correct belief was sufficient

לשלא העיש בשי אשטיש גארשא גארשא גארשא בעושאי. אר נעסיר אש אשטיא באי איש ארשיא בג. בעג בד_ב משא בשערשא באנשר

to make one a Christian; this was a view which Jacob strongly rejected. Being a Christian demanded both proper belief and proper action. Neither one of these was optional: 'This is a complete description of Christianity and this is the canon and definition which explains it,' Jacob wrote,

Along with an Orthodox faith which is in God, it demands the doing of good works, being distant from evil activity and wronging [others], and the keeping of the laws and commandments of God. It is not in accordance with the empty belief of the transgressors of the law, who erroneously assert that Orthodox faith alone suffices us for salvation, apart from keeping the laws and apart from praiseworthy action and pure and chaste behavior...perfect Christianity is not faith alone, nor is it only action, but rather the two of them together.⁵³⁵

Because true Christianity required keeping the laws and commandments of God, Jacob took these rules with utmost seriousness and left behind a sizeable body of material relating to their proper observation. Jacob also went so far as to translate canon law from Greek into Syriac and H. Drijvers has argued that Jacob identified his own story with the plight of Cyprian in the third century.⁵³⁶

Jacob's Canons as a Window into seventh-century Syrian Society

It is our good fortune that Jacob took ecclesiastical law so seriously, for his

canons shed much light on certain aspects of society in Umayyad-ruled Syria. I will

especially rely on Jacob's replies to dozens of questions asked him by the priest Addai.⁵³⁷

⁵³⁶ Drijvers, 'Testament of Our Lord,' pp. 108-110.

⁵³⁷ 71 of these were published by P. de Lagarde, *Reliquiae Iuris Ecclesiastici Antiquissimae* (Osnabrück, 1967) pp. محد - معد and T.J. Lamy, *Dissertatio de Syrorum fide et disciplina in re eucharistica* (Louvain, 1859), pp. 98-171. Harvard Syriac 93 and Mardin 310 contain two additional rulings by Jacob in

If we assume that these canons were motivated by real-life situations which he was aware of, either through personal experience, or through reports, we have here a remarkable source for seeing just what was actually happening 'on the ground' in terms of how Miaphysite Christians in Syria were interacting with and living along side both other non-Miaphysite Christians and also with non-Christians. Viewed from the perspective of Jacob's canons and other sources, the situation outside the world of rarefied theological dispute was messy and chaotic. The implications of differing on the finer points of Christology do not seem to have sunk in with certain segments of the Christian population. The image that emerges from Jacob's canons as well as other seventh and early eighth-century sources (some from outside of Syria) is of a society where a separation between competing and rival churches has taken place at an ideological level but where the actual sociological implications of the intellectual and doctrinal partition of the Christian community have not been fully worked out. The lag-time between these two separations is reflected in the frequent displeasure and anger expressed by Jacob in his canons, as well as in other sources emanating from ecclesiastical elites.

To begin, it seems as if Miaphysite and Chalcedonian clergy were often on friendly terms. If, Addai asked, out of necessity it happens that a believing clergyman sits at the table with a heretical clergyman, what should happen: should the Orthodox person say the blessing and the Heretic eat, or vice versa?⁵³⁸ Lest it be thought that

this collection, in addition to a number of other canons of Jacob and further answers to more questions by Addai. For this information, see R. Hoyland, *Seeing Islam as Others Saw It* (Princeton, 1997), pp. 592-608.

such meal-time encounters might have only occurred in unavoidable situations, it seems that Miaphysite and Chalcedonian monks were even living together. In another question, Addai wants to know whether it is appropriate for an Orthodox monk and ascetic to have as a friend a heretical monk and ascetic who is not a family member? Can they live next to one another and share in everything except for the liturgy?⁵³⁹ Jacob's response, that loving the Lord and keeping his commandments and being friends with a heretic were mutually exclusive propositions cannot have been selfevident to all in his day. Indeed, Addai had spoken about sharing everything save the Eucharist, but it seems that members of rival churches were even sharing this.

There is evidence of Miaphysite monks not being disturbed at knowingly having members of rival communities living among them. In the early eighth-century *Life* of Theodota, the protagonist finds a man in the monastery of Mar Sergios the Broad learning the Psalms who is a secret Nestorian. 'This man is a Nestorian,' Theodota tells the Abbot, 'and you trample upon the law of God when you give him the Eucharist and seat him at the table of life.' But the Abbot and monks disregard his warning. The Nestorian was a carpenter and they did not want to send him away. The Nestorian is

גם איזאר אולא איז 'Addai: If, out of necessity, it happens that a believing clergyman sits with a heretical clergyman at the table, which of the [two should happen]: let the Orthodox say the blessing and the Heretic eat, or that which is the opposite of this? Jacob: if it were not completely defined and decreed that Orthodox clergy and priests are not to eat with heretics, there would have been a place for this question.'

eventually sent out from the monastery, but it takes a demon dramatically possessing the heretic and boasting at his joy at spiritually damaging the monks of the monastery through intercommunion to force the issue.⁵⁴⁰

The sharply polemical literature that exists between Miaphysites and Chalcedonians might suggest that the divisions between these two groups were quite clear; conversely, however, it might suggest precisely the opposite—the divisions between the groups were not clear at all, hence the high volume and strident tone of the authors of such works. Indeed, it is not obvious that strong disagreements about Christology were of equal importance to everyone, nor that they of necessity had easily translatable sociological implications. We might suppose that these disagreements were significant only to those who had attained a high level of literacy and education. But even the importance of these disagreements and the seriousness with which the literate and the scribes took them is called into question by Jacob's canons. Is it right, Addai asks Jacob, for an Orthodox monk to write out questions and answers which help the heretics against the Orthodox faith in exchange for money or some other form of compensation? Such a person, Jacob responded, was a second Judas.⁵⁴¹

If there was an apparent lack of concern among some Miaphysites about helping to propagate the theology of the Chalcedonians, it should come as no surprise that there was also confusion as to whether a Miaphysite should abide by the canons of

 $^{^{540}}$ For the incident, see St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fols. 553a-553b (sections 98-103 in my edition).

⁵⁴¹ Lamy, Dissertatio, p. 154: حتاب المعادية معمد المعادية المعانية المعانية المعادية الم ماد معادية المعادية الم ماد معادية المعادية ا

heretics. Is it appropriate, Addai asked, that we keep a heretical canon? No, Jacob, responded, not even if it is justly and rightly stated.⁵⁴²

Apparently, it was the switching of allegiances by individuals that was causing at least part of the confusion about jurisdiction and the applicability of canons and ecclesiastical decrees across competing communions. How should we treat, asks John the Stylite of Litarb, a heretic who has been excommunicated by his superior for his sin and who now wants to be received with us?⁵⁴³ An Orthodox man, John also reports to Jacob, has been excommunicated by a heretical bishop. What should he do?⁵⁴⁴

Confessional loyalties could vary, even within a family, from one generation to another. Addai wanted to know if it was lawful for Orthodox children to make

⁵⁴² A. Vööbus, ed., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367: SS 161) (Louvain, 1975) p. 259: محمد حل مدک ، تصبح حل مدک ، تحمد هغم. ET in *idem.*, trans., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 368: SS 162) (Louvain, 1975), p. 236: 'Addaï. Is it proper to keep a canon of the heretics? Ja'qōb. It is not proper, even if it decrees rightly and correctly.' Though note that in his thirteenth-century work on canon law, Bar Hebraeus would cite the Council of Chalcedon as an authority. See, for example, Bedjan, ed., *Nomocanon Gregorii Barhebraei*, (Paris, 1898), pp. 77, 109; see his listing of Chalcedon as a source, p. 2.

⁵⁴³ Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 367: SS 161), p. 244: . معبد. معبد المعند المعند معلم المعند الم المعالي المعال المعالي الم معالي المعالي المعالي

⁵⁴⁴ Vööbus, ed., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367: SS 161) p. 245: محمد، کم ندی کم دی ک

memorials and celebrate Eucharists for their parents who were heretics and who had died in heresy. What if, he went on, the parents were heretics, but gave their son to the Orthodox to become a monk? Here we have an indication that putative sectarian boundaries apparently did not impede the donation of children to monasteries. Jacob's answer was nuanced: if the parents had been supporters and proponents of the heresy, no Eucharists or memorials should be celebrated. If, however, they had been among the 'simple people' and had held to the heresy out of a 'certain custom' and 'not out of wickedness' then the question of whether such memorial services might be celebrated in their honor was left to the judgment of the children.⁵⁴⁵

⁵⁴⁵ The canon is in Mardin 310, fols. 212b-213b, and seems to be among the things which Jacob tells Addai he will inform him about although he has not asked (see Jacob's comments on fols. 207b-208a), though the structure of the canon seems also to be in the question-and-answer format. Harvard 93, fols. 25a-26a contains a longer version of the same canon, but is in the form of a question from Addai and an answer from Jacob. Because it is damaged, the text I give here is from Mardin 310, with brackets indicating material included from Harvard 93 and not found in the Mardin ms. The double brackets mark a dittography in Mardin 310. الما المان ا בסהב: בארא אין היא היא היא היא אין היא אוא מסיי בי במו שיש ביו יש בא איא ג'א (הסובי: בא איא ג'א בי בי איש איא ל בים אלא משיר. באבא שביא אשל. בלטך ועלשמא א ושטא גאבמאאי. לא בצבא ונתסא גסבואא בה הבהשבא נשבייהת. אלא נעהו הלא לשבילא בליבלאי ולהל בגבוטאא מעל גרמה, בוב וב ב المتصلفين ورجد وروايع حصلي لورما الأحدام التعسلوالم ومندر ورواي المحد وموسل ومستر ومناهم ואוים ואיי. ובל בלח לא וול וניסה למס בסוביאי באמתניאי. אלא בלח חוא וול וניל באאי ושדמתחם אך די איא זים הכל אלמאי. אביא גאב לא ביו מפטאא שנייבאיל ואאיאאי. בוק אב מגאי. אך מס [[אך מס)] גלא אב בלוא גאבינא גאוע כק כמשביא ואמטא. אך גק מגאי. וגל גאמטא אב מובא כי בכונטאא אב אאממט, מטט שלי בייא כמומים: גלא כך של אטאטאא נאבו אוצ בק במיבאי. אבא גמהל בוב, בי אבמאא: מבבים בוביאיא גאפ בגיים ליאי במיאי מביר גאבייגא טרייתי[מיטימי] טראיפטרטרמי גרא וגי גרמיא גיביא גים ביא ראא בשיברא בא בשיברא בא בשיברא בא כמה בשיא ווע לבו בי ווכלל שנשא אביו א למו בי ולמו בי לא בה בה באי היו בי לא בה בה מיו בי לאבי בי בבוש בעמח אסומסוסבעי אב האבמות לאשביא והכביא וסובה ובעא הסיוביא על מיח

Children and parents might have opposing Christological loyalties; so, too, might servants and masters. John, the Stylite of Litarb, another one of Jacob's correspondents, asked him about the case of a person who had been the servant of a heretic. Though the servant suffered afflictions from his heretical master because of his beliefs, he never denied them. What benefit would such a person have?⁵⁴⁶

⁵⁴⁶ A. Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 367: SS 161), p. 243: הסעה. בקיד זדאוע איז אראנינטא עע מסעבי אפלג גא עלב ביא על בעינטא מרא קפי. איבטא באלבים מבטא. הלבעה על גע ארא געודע באסובי. בא ביי של אנג אונא אינג בי אוניע באסובע ממח לאמת.

Addai:] if it is فقد محم. אלא ביוא במשא עוליא ויבל מלאי ויבל מלאי ויבל מלא ויבא מוייש אוייש אוייש אוייש אוייש אי right for Orthodox children to make memorials and Eucharists for their heretical parents? And if it is appropriate for their son-if he is a priest and a monk and they gave him to become a monk among the Orthodox—to make remembrance of them at the Eucharist and to pray for them with incense. Along with these things, whether there is profit for him in these things and for the one on whose behalf they take place when he has died in heresy, is something I want to learn by this question. [Jacob:] There is much perplexity in this question because the precision of the canons of the fathers does not assent to there being a memorial and a Eucharist for unbelievers along with believers. Since, however, the aim of your question is known, that is, what it looks at, it is not right that we neglect it and leave it in confusion. Instead, look at the ancient stories and to the actions which have taken place from time to time by the Fathers, and let us make a distinction among them in accordance with the different doctrines of those who have passed away. If then, they were upholders of the heresy-that is, supporters and proponents on its behalf, and opponents and revilers of the Orthodox faith-then it is not at all right that there be a Eucharist and memorial for them. Instead, it is right that the memory of their name be entirely blotted out, if possible, like enemies of God, so that the person not be brought forth on lips in a casual way. This, however, is the case, even if he was not the cause of the destruction of one of the believers. But if this is the case, it is right for there to be circumspection here, even if they were more evil in the heresy, that a believing person not perish because of scrupulousness, as happened once among the Fathers and they prudently permitted that the names of wicked men who supported heresies be proclaimed in the holy dyptychs. But if the people about whom this question is are from the simple people, and they held to the heresy out of a certain custom, so to speak, and not out of wickedness, not one decision should be made about this. Instead, let it be given to their children: be they priests or laypeople or [persons] wanting to make for them a memorial and Eucharists and prayers. Let it be left to their authority. [As for that which is said by Dionysios and Hippolytos, namely that it is not right that there should be a memorial and Eucharist for unbelievers by the believers: it should be known that it was stated by them about pagans, for they called them 'unbelievers.' At that time, moreover, Mar John said that there should not be a Eucharist for unbelievers; he spoke concerning listeners, those who were not worthy of baptism, and not concerning those who were baptized.] At that point, whether or not they come to have benefit, their Orthodox children will be making Eucharists and prayers on their behalf. We will also make mention of the story of the Maccabees, who offered up sacrifices and Eucharists on behalf of those who had passed away in paganism, and of the story of Palladios the bishop, which is concerning that girl who passed away when she was among the listeners, we will leave the precise determination concerning these things to God, who is merciful and a just judge.' Bedjan, Nomocanon, pp. 73-74 contains a shorter version of this canon. I am grateful to Peter Brown for pointing out the similarities between the logic here and that behind the Islamic notion that everyone is born Muslim and it is their parents who make them Jews, Christians or Magians. For this idea, see, Abū al-Ḥusayn Muslim b. al-Ḥajjāj, Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim, vol. 4 ([Cairo?], 1955-1956) p. 2048-2049 (Kitāb al-qadr, bāb 7, no. 25).

In such a world in which ecclesiastical affiliations are still very much in flux and far from set in stone, it is not hard to imagine that there might be what one might call confessional code-switching, where a person claimed allegiance to one group or another depending on the situation and the circumstances he found himself in.⁵⁴⁷ One thing is clear: people were moving back and forth between different church groups. This was not just going on in rural areas and far away from the centers of theological power. There was confessional shape shifting going on under the noses and in the company of the most elite theological elements of society. Nearing the end of his life, Theodota of Amid encounters a confessional code-switcher near the famous monastery of Qenneshre, the intellectual heart of the Syriac-speaking Miaphysite movement in the seventh century. A foreigner from Garamaeus, this person was among the people from the monastery who came out to meet Theodota. Though the *Life* notes that this old man was honored by the monks of Qenneshre and by no less than the Miaphysite Patriarch Julian as a holy man, Theodota saw through his projected identity and publically called him out as not being a true believer. Though some of the monks doubted Theodota's accusations, the suspect eventually came clean: he was baptized a Nestorian and, going deaf because of ear problems, he had agreed to be circumcised if a Jewish doctor would give him treatment. Theodota was right, yet again.⁵⁴⁸ Baptized Nestorian, a convert to Judaism, and living among the spiritual elites and highest

 ⁵⁴⁷ I am influenced here by Peter Burke's comments on 'occasionalism' on pp. 94-96 of his What is
 Cultural History?, (Cambridge/Malden, MA, 2004), and also by conversations with Richard Payne.
 ⁵⁴⁸ St Mark's Jerusalem, 199, fols. 559a-559b (sections 173-174 in my edition).

leadership of the Miaphysite church—his confessional passport had acquired a number of stamps in the course of his life.

The *Life* of Theodota gives us another report of a confessional code switcher. Earlier in the story, Theodota had gotten word of a *faux* holy man going about the region of the Arsanias River claiming to be Theodota himself. He would mix with the heretics and act as a heretic, the text tells us; similarly, he would mix with the Orthodox and act as an Orthodox. The *Life* suggests that the real motivation of Pseudo-Theodota was the large amount of gold he was amassing. The false holy man is eventually confronted by the real Theodota who exposes his fraud. Demons possess him and he confesses publicly his true theological colors. 'I am a Nestorian,' he wails before Theodota, 'I do not agree with the Orthodox, nor with the Chalcedonians.' Theodota drives out the demons and the man becomes properly Orthodox.⁵⁴⁹ Now Miaphysite, now Chalcedonian, now Nestorian: confessional shape shifting was easy, common and perhaps even lucrative in this environment.⁵⁵⁰

Jacob's canons speak about Orthodox children celebrating memorials for their heretical parents and heretical parents donating their children to Orthodox monasteries, but the Orthodox-heretical divide might exist in the same generation, within the same person, and this diverse doctrinal heritage might provide another opportunity for confessional code-switching. Such hybrid figures defied easy

⁵⁴⁹ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 554b (sections 118-119 in my edition).

⁵⁵⁰ Although the case is slightly different, mention might also be made of the Christian named Severos who claimed to be Moses and thereby took much gold and other forms of property from Jews in Syria. See A. Harrak, trans. *The Chronicle of Zuqnīn: Parts III and IV. A.D. 488-775* (Toronto, 1999), pp. 163-164. According to Theophanes, this happened in AD 720-721 and Severos claimed to be the Messiah and Son of God; see C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor: Byzantine and Near Eastern History, AD 284-813*, (Oxford, 1997), p. 554. It is Michael the Syrian who gives the man's name as Severos; he also adds that Severos claimed to be the Messiah or sent by the Messiah. See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 2, p.490 (FT) = vol. 4, p. 456 (Syriac).

categorization and had multiple ecclesiastical loyalties which exasperated more institutionally-embedded church leaders. We have a good example of such a figure from a Syriac source originating in Iraq. In a letter written while he was Bishop of Nineveh and during the Byzantine occupation of northern Iraq after 628, East Syrian Isho'yahb III (d. ca. 658) bemoaned the construction of a Miaphysite church near the dung heap outside one of the gates of Nineveh by a group of people whom he referred to as the 'dung of the church.' The leader of this group of people, Isho'yahb noted, had an Orthodox (i.e., East Syrian/Nestorian) father and an heretical mother.⁵⁵¹ This individual, Isho'yahb observed with disdain, went from his mother's doctrine to his father's doctrine, to 'true paganism' and intercommunion with heretics.⁵⁵² Fear of the authorities drove him back to Orthodoxy (i.e., the Church of the East), but once the fear had subsided, he returned 'like a dog to his vomit' to his old ways and to actively supporting the work of heretical agitators. For such a person, confessional allegiance seemed to have been a function of many things and a concern for true doctrine was at best only one of them.

In this story, the half-Miaphysite, half-Nestorian leader's boundary crossing was not unique. Isho'yahb angrily lamented that among those helping in the construction of this Miaphysite church and with its activities there were former Nestorians who had become Miaphysites. They were, he wrote, the ancient offspring of that heresy and

⁵⁵¹ Note that the Seventy-Second Canon of the Quinisext Council forbade marriage between Orthodox individuals (male or female) and heretics (male or female). See H.R. Percival, *The Seven Ecumenical Councils of the Undivided Church: Their Canons and Dogmatic Decrees*, vol. 14 of P. Schaff and H. Wace, eds., *A Select Library of Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers of the Christian Church. Second Series* (New York, 1900), p. 397.

⁵⁵² Compare this with Maximos the Confessor's alleged heritage in his Syriac *Life*: his father was a Samaritan and his mother was the daughter of a Persian Jew—'mixed' families were dangerous. See S.P. Brock, 'An Early Syriac Life of Maximus the Confessor,' *Analecta Bollandiana* 91 (1973), p. 314. I am grateful to Peter Brown for this point.

belonged to it both by their own will and by their own volition. Miaphysites were even being helped by people who had converted *away* from their confession: Ishoʻyahb observed that the prosperity of the Miaphysite community was in part the result of the help it was getting from former Miaphysites who had converted to the religion of the rulers (i.e., the Byzantines) but who were still aiding their former brethren. This was an environment in which people were moving around quite freely between confessions, Christian and non-, and where religious identity was being used instrumentally.⁵⁵³

⁵⁵³ See R. Duval, ed., *Išō*'yahb III Patriarcha: Liber Epistularum (CSCO: Series Secunda, 64) (Paris, 1904), pp. 82-83: מוד לבד ב מהאמעודו השהני ודאלש ב מהולבו הנשוב א השי איש העוק (עור לעור ב מה מוח און אין אין א במביא באוננא טוביא לבי בעוואמת אבנעה בי בעואה ו געווי ווואואי וי ב מביא איז האואה וי בשני איז במביא במביא באו ו הכוווא ביצא אנג והק בות הן הו מעש ולחה . הצא ות הן ששבוא וחנה , ושלול א אול מהם גיאוכב של מר א בערוני אין איש גיביאי געליא גבליים אין בבייא גרא ביא לפייטיט אין א א מיוא א מיוא אייי אייי י במוש אל גבת עות גבת עות איר משואה ולוא האי הא גאולה באואשובה איר גבוגין. בכו לא הלאב בנו השואה במוש . מכמי ב ואה האבלא בישא השבחל אים בה. הלא מוכה לעה אים הבואה הביא האים אבואה איבוא אים אים אים אים אים אים אים האבאא לבגבי עודא הי אילים ושהי לעבר ומות שועליא כלוא אולכים יה לבכבו. נקבה שהכלוא דו אושאל הביגו לאיי בינה הקאו הלעלא הא בעה היא איי בינה לאיי בינה לאיי געיי גע געיי גע געיי גע געיי גע געיי געיי ומות ולו בא ומושאי אישי ואם אוש בבואה ושבי ובאה ובאלי ובאלי וביר או בייא בועא בייא אישי אישי אישי אישי אישי אישי ובוואא להבוא מיבא ובלמו אשון ולאבעאמ ובעיא לאנה איר ובבעוא בולארב ע באראוב. וה הובא אם באואא ליב השיא היובין בכליהם. היאיי איא הי גהוצא אהשיוא והגובי כבל יחת כל . מחליו שישיוחה השאש במוד היא היש בברי, עוד השישה והויש של היא אינו אי מאוש בא מאוש בא מא אי שיש אי אי אי אי אי הלמה והשי ההלמה האימה היה ביוא המנוח וה ביואי. המה והיה בלמה האימול בשחלי וו שי. האב וביא מפסאיא ליב לע לה. הה וגיך אבא לי בי מלייא אואגם בשחשי. הבי אבא גי בי מלייא הו לשבא: nui, כב הו גאבא: הוגא בלע ב נה הו הו גאבא: האולבל אחב כאו הלא של א ב ב יו מנהאא עענדא בלבעיא איני נוד בהפעיא גואיאוארא אול בין ; כלעל להא בגולו גאלמא אולבע. בגבא גבי,as regards these wicked people and blasphemers, whom the text is about, the force of their insanity has taken them with demonic hope and they have found a time for their prosperity through causes that are known:...Second, the great number of wicked helpers who were formerly of their heresy, but who are now of the doctrine of those who are in authority... Fourth, along with these things, the activity of Satan, which is stirred up in disobedient children who do not hold fast to the love of truth that they might be saved by it; therefore, they have gone in the way they have and they have drawn near as they are accustomed to: speaking no word of wisdom and neither presenting a sensible petition nor demonstrating evidence of a connection to our Lord. They have been completely incapable of doing anything worthy of a meeting before the reasonable rulers. They completed their task and returned to stir us up; they found a ruler who was there who would completely help them and they went out to beneath the dung heap which is before the gate of our city, even as they are the dung of the church, and they made for themselves a place of scorn and contempt with the name of 'church' at a place close to all

The fluidity in personal identities that existed was mirrored by a fluidity in the ownership of real estate and church property: churches and church vessels were changing hands between rival groups and this raised its own series of questions which confronted Jacob in his canons. What should be done, Addai asks, to a priest who takes an altar and its vessels from Chalcedonians and then gives them back?⁵⁵⁴ John the Stylite reported to Jacob an instance of zealous Miaphysites seizing a church from heretics. Before a bishop was able to pray in it, they had held a liturgy in it and celebrated a Eucharist. There was also the opposite situation: a church of the Miaphysites seized by the heretics and then re-taken by the Orthodox and used for a service before a Bishop could say the appropriate prayers. What did Jacob make of such cases?⁵⁵⁵ Individual conversions between confessions might happen: in another letter,

⁵⁵⁵ Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 367: SS 161), p. 244: مىسى. مەرى بەركى مەرى بەركى مەرى مەرىكى سەسەر مەرىكى سەمەر بىيە، مەر

those who by habit are forced to go there to relieve themselves, and from here, they are every day stirring up causes for disturbance, especially with the constant blasphemies which they are putting forth every day against the church of God with impudent mouths. As for those who honor them among our people: they are the ancient offspring of their heresy: they are right for them and they belong to them both by nature and by volition. And as for the one who is considered by all to be the leader, whom the age has amply honored, who is from a Christian Orthodox father but a Christian heretical mother: he began from the [doctrine] of his mother and swiftly proceeded to that of his father and after these things was carried to true paganism--something clear to many. Moreover, after disturbing paganism, [he was carried] to communion with heretics. When he had been overcome by worldly reproach, like the pang of conscience, he quickly came back to the church of God so that he was delivered from the fear of death and the dread of the rulers. Now, like a dog to his vomit, he has returned [cf. 1 Peter 2:22] with cunning force to the bitter root which shot forth from him by means of his mother, and is an upholder of the trust of those who agitate for wickedness and a supplier of their necessities.' LT can be found in J.S. Assemani, Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana, vol. 3.1, (Rome, 1725), p. 115 and in R. Duval, trans., Išōʻyahb III Patriarcha: Liber Epistularum (CSCO: SS 2, 64) (Paris, 1905), pp. 63-64. For a discussion of this letter and its historical context (after the Byzantine conquest of northern Iraq in 628), see J.-M. Fiey, 'Īšō'yaw le Grand: Vie du caltholicos nestorien Īšō'yaw III d'Adiabène (580-659),' Orientalia Christiana Periodica 35 (1969), pp. 327-329.

Ishoʻyahb III complained about a foolish man (who had previously been a Nestorian) who was 'received in the great city of the heretics' (i.e., Tikrit) and who partook in their mysteries as well as in their faith.⁵⁵⁶ Mass conversions from one confession to another were also a possibility. An entire village of heretics returns to the true faith, John tells Jacob, what should we now do with their mysteries?⁵⁵⁷ In letters written perhaps a century later, ca. 791-792, the Nestorian Patriarch Timothy I would report that thirteen churches and more than 2,000 people, including clergy in the (Iraqi) city of Najran, had

בת השמשא המהובוא. הנא אילו אנא הלאמי חבהה הכוא הבנא אילו אנא הל אישי ואומער כ משל המה הנושוש ב מהאמושי הם ב משוון הנויז השלהם . הניםוששי ב משל איה ב משוולן חש תושודו הזו הל החמוש השחם השלה דה למש המשויז הלשה השלואהי במוחם השיא היש אשמשא ואונעלא בלא בלא שבי על אוגי בעוא אוגי בענא אוגי בענא איי בלא איי בלא איי באא א איי איי איי איי איי איי איי ton: In the case of Orthodox individuals who in the case of Orthodox individuals who in burning zeal took a church from the heretics and when a bishop was not near, they made a liturgy and a Eucharist in it: what do you say about it? In the same way, what do you say concerning people whose church has been seized by heretics and [then] returned and [who then] performed a service in it and who did not suffer their bishop come? Jacob: They have a defense in their zeal and God, who saw their zeal and their faith, was forgiving of them and one who freed them of guilt and cleansed them from heresies. With respect to the church which they took, let their bishop praise them and not find blame. The same applies to those whose church was seized by heretics and they took it back: they should not perform a sacramental liturgy in it apart from the prayer of bishops. If, however, through zeal or lack of knowledge they performed a service, the living sacrifice which they offered up was pardons them and the altar as well.' My translation. ET also available in in idem., trans., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 368: SS 162), p. 224.

⁵⁵⁶ See R. Duval, ed., Išō'yahb III Patriarcha: Liber Epistularum (CSCO: SS 2, 64) (Paris, 1904), p. 165: مەھۇب كەن كەلىپ دىسە، جە خەت ھەشەھە ھەت ھەلەمە ھەمەيتىمە كەن يەلەمە ھەت ھەمەيتىمە، كەلەمە ھەمەيتىمە، كەلەمە ھە مەھەمە ھەمەيتىمە بولىمە بولىمە بولىمە بولىمە بولىمە يەلەمەيتىمە ئەلىمە، ئەلەمە ھەمەيتىمە ئەلىمە، ئەلەمە مەھەمەيتىمە ئەرمەم ئەلەمە ھەمەيتىمە ئەلەر ئەلەر ھەمەيتىمە ئەلە ھەمەيتىمە ئەلە مەھەمەيتىمە ئەلەر ئەلە ئەلەر ئ

rejected their former Julianism and to join the (Nestorian) Church of the East. They now wanted a bishop consecrated for them and Timothy was happy to be of help.⁵⁵⁸

Aiding and abetting putative rivals was also not a problem for some. In the *Life* of Simeon of the Olives (d. 734), we have a curious case where groups which were supposed to be enemies were actually helping one another out when it came to churches—at least partially. Simeon's attempts to build a church outside of Nisibis are hampered by Nestorian priests. Their tactic? They were forbidding Nestorians from working on the building of the church, either with or without pay. For at least some 'Nestorians' there seems to have been nothing objectionable in helping to build a church in Nineveh that elicited Isho'yahb III's ire, he lamented the support heretics (i.e., Miaphysites) were receiving from those among 'our people;' planning to go to Tikrit himself to speak with the rulers about the intolerable situation, Isho'yahb expected little if any help from local Nestorians. With one exception, a man named Kabab, they

⁵⁵⁸ See O. Braun, ed. *Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae* (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), p. 151 (letter to בו כהוביון לעשיהול אי. היצהב הה ואוכל כי בי יולא וכלה הברהולא הבריא ביבה ובלהאי. וצובאי גוחשבת גלעודה [הטלעה] עלי א מטע בינה נשאיי טאוני אי אויי במוי מועבא לבבי בעווי םליםה מדידא המדידינאי. של מה לאא ומהלוא ושבה מכשה מען ונכדיה עמו א אפמטטבאי. הכלוביא 'As we make known to you, venerable one, that Jesus, who threw the fishing net of the Kingdom of Heaven into the sea of the world and by it caught more or less the entire world, has in this time caught the city of Najran, which sits next to Hirta, which till now was drawing the yoke of the wickedness of Julian. But now, 25 men have come to us, among them clerics-priests and deacons-along with most of the mass of the people, and they have requested from us that we anoint a bishop for them. We are preparing to do this.' See also Timothy's reference to this event in his letter to the monks of Mar Maroun, in R.J. Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I (Città del Vaticano, 1956), p. مدن الماد الم ות האם ועלוא ל בנואא ביראאי מורא ובטאי אינואא אינואא איניאא איניאא איניאא איניאא איניאא איניאא איניאא איניאא א And again, even the well-known city of בגאה האמיו בכל בנוגא גיבו לבעונה גואי האבי בעוגא. Najran which was in the grasp of the heresy of Julian: in the past year, thirteen churches were united with us, an assembly which exceeded 2,000 people.' For the date of the letter to Sergios and an FT of this passage from Timothy's letter to the monks of Mar Maroun, see Bidawid, *Les lettres du patriarche nestorien* Timothée I, p. 60. NB: Timothy's letter clearly identifies this Najran as the Najran near al-Hīra and not the Najran in South Arabia.

⁵⁵⁹ Mardin 8/259, fols. 112b-113a (section 22 in my translation).

were all helpers of the wicked heretics.⁵⁶⁰ This is the brick and mortar equivalent of Miaphysite scribes writing out theological polemics for their Christian rivals.

Given that people were willing to subordinate the importance of Chalcedon and precise Christological doctrines to other concerns in their self-presentation and behavior, it should come as no surprise that at the level of the sacraments and church ritual, there seems to have been sharing and overlap between people supposed to be holding opposing Christologies: Addai's questions reflect a milieu in which Miaphysite priests were performing rites for Christians who strictly speaking belonged to heretical and rival churches. This was in part the case because neither the Chalcedonians nor the Miaphysites, it seems, were able to supply clergy to all of the people who agreed with them doctrinally. Is it right, Addai asked Jacob, for us to be escorts in the funeral processions of heretics and to bury them? According to Jacob, if the person who has died is in a city or a village where there are clerics who agree with his doctrine, and the deceased had not asked for an Orthodox (i.e., Miaphysite) burial, then he should not receive one. But if there are no heretical clergy nearby, then Miaphysite clergy should bury him, regardless of whether he requested such a burial.⁵⁶¹ There were simply not

enough priests to go around: another one of Jacob's canons informs us that a number of priests were required to perform the Eucharist in many villages in a single day.⁵⁶² We see this problem in manpower in the *Life* of Theodota where he comes across a boy in a village who is so ill that the villagers have already dug his grave. They beg Theodota to stay there because they had no priest to escort the boy's funeral procession.⁵⁶³ Concern about the doctrinal purity of priests was a luxury available only to those who had an abundance of clergy from which to choose; what was important was the existence and

האם לא ניאר ההי. לא אמליה הלנא הנאמבי מביא אמי מכי אלא האפ, כן כל, הליא כן הי מהובואי וגל גולימר לש. ואב לא ובאא מס בן נבצח. בשה איוו איו וגל גוליעלב בן עווא צוא השמה ער השובה בשובה בי הג הגוא שי היא שו בי הג שו א שי בי איש שי בי איש שי בי א שי בי א שי א א א א שי שי א א א א להוא הנה בי אשאאל האשאל האמלי. אווי הלא אשאלאל הלא אשלי. לאלאא עליה בי אואיי 'Addai: whether it is appropriate that we accompany [the funeral procession of] and bury heretical people? Jacob: If it is in a village or a city where they have clerics and people who agree with their doctrine, and the person does not ask and request and desire to be buried by believers, it is not right that they be accompanied [in the funeral procession] by Orthodox people, but instead [they should be accompanied] by people who hold their doctrine. But if he has asked, let him be accompanied. And if [it is the case that] many of the holders of his doctrine are far away, and he is an alien and stranger to the place or a traveler or a captive, and is found dying near Orthodox people, [then] even if he does not ask, it is not appropriate that he be buried. And even if it is apart from he himself asking for it, he should be given the Eucharist. And even if he does not ask for it himself, in his final breaths, he should be plucked away from wild animals and enter into the sheepfold and be furnished with [the means of] salvation for the journey, and be sent to the Lord, in whose name he was inscribed—if he does not reject this from himself when he is asked, and refuse and reject. But if he is not asked and he does not reject, then let the matter be given to God. If he takes the Eucharist and if he does not take [it], he should [still] be accompanied and he should be buried according to the custom and the rite of the Christians.' For this passage, cf. the LT of Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 159, 161. P. Bedjan, Nomocanon Gregorii Barhebraei (Paris, 1898), p. 70, contains a shortened version of this canon.

⁵⁶³ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 554a (section 114 in my edition).

availability of a clergyman as an all-around ritual practitioner.⁵⁶⁴ To make a modern comparison, they would not have been worried about where their doctor had attended medical school: what was important was that he was a doctor at all.

Addai also wanted to know from Jacob whether it was appropriate for an Orthodox clergyman or monk to take part in the funeral procession of an 'heretical Chalcedonian,' with lay people, though abstaining from chanting while processing. Furthermore, was it right for the Miaphysites to allow Chalcedonian clerics to take part in Orthodox funeral processions, also while refraining from chanting?⁵⁶⁵

What if, Addai asked, an Orthodox clergyman found himself in the company of Chalcedonians who had no priest and who wanted him to administer their own Eucharist to them? If the Orthodox priest did not enter the altar of the heretical Chalcedonians and if he did not himself communicate, would this be acceptable?⁵⁶⁶ George, Bishop of the Arabs, Jacob's contemporary and friend, has left us a canon stipulating that a priest or a deacon who gives the Eucharist to heretics is to be

⁵⁶⁴ I am grateful to Peter Brown for this point and this turn of phrase.

⁵⁶⁵ Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 160, 162. Mardin 310, fol. 205a, is free from Lamy's typos: منه جاب المنه منه المنه منه المنه المنه منه المنه الم

⁵⁶⁶ Lamy, Dissertatio, p. 162: مع المنتخب المعاديم الم

deposed,⁵⁶⁷ and we have examples from the *Life* of Theodota of clergy knowingly and unknowingly giving the mysteries to people whom they should have excluded. Writing in perhaps 684,⁵⁶⁸ Miaphysite Patriarch Athanasios of Balad condemned Orthodox priests who knowingly and willingly baptized Nestorians, Julianists and other heretics and who gave them the Eucharist.⁵⁶⁹ Whatever boundaries certain leaders might have liked to have established between people holding opposing Christological views were not so clear when it came to real life and the administration of the most important ritual and sacramental acts in the Christian faith. Life was bigger than ideology.

This, then, is the religious landscape we get through the lens of these Syriac sources. The lives of members of rival Christian communities were closely intertwined, as were the lives of their clergy. Miaphysite priests were giving the Eucharist to Nestorians and Julianists and also to other heretics, presumably Chalcedonians. Miaphysite priests were filling in and administering the Eucharist of the Chalcedonians to Chalcedonians when there were no Chalcedonian priests to be found. Miaphysite monasteries were knowingly hosting heretics and giving them communion. Even the

⁵⁶⁷ Bedjan, p. 42, Nomocanon Gregorii Barhebraei, (Paris, 1898), p. 42: مح حمد عنه : المراحية: المحافية: معادية لما المانية: معادية للمانية معادية (George: A priest or a deacon who gives the Eucharist to the heretics shall be deposed.'

⁵⁶⁸ For this date, see the marginal note in Mardin 310, fol. 183b. Also, cf. A. Vööbus, *Syrische Kanonsessammlungen: Ein Beitrag zur Quellenkunde I. Westsyrische Originalurkunden 1, A* (CSCO 307: Subsidia 35) (Louvain, 1975), p. 201.

Miaphysite Patriarch and monks of the most important monastery in the Miaphysite church could admire a holy man who was really a crypto-Nestorian-turned-Jew. Miaphysites were leading funeral processions for Chalcedonians and burying them. Chalcedonians were seizing Miaphysite church buildings and Miaphysites were seizing Chalcedonian church buildings. Structures might change hands more than once. Liturgical vessels were also going back and forth between the communities. Nestorians were helping build Miaphysite churches. Chalcedonian and Miaphysite ascetics were living together. Chalcedonians might have Miaphysite servants. Chalcedonian parents donated their children to Miaphysite monasteries and their children would hold Miaphysite memorial services for them when they had passed away.

It seems that just about anything went: in a situation like this, what exactly was the use of labels like 'Orthodox' or 'heretic,' 'Chalcedonian' or 'Nestorian'? As a predictor of patterns of social behavior, interaction and association, it must not have been very reliable. Indeed, John of Litarb had written to Jacob a letter full of canonical questions and Jacob had taken his time in responding. One of his reasons was a sense of futility in the endeavor: 'I say,' he wrote to John, 'that at this point there is no necessity at all, not even for one canon, since no one observes the canons.'⁵⁷⁰ The first question asked in the *Questions and Answers* of Jacob's contemporary, Anastasios of Sinai, perhaps reflects confusion among the laity at sorting out where the truth stood among

⁵⁷⁰ K.E. Rignell, A Letter from Jacob of Edessa to John the Stylite of Litarb , Syriac text, p. 46: جه ترب المنه ترفين قلي المنه عنه المنه منه المنه الم منه منهم المنه منه المنه المن

competing claims to Orthodoxy in such a milieu. 'What,' the anonymous questioner asks, 'is the sign of the true and perfect Christian?'⁵⁷¹

As for Jacob, he seems to have been extremely unhappy with the people over whom he had authority. During his first stint as bishop of Edessa, lasting four years, he is reported to have forbidden a number of priests from performing the liturgy and expelled many other people from the church because of their lawlessness, before finally giving up in the face of widespread disregard for the canons.⁵⁷² Jacob had burned the book of canon law for a reason. He was exasperated.

⁵⁷¹ M. Richard and I.A. Munitiz. Anastasii Sinaitae Ougestiones et Responsiones (CSCG 59) (Turnhout, 2006), p. 5: Α΄ ΕΡΩΤΗΣΙΣ Τί ἐστι τὸ σημεῖον τοῦ ἀληθοῦς καὶ τελείου Χριστιανοῦ; ΑΠΟΚΡΙΣΙΣ Οἱ μέν φασιν ότι πίστις ὀρθὴ καὶ ἔργα εὐσεβείας, ὁ δὲ Χριστὸς οὐκ ἐν τούτοις ὁρίζεται τὸν ὄντως Χριστιανὸν άληθινόν δύναται γάρ τις καὶ πίστιν καὶ ἔργα ἀγαθὰ ἔχειν καὶ ὑψηλοφρονεῖν ἐπ' αὐτοῖς καὶ μὴ εἶναι τέλειος Χριστιανός. Διό φησιν ὁ Κύριος, ὅτι Ὁ ἀγαπῶν με τὰς ἐντολάς μου τηρήσει, κἀγὼ ἀγαπήσω αὐτόν, καὶ ἐμφανίσω αὐτῶ ἐμαυτόν, καὶ ἐλευσόμεθα ἐγὼ καὶ ὁ Πατήρ μου, καὶ μονὴν παρ' αὐτῶ ποιήσομεν. Οὐκοῦν διὰ τούτων μανθάνομεν, ὅτι διὰ μὲν τῆς πίστεως καὶ τῶν ἔργων τῶν καλῶν οἰκοδομεῖται ὁ οἶκος τῆς ψυχῆς ὑπὸ τοῦ νοὸς ἡμῶν ἐἀν δὲ μὴ ἔλθη καὶ οἰκήση ὁ Χριστὸς ὁ οἰκοδεσπότης ἐν ἡμῖν, εὔδηλον ὡς οὐκ ἤρεσεν αὐτῶ τὸ ὑφ' ἡμῶν γενόμενον αὐτῶ οἰκοδόμημα. '1. Question: "What is the sign of the true and perfect Christian?" Answer 1: Some say right faith and works of piety, but Christ does not define being a true Christian by these things, for one can have faith and good works and be arrogant on account of these and not be a perfect Christian. Therefore Christ says, "The one who loves me will keep my commandments, and I will love him and will show Myself to him and My Father and I will come to him and will abide with him." Therefore, through these things we learn that through faith and good works the house of the soul is built by our mind. And if Christ, the master of the house, does not come and dwell in us, it is clear that the dwelling produced by us for Him has not pleased Him.' It is interesting to compare Anastasios' attitude towards faith and works with that of Jacob, cited above, in his treatise against those who transgress canon law. For Jacob, correct faith is not enough and must be accompanied by works. For Anastasios, however, correct faith and good works are not enough, but, following John 14:21-23, he adds that love must also be present. Peter Brown has pointed out to me that this same question has a long pedigree in Christian history which predates Anastasios and Jacob.

⁵⁷² J.-B. Chabot, ed. and trans., *Chronique de Michel le Syrien, patriarche Jacobite d'Antioche*, 1166-1199, (Paris, 1899-1910), IV 445 = II 471-472 (FT).

Chapter 5: A society in flux

In this chapter, my goal is to look at some of the corollaries of the chaotic situation we have just encountered. The confessional confusion that existed in the early medieval Middle East meant that there was a fierce battle on the ground between theological elites for the loyalty and adherence of ordinary Christians who were not firmly attached to any one confession. Another consequence of the competition for believers was a proliferation of schools throughout the Middle East. This will eventually take us to the most significant of all of these, the monastery of Qenneshre, which was the most important center for Greco-Arabic translation in the Syriacspeaking world of the sixth-to-ninth centuries.

There are two related suggestions I would like to make based on the evidence of interaction between different groups of society in Umayyad Syria that we have just been over. The first is the issue of boundaries. Jacob's canons governing Miaphysite interaction with other types of Christians can be seen as acts of border policing. He was trying to make sure that the integrity of the boundaries separating his community from others remained safe and intact. Alternatively, however, they can be viewed as attempts at actual border drawing. No one observes the canons, Jacob lamented—but had these canons ever been observed? Were these communities ever really separate in the first place? By the late seventh century, there were definitely monasteries and at least some groups of people which strongly advocated any number of Christological positions—Monothelete Chalcedonian, Dyothelete Chalcedonian, Miaphysite, Julianist, Nestorian and perhaps others. But the wide-ranging violations of the boundaries which were supposed to separate these communities suggest that for some Christians,

243

perhaps many, other considerations were more important in determining the shape of their lives than the subtler points of Christological doctrine. Furthermore, for Christians living in places with few or no clergy and worrying about receiving the mysteries, having a child baptized or making sure a loved one received a Christian burial, selecting a priest with the proper doctrinal orientation might not have been a real option. Beggars could not be choosers.

The evidence I have presented suggests that rather than being fully-formed and distinct communities, these different confessional movements were still very much trying to separate themselves from one another, not doctrinally but rather sociologically, as late as the Umayyad period. The problem was that life kept getting in the way.

My second suggestion relates to this first. The intertwined and overlapping nature of the lives of Christians of one confessional faction with Christians from another confessional faction meant that there were many opportunities in many different settings for friction to suddenly arise between people who perhaps notionally at least adhered to different positions even if those positions did not have a discernible effect on their interactions with other people on a day-to-day basis. Tectonic plates which rub against one another long enough will eventually produce earthquakes. Rival confessional groups rubbing up against one another produced earthquakes of a different kind. There might be violence, as happened after Athanasios Gamolo, the Miaphysite patriarch refused to give Herakleios communion at Mabbug at some point in late 629 or the early 630s. The Emperor became enraged and unleashed a

244

persecution upon the Miaphysites, in the course of which most of their churches and monasteries were seized by opposing groups.⁵⁷³

But violence was not the only form the heat from the friction between groups might take. Another form was disputations. This was a world in which theological debate, between Christians and between Christians and non-Christians, was part of everyday life. Already, in the fourth century, we find that Ephrem, when not engaged in manual labor, was 'constantly teaching pagans and showing them the way of truth;' we also meet him one day debating with a pagan.⁵⁷⁴ John Barbur and Proba were two Miaphysites, trained in dialectics, who became Chalcedonians in the late sixth century after interacting with a Chalcedonian sophist named Stephen in Alexandria; after their conversion to dyophysitism, they held a discussion with the Miaphsyite monks of Antioch over Christological doctrine.⁵⁷⁵ In the early seventh century, three members of the Church of the East traveled west to Syria on an embassy to Herakleios. Stopping nearApamea, they held a religious discussion with monks from a monastery of heretics—either Miaphysite or Chalcedonian. 'And when the sons of that monastery went forth to them, they marveled and were astonished at the arguments which these three brilliant stars brought against them, and they perceived that the stubble of their doctrine was not able [to resist] in the very smallest degree, the fire of the true wisdom and the powerful demonstrations of the men from the East.' Despite Thomas of

⁵⁷³ J.-B. Chabot, ed., *Chronique de Michel le Syrien, patriarche Jacobite d'Antioche*, 1166-1199, (Paris, 1899-1910), IV 410 = II 412 (FT). Michael reports that Herakleios wrote to his entire realm and ordered that all those who did not accept the Council of Chalcedon should have their nose and ears cut off and their homes plundered.

⁵⁷⁴ See J.S. Assemani, *Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana*, vol. 1 (Rome, 1719), p. 33.

⁵⁷⁵ See Michael the Syrian, vol. 2 (FT) pp. 363-364 = vol. 4 (Syriac), p. 381. For Proba and John Barbur as حليك see vol. 2, p. 362 = vol. 4, p. 381. The discussion lasted six months. For a summary of the story of John Barbur and Proba, see, A. Grillmeier, et al., *Jesus der Christus im Glauben der Kirche. Band 2/3: Die Kirchen von Jerusalem und Antiochien nach 451 bis 600* (Freiburg/Basel/Wien, 2002), p. 406-408.

Marga's description of the encounter, one of the three men, Sahdona, actually switched confessions as a result of the doctrinal dispute.⁵⁷⁶ The so-called *Maronite Chronicle* reports that two Miaphysite Bishops came to Damascus in June of 659 and held a dispute on faith with representatives of the Maronites in the presence of Mu'āwiya; the Maronites are supposed to have bested the Miaphysites.⁵⁷⁷ The *Trophies of Damascus* has a sizeable crowd of 'Jews, Greeks, Samaritans, heretics, and Christians' gather in a public place to watch a Jewish Christian-debate; we later learn that there were Saracens present as well.⁵⁷⁸ At the religious discussion which took place between a Muslim Amīr and the Miaphysite Patriarch John, which may or may not have occurred in 639 or 644, there were present Muslim notables, urban notables, Christian Arab notables,

Chalcedonian leaders and at least one Jew.⁵⁷⁹

⁵⁷⁶ For all of this, see E.A.W. Budge, trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840*, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 128-130. The translation is Budge's, p. 129. W.Wright, *A Short History of Syriac Literature* (London, 1894), pp. 170-171 contains a summary of these events and suggests that the heretical monastery was Miaphysite.

⁵⁷⁷ E.-W. Brooks, ed., *Chronica Minora II* (CSCO: Series Tertia 4) (Paris, 1904), p. 70. For an ET, see A. Palmer, *The Seventh Century in the West Syrian Chronicles* (Liverpool, 1993), p. 30.

⁵⁷⁸ See G. Bardy, ed., and trans., *Les trophées de Damas: controverse judéo-chrétienne du VII^e siècle*, (PO 15) (Paris, 1927), p. 215: Συνελθόντες δὲ ἐπὶ τὸ αὐτὸ κατὰ τὰ δόξαντα ἡμεῖς τε καὶ τῶν ἰουδαίων οἱ πρόκριτοι,

συμπαρόντος καὶ πλήθους οὐκ ὀλίγου λαῶν, ἰουδαίων, ἑλλήνων, σαμαρειτῶν, αἰρετικῶν, χριστιανῶν, δημόσιος γὰρ ἦν καὶ μάλα ὁ τόπος ἐμφανέστατος and cf. also pp. 233-234: ʿΩς γὰρ ὁρᾶτε, ἰδοὺ πάρεισι καὶ Ἐλλήνων πλῆθος, καὶ Σαρακηνῶν οὐκ ὀλίγοι, καὶ Σαμαρειτῶν τινες, καὶ ἰουδαίων λαὸς, καὶ χριστιανῶν συνάθροισις, καὶ θεάτρον ἁπλῶς οὐ μικρόν. On the date of the *Trophies* ca. AD 680 see *ibid.*, pp. 176-177. Also cf. Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 85-86, who dates it to the mid-to-late seventh century.

⁵⁷⁹ F. Nau, 'Un colloque du patriarche Jean avec l'émir des Agaréens,' *Journal asiatique* 11 (1915), pp. 251-252 (Syriac), pp. 260-262. For a date of AD 639, see See Nau, 'Un Colloque,' p. 227; for 644, see See H. Lammens, 'A propos d'un colloque entre le patriarche Jacobite Jean 1^{er} et 'Amr ibn al-'Āṣi,' *Journal asiatique* 11 (1919), p. 98. For this text as being a fictional construct from the early eighth century, see G.J. Reinink, 'The Beginnings of Syriac Apologetic Literature in Response to Islam,' *Oriens Christianus* 77 (1993), pp. 171-187. Though against Reinink, see more recently, H. Suermann, 'The Old Testament and the Jews in the dialogue between the Jacobite Patriarch John I and 'Umayr ibn Sa'd al-Anṣārī,' pp. 131-141, in *Eastern Crossroads: Essays on Medieval Christian Legacy*, ed. Juan Pedro Monferrer-Sala, (Piscataway, NJ, 2007).

People were of course writing polemics as well: in the late sixth century, Barhadbshabba 'Arbaya wrote 'disputes with every religion and their refutation.'580 And the line between holding actual disputes and writing polemics was a thin one and easily crossed: Gabriel 'the Cow,' a member of the Church of the East in the middle and later part of the seventh century, disputed with the monks of the Miaphysite monastery of Qartmin and responded to their polemics. Gabriel also held a dispute with the Nestorian apostate Sahdona in Edessa.⁵⁸¹ In addition to his writings against Monoenergism and Monotheletism (and his disputation with Pyrrhos), Maximos the Confessor (d. 662) wrote against Miaphysites.⁵⁸² The Chalcedonian Anastasios of the Sinai (d. ca. 700), an exact contemporary of Jacob of Edessa and George of the Arabs, lived in the Sinai but traveled frequently to Egypt and Syria to dispute with heretics. Beck called Anastasios' Όδηγός 'ein Handbuch zur Bekämpfung der Häresien' and judged it one of the most important examples of later Chalcedonian polemics against Miaphysites. Anastasios also apparently wrote a now-lost work against Nestorians and two works against Jews.⁵⁸³ John of Damascus, who was perhaps a generation younger than George of the Arabs, has left us two treatises against the Nestorians, three against

⁵⁸¹ For this, see E.A.W. Budge, trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840*, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 211-212. According to Wright, A Short History of Syriac *Literature*, pp. 180-181, Gabriel became Abbot of the monastery of Beth 'Ābe at some point between 686 and 701.

⁵⁸² See H.-G. Beck, *Kirche und Theologische Literatur im Byzantinschen Reich* (Munich, 1959), pp. 438-439.

⁵⁸³ For this information and the quote, see Beck, *Kirche und Theologische Literatur*, pp. 442-443.

Miaphysites, one against the Monotheletes, and one, perhaps two, disputes with Manichaeans.⁵⁸⁴

Such formal disputes between members of rival Christian confessions or members of different religious communities tend to attract the attention of scholars in part because they were the sort of things that people left records of. They were, however, not the only game in town. Disputes or discussions between heavy-weight members of different groups were no more the only doctrinal contests going on than the Premiership is the only football that is played in the U.K. or the Major Leagues the only baseball played in the US. Bertrand Russell and Frederick Copelston's famous debate about the existence of God was only a higher-octane version of an untold number of similar debates and discussions that took place in lunchrooms, at water coolers, and in pubs and other places all throughout the twentieth century which were never published in books or placed on undergraduate syllabi. But they happened nevertheless. Similarly, the early medieval Near East of Jacob's day must have witnessed countless small-time religious discussions and disagreements which are now lost to us. The unseen pillars supporting the creation of dispute texts like the *Trophies* of Damascus, the dialogue between the Muslim Amīr and the Patriarch John and others were the interest of an audience which perhaps had been in their own, much less dramatic debates and discussions with friends, acquaintances and associates whom they differed with in terms of belief. At some time in the late eighth or early ninth century, the Chalcedonian Dyothelete Timothy of Kākhushtā learned the craft of woodworking in a monastery from Monothelete Maronites. Timothy, however, was

⁵⁸⁴ See Beck, Kirche und Theologische Literatur, pp. 477-478.

doing more than just learning a trade. 'As he worked,' Timothy's *Life* reports, 'the monks would gather about him. He did not restrain himself from informing them that just as Christ has two natures, so also he has two wills.' When the elders of the monastery saw what Timothy was up to, they disapproved, but the saint did not back down. 'Timothy began to exhort them from the Gospel and enlighten them from the divine and holy scriptures, adducing for them testimonials with manifest proofs. They, however, did not accept his teaching and would not even listen to his words, but their hearts became hard and their understanding became blind.'⁵⁸⁵ In a world awash in different and competing Christian groups with overlapping and intertwined lives, such low-grade, small-time encounters would have been commonplace.

In other words, there must have been a whole layer, now almost entirely lost, of lower-level arguments, disputes, debates and doctrinal wrangling going on. All the points of overlap which I have spelled out above provided opportunities for potential exchanges of a religious or confessional nature. They were settings where people who at least notionally ascribed to conflicting creeds might assert some aspect of that creedal identity vis-à-vis a person whom they differed from in that respect.

How can we recover this layer? How do we find the batting averages and numbers of runs batted in for the minor league players of the seventh century? It is a difficult task, but not an impossible one and, at best, our evidence can only be fragmentary. The problem is the oral nature of these debates which were not recorded. Is there a way to conjure up the ghosts of conversations past?

⁵⁸⁵ Translation J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala, in J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala edd. and trans., *The Life of Timothy of Kākhushtā (Patrologia Orientalis* 48) (Turnhout, 2000), pp. 546 (Arabic), 547 (ET).

The Ghosts of Conversations Past

One way, perhaps, is through letters. If we view letters, at least some of them, as 'residues of conversations' we can, perhaps, find in them indications of the sort of confessional discussions I have been talking about.⁵⁸⁶ And indeed, the letters of George, bishop of the Arab tribes (d. 724) provide precisely some of the residues we might expect if the confessional landscape of his day was anywhere nearly as muddled and chaotic as I have tried to suggest. The first three of George's eleven extant letters are about rather dry Christological polemic. At least three things about them, however, merit observation in the context of this discussion.

One is their style. They are written in a punchy, aporetic manner. The opponent is relentlessly presented with a series of dilemmas which methodically reduce his Christological position to one of hopeless absurdity. This is a style of Christological dispute which had appeared in the Near East within fifty years of Chalcedon and which became widespread in Greek and in Syriac.⁵⁸⁷ Aporetic questions were weapons which were used by Chalcedonians, Miaphysites and Nestorians alike to wreak havoc on their opponents.⁵⁸⁸ When Jacob labeled a Miaphysite scribe who wrote out questions and answers that helped Chalcedonian doctrine out a second Judas, he was quite probably referring to these sorts of aporetic questions. The earliest Islamic theology, when it appeared, would take this very distinctive aporetic form.⁵⁸⁹

⁵⁸⁶ I owe the phrase 'residues of conversation' and this insight to John-Paul Ghobrial.

⁵⁸⁷ For a bibliographic listing of examples of Greek Christological aporiai see A. Grillmeier, Christ in Christian Tradition, II,1: From the Council of Chalcedon to Gregory the Great (590-604), (London, 1987), pp. 86-87.

⁵⁸⁸ For examples of collections of aporetic questions in Syriac from different Christological perspectives, see M. Cook, 'The Origins of Kalām,' *BSOAS* 43.1 (1980), p. 38-40.

⁵⁸⁹ M.A. Cook, 'The Origins of "Kalām," Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 43 (1980), pp. 32-43 and see my 'Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the

The second point of interest about these letters is that sources for at least some of them are identifiable. A number of the questions George is responding to in his first letter and in the appendices to it can be shown to also exist in a variety of Greek and Syriac Chalcedonian sources, sometimes with conflicting attributions of authorship.⁵⁹⁰ This suggests they were circulating widely throughout the Middle East. This perhaps is another indication of the popularity of this form of argumentation.

The third point of interest about these questions brings us back to the problem of 'the ghosts of conversations past.' These letters give us fleeting hints at precisely the sort of minor-league religious discussions I have just been speaking about. George's first letter is written to a certain Mar Mārī, who is the Abbot of the important monastery of Tell 'Ada. Mārī has sent George a set of 22 Chalcedonian aporetic questions asking for a response to them.⁵⁹¹ Written as an alphabetical acrostic, the document that Mārī sent George had no doubt been presented to either him or one of his monks by a Chalcedonian. Here we have the faint whiff of some sort of polemical

Arab Tribes,' in Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), pp. 671-716.

⁵⁹⁰ See my 'Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes,' in Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), pp. 688-702.

⁵⁹¹ BL Add., 12,154, fol. 222b,(1.1.2-1.1.3 in my edition): 'To the God-loving and God-fearing spiritual brother, honored in Christ, Mar Mari, head and leader of the great and holy monastery of the village of Tel 'Ada: [from] George, lowly in the Lord. Greetings. Concerning these heretical questions which you addressed to me, venerable Brother, and to which you urged me to make a counter-response, know well, O brother, that if a learned individual wishes to do this perfectly he will need countless lengthy words, words which will often induce fatigue in many at their reading. I, however, will be simple and try a second route, making a counter-argument to these absurd questions in a different manner and doing away with their absurdity through certain recondite questions, according to the teaching, that is, of our Savior Christ and of the venerable teachers of the Church. منهد جرمه مديد جرمه المراجع المراجع المراجع וסעד מכיניא בכשינא: כיו, כאו, ושא מכובינא גגיא וכלא מוגעלא גולבגא מינאאי. אל וא אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין באלשום: האושוא אלאטא אלא אלד ארא מושיא אלא אל ארא בבי יוא אלא אי בשניאאי בישיא איי בישיא איי בישיא בישיא בישיא איי המינה ובני בבו הלא מביאה איז האי מעום. היו וברא מיני ובני בבו א האיז האיז איז א גמי א גמי א גמי א גמי א גמי א ג כסו נות לשביא איז ויא ויש מו לא מי לא איז גיא איז אין מו אין אין איז אינו א איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איז איאי ברבוטאא ביאי גבוסם בשייא טובבוטא עשיא גבואאי.

encounter; we also see that debate provided the opportunity to show one's virtuosity a motive we should never underestimate when thinking about doctrinal clashes.⁵⁹²

In George's second letter, written to a deacon named Barhadbshabba, the smell of dispute becomes stronger. George begins his letter to Barhadbshabba by noting that an arrogant Chalcedonian 'from among those who are puffed up with worldly power' had asked a group of Miaphysite monks a question which they could not answer. When it became clear that the Miaphysites were stumped, the Chalcedonian pranced off proudly boasting about his victory over them. In writing to George for help with this question, Barhadbshabba was phoning a friend.⁵⁹³ The entire incident of the arrogant Chalcedonian and the Miaphysite monks he confounded would have been completely lost had Barhadbshabba not written to George. This is precisely the sort of conversational echo of a large informal layer of dispute and discussion to which I have been referring.

George's third letter is really an excerpt from a longer letter written to a hermit named Joshua. What we have extant picks up where George begins to answer the questions of theological opponents. The cause for writing here again seems to be polemical pressure from some flavor of Dyophysite, another case of friction arising when opposing doctrinal systems rubbed up against one another. 'Concerning those

⁵⁹² I am grateful to Peter Brown for this point.

heretics who ask us, "Do you confess that the Word and His flesh have one substance or two?" George writes, 'we must ourselves ask and respond to them like this…' and then George embarks on another aporetic dismantling of the opposition.⁵⁹⁴ In the words of a (partially-preserved) letter written by Jacob of Edessa to the deacon Barhadbshabba, we can also hear the echoes of the heated discussions of the seventh and eighth-centuries: 'We will ask them,' Jacob repeats over and over, each time introducing a new problem in Chalcedonian theology.⁵⁹⁵ Fragments of another letter of Jacob's, written to the

⁵⁹⁵ See BL Add., 14,631, fols. 16a-16b. The text is lacunose and hard to make out in some places, but significant portions can still be read, most notably the constant refrain, 'let us ask them...' ડેન્ટ્ર אים גאורב בגי אולם לעוג האלא מלה אוין. מעאל אים א גבעא מי, בלאא: גמלא בא איבעה ואובין אבהמהם אלושיטם הבהבמה בהי [לחשי] ... אהב ואאר אות ויא בהוי בבא ומוא עו אפה אלה מדי ביא: בעוגיהול א מכו מבי אל אממול א מדי אעיהול אי. איבוא ו איך ברוג מו אי. نله محمد مع ولالامه المعالي مع المعالي مع مع مع معالي مع مع معالي مع معالي مع معالي مع معالي مع معالي مع مع مع יצאל אות ודא כהוון לח שב לח לחם עו אפת לעמת א כואי אבוא ואכב בחוצא וחם וכק םגמהת, עו בעא געוערא הפוים הבא מי בבא לא מש אי ועלאמי ... [אחב] ואאל אנה , האי אמי לח לבלאה גאלמה ישהב בשינה יעו בינה מכמוה: עו מהמה מכמוה: עו פוי הפאן אישור לא למל א למו למי אישו לא למ ראס גיאר אים גיאי בינא איבוא ג [אכי ב...]...אום ניצאל אינו גרא בהגי בר גאסגילא אים אינאי בר גאסגילא גאבה[מא]...מוב עיאר אנה וא האי בהוק בבק ...לא ביי ויאומיונות, ולוק בעי לבשיואא. מוב ויאר מים היא האום ב ... העול בי אושא געאל שיאר אושא געא בי גיאיביים אושא געאל שיא ישיא געעל שי We will ask them, therefore, whether four came to the union and not two. Again, we will ask them what is the cause that these things have been able to be made alive, things which do not ... [Again] we will ask them if they confess that the union was natural and hypostatic ... as their father Athanasios and their mouth Cyril affirm ... Again we will ask them if they confess with us that this one product (ἀποτέλεσμα) [of the union]

⁵⁹⁴ BL. Add. 12,154, fols. 241b-242a (6.1.1-6.1.2 in my edition): '...a response to a certain other heretical question that was presented to him by the elder Mār Yeshū', a hermit who is in the village of Anab. After many things [written in the letter's] beginning. Concerning those heretics who ask us, 'Do you confess that the Word and his flesh have one substance or two?', we must ourselves ask and respond to them like this. 'Do you confess that the Word and his flesh have two substances, or one?' They will certainly respond that they confess two, it being known [they mean] a divine substance and a human substance. They are therefore questioned again like this: 'As for that divine substance which you confess Christ to have, do you say it is one hypostasis or three hypostases? Or is it a mere name? Similarly, concerning that human nature which you confess Christ to have—is it one hypostasis or many לה. כך מדידא כיו, ידה ערידיא גבאוב מי שאאי כאו מגנאא וכן שהו אי לא מיו עש מביאי גאוא כיאי. אנאם שלהל אומש כייג אנאם לכלאא מלבשות. אם עדאי ובי בלואי אדוא בהוי הפניי. היו בא גאיטמיא ארמייאי. האיטמיא אידייאא בני היאאארי אייי איייא אייי אשמשא היא אולא היה אישארא בשעא או שוארא או שואר אישאר או שואר א בעואר א אישארא א אישאר א אישאר א אישארא א שוארא אם שדא שעודא בלעטו. חבוא האם אה מטא ח, אושולא ווכהוין אולם , לבשעוא: עו טוהרא א זמעלם השיוע השיע מד . הרגעם השומה מד . האשיר

Chalcedonians of Harran, suggest that Jacob, like George, was very aware of the Chalcedonian theological challenge.⁵⁹⁶

I have not yet mentioned Armenians, but they also come in for harsh treatment at the hands of Jacob, who accuses them of keeping Jewish observances, having Julianists and Jews as teachers, agreeing with Chalcedonians in some practices, with

⁵⁹⁶ The two fragments are preserved in Syriac with a Karshūnī translation in a Karshūnī treatise written by the Patriarch Makīkha, in Cambridge Add. 2889, fols. 272b-273b. These fragments do not contain a sharply polemical edge. The first one, fols. 272b-273a, is about Christ's humanity coming down א A section from אלבעוביה אלבטר א אלבטיר א אלבטיר א אלבטיר א אלבטיר א אלבטיר א אלבטיר א Section from what Jacob of Edessa, the Jacobite, held by way of opinion in his letter to the Melkites who reside in the city of Harran, that the humanity of Christ came down from heaven. He said...' The second fragment, fol. 273a-273b, deals with predicating death to God and has a bit more punch to it. حج ممد حصمت אדי בהלהשי ועו חם דיל העוד ח, חשריהא העוד ח, דשרולא הגל הבל חוד דהו אי בואא. האת הישא כווצא. השכת השלעוא כו שבאי העו מה כי נא מה הכיא על עלי הבים לי הנו איר אירי אירי אירי אירי אירי אירי א בבי, בבהו שהחות בואת מו כל אישלע וו לא שבו הולא ובו הי אישוא. הוא ואובי לההואה ואומא האומא ועובי, בו השבין לבויצא פהושתה . הכביו למה בילא אינוא וא אמהת, בוצא. הלא הבין גמוים הה פהושא An excerpt-from the גבוניבא. בגל מודא מבגעא א מבל שביבה ל An excerpt-from the aforementioned discourse of Jacob of Edessa, in the aforementioned letter—which contains what he held concerning ascribing death to God Most High, may he be glorified. He said: "This is the apostolic faith. This is the divine inheritance. It is concerning this that Paul says, 'There is one Lord and one Faith and one Baptism.' It is concerning this that the Church confesses that God became human,' and with the Apostle, proclaims, 'The Lord who died for us and delivered us is one,' and it does not say, like those who deny our salvation, 'It was possible for one to die but for the other not to pass away [sc. with respect to the humanity and divinity of Christ],' those who reject the death of God on our behalf while ascribing to a human our salvation. Another Lord is made by them who is a human being and they do not realize that the saving action of a human is empty. It was on account of this faith sc. which the Church has and proclaims], that Simon received the blessing and was called 'Peter." A Syriac version of this complete text was apparently contained in the now-destroyed collection of mss at the Monastery of Seert. See the entry for MS Seert Syriac 69 (no. 12) in A. Scher, Catalogue des manuscrits syriagues et arabes conservés dans la bibliothèque épiscopale de Séert (Kurdistan) (Mosul, 1905), p. 53.

is composite in the union and in the composition composition from divinity and humanity—how, if they confess this? We will teach them that it is not possible to confess of Christ who is one product $(\dot{\alpha}\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\sigma\mu\alpha)$ [of the union] either two natures or two persons. Again, we will ask them if they confess with us that one composite product $(\dot{\alpha}\pi\sigma\tau\epsilon\lambda\epsilon\sigma\mu\alpha)$ [of the union], how is it that the union requires that it is impossible to be said of that which comes before it one nature which is simple and compound person? [Again], we will ask them if they affirm of the Word of God, Jesus Christ, one incarnate nature and one incarnate hypostasis and one incarnate Person, it is not possible for them to affirm two natures as they do...Again, we will ask them, if they confess with us the confession of the Fathers ... Again, we will ask them, if they confess with us the the confession of the reathers ... Again, we will ask them if they affirm with us that the Son of Man who came down from heaven...'

Nestorians in others, and with Arabs in still others.⁵⁹⁷ They, too, were part of the confessional kaleidoscope of the seventh and early eighth centuries and they, too, were

אומושא גאיש בישבוא גבלבאא לביוע. בי ביא בישר א אמעים בלטביא ובאי טיביא אומיניא איז איישא בישא איישא איישא אייש הכבידאי. מבל ניא גאים ממא בל אובא בגניא גלא פייול עגא פיוגולא גבפיא בל אובא גלא אמעלל בלהאמאאי ושוגיא לביא לשיאי היא כיוש לעל במו לאו לביא באי כיוב וגבאי אמב אילי איא לאי וגבל באי איא לאי גבל כות וועל כך לבאיפולא כות לעל בת ומעא ביושא. אבבא והוא ווביללבאי היום כן גומל היא ביו איני ו הביולא מכן שו בא אעונא ואל לבאים בעבי משאי בל ביושא ואידי ביול לבא אוע כל שביא אים כל כות איוויאי שלו כש עליאי ישאיעי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייטיאי אייט אייטיאי אי איא כח ומש היאשאי באבו גער געיי איש איא בישאי איא משיי גבוע איש איש איש איש בא בא איש איש איש איש איש איש איש א אישיאי אישיאי אישיאי אישאיז אראאי איע אין אי אאיאיארא אישאיא אישאיא אישאיא אישאיא אישאיא אישאיא אישאיא אישאיא אי אודבעאי. אלא גלי ו געובי וביי וביי ובייוא אידעאא אידעא גלא בעי גאימית בייי בי אלמאי. הכדי השלי האומי אי העודי הי הוצאי אי הובייא בי לוחי ובלאי לביטה ואומאי האבוי ה הי ברי לחי ובי אי הי אי בו מם אבי בבמכה בו בא אולבי, בות ולהאי מעות וביא ביות וביושא. אי באמולא כיל אבל. אמב מם כיו, כבמב. בכי ואומניא כן שמו מ ובלכא ולא נכמש עים. מלא נבמ בנמם לא د مصفعه معد محدمه معدد ما معدمه معدمه معدمه معدمه معدمه معدمه معدمه محدمه محدمه محدمه معدمه محدمه محد ה באיאי. משלה שלבי ליהי בה והביובי אבי אבי אבי מפלייא. מעביא אייא. מכבובי בלעאי anin reis , co, reis a sin a שלהי בה, ובבלה איו א הברים בן יביא למבלא. ולייא שלבים כה, ומובים אלא בהובא לא ביה אכיא, הכבורים, ו גווים, ולמושא שלבים, בה, הכיבלבוסי אכיא, הכאוא ביאא וביים שלאה וריים. Jacob of end contract to and in a contin on a cast of and the section of the sect Edessa says: If it is like the Armenians say—"There is a power in mice to make a thing impure"—then how many mice drowned in the great flood, and humans and cattle? And inasmuch as [the flood] was upon the earth to the point that not one grain of dust remained on the earth which was not mixed with the impurity—up to the lower waters—look now, the Armenians have nothing which is clean. Again, I will say to you: everything which fears impurity does not have in it the Holy Spirit, like the Jews who were made impure by the bones of a dead person and by other causes which are called impure in the Law. Everybody who says that a person is made unclean by mice or by something else, apart from sin and licentiousness and drunkenness, and transgressing the law which happen without repentance does not have the Holy Spirit in him. For these are Jewish observances which pollute each thing. The one who taught these things to the Armenians was a Jew by race and look—the Armenians keep Jewish observances. But as for fornication, which is its friend and an impurity which provokes God-since on account of it, it was swallowed up in the waters of the flood—from this the Armenians do not flee. Instead, they commit adultery, and steal, and despise, and [do] other things without number which are separated from God, and they are pleasing to and united with the Accuser and with demons. What is more evil than all the things which make the creation of God impure is that they make Him a liar when He says with His holy mouth that something which is impure has not been created and that there is nothing that defiles a human if it is eaten in gratitude (cf. 1 Timothy 4:3-4). And again, Mar Jacob: As for the Armenian people, they have lived without a law since the beginning of the world. No teachers or monks have come out from among them and there is no one who has sufficient knowledge. Because of the fact that strange teachers have come to have authority among them, they have separated from the true faith. Some of their teachers were from among the Jews and some of them from among the Phantasiasts and for this reason, they agree with the Jews in that they offer up a lamb and unleavened bread, and pure wine, and they bless salt and in the case of other things which are more wicked than these they agree with the Jews. And they agree with the Chalcedonians in that they make the sign of the

participants in the low-level disagreements I have been speaking of. In his fourth letter, George takes up the issue of whether one should pour water into the cup at the Eucharist. A 'certain Armenian' had been demanding of Joshua the recluse that he prove from the Gospel that there had been water in the cup at the Last Supper. This is another ghost of a conversation past.⁵⁹⁸ Averil Cameron has noted the increase in

cross with two [fingers]. They agree with the Nestorians in that they cross from right to left with the whole hand. With the Arabs they agree in that they prostrate three times to the south when they make a sacrifice or circumcise. They resemble the pagans in that when a dead person dies, they most definitely make a sacrifice for him. But this they especially anger God, because it is completely unlawful for a Christian to offer a sacrifice for a dead person on the day he dies, for this is in reality a pagan law and a Jewish law and foreign to the Church of God.' GT by Kayser in ibid., pp. 34-35. See the Armenian canons of David of Ganjak on the pollution caused by a mouse which falls into salt, flour, is found in a stove or on utensils, and other things in C.J.F. Dowsett, trans., The Penitential of David of Ganjak (CSCO 217: SA 4) (Louvain, 1961), pp. 8-10 (I am grateful to Peter Brown for this reference). Also, compare Jacob's criticisms of Armenian practices with those stated by Theodore Abū Qurrah in J.C. Lamoreaux, 'An Unedited Tract Against the Armenians by Theodore Abū Qurrah,' Le Muséon 105 (1992), pp. 327-341: (on mixing wine and water in communion): pp. 335, 337; (on animal sacrifice): pp. 337-341. The Thirty-Second Canon of the Quinisext Council also criticized the Armenian practice of using pure, or unmixed, wine in the Eucharist, see H.R. Percival, The Seven Ecumenical Councils of the Undivided Church: Their Canons and Dogmatic Decrees, vol. 14 of P. Schaff and H. Wace, eds., A Select Library of Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers of the Christian Church. Second Series (New York, 1900), pp. 379-380.

⁵⁹⁸ See BL Add., 12,154, fol. 257a (7.6.13-7.6.15 in my edition): Now, since a certain Armenian was demanding of you, as you wrote, that you prove for him from the Gospel ($\epsilon \dot{\nu} \alpha \gamma \gamma \epsilon \lambda_{10}$) that there was water in that cup Our Lord gave to his disciples, or that we should pour water into that cup, let it be demanded of him that he prove from the Gospel (εὐαγγέλιον) that there was no water in that cup or that we should not put water into the cup of Mysteries. But perhaps he will say that it is written in the Gospel (εὐαγγέλιον) that Our Lord said to his disciples, 'Truly, truly, I say unto you, I will not drink from this fruit of the vine until I drink it anew with you in the Kingdom of God.' And it is claimed that based on the fact that He said, 'the fruit of the vine,' it is that [the wine] of that cup was pure wine and not mixed with water. But let us listen one more time. What now? Now, in the Kingdom of God-that is, in the time after His Resurrection—when Our Savior was eating and drinking with his disciples (in accordance with the divine plan, in order to confirm his Resurrection) and when He remained with them 40 days, as it is written, was he drinking unmixed ($\ddot{\alpha}\kappa\rho\alpha\tau\sigma\nu$) wine each time He and His disciples were eating and drinking? Who is so brainless so as to speak in this way, save the person who claims that that cup Our Lord took and gave thanks and said a blessing over and had His disciples drink from had no wine in it but only water? But if a person wanted to properly refute this reprehensible doctrine, he would need many words and even his own treatise.' השל גוליה גליים אובא איביא גבאביא גבאבא גאיים אוא איי איי איי איי איי איי איי אמעלעה ביוא מחה היא בבמא מה ונתב בי לאלביו החה: אה ווגל לבו ביות לה לבו ביו אים אוו אלא בבי אלין. גבוליב באמע ליים באילי מי של לאלביו החתי. גאבי אבי אלי ביא בבמא גואואי. האוא לבה ביולא ולוב אישא הל מוא לו אי אישא אי איגא ואשאל האוא איבר ביבל אוא איש איי אישא איי אישא איי איי איי ו הבוצ בדיא וחפה אי עירבי. ביא מבול בבל האא וא היא ביא בובא ובאו שבאמי בי ובאו בבא בובא ובאו ביג וביו ביו אבל מהא השולא הה פוחם שת וללביו החת מוכויאש מקל ועיו מיבוחה: בו באו להאמה מהלאא ת משאי בא גם מסה בובאיו אשמר בל אחם אם אחם אים היש אים אים איבו השאביו השאבו האבא בא אים איבא באים אים אים אים אי מאצירם , המלב ע ולם , זמרם ב וא שביו מה רפביו ולירו מה הלר . ואתי היאה אמו העביר ומלצ הנבהה

Christian literature aimed at Jews in the seventh century.⁵⁹⁹ And of course, we have traces of polemical conversations held with pagans and Muslims, too. Disagreement and dispute over religious matters did not stop at the boundaries of the Christian faith. A manuscript in the British Library, for example, preserves a set of aporetic questions for Christians to use against pagans—worshippers of the sun.⁶⁰⁰

Letters can show other religious disputes and discussions of a slightly less doctrinal flavor which were taking place. A thirteenth-century manuscript in Cambridge preserves the only surviving work of a Miaphysite bishop named Yonan who had been a correspondent of the famous Severos Sebokht in the middle of the seventh century. Yonan was responding to a periodeute named Theodore who had written him seeking arguments supporting monogamy. Theodore, it seems, had been put on the defensive by people who thought it acceptable for a man to take more than one wife. 'Now, when on account of a certain exchange,' Yonan wrote to Theodore,

which took place between you and some people, as you stated, the cause arose [and] you were interested in learning which arguments we should require of those who are badgering (that is, demanding), 'On what basis do you prove that it is not right for a man to marry two women at the same time?'⁶⁰¹

⁵⁹⁹ See, e.g., her 'Interfaith Relations in the First Islamic Century,' Bulletin of the Royal Institute for Inter-Faith Studies 1:2 (1999), pp. 4-5.

⁶⁰⁰ See BL Add. 14,533, fols. 138b-139a. I have transcribed these questions but will not reproduce them here. Cf. also M. Cook, 'The Origins of "*Kalām*",' *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 43 (1980), p. 38.

Although Yonan goes on to assert that one could make an argument for monogamy even if the Divine Scripture and the Venerable Fathers had never spoken on the issue, Yonan's use of church fathers such as Gregory Nazianzen and John Chrysostom and his explicitly Christian argumentation suggest that Theodore was dealing with a group of people in the mid-seventh century who believed that polygamy was compatible with Christianity.⁶⁰² The canons of Jacob of Edessa seem to confirm this, as well. 'It is not right,' Jacob wrote, 'for a Christian man to marry two women at the same time, just as it is not possible for a Christian woman to marry two men at the same time. For Christ does not possess two churches, nor does the Church possess two Christs.'⁶⁰³ In the middle of the eighth century in northern Mesopotamia, the East Syrian Māran'ameh correctly predicted that God would punish a Christian man with death for having more than one wife.⁶⁰⁴

31 Flavors

Our knowledge of the spectrum of possible Christian beliefs in this period is obscured by the documents which survive, and the letter of Yonan suggests that the confessional chaos I have tried to delineate in this chapter was only one front in a wideranging battle to enforce orthodoxy and orthopraxy that church leaders like Jacob were constantly fighting. Addai's questions to Jacob reflect a host of activities among Christians which Jacob was less than happy with. Some Christians were bending

⁶⁰² See Cambridge Add. 2023, fols. 256b, 257b for citations of John Chrysostom; fol. 256a for a citation of Gregory Nazianzen. On fol. 256b, Yonan makes the argument that if there are two Christs then there are two men/husbands and two women/wives. But if Christ is one and the head of the Church is one and the flesh is one, that of two is rejected.

⁶⁰⁴ See E.A.W. Budge, trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga* A.D. 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), p. 308.

needles so that their tip passed through their eye and fastening locks and throwing these things in wells or burying them in the ground in order to keep a husband and wife apart from one another.⁶⁰⁵ In order to protect their property from sickness, people would use the dung of bulls to make the walls of their houses.⁶⁰⁶ When confronted with illness, Addai listed a large number of remedies people were using: they sought refuge in special trees, springs, sea water, bones, dried animal heads, nerium oleander and other herbs, iron and gold. They were investing thunder, lighting and comets with meaning and power. Some even would use the right paw of a wolf or pieces of broken pottery for apotropaic purposes. Special names or words or utterances were also put to use. Jacob, for his part, spoke of people who would put laurel branches in a field to keep its crops from getting scorched by heat.⁶⁰⁷ A locust infestation in a garden might

⁶⁰⁵ Lamy, Dissertatio, p. 140: حلق محمدة. محراحت معن معنى العام العلي المحمية العلمية العلمية العلمي العلم العلم العلم العلم العلم العلمي ا

be met with several strategies. People would place a coin in a stream of water and then use it to irrigate a garden with the purpose of driving out locusts and other pests who were destroying it.⁶⁰⁸ Another option was a ritual which Jacob decried as pagan: young virgins were gathered together. One was picked out and was designated the mother of one of the locusts. Weeping intensely for the chosen locust, they would bury it and then take its 'mother' to the mass of other locusts. As with the coin in the stream of water, the intent was to get the pests to leave the garden. The men and women, Jacob wrote, who engaged in this pagan act, were to receive punishment based on ecclesiastical canons.⁶⁰⁹

⁶⁰⁹ Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 142, 144: تحمان أمر مع المراح على من المحمد على المعان ا

paw of a wolf, or a broken pot, or other base and despicable things, and along with these things, they observe and attribute divine power to words and names and utterances and many other things which resemble them. Jacob: As regards all these things which you have listed—and along with them, those who place laurel ($\delta \alpha \phi v(\delta_{10}v)$) branches in fields of grain so that the grain does not get scorched from heat, though God, who said to the children of Israel, "I have struck you with heat and scorching wind and hail," (Amos 4:9) is the One who causes grain to wither or grow fat: they are worshippers of idols and servants of created things, and strangers from the communion of the church.' LT, pp. 141, 143.

⁶⁰⁸ Lamy, Dissertatio, p. 140: محدم جمعم كم المعتمر عديم معمر المعتمر ال معرم المعتمر المعتر المعتمر المعتر المعتم

Priests and monks were using the Gospels, the Psalter, a work called the 'Lot of the Apostles'⁶¹⁰ and perhaps other books, to make charms—a practice Jacob condemned.⁶¹¹ Priests and monks were also using their literacy to read various types of prognosticatory works in marketplaces and houses for audiences of men and women. Addai gives us several different titles: the *Book of Twitches*, the *Book of the Signs which are in the Human Body*, the *Book of Moons* and the *Book of Types of Thunder*.⁶¹² Writing perhaps

⁶¹¹ See Mardin 310, fols. 202a-202b: محمد مع المعتد المنا محمد مع الما معتد الما معتد الما معتد الما معتد الم באבא אינדיא אינא גמהי. אם אי לא וגלי בנא לא גנוי אינא אינא גבו אי מלי באלעצעו: בבחב לא וגל La Laiadin river en 2003 al car a cas an de la car a san de la car a san de la car a car a car a car a car a car סדול לבידו המתי. האפלא כן אהעלים אה כן זהו אה כן נהו אה כן באבא אינוא מאי. מה ון דמלו מו אי. אי כן מלי באי איש מחת: מלא כיא בים גנוינים כי לביוחולא מו אי. גובל כי גו למ וגם. אי גי גי גי אי איש מחת, סוגיאי: האל לה אב גו בא אר מות גביו הלה נאיר וגל גבת ה, גובל בי גו בה. אב בי בהאפהאא ואפוב 'Addai: Whether it is right for a priest or a monk to make a charm either for himself or for another person either from that [work] which is called 'The Lot of the Apostles,' or from the Gospel, or from the Psalter [lit. 'David'], or at all from another book, whatever it be? Or, if it is not right, what should a person who uses such things suffer? Jacob: It is not right for a Christian to make charms at all, neither from the 'Lot' which is not of the Apostles, but rather of the Evil One and his disciples, nor from the Gospel, nor from the Psalter, nor from any other book at all. Now as for the one who does this: if he is a clergyman and will not be persuaded to distance himself from this error, he should fall from his rank. If he is a monk and educated and he has some level of ordination, he should, in addition to falling from his rank, also be cut off from communion for a certain period of time. The same [should be the case] for a layman.' According to Y. Manna, Qāmūs kaldānī-'arabī (Beirut, 1975), s.v. nsab, the idiom nsab pethgāmā means ragā rugyatan, which means to give someone a charm (see e.g., J.G. Hava, Al-Faraid: Arabic-English Dictionary, 5th ed., (Beirut, 1982), s.v. raqā; B. al-Bustānī, Muḥīț al-muḥīț: qāmūs muṭawwal li-lughat 'l-ʻarabiyya (Beirut, 1977), s.v.; E.W. Lane, Arabic-English Lexicon (London, 1863-1893), s.v.) For other versions of this rule, see C. Kayser, Die Canones Jakob's von Edessa (Leipzig, 1886), pp. 2, 21 (Syriac). A shorter version can also be found in A. Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I, (CSCO 367: SS 161) (Louvain, 1975), p. 268, with ET in idem., trans., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 368: SS 162), p. 244. Vööbus understood nsab pethqāmā to mean 'take an answer,' one possible literal meaning of the two words. If Vööbus' construal is more correct, Jacob's canon would be aimed at forms of bibliomancy which attempted to divine the future based on passages from the Bible (or other books) found randomly.

⁶¹⁰ Preserved in Syriac in in BL Or. 4434, from the nineteenth century. G. Furlani published an Italian translation in his '*Una recensione siriaca delle* Sortes apostolorum,' *Atti del Reale Istituto Veneto di Scienze, Lettere ed Arti* 82.2 (1922-1923) pp. 357-363.

about the time that Jacob was quitting his bishopric over widespread canonical abuse in the late 680s, the East Syrian John of Phenek would also lament the ubiquity of fortunetelling among Christians in Northern Mesopotamia. 'For in Egypt,' John observed, 'the mother of enchanters, divination was not as abundant as it is in our time. Indeed, in Babel, augurs and soothsayers were not as numerous as they are now among Christian people.'⁶¹³ Jacob's canons suggest that priests were apparently engaging in a wide variety of divinatory practices: they spoke incantations, tied knots, made charms, wrote out small texts to drive away headaches and heal tumors. They cast convulsions out of humans and out of animals. They would use the twitterings and movements of birds for auguries; even marks on the human body were being used to divine the future. These priests also interpreted dreams.⁶¹⁴

Although Jacob would state that such people could not even be considered Christians, Addai's question about them indicated that these individuals were in fact priests, something which suggests that some Christians, even among the elite, did not view practicing a wide variety of forms of divination as incompatible with Christianity.

⁶¹³ My translation. For the Syriac text, see A. Mingana, Sources Syriaques vol. 1, (Mosul, 1908), p. 151*: حتی مدید که هری است که محمد الله منه المالين الله محمد الله محمد الله محمد الله محمد الله محمد الله محمد مدین محمد الله محمد ا

For Christians in the seventh century this compatibilist view, so to speak, also extended to looking to and taking up Zoroastrian astrological practices in attempts to gain insight into future events. Unsurprisingly, Jacob condemned this practice as well. 'It is not right,' he wrote,

for Christians to observe and believe in these things which are called by them '*d-surāde*,' because God is not circumscribed and forced to administer by the decisions of human beings who want to blather foolishness, nor are His mind or His actions comprehended by their examinations [sc., of the stars]. We should rather know that this name which is called '*d-surāde*' is Persian and Magian and is for those days in which they make divinations concerning their error, [days] in which they think that they will have a certain foreknowledge concerning things to come. Magians name them '*d-surāde*', as do insane blabberers among the Christians when they imitate them and want to make examinations, they say, and foreknow and foretell—based on their false and empty foreknowledge—idiotic things about future events. They have been made to call it by this pagan and Magian name when they imitate the pagan error of the Magians both in act and word.⁶¹⁵

What Jacob of Edessa referred to as the '*d-surāde*,' George of the Arabs knew as 'the Examiners' or '*Sūrādē*' or '*Nāsūrdē*'—'I have heard them called by all three of these names,' he wrote—the eight days after the rising of Sirius, each of which was supposed to offer insight into the events of a separate month, from October through May.⁶¹⁶

Though George also rejected the practice of astrology, as we will see below, he had a solid understanding of its mechanics. Moreover, that both he and Jacob had occasion to write about Christians engaging in Zoroastrian astrological practices suggests that the phenomenon was far from an isolated one. In the seventh and eighth centuries, many Christians apparently had no problem with reconciling Christian belief in a personal, all-powerful God and the practice of astrology. Jacob of Edessa's Hexaemeron had included arguments against astrology which went back to Basil and, through Basil, to Origen:⁶¹⁷ indeed, Addai had written to Jacob about 'those who blame the stars for their illnesses.³⁶¹⁸ Christians had been using astrology for a long time. And they would continue to do so, even after Jacob. The Maronite Theophilos of Edessa (d. 785) was the astrologer of the Caliph al-Mahdī and was a strong defender of this art,⁶¹⁹ even on scriptural grounds. 'Whence did the Magi know that the the King was being born in Judaea?' Theophilos asked: from a prophecy or from a star rising—or comet or something else appearing? If the Magi knew of Jesus' birth, then why does the Gospel have them speaking of a star? 'If, then, a star appeared to the Magi, it is clear that the Magi were moved to see the birth of the King by means of astrological knowledge and the star itself was the indicator of the dominical birth. If this is clear to those who have a mind, astrology is true."620

concerning November; the third, concerning December; the fourth, concerning January; the fifth, concerning February; the sixth, concerning March; the seventh, concerning April; the eighth, concerning May. Now the 8 days are those which people call 'The Examiners', or Sūrādē or Nāsūrdē; I have heard them called by all three of these names.'

⁶¹⁷ See M. Wilks, 'Jacob of Edessa's Use of Greek Philosophy in His Hexaemeron,' in B. ter Haar Romeny, ed., Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day (Leiden/Boston, 2008), pp. 236-238.

⁶¹⁸ Lamy, *Dissertatio*, p. 140. See above, n. 607, for Syriac text and translation.

⁶¹⁹ See Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 400-401.

⁶²⁰ See F. Cumont and F. Boll, edd. Catalogus codicum astrologorum graecorum, vol. 5, Codicum Romanorum partem priorem (Brussels, 1904), pp. 237-238: πόθεν ἔγνωσαν οἱ μάγοι βασιλέα τκτόμενον ἐν τῇ Ἰουδαία; ἀπὸ χρησμοῦ τινος ἢ ἀπὸ ἀστέρος ἐπιτολὴς ἤτοι κομήτου ἢ ἄλλου τινὸς φανέντος; καὶ εἰ μὲν

We have similar indications of this compatibilist view in other places as well. Among the feats of Theodota of Amid was unmasking a man in the monastery of Bar Sawmā who, the *Life* reports, had 'a spirit of sorcery:'

He would repeat both the Old and the New [Testaments], the Psalms, and the [various] liturgies, and the opinion of the Teachers. He was clothed in a demon and he was leading the people astray. He had ascetic feats and vigils and prayers and would teach the people about repentance. He would reveal the sins and hidden things of the people; and all the people of the region began to go astray after him—the priests and the monks and all the people, since they supposed 'The Holy Spirit is in him,' and 'a prophet has been given in our day.'⁶²¹

Theodota subsequently drove an evil spirit out of the man and showed him to be a demonic fraud. Nevertheless, what we have here is a concrete example of the sort of person Addai had referred to in his question to Jacob about priests practicing divination: a figure who, although regarded by at least some ecclesiastical elites to be in error and even satanic, still enjoyed a following among lay people and monks. Whatever this man's self-conception was, he was perceived by others as being holy and his idiom of self-representation was a Christian one. The sorcerer was certainly doing the things that one would expect a holy man to do, at least on the surface. Addai spoke to Jacob of a similar situation: a priest who claimed an ability to cast demons out of people and animals who had been possessed for less than forty days. For certain animals, like bulls and camels, he would have strong men hold or bind them and he would pray softly in their ear to cast the demon out. Jacob held that such a person was

ἀπὸ χρησμοῦ, περιττὸς ὁ τοῦ λόγος· τίς γὰρ ἦν χρεία ἀσρικῆς φάσεως καὶ σημασίας; εἰ δὲ ἀστὴρ ἐφάνη τοῖς μάγοις, δῆλον δι' ἀστρολογικῆς ἐπιστήμης ἐκινήθησαν οἱ μάγοι τοῦ εἰδέναι βασιλέως γέννησιν, καὶ ὁ αστὴρ αὐτὸς ἐγένετο σημάντωρ τῆς δεσποτικῆς ἐκτροπῆς· καὶ εἰ τοῦτο φανερόν τοῖς νοῦν ἔχουσιν, ἀληθής ἐστιν ἡ ἀστρολογία.

⁶²¹ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 553b (section 108 in my edition; see also section 109). I am grateful to Peter Brown for pointing out to me that the Holy Man who knows the secret things of the people, before they have even told him, is also a common theme in early medieval Western Christianity. See the example of Aldebert in P. Brown, *The Rise of Western Christendom: Triumph and Diversity, A.D. 200-*1000, 2nd ed., (Malden, MA./Oxford, 2003), p. 422.

neither a priest, nor a Christian, and was someone in league with demons to lead 'simple Christians' astray. Such a figure has left us no documents through which he can speak for himself. That he called himself a priest, however, and that he would rub himself with the blessings of the saints the day after the exorcism and indeed, that Jacob ordered that this priest's Christian followers be punished according to church canons, all suggest that the exorcist regarded himself as a Christian and was a respected figure in at least some parts of the Christian community.⁶²²

The spectrum of what was acceptable and what was not for a Christian was certainly person-relative and depending on the issue, different Christian authorities

⁶²² Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 136, 138, 140: מה הצוזם הזהב המה כהז ושהרז הציעה גרוי, זהה כהת מינא איאיה. לבין לה גביא מילאנא. אם ביין לה. המאת בהכת בל אונה. הכי לא לת באונה והה כה, והה וכלומא בו לא אע שלב כות ואלו. חופת כנה שאות. הא עוב חנבהם אך כך מגא נבים .. כבור בי אכי גמא א עשא לא נב אלא כי וכא ובי גמא ובי המאא . המבחבל אשל אא אילי. ובו בי לא באונה והה ובא בי באינה גמו המא ובי בייאי: א אל אמ לשה שוא האנא האלי בא אובשי ההבין. הצב לה בנה איתי ההביא עולה הי הי הוא בא בי אי. אלה לא הכבולטא ה להאמ הבולא בערא בערא הבביא לאובבי ההבין . עבא בר ה גלא בה גלא בה א לבפטה האשוא הובהם י בא הושוו. לא געו יש כאובן השיל להיות הבלים הבל יו או הי הא הבל הי הא הי ביילאי. לא וגל ונעצטב בעידא ואפ לא בועליא מוט זין הבי המאללבי בנת ובו ישי לטולית. וגם השבלה בישא השהוא בואניא מעוב ולשה אל הכאות שאב לה בהוכאא המושא. לה כיות Addai: About a priest who says 'Addai: About a priest who says that if a human or a beast of burden has a demon, he will drive him out if it has possessed him for forty days. But if it is a bull or a camel or another animal, it is a difficult matter. Strong men take hold of it or bind it and he places his mouth on its ear and prays, it is said, into the ear of whatever it is which is being afflicted, with no one hearing what he says, and the demon goes out from him. If it happens that it goes out, does it go out because of this? Jacob: Our Lord said, 'This type does not go out save by fasting and prayer.' (Matthew 17:20) The enemy of God and the one who despises the priesthood says that while he is praying in the ear of the one who is afflicted by an evil spirit, he will cast it out of him if the affair has not had a span of more than forty days: it seems that the power of such a one would be greater than Our Lord's if his prayer did not become old and weak as soon as forty days passed! It is therefore evident that it is not possible for him to cast a demon out of a person. And if it seems that it is going out, it is not that it is going out, but rather that it [the demon] wanted to confirm the error of its disciple who prayed to him secretly, for it does not always want to treat with scorn those who serve it. As for the one who thus serves the demons such that he orders them to go out and they obey him, and who is an opponent of the words of Our Lord even as he leads simple Christians astray: he should not be regarded as a priest, not even as a Christian. As for those who are led astray by him, who are close to him, they should receive a punishment from the ecclesiastical canons. At that point, [after the exorcism], on the following day, when he rubs the blessings of the saints on himself, it is nothing other than the artifice of his wickedness, for the purpose of covering up his deceit.'

might have divergent standards. Theodota's disapproval of a Christian who engaged in magical practices put him in agreement with the stance of Jacob of Edessa on such things; George of the Arabs, too, has left us a canon calling for the excommunication of everyone who made use of magical knots, amulets and incantations.⁶²³ Theodota, however, and George's attitudes would conflict on a different topic related to the activities of Christian leaders and holy men. Theodota carried with him a bag of saints' relics as he traveled about, whereas George—who was his younger contemporary—has left us a canon ordering that monks roving around carrying such sacks not be received.⁶²⁴

Similarly, neither the Chalcedonian saint Timothy of Kākhushtā (fl. late eighth and early ninth century) nor his hagiographer saw any conflict between astrology and Christian piety, a stance which differed from that of George of the Arabs and Jacob of Edessa. 'I am skilled,' Timothy tells his sister who is unaware of his identity and asking the holy man about none other than Timothy himself, 'in reckoning the stars and I can

⁶²³ Bedjan, *Nomocanon*, p. 102: ترم مصن : المعنور المعنور

⁶²⁴ For this point, see A. Palmer, 'Saints' Lives With a Difference: Elijah on John of Tella (d. 538) and Joseph on Theodotos of Amida (d. 698),' *IV Symposium Syriacum 1984 Literary Genres in Syriac Literature*, H.J.W. Drijvers, R. Lavenant, C. Molenberg and G.J. Reinink, eds., (Rome, 1987), p. 213, n. 43. For the canon, see A. Vööbus, ed. and trans., *Syriac and Arabic Documents Regarding Legislation Relative to Syrian Asceticism* (Stockholm, 1960), p. 99: محمد المدينة: المحمد الم

reckon them so that I can tell you whether your brother is alive or dead.'⁶²⁵ Timothy had no problem using the stars to find information (or at least giving the appearance of doing so) and the *Life* records Christian and astrological imagery in the same breath. 'He stood there computing with his fingers for a while,' it reports,

He then said to her, 'Lady, know that your brother is alive and well, and in excellent health. Stellar computation indicates that he's wearing monastic garb and that he's near to you and not far. Know also: the basis and validity of this computation is derived solely from the signs of the zodiac and the wandering stars in the revolving spheres of heaven. And yet, because of what I shall request as a reward from Christ's recompense, this night I shall apply myself again to computation, that I might learn where he is and inform you tomorrow.⁶²⁶

George of the Arabs fielded a question from John of Litarb about the influence and

meaning that the rising of Sirius had on human lives—this was related to the practice of

the Zoroastrian *sarūde* which I have already mentioned. Such a question, George told

Jacob, had nothing to do with the act of calculating important dates on a church

calendar; attempting answers at such questions took one into a decidedly non- and

even anti-Christian domain:

Instead, [this matter] belongs to the procedures ($\check{\epsilon}\phi \delta \delta \iota$) of astronomy ($\check{\alpha}\sigma\tau\rho \nu \circ \mu(\alpha)$) and is related to the craft of the astronomers ($\check{\alpha}\sigma\tau\rho \circ \dot{\nu}\mu\iota$). Or, it would be more accurate and true to say: it does not belong to the craft of pagan astronomers ($\check{\alpha}\sigma\tau\rho \circ \dot{\nu}\mu\iota$) who only have labor or care to know or make known the movements of the lights of heaven (I mean their [movements] lengthwise and crosswise, ascending and descending, in the sphere ($\sigma\phi\alpha\tilde{\iota}\rho\alpha$) of heaven). It belongs, rather, to the craft of demonic astrologers ($\check{\alpha}\sigma\tau\rho\circ\lambda\acute{\gamma}\circ\iota$), who allege that our affairs and those of this world are woven together and guided according to the movement, intermingling, and conjunction of the lights with one another and their standings in various places in the heavenly body, thereby

⁶²⁵ My translation. Text and a different ET in J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala edd. and trans., *The Life of Timothy of Kākhushtā (Patrologia Orientalis* 48) (Turnhout, 2000), pp. 550 (Arabic), 551 (ET).

⁶²⁶ Translation J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala in *idem.*, edd. and trans., *The Life of Timothy of Kākhushtā (Patrologia Orientalis* 48) (Turnhout, 2000), pp. 550 (Arabic), 551 (ET).

depriving God, the Creator of all (even according to their beliefs) from His administration and direction of His created beings and their changes.⁶²⁷

Although he labeled it pagan and even demonic, George was certainly aware of the language and ideas of astronomy and astrology, as his two letters on astronomical and astrological topics attest. In the case of John's particular question about the influence and significance of the rising of Sirius and the particular sign of the Zodiac in which it rises, George offered a summary of the theory behind this idea, which I have already alluded to above. But George rejected it all. 'I, however, am a Christian,' he told John, 'and regard these things as empty nonsense and a load of rubbish, for I have learned from the divine astrologer ($\dot{\alpha}\sigma\tau\rhoo\lambda \dot{o}\gammao\varsigma$), who says "The Lord does all that he wills in heaven and on earth, in the seas and all the deep," (Ps. 135:6) and "The earth is the Lord's in its fullness, the world and all its inhabitants (Ps. 24:1)."⁶²⁸

George had had to confront an interest in astrology and belief that the heavens exerted influence over human lives was present both inside and outside the church. In the introduction to his *memra* on the church calendar ($\chi \rho o v i \kappa \delta v$), he reports a run-in he had had with a group of pagan astrological determinists:

One day, a man from among the pagans (*hanpe*) was boasting while in one of their gatherings, greatly praising their poets, saying that it was only given to

them to speak in measured words concerning astronomical calculations. He began reciting and bringing forth passages from them, person by person, in polished and varied speech and [with] something on the subject of astronomical calculations, setting down many bitter things with a little bit of honey, that he might give hidden bitterness along with the sweetness of the honey. When he had clearly set forth something on the subject of astronomical calculations, he showed forth and said that there are many guides, stating that these are the wandering stars: they have governance in this cosmos. According to what he blathered on about, each one of the twelve signs of the zodiac has governance. When reproach seized me because of his shameful prattle, I responded for some time with many words against him. For this reason, I have composed this short memra on account of the measured speech through which that person boasted and I have set down in it certain sorts of astronomical calculations which it is necessary for members of the Church to know. But those types [of calculations] which are not useful to us, we have left behind—we have taken from the bush its roses and left behind the thorns. We shall let these things which have no use to us be dismissed, things which cause falsehood and schisms and which bring forth dispute...⁶²⁹

George's debate was not an isolated incident, either. Jacob of Edessa quoted from a defense (συνηγορία) concerning fate and the decree of the seven stars over the things which take place in the world made by an unnamed scholar from Harran against Vologases, an Edessene Bardaisanite, who had been speaking with him against such ideas.⁶³⁰ And according to his *Life*, Simeon of the Olives was consecrated bishop of Harran in AD 700 on account of his debating skills: 'for there was no one in the entire church who was greater than Mar Simeon,' the *Life* states,

⁶³⁰ See I.B. Chabot, ed., *Iacobi Edesseni Hexaemeron* (CSCO 92: SS 44) (Louvain, 1953), p. 61. For this point, see M. Cook, *Early Muslim Dogma* (Cambridge, 1981), p. 151.

for [Simeon] was able to respond to all debates and questions, as there survived in Harran the old leaven [1 Cor. 5:7] of the worship of idols and of the Roman teachings of the Manichaeans who were living in the city of Harran and in the regions which were around it. They appeared like tares ($\zeta_1\zeta_{\alpha\nu_1\alpha}$) among the wheat in the land of Syria.⁶³¹

George had found himself in a public confrontation with a non-Christian advocate of some sort of astrological determinism. From his own writings, however, as well as those of Jacob and John of Phenek, we have seen that such positions, as well as other 'pagan' practices had not insignificant followings in the church. The location of this story of his encounter at the beginning of a *memra* on the church calendar gives us a hint why someone like George might have a legitimate reason to study the stars: astronomy was important in calculating the feast days of the liturgical year. Given the nature of our sources and the surviving evidence, however, it is of course impossible to gauge how widespread practices such as astrology and divination were among Christians.

An Orthodox Minority

I will take this point up more extensively in the final section of this dissertation, but based on all these things, one is tempted to suggest that orthodoxy—understood as the views of theological elites on correct doctrine, be they Miaphysite, Chalcedonian, or Nestorian—was actually a minority position. Not only were the boundaries between competing churches fuzzy, the boundaries between what theological elites regarded as Christian and non-Christian were also rather porous. Expanding our understanding of

⁶³¹ See Mardin 8/259, fol. 115v; the date of Simeon's consecration is on fol. 117r. It should be noted that this text has experienced later additions. For the history of the *Life* of Simeon of the Olives and comments about its later medieval accretions, see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 168-171 and A. Palmer, *Monk and Mason on the Tigris frontier: The Early History of Țur 'Abdin* (Cambridge, 1990), pp. 159-165. Peter Brown has pointed out to me that the Pauline phrase 'old leaven' (cf. 1 Cor 5:8) is frequently used to refer to pagan survivals.

the range and possible spectrum of Christian belief and practice can be very helpful in obtaining a richer understanding of seventh and early eighth-century society and culture in the Middle East.

The State of the Question

Let me therefore take stock here for a moment. I have tried to show that the boundaries separating the different confessional factions within the larger Christian community were not clear; what's more, the boundaries between Christianity and non-Christianity were not even clear. There were people, like Jacob of Edessa, George of the Arabs and the Patriarch Athanasios of Balad who felt very strongly about the need for maintaining strong separation, liturgical and otherwise, between people with opposing Christological stances. But we can see, dimly, through the prism of their writings, that there were many others who did not feel the same way. Hence their attempts at not just boundary maintenance, but also boundary drawing.

An upshot of the diversity of Christian confessional stances and the incomplete ecclesiastical and communal separation which existed on the ground was an intense competition between rival factions for followers among the 'simple people' and others who were still very much up for grabs in terms of their confessional allegiance. Rule by Arabs could have an effect of leveling the competitive playing field in this regard. Writing some time before AD 693-694, the East Syrian John of Phenek reported that the reign of Mu'āwiya beginning in 661 ushered in a time of tranquility and peace in Northern Mesopotamia and Miaphysites seized this moment to expand their communion at the cost of Chalcedonians. 'The accursed heretics, John wrote,

taking the situation then as beneficial to themselves, instead of converting and baptising the pagans, in accordance with ecclesiastical canons, started on a

272

retrograde (kind of) conversion, turning almost all the churches of the Byzantines to their own wicked standpoint, reviving and re-establishing something that had been overthrown; (as a result) the majority of the Westerners were regularly using (the addition to the Trisagion of) the words, "...immortal, who was crucified for us.' All the churches became like uncultivated land.⁶³²

What's more, by the late seventh century it seems that Chalcedonians were making gains of their own at the expense of the Miaphysites. The Life of Theodota of Amid reports that Byzantines were attempting to force Miaphysite refugees on the borders between Byzantine and Arab-ruled territories to convert to Chalcedonianism. Theodota, for his part, did his best to combat this. 'He had had the habit,' the Life tells us, 'of writing and sending to the region of the fortresses through the intermediary of his disciple, to the needy who were dwelling there, that they might take hold of the faith of Orthodoxy and that the leaders of the heretics not cause them to deviate from the truth through disturbances or threats.' Theodota himself would threaten the Chalcedonian elites who were forcing needy Miaphysite refugees from the Arabs to change confessions in exchange for aid. In exchange for a promise from these elites that they would not force Miaphysite refugees to convert, Theodota agreed to pray that God would protect them from an Arab military leader whom they feared.⁶³³ Theodota himself would be involved in bringing heretical Christians in this region to Miaphysite Orthodoxy, though not by force. His Life reports that on account of reports of

⁶³³ See St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fols. 554a-554b, (sections \$115-\$116 in my edition).

Theodota's miraculous activity and his pious behavior, 'many from among the heretics made atonement.'⁶³⁴

The small-time theological debates and discussions whose ghosts I have tried to conjure are another manifestation of this competition between groups. In this environment, advances of rivals were viewed with utmost seriousness. The first time Simeon of the Olives built the church of Mar Theodore in Nisibis, it was destroyed by Nestorians.⁶³⁵ I have already spoken of Isho'yahb's ire at the Miaphysite construction of a church in Tikrit; the consternation that the act elicited was enough to provoke Isho'yahb into arguing that the end times were upon him and Gabriel the Metropolitan of Kirkuk, the recipient of his letter.⁶³⁶ The erection of ecclesiastical structures by rival groups would trigger intense lobbying of authorities to permit or hinder such projects: Isho'yahb attributed Miaphysite success in Tikrit in part to the susceptibility of the rulers to 'silver whispers and gilded petitions,'⁶³⁷ but from Bar Hebraeus we learn that Isho'yahb himself was able to prevent the construction of a Miaphysite church in Mosul

⁶³⁴ See Mardin 275, fol. 262v (p. 532): محب ۲۲۲ بیکنده همی ۲۲۲ به For the Karshūnī, see محب ۲۲۲ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 554b (section §118 in my edition).

⁶³⁵ See Mardin 8/259, fol. 112v (section §21 in my translation).

through the expenditure of large sums of money to bribe local officials.⁶³⁸ When Simeon of the Olives' attempts to build the church of St Theodore in Nisibis were stymied by Nestorian leaders forbidding their church members from working on the project, he went to Gawargī of Anḥel, who held authority over all of Ṭūr 'Abdīn, for help. Gawargī was initially skeptical of Miaphysites (presumably because he was a Chalcedonian),⁶³⁹ but Simeon eventually won him over to his cause by working a miracle; Gawargī was able to provide three hundred men to help in the construction of the church.⁶⁴⁰

Another form the competition for believers took can be seen in the *Life* of Marūtha, the Miaphysite Metropolitan of Takrit (d. 649), which reports that in the late sixth century, Nestorians who wished to 'steal the simple people over to their error' were diligently establishing schools in every village and spreading their chanting and hymnody in the region of Beth Nehūdrā around Nineveh. This prompted a counter movement by zealous Miaphysites to establish a number of their own schools in the same region.⁶⁴¹ The East Syrian Catholicos Isho'yahb II (sed. AD 628 – 643-646)

⁶³⁹ See comments on fol. 113r of Mardin 8/259 about Gawargī being from the West and not trusting the holy men of the Syrians because he had grown up with the Romans.

 $^{^{640}}$ See Mardin 8/259, fols. 112v-114r (sections §22-§26 in my translation).

established schools and was known for his concern for doctrine.⁶⁴² After becoming

Catholicos ca. 650, Ishoʻyahb III, his successor decided to build a school at the

monastery of Beth 'Ābe. His plan, Thomas of Marga tells us, was

to bring to it teachers and masters and expositors, and to gather together many scholars and to provide for them in all things. And he had made ready in his mind, and had resolved and decided to carry out this work in such a way that for every child who was trained and instructed therein the monastery might be near at hand for the purpose of [his becoming a disciple, so that the school and the monastery might become one; the school to give birth to and rear scholars, and the monastery to teach and sanctify them for the labours of the ascetic life.⁶⁴³

Rabban Sabroy was a Miaphysite contemporary of Isho'yahb III. In addition to writing

two volumes refuting Nestorians, he founded a school in a village near Nineveh where

. איז ומחו אים ז איאואים הם אידנישו אי איאוש של השמר ל נישר איין איל איל איל אישו ל ישרי איין איין איין איין איי הסוגביולא מבכה בסו שלא וגבול מילא בעול מסנ. הבאובן בביול אול הכאל ש לבא הבביא בנו. הביוחות ما العامل الما أي 'Indeed, Nestorians who were in the East, wanting to steal the simple to their error and to bewitch the hearing of the laypeople who are very easy to steal over with sweet songs and melodies, and moreover, for the sake of flattering the world and having leadership over it, and that they might thereby consume the houses of widows and the wives of men, according to the passage in the Gospel, [and] as a pretence they draw out their prayers (cf. Mt. 23:13 Peshitta, Mt. 23:14 Greek). In every one of their villages, so to speak, they worked hard and established a school and they organized them with tunes and songs and hymns and Psalms which were said uniformly in all of their places. But the believers, lovers of God, moved by praiseworthy zeal, and convinced by the Apostle Paul who counseled and exhorted, 'It is good that you be always sought out because of virtues,' (Gal. 4:14) and 'Your zeal has stirred up many' (2 Cor. 9:2), began to establish excellent schools: first of all in the region of Beth Nehūdrā—and they first made a foundation in the village which is called Beth Qāqī and afterwards in Beth Tarlī and in Tel Salmā and in Beth Banī and in Shūrzaq the village of this blessed one who is our father...' cf. the Nau's FT; I have followed for the most part his vocalizations of place names in this translation. Also, in general, see Morony, Iraq after the Muslim Conquest, pp. 374-375.

⁶⁴² See Bar Hebraeus, Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, vol. 3, col. 113: האה שלאם שלאם שלא מסה ייש ידע הסגע מבה איז האה שלה ידע הסגע מבה לא מבה לא מבה. 'The Catholicos had great concern for doctrine and founded schools—which were vain.' Bar Hebraeus' negative attitude towards Isho'yahb's efforts can be explained by ecclesiastical rivalry between Miaphysites and Nestorians.

⁶⁴³ Translation E.A.W. Budge, in *idem*. trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas* Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), p. 132; Syriac text in *idem*., ed., *The Book of Governors: The* Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 1(London, 1893), p. 74: الماحمة محمة المحمة المحمة المحمة محمة المحمة الم some three hundred students studied and which produced a number of teachers.⁶⁴⁴ Thomas of Marga listed 24 different schools founded in the region of Marga by Babai of Gebilta in the mid-eighth century, and relates the report that Babai founded some 60 schools.⁶⁴⁵ A bit earlier than this, Simeon of the Olives (d. 734) would build a monastery of Mar Lazarus near the town of Habsenus. In the town itself, he built a school: 'there came to be in Habsenus teachers and chanters and readers and exegetes the likes of which do not exist in the world,' Simeon's *Life* reports, 'for the inhabitants of this village are quick-witted and receivers of instruction, down till today.'⁶⁴⁶ Having schools—a place to train one's laity as well as clergy—was essential for a group or movement to maintain its existence.

The Nest of Eagles: Qenneshre

This establishment of rival Nestorian and Miaphysite schools took place decades after the Chalcedonians carried out several campaigns of purging monasteries in the region of Antioch, Euphratasia, Osrhoene and Mesopotamia of their Miaphysite monks in the 520s and 530s.⁶⁴⁷ Among the monasteries purged of their Miaphysite monks was that of St Thomas at Seleucia-Pieria near Antioch. In about 530, the Abbot of the monastery, a man named John bar Aphtonia, led a group of Miaphysite monks

⁶⁴⁴ See Barsoum, *al-Lu'-lu al-manthūr*, p. 287 and cf. the ET in I.A. Barsoum, *History of Syriac Literature and Science* (Kitab al-Lulu al-Manthur fi Tarikh al-Ulum wa al-Adab al-Suryaniyya), trans. and ed. M. Moosa, (Pueblo, CO, 2000), p. 109. Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 245. The report of this comes in a letter written by David bar Paulos, see I.E. Rahmani, ed. and trans., *Studia Syriaca*, fasc. 1 (Charfeh, 1904), pp. حتى – حتى

⁶⁴⁵ For the monasteries, see E.A.W. Budge, *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas* Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 296-297. Syriac text in *idem.*, ed., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D.* 840, vol. 1(London, 1893), pp. 143-144. For the date of Babai's activity, see vol. 1, p. cviii.

⁶⁴⁶ Mardin 8/259, fol. 123r.

⁶⁴⁷ For the purge of AD 525-531, see F.J. Hamilton and E.W. Brooks, trans. *The Syriac Chronicle known as that of Zachariah of Mitylene* (London, 1899), pp. 209-212. In general, see V. Menze, *Justinian and the Making of the Syrian Orthodox Church*, (Oxford, 2008), pp. 106-144.

eastwards and established a new monastery called Qenneshre on the eastern bank of the Euphrates, across from the town of Europos (the modern Jirbās).⁶⁴⁸ We have some evidence that the monastery of St Thomas had been a center of Greek education for Syriac-speaking monks and Qenneshre continued this tradition.⁶⁴⁹ John bar Aphtonia himself knew Greek and composed works in Greek.⁶⁵⁰ And within decades of Qenneshre's founding, we have evidence that it already become a place where education in the Greek language was probably going on,⁶⁵¹ one from which bishops were being taken,⁶⁵² and a place which was perhaps very beautiful and a destination for visitors.⁶⁵³

⁶⁴⁹ cf. The Syriac Chronicle known as that of Zachariah of Mitylene (London, 1899), pp. 208-209: 'they ordered Moro bar Kustant, the governor, who was steward of the church and he was fluent and practiced in the Greek tongue, having been educated in the monastery of St. Thomas the Apostle of Seleucia...' See also J.W. Watt, 'A Portrait of John Bar Aphtonia, Founder of the Monastery of Qenneshre,' in J. W. Drijvers and J.W. Watt, eds., Portraits of Spiritual Authority: Religious Power in Early Christianity, Byzantium and the Christian Orient (Leiden, 1999), pp. 158-162.

⁶⁵⁰ cf. Baumstark, *Geschichte der syrischen Literature* (Bonn, 1922), p. 181 and Watt, 'A Portrait of John Bar Aphtonia,' p. 160. For a short Arabic play based on the life of John bar Aphtonia, see Afrām Būlus, 'Aftūnīyā,' Al-Majalla al-Baṭrakiyya 32 (October, 1965), pp. 82-87.

⁶⁵¹ In general, see Watt's, 'A Portrait of John bar Aphtonia,' pp. 155-169.

⁶⁵² In John of Ephesus' *Life* of James [=Jacob Baradaeus] and Theodore, 2 of the bishops he reports that Jacob Baradaeus ordained were Dimet of Laodecia and Sergios of Harran. See John of Ephesus, *The*

⁶⁴⁸ cf. F.J. Hamilton and E.W. Brooks, trans., *The Syriac Chronicle known as that of Zachariah of Mitylene* (London, 1899), pp. 209-210: 'Now the believing cloistered monks in the East had also, moreover, been expelled and had withdrawn from the year three until the year nine [sc. AD 525-531—see footnote 8, p. 209], one week, that is, of years, from their cloisters in the district of Antioch and in Euphratesia, and also in Osrhoene and Mesopotamia. And the cloister of Thomas at Seleucia with the brotherhood came to Kenneshre on the Euphrates, and was there settled by the learned John the archimandrite, the son of Apthonia.' In the 1990s, Spanish archaeologists claimed to have located the site of Qenneshre, (see A. González Blanco and G. Matilla Séiquer, 'Cristianización: Los Monasterios del Ámbito de Qara Qûzâq,' in Antigüedad y Cristianismo XV (1998), pp. 399-415, and A. González Blanco, 'Christianism on the Eastern Frontier,' in Archaeology of the Upper Syrian Euphrates: The Tishrin Dam Area, ed., G. del Olmo Lete and I.-L. Montero Fenollós, (Barcelona, c. 1999), pp. 643-662), but their site does not match the literary evidence we possess for the location of Qenneshre, most notably Yāqūt's statement that it is located on the eastern shore of the Euphrates, facing Jirbās (i.e., Europos) (see Yāqūt, Mu'jam al-Buldān, vol. 2 (Beirut, 1957), p. 529). More recently, Syrian archaeologist Yusuf al-Dabte has identified a site on the eastern shore of the Euphrates, facing Jirbas, which seems to match quite well with the literary evidence we have for the monastery's location and attributes. See 'Iktishaf Dayr Qinnisrīn (Monastery of Qinnisre),' Mahd al-Hadarāt 2 (April, 2007), pp. 83-99. In June of 2008, I spoke with Yousef al-Dabte at the National Museum of Archaeology in Aleppo about the site of Qenneshre, which I have also visited. Al-Dabte hopes to publish additional articles based on the one season of excavation he has done there; analysis he has done on pottery found there suggests that the site was inhabited into the thirteenth century, although the literary sources referring to the monastery go silent after the tenth century.

By the late sixth century, Qenneshre's importance would begin to become more and more conspicuous. In the 117 years between the consecration of Julian I as Patriarch of Antioch in 591 and the death of the Patriarch Julian II in 708, there were seven Syrian Orthodox Patriarchs of Antioch, five of whom were from the monastery of Qenneshre or who had been trained there in their youth. In the 254 years between Julian I and Dionysios of Tell Maḥre, something like 136 of them saw Patriarchs of Antioch that hailed from Qenneshre.⁶⁵⁴

It is significant that Bar Hebraeus notes that many of these Patriarchs learned

Greek while at Qenneshre;⁶⁵⁵ this place was synonymous with Greek education and was

a training ground for almost all of the major Syrian Orthodox bishop-scholars of the

seventh and eighth centuries: Thomas of Harkel,⁶⁵⁶ Paul of Edessa,⁶⁵⁷ Severus Sebokht,⁶⁵⁸

Lives of the Eastern Saints, E.W. Brooks, ed. and trans., *Patrologia Orientalis* 19 (Paris, 1926), p. 156, and cf. n. 4; cf. also E. Barsoum, 'Sīrat al-qiddis Yūḥannā ibn Aftūnīyā,' *Al-Majalla al-Baṭrakīya al-Suryānīya* 4:9 (1937), p. 273.

⁶⁵³ The 'spurious' (Brooks) *Life* of Jacob Baradaeus reports that Jacob entered into the newly built monastery of Qenneshre (called in the text the monastery of Bar Aphtonia), 'for he loved it greatly on account of its virtues.' (trans. Brooks). Jacob also meets a recently baptized Arab in the monastery. For this incident, see the Syriac text and ET in Brooks, ed. and trans., *The Lives of the Eastern Saints*, *PO* 19, pp. 264-265. For this, see E. Barsoum, 'Sīrat al-qiddis Yūḥannā ibn Aftūnīyā,' Al-Majalla al-Baṭrakīya al-Suryānīya 4:9 (1937), p. 266.

On the inauthenticity of the 'spurious *Life*' of Jacob Baradaeus, see D.D. Bundy, 'Jacob Baradaeus. The State of Research, a Review of Sources and a New Approach,' *Le muséon* 91 (1978), pp. 51-52, 71. The incident involving Jacob at Qenneshre falls into the part of the *Life* which Bundy describes (p. 71) as a 'second series of miracle stories more spectacular and more incredible than the first.' H.G. Kleyn, *Jacobus Baradaeüs: De Stichter der Syrische Monophysietische Kerk* (Leiden, 1882) pp. 105-109, offers the classic arguments against John of Ephesus' authorship of this second, so-called 'spurious' life of Jacob Baradaeus.

⁶⁵⁴ Julian I (591-c. 596), Athanasius I, the Camel Driver (c. 596-631), Theodore (649-667), Athanasius II, of Balad (684-687), and Julian II, the Roman (688-708). Dionysios of Tellmaḥre was Patriarch from 818-845. For this, see E. Barsoum, 'Sīrat al-qiddis Yūḥannā ibn Aftūnīyā,' Al-Majalla al-Baṭrakīya al-Suryānīya 4:9 (1937), p. 271. W. Hage, Die syrisch-jacobitische Kirche in frühislamischer Zeit. Nach orientalischen Quellen (Wiesbaden, 1966) (table insert), has a nice list of the patriarchs of the West Syrian church in the seventh and eighth centuries.

⁶⁵⁵ See the evidence cited below.

⁶⁵⁶ See Bar Hebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, vol. 1, col. 267: جممحه محمه محمه محمه العلي المنافع ال منافع المنافع الم

⁶⁵⁷ A good circumstantial case can be made which associates Paul with Qenneshre. BL Add. 17,134, quite possibly written in the hand of Jacob of Edessa himself and dated AD 675, contains a note

האנאושיוש הביאה אראר במנה אין הכלא הביא בעוש ונוג ביצבא הבשורא הביא באיבא הביא הא حر مەيىكە لىھەi كەلىكە مەن خەر خەلكە كەبھىمەھە r كەim, min, in ria تەخى لىختىيەلى كىرى تخىلىچىەلەكە r مىغا ب The hymn of Athanasios the Bishop of Alexandria which is said on Sunday nights and ج مديعة dominical feasts. It was translated from Greek into Syriac by the venerable Mar Paul, the Bishop of Edessa, who translated the chants according to the tradition of Qenneshrin ([another] manuscript [reads] "Qenneshre."") The Chronicle to 724 (E.W. Brooks, ed., Chronica Minora II (CSCO SS Series Tertia 4) (Paris, 1904) p. 147, ET in A. Palmer, S.P. Brock and R. Hoyland, The Seventh Century in the West-Syrian Chronicles (Liverpool, 1993), p. 18) notes that in 623, the Slavs invaded Crete and other islands and some 20 monks from Qenneshre were killed (حماتيكاه مطرتما محلمة حرمك .بعتمه بهلهه جمعيته لمبعه [of the Greeks], the Slavs entered Crete and other islands and there the blessed ones of Qenneshre were seized and some twenty of them were killed' (my translation)). We further know that Paul was on Cyprus in 624 (see BL Add. 12,153, fol. 1b, in W. Wright, Catalogue of Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2 (London, 1871) p. 423: . مر مامه . مر نم نو نر ماما ما معديد مر مام العنديد مر مام العنديد مر مام العنديد الم אפימטטא גאונעוס: גפינטא בי, שניא לשטויניא עשיא מביטי בי אלמא אבש בי, פאלא. בטואים ...خصحہ ممالکہ مسجع... (۲۵ the headings of the first volume of the holy and God-bearing Gregory the Theologian, the Bishop of Nazianzus, which the venerable and God-honored Abbas Mar Paul translated from Greek to Syriac on the Island of Cyprus in the year 935 [of the Greeks = AD 624]...') in flight from the Persians (as reported by Jacob of Edessa in a note in BL Add. 17,134; see Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 1, p. 336: لحنه لحام العنه مديم لعنه منه المالي منه المالي المناطق

Athanasius of Balad,⁶⁵⁹ Jacob of Edessa,⁶⁶⁰ and George, Bishop of the Arabs⁶⁶¹ are among the luminaries whom we know or strongly suspect studied there.

It was scholars trained at Qenneshre who were responsible for much of the Syriac-language intellectual activity that characterized the seventh century, especially in the Miaphysite church, scholarship which contrasts so sharply with the story of Greek all over the eastern Mediterranean in the same period. Moreover, it was scholars trained at Qenneshre who were at the forefront of the hellenization of the Syriac language. Brock cited George of the Arabs' use of *l-meḥdā*—a calque on the Greek $\chi\alpha$ íρειν—rather than the more traditional *shlām*, as a greeting in his letters as indicative of the 'all pervasive' influence of Greek on Syriac by the seventh century.⁶⁶² What is interesting to note, however, is that usage of the Syriac equivalent of $\chi\alpha$ íρειν, $\chi\alpha$ ĩρε or $\chi\alpha$ íρετε, seems to have been strongly characteristic of writers and translators who were associated with Qenneshre in the seventh century, perhaps exclusively so. Thus, while the seventh-century Nestorian Isho'yahb III used the traditional *shlām* as a greeting in

⁶⁶¹ K. McVey, *George Bishop of the Arabs: a Homily on Blessed Mar Severus, Patriarch of Antioch* (CSCO 531: SS 217) pp. XXII-XXVII, makes a strong circumstantial case that George spent time at Qenneshre. See further my comments in 'Between Christology and *Kalām*? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes,' in G. Kiraz, ed., *Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock* (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), pp. 674-677.

⁶⁶² See S.P. Brock, 'From Antagonism to Assimilation: Syriac Attitudes to Greek Learning,' in N. Garsoian, T. Matthews and R. Thomson, eds., *East of Byzantium: Syria and Armenia in the Formative Period* (Washington, DC, 1982), p. 29 (repr. in *idem., Syriac Perspectives on Late Antiquity* (Ashgate, 1984), ch. V).

his letters,⁶⁶³ Athanasios I Gamolo,⁶⁶⁴ Severos Sebokht,⁶⁶⁵ Athanasios of Balad⁶⁶⁶ and Jacob of Edessa⁶⁶⁷—all of whom, like George of the Arabs, were associated with Qenneshre—would use *l-meḥdā*, *ḥdī* or *ḥdaw* as the salutation in their letters. In addition to his letters, Jacob of Edessa would use *l-meḥdā* in his translations from Greek.⁶⁶⁸ Thomas of Harkel, another product of Qenneshre, would use the more literal *ḥdī* or *ḥdāyen* or *l-meḥdā* in his translation of the New Testament to represent χαῖρε, χαίρετε or

⁶⁶⁴ See Michael the Syrian, Chronique, vol. 4, p. 392 (Syriac) = vol. 2, pp. 381-382 (FT): ليصيك venerable and holy spiritual brother, who has a worthy soul: Bishop Mar Kyriakos. [From] the lowly Athanasios: rejoice in the Lord!'; also see Michael the Syrian, Chronique, vol. 4, p. 400 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. לעמשא המדיבאי. אמא המעשא. השבה נפשא. השהב נאשב ארפים בלמה א דברגועאא. (FT) אמשיא המדיבאי. אמא א אמיל א 394 ידא בביא איז 'To the venerable and holy spiritual brothers, like-minded, co-workers, all Bishops in the East: [from] the lowly Athanasios, Rejoice in the Lord!'; *ibid.*, vol. 4, p. 411 (Syriac) = vol. לביולד א הו מבי אלמאי. בינאה של המעוא היו, ביל, מבי הו בריאי הבי ה בי הבי ה הבי המבי המביל. (FT): 2, pp. 414-415 (FT) ... סדי האעהולא בלה הבהשיעא הבריא ההיה, היא האנאמים בי יוא ביצה ב אלמא הבל בל. עוה.. our noble and God-loving spiritual children, Mar Mattai, priest and abbot, and the rest of the priests and deacons and all the brotherhood in Christ which is in the Monastery of Mar Mattai: [from] the lowly Athanasios. Rejoice in Jesus, [who is] God over all!'. NB: Michael the Syrian preserves a letter written by Anastasios, the Patriarch of Antioch, to Athanasios I Gamolo, in which *l-mehdā* is used; this letter must be a translation of a Greek original. See ibid., vol. 4, p. 400 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. 394 (FT): لحذب المراجد المحاف הי א שבשא א שלשהוא הריש מילי הלי אלי שמשמשא איז הבי א איז איש איש איז איש איש איז איש איש איז איש איש איז איש א To my Lord who is venerable and holy in everything, brother and co-worker حجزته لحبيره... Athanasios, the Patriarch of Antioch. [From] Anastasios, the Patriarch of Alexandria. Rejoice in the Lord!'

אנאנאבאס בי א ביא באיא אווי זי דרבער אין דרבער אין אוויא אוויא איז ידע איז 'To the excellent and God-loving spiritual children and beloved chorepiscopi and believing periodeutes who are in every place: [from] the lowly Athanasios, Rejoice in the Lord!'

⁶⁶⁷ For Jacob's use of *l-meḥdā*, see e.g., BL Add. 12,172, fol. 81b (letter 3, to John the Priest); fol. 83a (letter 4, to George the Deacon); fol. 85a, (letter 5, to John the Stylite); fol. 97b, (letter 9, to John the Stylite); fol. 99a, (letter 10, to John the Stylite). Also see BL Add. 17,168, fol. 154a (letter to Simeon the Stylite).

⁶⁶⁸ Jacob translated the acts of the Synod of Carthage of 256 from Greek into Syriac in the year 687 (for Jacob as the translator of this work, see Baumstark *Geschichte*, p. 252; for the Greek-Syriac translation taking place in the year AD 687/AG 998 see, the Syriac colophon in P. de Lagarde, *Reliquiae iuris ecclesiastici antiquissimae*, (repr. Osnabrück/Wiesbaden, 1967), p. <u>.</u>;); these acts contain two letters of Cyprian which use *l-meḥdā* in their greeting. See pp. <u>.</u>, <u>Aug</u>. For this first citation, cf. C. Brockelmann, *Lexicon Syriacum*, 2nd ed., (Halle, 1928), s.v.

⁶⁶³ See, e.g., R. Duval, ed., *Išō*'yahb III Patriarcha: Liber Epistularum (CSCO: SS 2, 64) (Paris, 1904), pp. 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 16, 17, etc.

χαίρειν.⁶⁶⁹ Other occurrences of this turn of phrase are also possibly connected with persons trained at Qenneshre. Athanasios of Nisibis was active in the middle of the seventh century and may or may not have been the same person as Athanasios of Balad;⁶⁷⁰ he, too, used this peculiar calque in his translation of the *Sixth Book of the Select Letters* of Severos of Antioch.⁶⁷¹ The anonymous translator of Epiphanios' *Treatise on Weights and Measures* also employed this calque;⁶⁷² as this work contains much that would be of interest to students of the Bible and also to those interested in Biblical translation and the history of Biblical translation, it is not hard to imagine that it may have been translated by someone associated with an important center of studies like Qenneshre, possibly for use by students there.⁶⁷³

⁶⁶⁹ See Mt. 26:49 where the Harklean *hdī* replaces the *shlām* of the Sinaiticus and Peshitta to represent the Greek χαĩρε; Mt. 27:29, where the Harklean has *hdī* rather than the Sinaticus *shlām lākh* and the Peshitta *shlām* for the Greek χαĩρε; Mt. 28:9, where *hdāyen* replaces the Peshitta's *shlām lken* for the Greek χαίρετε; Lk. 1:28 where *hdī* replaces the Peshitta's *shlām lekh(ī)* for the Greek χαĩρε; Mark 15:18, where the Harklean has *hdī* instead of the Sinaiticus and Peshitta's *shlām* for the Greek χαῖρε; John 19:3, where the Harklean *hdī* replaces the Peshitta *shlām lākh* for the Greek χαῖρε; Acts 15:23, Acts 23:26 and James 1:1 where *l-meḥdā* replaces the Peshitta's *shlām* for the Greek χαίρειν.

⁶⁷⁰ He produced a literal version of the *Sixth Book of the Select Letters* of Severos of Antioch in AD 669. See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 259 and n. 299, above. The evidence about the identity of Athanasios of Nisibis is too scanty to make a strong argument either for or against his being the same person as Athanasios II of Balad.

⁶⁷² See J.E. Dean, ed. and trans., Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures: The Syriac Version (Chicago, 1935), p. 93 (52d): من جماد من الجلج من المنابعة من منه، المخلصة منه، منه، منه، بنه، بنه، بنه، بنه، بنه، (Ptolemy the King: To the teachers of the Jews who are in Jerusalem: Greetings [in] many things.' (my translation).

⁶⁷³ Alternately, it could have been executed at a monastery like Qarqapta home of the West Syrian masoretic tradition. See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 259-260.

Why a Seventh-Century Renaissance?

Everything I have stated up until this point has been an attempt at setting the stage for trying to understand why Syriac should flourish in the seventh century and why there should be such a flurry of translations and re-translations at this moment. A partial answer to this question lies in the image of the religious landscape of Umayyad society I have tried to sketch out here. The twin factors of diversity and competition—a diversity of Christian confessional factions and intense competition between them for adherents—created an environment which encouraged the need to marginally differentiate and separate one group from another as they tried to woo 'the simple people' that the *Life* of Marūthā and Jacob both referred to. The drive to win converts, to protect turf and to defend one's position in such a fluid and unstable environment was one of the factors fueling the production of texts. Translations, philosophical and otherwise, into Syriac blossom in the seventh century because the situation 'on the ground' meant that if one was going to defend and promote one's position ably amid low-level inter-confessional sniping, one had to be dialectically well-equipped.⁶⁷⁴ Much the same seems to have been the case at the end of the eighth century. 'As for that young man who was asking for explanations of the *Categories* from you,' the Nestorian Patriarch Timothy I wrote to Sergios of Elam, 'by all means, send him to us, for he will certainly be useful to us.⁷⁷⁵ Students of Aristotle provided soldiers for a church hierarchy concerned with ecclesiastical self-defense and offense. Perhaps referring to

⁶⁷⁴ cf. R. Gottheil's comments in 'The Syriac Versions of the Categories of Aristotle,' *Hebraica* 9 (1893), p. 166.

⁶⁷⁵ Letter 21. See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), p. 132: من خمر المالي بولم عمر المن المالي بولم المن المالي بولم المالي بولم المالي بولم المالي بولم المالي بولم ال 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي 132: من محمد المالي المالي

the same young man, Timothy would write to Sergios in another letter, 'Send me that young man who is a logician.' Here a soldier was about to be made into a general: 'Perhaps I will make him Metropolitan of Harew, for there are followers of Severos there.'⁶⁷⁶

The 'surprising vitality of Greek culture in Palestine-Syria in the 8th century' which Mango wrote about—it was Palestine and not Constantinople or some other place that was the 'most active centre of Greek culture in the 8th century'⁶⁷⁷—suggests that the effects of such a diverse and contentious religious landscape were felt regardless of linguistic boundaries. It is the presence of large numbers of Christians from rival and vibrant competing confessional groups that differentiates Syria and the Middle East more broadly from contemporary Anatolia, Egypt and the Balkans; this is perhaps the most important factor in explaining why a Dark Age never occurred there. Keeping Greek-speaking ecclesiastical competitors in mind also highlights another factor driving Syriac translations and re-translations: the need to have reliable Syriac versions of the same theological and philosophical resources available to Greekspeaking rivals. Bilingualism and the easy transit of texts across languages meant that Syriac-speaking Christians needed to both catch-up to and keep-up with opponents.⁶⁷⁸

⁶⁷⁶ Letter 25. See O. Braun, ed. Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), pp. 141-142: منه تحمد جاند الله عنه المن المنابع المنه Bidawid dates this letter to the period AD 799-804; see Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 75 and also cf. p. 27.

⁶⁷⁷ See C. Mango, 'Greek Culture in Palestine after the Arab Conquest,' in G. Cavallo, G. de Gregorio, and M. Maniaci, eds., *Scritture, Libri e Testi nelle Aree Provinciali di Bisanzio*, vol. 1, (Spoleto, 1991), pp. 159, 149. Somewhat similarly, see R.P. Blake, 'La littérature grecque en Palestine au VIII^e siècle,' *Le Muséon* 78 (1965), pp. 367-380.

⁶⁷⁸ For examples of polemical theological texts crossing linguistic boundaries, see my 'Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes,' in Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), pp. 671-716.

Chapter 6: Power on Heaven and Earth

A member of the theological elite in the seventh century, one with a strong sense of doctrinal right and wrong, who looked out on the Christian landscape before him would have had plenty of reason for consternation and anger. Things were a mess. Confronted with such a situation and having a desire to bring some order and correctness to the untidiness which existed, what tools did such a person have available to try to remedy things?

The purpose of this chapter will be to suggest ways in which Jacob of Edessa, and other leaders like him, might be able to enforce obedience and bring other Christians into line with their views. To get an idea of just which measures Jacob would have had recourse to, I will make extensive use of more of his canons. These reveal a world in which Christians were engaging in a number of exotic and strange practices; indeed, we have just gotten a healthy dose of such strange fruit and are about consume much more. Before we set foot into this world, therefore, several cautions should be issued.

First, there is the question of the use of normative sources. It may be objected that something like canon law cannot (or should not) be used to reconstruct activities on the ground in the seventh century. Such an objection could perhaps gain traction against some forms of canon law; it will not do, however, in the case of Jacob. Previously, I attempted to show that Jacob was a person who took the enforcement of canons extremely seriously, so seriously that he quit his job in face of the chaos of noncompliance which confronted him. There is a direct connection between Jacob the grammarian who was the first to attempt codification of rules for the Syriac language,

287

Jacob the author who wrote a treatise rebuking scribes for being sloppy and a lack of punctiliousness in copying out his works, Jacob the bishop confronting the patriarch over the non-enforcement of the canons, Jacob the embittered ex-bishop who burned the book of canon law and Jacob the correspondent who took his time replying to canonical questions because, as he lamented (with a touch of self-pity), no one observed the canons. Here was a man who liked rules and who wanted them to be followed. However unpleasant that may have made him to his contemporaries, Jacob's strong sense for the importance of rules and their enforcement has left a rich seam of gold in the form of his canonical judgements; these can be mined with great profit by the historian interested in the seventh century. It should also be pointed out that what we call Jacob's canons are not exactly canons in the sense that that word might normally be used; what they are, in fact, are answers to questions written to him by other Christians. In other words, they are responses to actual, real-life situations and incidents.

This brings us to my second caution: precisely for this reason, we must resist the temptation to view Jacob's canons as ethnographic reports of bizarre and abnormal practices unique to certain parts of Syria in a particular period. We are not dealing with a singularity. Just as I have suggested that orthodoxy (of whichever flavor) was a minority view, I would like to suggest that the sort of behaviors Jacob's canons describe were utterly normal and quite widespread, not only during his life time, but also before it and also after.⁶⁷⁹ Frank Trombley, for example, has attempted to squeeze the (much

⁶⁷⁹ See, for example, the large amount of Greek and Latin material mostly from the patristic era on Christians and divination/prognostication assembled by Joseph Bingham in his Origines ecclesiasticæ: or, The antiquities of the Christian church, and other works, of the Rev. Joseph Bingham ; with a set of maps of ecclesiastical geography, to which are now added, several sermons, and other matter, never before published

less vivid) canons of the Quinisext Council (691-692), written perhaps exactly when Jacob was carrying out his correspondence, for information about pagan survivals among Christians in the Byzantine empire:⁶⁸⁰ what one sees only darkly in the canons of the Quinisext, one can see in full in the canons of Jacob. In writing his responses to questions which he had been sent, Jacob was playing the familiar role of an authority figure responding in expected ways to practices which had been around for a long time. This was a dance of consultation and opinion-issuing whose steps were written centuries before.⁶⁸¹ What is unique, perhaps, about Jacob and his questions and answers is the extraordinary vividness and detail they provide us.

With these caveats in mind, let us now turn our attention to the tools Jacob had available for remedying the disorder which confronted him.

This is My Body

Strategies for distinguishing one Christian group from another can take on a number of different forms: doctrinal, liturgical, creedal, among others. An inescapable reality, however, was that the creation of a separate church, in the sociological sense, in the real physical world, and not just the doctrinal sense 'on paper,' required both institutions and manpower. It required institutions for training manpower. The question is: how could one win hearts and minds in the seventh century and then keep them won?

[;] the whole revised and edited, together with a biographical account of the author by his great grandson, Richard Bingham, vol. 6 (London, 1834), pp. 213-240, and see the catalog of evidence Bingham brings together on Christians associating with Jews and Jewish practices, along with interactions between Christians and pagans and Christians and Christian heretics, in *ibid.*, pp. 240-277.

⁶⁸⁰ See F. Trombley, 'The Council in Trullo (691-692): A Study in the Canons Relating to Paganism, Heresy, and the Invasions,' *Comitatus: A Journal of Medieval and Renaissance Studies* 9 (1978), pp. 1-18. This article and the work by Bingham were brought to my attention by an email sent by John Lamoreaux to the North American Society for Christian Arabic Studies listserv.

⁶⁸¹ I am grateful to Peter Brown for the ideas in this paragraph.

Jacob had no state to enforce his vision of Christian orthodoxy. What he did have was words—he could tar someone with pejorative labels: 'Jew,'⁶⁸² 'Pagan,'⁶⁸³ 'Heretic,'⁶⁸⁴ 'Strangers to the Church,'⁶⁸⁵ 'Arab,'⁶⁸⁶ if that person deviated from Jacob's norm and ideal. More importantly, he also had the Mysteries. He could punish someone ecclesiastically, most dramatically by cutting that person off from the Eucharist, something he frequently prescribes as a course of action in his canons.⁶⁸⁷

Cutting a person off from the Eucharist was no small thing, either, for this is a world where a major source of religious authority was power—not political, but spiritual. At the base of and driving the spiritual economy of the seventh century were very concrete, real-life human concerns: anxiety over personal and familial health, worry about crops and cattle, apprehension for the safety of travelers, a need for the forgiveness of sins. In the face of forces beyond its control, human finitude reached out

 $^{^{}_{684}}$ See Mardin 310, fol. 203a. (those who baptize the $n\bar{a}q\bar{u}sh\bar{a}$ are heretics and strangers to the church).

⁶⁸⁵ See Lamy, *Dissertatio*, p. 146.

⁶⁸⁶ See Kayser, *Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa*, pp. 3-4, on the Armenians (cf. n. 597, above)

⁶⁸⁷ See, e.g., Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 108, 136, 142, 148; Kayser, Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa, p. 21; Mardin 310, fol. 202b.

to spiritual authorities for help in coping with the material uncertainties and

challenges of life. The Life of Theodota of Amid ends with the prayer of Theodota,

reportedly spoken at the end of his life in AD 698, for those who would come to visit the

place of his death after he had passed away. Theodota's prayer gives us a vivid picture

of the human needs and worries which seventh-century religious systems had to

provide means of effectively confronting and dealing with if they were to maintain

their plausibility and appeal. 'Grant that person, my Lord,' Theodota asked, on behalf

of future pilgrims to his shrine,

mercies and the forgiveness of sins. And keep his family and his possessions and his crops.

O Lord God, do not hold back this request which I ask of you: that everyone over whom losses arise, or for whom disease falls upon his beasts, or for whom there is illness in his flock or among his bulls or in whatever he possesses, and who then makes a vow and comes in Your name and the name of Your Mother and Your saints and in the name of my frailty makes a vigil, at that point, You, O Lord, cause to pass from his household every chastising rod which is coming against it and cover everything he owns with Your mercy. Bless his possessions that he might thank You, since You have answered him.

O Lord, Our Lord, do for me this favor: that everyone who has a fever or the shivers or who has a throbbing head, and who comes into the presence of Your saints and who makes a vigil and who prays in Your name and in my name: Grant him that he goes away sound and rejoicing.

Yes, O God! My Lord, grant me this request which I have asked from Your mercy and grant, O Lord, that I be mighty against the demons and after my departure from here, drive away the evil spirits from all those who are sealed with the sign of Your cross. And as for everyone who has a demon and calls Your holy name and my name, cleanse him, O Lord, and let him go away from my body parts set free from servitude to Satan.

O Lord, it is in You that I have sought refuge. Grant me what I have asked of You, that every household or village or region may offer a Eucharist for Your holy name and for mine. Hold back from them hail and locusts and worms and blight and heat and disease and every kind of wrath, unto the ages. Amen.

Yes, O Lord God, do this favor for me: that everyone who goes out into a foreign land and everyone who travels in the road and is violently attacked and falls into the hands of robbers, or over whom waves rise in the sea or who is thrown in jail and who makes a vow and who comes and makes a vigil in Your name and in the name of the saints who are placed here in my contemptible

name: Grant him his request, whatever he asks of You, and give him refuge in Your abundant mercy. $^{\rm ^{688}}$

Jacob's canons make clear that having control over the Eucharist and church ritual gave priests enormous power to affect and deal with precisely the sorts of worries and trials which Theodota spoke about in his prayer. The state only had the power to kill the body, but a Christian priest, armed with the sacraments, had power to both heal the body and deliver it from hell. In other words, without the power of the state to enforce his beliefs, Jacob still had considerable ability to control the behavior of the Christian laity, so long as he maintained authority over the administration of the Eucharist.

Many of the aberrant practices I described above—things like proclaiming a young virgin the mother of a locust or making the walls of a home out of bull dung had as their object dealing with precisely the sorts of problems outlined in Theodota's prayer. Though the practices I mentioned were undertaken by Christians, they did not necessarily employ Christian symbols. The Eucharist and other channels of the sacred available to the Christian clergy, however, provided a rich field of possibilities for combating precisely the same sorts of afflictions with explicitly Christian resources. And unsurprisingly, we can see from Jacob's canons that the Eucharist and other Christian means of mediating the sacred were being employed in a number of different settings as a tool to combat undesirable realities.

The Eucharist in particular had a talismanic, apotropaic power. People were taking its elements and tying them up into knots to use as amulets. They wore them on their bodies like phylacteries; they even wore the Eucharistic elements around their necks along with the cross or with the bones of saints. For protection, they would place

⁶⁸⁸ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fols. 562a-562b (sections 232-237 in my edition).

the sacred elements in beds, in the walls of houses, in vineyards, in gardens and other places for physical protection. This was not just the practice of a supposedly superstitious and ignorant laity, either. Jacob made provisions for the punishment of both clergy and lay people who would engage in such practices; in both instances, people who did such things were to be held back from communion for a period of at least three years.⁶⁸⁹ Eucharists were being celebrated on mountains, in vineyards and

⁶⁸⁹ Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 106, 108 (italics indicate my correction of the text): ܐܕܪ ܕܠܒܠ כך גולב בעלא בן מהגיצא גאולול [גאול] בכב לביאתי. גאוליתב לח גלא בהעלאי. הבג לא יגיב מה ג השאנוין לה מניה שו שאיי הא האיי באל ביו באלי ביו בלביא ושאניים ביו אואראאי. ביא ביא ביא איי איי איי איי איי ראשאבעה אדיי גייקלה מנהאא מן מהגיאי. הבי עלה הממיצא מות קלוה בי ואא אה אלה בליחה איי איי איי איי איי איי איי אי مساها [الطاة] المساق مراجا بالمالة المناصر مع فر مراحه المناقبة المناقبة المسابعة المسابعة المساجع المس נהחבן: אם אלאי. בנא בשמת בוצא וול העבלה א אול הגאי מלב משל אי וול אי משל אי אי מלי אל אי מאי אי מאר אי אי מאר א הבו מות נוב אב מה גלות השולגון. אלה גם מוא לא אשלהביל לה כן גבוים [בלבוים] אלה א מחול حل حمد الما معانية ما معانية من مع مع مع معد ما معانية ما الما معانية معانية معانية معانية معانية مع معانية مع م ماعمده مرمايه من معه معه منه منه معفده مد مد منه مام ومد . الله ما معه معه وما الله معهد الله عنه معهد الله ع הה הישא אין בדימה אים לאשויא [לאשויה] ומעשי של מויא. בל מויא. לא בולא מרא בולא מלא בליא מי וביו . באביא געל אנחא נייג ארחא בייג אראלא בפאאי. אנ גע גיי בי א חחא איר איי ביגא באנשאי. שני שנישא אמשואה א געושא גע אישוא גוגל. מיט גין געועאא אמיא אמי א גע געועאא א מיש א גע געוע א א א א א א א א א א הר השול ב אב תמה תמלי ת השיל שהי שהי השביה יומשל תמה ת השיש העיל שיש האושיים (مادهنه) داهانهنه) درهانه مالم دغصلب المعدمة دهسمه محمدهم والمسهد: مسحنا المدهامه (محمد) (محمد الم הומבהוא המעראא הכך בעל העלא ההעיש הלבלת. אך כך מלידי בה אילי ההי אילי האלו מעם הלחם ב והל האחם השבל אולה שניא אוא העבלים האחם הנולבום בה בה בהאחם הואוא בניא אלאה בוגיא החם ה دحداه مدارم ماديم ملاحم معادمه من المولم من عدد المديمة عنه من عديم مادهم المعادية عليه معالم معالم المعالي الم 'Addai: If it is right that in the case of everyone who asks for a portion from the sacred elements to go with him to his house, that it be given to him without examination and when it is not known beforehand to whom the elements are going to be distributed? And whether it is appropriate that they be distributed through the hands of laymen or at the hands of a woman, because people have been found who have taken pieces of the elements and, sinning, have tied them into a knot, as certain charms or hung them on themselves like phylacteries, or placed them in their beds or the the walls of their houses. I want to learn if it is appropriate for these things to happen? Or if it is not appropriate, what punishment should people who do such things receive? Jacob: Because such evil has been dared, it is right that those elements be given with examination, if possible, and with foreknowledge of to whom they will be distributed. If, however, this had not been heard of, a precise examination to this extent would at all have been necessary; neither is it possible for the clergy to completely carry this out in the crowded congregations of the cities, either to completely examine and investigate or to themselves go and deliver the elements-to the sick or to others who need this. On account of this, there is no reproach and nothing which prohibits against their being distributed by God-fearing laymen or a chaste woman. If this had not been possible in accordance with an ancient custom, the clergy should deliver the elements

in gardens for the protection of these places; they were even being celebrated near herds of sheep, goats, cattle and horses for the purpose of their safety.⁶⁹⁰ When a Eucharist was being performed, people were placing water or oil under the altar and afterwards distributing it to the sick. The dirt or dust of the altar itself might also be given to the sick, but only for them to eat or drink. Jacob would not permit this dirt to be sprinkled on the people themselves, or on their beds, or cribs or on top of their possessions. Nor was it permitted to put such things in the walls of their houses or in

⁶⁹⁰ Lamy, Dissertatio, p. 110, 112; LT pp. 111-113: مح ح inh المنافقة ال מהא לא בליא האפ לא במות בהולא הטלטוב מהוביא מלחל המובא וגבל מהא מעמין. בבומא הן היוצ מום אלש הי בע הבאואם הוביו מה היה א מה הבא אש גרא השום מה האושי מה וכמת ביא ואמא מבל אכך באמוב מהוביאי. לא בגב בלא ומוא אמהאי. אי ואב בתבלא מושא ולחודא בושיין. אוגן ביא איי ולנקוואא ולוחי במחשיואה ומובין. אם מוחש באואא ובויבין. אם מוחש באומיו אולחו בחובי משאי הלשהר [הישיות אות המולים ומות ברו הל היא איש גיוי במישי האומישי היא המישיו היא מישיו במישי היא מישיו היא מי אנשיו א האפטא האנטא גאיא א איאי א איאי געע באו בא א איאר געע געע געע א געע א געע א געע א געע א געע א געעע א געע השהרות להוא המושא לאומאי בי הבא ועייו. אב בקור נגוואא ומניאי. הכקור באואא המינאי. הכקור בהבלו א Addai: Whether it is appropriate for a Eucharist to be offered up on a mountain or in vineyards رحالة or in gardens or in sheep and goat folds, for the protection of these things? Jacob: On a mountain-if it this is necessary, it is not forbidden and moreover, there is nothing blameworthy in a Eucharist being celebrated on behalf of believers who are in need of it. But as for in vineyards and fields or in [enclosures] for beasts that do not speak—goats or sheep or cattle or horses—if it is for the sake of a gathering of believers who are found there that the Eucharist is celebrated, nothing prohibits that this take place, just as in chapels, the holy ones of God are separated off. But if [the Eucharists are celebrated] for the protection of speechless things which are nearby, although those who are doing this are doing it in faith, I do not judge that it is appropriate, nor do I permit that it take place because, as I have stated, the celebration of these holy mysteries is for the sake of the salvation of souls-of those who are alive and of those who have passed away—and it is not for the protection of cattle or the healing of speechless animals, even if when celebrating the mysteries, we supplicate God, who cares for the living, even for the protection of livestock and for the fruitfulness of the harvest.'

with appropriate honor. As for those, however, who dared the serious affront against the venerable elements of the body and blood of Christ who is God, such that they regard them only as certain things, other and ordinary, but honored by Christians, so that they hang them on their necks with the cross or with the bones and blessings of the saints, or they place them in their beds or the walls of their houses for protection, or in vineyards or gardens, or enclosed areas or, in short, for the protection of something physical, and they do not understand that these holy mysteries are only the nourishment of souls which have taken the seal of Christ and the pledge and earnest of the resurrection from the dead and the life everlasting. Now if they are clergy [who do this], their deposition should by all means take place and along with this, let them be held back from participating in the Mysteries for three years, until they are contrite. If, however, they are laymen, they should be held back from participating in the mysteries for four years and they should be in repentance.'

their beds.⁶⁹¹ Requests were being made to allow people to take portions of the Eucharist back to their houses; Jacob, however, would only allow this if the elements were being taken to a sick person there. If there was a sick person in need of the Eucharist, cabbage leaves, grape leaves or pieces of bread might be used to carry it; afterwards, these things could be eaten as one way of disposal. Eating the Eucharist itself, Jacob noted, was helpful for healing both soul and body.⁶⁹² Another strategy for

⁶⁹¹ Kayser, Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa, p. 14: متعام تحطيم المسلم المعند معند المعند المعن المعند معند المعند المع ביא הנכובעאאי. בוכן לביטא אין קייא קראלאיי טוי געארטייע איי גיביגוטינט איי גיביג אייט איי איישי איי איישי אייש معدلکہ ہمتد کہ اللہ 'Water or oil which is placed under the Table of Salvation in faith while the Mysteries are being celebrated is not forbidden from being given for the healing of the sick when they request it. The same holds also for the dirt of the altar-but for drinking and eating and not so they place it upon themselves or sprinkle it on their beds or cribs or on top of their possessions.' See באמש אבל המולי השי המשיא הבת משואא: הכן מהוא לא בלבן. נמה א אי הלבהגוא הלא משהאא המוחש ובמת השאונים. אתוב ובי ולא פטורא מלא בפט לא נהמין. היא יל מבעל אם בשוא אים הביש אם הביע אם בשוא הכת הדנה אין האוא העול באים א עיש בי הישא בו השאמריך ואי לא בליא ויול מבים ב לבי האי האמעיט איז אישי גראישייא איי גראישייע איי גראישי גר איש גראישי גראישי גראישי גראישי גראישי גראישי גראישי גראישי אשי אים געמאפע בגב גאי מכי ביג בישא בבומאא אם באמא גבואא. איי גם באי אבייא Addai: Whether it is right that when the Eucharist is being offered up water or oil be ملحم حلد المف put under the holy table in faith for the sake of healing, and afterwards they be given to the sick and those who ask for this. Jacob: Everything which takes place from believers and in faith is not forbidden by the canons. [Such things] happen to the aid and healing of those who believe and ask. But those things which are not commanded and not permitted should not take place. As for water then or oil which are placed in faith under the holy table as the mysteries are being celebrated, it is not forbidden that they be given to the sick and to those who ask, for the purpose of healing. So, too, in the case of a portion of the Mysteries which the sick take for the aid and healing of their souls and bodies: if it happens that it is eaten by them, nothing is forbidden. But [that they should be placed under the altar] for the protection of something else or so that something like these might be placed near the sick, in their beds or in the walls of their houses-as has already been said, this is not right at all.'

dealing with illness was to uproot a certain thorny plant called the *geneshyā* in the name of a sick person and offer him the Eucharist while reciting Psalms. This was apparently being done by priests and monks, in addition to laypeople.⁶⁹³ People sought to get hold of pieces of the Eucharistic bread before it had been consecrated and offered up in a church service; there seems to have been a belief that even bread with a consecration in its future had power.⁶⁹⁴

The power of the Eucharist extended beyond the earthly sphere of behavior: it was believed to be able to affect the saints and people who were now departed. The

אלאסת אישיא האישיא האישיא אישיא איש אישיא איש אישיא איש אישיא איש אישיא איש אישיא איש אישיא איע

Quinisext Council forbade giving the sacraments to dead bodies.⁶⁹⁵ Addai speaks of the case of a priest who makes the prophylactic effort of taking the host and placing it next to the bones of saints inside their urn (γοῦρνα) so that when he was brought before the relics and made to take an oath by them, the saints not work a miracle or make a demonstration of power at a sin he had committed.⁶⁹⁶ Moreover, some people also apparently believed that the bones of saints which healed the sick would stop their curative work if a Eucharist were celebrated in the same sanctuary where they were stored; this was a view which Jacob rejected.⁶⁹⁷ The Eucharist also had the power of warding off demons. Anastasios of the Sinai wrote of a woman who, attacked by an unclean spirit while passing through a filthy location reacted with equanimity: in her hand, she was carrying a piece of the Eucharist. She stretched forth her palm and opened it up and the demon quickly sped away as soon as he saw what she was holding.⁶⁹⁸

By their association and contact with the Eucharist, other elements in the church had power as well. Priests were taking the empty chalice to homes and pressing them against aching body parts; they took altar coverings into homes and bound up women giving birth with them. The book of the Gospel was also being taken into

⁶⁹⁵ See the Eighty-Third Canon in H.R. Percival, *The Seven Ecumenical Councils of the Undivided Church: Their Canons and Dogmatic Decrees*, vol. 14 of P. Schaff and H. Wace, eds., *A Select Library of Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers of the Christian Church. Second Series* (New York, 1900), p. 401.

⁶⁹⁶ See Lamy, Dissertatio, p. 122, LT, p. 123 and Mardin 310, fol. 199a: المحملة حملة لمحملة حلك عرفة من المحملة عن المحملة عن المحملة عن المحملة عن المحملة عن المحملة من المحملة محملة محملة محملة من المحملة من المحملة محملة محملة من المحملة محملة محملة

⁶⁹⁷ See Mardin 310, fol. 199a and Lamy, *Dissertatio*, pp. 122, 124.

⁶⁹⁸ See S. Heid, 'Die C-Reihe erbaulicher Erzählungen des Anastasios vom Sinai im Codex Vaticanus Graecus 2592,' Orientalia Christiana Periodica 74 (2008), p. 80.

homes for its power to combat physical pain.⁶⁹⁹ Clergy took sweepings and dirt from church sanctuaries and placed them in cisterns from which animals were drinking and washing themselves.⁷⁰⁰ Water poured into the chalice after communion to clean it out was seen as possessing the Blood of God, as was anything else which might fall into the cup before it had been cleaned with a sponge.⁷⁰¹

The view that the Eucharist and other Christian sacred objects had special power was of course not unique to Jacob. Athanasaios of the Sinai, Jacob's exact contemporary, recounts a story told him by a man who had been put in charge of the prison in Babylon in Egypt by the authorities; among his prisoners were sorcerers. He would visit them in private and interview them, writing down and passing information from them to his superiors. At one point, the oldest of the sorcerers pulled him aside in

⁶⁹ Mardin 310, fol. 198a. : : المعد المعدمة المعامة المع معدمة المعامة المعدمة المعدمة المع المعدمة المعدمة المعا

⁷⁰¹ See Mardin 310, fols. 210a-210b (For Syriac text and translation see n. 562, above).

private and advised him to take precautionary measures: 'Never sit down,' he warned him, 'to examine us four sorcerers unless you have first taken communion and are wearing a cross around your neck. For the others are evil people and want to hurt you, but if you do as I have told you, neither they nor anybody else can injure you.⁷⁰² Athanasios himself and some associates healed an Armenian afflicted with an evil spirit by forcibly hanging a silver cross with a piece of the True Cross in it around the tormented man's neck.⁷⁰³ Before he was burned, a Jewish sorcerer named Daniel on Cyprus in perhaps the late 630s or early 640s admitted that his spells never had any power over Christians who took communion every day.⁷⁰⁴ When the devil seeks to do harm to another monk, his point of attack is the Eucharist: he plants doubt in the monk's mind as to whether the bread and wine of the Eucharist is the actual Body and Blood of Christ. Persuaded, the monk stays in his cell and does not attend the liturgy to communicate.⁷⁰⁵ John of Bostra, a chartularios from Damascus interviewed four demon-possessed young women (speaking in Syriac) in the region of Antioch. 'What things do you fear from Christians?', John asked them.

⁷⁰² For the Greek text of the story, see F. Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' *Oriens Christianus* 3 (1903), p. 68: μηδέποτε καθήσης εἰς ἐξέτασιν ἡμῶν τῶν τεσσάρων φαρμακῶν, ἐὰν μὴ πρότερον κοινωνήσης καὶ φορέσης σταυρὸν ἐπὶ τοῦ τραχήλου σου, κακοὶ γὰρ ἄνθρωποί εἰσιν οἱ ἑταῖροί μου καὶ θέλουσιν βλάψαι σε, ἀλλ' ἐὰν ποιήσης ὡς εἶπόν σοι, οὐδὲ αὐτοὶ οὐδὲ ἄνθρωπος ἄλλος δύναται ἀδικῆσαί σε. French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase. Contribution à l'histoire du Sinai au commencement du VIIe siècle (traduction française),' *Revue de l'institut catholique de Paris* 1 (1902), p. 140.

⁷⁰³ For the Greek text of the story, see Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' pp. 65-66. French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' *Revue de l'institut catholique de Paris* 1 (1902), pp. 138-139.

⁷⁰⁴ For the Greek text of the story, see Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' p. 70. French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' pp. 141-142. According to Anastasios, p. 70, this story took place place about the same time as the one before it, which happened 10 years before the Arab conquest of Cyprus. See *ibid.*, p. 141, n.1 for more on the date.

⁷⁰⁵ For the Greek text of the story, see Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' pp. 75-77. A subsequent vision from God during a church service convinces the monk that the bread and wine actually are the Body and Blood of Christ and the doubt is banished. French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' pp. 144-145.

They said to him, 'In truth, you have three great things: One, which you wear around your necks; one, where you are washed in the church; one, which you eat in the church service.' John the servant of Christ then perceived that they had spoken about the precious Cross, and concerning Holy Baptism and about Holy Communion. He asked them again, saying, 'Then which of these three things do you fear most?' Then they answered him and said: 'In truth, if you observe properly when you communicate, none of us has power to injure a Christian.'⁷⁰⁶

In Anastasios' world, a church building itself might even have power, as we can see from a story he heard from an elderly monk in Jerusalem. There was a layman who was constantly sitting in the portico of the Church of the Resurrection there, though he spent his time neither begging nor praying. At a certain point, the monk came and sat by the man and asked him why he was there. 'In truth, my Lord and Father,' the man told the monk, 'on account of my sins. I am a sorcerer, and lest I suffer disturbance from the demons, I always flee for refuge to the Holy Anastasis. A demon would not dare to enter the gate of the portico and trouble me, but I always see them standing outside, waiting for me.'⁷⁰⁷

The Eucharist was of course the most important ritual and mystery in the church—it was this rite which some people were apparently taking as paradigmatic and

⁷⁰⁶ Greek text in Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' pp. 78-79: Ποῖα πράγματα φοβεῖσθε ἐκ τῶν χριστιανῶν; Λέγουσιν ἐκεῖνοι πρὸς αὐτόν: Ἐχετε ὄντως τρία πράγματα μεγάλα. Ἐν ὅ φορεῖτε εἰς τούς τραχήλους ὑμῶν, καὶ ἕν ὅπου λούεσθε εἰς τὴν ἐκκλησίαν, καὶ ἕν ὅπερ τρώγετε εἰς τὴν σύναξιν. Νοήσας οὖν ὁ τοῦ Χριστοῦ δοῦλος Ἰωάννης ὅτι περὶ τοῦ τιμίου σταυροῦ εἰρήκασι, καὶ περὶ τοῦ ἁγίου βαπτίσματος, καὶ περὶ τῆς ἁγίας κοινωνίας. Πάλιν ἠρώτησεν αὐτοὺς λέγων: Εἶτα ἐκ τῶν τριῶν πραγμάτων, ποῖον φοβεῖστε πλέον; Τότε κακεῖνοι ἀπεκρίθησαν αὐτῷ καὶ εἶπον: Ὅντως εἰ ἐφθλάττετε καλῶς ὅπερ μεταλαμβάνατε, οὐκ ἴσχυεν εἶς ἐξ ἡμῶν ἀδικῆσαι χριστιανόν. Very brief French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' p. 144.

⁷⁰⁷ For the Greek text of the story, see F. Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' p. 66: ὄντως κῦρι ἀββᾶ, ἐξ ἁμαρτιῶν μοῦ φαρμακός εἰμι, καὶ μὴ φέρων τὴν ὄχλησιν τῶν δαιμόνων, ἀεὶ προσφεύγω είς τὴν ἁγίαν Ἀνάστασιν, καὶ οὐ τολμῷ δαίμων εἰσελθεῖν τὴν θύραν τοῦ περιπάτου καὶ σιάναι με, ἀλλ' ἀεὶ θεωρῶ αὐτοὺς ἒξωθεν ἱσταμένους καὶ περιμένοντάς με... French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' p. 139. For the date of this text see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p. 99.

trying to conform all other church rituals to, to Jacob's chagrin⁷⁰⁸—but it was not just the Eucharist that might be used for health or to ward off unwanted evils. Priests gave used baptismal water to women who would sprinkle it on their houses for a blessing or place it inside for healing; Jacob counseled that only the baptismal waters blessed on the night of Epiphany would be efficacious for such purposes.⁷⁰⁹ People were taking the wooden *nāqūshā*—or semantron—and were baptizing it in baptismal waters, a practice Jacob decried as not even being Christian.⁷¹⁰ The *nāqūshā* was being baptized to make it more effective against hail-bearing clouds: people would take it outside and bang on it

to prevent hail from falling.⁷¹¹ They would do the same thing with the cross from churches and the Eucharistic elements. Jacob did permit the use of the *nāqūshā*, cross and elements for these purposes, so long as it was done in faith and so long as the *nāqūshā* had not been baptized.⁷¹² Priests would also read out from the Psalter in order to keep hail from falling on the fields of their villages.⁷¹³ Priests would pour the oil of

⁷¹² Mardin 310, fol. 203a: أحمد المعد المعد

בסטב: mo ei , oer לא מציצאי. כק בעלא גמגיכה אולאכים וגם געלאמים געוב גין עון געא ואלאיר: הופוא מלי וא אישי מבן עוליא אילי. לא בילבי עעלא מיי בבי וין. אים לא גו אישי ונמי א מכא אבץ בוגא בת, שואא: לה גיו כק בלפוחם כבל שואא הכבלנה אי ההיא הוא. אם כק אלחא אוגבוא תואי. Addai: בד יז בא דושדו למס , לבסולא מי, דבלים אולולבלה. הכשוב למם , למסיא כמולא איי דבוליבי Addai: Concerning a priest who speaks words from the Psalter and hail does not fall on the lands of his village that year: whether it is on his account that it does not fall, or because of chance, and it does not fall because of his decision? Jacob: He himself is not a priest; he should be classed with the group which they have just spoken about [i.e., non-Christians]. Now, so that we know the judgment of God, we will answer concerning these things with precision, in the following way: it is not possible. Now perhaps, either there did not chance to be hail there in that year—for it is by all means not the case that every year every this takes place—or this was ordained by God when He wanted to send upon them the error upon which they had relied and turn them over to a reprobate mind, as it is written.' (cf. Romans 1: 24, 26, 28). LT, p. 137. See also, Kayser, Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa, p. 21: המנה גואה נוגא בי גמגר. גלא מש גמוני משאי איז אישי א גאילי And a priest who speaks words from David [i.e., the Psalter] so that hail not fall حل سملح حراجيته مه on a field is one who leads astray.' Such practices seemed to have lived on well beyond Jacob's life: a manuscript of a Karshūnī Psalter preserved in Birmingham (Mingana 281) must have been used for similar purposes. 'A characteristic feature of the MS,' Alphonse Mingana wrote, 'is that it indicates on the margins the occasion on which many psalms are recited for magical, medical and astrological purposes.' See A. Mingana, Catalogue of the Mingana Collection of Manuscripts Now in the Possession of the

⁷¹¹ I am grateful to Peter Brown for pointing out to me the similarity between this practice and the practice in the West of baptizing and/or naming bells, one of the purposes of which was to make their noise more effective against hail.

the myron into the ear of a person who was being afflicted with evil; they also might anoint such a person with it.⁷¹⁴ People were taking the blessings of saints into fields and vineyards in order to drive away locusts, worms, scorpions and weevils.⁷¹⁵

It is also worth pointing out that though Jacob condemned most of the uses of the Eucharist and other sacred items in trying to cope with forces outside of human control, these were nevertheless *Christian* responses which fit on one part of a spectrum of responses available to people living in the seventh century. We get a brief sense of this in Jacob's canons where he condemns those who, he claims, rely on demons to help protect their vineyards and cattle from the attacks of wild animals. Those who were doing such things likely did not see themselves as relying on satanic power to secure

Trustees of the Woodbrooke Settlement, Selly Oak, Birmingham, vol. 1, Syriac and Garshūni Manuscripts (Cambridge, 1933), col. 550.

ורא אישוא אישרא א דואבאצים, הנותי. הנבים, הבים איז ועלות השתאא אם בחבוא שחה אין היה היה הבו בוג פוער אין היה אין היה אין היא אין حل سلم 1 ארמא: 1 אא فعم لحجة indan , מוא خدام. בידא א هخام. مصفيم הו למי ביול רש העור יער היו ער ידעו ועדי ובוו האשו הים ע ועשה יע האש אומה העובאש הלום יהשמע השמיבריא אינאים בהובאא: אירי איניא זין בעודא הי בעודא הי הבי הבאנא: הלה בו בליציו של יולא ואנחא: מוביו בדא היכים ב עולא האורים לאירים לשבחר באיאי. לא ברות בשעצא לחיברואמת אה למי בי חי הי הנפבה ב האירי תשתחם ביו בי הדי אי ושלו אי בי בי הי האלא הי בי הי אי בי הי בי אי בי הי בי אי בי וו בא הי אי בי וו בא הי אי בי וו השיקי אוא גווי גומיבטשי איבו שוי איבו שויאי בי האיא מבי איא גווי גומיבטשי. אי בי בי איא מי איש איני אישי בי מי Addai: Whether it is right for those who at one point took refuge in God and in His saints محمتحدته and brought the blessings of the saints to a field or to a vineyard on account of locusts or worms or scorpions or another scourge, that they fight and drive away the locust or kill the worm or scorpions. Jacob: If it is the case that they do this while doubting the power of God, that he is sufficient to help them, they act wickedly and the place of refuge is empty for them and it was not necessary for them to bring the blessings of the saints. If, however, they brought the blessings as people who believe, like diligent and zealous people, and not doubting the power of God, they would have stood as much as possible and driven out the enemy. The act of going out according to their ability and driving away the locust or killing the worms in a vineyard or weevils or scorpions in a field of wheat does not cause loss to their faith or to them, nor does it bring them any sort of reproach. Now if a person says this [sc. that we should bring the blessings of the saints into fields and vineyards to combat locusts, worms, scorpions, etc.], I think we should class him either with the lazy or with those who know and are believers.'

their desired ends; whatever it was they were doing, however, seems to have not made use of explicitly Christian symbolic resources to produce its desired effects.⁷¹⁶

Christian sacred objects and symbols were being used—however improperly, by Jacob's lights—to try to achieve good purposes, but they might also be used to intentionally commit evil. Addai gives the example of two men, neither of whom could read or write and neither of whom knew any incantations, who had a dispute. One of them might go and draw lines on the funeral urns of the saints, the tombs of lepers and beneath church altars in the name of his adversary so that that enemy might become ill or get injured. Addai wanted to know whether this might actually cause someone to get sick or have evil befall him; and Jacob granted that it could be the case due to God's permitting demonic activity.⁷¹⁷ Anastasios of the Sinai reported a priest in Cyprus in

⁷¹⁶ Lamy, Dissertatio, pp. 144, 146 (LT, pp. 145,147): جدت محمد المعني المعا

the late 630s who became a sorcerer and went so far in his depravity as to eat with unchaste women and other sorcerers using patens and other vessels employed in the Eucharist. Unlike Addai's case, where God permitted this abuse, in this instance, apparently limits of divine toleration were reached. Put on trial by church authorities for his gross abuses, the priest acknowledged that once he became a sorcerer ($\varphi \alpha \rho \mu \alpha \kappa \delta \varsigma$), an angel from God would bind him to a pillar and the angel himself would celebrate the Eucharist and administer it to the people, only letting the priest go once the service had been completed.⁷¹⁸

The Eucharist and the vessels used to administer it were treated with all the care that radioactive material today receives. Theodota of Amid's *Life* records with admiration how, having caught the already-communicated Eucharistic elements after they had been vomited up—along with other food—by a sick woman, he bowed and took them again.⁷¹⁹ The same extreme veneration for the Eucharist and anything associated with it comes through in Jacob's canons. Cautious to make sure that it was

and also under the table of the altars in sanctuaries and hands him over [?] there and he becomes sick and gets injured or is afflicted by evil: if this is the case, will he get sick? If it happens, will he get ill or will something evil happen to him? Jacob: At one point, people who gave themselves to error and who, having walked in all waywardness, went astray from the truth and from the path which is straight and well-trod, made themselves strangers to God and to his worship. But we have learned from the Holy Apostle that we are not to judge those who are outside (cf. 1 Cor. 5:12), therefore we shall gladly leave things such as these and the affairs of these people and we will not even mention their names on our lips, nor their deeds. Now, if someone among the believers is found to be doing these things, let him be judged like one who practices auguries, and let him be condemned like a murderer, on account of the fact that he [sc. his target] might be injured. This [is a possibility], I will say, because the demons are fighting at all times and against everything in order to carry out what they have taught and God, for His part, often lets humans, for the sake of their benefit, be chastised by means of the evil of others, and He will pronounce that which is precisely in accord with His laws-the righteous destruction of those who have done evil according to His just and incomprensible judgements—while we do not pry into things which are above us.' I am unsure about some parts of this translation. Hoyland, Seeing Islam, p. 602, interprets nehrūg hergē to mean 'determines curses.'

⁷¹⁸ For the Greek text of the story, see F. Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' *Oriens Christianus* 3 (1903), pp. 69-70. French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase. Contribution a l'histoire du Sinai au commencement du VIIe siècle (traduction française),' *Revue de l'institut catholique de Paris* 1 (1902), p. 141. This story is supposed to have taken place about ten years before the Arab conquest of Cyprus; for the date, see *ibid.* p. 141, n. 1.

⁷¹⁹ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 551a (section 70 in my edition).

being handled appropriately, Addai had many questions. Could a layman or a woman take the Eucharist out of the paten with their own hand because of the vessel's weight and depth and the priest not being close by to give the element?⁷²⁰ I have already mentioned the use of cabbage leaves, grape leaves, and pieces of unblemished bread to carry the Eucharist. We know that this was done because Addai had asked Jacob whether it was acceptable to do so. According to Jacob, it was; people would also use leaves of paper or clean pieces of cloth to convey the Eucharist to the sick, who presumably could not make it to church. After their use to carry the elements, these things were burned. If the cabbage leaf was not eaten afterwards, it was to be burned as well.⁷²¹ If the Eucharistic wine were accidentally spilled, Jacob preferred that the spot where the Blood fell be scraped with a knife and the shavings be placed in fire or some other place. If that was not possible, burning coals were to be placed on the spot to dry it up, or water was to be poured there and it was to be scrubbed. The concern was with preventing the Blood of Christ from being stepped on.⁷²² A priest carrying the

⁷²⁰ Lamy, *Dissertatio*, p. 100.

⁷²¹ See Mardin 310, fols. 196a-196b; Lamy, *Dissertatio*, p. 110; Kayser, *Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa*, p. 13 (see n. 692 above for the Syriac text and ET).

לה להמראאי. הלל האושים הל היא אשור כה. אושים וים. גמהיא היויא שיובים כה ביים ביים رت منه، در ماه ، در معلم من الدر معنى منه مرك منه مر الدر معنى المعلم من الدر معنى المعلم المر معنى المر المر ا מוצא הנות ההסבוא לא אצבעום. נוצו , עו אולות, מסא הלא ולולוצי. הוין לב הן חלין. הי מלב מודינוא מהחש הי בי בי בי בי היא הי המהושא הי השהוצא אל היא הי לבו. הלא מהא לא בי לבו. הלא מהא לא בא נבי ארא 'If the holy blood is poured out apart from human intention, what should we do to the spot [it is poured upon]? For some people pour water on it, but others place burning coals in it. Jacob: Now, some put water on the place, wishing to flood and clean with it a drop of the holy blood which has fallen, but others place burning coals on the spot, eager to dry it up. It is, however, neither the former nor the latter [which should be done]. They have not been able to remove the holy drop from the place. Indeed, their aim was that it not be stepped upon; therefore, better than these [options] would be for that spot to be scraped, if possible with a knife—it would be more suitable—and then let it be placed either in fire or in another location. But if it is not possible, [to do this], let these other alternatives [sc. pouring water or placing burning coals on the spot] take place, it being known that the power of the

Eucharist from one place to another was not allowed to put it in a bag on a beast of burden and then ride on top of it; he was supposed to carry it on his shoulder.⁷²³ Dirt and sweepings from the sanctuary were to be buried in a field or perhaps put into a cistern of water from which only humans would drink; Jacob opposed the practice I have already mentioned of placing them in a cistern from which animals were drinking.⁷²⁴ A priest who had the audacity to throw a consecrated host which had grown moldy into a cistern of water was to be deposed. The water of the cistern was to be kept and only used as a source of drink for believers. After the water was all gone, the mud in the cistern was to be taken out and buried in a clean spot in a field.⁷²⁵ If any part of an altar which had somehow been broken remained undamaged, it, too, was to be thoroughly broken up and carefully buried deeply in a field in such a way that it would not be uncovered.⁷²⁶ If a chalice made from glass were broken, the glass was not

sacred elements is not being stepped upon and not being despised and that it does not attach to the floor, but rather to the souls of believers.'

⁷²⁴ Mardin 310, fols. 198a-198b (see n. 700, above). Compare this practice of burying with the report that Caliph 'Uthmān buried alternate codices of the Qur'ān between the Prophet's tomb and the minbar in Medina in Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-maṣāḥif* (Cairo, 1936), p. 34.

to be sold to glassmakers for reuse, but was rather to be finely pulverized and buried in the earth. The tin from a chalice that was broken was to be given to Christian craftsmen and remade into a new chalice.⁷²⁷ Jacob himself reported seeing Christians using fabric which had images of pagan gods and goddesses on it to make altar coverings—they had ignored the explicit pagan imagery of the fabric and used it because of its fineness and high quality. This was a practice that Jacob unsurprisingly opposed. Nevertheless, despite the presence of idols on the fabric, its association with the Eucharistic table still gave it a special status. In the case of the pagan textile which Jacob himself had witnessed in use on an altar, he had—with difficulty—persuaded its owners to tear it up and bury it in the ground.⁷²⁸ In other words, it was given the same disposal as other items which had been associated with the Eucharist.

⁷²⁷ Mardin 310, fols. 201a-201b: محمد المعادية المحمد المعانية المناصر المعالية المع גאואולכים: אם גבץ אובא גבשא מושא: נובה > אושי מיגלא כבחב א וגם געגא בי מלב אמחא. אלא נאישב לאווציא בו ישל איז ומשבעא בבגטעת, לא בי לא לעצעא א וחהוצא. ואישרא א ביוק אעואא אוציולא. לא שליך לאוצ גוברו מנה. מה גן גמביוע הבר נחרל מיצהאא בגאנעלא א מאואא רגו ארשמשט מטש ב משיאיר הביצי של יבי אישיאר ב ואיז ב משיטיוא האשיע אשר זיצ ואלחא: שבת ונחסא לעשעלא אושילא. אלא פתו ונחסא מנת מובעא. סנאלמעת כבעלת ומיליא. אי די וביום אומוב לח נושא מס. בו אדיונים וציבא מנה ב מוכה מוכ די ליא די וניורא ונטובה . 'Addai: Whether priests should sell the glass of holy chalices which have broken, or whether people should form pots (καλδάρια) from the tin of the cups? Jacob: Not one of these things should take place. Instead, the glass of chalices which have been broken should be again finely broken up and buried deeply in the earth. As for tin, let it be given to Christian craftsmen and let them rework it for the same service of the sacred elements. But it is not lawful for a person to make of it [sc. the tin] for some other human use. The one who dares to do [this] will receive an ecclesiastical rebuke, for Moses did not permit for the bronze of the censers of Dathan and Abiram—though they were wicked men and enemies of the commandments of God—to be for a human use, but instead he ordered that an altar be made from it and that it be placed in the house of the Lord, inasmuch as that bronze had already been consecrated when those wicked men acted insolently and rose up audaciously before the Lord in order to burn incense.' (cf. Numbers 16:37-38)

געסטר לעטגיסמי, איא אושי גבו בעטביא גישאיא סכים אושי גבו באשי אודי גבו אישי גבו אישי געשי אושי געשי אושי געשי ג עליאא גרמס, עוין בלעטגי גלא בטעיא בלגי עעסי, אלשיאא אבאטא באסיא במס, גי בעסי, גי בישאיא עשיאי גישעי, איב אשבעאא עעפעאא סבביגאא גאלמא סיאראא גיטעאי גיטעאי. געשיאי געשילא געשילא ערשא סבבידא גלא מסא גטא לאיא געשיי איט, בישאיי איטע געג געשי, אישי

Regarding altars which have been broken up, in whatever way, if there is a certain portion of them or a spot which has not been broken, let them be thoroughly and finely broken up and deeply buried in the earth with care so that they will not be uncovered.'

Other sacred vessels received similar careful treatment. If a glass vial used for the myron was broken, its shattered pieces were supposed to be buried underground not, Jacob emphasized, sold to glassmakers for them to reuse. If the vial was made from silver or tin and broken, it was to be given to Christian craftsmen who would restore it and return it to use. A dirty vial was to be washed in the baptismal font and then reused.⁷²⁹ If vials and other vessels used to hold blessings from the saints were broken, they were to be buried in the earth.⁷³⁰

דאפ גבריגין ולרבעלא להגרעא סגיא ועלבעה, למגא מבע עבייוטולא. איא מנהה על בל פאטוא מושאי חלבינים אבישא למנה ב וכבי המוסו לה. ונשומות הנלביות כאו באי באי ה הי הובא אוליא להא הי המלך אייים אמשעי אייים גרא וגי גרך העטוב אייבו בעויבו בעו אוש אייים אייים אייים אייים אייים אייים אייים אייים איי הלבח . ב מהנוישות הלבאש, המרב בישיי ב ממחו : האמהיהל הלבו הנישואים . ב מהנישותם הלבאשו המשא הנוותם הלוז הו הל היושיו במשאשוריום במשושוריו האמידירי האמידים בעאמהלש מיא מגלא בהעאי: גבעל שהפוא גיבאיא מבליטולא גובהוא מוש מואלא גבת. נחטא לבהג שאיא. בבעא unprompted by a question]: There are people who, only looking upon the beauty of the fabrics and the excellence of the image on them, make from them coverings for the Holy Table without examination. On the fabrics, however, are found inscribed pagan, repulsive stories of the gods and goddesses of the Greeks, and the image of foul and disgusting interactions which are not to be spoken of. It has happened that these things—which it is not appropriate for Christians to look upon—have been found to be made into coverings for the Holy Altar. Now I myself have seen this repugnant thing on the Holy Table, and with difficulty, I persuaded those who owned it to tear it up and bury it in the earth. From this experience, I have come to the point of writing these things to you and of showing that it is not right that there be depicted on the Table upon which Christ—Who brings to an end and wipes out idols and their sacrifices and Who is the purifier of all uncleanliness—idols and their sacrifices and all the pollution and filth of the error of the gods and goddesses of the pagans. Therefore, it is not right that this take place without examination and discernment: namely, that on account of the fineness of the fabric and the excellence of the weave and of the image which is on it, it be [used] for the sacred elements, for it is more profitable that the Holy Altar be used without any covering at all than with these things.'

Given its enormous power, it should come as no surprise that Jacob would be concerned with controlling just who could administer the Eucharist and where it could be taken. Stylites should not celebrate the Eucharist on their pillars, nor should they convene congregations for the liturgy there as well.⁷³¹ Recluses and solitaries were only allowed to celebrate the Eucharist under extreme circumstances.⁷³² In accordance with an ancient custom, it was appropriate for God-fearing laymen and chaste women to take the Eucharist to sick people in their homes.⁷³³ It was only lawful for male deacons to put the Body into the cup; female deacons were not allowed to do this. Theirs was to look after sick women.⁷³⁴ Addai had asked about people taking the empty chalice into

אם יש אונין: אם עוב הביע ועת הביע בל בלה הים הא גאשל ההא במה במה גובבו. מה ב משאות ב אלאיו וביו אר עושי עושי משמש ער ער ער ער געו על אי געועי ו מער אי משיי ב משיי ב משיי ב משיי הרב זה העם הוא שביו ואא שביו הלא הע. נהואם עובו א לבו בשלינא. אלא א ה ה האכוין. נאלוים בעה אובאי. אי דין שויין. נואואשייבה , בת יי נייהוא בגובוא דנובדאי. מנחמה לה בד לה ואחב לי בהאאי. אים לבצעא גם להולא אם לבנות גאיטי מבן. אנוש בא אוג געבו בנומי אפ לבהוים בגיאי: בג אבאיא ביאאשיבין. לא ביג בשבאי. בן מלי גן וביום בי גומים ברחו בחובא א ווא. 'Addai: With respect to the marble containers or vials of blessings—or other vessels—which have either been broken or are dirty, or which are foul and bad-smelling, or the contents of which have completely dried up: What should we do with them? Jacob: Let the vessels of the blessings of the saints not remain neglected this way in the churches, such that, on account of their filthiness or something else which is not good and pleasing, they be a source of shame for Christians. Instead, if they are broken, let them be buried in the earth. If they are intact, let them be washed with diligence in a clean place and let them be [used] for the same thing-either the oil of prayer or for something like this. If a person wants to use them for the holy myron, nothing prevents this when they have been thoroughly washed. But those [containers] of the myron should not be used for the blessings of the saints.'

⁷³² Mardin 310, fol. 209a: حمد جم حمد المرابع محلت معل مح محلت 'معناص معناص معناديم من معناديم من معناديم من معناديم المرابع معناديم من معناديم من معناديم المرابع معناديم من معناديم المعناديم من معناديم المعناديم من معناديم المعناديم من معناديم من معناديم المعناديم معناديم معنا معناديم م

⁷³³ See Lamy, *Dissertatio*, pp. 106, 108 (n. 689, above).

broken, but dirty and rancid and foul smelling, let them be thoroughly washed in the baptismal font and then used for the same purpose.'

homes or the girdle ($\zeta \omega v \dot{\alpha} \rho_{10} v$) of the altar to help combat the physical pain of a sick person or a woman giving birth; for Jacob this was unacceptable. It was not even appropriate for a sick person to come into church and touch the sacred vessels in an attempt to find a cure. He would, however, permit a priest to take the Gospel into a home and press it against a sick person.⁷³⁵

But some people were going too far in restricting access to the Eucharist.

Midwives were being kept out of church and prevented from taking the Eucharist after helping women give birth, a practice Jacob rejected.⁷³⁶ Women who had given birth to boys were being kept from church for forty days after delivery; in the case of girls, it was eighty days. Jacob, for his part, ordered that they be allowed into church as soon as they rose up from their beds and washed themselves.⁷³⁷

⁷³⁶ Mardin 310, fols. 209b-210a: حمد حمد العالية المعالية المعا

المعلمة المعلمة المعلمة (Addai: Whether it is lawful for a deaconess to place a portion from the Holy Body into the holy cup, as the deacons do. Jacob: It is not lawful at all, for a deaconess is not part of the altar, but sick women are her purview.' Jacob's next canon, fols. 199b-200a (Lamy, *Dissertatio*, p. 126), enumerates the responsibilities of a deaconess: she sweeps the sanctuary, lights the lamps in the sanctuary (both of these things when there is not a priest or a male deacon nearby); in a nunnery, she takes the mysteries out of the tabernacle because there is no priest or male deacon and gives them only to her female companions or to young children present. She is not, however, allowed to take the Mysteries from the altar and not allowed to place them on the altar and she is not allowed to even touch them. When adult women are baptized, she anoints them with oil and she visits and serves women who are ill.

⁷³⁵ Mardin 310, fol. 198a, (see n. 735, above).

By Jacob's day, Christians had worked out a variety of strategies for dealing with sickness, demon possession and other difficulties and non-Christians, too, were aware of the curative resources uniquely available to priests and holy men. Everyone had to grapple with such challenges in his or her life—these were ecumenical concerns, in the broadest sense. It should come as no surprise, therefore, that we find John of Litarb asking Jacob whether it was appropriate for a Christian priest to give the blessings of the saints or a special mixture of dust and oil called the *ḥnānā* to Hagarenes or to pagans who were afflicted by evil spirits so that they might be healed. By all means, Jacob would reply, it was appropriate, very appropriate, that such blessings not be held back from these non-Christians. Let them be given the blessings for whatever sickness. God granting them healing was a clear proof of Christianity's truth.⁷³⁸ The ability to win a religious dispute was one thing; miraculous healing, however, was another, much more persuasive argument for one's confessional position.

forty days and one who has given birth to a female, eighty days. This they do knowing only how to keep purity or flee from pollution in a fleshly and Jewish way. Those, however, who possess a spiritual understanding, should not keep a midwife from church even one day, nor even the one who gives birth— as soon as she rises from her bed and washes herself [she should be permitted to attend.]'

Gatekeepers to the Holy

If he could exert control over the nodes where the sacred connected with every day human life—in the myron, in the blessings of the saints and most importantly, in the Eucharist—Jacob, or any church leader, would have enormous power. They were gatekeepers who controlled access to the power of the holy.⁷³⁹ Addai tells of a priest whose house was robbed. Enraged at the theft of his property, the priest went into his church, put out the lamps that were burning, turned over the altar, took sacks containing relics of the saints outside, covered the urns containing the bones of saints in ash, and refused to take sacks of relics back in or set the sanctuary right until the saints revealed who the burglars had been.⁷⁴⁰ Although the priest's act was aimed at obtaining help from the saints, he had also effectively set an embargo on the holy in his own village in order to smoke out the thieves. Here is a very vivid and immediate

⁷³⁹ For the use of saints' relics as a means whereby the religious might enforce their will on others in the tenth and eleventh century medieval west, see P. Geary, 'L'humiliation des saints,' *Annales. Histoire, Sciences Sociales* 34 (1979), pp. 27-42. I am grateful to Peter Brown for this reference.

שב הכיולם והיש שישא בטור הלאום ועביה המתוא מושא ושיא שביא. הבוו שלא אונוא במיא באבא אונוא במור הלאום ביאאים בובאיאי. בא איש מוש מישא הי באיאי הי האי הי האי הי הי הי הי הי אי הי אי הי אי הי אי הי אי הי הי הי הי הי כמים ועלים ביואייי בסיב: מיא בבוא ועבעא אימיממי, מואמיא ובסוינאי. כם מוא אים ולא אבערטא גבר ארמא מט ונטיא טימטכא גמעיאי. אם בי מב מושמח, אבר גאמטא לח נמבאא בי בוטוחת. כדי אב כי שהוא הכשעואא וגל מס גולמיא למ: אב, כב באבוא געשניות, בל גלא מסא בי להוא בא הן אלמא הבי הוא מה שוויב מייי ועלא בעביא הבשליא היאו וא בי היא בע בעו בבהוא ועל היא השל עשייי. בעמוצבים ארשא ביועבוא ונשחא שלטלא ובניעיא הבילו בבא השנאאי. בי אישהחה, ועב Addai: Concerning a priest whose house is robbed and who enters into his church and puts out ألا the lamps and overturns the holy table and brings out the sacks of [the relics] of the holy martyrs and hangs them under the sky and sprinkles ash on the urns of the holy martyrs, demanding vengeance from the one who stole his wealth and says: 'A lamp will not be lit in church and the altar will not be set right and these saints will not enter in from the rain and the ash will not be cleaned off their urns until they show who despoiled my house.' Jacob: This is an act of anger and of being attached to possessions. Along with this, [it is an act] of not relying on God who is the Provider and Giver of possessions, even if he has demanded that his vengeance on his plunderers come from His saints. Therefore, he should have a moderate rebuke, even if he is distressed at the loss of his property, on the grounds that he did not seek help from God and His saints through prayer, but rather in anger and through force. Let him learn that God, who is merciful, is not persuaded with our feelings of enmity and our passions to become a killer of humans and an enemy and one who hates, when He is a lover of humanity.'

illustration of the sort of power that a clergyman could have over his community by exercising control over the points where the power of the sacred entered the realm of human existence.

And the power was not just temporal—it extended to the next life. Writing around 690, Anastasios of the Sinai repeats the story of a priest who, suspended from the liturgy by his bishop, went to a different region, where pagans abused him and cut his head off for being a Christian. When the period of persecution came to an end, the Christians of the region dedicated a church to him and his body was placed in a chest. At the consecration of the church, however, each time the bishop began to say the prayers of the liturgy, the box containing the martyr's body moved out of the church on its own accord. As night was coming on, the martyr appeared to the bishop and made a request: 'Have the goodness to make haste to such-and-such city, to my bishop, and make him loose me from my penalty, for he banned me from the liturgy and I am unable to minister with you. And while I have taken up the crown of martyrdom, I have nevertheless not seen the face of Christ, on account of my being under excommunication.⁷⁴¹ In excommunicating a believer, the Christian clergyman even had the power to deny a martyr direct access to Christ in the next life. No secular authority could wield such power.

By cutting a person off from the Eucharist and other mediators of holy power, a church leader could deny access to the most potent tools available to individuals in the seventh century to cope with challenges and scourges outside of normal human

⁷⁴¹ For the Greek text of the story, see F. Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase,' pp. 80-81. Quote on p. 81: Ποίησον ἀγάπην καὶ κοπίασον εἰς τὴν δεῖνα τὴν πρὸς τὸν ἐπίσκοπόν μου καὶ ποίησον αὐτὸν λῦσαί με ἐκ τοῦ ἐπιτιμίου, ὅτι ἠφόρισέ με τῆς λειτουργείας, καὶ οὐ δύναμαι συλλειτουργῆσαι ὑμῖν, καὶ τὸν μὲν στέφανον τοῦ μαρτυρίου ἔλαβον, τὸ δὲ πρόσωπον τοῦ Χριστοῦ, οὐκ ἐθεασάμην, διὰ τὸ εἶναί με ὑπὸ ἀφορισμόν.

control. But exclusion from access to the holy required priests who would agree with the doctrinal views on the basis of which such a decision was made and legitimated and who would subsequently do the excluding. A church leader like Jacob could not be in every church at the same time; the ability to bilocate was Christ's alone. In the absence of a chain of authority based on doctrinal consensus, there would be precisely the sort of rampant bureaucratic slippage in implementation which had so exasperated Jacob and drove him to burn the book of canon law and quit his post of bishop.

In other words, without an obedient, trained clergy possessed of a distinctly Miaphysite identity and consciousness, there could never be any hope for a truly distinct Miaphysite church. The creation of such a well-defined Miaphysite leadership and clergy thus required an intellectual and spiritual formation which would differentiate them from the clergy of rival communions. For there to be a separate, defined Miaphysite church in anything more than a notional sense therefore, what was needed was a distinct curriculum of study.

Chapter 7: Creating a Church? As Easy as ABC. Education and Community Formation

In this chapter, my goal will be twofold: I will first seek to sketch out what education looked like in the Syriac-speaking world of the early Middle Ages and then, I will try to ascertain the precise curriculum of study among Miaphysites in this period. Behind all this will be a rather simple argument: forming a distinct educational curriculum for clergy was of fundamental importance to the creation of separate and well-defined Christian communities.

Celebrating the Mysteries went to the very heart of the church's institutional mission and what priests were called to do. In dealing with new priests, for example, Jacob wrote that a periodeute was to admonish them to honor the Mysteries with great care.⁷⁴² Moreover, a priest was only permitted to leave the altar to which he had been consecrated in the event of unbearable distress and persecution.⁷⁴³ But priests had to have at least some instruction if they were to know how to properly carry out this central duty. Indeed, 'uneducated' was a term Jacob would use in his canons to explain the occurrence of aberrant behavior and violations of the canons.⁷⁴⁴ In Jacob's short

⁷⁴² Mardin 310, fol. 208b: ، الذهاري المحمد المح

⁷⁴⁴ See Mardin 310, fol. 210a (on uneducated and insane priests who keep women out of church after having given birth; see n. 737 above, for text and translation). Also see Mardin 310, fol. 211a (uneducated people who are lovers of dispute (حمنت کہ تندیہ ماند کہ ماند

apocalypse, *The Testament of Our Lord*, the disciples implore Jesus to tell them 'how to administer the Mysteries of the Church. For this reason,' they continued, 'we want to learn from your word, our Savior and Perfecter, without omission, how the chief of the consecrated elements and all those who serve in Your Church should be pleasing in Your sight.'⁷⁴⁵ Jacob attached the *Testament of Our Lord* as a sort of preface to a work on canon law: a priest had to be taught just what it was that Jesus had commanded about the Holy Things if he was to administer them properly. And it was here, at the point of study, that Miaphysites, Nestorians, Chalcedonians and others might articulate the doctrinal distinctiveness that differentiated them from other, rival groups. Jesus' response to the disciples in Jacob's apocalypse included an emphasis on only giving the Eucharist to the proper people:

See that you do not give my holy things to the dogs and do not throw pearls before swine as I have commanded you many times. Give not my holy things to degraded and wicked men who do not carry my cross and are not subject (to me). And my commandments shall be derided among them. And it shall be to him that is embittered and does not do them, and gives my words without profit, for the destruction of their souls.⁷⁴⁶

The Eucharist lay at the center of the formation of Christian communities, but the

shape those communities took was a function of whom the priests administering the

⁷⁴⁵ My translation. A. Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 367: SS 161) (Louvain, 1975) p. 8: المحمد المحد المالي المحمد محمد المحدين المحمد المحدين المحمد المحم مماد محمد المحمد المحم المحمد المحمد ال

Mysteries chose to give it to. The lineaments of the Christian community were therefore a function of the formation of its priesthood.

What can we say about education at this time? In his *Hexaemeron*, Jacob of Edessa put forward the opinion that the proper time for a child to be educated was between the ages of seven and fifteen.⁷⁴⁷ Other evidence seems to suggest that all young Christian boys were taught at least some basic reading and writing by a teacher in the village church as well as the study of the Scriptures.⁷⁴⁸ And, at a certain age, before the onset of adolescence, there seems to have been an educational fork in the road. Those who were to go on to become priests or monks would continue their studies in a monastery; those who did not have clerical futures would stop at this point.

This at, least, is the pattern set out in the Miaphysite *Life* of Simeon of the Olives. Simeon's father, we are told, brought him to the teacher who was in their village

⁷⁴⁷ See I.-B. Chabot, ed., *Iacobi Edesseni Hexaemeron* (CSCO 92: SS 44) (Louvain, 1953), p. 335: האפלא גולולוגא בצראה גיהלפיאי. בלעהגנק וגם געלוב לה. צרלא גבלל נהמוא ההועלאי. להול ה, גבן האותו השבה בשבה בא הי ואי ניא השנה העוצ איי הישיא ועיא העוצ איי היא אומי בלא מיים איי היא מיים איי היא איי איי ועיולא בלילא מעיטבוניא: מה ונביא בעמטוניעא וביושא: מה איניא איניא ולעבא לבסבל ביונטאאי. טוגם לה גאמטא אנייא שבלא ביוגטאי. לטטבאא מביך אב שבלטאא באמשבר אב אבבאא וודיא מהיא כן וייאי. לאוא בעל ואימה כי עביביו א שייש. הברי כן בי הבי איין איין איין איין איין איין איין א השביאה כן שנאא הביל השבי הכורה ביות הערשבים איר מער אישה היו הבי האואה הבי אישה איש איש איש איש איש איש איש איש . ידי היאש אין גרא בוביל איל למ או ביולא הכביעיא בעייאי. הגאלבא נבבילא כן באלי ביולא ירי ידי ידי ידי ידי ידי ידי this reason then, this period of the first week of years is not useful for teaching and instruction, not even for being taught with the rod of instruction—the rod should only be put forward for the sake of instruction or to cause fear, as it is among those things which cause injury. As for the second week of years in human life [sc. ages 7-14], it discloses and shows forth all the natural state of the rational and cognitive faculty of the intellective soul of a human, and this is the period in which it is proper to receive instruction and [this stage of life] should be under the rod of instruction. In this stage of life, therefore, transgressions are also counted and even the punishments of judgements occur at the hands of judges to a child who is fifteen years old and already entered in to the second week of years. From the seventh year, therefore, until the fifteenth, it is very much the case that a child should receive teaching and instruction because he does not yet have a mind which is afflicted by the passions and which requires punishment from those who correct.'

⁷⁴⁸ For this, see the quote below from the *Life* of Simeon of the Olives. If this assertion perhaps seems too strongly universal—what about children from families who could not afford to give up their labor while they were being educated?—we can perhaps recognize the provision reported in Simeon's *Life* as more of an aspiration rather than reflecting reality and assume that only children from families who enjoyed a certain level of prosperity might be allowed to receive education.

church when he was a young boy and Simeon learned letters and began to closely study the Bible. At the age of ten, his father took him to the Monastery of Beth Simon of Qartmin. There was a rule which held for the region of Ṭūr 'Abdīn: 'In the case of each male child that is born in all the region around the monastery, from the age of ten years and above the child is brought by his parents so that he can learn in the school of the holy monastery. Afterwards, if he is willing, he will become a monk or a priest in the world.'⁷⁴⁹ This information seems to correspond well to Chalcedonian practice, too: the Fortieth Canon of the Quinisext Council stipulated that a monk should be at least ten years of age.⁷⁵⁰

This educational path—first local instruction, then learning in a monastery—can be seen elsewhere in the seventh and eighth centuries. The hostile seventh-century Syriac *Life* of Maximos the Confessor reports that Maximos—at that point called Moschion—was put in the monastery of Palaia Lavra about the age of nine and was

שברים , ווינאא: יכלו ובריטביא מישא ומיו, שבראל. מכיו, שברי , מכיו, לבואל: יכלו אלאכי ביו, שביאה אומאר האמשול האול השל באום: האול ביום: האלא הים ואואי משבי אות אים אות האים אונו א אים אות הא خليع حرال عدهام معد علم العذر لم مراحم: ممد معد معدم المال حلوتم المعد الم معد الم مع معده معد علي ع ומל א שבי היאות הישי היא היי היי היו הישי של היי היישי של איי והיישל איי ביישי אייל גיי אישי איין איין איין איי בבוק: ובל כוא ולוא ומיא ומלאו מסא כבלה אולוא ועוו, בהמוא: כן וכוא ובשו שני חלבל בו מאוליאא فلا ما معهد المعالي الما ما معهد ما معالي المعالي المعالي المعالي فل منالج الم 'We will also confess to you, brothers and beloved, the generation of the splendid and elect Mar Simeon of the Olives, because it was in the holy Monastery of Mar Samuel and Mar Simeon and Mar Gabriel that Mar Simeon of the Olives received instruction in his youth. And when God willed and the child grew and God granted him favor and he was loved by everyone on account of the virtue and knowledge that God bestowed upon him, his father led him to the teacher who is in the church of their village and he learned letters. He began to closely study the Divine Books and when he arrived to the age of ten years, his father led him to the holy Monastery of Beth Simon the Qartminian, to learn in the school of the monastery, according to the rule which was of old in all the region of Tur 'Abdin, namely, 'In the case of each male child that is born in all the region around the monastery, from the age of ten years and above the child is brought by his parents so that he can learn in the school of the holy monastery. Afterwards, if he is willing, he will become a monk or a priest in the world...'

⁷⁵⁰ See H.R. Percival, The Seven Ecumenical Councils of the Undivided Church: Their Canons and Dogmatic Decrees, vol. 14 of P. Schaff and H. Wace, eds., A Select Library of Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers of the Christian Church. Second Series (New York, 1900), p. 384.

taught there by the Abbot Pantoleon.⁷⁵¹ In Palestine, the Chalcedonian Stephen of Mar Sabas (d. AD 794) was taken by his uncle to a lavra for instruction at the age of nine or ten.⁷⁵² Jacob of Edessa, a rough contemporary of Simeon, was from a village called 'Ayndābā; in his youth he studied with a periodeute named Kyriakos. When, we are told, he had read all the books of the Old and New Testaments and those of the chief doctors of the Church, he went to the monastery of Qenneshre where he became a monk and learned the Psalms in Greek and the recitation of the scriptures and where he trained intensely in correct language.⁷⁵³ Just as Jacob studied first with a periodeute, George of the Arabs makes mention of his teacher, Gabriel the periodeute, whom he accompanied as a small child.⁷⁵⁴ Presumably, like Jacob, George eventually moved on to

⁷⁵³ See Michael the Syrian, Chronique, vol. IV, p. 445 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. 471 (FT): مَهْمَ مَعْمَ مَعْمَاتُمْ، مَعْمَ مَعْمَاتُمْ، محتمى معالى معالى

⁷⁵¹ Maximos was placed there after his parents had both died. See S.P. Brock, 'An Early Syriac Life of Maximus the Confessor,' *Analecta Bollandiana* 91 (1973), pp. 314-315.

⁷⁵² See J.C. Lamoreaux, ed. and trans., *The Life of Stephen of Mar Sabas* (CSCO 578-578: SA 50-51) (Louvain, 1999), (Arabic), pp. 9, 144, (ET) pp. 9, 129.

Qenneshre for more advanced instruction. We also learn from the *Life* of Athanasios Gamolo preserved by Michael the Syrian, that once Athanasios (d. 631) and his brother Severos had received a good education, their pious mother Joanna dedicated them to the monastery of Qenneshre where they received superior training in the recitation of the Scriptures.⁷⁵⁵ Isho'yahb III's desire to build a school at the monastery of Beth 'Ābe which I cited above seems to have been a departure from the dominant model which was two tiered: first training in a school, then later in monastery. Such an innovation would explain the anger that Isho'yahb's plans aroused in the monks at Beth 'Ābe: 'It is not good for [us] monks, while dwelling in our cells, to be disturbed by the sound of the chanting of the psalms and the singing of the hymns and the offices, and by the noise of the voices of the school boys and of those who keep watch [by night],' the monks of Beth 'Ābe are reported to have told the Catholicos, alluding to the basic education in the Psalms and the liturgy which was the stuff of elementary education. 'We have neither found it in writing, nor have we received it by report that such a thing as this ever took place in any of the monasteries of the fathers.' The monks go on to implore the Catholicos to build his new school in some town or village: 'the whole land of Persia is thy dominion, build then wheresoever thou wishest; but in this monastery a school shall not be built."756

⁷⁵⁶ Translation E.A.W. Budge, in *idem*. trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas* Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 148, 149. Syriac text in *idem*., ed., *The Book of Governors:* The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 1(London, 1893), p. 75: محدجه م

Writing in his *Nomocanon* in the thirteenth century, Bar Hebraeus gives us details about Miaphysite education which seem to suggest that a very similar twotiered system was in place then as well. He stipulated that bishops should, 'before everything,' appoint teachers everywhere where there were none. Teachers were supposed to write down names of children who were suitable for instruction and order their parents to enter them into school, by compulsion if necessary. The education of poor students was to be supported by the church. If the church itself was poor, its steward was to take a collection for the students each Sunday. The teacher himself was to be paid partly by the church and partly by the parents of the students.

According to Bar Hebraeus, students were supposed to first study the Psalms of David. Next was the New Testament; after that was the Old Testament. Next, the Doctors of the Church were to be studied and then the commentators. Students who were not going to become priests were to study the Psalms first and then focus their energies reading the yearly lectionary cycle and learning how to chant it with skill. Students who did not have suitable voices, were not to learn any chanting apart from the simple service.⁷⁵⁷ We have evidence that an education in the Scriptures and the

⁷⁵⁷ Bedjan, Nomocanon, p. 107. متحده، دست. نابدا، دست. محله بعد منه، می دهد. محلی منه، می می دهد. مرابع المحلف مرابع المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف المحلف المحلف المحلف المحلف المحلف المحلف المحلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف محلف المحلف ا

מיא: גבו שרש בעדים בעדים א בייש ל שעים גמולא געור אי מוסיביא משמיא גלריא מגשמיאי. לא איי בבאבא אשבע אפלא בי שבאא מבלנן: גממא מגא בעו בי במביא גאבמאאי. ... אומה בי גאפבמלא ועובא בלנא לבביא: מא בלמש כאיינאא מסינש מאמעגעמש: שמלליא מי גילת בלמ או ב פוס. בנ בל גי ביא אנא. בלל גבבמביא מנא לבביא: אוא איי בא הו

liturgy formed the core of Miaphysite education as far back as at least the early sixth century. John of Ephesus reports that one way Simeon the Mountaineer (d. ca. 541) sought to counter an appalling ignorance of basic Christianity in a mountain village was through educating the youth.

And from that time among all of them great and low, if the old man wished to tonsure anyone, there was none who presumed to speak; and thenceforth whoever pleased him he would mark and take away without impediment. But for those who had been tonsured he made tablets for writing, and wrote for them; and thus he would thenceforth frequently sit with patience as in a school $(\sigma\chi\delta\eta)$, and would teach them, boys and girls together. And down to the time when they reached an age at which they might receive harm from one another, within four or five years, they learned the psalms and the scriptures; and thus thenceforward loud choirs were to be heard at the service...⁷⁵⁸

But if we are looking for something that would differentiate the Miaphysite

church from its rivals, this type of basic education in the Psalms and the Bible was not

necessarily it: for such a pattern of education does not seem to have been unique to the

Miaphysites. The *History* of Rabban Hormizd, a Nestorian born in the late sixth or early

seventh century, reports that his parents took him to a school when he was twelve

years old; he remained at the school for six years, at the end of which he had

memorized the Psalms and New Testament by heart. He later went on to become a

come from the church. If the church is poor, then let the steward of the church collect material for their maintenance each Sunday. As for the wages of the teacher, part of it should come from the church and part from the parents of the children. Rule: In the first place, let them read the Psalms of David, then the New Testament, then the Old Testament, then the Doctors, then the Commentators. If they are not approaching the priesthood, after the Psalms, let them read the yearly lectionary cycle and let them pronounce with expertness. As for those who do not possess a suitable voice, let them not learn any chanting apart from the simple service.'

monk.⁷⁵⁹ When the Nestorian Mar Aba (d. 552) arrived at the school of Nisibis, he first learned the Psalms and then moved on to the rest of the Scriptures.⁷⁶⁰ Similarly, the *Life* of the East Syrian martyr and convert from Zoroastrianism Isho'sabran (d. 620-621) informs us that Isho'sabran asked his priest to give him the priest's young son Isho'zeka as a teacher. When the priest consented and Isho'sabran and Isho'zeka were together, the first question, we are told, Isho'sabran asked cut to the heart of the matter of education. 'What part of knowledge,' he asks the youth, 'should a person first learn?' Isho'zeka's answer lays out nicely the Nestorian curriculum of study at the village level in the late sixth and early seventh century. 'The young man said to him,' the *Life* continues,

a person first learns the letters and then how to read them. Afterwards, he recites the Psalms, and bit by bit, he reads through all the Scriptures. When he has been trained in the recitation of the Scriptures, he sets himself to their interpretation.⁷⁶¹

Isho'sabran had been a convert from Zoroastrianism and had actually wanted to learn

the Psalms orally, apart from reading:

The Blessed One said to the young man, 'While I am concerned with learning the alphabet, I [could] have learned to recite ten Psalms.' Now, he said this because he was accustomed to recite with his mouth the murmurings of Magianism, for

⁷⁵⁹ See E.A.W. Budge, trans. and ed., *The Histories of Rabban Hôrmîzd the Persian and Rabban Bar 'Idtâ* (London, 1902), p. 14. See p. XII for the approximate date of his birth.

the offensive teaching of Zardaousht is not written in intelligible letters. He had asked the young man to orally recite for him verses, and as he received a verse, he would move himself with force, making his neck tremble like the Magians. But the youth held him back from this and said, 'Don't act as the Magians do. Instead, speak only with your mouth while you yourself are still.' And in this way, in a short time he chanted many verses.

After Isho'sabran had learned to recite a number of verses of the Psalms, he and

Ishoʻzeka went to Ishoʻzeka's father, the priest, and let him know. The priest

encouraged Isho'sabran to follow the more typical (Christian) way of education. 'And

the priest persuaded him,' the Life states,

to first learn the alphabet, for from it, he would be able to read all of the Scriptures. And [Isho'sabran] was won over and consented, and in a few days he had learned the letters and learned to recite some ten Psalms, and from these, three or four antiphons, and how to perform all the services—night time and day time. He was performing his prayer with great diligence at all times.⁷⁶²

Isho'sabran had tried to deviate from the regular pattern of instruction, but was put

back on the standard path by his village priest: basic literacy, followed by the Psalms,

the Scripture and the liturgy. The fact that village priests and monks of both the

Nestorians and Miaphysites (and presumably Chalcedonians) had similar formations in

the Psalms and New Testament and the liturgy and perhaps not much else, could be

one factor in explaining why they could find it easy to 'cross over' and do work for the

opposing team.

⁷⁶² Chabot, 'Histoire de Jésus-Sabran,' p. 525: علحم من من المنه المن

But some members of the clergy would receive more than just the basic education. In a somewhat cryptic passage, the *Life* of Simeon of the Olives tells us that 'the youth entered school and became the head of the school on account of his wisdom and knowledge. When he had finished the measure ($\tau \alpha \xi \iota \varsigma$) of his instruction in three schools, he was trained until he became the chief chanter.'⁷⁶³ Simeon seems to have studied in at least three different institutions or perhaps with three different teachers.

I have already cited examples of Athanasios Gamolo, Jacob of Edessa, and most likely, George of the Arabs, going through several stages of education; we see the phenomenon of multiple schools on the Nestorian side, too. The *History* of Rabban Bar 'Idta, whose life spanned much of the sixth century (ca. 509-ca. 612), reports that his sister first placed him in a school where he learned the Psalms, chanting and the art of copying books and writing. Once he had learned the Psalms and chants and reading and writing, she next took him to another school, in a monastery, where he studied the Bible and Biblical commentaries. Alone in his room, he would read one book a week. He read and memorized the commentaries of Theodore of Mopsuestia, the works of Aba Isaiah, Mark the Monk, Evagrios, Gregory Nazianzen, Palladios, the 'Sayings of the Fathers,' Basil, and the *Book of Heraclides* of Nestorios, which had been, he tells us, recently translated into Syriac from Greek.⁷⁶⁴ Here we have a listing of books which

⁷⁶⁴ See Budge, *The Histories*, pp. 170-176. NB: the text does not refer explicitly to Palladios' 'Paradise of the Fathers,' or the 'Sayings of the Desert Fathers,' only to 'the Book of Histories,' which Budge, p. 175, n. 5, suggests are these two works. For the dates of Rabban Bar 'Idta's life, see *ibid.*, p. XXXIII. For this story as illustrative of the system of education, cf. also, F. Nau, 'L'araméen chrétien (syriaque): les traductions faites du grec en syriaque au VII^e siècle,' *Revue de l'histoire des religions* 99 (1929), pp. 244-245.

resembles something of a curriculum, perhaps, or at least gives us insight into what it was that some Nestorians were reading in the sixth century.

We have some indications on the Miaphysite side as well as to what their canon of authorities might have been at this time. In the late seventh or early eighth century, Jacob of Edessa would write to John of Litarb that he could not effectively respond to a question he had been asked because he did not have the books with him which contained the answer. To answer properly, he said he would have need of the commentaries of doctors like Athanasios, Basil, Gregory of Nyssa, John (Chrysostom), Cyril, Severos, Ephrem, Philoxenos, and Jacob (of Sarugh).⁷⁶⁵ Another clue as to Jacob's idea of who the proper theological authorities were can be found in his version of the liturgy, where he included prayers of commemoration for Ignatios of Antioch, Dionysios the Areopagite, Basil, Gregory Nazianzen, John Chrysostom, Cyril, Philoxenos, Jacob (of Serugh) and Jacob (Baradaeus).⁷⁶⁶

It is here at the higher level of education that the differences between rival groups became more pronounced; distinct theological profiles begin to emerge. As was the case with rudimentary education, our fullest testimony as to what was to be read in terms of a Miaphysite syllabus of study comes from much later, from Bar Hebraeus in his thirteenth-century *Nomocanon*. He offers two lists of the books that are read in the holy church: one of Christian authors, the other of pagan ones. 'Now the books of the doctors which are read in the church,' he begins the first list, 'are the following:

of Dionysios of Athens: 3 homilies and 10 letters; of Basil: 29 homilies; of Gregory of Nazianzus: two volumes: 47 homilies and 31 various letters; of Severos: three volumes: 124 Cathedral homilies and other letters; of Mar Ephrem and Mar Isaac: 214 *memre*; of Mar Jacob of Sarugh: 182 [*memre*]; and homilies and *memre* of the yearly *hūdrā*, most of them of Athanasios, Cyril, Theodotos [of Ancyra] and Erechthios [of Antioch of Pisidia], etc.: 155; Histories of the Fathers and Doctors and Martyrs: 125; the Book of Palladios which is called 'The Paradise': three volumes; The *Hexaemeron* of Basil: 9 homilies; [The *Hexaemeron*] of Jacob of Edessa: seven [homilies], and one theological homily and many of his letters; The commentaries of Mar Ephrem and Mar John [Chrysostom] and Moshe Bar Kepha and Bar Ṣalībī.⁷⁶⁷

The second list is comprised mostly of various works of Aristotle. 'From the teachings

of the outsiders [sc. pagans],' Bar Hebraeus continues, the following are to be read:

The book of Anton of Takrit; the logical works of Aristotle: *Categories, On Interpretation, Analytika, Apodeitika, Topika* (eight sections), *Sophistical Refutations; On Poetry; On Rhetoric* (three sections); those four Mathematical treatises: they

gain elegance for the tongue and training for the mind. As for *Natural Hearing* [sc. the *Physics*] and *Metaphysics*, there is only as much material to be taken as we have taken in our book the *Lamp of the Sanctuary*, and that smaller [volume] of *The Rays*, directed at confuting and disputing those who have known God but who have not glorified him as God...⁷⁶⁸

These lists seem to be just a collection of names, perhaps somewhat bewildering. But something interesting happens if the names of authors who wrote in Syriac are removed and the Greek authors and the time of their translation into Syriac is examined. It turns out that not only were a number of these books either translated for the first time or re-translated in the seventh century, but the people who were doing the translating and re-translating were associated, so far as we know, almost exclusively with the monastery of Qenneshre.

To make this striking correlation in time and place more clear, I will reproduce the originally-Greek works of each list, placing in bold those works which were either translated for the first time or re-translated in the seventh or early eighth century. After each work, I will list the (re-) translator, if known, putting an asterisk by his name if he was associated with Qenneshre. Looking at the originally-Greek works of the first list this way, therefore, gives us this picture:⁷⁶⁹

Now the books of the doctors which are read in the church are the following: **of Dionysios of Athens: 3 homilies and 10 letters** [retranslated by Phokas of

⁷⁶⁸ See Bedjan, ed., *Nomocanon*, p. 106: محمله نر مل محمله نر مصح محمله نر محمله محمل المعنى المحملة المحم

⁷⁶⁹ Taylor, 'L'importance des pères de l'église, 'pp. 69-71 attempts to give contemporary bibliographic citations and brief discussion for all the authors on Bar Hebraeus' list of Christian writers.

Edessa⁷⁷⁰ (possibly c. 684-686);⁷⁷¹ NB: Phokas may have been a friend of *Jacob of Edessa?);⁷⁷² there may have also been a Syriac version produced by *Athanasios of Balad];⁷⁷³

of Basil: 29 homilies [translator unknown];⁷⁷⁴

of Gregory of Nazianzus: two volumes: 47 homilies and 31 various letters [revision by *Paul of Edessa;⁷⁷⁵ revision by *Athanasios II of Balad⁷⁷⁶];

- of Severos: three volumes: 124 Cathedral homilies and other letters [revision by *Jacob of Edessa;⁷⁷⁷ NB: *Paul of Edessa translated the *Hymns* of Severos in the early seventh century and *Jacob of Edessa revised them later in the same century⁷⁷⁸];
- Homilies and *memre* of the yearly *hūdrā*, most of them of Athanasios, Cyril, Theodotos and Erechthios etc.: 155;

The Book of Palladios which is called 'The Paradise': three volumes;

The Hexaemeron of Basil: 9 homilies [a second translation made in seventh century by *Athanasios of Balad];⁷⁷⁹

The commentaries of ... Mar John [Chrysostom] ...

Doing the same for Bar Hebraeus' list of pagan works, gives us the following picture:

The logical works of Aristotle:

Categories [*Jacob of Edessa,⁷⁸⁰ *George of the Arabs⁷⁸¹]

⁷⁷² See Brock, 'Jacob of Edessa's Discourse on the Myron,' p. 21.

⁷⁷³ See Timothy I's request to Pethion 'Please search out and copy for us Dionysios in the translation of Athanasios or that of Phokas' (trans. Brock) (cf. n. 184, n. 185, and n. 341, above). 'Please search out and copy for us Dionysios in the translation of Athanasios or that of Phokas,' (trans. Brock). Also cf. I. Barsoum, *al-Lu'lu' al-manthūr fī ta'rīkh al-'ulūm wa-'l-ādāb al-suryāniyya* (repr. Glane, 1975), p. 590.

⁷⁷⁴ See Chapter 2, n. 339: '(See P.J. Fedwick, 'The Translations of the Works of Basil before 1400,' in *idem., Basil of Caesarea: Christian, Humanist, Ascetic: A Sixteen-Hundredth Anniversary Symposium*, vol. 2 (Toronto, 1981), pp. 449-451 and S.P. Brock, 'Basil's *Homily on Deut. xv* 9: Some remarks on the Syriac manuscript tradition,' in J. Dümmer, ed., *Texte und Textkritik: Eine Aufsatzsammlung* (Berlin, 1987), pp. 62-66. On the homilies, also see S.P. Brock, 'Traduzioni Siriache degli Scritti di Basilio,' in *Basilio tra Oriente e Occidente*, edd. É. Baudry, S. Brock, et al. (Magnano, BI, 2001), pp. 168-173. This latter article contains valuable information about the manuscript tradition of the works of Basil in Syriac.)'

⁷⁷⁵ For an accessible introduction to Gregory Nazianzen in Syriac see A. Schmidt, 'The Literary Tradition of Gregory Nazianzus in Syriac Literature and its Historical Context,' *The Harp* 11-12 (1998-1999), pp. 127-134; also see n. 344, above.

⁷⁷⁶ This revision may have only been for the first of the two volumes referred to by Bar Hebraeus and is now lost. See J.-C.Haelewyck, *Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera. Versio Syriaca I: Oratio XL* (CSCG 49: Corpus Nazianzenum 14) (Turnhout/Leuven, 2001), p. IX. See also S.P. Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia* (Cambridge, 1971), pp. 30-31.

⁷⁷⁷ See Baumstak, *Geschichte*, p. 251.

⁷⁷⁸ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 190, 253.

⁷⁷⁹ I. Barsoum, al-Lu'lu' al-manthūr fī ta'rīkh al-'ulūm wa-al-ādāb al-suryāniyya (repr. Glane, 1975), p. 290, states that references to a translation of Basil's *Hexaemeron* by Athanasios in AD 666-667 can be found in MS Za'farān 241, but cf. also Taylor, 'L'importance des pères de l'église,' p. 70, n. 40.

⁷⁷⁰ See J.-M. Hornus, 'Le corpus dionysien en syriaque,' *Parole de l'orient* 1 (1970), pp. 69-73 and n. 341, above.

⁷⁷¹ See S.P. Brock, 'Towards a History of Syriac Translation Technique,' *Orientalia Christiana Analecta* 21 (Rome, 1983), p. 3; repr. as Chapter X in *idem., Studies in Syriac Christianity* (Ashgate, 1992) and *idem.,* 'Jacob of Edessa's Discourse on the Myron,' *Oriens Christianus* 63 (1979), p. 21.

On Interpretation [*George of the Arabs⁷⁸²] *Analytika* [*Athanasios of Balad,⁷⁸³ *George of the Arabs⁷⁸⁴] *Apodeitika* [*Athanasios of Balad⁷⁸⁵] *Topika* (eight sections) [*Athanasios of Balad⁷⁸⁶] *Sophistical Refutations* [*Athanasios of Balad⁷⁸⁷] On Poetry

On Rhetoric (three sections)

- Those four Mathematical treatises: they gain elegance for the tongue and training for the mind.
- As for *Natural Hearing* [sc. the *Physics*] and *Metaphysics*, there is only as much material to be taken as we have taken in our book the *Lamp of the Sanctuary*, and that smaller [volume] of *The Rays...*

In Bar Hebraeus' first list—books by Christian authors—all of the originally Greek works which were theological in nature were either translated for the first time in the seventh century or were re-translated in the seventh century. The originally-Greek texts from this list that were not re-translated in the seventh century—the homilies of the *hūdrā*, Palladios, and the commentaries of Chrysostom—are all notable for not being located at theological pressure points between rival churches, unlike Ps.-Dionysios, Gregory Nazianzen, Basil and Severos.⁷⁸⁸ It was these latter authors that members of rival churches were studying and seeking to claim for themselves and mobilize against their competitors. At some point between 785 and 789, for example, Timothy I would write a letter refuting Cyril of Alexandria's attempt to show Nestorios a heretic based

⁷⁸⁰ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 251.

⁷⁸¹ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 257.

⁷⁸² See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 257.

⁷⁸³ See F.E. Peeters, Aristoteles Arabus: The Oriental Translations and Commentaries on the Aristotelian Corpus (Leiden, 1968), p. 14.

⁷⁸⁴ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 257.

⁷⁸⁵ See S.P. Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy from the Late Eighth Century on Translations From Greek,' *Arabic Sciences and Philosophy* 9 (1999), pp. 238, 246.

⁷⁸⁶ See Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy,' p. 246.

⁷⁸⁷ See Peeters, *Aristoteles Arabus*, p. 23.

⁷⁸⁸ On the importance of Gregory Nazianzen to both Miaphysites and Nestorians, see Schmidt, 'The Literary Tradition of Gregory of Nazianzus in Syriac Literature,' p. 131.

on the words of Gregory Nazianzen.⁷⁸⁹ As for Bar Hebraeus' second list, of pagan authors, it makes it strikingly clear that the entire *Organon* was translated or re-translated in the seventh century by three men, all of them probably friends,⁷⁹⁰ all of them probably hailing from Qenneshre.

Traces of a Curriculum

There seems to be evidence of the study of the group of authors—both Syriac and Greek—on Bar Hebraeus' two lists in the seventh and early eighth centuries; letters once more can provide us with a window into what was on the minds of people at this time. Jacob's letters are included in the canon of Bar Hebraeus, for example, and it seems that within decades after his death, they were already beginning to be discussed and studied. George of the Arabs' eighth letter, written in AD 715, seven years after Jacob's death, is a response to a series of questions asked him by John of Litarb about difficult-to-understand passages in a letter Jacob had written to the Stylite.⁷⁹¹ Basil's *Hexaemeron* was among the books Bar Hebraeus included and we know that it was a work which both Jacob of Edessa⁷⁹² and George of the Arabs had read.⁷⁹³ George was also reading Jacob of Sarugh.⁷⁹⁴

Ephrem, not surprisingly, also made it onto Bar Hebraeus's syllabus and we have evidence which might suggest that his *memre*, or at least certain ones of them, were the

⁷⁸⁹ See O. Braun, ed., *Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I* (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), pp. 272-279. Cf. p. 274: جه ترم المنه الحريبية : منه المنه منه المالية المنه منه المنه ال

⁷⁹⁰ See my, 'Between Christology and Kalām?,' pp. 674-677

⁷⁹¹ See BL Add. 12,154, fols. 272b- 278a (sections 11.1.1-11.9.2 in my edition).

⁷⁹² See M. Wilks, 'Jacob of Edessa's Use of Greek Philosophy in His Hexaemeron,' in B. ter Haar Romeny, Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day (Leiden/Boston, 2008), pp. 223-238, esp. p. 224.

⁷⁹³ See his citation of it in his *Letter* 11, BL Add. 12,154, fol. 290a (section 14.2.1 in my edition).

⁷⁹⁴ See BL Add. 12,154, fols. 249b, 258a (*Letter 4*; sections 7.3.5 and 7.7.4 in my edition).

object of study in the seventh and eight centuries. George's eleventh letter offers an explanation of a cryptic passage in Ephrem's Hymn 44 *On Faith* to a correspondent named Abraham.⁷⁹⁵ In Jacob's fifth letter to John of Litarb, he responds to a question from John about the meaning of the same Hymn 44, even focusing his attention on precisely the same delphic half dozen or so lines in the Hymn which George would attempt to explain in his letter to Abraham.⁷⁹⁶ A common canon or curriculum of study is one possible explanation for this curious coincidence. In the middle of the seventh century, Severos Sebhokt wrote to Yonan the periodeute to answer questions about the meaning of terms in the $\pi\epsilon\rho$ ì ἑρμηνείας and Ἀναλυτικὰ πρότερα;⁷⁹⁷ he would also write to a priest named Aitīlāhā of Nineveh explaining the meaning of certain key terms in the $\pi\epsilon\rho$ ì ἑρμηνείας.⁷⁹⁸ Such correspondence suggests that Miaphysite clergy in the midseventh century were studying at least part of the *Organon* of Aristotle.

We know that the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen were being studied at this time: in the sixth letter of George of the Arabs, George writes to his synkellos Jacob to explain two unclear passages in these homilies. In both cases, George offers alternate and superior translations to the Syriac that Jacob had available.⁷⁹⁹ We also know that George was familiar with the mythological scholia of Pseudo-Nonnos, a sixth-century composition which explained mythological allusions in four of Gregory's homilies and

⁷⁹⁵ See BL Add. 12,154, fols. 290a-290b (sections 14.1.1-14.2.6 in my edition)

⁷⁹⁶ See BL Add. 12,172, fols. 85b-87b. Compare esp. fols. 87a-87b with George's *Letter* 11.

⁷⁹⁸ See n. 133, above.

⁷⁹⁹ See BL Add. 12,154, fols. 263a-264b (sections 9.1.1-9.3.1 in my edition). Also, cf. n. 398, n. 399 and n. 401.

which, in the manuscript tradition, was attached to and transmitted with the homilies.⁸⁰⁰

George himself seems to have studied the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen with Athanasios II of Balad. In his *Letter 6*, to Jacob, he states that the meaning of the passage in question was clearer in the way that the Patriarch Athanasios had translated for him.⁸⁰¹ George was also most likely the compiler of a collection of scholia on the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen. Perhaps the strongest piece of evidence suggesting that George is the compiler of this work is a striking parallel between it and George's letters. In explaining a passage in Gregory's *Homily 2*, the compiler of the scholia breaks into the first person and invokes a translation made for him by the Patriarch Athanasios II. This passage in Gregory's *Homily 2* is precisely the same passage which caused George to switch to the first person in his *Letter 6* and reference a translation made for him by the Patriarch Athanasios.⁸⁰² Wright did not recognize the uncanny similarity between the first-person passage in the letters of George and the first-person passage in the collection of scholia, but he was nevertheless able to adduce other reasons for believing

⁸⁰⁰ See Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia*, p. 30, n. 4.

⁸⁰¹ See n. 400 and n. 401, above.

ומטולרשעים. ואשום וב חם שעדה ודעלאי. אבאי ואב הם ובעל בי אולאמת בליי בצם ל העובא محکه «"In the first place, of those things which we have said, this one merits caution,' and the rest of the passage, whose meaning is as Patriarch Athanasios, who is among the saints, explained to me in the following way...' Text also available in Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, p. 443. Compare this passage with BL Add. 12,154, fols. 263a, 263b (sections 9.1.2 and 9.1.4 in my אדאר ושובא בהאוכוא חס והבת בוטיא מדע במוטאא: חס ובבו אבא, ובן במעלמם ביאי: מי, גאימלים מביאי: למסות בי גאי בי אילי בי אילי גאביי מגא שמא גובמו: גלא נאמוא ים אד ביא אשמה, הביל הם מודמה גדלאא אלי לעדאי אם מאשא אין אישאיי א הביא גאב הם priest, Mār Jacob, about a certain passage of Gregory the Theologian's (θ εολόγος) which is located in that apologetic homily concerning priesthood, which he composed when he returned from Pontus and which runs as follows: "Indeed, first of all, of the things we have spoken, this one merits caution: that we not appear bad painters..." Now, the rendering of this passage is more apt and precise in the way that Patriarch Athanasios, who is among the saints, explained to me.⁸⁰² In the following way...'

that the Bishop of the Arabs was the author of the compilation.⁸⁰³ This collection of scholia on the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen may very well have been some sort of school text meant to aid students: 'Each homily is preceded by a short introduction,' Wright notes, 'giving an outline of its contents, and a list of the passages of Scripture which are cited in it.' The work also discusses the chronology of the composition of the 47 homilies of Gregory.⁸⁰⁴

Not only had Athanasios II of Balad apparently offered George of the Arabs instruction on at least some of the *Homilies*; he had written about them himself. George's collection of scholia preserves a scholion by Athanasios explaining their organization and Athanasios himself produced a corrected version of the revised translation of Paul of Edessa made in 623-624.⁸⁰⁵ Jacob of Edessa, too, has been credited with producing some sort of corrected edition of the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen, but the state of the manuscript evidence is such that it is impossible to tell what exactly it was that Jacob left behind—an improved version, or simply marginalia.⁸⁰⁶

⁸⁰³ See Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, p. 443.

⁸⁰⁴ See Wright, Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2, p. 441.

⁸⁰⁶ See Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia*, pp. 31-32. On p. 32, n. 1, Brock reproduces the portion of the colophon of BM Or. 8731 which credits Jacob with a 'correction' or 'edition' of the *Homilies* in Syriac.

George, Athanasios and Jacob were not the only figures who were intensely interested in the *Homilies* of Gregory Nazianzen in the seventh century and an ecumenical interest in Gregory suggests another factor driving at least some of the translational activity of the seventh century: the need of Syriac-speaking Christians to play catch-up with Greek-speaking rivals who enjoyed the luxury of having theological authorities available in their own tongue. In the late eighth century, the Chalcedonian Michael the Synkellos was able to receive a traditional education in grammar, rhetoric, philosophy, poetry and astronomy in Jerusalem.⁸⁰⁷ And in the seventh century, the Chalcedonian Maximos the Confessor, also from Palestine, would compose scholia in Greek on Ps. Dionysios—another author on Bar Hebraeus' syllabus—and also a work on difficult passages in Ps. Dionysios and Gregory Nazianzen.⁸⁰⁸

Around the same time, Maximos' contemporary Severos Sebokht (d. 666-667), who represented the generation of scholars at Qenneshre before Athanasios II of Balad and, indeed, who was Athanasios' teacher,⁸⁰⁹ was also concerned with the Theologian, as Gregory was referred to. In a letter to the periodeute Yonan of Tella, Severos Sebokht thanked Yonan for sending along to him a manuscript containing the letters of Basil and Gregory which he had been trying to obtain from the members of Yonan's monastery for a long time.⁸¹⁰ It is also worth noting that Januarios Kandidatos, a

⁸⁰⁷ For this, C. Foss, 'Byzantine Saints in Early Islamic Syria,' *Le Muséon* 125 (2007), p. 115.

 ⁸⁰⁸ PG 4: 15-432, 527-576; PG 91: 1061-1418. cf. Beck, Kirche und Theologische Literatur, p. 438.
 ⁸⁰⁹ See Bar Hebraeus, Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, col. 287 and n. 658, above.

⁸¹⁰ See Cambridge Add. 2812, fol. 109b: تم ممتر مرمة منه المعندية على عدم المعندية على منه المعندية من المعندية المعندية المعنية المعنية المعندية المعنية المعندية المعندية المعندية المعنية المعندية المعندية المعنية المعندية المعندي

contemporary of Severos Sebokht,⁸¹¹ produced a translation of the poems of Gregory Nazianzen in 665;⁸¹² Wright suggested that Januarios was from Qenneshre.⁸¹³ The poems were translated again in 804 by Theodosios of Edessa, another product of Qenneshre.⁸¹⁴

These are all hints at what Miaphysites were studying in the seventh and eighth centuries. Combined with the striking fact that so many of the works on Bar Hebraeus' syllabus were translated either for the first time or retranslated in the seventh century by somebody who had been trained at Qenneshre, one is tempted to suggest that Bar Hebraeus' thirteenth-century enumeration has as an ancestor a Miaphysite curriculum of study that first took shape hundreds of years earlier, in the seventh century, perhaps at the monastery of Qenneshre or perhaps at Qenneshre and several other important Miaphysite monasteries.⁸¹⁵

⁸¹³ See Wright, A Short History of Syriac Literature (London, 1894), p. 156.

⁸¹⁴ Theodosios was the brother of Dionysios of Tellmaḥre (see Bar Hebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, col. 361) and Dionysios had been from Qenneshre (ibid., col. 347). Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 276 and Wright, *A Short History of Syriac Literature*, p. 203, assume he was trained at Qenneshre like his brother.

uses the expression K. McVey, George Bishop of the Arabs: a Homily on Blessed Mar Severus, Patriarch of Antioch (CSCO 530: SS 216) (Louvain, 1993) lns. 251-252 (p. 11).

⁸¹¹ See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 4, p. 435 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. 453.

⁸¹² For this date, see I. Guidi, 'Di un' Iscrizione Sepolcrale Siriaca e della Versione dei Carmi di S. Gregorio Nazianzeno fatta da Candidato di Âmed,' in *Actes du dixième congrès international des orientalistes. Session de Genève 1894*, part 3 (Leiden, 1896), p. 78. An eighth-century Syriac inscription from Amid contains both the κανδίδατος (based on an emendation Guidi suggests) and πατρίκια, which leads Guidi to argue (p. 77) that these titles point to the existence of a family of Greco-Roman origin which at one point, probably in the reign of Anastasios, helped direct political matters in the region of Amid. (Januarios was from Amid, too). See also Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 259.

⁸¹⁵ One should make mention here of the monastery of Qarqapta and others like it, from which the 'Syriac Masora,' are said to have emerged. The biblical, patristic and other texts from which these collections of lists of words were drawn and created to use as a study and reading aid also correspond to Bar Hebraeus' syllabus. On the Syriac Massora and the texts covered in it, see most conveniently Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 259-260. But importantly, see now J. A. Loopstra, 'Patristic Selections In the "Masoretic" Handbooks of the Qarqaptā Tradition,' (PhD, diss., Catholic University of America, 2009). On pp. 340-342, Loopstra discusses the role of Jacob of Edessa in shaping the Syriac 'Masoretic' tradition.

If this is the case, what conclusions can we draw? The testimony of the canons of Jacob and the other bits and pieces I have tried to marshal here suggest that the priest or monk who learned the Psalms and the lectionary or the Scriptures from his village teacher or at a local monastery and then stopped his study was not necessarily sufficiently equipped to defend Miaphysite orthodoxy against the slings and arrows of potential rivals. Nor could such a person always be trusted to maintain the integrity of the boundaries which were supposed to exist between different Christian confessions. The leaders of the Miaphysite movement were none too happy about the chaotic confessional situation on the ground in the seventh and early eighth centuries.

At least part of the answer to this messy state of affairs was an institutional one. Just as today some students go on to pursue studies beyond the secondary level, some young men pursued studies beyond the level of the local village or monastic school. It was at places like Qenneshre and certain other high-powered Miaphysite monasteries like Mar Mattai, Mar Zakai and Beth Malka/Eusebona⁸¹⁶ that the intellectual underpinnings of the Syriac-speaking Miaphysite movement in the seventh century were created and maintained. Miaphysite identity radiated most strongly from these centers and from their graduates. The further one traveled from them, the more likely one was to find confessional confusion, mixing and chaos. It was at intellectual centers like Qenneshre that a graduate school syllabus of study crystallized. It was here where the church leadership was trained. The village priest may not have been able to answer the aporetic questions of the confessional rival in a world also characterized by low-

⁸¹⁶ On Mar Mattai and Mar Zakai as examples of 'Greco-Syriac' monasteries, see J. Watt, 'Al-Fārābī and the History of the Syriac Organon,' in Kiraz, ed., Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone, pp. 759-761. For Beth Malka/Eusebona, see Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia*, p. 10, n.1 and pp. 32-33.

level theological skirmishing, but he could write a letter to somebody who had been trained at a spiritual Sandhurst like Qenneshre, and he could ask that person for help. This is precisely what we see happening in the letters of George of the Arabs and also in the letters of Jacob of Edessa.

If this picture is in any way a persuasive one, we can say that the translation and retranslation of texts was being driven by the needs of a syllabus of education which equipped spiritual and intellectual core of the Miaphysite movement, men who were operating in an environment of unstable and insecure identities and confessional 'brand' competition.⁸¹⁷ In such an environment, there was a strong need to marginally differentiate themselves⁸¹⁸ from rivals and to assert and draw boundaries between their communities and others.

The continued existence of the Miaphysite church depended on its ability to reproduce a class of leaders who were committed to the doctrinal positions of the Miaphysite movement and who could ably defend those positions against the attacks of rivals.

Of the large number of Christian writers who preceded them, members of the Miaphysite movement—like members of the Nestorian movement and Chalcedonian movement—selected certain authors as spiritual and doctrinal exemplars whose works were to be studied and whose views were to be imitated and taught and transmitted to

 $^{^{\}rm 817}$ I am grateful to Larry Stratton for the idea of using the notion of 'brand competition' to understand church rivalries.

⁸¹⁸ I use the phrase 'marginal differentiation' here in the modern advertising sense: how does Proctor and Gamble differentiate the different kinds of toothpaste it sells when all the toothpastes have the same basic purpose? Alternately, given that there is great similarity and much overlap between various Christian groups, how does one group distinguish itself from another? See the Sicilian proverb quoted as an epigram at the beginning of Anton Blok's article, 'The Narcissism of Minor Differences,' pp. 115-135, in *idem., Honour and Violence* (Malden, Mass., 2001). 'Nella stessa faccia, l'occhio destro odiava il sinistro. (In the same face, the right eye hated the left.)' (quote on p. 115).

subsequent generations. There was of course overlap between the writers deemed 'Fathers' by Miaphysites, Nestorians and Chalcedonians, but there was also important difference. Rabban Bar 'Īdta was reading Nestorios and Theodore of Mopsuestia in his cell but Jacob of Edessa lamented he did not have his Philoxenos and Severos with him; both men, however, read Basil. In some important sense then, Miaphysite identity, like Nestorian identity, and Chalcedonian identity, was a function of what was being read and taught to and by the leaders of the movement in its intellectual centers. In some sense, therefore, then as now, you are what you read.

Chapter 8: Continuities: Personal and Institutional

One of the primary aims of this dissertation has been to make a strong argument for continuity between what we conceptualize as the Late Antique/Late Roman/Byzantine period in the Middle East and what is commonly thought of as the 'Islamic' period, dating from the Arab conquests of the seventh century. Qenneshre and the people who studied there provide us with a bridge which spans the Late Antique and 'Islamic' eras and show us one of the unbroken paths Antique elite culture and learning traveled on its journey from Alexandria, Constantinople and Athens to medieval Baghdad. Scholars looking to explain the transmission of Greek wisdom into an Arabic-language context need only look at the living ecclesiastical traditions from which the translators who did the transmitting came; al-Fārābī's account of Arabic philosophy being transmitted to Baghdad via Alexandria and then Antioch is both fanciful and misleading.⁸¹⁹ Before moving to the question of how Muslims and Islam fit into my picture of the early medieval Middle East, I would like to further explore the question of continuity in this chapter.

Severos' Sebokht's association with Qenneshre and Athanasios II of Balad gives us an attested student-teacher line which runs: Severos Sebokht > Athanasios of Balad > George of the Arabs. Jacob of Edessa, who had been elevated to bishop by Athanasios⁸²⁰ may very well have been Athanasios' student as well; Jacob certainly belonged to the same milieu and Miaphysite intellectual elite as Severos, Athanasios and George. It was

⁸¹⁹ For the account, see Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', pp. 604-605. ET available in F. Rosenthal, *The Classical Heritage in Islam* (London and New York, 1975), pp. 50-51. On the Alexandria-to-Baghdad legend, see D. Gutas, 'The "Alexandria to Baghdad" Complex of Narratives. A Contribution to the Study of Philosophical and Medical Historiography among the Arabs,' *Documenti e Studi sulla Tradizione Filosofica Medievale* 10 (1999), pp. 155-193 (pp. 187-188 on the part of the story dealing with the geographic movement instruction). See also, J.W. Watt, 'Al-Fārābī and the History of the Syriac Organon,' pp. 751-752. ⁸²⁰ See Bar Hebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, vol. 1, col. 289.

George who finished Jacob's *Hexaemeron* after he died before completing it,⁸²¹ both George and Jacob corresponded with John, the Stylite of Litarb;⁸²² moreover, as I mentioned in the previous chapter, John of Litarb would write to George asking for help in understanding difficult passages in Jacob's letters, and John himself grouped George and Jacob together as authorities along with Severos Sebokht. In John's one extant letter, written to an Arab priest named Daniel about the prophesy of Genesis 49:10, his stated aim was not to write out anything new, but only to report what previous authorities have written on the question;⁸²³ it is noteworthy, therefore, that he only cites three texts from the seventh and eighth centuries: a *memra* by Severos Sebokht and letters written by Jacob of Edessa and George of the Arabs.⁸²⁴ In other words, by John's time in the first part of the eighth century, Severos, Jacob and George were already being grouped together and associated with one another. Given John of Litarb's connection to George and Jacob, we could re-write the student-teacher line as follows: Severos Sebokht > Athanasios II of Balad > George of the Arabs (and Jacob of Edessa?) > John of Litarb.

The line from Severos Sebokht (d. 666-667) to Athanasios of Balad (d. 686), George of the Arabs (d. 724) and then to John of Litarb (d. 738) provides more than one

⁸²¹ See I.-B. Chabot, ed., *Iacobi Edesseni Hexaemeron* (CSCO 92: SS 44) (Paris, 1928), p. 347.
⁸²² See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 258.

⁸²⁴ For the quotations from these three, see BL Add. 12,154, fols. 292a-293b.

hundred years of continuity in intellectual inquiry and study in the Near East. Severos must have been born before the Arab conquests and may perhaps have even been born before the outbreak of the Byzantine-Persian wars of the early seventh century. The scanty biographical information we possess about John of Litarb does not allow us to know whether he studied at Qenneshre, but Severos Sebokht, Athanasios II, Jacob and George were all associated with the place. The generation of scholars associated with Qenneshre before Severos included Paul of Edessa, who revised the Syriac translation of the *Homilies* of Gregory on Cyprus ca. 624. It also included the important Patriarch Athanasios Gamolo (sed. 594/5-631).

It is tempting to speculate that Severos knew both these men and perhaps studied with them: we know, for instance, that by ca. 660, Severos was using Paul of Edessa's revised translation of the *Homilies*, providing us with perhaps its earliest witnesses,⁸²⁵ and it has been argued that Athanasios I Gamolo was the patron who commissioned and funded Paul of Edessa's re-translation of the *Homilies*.⁸²⁶

Athanasios I was the patron who commissioned Paul of Tella's translation of the Syro-Hexapla⁸²⁷ and was perhaps behind the ultra-literal New Testament translation of his synkellos Thomas of Harkel as well.⁸²⁸ Highly educated,⁸²⁹ he hailed from a wealthy

⁸²⁵ See Brock, The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia, p. 29.

⁸²⁶ See A. Schmidt, 'The Literary Tradition of Gregory of Nazianzus in Syriac Literature and its Historical Context,' *The Harp* 11-12 (1998-1999), pp. 132-134.

⁸²⁷ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 186.

⁸²⁸ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 188 and Cf. Schmidt, 'The Literary Tradition of Gregory of Nazianzus in Syriac Literature and its Historical Context,' p. 133. For Thomas of Harqel as Athansios' synkellos, J. Gwynn's article 'Thomas Harklensis,' in *A Dictionary of Christian Biography, Literature, Sects and Doctrines; during the First Eight Centuries*, vol. 4 (London, 1887), pp. 1014-1021 (on p. 1015 Gwynn makes the argument for identifying Thomas the synkellos with Thomas of Harqel).

⁸²⁹ The *Life* of Athanasios contained in Michael the Syrian's *Chronicle* notes that when a group of bishops met Athanasios, who was driving a camel, and 'tasted his knowledge,' and learned that he was from a great (or 'the great') monastery (i.e., Qenneshre), they forcefully took him back to the synod of bishops that had gathered to elect a new Patriarch and ordained him. See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 4, p. 389 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. 376 (FT). The *History of the Patriarchs of Alexandria* refers to him as 'a man

and elite family in Samosata.⁸³⁰ Athanasios' father had been friends with Severos of Antioch and his grandfather had been close friends with the grandfather of Severos.⁸³¹ If we assume Athanasios I had a connection to Severos Sebokht via Qenneshre,⁸³² we have an unbroken and continuous line of Miaphysite scholars and intellectuals stretching from the high point of the Miaphysite movement in the time of the Emperor Anastasios into the late Umayyad period.

Even if the existence of such a remarkable person-to-person chain stretching for over two hundred years is not plausible, we have in the monastery of Qenneshre, itself founded about the year 530,⁸³³ an institutional continuity stretching from the

who was a monk and a priest and a scholar...exceedingly wise and pure in heart.' (translation B. Evetts in *idem.*, trans. and ed., *History of the Patriarchs of the Coptic Church of Alexandria I: Saint Mark to Theonas (300)*, *Patrologia Orientalis* 1 (Paris, 1907), p. 480). Athanasios engaged in theological negotiations with the Emperor Herakleios (See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 4, pp. 403-404, 404-408, 409-410 (Syriac) = vol. 2, pp. 401-403, 405-408, 412 (FT)) and also was involved in the negotiations with Anastasios of Alexandria which ended the Tritheist schism between the Miaphysite churches of Egypt and Syria (See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 2, p. 381, 403 (FT))

⁸³¹ Athanasios is regarded as the author of a text known as the *Conflict of Severos*, about the life of Severos of Antioch; see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 186. The text survives in Ethiopic and in fragmentary form in Coptic. The author of the *Conflict of Severos* gives the following autobiographical information about the connection between his family and the famous Patriarch of Antioch: 'And my father after the flesh was with him and served him well, for he was an elder, and my grandfather besides was of the men of his country; he was moreover a blessed father and an elder, and his name, like mine, was Athanasius. And he loved the old man Severus, the bishop in his city, who was the grandfather of Severus the patriarch. And the bishop belonged to the council of Ephesus... And this great father Severus, who was grandfather of the patriarch Severus, knew my grandfather, and he used to recline with him at the table continually, and to talk with him, for they loved each other exceedingly.' Translation E.J. Goodspeed in E.J. Goodspeed and W.E. Crum., ed. and trans., *The Conflict of Severus, Patriarch of Antioch by Athansius* (Patroligia Orientalis 4) (Paris, 1908), p. 592; also see p. 726 for Athanasios Gamolo as the author of the *Conflict*.

⁸³² Though NB., Athanasios resided in the monastery of Mar Zakai in Kallinikos as Patriarch; see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 185.

⁸³³ F. Nau demonstrated that Qenneshre must have been founded between 528 and 531. See *idem.*, 'Histoire de Jean bar Aphtonia,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 7 (1902), pp. 98-99; also cf. *idem.*,

heart of the age of Justinian into the 'Abbasid period. The political chaos which followed the death of Hārūn al-Rashīd in 193 AH/AD 809 led to violence which saw the churches of Jerusalem sacked, as well as the desolation of great monasteries and *lavras* in Palestine, such as St Saba and St Euthymios.⁸³⁴ Further north, in Syria, Qenneshre was sacked and torched around AD 811.⁸³⁵ At the time of its destruction, Qenneshre had been a continuously functioning center of Miaphysite intellectual activity for some 280 years,⁸³⁶ a period which straddled the alleged Dark Ages, the Arab conquests, the rise

⁸³⁶ Syriac chronicles report an incident of spectacular demon possession at Qenneshre in the middle part of the seventh century, either in the year AG 960 (AD 649) or during the episcopate of Daniel of Edessa (sed. 665-684); for the various accounts with ET, see A. Palmer, S.P. Brock and R. Hoyland, *The Seventh Century in the West Syrian Chronicles* (Liverpool, 1993), pp. 171-173. F. Nau published a fragmentary account of a demon possession at Qenneshre which seems to deal with the same events described in the chronicles (see F. Nau, 'Appendice: Fragments sure le monastère de Qenneshre,' in *Actes du XIV congrès international des orientalistes*, vol. 2 (Paris, 1907), pp. 76-135). Nau argued, p. 77, that the demons might actually be understood as enemies of the Miaphysites and that the story suggested that Qenneshre had been occupied for a time by Chalcedonians. If this is the case, then there was some period in the middle part of the seventh century where there was a discontinuity in the continuous Miaphysite scholarship and intellectual activity at the monastery.

^{&#}x27;Appendice: Fragments sure le monastère de Qenneshre,' in Actes du XIV congrès international des orientalistes, vol. 2 (Paris, 1907), p. 76.

⁸³⁴ The *lavras* of St Chariton and St Kyriakos were destroyed as well as the *koinobia* of St Euthymios and St Theodosios. See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans., *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor: Byzantine and Near Eastern History, AD 284-813,* (Oxford, 1997), p. 665.

العنه العنه (Syriac) = vol. 3, p. 23. العنه العنه (Syriac) = vol. 3, p. 23. العنه ال שובא גגניא גמיין המביאאוע געומה ובע וש וא מא בא איא גבל פוא. בי מבר בוגא. אולבועה. למ עבדאי האואה לגיוא געשוין. הבו לא ההא אש גיתב לה בות בות לבהות שלל עבוהה, הביהה האהמה in the second second reas a solar of a solar of the second s of Qenneshre took place in the following way. [There was] a person by the name of Rabī'a, a follower of Nasr, from Gishra which is on the Euphrates; when he had fixed his standard, his associates were gathered with him and he came to the monastery of Qenneshre. And when there was nobody who gave him anything for its deliverance, he authorized his companions and they plundered it and burned it with fire, even its glorious chapel which had no equal. They also burned the chapel of Thomas the Apostle which was on the rocks above and even the fortified area. Afterwards, the people of Gubba, who were nearby, gathered and took [its] wood and doors and completely destroyed the monastery. This was the first monastery he burned in the reign of the Arabs.' The text literally reads 'Rabī'a Naṣrāyā,' or 'Rabī'a the Nasrite.' The Nasr here referred to is Nasr b. Shabath al-'Uqaylī, a leader who emerged in the chaos and civil war which followed the death of Hārūn al-Rashīd in AD 809 and who first shows up in Arabic sources in 811-812, as the leader of gangs of rebels. See C.E. Bosworth's article about him, s.n. in EI^2 . I have rendered the Syriac 'Gūbāyē' as 'the people of Gubba,' and understand this to refer to a nearby place. There is a village 10 KM SE of the location of Qenneshre called today Jubb al-Faraj which I suspect may be the origin of these Gūbāyē.

and fall of the Umayyads, and the 'Abbasid revolution. After its destruction, Qenneshre's monks were dispersed.⁸³⁷ Although it would be rebuilt around 820,⁸³⁸ the last great figure to be associated with the monastery, the polymath and patriarch Dionysios of Tell Maḥre (d. 845), was trained there before its tragic burning and plunder.⁸³⁹

Qenneshre would never return to its former glory of the sixth, seventh and early eighth centuries. Nevertheless, bishops would still come from there as late as the tenth century⁸⁴⁰ and Arabic Muslim sources indicate that it was an impressive place and a destination for visitors into the time of the Hamdanid Sayf al-Dawla in the early tenth century.⁸⁴¹ Recent archaeological work suggests that the monastic site was inhabited until the first half of the thirteenth century.⁸⁴²

Qenneshre = A Dead End?

I have promised a bridge from Alexandria to Baghdad, but some might argue that mine is actually a bridge to nowhere: I have focused here on Miaphysite scholars and my line of continuity stops in the first half of the eighth century. Hunayn and his fellow translators lived in the ninth century and the majority of them were Nestorians. Qenneshre was not located in or near Baghdad. I have concentrated on the wrong church and furthermore, my bridge of continuity does not quite make it to the far side of the cultural canyon, over the abyss of the Dark Ages.

⁸³⁷ See Bar Hebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, col. 349.

⁸³⁸ See Michael the Syrian, vol. 3 (French) p. 49 = vol. 4 (Syriac), p. 507. See also Bar Hebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, cols. 353, 355.

⁸³⁹ See Bar Hebraeus, *Chronicon Ecclesiasticum*, col. 347 for Dionysios' connection to Qenneshre.

⁸⁴⁰ See Chabot, *Chronique de Michel le Syrien*, vol. 3, p. 462, for a reference to Aaron of Gisra, the last known bishop consecrated from Qenneshre.

⁸⁴¹ See Ibn al-'Adīm, Bughyat al-ṭalab fī ta'rīkh Ḥalab vol. 10 (Beirut, n.d.), p. 4489.

⁸⁴² According to Yousef al-Dabte, the archaeologist who excavated Qenneshre, classification and analysis of the ceramics found at the site suggest that 'without any doubt' the monastery was inhabited until the first half of the 13th century. Personal communication, June 30, 2009.

Such an objection can only gain traction if we are to assume that members of different churches had no interaction and lived lives sealed off from one another. But this of course, was not the case at all. One of the central arguments of the previous several chapters was that a tightly compartmentalized view of the Christian religious communities of the Middle East in the Late Antique and early medieval period is neither helpful nor useful nor, for that matter, the best way to make sense of the evidence we possess. The appearance of Jacob of Edessa and Athanasios of Balad in the marginalia of the Paris *Organon* shows that their work was still being read well into the 'Islamic' Middle Ages. More importantly, we know that Nestorians at an earlier period were aware of and reading Miaphysite scholarship produced by people from Qenneshre in the seventh century.

Earlier, I made the argument that the use of the peculiar Syriac calque *l-meḥdā* was used perhaps exclusively by scholars who had spent time at Qenneshre. This was not entirely accurate. I am aware of only one example of the use of this distinctively Hellenizing letter salutation in by a non-Miaphysite, non-Qenneshre-trained individual: the Nestorian Patriarch Timothy I. Timothy's unpublished *Letter 40*, written in the year 780-781, contains the distinctive expression in its opening lines.⁸⁴³ This unique usage suggests that Timothy had been reading and was imitating earlier Miaphysite scholarship, something which should come as no surprise: as we saw in portions of his

letters cited in Chapter 1, Timothy was an avid consumer of translations produced by Miaphysite philhellenes and actively sought previous translations to help him in his own translational endeavors.

The eagerness Timothy showed in the letters I cited in Chapter 1 to obtain Miaphysite scholarship were not isolated incidents in his life. Time and again, we find him trying to get his hands on books, Christian and pagan, regardless of their confessional provenance. 'Take care to copy out [Pseudo-] Dionysios,' Timothy writes to the priest Sergios in his Letter 16, written sometime around AD 783-785, '--the version of Athanasios [of Balad] or Phokas.' Athanasios and Phokas are two names we have encountered already, and both belonged to the rival Miaphysite church. Timothy was also aware of the potential manuscript riches which were to be found in Miaphysite monasteries. Mar Mattai, in particular, the seat of the bishop of Nineveh/Mosul and the leading Miaphysite monastery in northern Iraq, was the object of intense interest on Timothy's part.⁸⁴⁴ 'Search out books of our Fathers,' he continued, 'at [the monastery] of Mar Mattai, and let me know about them. Look for books which are not available, as much as you are able, and provide me with information about them.⁸⁴⁵ Writing a few years later, some time between 785 and 789, Timothy was still trying to get hold of books from Mar Mattai. 'Search at [the monastery of] Mattai for the treatise that Athanasios wrote in defense of his flight,' he would tell Sergios in his Letter 39, 'and also for the treatise of the holy Gregory of Nyssa on the burial of Makrina his sister.

⁸⁴⁴ On Mar Mattai, see E. Balicka-Witakowski, S.P. Brock, D.G.K. Taylor and W. Witakowski, *The Heirs of the Ancient Aramaic Heritage*, vol. 2 of The *Hidden Pearl: The Syrian Orthodox Church and its Ancient Aramaic Heritage* (Rome, 2001), pp. 159-160 and Barsoum, *al-Lu'-lu al-manthūr*, p. 514.

⁸⁴⁵ See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), p. 120: بنا حال المحملات المحم المحمل المحملة المحمد حل حلاته المحمد الم bor the date of this letter, see Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 73.

Then, look for the book written by Eustathios the Great against the Arians—it is six or seven sections, I don't know which. Be diligent in tracking down these books!'⁸⁴⁶

Timothy was interested in more than just the Miaphysite Monastery of Mar

Mattai and its books: he was concerned to comb the collections of Nestorian

monasteries as well. Writing to Sergios in 794-795, Timothy was interested in the

letters of John Chrysostom to Olympiodoros. 'I once wrote to your chastity,' he begins

his Letter 49,

about the letters of the holy Mar John which are to the Christ-loving Olympiodoros, making known to your kindness that three letters were known to us that he wrote to him (?): the three of them were after his first captivity—I think. We have the second and third, but we do not have the first. I remember that we were once in the district of Marga. At that time, we were being instructed at the feet of that Christ-clad man—I mean, at the knees of Rabban Mar Abraham. A book came to Rabban from the monastery of Cyprian and these letters of Mar John were in it, along with other things, and Rabban copied them out. See therefore if they are among those books. Set down their incipits: perhaps that first [letter] is there. If you have these [latter] two, examine them [to see] whether the other is there.⁸⁴⁷

⁸⁴⁶ See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), p. 279: حمد حمد عمد حمد جار المحافظة المحافة المحاف

حطحط ليحده مه حاج حربك تم يتاهم الماديني حذر . Mingana Syriac 587, fols. 346b-347a: ما معنا الما الم דידיבא ל באב ים אדימי. האלאימתי באו אמהוא מי מוכיואא איתי דל בשאבואי. המו לא אי הנאלא היליחה ל. חי די טודעאה לעליה ל. השחיד היה דיש ביו בור ביר באוא הדדי גדי אה הילה חידי הי בי מגק ז גלהת, ג גביא מה לביע לבעישא באוגי מהי: אבי אנא גם מג בהובהת, גוב בי אבית ב איזא לאה וב באבא הי במכיא ובמפושאי מאיג במ א עודע האיג המי, במ א אולא מלב, וגבו, נאי א בא א א א א א א א א א א א אוונאי ובאב אנה ובן. עו חבול אך אואימה בראבא מוח ו ושחת ל ושומין. ולבא איל אפר חי For the date of this בגבילאי. האי האל לאי מלבי אואלי בעמיה בבמאבל אינא הוא אה אינא איי אינא איי letter, see Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 74. For the more on the (East Syrian) monastery of Cyprian, see J.M. Fiey, Assyrie chrétienne: contribution a l'étude de l'histoire et de la géographie ecclésiastiques et monastiques du nord de l'Iraq, vol. 1, (Beirut, 1965), pp. 296-300. In Letter 20 (written sometime 783-785), Timothy writes to Sergios about texts of John Chrysostom and Theodore the Great and recalls seeing texts copied out by Rabban Mar Abraham in Marga. For the text, see O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), pp. 130-131. LT in idem., trans., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 75: SS 31) (Paris, 1915), p. 87. For the date of this letter, see Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 73 and also cf. ibid., p. 25.

Writing later, some time between 799 and 804, Timothy would still be on the lookout for manuscripts. In *Letter 54*, his object was now the writings of Narsai. 'I requested of you,' he tells Sergios, now the Metropolitan of Elam,

when you went to Elam and I also sent you a record [$\dot{\upsilon}\pi \omega \mu \upsilon \sigma \tau \kappa \dot{\omega} \nu$] of the homilies of Rabban Mar Narsai which we possess so that you could look for his homilies and write out for us their titles and two stanzas from the beginning of each homily. But you promised us and did not complete [the task]: not on account of negligence—your reverence is far from [any] blame—but rather on account of obstacles and ill fortune. Give order, my master, and write for us the incipits of the homilies of the treasury which is in Beth Hūzāye: in monasteries and churches and convents, and send to us so that when we have come to you, if there is something which we do not have, we can inform you and you will copy it out for us. And if there is something which you do not have and which you request, we will write it for you, so that both the abundance and the scarcity [of the texts] will be distributed among one another. Go over the homilies in order to know whether they are spurious or authentic.⁸⁴⁸

Translations by the Miaphysite philhellenes of the seventh century were a

subject of keen interest for Timothy. 'If possible,' he writes to the priest Sergios in his *Letter 17*, also written sometime around AD 783-785, 'send the exemplar of the heretics, of Gregory [Nazianzen], from which you copied out two parts. For I have the version which you wrote out, two parts, but they have, however, not at all been corrected. If those of the heretics cannot be sent, send me yours.'⁸⁴⁹ Over a decade later, in his *Letter*

⁸⁴⁹ See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), pp. 123-124: می حدی کم عدا حالجی تحکی در از کری می می در حالی می در می در می در می داند. کین حصالی می در در مادرمان می داختی می می داختی که می در می کم حدی کم در می داند.

22, written to Sergios at some point between 799 and 804, we find Timothy still speaking about the two volumes of Gregory's work in Miaphysite translation. 'We have returned to them,' he writes Sergios, now Metropolitan of Elam, 'the two books of the holy Gregory—the version of Paul [of Edessa] and the revision of Athanasios [of Balad].'⁸⁵⁰

Having gained access to a heretical translation was not enough for Timothy, either. Once he had made his own copy, he was eager to collate and correct it. In his *Letter 18*, written sometime in 783-785, Timothy again brings up with Sergios the issue of the text of Gregory Nazianzen he had been seeking out. After his request made in *Letter 16*, he had received the version of Gregory, but not all of it:

Now, our brother Rabban Aba has arrived safely to us and the final volume of the holy and God-clad Gregory [Nazianzen], along with seven quires from the first, have been written out and come here undamaged; we thank you, O spiritual brother, for sending them. But look now: although I previously wrote to your chastity that you send the entire tome—quires were not to be sent—but given that they have been sent, we have nevertheless gone over them with our copy and we are sending together [to you] both them and the final volume which you sent. For we have this version—[in] two sections—but the [sections] are not collated and these words which are written in Greek are not present in them.⁸⁵¹

'If possible,' Timothy writes to Sergios in his Letter 19, again, written sometime in 783-

785,

محلب عدة لخلية :معنى الله المعنى LT in idem., trans., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 75: SS 31) (Paris, 1915), p. 82. For the date of this letter, see Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 73.

⁸⁵⁰ See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), p. 135: مصطب لص جب معتصلات المناطب بمدينت بن من محصلات المن المنابي تابي من المنابي المنابي المنابي المنابي المنابي الم in idem., trans., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 75: SS 31) (Paris, 1915), p. 91. For the date of this letter, see Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 75.

⁸⁵¹ See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), p. 126: تب منه منه المعالية المعالية منه منه المعالية المعالي المعالية المعال المعالية الم

a list of the books of Mar Zaynā should be sent to us, for perhaps there is among them something which we are unaware of. And you yourself look over his books personally in order to go over them: every subject and every sort. Perhaps you will find in them the two treatises on the poets—for we have one—or maybe you will find among them a translation of Olympiodoros, of the books of logic, or of Stephanos or Sergios or Alexander. Or ecclesiastical books: of Ambrose, or Amphilochios against Apollinaris, or of Eustathios the Great, or of Flavian, or somebody else. You yourself look for Athanasios the Great—the response to the Arians through definite arguments [?], for I have found of it 26 in number, but I have wondered whether perhaps there might be more of it. ... Also seek out for me the dominical letters of Athanasios and that treatise which is an apology for his flight.⁸⁵²

The examples of manuscript-thirsty Hunayn and Timothy both suggest that scholars were more concerned with getting their hands on texts than they were with the precise theological pedigrees of the circles where those texts were originating from. In Chapter 3, I made reference to the probably fictive story of Jacob of Edessa's conversion to Judaism in an attempt to find new texts he believed Jews to be harboring. Timothy's appetite for Miaphysite translations of texts and his imitation of the style of scholars trained at Qenneshre suffice to show that the monastery's influence did in fact stretch to the cultural epicenter of 'Abbasid Iraq. The bridge to nowhere is actually a bridge to Baghdad and one of the paths from Alexandria to Baghdad runs through Qenneshre.

⁸⁵² See O. Braun, ed., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), pp. 129-130: האך כב אי ושאנו בהמניא ובאבהמת, וכלו ונאי. גואא באי ואיא כמהך כות ולא ו לישיו במי , ה ב מחש שבע המשמה, בשנה אין בכל שור שורים בכל שור אשבובים. גלבא אשבע במה א אול מ ואו האודים געור איז איז איז איז איז איז איז גע איז איז גער איז גער איז גער איז גער איז איז איז איז איז איז איז א באבא העולטאר. אם גאמלדטים אים גאו לא לא איש אים גארשמונים. אם באבא גאראי גאמרים אים אים באבאי באבי אור שב . אוור צורו מר . שמו מצ . אם ובאו שמאל שמר ז מר שועושר א שמו ג אווי איז מר א שמו א ממי א שמי א מיי איז מר האוליביא דגלדא איל לה שליאי ... כפב ל העל א גדואא דיעאי דילוח דאונושיים היל הי LT in idem., trans., Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 75: محمدته دهم منه دخل تحقر حذممس SS 31) (Paris, 1915), p. 86. For the date of this letter, see Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 73; cf. also *ibid.*, pp. 24-25. NB: BL Add. 18,821, a ninth-century manuscript, perhaps even dating to the life of Timothy I, contains a collection of the poetry and letters of Gregory Nazianzen (including his letter to Amphilochios) as well as part of Olympiodoros' commentary on the Organon. See Wright, Catalogue of Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum, vol. 2 (London, 1871), pp. 775-776. The text is published with translation and study in G. Furlani, 'Contributi alla Storia della Filosofia Greca in Oriente: Testi Siriaci III. Frammenti di una versione siriaca del comment di Pseudo-Olimpiodoro alle Categorie d'Aristotele,' Rivsta degli Studi Orientali 7 (1916-1918), pp. 131-162.

(A Non-Civic) Late Antique Romanitas: It Just Keeps Rolling Along

Throughout this dissertation, I have spoken of an unbroken tradition of antique learning that continued in a Syriac context from Late Antiquity and into the 'Islamic' Middle Ages; I argued that there was a strong continuity between the Late Antique world and that notions of a 'Dark Age' where secular learning ceased and secular genres dried up was a chimera. Strong notions of discontinuity in classical learning only have purchase when one adopts the incomplete perspective of Greek sources, when one, as it were, only reads Krumbacher, Beck and Hunger but does not also take into account Baumstark.

Such a perspective is misleading for several simple reasons: Greek was not the only language spoken in the Middle East in this period, nor was it the only language used to carry out sophisticated intellectual and cultural activities (post-Renaissance educational curricula in the West notwithstanding), nor, then as now, were people in the Middle East universally monolingual. Once the existence of a bilingual (and in the case of some, like George, bishop of the Arabs, perhaps trilingual⁸⁵³) elite in the Middle East is recognized, any attempt to write a cultural history of the region which ignores such people and their Syriac writings is instantly problematic and unsatisfactory. In 662, during the 'Dark Ages,' the learned (and bilingual) Severos Sebokht wrote a letter about astronomy from which only a portion now survives in a manuscript in Paris. 'Concerning,' he would tell the recipient, whose name is now lost,

the matter of people from among the Greeks saying to you, as your brotherhood has written, that it is not at all possible that the Syrians know anything like

⁸⁵³ One could also mention a figure like Shūbḥālīshū', who according to Thomas of Marga was 'instructed in the Syriac language and learning, and also in the Arabic and Persian tongues.' Trans. E.A.W. Budge in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Margâ A.D. 840*, vol. 1, (London, 1893), p. 479.

this—I am speaking of reckoning the stars, or solar and lunar eclipses—while supposing that the Greeks alone possess all the knowledge because of the fact that they speak Greek: It made sense that the first to know these things were Babylonian sages, since Babylonians were the first discoverers of this science, not the Greeks, as all the chroniclers of the Greeks bear witness. Then, after the Babylonians, were the Egyptians and then next were the Greeks. Now as regards the Babylonians, they are Syrians—I don't think that anyone will disagree. Therefore, in the case of those who are saying that it is not at all possible that the Syrians should know anything in this manner when the Syrians are the discoverers and first teachers of these things, they are greatly mistaken.⁸⁵⁴

Severos first quotes Ptolemy for support and then cites a passage from Plato's Timaeus

where Solon reports that an Egyptian priest had told him the Greeks lack ancient

tradition and teaching and that in many subjects they had had 'no voice.' 'Therefore,'

Severos writes,

[based on] this testimony, many generations of Greeks did not even know writing, but instead they died 'without voice.' That is, dumb and as if without speech. How is it that some among them [now] exalt themselves as the first discoverers of the science of Mathematics and Astronomy? This is not the case. It is not. For science is not possessed by a language ($\lambda \epsilon \xi_{1\zeta}$)—that is, speech—but rather language is possessed by science.⁸⁵⁵

We have here a universalist claim: science—*ī*da'tā—or knowledge, was not the exclusive

domain of one language and not the function of a particular linguistic community.

Languages were instruments which could express and instantiate *īda'tā*, something

which stood outside of and beyond them. The Greek-speakers who had been boasting to Severos' correspondents about the superiority of Greek cultural achievements were not only historically uniformed; they were also rather provincial in their ignorance of the achievements of people speaking languages other than Greek. Severos had brought up the Babylonians and the Syrians because they were most pertinent to his argument, but he would also make reference to another linguistic community whose achievements were superior to those of both Greeks and Syrians: the Indians.

I have refrained here from speaking about the science of the Indians—who are not even Syrians—and concerning their insightful discoveries in this discipline of astronomy (which [discoveries] are more skilled than those of the Greeks and those of the Babylonians) and the rational methods of their calculations and of computation which surpass speech. I am speaking of that of nine signs which, if those who think of themselves that they alone have reached the pinnacle of wisdom on account of the fact that they speak Greek were aware of them, they would acknowledge, albeit tardily, that there exist others as well who know something, not just the Greeks, but also people from nations with other languages. I have said these things, not rejecting the wisdom of the Greeks in matters such as these and other things like them—may it never be, for it is not like this at all—I would be erring! Instead, I am seeking to demonstrate that science is universal and that everyone who wants to become diligent [in it, can], whether he be Greek or Barbarian.⁸⁵⁶

Severos would reiterate his universalist claim: Science, *īda'tā*, was something that everybody shared and was not a function of or monopolized by a particular language. It was *d-gawā*, common to everyone. Dialectically, he had used pluralism—the diversity

of linguistic communities which had made contributions to knowledge and learning—to deflate the self-congratulatory and solipsistic cultural triumphalism of his correspondent's Greek interlocutors. As a strategy for problematizing limited and narrow perspectives on human cultural achievement, such a move can be quite powerful and effective—and not just in the the seventh century.⁸⁵⁷

In the transition between what contemporary historians conceptualize as the Late Antique and Medieval periods the streams and rivers of antique culture did in fact flow unbroken. This assertion of continuity, of course, needs to be qualified. The streams flowed without interruption, but they narrowed and passed through a smaller

⁸⁵⁷ One should also compare Severos' ideas with those used by Gregory Nazianzen in his attacks on Julian the Apostate. See, for example, the following passage from his *First Invective* against Julian:but what is our part is this—that a language is not the property of those that invented it, but of those who share in the same; neither is there any art of occupation, of whatever sort thou mayest think of, which is not subject to this rule; but just as in a skillfully-composed and musical harmony there is a different sound of each different string, either high or low, yet all belong to one tuner and performer, contributing together to the single beauty of the tune, in the same way, also, the artist and creator, Speech, has appointed a different word for the inventor of each different art or occupation, and has exposed them all alike for public use, coupling together human society by the ties of mutual communication and kindness, and rendering it more gentle. Is speaking Greek thy exclusive right? Pray tell me, are not the letters of the alphabet the invention of the Phoenicians, or, as others say, of the Egyptians, or of those yet wiser than they, the Hebrews—if they believe that the Law was engraved by God upon divinely inscribed tables of stone? Is the Attic language thy right? To calculate sums, and to count, to reckon on the fingers weights and measures, and, before all these, tactics and military rules, to whom to they belong? Do they not to the Euboeans, since Palamedes was an Euboean-that inventor of many things, and thereby becoming an object of jealousy, and having to pay the penalty of his cleverness, condemned to death by those who fought against Troy? What, pray, if Egyptians, Phoenicians, and Hebrews are those whom we employ in common for our education—supposing the natives of Euboea should make a claim (according to the rule thou has laid down) for the things specially belonging to themselves, what in the world shall we do? And what defence shall we offer to them when convicted by laws of our own making? Surely there is no help for it, we must be dispossessed of these things and suffer the fate of the jackdaw, stripped bare, divested of our borrowed plumes, and made objects of ridicule. ... As for sacrificing victims, does that not come from the Assyrians, or perhaps the Cyprians; the observation of the stars from the Chaldeans, the art of land-measuring from the Egyptians? Is not the science of magic a Persian invention? The interpretation of dreams, from whom else dost thou hear it but from the Telmessians? And augury, from whom else than the Phrygians, the first men to study the flying of birds and their various motions?' Trans. C.W. King in *idem., Julian the Emperor*, containing Gregory Nazianzen's Two Invectives and Libanius' Monodoy with Julian's Extant Theosophical Writings (London, 1888), pp. 71-72, 73. More generally, see pp. 68-74 (1.102-1.109). I am grateful to Peter Brown for pointing me to Gregory's invectives for this comparison. Compare Gregory's Invective I with Ps.-Nonnos' mythological scholia which adds more detail to these claims of precedence in Brock, The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia, pp. 115-117; Brock (ibid., p. 29, n. 7) shows that Severos Sebokht was aware of the Homilies of Gregory Nazianzen, which included Invective I as well as the Mythological Scholia of Nonnos.

number of channels. The intellectual activities I have focused on in this dissertation— Greco-Syriac translation, philosophical study, history writing, and to a lesser extent, astrological and medical study—now took place in monasteries and were carried out by Christian clergy. Polymaths like Severos Sebokht, Jacob of Edessa and George of the Arabs carry the weight of both secular and religious knowledge on their shoulders and represent the same concentration of broad and encyclopedic knowledge in single individuals as Isidore of Seville does in this period in the West.

In the Middle East, traditional Greek learning was no longer the purview of a polis-based, urban elite, though a facile urban-rural binary should be avoided here at all costs. Athanasios Gamolo, the urbane leader of the Syrian Orthodox church in the first three decades of the seventh century was, as I have pointed out, from an elite urban family in Samosata, whereas Jacob of Edessa hailed from a small village in the region of Antioch. Both men were educated at the monastery of Qenneshre, but both men also received educations in urban centers—Jacob in Alexandria and Athanasios most likely in his hometown of Samosata.

The events of Jacob of Edessa's life, in which he moved from small village ('Ayndābā), to Qenneshre, to Alexandria, to Edessa, to the monasteries of Eusebona and then Tell 'Ada and finally back to Edessa, illustrate nicely the flows that people (and information) might take. Jacob was responsible for reviving the study of Greek at the monastery of Eusebona but was eventually driven away from it by monks there who 'hated Greeks.' Jacob himself died en route from Edessa to the monastery of Tell 'Ada— he was returning to Tell 'Ada to fetch his personal library.⁸⁵⁸ The *Life* of Theodota of

⁸⁵⁸ See J.-B. Chabot, ed. Chronique de Michel le syrien, patriarche jacobite de Antioche (1166-1199) (Paris, 1899-1910), vol. 4 (Syriac) 445-46 ; vol. 2 (FT) 471-472.

Amid in which the protagonist frequently moves from one monastery to the next also suggests that there was a constant traffic of both laypeople and clergy among monastic centers in the seventh century.

These centers of culture were not hermetically sealed from one another: Qenneshre stood out as the most important center for Greco-Syriac study and education in the Syriac-speaking Middle East, but it was not a Lone Ranger and it had more than one Tonto—places like Beth Malke and Tell 'Ada. Qenneshre existed as the primary and most important node in a network of monasteries which, taken collectively, formed the cultural and intellectual skeleton which supported the muscle and tissue of the body of what eventually would be called the Syrian Orthodox church.

What we have emerging in Syria in the sixth through eighth centuries is an example of what Hervé Inglebert has referred to as an 'antiquité post-romaine, une deuxième phase de l'Antiquité,' characterized by a form of Romanitas different from the civic version which so defined the Romanitas of the empire.⁸⁵⁹ Imperial persecution of Christological dissidents, combined with the diversity and competition that characterized the Christian communities of greater Syria fueled the development of an alternative, intellectual and cultural elite in the Miaphysite movement, one whose primary basis of operation was in the network of monasteries anchored by Qenneshre.

These monasteries existed alongside the older, urban centers of culture which, to be sure, were not as sterile, even in the 'Dark Ages,' as some might imagine. Jacob did spend part of his life in Edessa and the eighth-century emergence from Edessa of the Maronite Theophilos of Edessa (d. 785), an astrologer to al-Mahdī, translator of

⁸⁵⁹ See H. Inglebert, *Histoire de la civilization romaine* (Paris, 2005), p. 483. I am grateful to Peter Brown for alerting me to Inglebert's notion of a second, post-civic phase of Late Antiquity and Romanitas.

Aristotle and Homer into Syriac, and author of an important chronicle, points to that city's continued status as a center of Antique culture.⁸⁶⁰ The precious Melkite Syriac manuscript, BL Oriental 8606, written in Edessa in AD 723, contains Greek words in Syriac unattested anywhere else,⁸⁶¹ and its colophon indicates that the Melkite cathedral there had two different choirs—one Greek and one Syriac.⁸⁶² Here we have another indication that Edessa continued to be a vibrant bilingual space and important point for cultural transmission across linguistic lines. Moreover, in the Maronite Theophilos, we have a reminder that it was not just the Miaphysites who were making use of and studying the wisdom of the Greeks.

Nevertheless, monasteries such as Qenneshre were now powerhouses of culture and not just prayer. The demands of training a clergy, manning a church, fending off polemical attacks from rivals led to a situation where Roman culture had become untethered from a civic context, infused with Christianity, and located in monastic centers. And through the gradual accumulation of endowments, often from wealthy urban elites, these monasteries would come to have their own, independent economic bases of survival.⁸⁶³

⁸⁶¹ See C. Moss, 'A Syriac Patristic Manuscript,' *Journal of Theological Studies* 30 (1929), p. 254.

⁸⁶⁰ On Theophilos, see Baumstark, *Geschichte*, pp. 341-342.

⁸⁶² See R.W. Thomson, 'An Eighth-Century Melkite Colophon From Edessa,' Journal of Theological Studies, n.s., 13 (1962) p. 253: جمت محمد المحمة العربية المحمد المحم محمد المحمد المحم محمد المحمد م محمد المحمد ا

 $^{^{863}}$ See the discussion of the finances of the East Syrian Monastery of Beth 'Ābe by E.A.W. Budge in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Margâ A.D. 840*, vol. 1, (London, 1893), pp. lxv – lxix. Eventually, taxes from Muslim authorities caused great economic distress to the monastery.

God, Mammon and Monasteries⁸⁶⁴

For some of their revenue, monasteries might rely upon alms and small donations. Monks, it seems, would go about begging for donations on behalf of their convents. In his canons, Jacob of Edessa condemned monks who left their monasteries and married, but put back on the black garb of the *dayroyo* and made the rounds begging for money in the name of monasteries.⁸⁶⁵ We also have evidence that at least some priests were trying to charge their parishioners a payment for their sacerdotal activities, but Jacob condemned this practice. 'It is not right for priests,' Jacob wrote in another canon, 'that a wage for their service be sought from the people, as like for the watchmen of a village. For it is not for a wage that priests serve God.'⁸⁶⁶ The Qur'ān, for its part, speaks negatively of monks who 'devour the wealth of mankind' and who 'hoard up gold and silver and spend it not in the way of God.'⁸⁶⁷

But not all priests were so unscrupulous. Clergy would also work to earn their daily bread. Thomas of Marga speaks of an old monk named Bakos, living probably in

⁸⁶⁴ Little has been written about the economies of Christian monasteries in the Middle East in the early Middle Ages. See, however, C. Villagomez, *The Fields, Flocks, and Finances of Monks: Economic Life at Nestorian Monasteries, 500-850* (PhD, diss, UCLA, 1998).

⁸⁶⁵ Mardin 310, fol. 212v. The same canon occurs in Harvard Syriac 93, fols. 24b-25a. Words in brackets indicate a reading from Harvard Syriac 93 which I have taken over the text in Mardin 310. الم عمر المعن مدينة، مدينة،

אודם לשיידה דעלבים, כן בכיה הא גוא באה א גוא באה א אוד א געלבים, כן איז א געל ביא א געלבים, באיז א געלבים, איז א געלבים, באיז געלבים, געלבים, באיז געלבים, באיז געלבים, באיז געלבים, באיז געלבים, באיז געלבים, געלבים, געלבים, געלבים, באיז געלבים, ג

⁸⁶⁷ Sura 9:34, translation (with slight alteration) taken from M.M. Pickthall, *The Meaning of the Glorious Koran* (New York, n.d.).

the middle of the eighth century, who 'had near his cell a large olive tree from which he pressed out thirty measures of oil every year, and the tree was therefore precious to him, and he took care of it, and never missed watering it.²⁸⁶⁸ In the Arabic Life of John of Damascus, John's master sent him from the monastery of Mar Saba (near Bethlehem) to Damascus to sell 'our craft' (' $amalan\bar{a}$) and to bring the revenue for the monks to use in their expenditures. John was to sell palm baskets (*al-zanābīl*), a large supply of which the monastery had apparently accumulated at that point.⁸⁶⁹ From a question Addai posed to Jacob, we know that priests would also do more than just their responsibilities in church. If an unbaptized infant is dying, Addai wanted to know, and its mother takes him and runs to the mountain or to a field where the priest is, laboring, and there is no river there for baptism and none of the proper vessels—the priest only has water—and time is running out, what should he do?⁸⁷⁰ Addai's question suggests that priests had day jobs, so to speak, in addition to their jobs on Sundays and feast days. Another canon of Jacob suggests that members of the clergy might also be involved in animal husbandry: if a priest helps a mule or a cow give birth, Jacob notes, nothing prevents

⁸⁶⁹ See C. Bacha, ed., Sīrat al-qiddīs Yuḥannā al-Dimashqī (Harissa, 1912), p. 21.

him from serving the Eucharist immediately thereafter.⁸⁷¹ Addai wrote of a deacon during a time of famine who, unable to find any work, not even for payment in bread, was forced to join a band of armed men, presumably brigands, and took up weapons himself. When the time of want ended and there was opportunity for work, he fled his violent occupation, immediately cut his hair, took up his former diaconal garments and returned to religious life.⁸⁷²

Clergy and monks might have some sort of trade in order to earn their living. At the time of John of Damascus, the monks of Mar Saba, we have just seen, apparently were engaged in making palm baskets and selling them in markets as far away as Damascus. The *Life* of the Chalcedonian Timothy of Kākhushtā (fl. late eighth and early ninth century) reports that Timothy found a group of monks in the Monastery of Mar Marūn near Shayzar in Syria who were skilled at carpentry. Not having a trade of his own, Timothy learned woodworking from the monks. Part of his motivation for learning from these Monotheletes was evangelistic, but part was economic: Timothy

 $^{^{871}}$ See Mardin 310, fols. 209b-210a (cf. n. 736) which refers to a priest who might help a mule or cow give birth and then return to performing his service.

המחם: השב אם הם ונוא במה אב הם הונא במהם ב בלה ה, שואא. הביו אובו ובוא הם במוא ו וביא לפטלעיאי. אולא מפו וישת טלבת אמבודה מודיאי טילב בעלאי. איבואי אלא עבאר אוד איני איני איני איני איני איני א ווצלע כלבשת שורנאי. אם האנים שווא ובלהת, כבחב ה, ה, והכוו א ואוויםו: הנווא בים ה ביאלא הומל להול בניבהולא בוגביולא: ניהיא וגב אונהא מבי מה כא ומביו. הלה בו י בא. בו א מי מי האשמה את, באהת, האפלא כו נקב לבייאלא מקי בייאלא. מכביל שליל מח לאפימבחבת: האכא, יאלddai: In the גי כא כד הבית האמל האמר היותר לא היותר לא איז הובי לא לא איז איז הא איז איז איז איז איז איז איז case of a deacon in the time of famine and want: because he had nothing to feed himself and there was no one to receive him to work with him, even for his bread, he went and attached himself to people who were carrying weapons and himself also took up arms and lived with them that entire year. As soon as the difficult time passed and there was an opportunity for work, he came and cut his hair and took his original monastic habit and sat in silence. How should it be with him? Should he serve in his former station, or is there a definite canon about him? Jacob: The fact that as soon as he found relief, he immediately fled from evil and ran to [his] original modesty shows that he did what he did from necessity and not willingly. Therefore, this bears witness that he did not do evil when he followed evil and therefore, it is lawful for his bishop, when he wants, when he examines his repentance, to extend to him mercy and permit him his earlier service.'

hoped that 'from his labor and the toil of his body, there would come to him enough for his own support as well as for distribution to the poor and to the churches.'⁸⁷³ Perhaps the situation was not all that different from what the case would be centuries later, when Ibn Taymiyya (d. 728 AH/AD 1328) was asked a question about whether the *jizya* could be lifted on monks who participated in most of the affairs of ordinary people they received wages, they took up fields of land, raised pigeons and did other economic activities that laypeople engaged in.⁸⁷⁴ And even though clergy may have worked, the temptation to abuse one's power as a priest for economic benefit lurked at the door. Addai wrote of a priest who had composed a writ of anathema and hung it from a tree, forbidding people to eat its fruits. Such a person, Jacob wrote, should be punished and ordered not to do this again.⁸⁷⁵

The major source, however, of monastic revenue was not the rivulets of alms that might come in from the begging activities of monks or even the income from their handicrafts and labor; the broad rivers and streams of money and property flowing into monastic coffers and supporting these institutions were large bequests from the wealthy. We have a number of references to the endowments of monasteries and churches in the sixth through eighth centuries.⁸⁷⁶ Their income came from donations

⁸⁷³ Translation J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala, in J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala edd. and trans., *The Life of Timothy of Kākhushtā (Patrologia Orientalis* 48) (Turnhout, 2000), pp. 544 (Arabic), 545 (ET).

⁸⁷⁴ See Aḥmad b. Taymiyya, Majmūʻ fatāwā, vol. 28, (Beirut, 1997), p. 659. For this point, cf. T. el-Leithy, *Coptic Culture and Conversion in Medieval Cairo*, 1293-1524 A.D. (PhD, diss., Princeton University, 2005), pp. 43-44.

⁸⁷⁶ These are all literary references. For a papyrus which reflects every-day expenses of a Christian community somewhere in northern Mesopotamia (ca. 240 AH/AD 854), see G. Khan, *Arabic Papyri: Selected Material from the Khalili Collection* (London/Oxford, 1992), pp. 84-91.

and bequests from elites and from the proceeds from agricultural lands, mills and rents from properties the monasteries owned. Then as now, when it came to endowments, there were haves and there were have nots. 'It is not right,' Jacob of Edessa wrote in one of his canons, 'that priests should go from church to church out of greed or a desire for fatter church endowments.⁸⁷⁷ There were also haves and have-nots when it came to monks and ascetics. In his treatise on taxation and administration, the *Kitāb* al-*Kharāj*, the Muslim jurist Abū Yūsuf (d. 182 AH/AD 798) would specify that the *jizya*, or poll tax on non-Muslims, should be taken only from monks living in monasteries if they were wealthy; if they were poor, it was to be paid on their behalf by wealthy monks. Similarly, the *jizya* was to be paid by solitaries living in towers (*ahl al-sawāmi*') if they were wealthy; if, however, they had turned their wealth over to someone who would dispense it to monasteries, then those monasteries were to pay the *jizya* on behalf of the solitaries, unless the abbot swore that they no longer had possession of the wealth which had been passed on to them.⁸⁷⁸ One example of such a monk who gave his wealth away was the Chalcedonian Stephen of Mar Sabas (d. 794) who, we are told, gave everything which he had inherited to monks and to churches.⁸⁷⁹

Part of what it meant to be a member of the Christian elite was to provide Christian institutions with gifts and money. When the Persian King of Kings released Mar Aba (d. 552) from prison he dispatched him to return to his normal way of life: 'He sent him,' the *Life* of Aba tells us, 'to go and adorn churches, as was his custom and to go

⁸⁷⁸ See Abū Yūsuf Yaʻqūb b. Ibrāhīm, *Kitāb al-kharāj* (Cairo, 1346), p. 146.

⁸⁷⁹ See Lamoreaux, ed. and trans., *The Life of Stephen of Mar Sabas*, (Arabic), p. 11; (ET), p. 11.

to his home and his church and to assemble the bishops, as was his custom...¹⁸⁸⁰ Being a Catholicos, which Aba was, entailed the beautification and embellishment of churches just as much as it involved gathering bishops together to deal with ecclesiastical concerns. When Athanasios Gamolo's father died in the late sixth century, his pious mother Joanna gave the family's wealth to churches and to the poor.⁸⁸¹ Also in the late sixth century, the East Syrian Rabban Barhadbshabba founded a monastery near his native village of Hadod. 'He gave large gifts to his monastery,' Thomas of Marga tells us, 'and bequeathed to it all his inheritance of the house of his fathers.'⁸⁸² The *Life* of Timothy of Kākhushtā reports the Bishop of Qinnasrīn giving a large number of dirhams, dinars and other things to Timothy's monastery.⁸⁸³ In the early eighth century, Simeon of the Olives, the bishop of Harran, was responsible for building a number of churches and monasteries. But he also funded the production of books, as his *Life* reports:

[Simeon] also gave money and many royal and excellent books were copied, many of which exist until today in the Monastery [of Qartmin] and in the region—some of the books of Mar Daniel Kandarībāyā, and some other books

⁸⁸⁰ See P. Bedjan, ed. Histoire de Mar-Jabalaha, de trois autres patriarches, d'un prêtre et de deux laïques, nestoriens (Paris, 1895), p. 267: محلب المال المناه ملحد المالي المالي المالي المالي المالي المالي المالي المالي محلب محمد المعامية المالي المعامية المحمد المالي المعامية المحمد المالي المعالية المحمد المحمد المالي المحمد ال

امد حبط محموم معمانه معنانه معنا معنانه م

⁸⁸² Translation E.A.W. Budge, in idem. trans., The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 68-69. Syriac text in idem., ed., The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 1(London, 1893), p. 38: متحد لله حلي المحافي For the date of Barhadbshabba's activity at Hadod around the year 595, see ibid., p. lxxii and Fiey, Assyrie chrétienne, pp. 255-256.

⁸⁸³ See J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala edd. and trans., *The Life of Timothy of Kākhushtā (Patrologia Orientalis* 48) (Turnhout, 2000), pp. 476 (Arabic), 477 (ET). NB: This Qinnasrīn is the same as the city of Chalkis and is not to be confused with the monastery of Qenneshre, cf. e.g., Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia*, p. 29, n. 7.

like it. One of those books is that *Chronicle* whose text is long—it was composed by Jacob of Edessa. These and many other books were copied for the monastery at the hands of superior scribes and spiritual and fleshly brothers: Mar Joshua Simon and Mar Yaḥe as well as the expert craftsmen and wise scribes who are in the great monastery which is in the excellent and celebrated village of Kfar Tebnā which is at the gate of the city of Ḥarran, which is the diocese of Mar Simeon of the Olives.

After Simeon's death, the *Life* notes, another 180 of his books were given to the monastery.⁸⁸⁴ Simeon's donation of books to the Monastery of Qartmin was of course not unique. The *Chronicle* of Pseudo-Zacharias Rhetor, for example, speaks of a Moro bar Kustant, a bishop of Amid in the early sixth century, who amassed a large library which passed into the possession of the church of Amid after Moro passed away,⁸⁸⁵ and

a number of notices in manuscripts point to the practice of bishops (and others) of

buying books for monasteries and churches.⁸⁸⁶

And books were not the only objects given to monasteries by elites. The

nephew of Simeon of the Olives, David, was like his uncle Simeon very generous in

lavishing gifts on the monastery of Qartmin. 'He donated many glorious and royal

things to the monastery,' the Life of Simeon tells us,

and to the entire region of Tur 'Abdin and he decorated and adorned the monastery with all the spiritual and physical fixtures which are in the church: the container ($\xi \epsilon \sigma \tau \eta \varsigma$) for the myron ($\mu \ell \rho \sigma \nu$) and priestly garments ($\varphi \epsilon \lambda \delta \nu \iota \alpha$) and patens ($\pi \ell \nu \alpha \kappa \alpha$) and gold and silver chalices and as well as liturgical instruments and veils for the consecrated bread and gilded curtains, the likes of which things there is nothing in the world.⁸⁸⁷

⁸⁸⁴ Mardin 8/259, fols. 123r-123v.

⁸⁸⁵ See F.J. Hamilton and E.W. Brooks, trans., *The Syriac Chronicle known as that of Zachariah of Mitylene* (London, 1899), p. 209.

⁸⁸⁶ See, e.g., BL Add. 14,430 (p. 15); BL Add. 12,135 (p. 24); BL Add. 17,119 (p. 71); BL Add., 14,472 (p. 81); BL Add. 14,479 (p. 86); BL Add. 14,678 (p. 133); BL Add. 14,485 (p. 146); BL 14,486 (p. 149); BL 14,487 (p. 152). Page numbers refer to W. Wright, *Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts in the British Museum*, vols. 1-3 (London, 1870-1872).

⁸⁸⁷ Mardin 8/259, fols. 123v-124r.

The Book of Governors of Thomas of Marga allows us to trace the fate of some of the wealth of the East Syrian monastery of Beth 'Ābe northeast of Mosul in the seventh and eighth centuries. After becoming Catholicos around the year 650, Isho'yahb III came into conflict with the monks of Beth 'Ābe, where he wanted to build a new school. 'I have the power to build for two reasons which must overcome all obstacles,' Thomas of Marga reports him telling them, 'first, because I have adorned and endowed this monastery with property and earthly possessions, and secondly, because spiritually, I am master of all monasteries and convents.²⁸⁸⁸ George I (sed. 661-680) was Isho'yahb's close friend and chosen successor as East Syrian Catholicos.⁸⁸⁹ According to Thomas of Marga, George came from a wealthy family which owned two villages, Tella d-Zāle and Beth Habā. Before entering monastic life, George's father had given him the task of administering the affairs of these villages. 'Now when his father departed from this world,' we are told, 'George asked his brothers that, with respect to inheritance, the portion to be given to him be the village of Beth Habā. And he gave it to this monastery [sc. Beth 'Ābe].⁸⁹⁰ Some forty years later, the property given to the monastery seems to have slipped away from the monks. Thomas of Marga reports Gabriel, the Metropolitan of Kirkuk (fl. AD 720) speaking to the monks about their current economic situation: 'He

⁸⁸⁹ See Baumstark, *Geschichte*, p. 208. For George's dates, see E.A.W. Budge, trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840*, vol. 2 (London, 1893), p. 179, n. 5.

left you nothing in the way of possessions in the land,' Gabriel said to them, referring to Jacob, the monastery's sixth-century founder, 'that is, for the monks. And what they did possess, look now—they are bereft of everything. That is, of the lands which their fathers Mar Isho'yahb and Mar George the Catholicoi bequeathed to them.'⁸⁹¹ Things were perhaps not as grim as Gabriel may have suggested. During the life of Rabban Kyriakos, the abbot of Beth 'Ābe from perhaps 740-750, Thomas of Marga could still speak about 'the wheat [which was] the property of the monastery' being brought in from Beth Ziwa and laborers supervised by overseers.⁸⁹² During the Catholicate of Timothy I (sed. 780-823), Shūbḥālīshū' inherited much wealth from his parents: he gave some to his sisters and gave his part to monastery of Beth 'Ābe. Shūbḥālīshū' eventually took over an estate owned by the monastery and ran it successfully as an agricultural enterprise, using its proceeds to help the monastery's monks, strangers and the poor.⁸⁹³

But we have information about more than just Beth 'Ābe. In the seventh century, the inhabitants of the village of Golai in Inner Salakh converted from

⁸⁹¹ My translation. Syriac text in Syriac text in *idem.*, ed., The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 1(London, 1893), p. 114: جدم حمر حمال مربح مال مربح مال مالت مستکہ: صدر دین جمال میں دین کی میں حصوب جن جامعید. من دی کی کی میں دین مال مالت کی میں مستکہ: صدر کی من دین کی میں حصوب جن جامعید. میں دین دین مال مالت کی میں مستکہ: میں دین کی میں مال مالت کی میں مال مالت کے معطوب میں میں دین دین دین دین دین دین دین دین دین مال مالت کی trans., The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), p. 247; for the floruit of Gabriel, see vol. 2, p. 245, n. 5.

⁸⁹³ For this, see Budge, *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D.* 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 469-470. For Shūbḥālīshū''s date, see *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D.* 840, vol. 1 (London, 1893), p. lxviii.

Magianism to Christianity, 'they built a church in their village, and set apart certain nut trees and a small plantation that there might [always] be a sum of money for the maintenance and expenses of the church.' After the people that had converted passed away, a dispute arose between the priests of the church and the children of the donor generation, who seized the nuts for themselves.⁸⁹⁴ Some time around 724, the monks of the monastery of Bar 'Idta hired an Arab named Iyās to be the keeper of their grain and property. Iyās built a house on fields belonging to the monastery and then began seizing the monastery's lands for himself.⁸⁹⁵ During the Catholicate of Jacob (sed. 753-772), Thomas of Marga reports that Arabs 'seized upon a mill called Beth Warda, which formed part of the possessions of the house of the Patriarch...and with little resistance called it their own property.¹⁸⁹⁶ Relating the possibility that Babai of Gebilta may have founded as many as 60 schools in the middle of the eighth century, Thomas of Marga notes 'that through the zeal of believing and God-loving men, who made the instruction [of children] in divine things their care, he set apart property and funds for

⁸⁹⁵ For the story of Iyās and the monastery of Bar 'Īdta, see Budge. trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840*, vol. 2 (London, 1893), pp. 231-234. Syriac text in *idem.*, ed., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D. 840*, vol. 1(London, 1893), pp. 104-105. For the date of this incident, see vol. 1, p. cvi.

their maintenance.^{'897} In a letter which dates between 799 and 804, Timothy I writes Sergios, the Metropolitan of Elam,

We have summoned Isho'sabran the teacher and given him 10,000 zūze: 3,000 from Rabban Gabriel, 3,000 from 'Aūn, 4,000 from another person. I have ordered that they buy with them the inn ($\pi\alpha\nu\delta\kappa\epsilon$ iov) of a certain Babai for the students of the monastery. A third of its proceeds are for the teacher and two-thirds are for the students. Now, before the coming of Isho'sabran, we collected for the students, our brothers, 1,200 zūze. We gave the teacher a third and the brothers two-thirds, and one hundred zūze to each one of the two brothers who did the collecting.⁸⁹⁸

'We wanted that the inn ($\pi\alpha\nu\delta\sigma\kappa\epsilon$ iov) which is called 'Babai's'—which you know—be

bought for the students,' Timothy had explained to Sergios in a previous letter, 'so that

they might have a little bit of money, to give them ease and help. For I did not want

something to be bought for them that has a tax on it. '899

The *Life* of Simeon of the Olives (d. 734) records Simeon's extensive activities in

providing means to support churches and monasteries throughout northern

Mesopotamia and offers some of the clearest evidence we have about the economic

bases of Middle Eastern monasteries in the early medieval period. Early in the Life,

Simeon's nephew David discovers a hoard of gold hidden in a cave. David would bring

لالالالا تك المحمد ال

الك لدور 21. See O. Braun, ed., Innotnel Patriarchae I: Epistulae I (CSCO 74: SS 30) (Paris, 1914), pp. 132-133: من المعتمان المعني المعتمالي المعني ال المعتمالي المعني ال Bidawid dates Letter 21 to the period 799-804; see idem., Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I, p. 75.

his uncle portions of the gold and Simeon put it to good use. He gave some to the poor,

and to orphans and widows. But Simeon also used it to endow the monastery of

Qartmin with property whose rents and crops could provide it with steady income. 'He

began to buy many fields and farms and was giving them to the monastery of Qartmin,'

the *Life* reports,

With it, he was also buying houses and shops and mills and gardens and enclosures, and he was giving them to the Monastery of Qartmin; and the Monastery of Qartmin acquired possessions the likes of which do not exist in the world. He then adorned the monastery and built it anew again after its burning by the Persians, like Joshua son of Jehozadak (cf. Zechariah 6:11) for Jerusalem and the temple in it after the captivity and burning. As the Son of Jehozadak and Zerubbabel and Nehemiah restored it, in the same way this holy Mar Simeon of the Olives restored again the monastery through all of his divine plans and gifts.⁹⁰⁰

The report of the properties Simeon bought and their use and exploitation are perhaps

the most detailed description of a monastic economy in Syriac:

First, he bought the field of the monastery of the pillar in which Mar Simeon was enclosed and he bought fields and waters and springs and all of its estates, and he planted many olive trees in it, based on the waters of its springs, numbering 12,000 olive plants. He brought the plants from great distance, from regions far away, and he planted the olives with great care and much labor. Around them he built a high wall of stone and clay and bricks. And he enclosed it again with a second of reeds and a third hedge of thorn bushes and of 'elta (a plant full of frightening thorns). He set up in it hired men and plows who were working in it and who were wholly occupied with the estate. In five years, it began to yield fruit. It grew large and very strong and there were in it many olives which were extremely rich. From them, light was provided for all of the monastery and the churches of the entire region of Tur 'Abdin. Monks would gather beneath the trees whenever the olives would fall to the ground. They would not shake [the trees], but would rather collect the olives and bring them to the monastery. There, the monks were helped by the amazing skills which Mar Simeon, the master of olives, possessed. This olive [harvest] of that estate became a great source of help for this entire region which is desiccated and dry of springs. On the basis of this matter of olives, Mar Simeon has been called, 'of the Olives,' until today.⁹⁰¹

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 900}$ Mardin 8/259, fol. 108v. The Syriac in this passage is somewhat obscure.

⁹⁰¹ Mardin 8/259, fols. 108v-109r.

Simeon did not only endow the monastery of Qartmin—he took care of other monasteries as well. His *Life* informs us that he also bought a ruined building outside of Nisibis in which there was a monastery. He then built new buildings for the monastery and adorned it; he made provision for its economic well-being as well:

He also built south of the monastery a large splendid inn, $(\pi\alpha\nu\delta\kappa\epsilon\hat{i}\circ\nu)$ a resting place for wayfarers and merchants, the likes of which did not exist in the city; there was not even another which resembled it. He bought for this monastery five millstones and three gardens abounding in beautiful plants.⁹⁰²

Indeed, Simeon followed a pattern whenever he would build or restore a monastery or

church: he would always endow it with shops, mills, estates and other sources of

revenue. So, when he restored the Monastery of the Mother of God and the Monastery

of St Febronia in Nisibis and built the Monastery of Mar Dimat, Simeon was sure to also

make provision for their economic survival:

For these three glorious monasteries which he built, he bought shops and sheepfolds and houses so that these could be established for the sake of their need—[that is] for lights or buildings, whenever they were in need of necessary monies.

These three monasteries were not the only ecclesiastical institutions that Simeon was

taking care of. He had also built a church for St Theodore which he provided a mill for

and he would continue to patronize the Monastery of Qartmin as well:

He also built a building for the great mill north east of the Church of Mar Theodore, which he had built. He built a wall outside of the mill and a tower ($\pi \acute{v} \rho \gamma o \varsigma$) and completed it along with the outer wall of the city and also opened up for it a gate inside the city; it has been called the mill of Mar Simeon of the Olives down to today. And he gave this mill to the monastery of Qartmin. He bought beautiful baths ($\beta \alpha \lambda \alpha \nu \epsilon \tilde{\alpha}$) and he donated them to the monastery of Mar Elisha which he had built. He wrote that everything which exceeded the need of these monasteries which he had built should come and arrive at his Monastery of Qartmin. In the case of each believer who would go down and communicate on the feast of that church, the monks of the monastery would

⁹⁰² Mardin 8/259, fol. 110v.

take his first fruits for themselves. It was this that the Patriarch Julian sent to the monks of the monastery. And these places became great pillars and abundant sources of assistance for the Monastery of Qartmin; and in this way, he adorned the monastery with all manner of regal, good thing. He bought for it many villages and shops and mills.⁹⁰³

Simeon's activity as a patron to various church institutions would continue throughout his life. And even though he was made bishop of Harran, he would continue to support the Monastery of Qartmin in distant Tur 'Abdin. 'From Ḥarran,' the *Life* reports, 'Mar Simeon would send gold and silver and many gifts by means of his disciples and he would buy many fields and mills and shops and farms as well as gardens and enclosures and he would give to the monastery all the animal manure.'⁹⁰⁴

The continued monastic patronage of Simeon and other Miaphysite notables enabled a decoupling to occur: resources were now available for elite literature to be produced in non-civic spaces—the *polis* had lost its monopoly on high culture. And once these independent, self-perpetuating spaces of cultural production had been established, the fate of the learned traditions of antiquity was no longer inextricably tied to the fortune of the cities.

On Culture and Continuity

When I have spoken of an unbroken tradition of Late Antique learning that continued throughout this period what I have been referring to is the curriculum of study whose outlines I tried to trace out earlier. Study of traditional philosophy and learning continued unbroken through the so-called Dark Ages, but by the seventh and early eighth centuries the texture of the tradition had changed from what it was in the fourth century. Jacob's knowledge of the classical Greek tradition was different from

⁹⁰³ Mardin 8/259, fol. 115r.

⁹⁰⁴ Mardin 8/259, fol. 123v.

that of say, Gregory Nazianzen. In my first chapter, for example, I pointed out that Jacob cites passages from the now-lost $\delta \pi \rho \delta \zeta$ Nημέρτινον $\lambda \delta \gamma \circ \zeta$ of Porphyry. But Jacob's knowledge of Porphyry, at least in this instance, is a mediated one: the three passages that Jacob quotes from this lost work can all be found cited in Cyril of Alexandria's *Contra Julianum*. Surely this is no coincidence: Jacob knows Porphyry's work through his reading of Cyril rather than through reading Porphyry himself.⁹⁰⁵

⁹⁰⁵ Jacob cites Porphyry on the issue of divine providence. cf. BL Add. 12,172, fol. 107b: خمخنا אלש העיד ועבאי איטן איטן איט אישוא איז בבאי גבאינגא איט גראי העיד איט איט גראי איט איז איז איז איז איז איז איז באיב במוחל זה אלמא הביאי אלמא גין בו יו ב לה גבא גיאי. הבות בגו אי ובע שביא אלמא ה בו למוא האמליל מל ה גמויר ונת מס בנת ה לביוא יית ה כל היה ה ויש מאי ה כל ייש איש הרי יבו באל א לא Another השאיבדינוא א מריץ גבאדיר שהי, למחיש. שות הפרוך ההפריך ההבי א למחש הי שלאי אילי איל אילי אילי אילי אילי passage is cited on fols. 107b-108a: شامحا محمد مرمه معا معلية مصعد من مصيمه من مصيمه من محمد من مصيمه من محمد م כביה א מהא למו א של מליץ. למי גבנה ווב אלא אילי מהאי גוב בלפו הם מוא המוא גבעאי. مر مريد له مريد المريد المري וגם ונשבו. המשל איר המשל איר המשאי. ונשמא איל למי אים לאי גי איל למי איר איל למי איר איל לאי לא איל אי איל איל אי الدخطة حدم داعده الم حرية لم دراله و وسل وسعه حر خلم منه دمامه مماخ حريك مر دوسه לשוה לי הקבלא אול מביעם אול למו ב המנו ולאמעיל ושנהולאי למנה וה בי באו אול ואיני לא מינה לאמיניא לאמיי לבלמה ב. למיה הן הבלמא הבלום מנא לפונים. אלא נפט ההלא בהל לפונט מלבן הלום. אבנא הוצביו נהסא אנא להי לבלחי אאמאגייא לה. בי אב ביו ההאנא האמשע חביו עהלאי והי אי האמאי אי הי לבא له كسمة الم من and a third passage from the same treatise is cited on fol. 108a: الم من محلمه الم געער משטואי השרע אי גבאעמי מגבאעדטי אייז אייזיא לאעדיט באעד בא וביא איני ג השמהא השאישי ארא הל ביני נשאר נייד נייד נישי שאיטעי ויבר נפונטא נאשאי אי שעטי אי שאישי אי אי שיישי אי ד מנה ז ביוא בעוצא האמציא אי גבעה אאמהל למה במיהאי גבו שובי געם למוב גבאיג א المعادية عمر المحلم المحر المحر المحر المحر المحمد المحمد المراحية المحمد الم השל בסומא ושה ביא אים אמחא ואדמאא מהובעואא בו מוב מעוב: אב בבי מהובא עניבא אמיאי: הכו לב יוג א אני ומלל פהומא ובלה פגוא מצו הוא אמיאי: אבא וי עביואא כו אוב העיפל לה לאמיא: האם הארה לא ה בלא הי שרוא כו בבא לא הי גם אה א הי גם אים א הי א בא אים איי א א איי איי א איי יש הערא גבים אין שבי מטא לעי גיין געליא מביטאי גנבטע מיאול עי אוע בא מרי אייניאי אבוא ויש בשא עודא בי בלה וללאה: להא ה, ובטעא הבינוא לבלה בגיאי. אלה גיו ביא בי ההי הי ההי גלבניצרא ארמיאא נבטב מנבי אי נגבי מים ב בלבומי גל לבאא איא איבא גבלי גלמר ב المناسط المعالمة معالم والمسلم الم المعامة معماد ما المنابع المنامي المعامي المعامية المعامية المعامية المعامية A. Smith, Porphyrii Philosophi Fragmenta وجدة، بلك معته وعدامه وسلمه محمله عد (Stuttgart, 1983), pp. 314-318, has collected the fragments of the $\pi \rho \delta \zeta$ Nyuéptivov $\lambda \delta \gamma \delta \zeta$, all of which come from Cyril of Alexandria's Contra Julianum. Jacob's first passage corresponds to 280f in Smith's edition, his second passage corresponds to Smith's 282f, and his third passage corresponds to Smith's 279f. I am grateful to Aaron Johnson for guidance in Porphyrian matters. These portions of the Contra Julianum do not appear in the Syriac fragments edited by E. Nestle in C.I. Neumann, Juliani Imperatoris Librorum Contra Christianos Quae Supersunt (Leipzig, 1880), pp. 45-63.

Perhaps similarly, part of Severos Sebokht's citation of Plato's *Timaeus* had already been cited by Eusebios in his *Praeparatio Evangelica*.⁹⁰⁶ John of Litarb writes to George of the Arabs, perplexed at allusions in Jacob's letters; John, for example, did not understand what exactly Jacob meant when he rhetorically asked why somebody would bring an owl to Athens.⁹⁰⁷ Jacob had also referred to a story of a monkey, dressed and acting like a human: What was he speaking about? George explains Jacob's allusion by referring John back to the letter of Gregory of Nyssa to Harmonios. Gregory himself had not seen the monkey dressed and dancing like a human, but rather, it was a story related by the pagans.⁹⁰⁸ The story in fact goes back to Lucian's work, *The Fisher*,⁹⁰⁹ but Lucian has faded away and is now only a nameless pagan source. Gregory of Nyssa had known Lucian's work first hand; by the time we arrive at John of Litarb, he learns of Lucian's story from Jacob and George, who knew it through the medium of Gregory. John is now two or even three layers removed from the pagan Greek original. In the same way, when he explained the meaning of the expression to bring an owl to Athens, George would refer to Severos' using it in his work against John the Grammarian.⁹¹⁰

A knowledge of classical culture has now become useful as a tool for decoding and understanding the works of the towering theological authorities of the fourth, fifth and sixth centuries. This trend towards the instrumentalization of classical culture in the service of Christianity is exemplified in sixth-century composition in Greek of the

⁹⁰⁶ Praeparatio Evangelica 10.4; see See F. Nau, 'La cosmographie au VIIe siècle chez les Syriens,' Revue de l'orient chrétien 5 (15) 1910, p. 250, n. 2.

⁹⁰⁷ See BL Add. 12,154, fol. 275b (section 11.5.1 in my edition). This was the equivalent of the English expression 'to bring coals to Newcastle.'

⁹⁰⁸ See BL Add., 12,154, fols. 275a-275b (sections 11.3.1-11.3.3 in my edition). For Gregory of Nyssa's version of the story, see W. Jaeger, J.P. Cavarnos, and V. Woods Callahan, edd., *Gregorii Nysseni Opera Ascetica* vol. VIII.1 in W. Jaeger, ed., *Gregorii Nysseni Opera* (Leiden, 1952), pp. 131-132. ET available in V. Woods Callahan, *Saint Gregory of Nyssa: Ascetical Works* (Washington, DC, 1967).

⁹⁰⁹ See M.D. Macleod, *Luciani Opera*, vol. 2 (Oxford, 1974), p. 73.

⁹¹⁰ See BL Add. 12,154, fol. 276b, (section 11.5.3 in my edition).

mythological scholia of Pseudo-Nonnos whose aim was to explain classical allusions in the homilies of Gregory Nazianzen; they would have no less than two Syriac versions.⁹¹¹ What we have here is a fusion of Christian and pagan learning, the creation of a new set of Christian textual authorities who stand on a par, and indeed, above, an older, pagan set. The latter are useful because they help one understand the former. We are on a road that will lead to the eleventh-century Christian Yaḥyā b. Jarīr writing a marginal note in Syriac and Arabic citing Gregory Nazianzen on a manuscript of a work al-Fārābī; Ibn al-Nadīm would include Gregory of Nyssa and John Philoponos' refutation of Nestorios among the philosophers in the *Fihrist*; Yaḥyā b. 'Adī the great (Miaphysite) Christian logician of tenth-century Baghdad would cite Chrysostom, Basil, Gregory Nazianzen and Pseudo-Dionysios among his authorities.⁹¹² 'I am not a Patriarch or a leader, but am rather a lowly philosopher-monk,' Cosmas, the teacher of John Damascene told people who asked him what he was.⁹¹³ Philosophers were now Christian monks. The municipalities of Athens and Jerusalem had merged.

Towards a de-sectarianized history of the Middle East

Perhaps because the sources we have for Late Antique and early Medieval Near Eastern history are written by elites and come to us neatly classified by their sectarian affiliation—Miaphysite/Jacobite/Monophysite/West Syrian, Nestorian/East

⁹¹¹ In general, see S.P. Brock's, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia* (Cambridge, 1971).

⁹¹² I take all these examples from J.W. Watt, 'Les pères grecs dans le curriculum théologique et philologique des écoles syriaques,' in A. Schmidt and D. Gonnet, eds., *Les pères grecs dans la tradition syriaque (Études Syriaques* 4) (Paris, 2007), p. 38. For Yaḥyā b. Jarīr and al-Fārābī, see R. Walzer, *Al-Farabi on the Perfect State: Abū Naṣr al-Fārābī's Mabādi' Ārā' Ahl al-Madīna al-Fāḍila* (Oxford, 1985), p. 24. Walzer writes that the note refers to 'Gregory of Nyssa or some other Gregory.' Given Gregory Nazianzen's prominence and importance, it is much more likely that the Gregory referred to was Gregory Nazianzen; this, too, is how Watt understood it.

⁹¹³ Lastu baṭriyarkan wa-lā raʾīsan bal rāhibun ḥaqīrun faylasūf. See C. Bacha, ed., Sīrat al-qiddīs Yuḥannā al-Dimashqī (Harissa, 1912), p. 13.

Syrian/Church of the East, Chalcedonian/Melkite, Muslim, Jewish, etc.—the history we write often tends to reflect these divisions and leaves us with the impression that members of these communities existed in isolation from one another, or indeed, that individuals actually saw themselves as exclusively members of only one of these communities. The evidence for confessional confusion and fluidity I attempted to present in the previous chapters suggests that any history which treats the various Christian confessional movements in the Middle East in the Late Antique and early medieval period as clearly demarcated and distinct has engaged in a misleading reification based on normative texts.

Having written this, one might object that I have done precisely this. I have written well over 300 pages about the Middle East in the Late Antique and early medieval period and focused primarily on Christians who were there at that time. I am trying to tell a story of continuity but have done so by ignoring perhaps the most momentous event in the region's past 1500 years: the Arab conquests. What difference does Islam make? What does a truly de-sectarianized history of the Middle East look like?

It is to such questions that I will turn in the final section of this dissertation.

377

Part III: What Difference did Islam Make?

Chapter 9: On Christians and Muslims, I: A House with Many Mansions

'Yet as long as the Muslim population remained a minority or constituted only a bare majority of the entire population of a region, the society of that region as a whole was not an Islamic society, nor the culture of that region an Islamic culture.' Richard Bulliet⁹¹⁴

Before we can try to answer the question, 'What difference did Islam make?' we need to first ask the questions 'What was Islam?' and 'What was Christianity?' In this chapter, my aim is to suggest some ideas for how we can think about answers to both these questions that will help provide fruitful and productive ways of looking at the question of ideological change in the early medieval Middle East. More specifically, I will devote myself in the present chapter to attempting to get a sense for the breadth of spectrum of possible Christian beliefs in the region in this period.

A weakness of discussions of early Christian-Muslim interactions is that they tend to leave uninterrogated the two most important words in the phrase: 'Christian' and 'Muslim.' For both of these categories, what it meant to be a Christian and what it meant to be a Muslim are supplied by the beliefs of confessional entrepreneurs⁹¹⁵ and theological elites whose normative texts are taken to represent the content of what being a Christian or being a Muslim was in the seventh or eighth centuries. In the case of Islam, the normative texts which supply our understanding of Islam in this period often come from the ninth or later centuries. But in the early period, we should never

⁹¹⁴ See R. Bulliet, Conversion to Islam in the Medieval Period: An Essay in Quantitative History (Cambridge, Mass., 1979), p. 2.

⁹¹⁵ By 'confessional' (or spiritual) entrepreneur, I mean an individual whose aim or intent it is to help create a well-formed and well-bounded Christian community with a distinct identity in a place where such a distinct community had not existed—much like an economic entrepreneur seeks to start a business. I am grateful to Michael Woldemariam for having introduced me to the concept of the 'ethnic entrepreneur' who helps create new ethnicities and which stimulated my thinking on this topic.

forget that we are dealing with what Robert Hoyland refers to as 'pre-Sunnī Islam.'⁹¹⁶ In previous chapters of this dissertation, I have tried to show that there was a broad spectrum of beliefs and practices which persons who identified themselves as Christians held and engaged in, though only a slice of these beliefs and practices met with the approval of someone like Jacob of Edessa. We have, for the most part, no surviving texts from the people who engaged in these practices, in part because they were seen as aberrant, and know about them primarily through their reports and condemnations in sources like the large number of canons Jacob has left for us.

This limitation of our source material and the consequently constricted nature of our understanding are important to remember when we approach the question of early Christian-Muslim encounters. It is in fact strictly inaccurate to say that Islam encountered Christianity in the seventh century in Mesopotamia. What actually happened was that a group of people, part of whose identity included being Muslims, encountered a significantly larger group of people, part of whose identity included being Christians. But these people were other things as well—they were soldiers, farmers, merchants, carpenters, blacksmiths, tailors, shepherds, herdsmen, weavers, craftsmen and more. They were parents, husbands, wives, sisters, brothers, sons, daughters. They belonged to clans. They were from specific towns, cities and regions. They spoke Greek, or one of a variety of dialects of Aramaic, or Arabic, or Persian or two or more of these. They were sedentary, semi-nomadic and nomadic. Each

⁹¹⁶ Robert Hoyland is currently working on a book on pre-Sunnī Islam and I am grateful to him for conversations on this topic which have influenced my thinking both in this paragraph and in this chapter and the next more broadly. In particular the questions Robert asked me once at a dinner and the points he made to me on this topic stimulated me to think about this issue in a better and more clear way and were part of what prompted me to address some of the issues of this chapter and the next; he is of course not responsible for any of my many obfuscations, confused arguments and errors.

individual's identity was comprised of more than one axis, only one of which was religion, and for many people the religious axis did not seem to have been understood in primarily propositional terms—the sort of understanding of religion which is presupposed in Christian-Muslim dispute texts as being the most important—and moreover, the religious component of a person's identity was not necessarily the most important one and the one most predictive of patterns of behavior. What's more, for each of those individuals, 'Islam' and 'Christianity' had unique and non-identical meanings. Then, as now, neither Islam nor Christianity existed in a mind-independent reality, as a sort of Platonic form in the ether or some kind of Weberian ideal type; the only existence Christianity and Islam had was as a concrete, lived particular in the life of distinct individual believers and communities of adherents. We cannot, alas, recover all the various meanings which Islam and Christianity took in each of these unique instantiations.

Christian Diversity

We can suppose, however, that, at least so far as concerns Christianity, some of the meanings of Christianity included the sophisticated belief systems of theological elites like Athanasios of Balad, Jacob of Edessa, George of the Arabs and Ishoʻyahb III who have left us extensive writings. But 'Christianity' also included the beliefs of the Christians we have seen Jacob criticizing for a variety of (to us) strange behaviors. It might have included many other things as well: the Miaphysite priest who used the Bible as a means of persuading women in his congregation to sleep with him;⁹¹⁷ the

Lakhmid King Nu'mān b. al-Mundhir (reg. 580-602), who is said to have made the pilgrimage to Mecca while he was a Christian—and before Muḥammad's prophetic career had even begun;⁹¹⁸ the Christian poet 'Adī b. Zayd (d. AD 587), who would swear by the 'Lord of Mecca and by the Cross' in one of his poems.⁹¹⁹ And so on. There was a range of Christian beliefs and a gamut of understandings of what was encouraged, what was acceptable and what was forbidden by church leaders for Christians to do and to believe. When Arab conquerors rode into the Middle East in the 630s and 640s, the Christianity they would have encountered (and already knew from Arabia) would have included that of all these people, and more.

Just as there was a spectrum of practices and actions engaged in by Christians, only some of which ecclesiastical authorities regarded with approval, there was also a broad spectrum of doctrinal beliefs held by Christians. And this spectrum, it should be pointed out, extended beyond the traditional doctrinal typologies carefully laid out in modern patristic manuals and theological textbooks: there were of course Julianists, Miaphysites/ Monophysites/Jacobites, Chalcedonian Monotheletes, Chalcedonian Dyotheletes, and Nestorians/East Syrians: members of all these confessions invariably used the label 'Orthodox' to refer to themselves and 'heretic' to refer to others whom

Concerning a priest who persuades a woman with the word of God and she consents that he lay with her. Jacob This one should not only be stripped of the priesthood, but should also be held back from communion. Not only because he is an adulterer, but also because he has made use of the Word of God for a repugnant act.'

⁹¹⁸ For al-Nu'mān b. Mundhir's pilgrimage, see Ibn al-Faqīh, *Mukhtaṣar kitāb al-buldān* (Leiden, 1302), p. 19. Lammens also pointed out that one of the pilgrimage stops near Mecca was known as the *mawqif al-naṣārā*, or 'station of the Christians.' For this point about al-Nu'mān b. Mundhir and also the information about *mawqif al-naṣārā*, see H. Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 267 and see *ibid.*, p. 267, n. 8.

⁹¹⁹ For this, see H. Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Moʻawiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 268. For the poem, see L. Cheikho, *Shuʻarā' al-naṣrāniyya qabla al-Islām* (Beirut, 1999), p. 451. For the Christian poet al-Akhṭal swearing by the pagan deity Allāt, see Lammens, p. 302, n. 3.

they disagreed with. One corollary, however, of the chaotic situation 'on the ground' which I attempted to sketch out in Chapters 5 and 6 is that although such wellarticulated doctrinal positions perhaps existed most strongly among theological elites, beyond highly literate and sophisticated churchmen in monastic centers—among what Jacob referred to as 'simple people' or 'simple Christians'— these labels may not have meant a great deal. Jacob, we saw in Chapter 3, was a spiritual elitist who believed that certain kinds of theological knowledge should be withheld from people who could not handle it, even to the extent that he encouraged dissimulation in the face of direct questions about matters which he deemed the questioner insufficient to deal with. Labels attaching to particular Christological stances are perhaps most helpful in helping to categorize the doctrinal positions of elite community leaders; beyond that, they are not good for much. I have devoted space to detailing some of the broad variety of practices engaged in by Christians in the seventh century. Now, I shall speak a bit about the gamut of Christian belief in this early medieval period.

Christian Believing

In Chapter 4, I pointed out that a problem confronting church leadership in the seventh century was one of manpower: there were not, apparently, enough priests to go around, at least in some rural areas. Jacob's canons suggest that on account of a shortage of clergy, Miaphysite priests might escort the funeral processions of deceased Chalcedonians. This also meant that one priest might be called upon to celebrate multiple Eucharists in one day, in a number of different villages. The *Life* of Theodota reports the holy man coming across a boy in a village who was so sick his grave had already been dug. The villagers begged Theodota to stay and wait for the boy's death

383

since they had no priest to escort the boy's funeral procession.⁹²⁰ The potential impact of such a shortage (if it actually existed and was not merely an excuse for compromises or changed policy)⁹²¹ on the meanings Christianity might take for 'simple people' should not be underestimated.

We unfortunately have no seventh-century Menocchio whom we can point to in order to retrieve some of what people in places poorly served by clergy (or served by inadequately-trained clergy) actually understood their religious identity to mean. We do, however, have the *Life* of Simeon the Mountaineer (d. ca. 541), written by John of Ephesus, to suggest some of the effects that such a shortage might have had.

Simeon, we are told, would spend eight months of the year in the mountains and during the four months of winter would go to his monastery in order to escape the snow and cold. During one of his sojourns in the mountains, near the region of Claudia (an area located in contemporary southeastern Turkey and one that Theodota of Amid would later spend time in in the seventh century), Simeon was surprised to discover people and habitations in such a seemingly remote place. Speaking to some shepherds he encountered, he began to ask them about their religious background. 'How then,' Simeon inquired, 'as you live on these mountains, are you able to assemble in God's house, and to hear his word from the holy Scriptures, or to communicate in the mysteries of his body and blood?' The shepherds' response would prove shocking to Simeon: 'How, blessed sir,' they asked him, 'does the Eucharist that a man receives profit him? For what is the Eucharist?' Moved to tears and convulsions by such an answer, Simeon questioned the shepherds to find out their own self-identification: 'Tell

⁹²⁰ For these points, see n. 561, n. 562 and n. 563, above.

⁹²¹ I am grateful to Peter Brown for this caveat.

me, my sons, are you Christians or Jews?' The subsequent exchange opens a small

window into what Christianity may have meant to segments of the population who

were poorly catechized and underserved by clergy:

But they were indignant at these words and they say: 'O indeed, blessed man, we are Christians, do not call us Jews.' The blessed man says to them: 'And if you are Christians, how is it that you have mocked God and said of his living and holy body and blood in which our life and our souls' salvation consists, 'What does it profit us?' or 'For what is it?'? How is it that you were not frightened to perform with your tongues the acts of pagans and Jews, when you are as you say Christians?' They, when they saw the awe with which he expressed himself, became afraid themselves also, and they say: 'Forgive us sir, for we have no knowledge.' He says to them: 'And have you not heard the Scriptures, my sons?' They say to him: 'From our fathers we have heard; but the Scriptures themselves we have not seen.'⁹²²

These shepherds speaking to Simeon, John of Ephesus informs us, were about thirty

years old. Simeon was curious to find out whether their nearly complete ignorance of

Christianity was something exceptional, or whether it was indicative of the state of

knowledge among Christians in the area:

He says to them again: 'Are you, my sons, only in this state, or are all who are living on these mountains the same?' They say to him: 'Sir, it is not only we who are so, but there are men on these mountains which you see who, unless they have heard from their fathers, who carried them to church and had them baptized, do not know what a church is. And this same thing happens now also to those who have children born to them; on their account they go into a church and have them baptized; otherwise none of us has entered a church since he was born; but we live on these mountains like animals.'

At this point, Simeon corrects the men: the animals are actually better off than they

are. They live in the state God created them and are obedient to Him. But the

⁹²² Translation E.W. Brooks (with my slight alterations) in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (*Patrologia Orientalis* 17) (Paris, 1923), pp. 233-234.

shepherds are ignorant of the Eucharist and God's salvation: 'what hope do you have toward God? For lo! You are unaware even of what Christianity is.'⁹²³

From here, Simeon left the shepherds behind and went off, trying to make sense of what he had just seen and heard. He realized that perhaps it was God's will that he meet these people, so that he could stay and teach them. Simeon's description of their state offers us the perspective of a theological elite on such a group of uninstructed Christians. 'Henceforth I will not withdraw from this place,' he resolves

unless these have been gained for God; since they are bound in error, and are as if they were not Christians. What pagan is there, or what other worshippers of creation, who for so long a period of time would neglect to pay honour to the object of his worship, and would not always worship that which is reckoned by him as God? These men neither worship God like Christians, nor honour something else like pagans; and they are apostates against the one and against the other.⁹²⁴

Simeon next came to a village in the same area and was excited to find a church there: 'Lo! here there is a sign of the presence of Christians.' Upon closer inspection, however, Simeon's delight quickly melted away: the church had fallen into disuse and was 'full of wood and stones and dust.' An old man approached Simeon to receive a blessing and Simeon took the opportunity to assess the spiritual condition of the village: 'Is there a priest here?' He asked. As with the shepherds, another quite revealing conversation ensues:

[The old man] said to him: 'There has not been a priest here during these times.' And [Simeon] asked him again: 'And not even a brother [sc. a monk] or anyone whatever?' He said to him, 'There is none here.' Again he went on to ask him also, 'Where do you take the Eucharist?' He says to him, 'If one of us has business and has happened to be present in one of these villages, he takes; if not, no one here has this concern for the Eucharist.' He says to him: 'On what

⁹²³ Translation E.W. Brooks, in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (Patrologia Orientalis 17) (Paris, 1923), p. 235.

⁹²⁴ Translation E.W. Brooks, in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (Patrologia Orientalis 17) (Paris, 1923), p. 236.

account have you no priests?' He says to him, 'It is not our custom.' He says to him: 'And how are you Christians, when you do not follow the custom of Christians?'⁹²⁵

The next day, Simeon convened a meeting in which every man, woman and child in the village was present and berated the people there for not being concerned for their own salvation. Like the shepherds, these people were in a worse state than the animals:

For what reason then do you make yourselves like the animals on the mountains? And wherefore are you like them delivered indiscriminately to death, in that you hold aloof from hearing God's word, and are moreover deprived of the communion of the venerated body and blood of God, and this is not reckoned by you as anything?

Shocked, the villagers were left speechless by Simeon's tongue lashing. 'Do you not speak?' he asked them. They again offered a revealing insight into the nature of Christian belief—at least at the propositional level—among people who lacked proper teaching and instruction. 'What, sir, can we say to you?', they responded, 'There is no one to say anything to us or teach us; and this which you say has never reached our ears since we do not know the Scriptures.' Simeon began to question them about the basics of the faith: 'Know you not that our Lord Jesus Christ came down from heaven, and clothed himself in our body from a Virgin for our salvation, and consorted with men as a man? Are you aware of these things, or not?' Knowledge of the Christian story seemed to have been a function of age in this particular town; there was no priest now, but perhaps a long time ago there had been. 'The old men among them,' John of Ephesus reports, 'say to him, "Yes, sir, we hear these things."⁹²⁶ Simeon went on, becoming quite exercised, and asked them rhetorically if they had heard of further

⁹²⁵ Translation E.W. Brooks (I have made some slight alterations), in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (*Patrologia Orientalis* 17) (Paris, 1923), pp. 236-237.

⁹²⁶ Translation E.W. Brooks, in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (*Patrologia Orientalis* 17) (Paris, 1923), pp. 238, 239.

details of the Christian message. 'How then, when you have heard all these things and know them, as you say, do you treat with contempt and pay no regard to your souls' life, and remain deprived of the word of life in the holy Scriptures, and hold aloof from the communion of Christ's body and blood, and do not consider that any loss falls upon you from this, whereas you suffer not loss of some small thing, but utter destruction of your souls?'⁹²⁷ As penance, Simeon ordered the people of the village to fast and pray for a week.

This was not the end of the problems Simeon found there, however. As I noted, when Simeon had asked a question about basic Christian belief, it was the old people in the town who had had familiarity with it. He also wanted to know why the youth had failed to receive proper Christian instruction. 'For what reason,' he asked the villagers, 'have your sons not been made sons of the covenant (sc. monks), and been instructed and placed in this church and been making you hear God's word?' The answer Simeon receives suggests that the demands of rural life often conflicted with proper Christian instruction: 'They say to him, 'Sir, they have not had time to leave the goats and learn anything.' Simeon was dealing with the same sort of 'simple people' which Jacob of Edessa and Marūtha had dealt with: 'The blessed man, marveling at the people's simpleness and carelessness, made the Eucharist, and communicated them.'⁹²⁸ Simeon next embarked on a project of re-evangelization of the people living in this mountainous region, bringing people to the small village church 'and converting them

⁹²⁷ Translation E.W. Brooks, in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (Patrologia Orientalis 17) (Paris, 1923), p. 240.

⁹²⁸ Translation E.W. Brooks (with slight alteration), in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern* Saints (I) (Patrologia Orientalis 17) (Paris, 1923), p. 241.

afresh, as if from paganism.⁹²⁹ He would go on to tonsure a number of youths for monastic life and would spend a total of 26 years teaching and carrying out his work of Christianizing the Christians of this mountainous region.⁹³⁰

The mountain people whom Simeon devoted his life to teaching represent an extreme end of the spectrum of possible Christian belief. John of Ephesus presents their Christianity as one almost purely in name: apart from perhaps an infant baptism and a staunchly held belief that they were Christians—and not Jews—for many of them, 'Christianity' seemed very nearly contentless. John's portrayal, however, was likely inaccurate: even if these people lacked knowledge and experience of the rituals and texts which were most centrally tied to the normative, elite Christianity practiced and propagated by the likes of Simeon (and John himself), the people no doubt engaged in practices and held beliefs—the sorts of things which Jacob condemned and called 'pagan' in his canons—which drew upon Christian symbolic resources. It should be recalled, for instance, that when Simeon came to the forlorn and unused church in the mountain village, an old man had approached him to receive a blessing when he entered the church.⁹³¹ In other words, a Christian holy man or monk was seen, at least by some of the older generation in that particular village, to possess special powers of some kind. If nothing else, Christian paraphernalia and appurtenances in this context remained highly charged, something which would not have been the case in a purely 'pagan' environment which had no previous exposure to Christianity at all. For the

⁹²⁹ Translation E.W. Brooks, in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I) (Patrologia Orientalis 17) (Paris, 1923), p. 242.

⁹³⁰ For his 26 years of ministry, see Brooks, *Lives of the Eastern Saints* (I), p. 246.

⁹³¹ Brooks, Lives of the Eastern Saints (I), p. 237.

most part, however, we unfortunately do not know what rituals and beliefs, shadows of Christianity, as it were, might have existed in such a thinly Christianized context.

If these mountain people represent one extreme on the spectrum of possible Christian belief, it is worth pointing out that figures like Simeon the Mountaineer, John of Ephesus, Athanasios Gamolo, Athanasios of Balad, Jacob of Edessa, and George of the Arabs represent the opposite extreme, perhaps equally unrepresentative of what Christianity may have meant to the mass of people who were Christians in the seventh and eighth centuries when Arab invaders and settlers first encountered the native Christian populations of the Middle East. Between these two opposite ends of the spectrum—sophisticated erudition and nearly complete innocence of the influence of normative sources and church authorities—there was a broad middle ground. And in this middle ground, education and elite status was no guarantor of proper orthodox belief.

Simeon had asked the shepherds he met whether they were Jews or Christians. Though they apparently knew almost nothing about Christianity, they were adamant that they were Christians. At perhaps roughly the same time, the East Syrian Mar Aba (d. 552) would have a similar experience, but would get a different answer. At this point in his life, Aba had not yet become a Christian. Crossing the Tigris on a small boat with others, he threw a student off of the boat, not once, but twice, each time making him disembark and get back on the shore. Each time, fierce waters forced the boat to return to the shore before it was able to cross. After Aba and the others on the boat were forced to disembark a second time because of the river's agitation, he cast his glance at the student who was sitting on the bank:

390

And as the Blessed One looked at his habit, which was chaste and different, he grew confused in his mind—perhaps he is not a monk of Christ, but rather maybe a Marcionite or a Jew. He asked him and said to him: "Are you a Jew?" He said to him, "Yes." He says to him again: "Are you a Christian?" He says to him, "Yes." He says to him again: "Do you fear the Messiah?" He says to him, "Yes." And he was worked up by these things with which that student had answered him. He says to him, "How are you a Jew and a Christian and a follower of the Messiah?" (For he calls a Marcionite a 'Christian,' in accordance with the custom there). The student says to him, "Secretly, I am a Jew, [cf. Romans 2:29] and I worship the living God and I believe in His Son, Jesus Christ, and in the Holy Spirit. I flee from serving idols and from all impurity. I am a Christian in truth and not as the Marcionites [are], erring and calling themselves 'Christians"—(For 'Christian' is a Greek word and the translation of 'Christian' in Syriac is '*mshīhāyā*')—'and as for what you asked me, "Do you fear the Messiah?', I truly do! And I turn away from every type of evil thing for the sake of true life!"932

When Aba finally allowed the student into the boat, the rough waters subsided and they were able to cross the Tigris without difficulty. The experience of meeting the student was a factor in Aba's eventual conversion to Christianity.

Unlike Simeon the Mountaineer's shepherds, Aba's student—presumably much better informed about the Christian faith than these simple mountain people considered himself both a Christian and a Jew. The mere fact of education did not translate into a recognizably orthodox pattern of Christian belief. Apart from the wellknown Christological positions that were clearly staked out by the seventh century,

there were still a number of other 'heretical' theological positions floating around. We saw in Chapter 2 that John the Stylite of Litarb had written to Jacob of Edessa about *memre* purporting to have been written by Jacob of Sarugh which contained strange doctrinal ideas, many of which seemed to relate to angels and to the idea of the image of God: Angels were created on the first day, along with the heaven and earth; angels were not created in the image of God; Adam was superior to both Michael and Gabriel; a sack with two holes in it, one for putting in and one for taking out, was a representation of what the image of God was; Satan fell on the sixth day, his sin being envy of Adam's glory. Jacob would list other doctrines of this Ps.-Jacob of Sarugh, these stemming from an overly literal, 'Jewish' reading of the Scriptures: he apparently believed that God's words reported in the first chapter of Genesis were spoken with an audible voice; he had a mistaken understanding of the meaning 'Behemoth' and 'Leviathan' in the book of Job; he thought that words like 'form' and 'likeness' and 'body' when referring to created beings could only refer to literal physical bodies.⁹³³

⁹³³ For the first set of aberrant doctrines listed, see above, n. 488. For Ps.-Jacob's literal reading of scripture, see: R. Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' Zeitschrift der האלואי וכנחים אשמיה. אב הי ונשבי ובטא אשמקבא. עוא בק הלב ובאבה ואבי אלמא במים הביימאי. בלר גיאואא שהבאמי להול ביאן. מנה בגלא באבראא באמווענאא השלו בי ביא םא השאהכעעאא: לא היב א הים גובל הנאל שהבלחם אי איא לה גם השבינהואא בהלהחי. איאי מפינטאה הבילילאה בג לה יות בנה הידי. הב כילל מהבינה אדים חלי הבאואיאם בבאבה והההב. בעל הי, ובלמין בצמהא בבואי בחמרא אילי איא טלטאי יוב ובנא איאנחס. אלי וין הי מלא יו א ווב ובנא איאנחס. אילי וין בו האניאו ולבעלא וההשא נום: ההבר לחק לבלחה חלה חלה ובאיבה: גהשמאיא ההואיאי המבאנאיאו: בו של בלמין בלמין ביאא געוביא האמביא הוביא המבו: המלא געיבא ונסים المعند المعند 'Now this man also has other idiocies and many ridiculous things in these *memre*, in many words and sentences in which there is neither truth nor profit. Among them are: his belief that one of those things which it is written that God said at the genesis of creation was heard as a voice, so that their meaning could come to us [i.e., so that we could know about it], which without visible writing and apart from audible speech, we would be unable to receive and learn their import. He has the idea in his words that spiritual beings needed or need this perceptible light. He also blathers empty and vain words, not

Here we have a case not of illiteracy and complete lack of education leading to theological error, but rather literacy in the absence of proper theological oversight on the part of Ps. Jacob's leaders. In many ways, being able to read the Bible and the Fathers was more dangerous than not being able to read them. Taken too literally, or not interpreted properly in light of other Fathers and tradition, a whole host of erroneous ideas might result. In 714, George of the Arabs wrote a letter to a figure named Joshua the Recluse, responding to a number of questions Joshua had about Aphrahat, whom George referred to as the 'Persian Sage.' One of Joshua's questions revolved around a passage in Aphrahat's *Demonstrations* in which Aphrahat suggested that human beings were born with one soul or spirit and then at baptism received a second spirit. Upon death, the natural spirit died, but the new spirit, which had been received at baptism, went to the presence of Christ.⁹³⁴ As in the case of Ps.-Jacob of Sarugh's doctrinal aberrations, Aphrahat himself had veered into error. George advised John of Litarb that he should not wear himself out mentally trying to make sense of everything that Aphrahat wrote in his *Demonstrations*. 'For, although, as we said above,' George continued, '[Aphrahat] was a person with an acute nature who carefully crafted holy books, he was not among those teachers who were approved and who were said to have correct teachings.'

George had a positive view of Aphrahat, but he could not offer an unqualified endorsement of the fourth-century writer. The problems to be found in his writings

knowing what he is speaking about, concerning two matters that are brought forth in the Book of Job, concerning that which is called by Hebrew names—I mean the 'Behemoth' and the 'Leviathan'—and he does not know what they are. Arrogantly boasting, he says that he follows the word of Moses, but he accepts all these things which are written literally and in a Jewish, narrow way, supposing that for all created beings—'body,' 'form,' 'likeness,' etc.—belong to body [i.e., that all created things have bodies].' GT in *ibid.*, p. 275.

⁹³⁴ See BL Add. 12,154, fol. 250b, (section 7.4.2 in my edition).

were a result of a lack of proper ecclesiastical oversight and also perhaps of geography. Aphrahat was not among approved teachers with correct doctrine 'since there was no one in his day in that region who might take notice of him and adjust his thoughts and words to those of approved teachers. For this reason, there are many errors and clumsy passages in that book for one who is knowledgeable and who examines closely what he reads, as it is written.' As apparently had been the case with Ps.-Jacob of Sarugh, Aphrahat had strayed into the wilderness of doctrinal error through reading the Bible: Aphrahat's problem was that he had read the Bible too literally. This was the root of the errors and clumsy passages in the Demonstrations. 'Among such passages,' George wrote, 'are these things over which at present you have had uncertainty, O Brother. For when he heard Paul the Divine Apostle saying 'It is sown a natural body and rises a spiritual body,' and did not understand the sense and meaning of the passage, he came to write and say, 'when humans are dead, the natural spirit is concealed inside the body and sentience is taken away from it, but the heavenly spirit which they receive goes to its nature in the presence of Christ. Concerning the two of these, the Apostle makes known to us, for he said, "it is buried naturally as a body and it is raised spiritually as a body" (1 Cor. 15:44).⁹³⁵

Perhaps six or seven decades after George was writing his cautionary words about Aphrahat, the East Syrian Māran'ameh was sent by his Metropolitan Mar Aḥā into the region of Salakh on account of the strong presence of Magianism there. The people in that area, Thomas of Marga reports, were worshipping the sun, moon and stars; they even worshipped trees.⁹³⁶ In this region there were also members of the landed aristocracy known in Arabic as the *shahārija* who, according to Thomas, 'although they were nominally Christians, made confession that Christ was an ordinary man, and said that "He was one of the Prophets," and the Bishops who lived in the country labored among them, but they did not accept the true and orthodox doctrine.'⁹³⁷ Where bishops had labored and failed, Māran'ameh was more successful. After a miraculous display of light dawned upon them while worshipping in church, these heterodox *shahārija* were willing to confess the divinity of Christ.

Heretics in the Pews: On the Genealogy of Wrong Belief

There are, of course, other Christian sects that could be mentioned,⁹³⁸ but rather than go on enumerating various different groups or individuals whose beliefs were irksome enough to cause an ecclesiastical writer in the seventh or eighth or ninth century to reach for his pen, I want to take stock for a moment. We have seen that in

i'Your wisdom, o brother, should not understand or consider that Persian writer among approved writers or their expert compositions, with the result that on account of this you become vexed in your thoughts and weary in your mind [trying to] grasp and know the meaning of all the words that he speaks in that book of *Demonstrations....*'

⁹³⁶ E.A.W. Budge, trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Marga A.D.* 840, vol. 2 (London, 1893), p. 307.

⁹³⁸ See, e.g., S. Pines' 'Notes on Islam and on Arabic Christianity and Judaeo-Christianity,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 4 (1984), pp. 135-152, where he attempts to offer evidence for Christians showing 'Judaeo-Christian' proclivities in the Middle East on the eve of the Islamic period.

areas poorly served by priests (or served by poorly-trained priests), the level of knowledge of normative Christianity among the population could be quite low. At the same time, however, we have also seen that among the well educated and elite, a host of unorthodox doctrinal views might be held, everything from the Jewish-Christianity espoused by Mar Aba's student, to Aphrahat's belief in two souls and Ps-Jacob of Sarugh's belief that the image of God was a two-holed sack, to the low-octane Christology of the *shahārija*. The purpose of this sketch has of course not been to exhaust the possible Christian views available in the period which interests us—indeed, Mar Aba was a sixth-century figure, as was Simeon the Mountaineer. Nor has my aim here even to have been impressionistic. Instead, my goal has been rather simple: to show that a wide range of Christian views was both to be expected and did in fact exist, and that they did so within existing church structures and institutions. There is no need to posit hypothetical new groups and we need not strain to uncover previously unknown pockets where ancient heresies had survived in some sort of doctrinal Jurassic Park. Because of the nature of our sources, we only get a faint glimpse of the diversity which must have existed, but like a fuzzy and dim photograph of a rare and endangered animal, such a glimpse is precious indeed if we are seeking to understand what difference Islam made in the seventh and eighth centuries.

In discussing the religious views of these *shahārija*, Chase Robinson entertains and then rejects the notion that their reduced Christology was a function of Islamic influence; he similarly discards the idea that they have had some sort of connection to 'Judaeo-Christianity.' Robinson argues instead for explaining the Christology of this group of landed elites with reference to the ideas of Paul of Samosata, an (in)famous

396

third-century heretic who had argued that Jesus was merely a human.⁹³⁹ I would like to focus for a moment on this last point, for it will take us to one of the most important points to be made about the question of Christianity and Islam with which I have begun this chapter.

Robinson's concern with supplying these *shahārija* with a proper heretical pedigree and connecting them with an arch-heretic like Paul of Samosata would have made Epiphanios proud; William of Ockham, however, would not have been as pleased—Robinson has simply over-explained his evidence. The example of the 'heretical' views of Ps.-Jacob of Sarugh which Jacob identified and the erroneous views of Aphrahat picked out by George show often that all that is needed to generate heresy is to read the text of Scripture and take it literally—what Jacob calls 'in a Jewish way'; to be more precise, it requires understanding the *wrong* passages of scripture in a literal fashion, since every Biblically-based theology is built on some combination of literal and figurative readings of the sacred writ. One possible way of understanding doctrinal orthodoxy is to simply see it as knowing which passages in the Bible to read literally and which ones to read figuratively in light of the literal passages which provide a control and framework for everything else; heretics are those who adhere to the wrong pattern of literal-figurative reading. To be a heretic then, one does not need to come into contact with an unbroken line of heretically-inclined teachers stretching back to a heresiarch living at some point in the classical patristic age. From the Ebionites to Paul of Samosata to the whole host of views in the fourth century which have been lumped together under the unhelpful name of 'Arianism,' to even today's Jehovah's Witnesses,

⁹³⁹ See C.F. Robinson, *Empire and Elites after the Muslim Conquest* (Cambridge, 2000), pp. 98-101.

there have been plenty of people throughout Christian history who used the text of the Bible to justify a belief in a Jesus who was many things, but not divine, people who did not manage to arrive at the correct, 'orthodox,' combination of literal and figurative/allegorical in their reading of the Bible. Looking for the presence of a preexisting, more ancient heresy to explain the origin of each of these heresies (and assuming that all of them were even coherent systems of doctrine and belief and not merely polemical constructs) is simply too much. All that is needed to explain them is basic literacy and access to at least portions of the Bible. If my attempt at sketching out what education looked like among seventh-century Christians was in any way accurate, people with these two qualifications may not have been all that rare.

In providing a genealogy of the *shahārija*'s views, Robinson tacitly and unwittingly buys in to a problematic and unsatisfying view of orthodoxy and heresy, one which gives orthodoxy both temporal and cognitive primacy. Orthodoxy precedes heresy, which is a falling away from a more primal standard. Heretical views furthermore are derivative mutations which are parasitical on original, pristine teachings. Orthodoxy is not only first in time, it is the default position. But orthodoxy should be seen as neither first, nor as a doctrinal default.⁹⁴⁰

Orthodoxy is no more natural a doctrinal position than being able to play perfectly a piece by Chopin on the piano is the natural starting point for a beginning player—or even for a person who has been playing for years. Like a musical piece, proper orthodox belief requires constant practice, training, instruction and correction to achieve. If orthodoxy is a fine musical performance and figures like Jacob of Edessa

⁹⁴⁰ My thinking here has of course been influenced by W. Bauer, *Orthodoxy and Heresy in Earliest Christianity*, trans. Philadelphia Seminar on Christian Origins (Philadephia, 1971).

or Athanasios of Balad or Isho'yahb III virtuosi, then we should expect that heretical views would have been as common and as easy as poor, inexperienced, unpracticed piano playing. Rather than being an aberration, heresy would be the norm. Such an assertion, of course, cannot be proven—but neither can its obverse, that orthodox views among the mass of people were the rule rather than the exception. And a moment's reflection suggests that the notion that heretical views prevailed is a more plausible one—how many people, given a bow and arrow and told to shoot at a wall will hit the bull's eye, or even the target, without long, sustained training and practice? How many Christians today, even highly educated ones, could, if pressed, provide explanations of Trinitarian doctrine, or the Hypostatic Union, or even the nature of the Eucharist (according to whatever the official teaching of their church is), which do not veer into heresy after only a few sentences? If heresy lurks so close to the surface in church pews today, in post-industrial societies with high rates of literacy and where printing and the internet have made easily available a large range of highly sophisticated theological works to large swaths of people, how much more should we suppose that it was an ever-present fixture among Christians in the seventh and eighth centuries?

A more fruitful approach to understanding Christianity in the seventh and eighth centuries would be one which moved the focus away from doctrinal typologies and Christological hair splitting. There were, of course, groups of individuals who were intensely concerned with the subtleties of Christological doctrine. But if we assume such people were a minority, we can make better sense of the deep consternation and frustration at abuses and confessional chaos that comes through in the canons and

399

writings of Jacob of Edessa and others as well. What makes these *shahārija* Christians is the same thing which made all the people condemned in Jacob's canons for 'pagan' practices or for improper uses of the Eucharist Christians: a commitment to and belief in the power of certain shared symbols and rituals which were constitutive of the Christian community. These included the Eucharist, Baptism, anointing with the myron, the Cross, belief in the figure of Jesus as well as saints and holy men, the experience of the liturgy. These symbols and rituals served as focal points for the formation of a community; they did so in part because they provided a repertoire of tools for coping with the sorts of difficulties I spoke about in Chapter 6: worries about health and family, anxieties about crops and cattle, apprehension about forgiveness, death and eternal life. Their success as symbols around which a community might be able to coalesce was in a certain sense dependent on their ability to be the bearers of multiple and diverse meanings imputed to them by a large number of people: they were canvases upon which individuals could project their own particular understandings as they sought to deal with the material and spiritual challenges of existence.⁹⁴¹ For Jacob, the Eucharist may have been the Body and Blood of God and the elixir of life, but from his canons, we have seen that some Christians also viewed it as something which could be worn around the neck or in a phylactery in order to keep sickness at bay. These two understandings of the Eucharist are of course not mutually exclusive and the latter is no doubt in some sense derivative of the former. What we see, however, in the canons of Jacob or in the condemnations of theological and ecclesiastical elites are attempts at

⁹⁴¹ My thinking here has been influenced by A.P. Cohen, *The Symbolic Construction of Community* (London/New York, 1985).

regulating such projections when they violated the logic of the theological framework worked out by elites to hold the entire system of symbols and rituals together.

For each of these symbols or rituals, theological elites had developed a correct interpretation, or perhaps a small spectrum of acceptable interpretations; this was orthodoxy. But what the evidence I have attempted to present in this chapter and also throughout the second section of this dissertation makes clear is that many Christians, both lay and clergy, both 'simple' and elite, consistently engaged in behaviors that placed their interpretations of these symbols and rituals outside the range held to be acceptable by theological leaders. Some elites were aware of this and apparently nonplussed—recall that the Patriarch Julian, when confronted by Jacob of Edessa about rampant violations of church canons, told his bishop to go along with the times. Jacob, for his part, was not so sanguine about such violations. And of course, theological elites differed among themselves as to which interpretations were correct—hence the more familiar spectrum of different Christological positions, each with a different answer to the question of the number of natures or wills in the Incarnate Christ.

But these well-elaborated views were only the highly-sophisticated tip of a much larger iceberg. Jacob, George, and the rest of the Christian authors whose names have littered the pages of this dissertation were living in a world full of Christian heretics, not just in rival churches, but in their own churches as well. As Robinson points out, the *shahārija* do not seem to have had an independent set of ecclesiastical institutions, but rather functioned within the existing structures of the Church of the East; in terms of Christian praxis, they were indistinguishable from other East

401

Syrians.⁹⁴² Similarly, the extensive canonical abuses reflected in Jacob's canons were carried out by individuals and priests who belonged to Jacob's church and not to a rival one.

If we assume that what actually united Christians—lay and clergy, rich and poor, common and elite, rural and urban—in the seventh and eighth centuries was a common adherence to a shared set of symbols and rituals and not necessarily a shared set of doctrinal propositions about the precise theological plumbing related to those symbols and rituals, several interesting implications result. The first relates to the Qur'ān itself. Scholars have scoured heresiological treatises, apocryphal Gospels, and all manner of patristic writings looking for some group or text which corresponds to this or that strange-looking Christian doctrine mentioned in the Qur'ān. Exotic heretical groups like the Elkasites and the Collyridians, whose only actual existence *qua* community may or may not have been solely in the head of a figure like Epiphanios, are roused from their sleepy, musty existence on a brittle, yellowed page in a volume of Migne and pushed blinking out into the sunlight to sit next to Qur'ānic quotations in books on the origins of Islam or the sources of the Qur'ān and made to endure the scholarly 'might haves,' 'could haves,' 'possibly's' and 'perhaps's' which are the thing of paternity tests when there is no possibility of using DNA.⁹⁴³ Rather than looking for fourth- or fifthcentury groups which held low Christologies or exalted views of Mary–groups which may or may not have actually existed as actual, distinct communities of Christians—or

⁹⁴² See Robinson, *Empire and Elites*, p. 102.

⁹⁴³ See for example Neal Robinson's discussion of 'sectarian' Christian influences on the presentation of Jesus in the Quran, where he invokes Nestorianism, Monophysitism, Tritheism, Antideco-Marcianites, Ebionites, Elkasites, Manichaeism, Gnosticism Judaism in trying to makes sense of the Quranic evidence. *Christ in Islam and Christianity* (Albany, 1991), pp. 19-21. See, too, the comments of G.S. Reynolds, 'The Muslim Jesus: Dead or Alive?', *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 72 (2009), pp. 252-253.

seeking to find individual passages in Syriac texts written by theological elites in Northern Mesopotamia or Greek writers somewhere in the Mediterranean world which seem to bear resemblance to this or that idea put forth in the Qur'an, a more fruitful way of understanding the image of Christianity presented therein is to see it as a reflection and reaction to Christianity as it existed on the ground in the seventhcentury Hijāz. Such a Christianity need not have descended directly from past and perhaps fanciful heretical groups originating centuries before and hundreds of miles away, but instead was perhaps not all that dissimilar from the heretical Christianity which was ubiquitous all throughout the rest of the Middle East, differing from it only perhaps in degree as a result of its distance from theological elites like Jacob who were constantly engaged in boundary maintenance and orthodox theological instruction. So, for example, when the Qur'ān seems to suggest that Christians understood Mary to be part of the Trinity (5:116), it may be the case that it simply has misunderstood Christianity, or that it is channeling some sort of Nestorian intra-Christian polemic and making it its own. Alternatively, it may just be the case that the Qur'ān is reflecting an understanding of the Trinity among at least some Christian groups in western Arabia whose distance from important centers of theological activity and instruction had created an environment where such a non-standard view might take root and grow. Claude Gilliot has shown that all of the Christian and Jewish 'informants' of Muhammad which the Muslim tradition itself identifies were foreigners from humble backgrounds—slaves or freed slaves—who knew how to read, and sometimes were even said to be reading either the Torah or the Gospel or both.⁹⁴⁴ If any of these informants

⁹⁴⁴ See C. Gilliot, 'Les «informateurs» juifs et chrétiens de Muḥammad. Reprise d'un problem traité par Aloys Sprenger et Theodor Nöldeke,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 22 (1998), p. 119. Also

actually existed and were not invented for the purpose of exegeting the Qur'ān, we should not be surprised if, so far as the Christians among them were concerned, their Christianity was more similar to that of the people Jacob of Edessa criticized than it was to that of Jacob himself.

The situation in western Arabia was no doubt not dissimilar to that further north: widespread and rampant 'heresy' among most people when it came to the great Trinitarian and Christological doctrines as well as understandings of things like the Eucharist. As I have suggested, this was perhaps even the case among parts of the clergy and church elite, such as they were in the Ḥijāz. George of the Arabs had explained Aphrahat's erroneous views on the soul in part by stating that he had nobody in his region to correct his reading of the Scripture; there do not seem to have been any Christian theological enforcers operating in the sixth and seventh-century Ḥijāz who could have performed the same function for Christians there at that time.

The second implication of assuming that heresy rather than orthodoxy was the natural and majority doctrinal position of most Christians in the seventh and eighth centuries brings us at last back to the question of the earliest encounters between Christians and Muslims in the seventh and eighth centuries. The Christians that Arab conquerors encountered in this period included highly-trained, theologically-sophisticated and erudite figures like the denizens of Qenneshre. But such figures were a very, very small minority.

The overwhelming majority of the Christians whom the Arab conquerors came into contact with were likely more similar to the people condemned in Jacob's canons

see Gilliot's article, 'Informants,' in the *Encyclopedia of the Qur'ān*, which is essentially an English summary of this piece.

for their 'pagan' practices and abuses of the Eucharist than they were to someone like Jacob of Edessa. 'Indeed, there was no distinction,' the East Syrian John of Phenek would lament in perhaps the late 680s, 'between pagan and Christian; Believer was not distinct from Jew and truth was not distinguished from that which leads astray.⁹⁴⁵ The shepherds and goat herders whom Simeon the Mountaineer had encountered and who had been too busy with their work to be able to receive proper Christian instruction were surely not the only Christians whose work, geographic location, and level of education left them with understandings of normative Christianity which were much less than those of the clever and dialectically slippery Christian interlocutors who star in Christian-Muslim dialogue and dispute texts and whose subtle ability to thrust and parry with a Muslim of similar education and sophistication is taken to be representative of what Islam meeting Christianity looked like in the first several centuries of Arab rule—yet such 'simple Christians,' to use Jacob's phrase, formed the overwhelming majority of the Christian population. Formal, high-powered theological clashes between Muslims and Christians must have relatively rare when compared to a host of more simple encounters between ordinary adherents which took place daily.

One of the keys to understanding the process of Islamization and to answering the question, 'What difference did Islam make?', is to focus on this non-elite level of exchange. Numerically, the number of non-elite contacts between ordinary Christians and ordinary Muslims dwarfed the dealings between theological elites of both faiths. Moreover, it was the slow conversion of Christian farmers, blacksmiths, carpenters,

⁹⁴⁵ My translation. For the Syriac text, see A. Mingana, Sources Syriaques vol. 1, (Mosul, 1908), p. 151*: دامه حامه کم حماله کام که محمد کم در محمد کم در محمد کم در محمد کم در محمد کم دونه کم دونه کم دونه کم کم کم حالی کام کم در محمد کم دونه کم دونه کم دونه کم دونه ک

craftsmen, etc., person by person, family by family, over the course of decades and centuries that gradually turned Syria and the Middle East into a majority-Muslim society. The dramatic nature of this cumulative shift should not be underestimated, either: 'Most of the descendents,' Richard Bulliet has pointed out, 'of most of the men and women who, in the year 600 believed that Jesus of Nazareth was the son of God now profess a belief in Allah and in Muḥammad as his messenger.'⁹⁴⁶

The Christianity these people converted away from was not, I have attempted to suggest, the sort of theologically and doctrinally sophisticated faith that we encounter in texts written by theological elites. By the same token, the Islam they converted to was not the sophisticated Islam of ninth-century Baghdad. If Christian orthodoxy in the seventh century can be compared to a perfectly executed performance of a piece by Chopin (or Beethoven or Mozart, depending on the Christian group), then we can hardly say that Islamic orthodoxy even had a score in the seventh century. Indeed, it was in the seventh and eighth centuries that the score that was to become orthodoxy in Islam—both Sunnī and Shī'ī—was beginning to be written.

⁹⁴⁶ R.W. Bulliet, 'Process and Status in Conversion and Continuity,' in M. Gervers and R.J. Bikhazi eds., *Conversion and Continuity: Indigenous Christian Communities in Islamic Lands, Eighth to Eighteenth Centuries* (Toronto, 1990), p. 2.

Chapter 10: On Christians and Muslims, II: A Religion with a Thousand Faces

'In the first place, changes in things do not by any means always entail similar changes in their names.' Marc ${\rm Bloch}^{_{947}}$

In my last chapter, I sought to nuance and broaden the ways we think about the import of the word 'Christian' when we are speaking about Christian and Muslim interactions in an early medieval context. 'Christian' might have included people who held to a wide variety of religious beliefs and it could cover people engaged in a number of different religious practices. Just as nobody today would take the *Church Dogmatics* of Karl Barth as representative of the faith and practice of the typical Presbyterian in the twentieth century, or the *Theological Investigations* of Karl Rahner as indicative of what the average Catholic believed and how he or she lived in the world, we should neither take the normative views of Christian elites in the seventh century and assume that they pointed to how people were actually behaving and what they were believing. Nearly all Christians and Muslims were non-elites; *ipso facto* nearly all Christian-Muslim interactions must have taken place on the non-elite level.

In this chapter, my goal will be to look at the other half of the equation in the phrase 'Christian-Muslim interaction.' My goal will be to explore the variety of meanings that 'Islam' and 'Muslim' may have held in the early period of Islamic history.

'Islam' as a Placeholder: Who converted and when?

We need not wade into the troubled and murky waters surrounding the reliability of Arabic literary sources for the first century or so of Islamic history⁹⁴⁸ in

⁹⁴⁷ See M. Bloch, *The Historian's Craft*, trans. P. Putnam (New York, 1953), p. 159.

⁹⁴⁸ A very succinct summary of reasons for not fully trusting Islamic sources to reconstruct the religious history of this early period can be found in G. Hawting, *The Idea of Idolatry and the Emergence of Islam: From Polemic to History* (Cambridge, 1999), pp. 7-10. The skeptical perspective about the reliability of Islamic historical sources is stated perhaps most powerfully in P. Crone, *Meccan Trade and the Rise of Islam*

order to make the rather simple point that, just as was the case with Christianity, there was a spectrum of beliefs among Muslims in this period and that the meaning of Islam was just as person-relative, if not more, as the meaning of Christianity was. This of course stands to reason. The names of politico-religious elites and sectarian entrepreneurs can easily dominate our understanding of what Islam meant in its earliest stages, but we should not forget that an anonymous and silent majority formed the bulk of early adherents to Islam. And whatever the content of their belief in and understanding of Islam may have been, we should not be surprised if it was neither very profound nor resembled anything like that of the religious leaders of the community—a community that was, moreover, fractured and beset with dispute, civil wars and assassinations from a very early period. As Nehemia Levtzion has pointed out, 'The majority of the Arab tribesmen accepted Islam collectively, in what might be described as a passive adhesion to Islam.¹⁹⁴⁹

This is a point worth pondering for a moment: what must have been the overwhelming majority of Muslim Arabs converted to Islam in groups, with their tribes, and not individually in the dramatic and intensely personal way that the *sīra* literature recounts of those who converted before the emigration to Medina. Such individual conversions based on the beauty of the Qur'ān or the nobility of Muḥammad's behavior were the exception, not the rule, and should not be paradigmatic in our understanding of what conversion looked like or meant. In the period before the *hijra*, the number of

⁽Princeton, 1987), pp. 203-230. Also see *idem.*, *Slaves on Horses: The Evolution of the Islamic Polity* (Cambridge, 1980), pp. 3-17; *idem.*, 'Serjeant and Meccan Trade,' *Arabica* 39 (1992) pp. 216-240; and *idem.*, *Roman*, *Provincial and Islamic Law: The origins of the Islamic Patronate* (Cambridge, 1987), pp. 31-34.. F.E. Peters, 'The Quest of the Historical Muhammad,' *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 23 (1991), pp. 291-315, provides a good discussion of the various challenges confronting anyone seeking to reconstruct the life of Muḥammad.

⁹⁴⁹ N. Levtzion, 'Toward a Comparative Study of Islamization,' in *idem.*, ed., *Conversion to Islam* (New York, 1979), p. 20.

Muslims was miniscule when compared to the increase it would make in less than a decade. No more than 100 Muslims are supposed to have emigrated from Mecca to Medina in 622;⁹⁵⁰ when Muḥammad returned in January 630 to finally conquer Mecca, by contrast, he led an army of some 10,000 men.⁹⁵¹

After the move of the young community of believers to Medina in 622, Muḥammad engaged in a prolonged conflict with the pagan Qurashīs of Mecca which culminated in the Muslim capture of Mecca in AD 630. One result of the conquest of Mecca was what is known as the 'Year of the Deputations': AD 630/AH 9 witnessed a number of delegations sent to Muḥammad from Arab tribes who submitted to Islam. The entry of these tribes into Islam was not portrayed by Ibn Isḥāq as having been done for what might be considered moral or religious factors. Their decision to become Muslims was a political choice and represented an act of allegiance and declaration of loyalty to Muḥammad as opposed to the Quraysh of Mecca. And this was an announcement of fealty only made once Muḥammad's mastery over the Quraysh had been definitively settled. 'In deciding their attitude to Islam,' Ibn Isḥāq wrote, 'the Arabs were only waiting to see what happened to this clan of Quraysh and the apostle,'

For Quraysh were the leaders and guides of men, the people of the sacred temple, and the pure stock of Ishmael son of Abraham; and the leading Arabs did not contest this. It was Quraysh who had declared war on the apostle and opposed him; and when Mecca was occupied and Quraysh became subject to him and he subdued it to Islam, and the Arabs knew that they could not fight the apostle or display enmity towards him they entered into God's religion "in batches" as God said, coming to him from all directions.⁹⁵²

⁹⁵⁰ See W.M. Watt's article, '*Hidjra*' in EI², where Watt puts the number of emigrants—not counting Muḥammad, Abū Bakr, 'Alī and their wives—at about seventy.

⁹⁵¹ See A. Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad: A Translation of Ishāq's Sīrat Rasūl Allāh* (London, 1955), p. 545.

⁹⁵² Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad*, pp. 627-628.

The deputations came from a number of tribes and Arab groups: Banū Tamīm, Banū Sa'd b. Bakr, 'Abdu' 'l-Qays, Banū Ḥanīfa, Ṭayy', Banū Zubayd, Kinda, the Kings of Ḥimyar, among others.⁹⁵³

The group conversions of these tribes to Islam, it is important to remember, came only a few years before the beginnings of the Arab conquests further north. Before those conquests could begin in earnest, however, Muḥammad's death intervened in AD 632/AH 11, and the death of the Muslim community's Prophet set off a period of conflict which has come to be known as the *ḥurūb al-ridda*, or 'Wars of Apostasy.' Tribes, most of whom had ostensibly converted to Islam, rebelled against the authority of the state which Muḥammad had set up in Medina. The rebellion of some tribes seems to have been political and not to have entailed a rejection of Islam. But this was not the case across the board: some rebellions had a religious aspect as well. 'When (al-Jārūd) came to his people, he invited them to Islām,' al-Ṭabarī reports,

Whereupon they all responded to him. Then it was only a short time before the Prophet died and they apostatized; 'Abd al-Qays said, "If Muḥammad had been a prophet, he would not have died," and they apostatized.⁹⁵⁴

The 'Abd al-Qays eventually resubmitted to Islam, but their rapid conversion, apostasy and re-conversion indicates their understanding of the nature and meaning of Islam was probably much different from that of older converts in Medina and radically different from that of 'Abbasid religious savants.

At this time, a number of prophets appeared, apparently having drawn inspiration from the model of Muḥammad. In the Najd Ṭalḥa b. Khālid claimed to be the prophet of the Banī Asad; in al-Yamāma, Maslama b. Ḥabīb claimed to be the

135.

⁹⁵³ See Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad*, pp. 628-644.

⁹⁵⁴ See F. Donner, trans., *The Conquest of Arabia*, vol. 10, *The History of al-Ṭabarī* (Albany, 1993), p.

prophet of the Banī Ḥanīfa; also in the Najd, a woman named Sajāḥ had a following as a prophetess among the Banī Tamīm and Banī Taghlib; in Yemen, Abhala al-'Ansī was a prophet among the Banī 'Ans; in 'Umān, Dhū al-Tāj Laqīṭ b. Mālik claimed to be prophet among the Azd.⁹⁵⁵ The appearance of so many prophets in the Arabian peninsula at roughly the same time as Muḥammad raises the question of which particular characteristics of seventh-century Arabia made it such fecund terrain for the sprouting of prophetic claims. Their emergence and the seeming ease and speed with which tribes all over the Arabian peninsula moved away from Islam to following a different religion, despite their previous group conversion to Islam, suggests that the knowledge of Islam for these tribe members—as well as for the members of tribes elsewhere in the Arabian peninsula who, while continuing as Muslims, attempted a political rebellion against Medina—was perhaps not all that much better than the knowledge of Simeon the Mountaineer's shepherds' knowledge of Christianity.⁹⁵⁶

In other words, just as we should keep in mind the broad variety of meanings that Christianity must have had for the Christians of the seventh and eighth centuries when we think about Muslim-Christian contact in that period, we should also be aware of the fact that the overwhelming majority of Muslims in the seventh century were people who had converted to Islam, often in groups and not individually, after Muḥammad's emigration to Medina and his military successes there.

Once elected Caliph after Muḥammad's death, Abū Bakr relied heavily on a Meccan aristocracy which had until only recently been at war with the Muslim

⁹⁵⁵ For all this, see F. Donner, *The Early Islamic Conquests* (Princeton, 1981), pp. 86-86 and the article by M. Lecker, *'al-Ridda'*, in EI².

⁹⁵⁶ T.W. Arnold, *The Preaching of Islam: A History of the Propagation of the Muslim Faith*, 2nd ed, (repr. New Delhi, n.d.), p. 41, also used the *Ridda* Wars to suggest that the conversion of many Arabs in the seventh century to Islam was a superficial one.

community and which was comprised of recent converts; as Elias Shoufani put it, 'the newly-converted Meccan aristocracy were the back-bone of Abū Bakr's group of supporters.⁹⁵⁷ Khālid b. al-Walīd, who played an important role in suppressing the rebellions which broke out in Arabia after Muhammad's death and who was a significant player in the early Muslim conquests—he is supposed to have started the Muslim invasion of Iraq—had in fact been the leader of Meccan military forces against the Muslims and did not convert to Islam until 6 AH/AD 627 or 8 AH/AD 629.958 Similarly, 'Amr b. al-'Āṣ, the conqueror of Palestine and Egypt and founder of Fustāț converted to Islam in 8 AH/AD 629-630. 'Amr's career and shrewd navigation of the conflicts, battles and disputes which characterized the Rāshidūn period showed him to be quite politically savvy; believing that his conversion to Islam on the eve of Muhammad's conquest of Mecca was perhaps motivated by factors other than sincere religious conviction would not be an act of uncharitable and willful historical speculation.⁹⁵⁹ Ibn Abī Sarh, the scribe who is supposed to have apostatized from Islam when he saw that he could change the text of the Qur'ān without seeming to upset Muhammad was granted amnesty by Muhammad at the time of the conquest of Mecca and eventually was made governor of Egypt after 'Amr b. al-Āṣ.⁹⁶⁰ Abū Sufyān, one of the leaders of the Meccan opposition to Muhammad, only converted to Islam at the time of Muhammad's conquest of Medina. Within a few years, he would be named the

⁹⁵⁷ See E. Shoufani, *Al-Riddah and the Muslim Conquest of Arabia* (Toronto, 1973), p. 61.

 $^{^{958}}$ See Shoufani, *Al-Riddah*, p. 61 and P. Crone's article, 'Khālid b. al-Walīd b. al-mughīra al-makhzūmī,' in EI^2 .

 $^{^{959}}$ See Shoufani, *Al-Riddah*, p. 61 and A.J. Wensinck's article "Amr b. al-Āṣ (al-Āṣī) al-Shamī,' in EI^2 .

⁹⁶⁰ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7.2 (Leiden, 1918), pp. 190-191. For an ET, see Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), pp. 307-308.

Muslim governor of Najran and possibly also the Hijaz.⁹⁶¹ His sons Yazīd and Muʻāwiya also only converted to Islam at the conquest of Mecca; Yazīd would play an important role in the Muslim conquest of Palestine and would be appointed governor of Syria before his death in 18 AH/AD 639 and Muʻāwiya would go on to become the fifth Caliph and a seminal figure in Islamic history.⁹⁶² What we are dealing with here is a number of different Sauls of Tarsus, but rather than a dramatic and intensely personal spiritual experience explaining their conversion, we have the threat and fear which accompanied an imminent military conquest by a rival and enemy. A conversion on the road to Damascus differed from a conversion which occurred while Muḥammad was on the road to Mecca accompanied by a large army.

To be sure, genuine religious conviction may have played a role in at least some conversions, but other factors—e.g., political allegiance and sheer expediency—seem to have been prominent in the conversion of many to Islam. Once Muḥammad and the Muslim community of Medina had gained hegemony in the Arabian peninsula, the religious incentive structure there was altered. We should not assume that for many Arab followers of Islam in the seventh century, and perhaps for their descendants as well, Islam translated into a well-articulated (or even poorly articulated) set of beliefs.

Muslims becoming...Muslim

We should not be surprised, therefore, to find reports from the first century that Basrans did not know about the religious duty of fast alms, or that they had no idea about how to perform prayer and had to be shown, or that the people of Syria did not know that the number of obligatory prayers was five, or that the only person the tribe

⁹⁶¹ See W.M. Watt's article, 'Abū Sufyān b. Harb b. Umayya,' in EI^2 and Shoufani, Al-Riddah, p. 62.

⁹⁶² See Shoufani, Al-Riddah, p. 62 and C.E. Bosworth's article 'Yazīd b. Abī Sufyān b. Ḥarb b. Umayya' and M. Hind's article, 'Mu'āwiya I b. Abī Sufyān,' in El².

of 'Abd al-Ashhal could find to lead their prayers was a slave. Or, that people were reciting Arabic poetry from the pulpits of mosques, mistakenly thinking they were reciting verses from the Qur'ān. Or, that in the time of al-Hajjāj and 'Umar II (d. 101 AH/AD 720), people were said not to know when prayer times were.⁹⁶³ Salima al-Jarmī led the prayers for his tribe at the age of six because they could find nobody who knew more Qur'ān than he did.⁹⁶⁴ 'Umar II wrote to his governors alarmed at reports that women were going out upon the death of somebody and showing their hair and wailing, 'like the action of the people of the Jahiliyya' and ordered them to crack down hard on this practice.⁹⁶⁵

We have seen that Christians were engaging in a variety of prognosticatory, divinatory and magical practices which made Jacob none too happy. Unsurprisingly, early Muslims seem to have been doing similar things. Jabala b. al-Azraq reported that the Prophet himself was once stung by a scorpion while praying, 'and so the people used a charm on him (*raqāhu al-nās*). When he recovered, he said, "God healed me, not your spell.""⁹⁶⁶ Promises of special privileges in the afterlife for Muslims who did not engage in magical or divinatory practices might also be taken as suggestive of just these things being widespread among adherents of the new religion. 'My Lord promised me that he would cause seventy thousand people from my community to enter into paradise without reckoning,' Muhammad is supposed to have stated, according to Ibn

⁹⁶³ I have taken all these examples from I. Goldziher, *Muslim Studies (Muhammedanische Studien)*, vol.2, trans. C.R. Barber and S.M. Stern (London, 1971), pp. 39-40.

⁹⁶⁴ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1, (Leiden, 1915), pp. 63-64; with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), p. 54.

⁹⁶⁵ See Muḥammad b. Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, (Cairo, 2001), p. 381 (also, idem., *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr* (Leiden, 1322), p. 290). With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), pp. 245-246.

⁹⁶⁶ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 146. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Medina*, vol. 1, p. 267.

Sa'd. 'It was said to him, "Who are those?" He said, 'They are the ones who do not seek to use charms and who do not do evil auguries and who are not cauterized by burning irons, but who rely upon their Lord.'⁹⁶⁷ When Muțarrif b. 'Abd Allāh (d. 87 AH/AD 705) had a problem with urine retention, he had his son summoned. The son recited a verse from the Qur'ān to him and brought him a physician. 'My son,' Muțarrif asked, "'What is this?' 'A doctor,' he replied. 'I forbid you,' Muțarrif replied, 'to make me carry a charm or to hang beads upon me.'⁹⁶⁸ And of course when Muslims came into the Fertile Crescent, they found themselves surrounded by local practices of divination which were also a cause of anxiety. 'A letter from 'Umar came to us,' Bajāla b. 'Abada reported, '[saying] "Kill every enchanter and enchantress." His letter,' Bajāla continued, 'was concerning the Magians.'⁹⁶⁹

Perhaps as a reflection of the depth of the conversion of many Muslims, we read that 'Umar I sent 'Abd al-Raḥmān b. Ghanm b. Sa'd al-Ash'arī to Syria to give people religious instruction (*yufaqqihu 'l-nās*).⁹⁷⁰ In Syria, 'Abd al-Raḥmān b. Ghanm had been an acquaintance, Ibn Sa'd tells us, of Mu'ādh b. Jabal; years before, Mu'ādh, for his part, had been sent by Muḥammad to Yemen as an administrator and a teacher (*'āmilan wamu'alliman*).⁹⁷¹ In addition to sending 'Abd al-Raḥmān to Syria for what amounted to

⁹⁶⁷ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7, pt. 1, (Leiden, 1915), p. 52. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Medina*, vol. 1, p. 44.

⁹⁶⁸ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1, (Leiden, 1915), pp. 105-106, quote on p. 106. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Medina*, vol. 1, p. 93, though in disagreement with her rendering: 'I forbid you to burden me with a charm or puncture me.' *Uhrij 'alayka an tuḥmilanī 'alā ruqyatan wa-tu'alliqa 'alayya kharazatan.*

⁹⁶⁹ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1, (Leiden, 1915), p. 94. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Medina*, vol. 1, p. 81.

⁹⁷⁰ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 152. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Medina*, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), p. 273.

⁹⁷¹ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7, pt. 2, p. 114. With reference to ET in Bewley, trans., *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, p. 239. For the connection between 'Abd al-Raḥmān and Mu'ādh, see Ibn Sa'd, vol. 7, pt. 2, p. 152. With reference to ET in Bewley, trans., *The Men of Medina*, (London, 1997), p. 273.

catechetical purposes, 'Umar also sent ten people to Basra to give the people there religious instruction (*yufaqqihūna 'l-nās*).⁹⁷² And Syria and Basra were not alone: 'Umar also sent 'Abd Allāh b. Mas'ūd to Kufa to be in charge of the treasury there—but also to teach the Kufans the Qur'ān and give them religious instruction (*yufaqqihahum*).⁹⁷³ 'Learn (*fa-tafaqqahū*) the *sunna*,' 'Umar wrote Abū Mūsā, 'and study (*tafaqqahū*) Arabic!'⁹⁷⁴ In another place, we read that Ibn Mas'ūd is said to have killed the imam Ibn al-Nawwāḥa for reciting a text in a mosque which was not part of Muḥammad's revelation; there were a number of others complicit in Ibn al-Nawwāḥa's recitation, but rather than have them killed, Ibn Mas'ūd had them sent to Syria where, he said, God would either grant them repentance or they would be wiped out by the plague.⁹⁷⁵

'Umar sent out religious experts to catechize Muslims because he was no doubt keenly aware of the thin levels of religious knowledge that existed among many in the young religious community. According to al-Azdī, when 'Umar was returning to Madina from Syria, he stopped at a watering point of the tribe Judhām where he was told about a man who had two sisters and had the man brought to him. 'Who are these two women you have?', 'Umar asked. "My two wives,' the man responded. 'What is their relationship,' 'Umar wanted to know. When the man told the Caliph that they were sisters, his response was incredulity: 'What is your religion? Aren't you a Muslim?' 'Of course,' the man responded. 'Haven't you learned that this is forbidden

⁹⁷² See Jamāl al-Dīn Abī al-Hajjāj Yusūf al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 26, (Beirut, 1992), p. 174 (report of Ḥasan al-Baṣrī about 'Abd Allāh b. Mughaffal). cf. W.B. Hallaq, *The Origins and Evolution of Islamic Law* (Cambridge, 2005), p. 31.

⁹⁷³ 'Alī b. Husayn al-Mas'ūdī, Les prairies d'or, C. Barbier de Meynard ed. and trans., vol. 4 (Paris, 1865), p. 256. cf. T.W. Arnold, The Preaching of Islam, 2nd ed., (London, 1913, repr. New Delhi, n.d.), p. 51.
⁹⁷⁴ Ibn Abī Shayba, al-Musannaf, vol. 8, (Riyadh, 2004), p. 433 (no. 26043)

⁹⁷⁵ Abū Bakr 'Abd al-Razzāq b. Hammām al-Ṣan'ānī, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 169.

for you!?,' 'Umar answered back, citing Q 4:33 which forbade such marriages. 'No,' the man told 'Umar, 'I haven't learned that, and it isn't forbidden for me.'

Another story connected to 'Umar's return to Madina from Syria has him meet an old man who has agreed to share his wife with a younger man—every other day—in exchange for the younger man's pasturing and watering his animals. 'Umar had the men brought to him. 'What is your religion,' the Caliph asked. 'Muslims,' they replied. 'What is this that has reached me concerning you,' 'Umar asked again. The men did not know what he was talking about; when he told them about the issue of their shared wife, they did not deny it. 'Did you not know,' 'Umar asked, 'that in the Islamic religion this is forbidden and that it is not appropriate?' 'No, by God,' they answered, 'we didn't know.'⁹⁷⁶ Here we have two incidents which are quite similar to Simeon the Mountaineer's encounter with the uneducated Christian shepherds in the mountains. They were Christians but knew very little about normative Christianity.

I will discuss in more detail below reports of people reverting to their former religions after becoming Muslims, but for now, we might also point to reports of people converting to Islam and then subsequently returning to polytheism as indicative of the depth of conversion among some parts of the Muslim community in the early period.⁹⁷⁷

Being Muslim does not seem to have necessarily translated into a solid body of propositional knowledge about the contents and implications of the new faith, such as they were. 'Urwa, we are told, wrote to 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz about a man who had converted to Islam and then apostatized. 'Umar responded by prescribing a sort of

⁹⁷⁶ Muḥammad b. 'Abd Allāh al-Azdī, *Ta'rīkh futūḥ al-shām* (Cairo, 1970), pp. 264-266. For this point, see N. Khalek, *From Byzantium to Early Islam. Studies on Damascus in the Umayyad Era* (PhD Diss., Princeton, 2006), p. 172.

⁹⁷⁷ For examples of such reports, see, 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 164 (no. 18693) and pp. 165-166 (no. 18696).

religious examination. 'Ask him,' 'Umar II wrote to 'Urwa, 'about the religious precepts of Islam (*sharā'i' al-Islām*). If he already knows them, then offer Islam to him—and if he refuses, sever his neck.' Offering apostates a chance to return to Islam, as we will see below, was a standard practice. Interesting for us here, however, is the second part of 'Umar's response: 'If he does not know them [i.e., the precepts],' he went on, 'then impose the poll-tax on him harshly and leave him be.'⁹⁷⁸ What we have in 'Umar's second option is an acknowledgement that there were people who were calling themselves Muslims who did not know what Islam was; they were Muslims in name only—just like Simeon's shepherds.

And we have other pieces of evidence for uneven and thin levels of knowledge of the particulars of Islam among early Muslims. Though the Qur'ān explicitly ordered cutting off the hands of thieves (5:38) (a view reiterated by later Islamic law), for instance, in the first half of the eighth century (A.D.) John of Damascus would report that Muslims punished thieves with flogging.⁹⁷⁹ The Qur'ān expressed an increasingly negative attitude towards wine, one which culminated in its proscription (2:216, 4:46, 5:92),⁹⁸⁰ yet the consumption of alcohol seems to have been widespread among early Muslims. Even being an associate of Muḥammad did not seem to have necessarily had an effect in this area: Waḥshī b. Ḥarb al-Ḥabashī was a companion of Muḥammad who helped kill the upstart prophet Musaylima during the Wars of Apostasy; he was also reputed to be the first person to be beaten for drinking wine in Ḥimṣ.⁹⁸¹ 'It was mentioned to me that 'Abd Allāh and his companions were drinking a drink in Syria,'

⁹⁷⁸ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 171.

⁹⁷⁹ See J. Schacht, An Introduction to Islamic Law (Oxford, 1964), p. 18.

 $^{^{980}}$ See the article 'Khamr' by A.J. Wensinck in EI^2 .

⁹⁸¹ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr* , vol. 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), pp. 136-137. ET in

Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, The Men of Madina, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), pp. 259-260.

'Umar is reported to have said, 'so I ask about it. If it is intoxicating, I will have them whipped.³⁸² This was not an isolated incident on 'Umar's part, either. "Umar b. al-Khattāb burned down the house of Ruwayshid al-Thagafī,' Ibrāhīm b. 'Abd al-Rahmān reported, 'it was an inn (hanūtan) for drinking and 'Umar had forbiden that. I saw it blazing like a coal.^{'983} 'Umar's measures led Rabī'a b. Umayya b. Khalaf, someone who particularly liked drinking (sāhib sharāb), to emigrate to Byzantine territory and apostatize from Islam.⁹⁸⁴ When the people of Medina expelled the Umayyads from their city in AH 63 (AD 682), they proclaimed the vice of Caliph Yazīd b. Mu'āwiya and gave their allegiance to 'Abd Allāh b. Hanzala. 'O people, fear God alone—He has no partner!' Abū 'Abd Allāh is reported to have said, 'By God, we did not go out against Yazīd until we feared that we would be stoned from heaven: a man marries mothers and daughters and sisters and drinks wine and forsakes prayer.^{'985} A letter from 'Umar II to his provinces indicates that some people during his reign were citing the precedent of 'Umar I (d. 23 AH/AD 644) to justify drinking an alcoholic beverage called *tilā*';⁹⁸⁶ 'Umar II would write another letter forbidding the drinking of wine and prescribing punishments for those who were doing it to the Governor of Egypt, Ayyūb b. Shurahbīl, and the Muslims there.⁹⁸⁷ And it was not just Egypt that got special treatment:

⁹⁸² See Ibn Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 8 (Riyad, 2004), p. 81 (no. 24106).

⁹⁸³ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5 (Leiden, 1905), p. 40. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina* (London, 2000), p. 36.

⁹⁸⁴ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb a*l-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr, vol. 3.1 (Leiden, 1904), p. 202. For this point, see H. Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 275.

⁹⁸⁵ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5 (Leiden, 1905), p. 47. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina* (London, 2000), p. 42.

⁹⁸⁶ See a letter by 'Umar II written to the provinces and preserved in Abū Muḥammad b. 'Abd al-Ḥakam, *Sīrat 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz* (Damascus, 1964), p. 97. On 'Umar I and *ṭilā*', see also Wensinck's article 'Khamr' in *EI*².

⁹⁸⁷ See Ibn 'Abd al-Ḥakam, Sīrat 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz, pp. 99-103.

according to Ibn Sa'd, 'Umar II forbade *țilā*' everywhere.⁹⁸⁸ At Khunāṣira (near Aleppo), 'Umar II ordered that wineskins be cut open and wine bottles be broken.⁹⁸⁹ Indeed, Khunāsira seems to have been a hotbed of intoxication: 'Abd al-Majīd b. Suhayl reported coming there and finding a house known for wine and open revelry. He reported it to the commander of 'Umar II's local law enforcement (*sāhib shurtat 'Umar*) and was told that 'Umar had been made aware of the situation. 'In the case of the one who is hidden by houses,' 'Umar is reported to have told the man, 'leave him alone.'990 'Umar II beat one man 80 times as a hadd punishment for wine;⁹⁹¹ he had another man who had drunk wine in the land of the enemy whipped 80 times.⁹⁹² 'Umar II also ordered that *dhimmi*s not bring wine into the garrison cities of Muslims and so, it is reported, they did not;⁹⁹³ such a command, of course, suggests that *dhimm* is had been doing precisely this until they were stopped. Another report suggest that 'Umar II would take severe measures to try to stop the consumption of alcohol: a group of people was drinking, Yahyā b. Sa'īd related, and one of them got drunk, so 'Umar had all of them scourged.⁹⁹⁴ 'Umar's attitude towards alcohol, however, does not seem to

⁹⁸⁸ See Muḥammad b. Saʻd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, (Cairo, 2001), p. 342. With reference to ET in A. Bewley, trans. *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2 (London, 2000), p. 216.

⁹⁸⁹ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 356. With reference to ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 227.

⁹⁹⁰ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 356. With reference to ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 227.

⁹⁹¹ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pp. 356-357. With reference to ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 227.

⁹⁹² Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7, p. 347. With reference to ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 220.

⁹⁹³ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 356. With reference to ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 227.

⁹⁹⁴ Ibn Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 8, p. 83 (no. 24118).

have been universally negative: *nabīdh*, he is reported to have said, was *ḥalāl*, but ordered that people should drink it from leather flasks.⁹⁹⁵

I have cited a number of instances involving wine and Muslims from 'Umar II's caliphate, but his reign is only an example—a useful one, because his pious reputation and outlook helps bring to the forefront activities which must have been going on before and after his period without raising official ire. For there seems to have been a variety of attitudes towards the consumption of alcohol in the first several centuries after the Arab conquests.⁹⁹⁶ 'Alī b. al-Ḥusayn (d. 94 AH/ AD 712), the great-grandson of Muhammad, is said to have made wine (*yunbidhu*) without dregs in a large leather flask during the two 'īds.⁹⁹⁷ And even Shurayh b. al-Hārith (d. ca. 80 AH /AD 700), an iconic early $q\bar{a}d\bar{i}$, is said to have been a drinker of a strong form of the alcoholic *tilā*^{',998} 'If a *qādī* such as Shurayh was publicly involved in practices so flagrantly contradictory to the Quranic letter and spirit,' Wael Hallaq has written, 'then one can safely assume that, apart from certain highly regulated areas in the Quran (marriage, divorce, inheritance, etc.), there was little concern at that time for an Islamic system of legal morality.⁹⁹⁹ And, it should be pointed out, Shurayh was a figure to whom other early *qādīs* would turn for advice. 'I have been installed as a judge,' Hishām b. Hubayra al-Dabbī wrote to Shurayh, 'despite my youth and the paucity of my knowledge in much relating to it and

⁹⁹⁵ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 365. With reference to ET Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 233.

⁹⁹⁶ See the lucid discussion in I. Goldziher, *Introduction to Islamic Theology and Law*, trans. A. and R. Hamori, (Princeton, 1981), pp. 59-63.

⁹⁹⁷ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5, p. 161. With reference to ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, pp. 140-141.

⁹⁹⁸ See Muḥammad b. Khalaf b. Ḥayyān Wakīʻ, *Akhbār quḍāt* (Beirut, 2001), p. 372. There are conflicting reports of the date of Shurayḥ's death, for this and further information on Shurayḥ, see E. Kohlberg's article, 'Shurayḥ b. al-Ḥārith (or b. Shuraḥbīl) b. Kays, Abū Umayya al-Kindī,' in *El*².

⁹⁹⁹ Hallaq, The Origins and Evolution of Islamic Law, p. 40.

I cannot do without consulting someone like you.'¹⁰⁰⁰ Such widespread flaunting of explicit Qur'ānic injunctions, even among elites charged with enforcing them who should presumably have known better, is precisely what we should expect if the overwhelming majority of early conversions to Islam were of a group-nature and motivated by a variety of factors, many of them not necessarily inner spiritual conviction.

'Islam' and Muslim elites

Whatever the precise beliefs as to what Islam meant in its earliest phases were,¹⁰⁰¹ we have evidence that, even for theological elites—those people who presumably converted for reasons which may have directly related to spiritual or religious matters—they were varied and changing. Strictly by taking the *sīra* literature uncritically and at face value, we can see change in understandings of what precisely Islam meant in the life of Muḥammad himself. In his biography of Muḥammad, Ibn Isḥāq reported the so-called incident of the 'Satanic Verses' in which Muḥammad effected a *rapprochement* between the polytheistic Meccans and Muslims through the recitation of Qur'ānic passages which gave honor to three popular local deities, al-Lāt, al-'Uzzā and Manāt, and granted legitimacy to seeking them as intercessors. In the story as it is told, Muḥammad did not realize there was something wrong with these statements; he thought they were sent from God until the angel Gabriel intervened, confronting and correcting Muḥammad and telling him that Satan had cast these statements into his mouth. What is important to point out is that there was some

¹⁰⁰⁰ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7 (Leiden, 1915), pp. 109-110. With reference to ET in Muhammad ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), p. 96.

¹⁰⁰¹ See Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 546-550, for a discussion of the early evidence we possess as to what the practice and beliefs of Islam in the first century of the *hijra* may have been.

period of time between Muḥammad's first recitation of the verses and his recognition of them as Satanic in origin and subsequent abrogation.¹⁰⁰² That Muḥammad did not realize immediately that giving honor to these polytheist deities was problematic has been taken to suggest that at this point in his prophetic career, he was not yet a monotheist, but was rather a henotheist.¹⁰⁰³ The uncompromising monotheism of Islam still lay in the future: the meaning of Islam was evolving even for Muḥammad.

The incident of the Satanic Verses was recorded by Ibn Isḥāq (d. 150/767), the most important of Muḥammad's early biographers, but it was omitted in Ibn Hishām's (d. 215/830) recension of Ibn Isḥāq's work. Similarly, Ibn Hishām omitted Ibn Isḥāq's account of Muḥammad's belief that he may have been a poet or demon-possessed and consequent plan to kill himself after the shock of receiving his first revelation.¹⁰⁰⁴ Both of these stories in the Prophet's biography were viewed by at least some later Muslims as cause for embarrassment or concern. Similarly, Kister has shown that an early report which showed Muḥammad slaughtering meat for idols and eating it in the time of the *jāhiliyya* did not jibe with later sensibilities and was either explained away or

¹⁰⁰² cf. W.M. Watt, *Muhammad at Mecca* (Oxford, 1953), p. 103: 'at some later time Muhammad announced that these verses were not really part of the Qur'ān and should be replaced by others of a vastly different import. The earliest versions do not specify how long afterwards this happened; the probability is that it was weeks or even months.'

¹⁰⁰³ For Muḥammad as a henotheist, see M. Rodinson, *Mohammed*, trans. A. Carter (New York, 1971), pp. 96-97, 106-107. Also see W. Montgomery Watt's discussion of this incident and whether it shows that Muḥammad was a species of polytheist at this point in *idem.*, *Muhammad*: *Prophet and Statesmen* (London, 1961), pp. 60-65. Also see *idem.*, *Muhammad at Mecca*, p. 104 specifically and more generally, pp. 101-109. On the incident of the Satanic Verses in general, see M.S. Ahmed, *The Satanic Verses Incident in the Memory of the Early Muslim Community. An Analysis of the early* Riwāyahs *and their* Isnāds, (PhD diss., Princeton University, 1997). On pp. 264-265 Ahmed gives a general overview of the way in which different *riwāyas* of the Satanic verses incident handle the correction of Muḥammad's error. In four versions, there is no correction from Gabriel and Muḥammad apparently realizes that he has made a mistake independently from outside help.

¹⁰⁰⁴ For these incidents, (taken from al-Ṭabarī), see A. Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad: A Translation of Ishāq's Sīrat Rasūl Allāh* (London, 1955), pp. 106, 165-167. Also see the remarks of U. Rubin in his article 'Sīra and the Qur'ān,' in J.D. McAuliffe, ed., *The Encyclopedia of the Qur'ān*, vol. 5, (Boston-Leiden, 2006), p. 34 and see *idem.*, *The Eye of the Beholder: The Life of Muhammad as viewed by the early Muslims* (Princeton, 1995), pp. 113-114, 158-166.

rejected by the subsequent Muslim tradition.¹⁰⁰⁵ In this vein, we can also mention that in the first several centuries of Islamic history, the historicity of the incident of the Satanic Verses, or *qiṣṣat al-gharānīq*, 'Story of the Cranes,' as it was called in Arabic, was widely believed by Muslims; later, however, it came to be widely and strongly rejected by Muslim scholars. Shahab Ahmed has pointed to changing attitudes among Muslims towards the authenticity of reports of this incident as indicative of 'the distinctly fluid and mutable nature of the historical constitution of orthodoxy in Islam.'¹⁰⁰⁶

In this early period, there was also a spectrum of attitudes towards the text of the Qur'ān itself. The idea that there might be scribal errors in the text of the Qur'ān itself was not held to be impossible or preposterous by some. When 'Urwah asked 'Ā'isha about three different passages in the Qur'ān which contain apparent grammatical errors (4:162, 5:69, 20:63), her response was frank: 'O son of my sister, this is the work of the scribes,' she said. 'They made errors in the Book.'¹⁰⁰⁷ Ibn 'Abbās read *tasta'dhinū* in 24:27 rather than *tasta'nisū*: 'it's only the error of the scribes,' he is reported to have said.¹⁰⁰⁸ Similarly, Sa'īd b. Jubayr is reported to have said that there are four passages in the Qur'ān which have grammatical errors (5:69, 4:162, 63:10, 20:63) and al-Zubayr b. 'Abd Allāh b. Abī Khālid is said to have asked Abān b. 'Uthmān about

¹⁰⁰⁵ See M.J. Kister, "A Bag of Meat": A Study of an Early <u>H</u>adīth, Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 33 (197), pp. 267-275. Reprinted in *idem.*, Studies in Jāhiliyya and Early Islam (London, 1980), no. VI.

¹⁰⁰⁶ See S. Ahmed, 'Ibn Taymiyyah and the Satanic verses,' *Studia Islamica* 87 (1998), pp. 67-124; quote at p. 122.

¹⁰⁰⁷ See Muḥammad b. Jarīr al-Ṭabarī, *Tafsīr al-Ṭabarī: jāmi' al-bayān 'ān ta'wīl āy al-Qur'ān* (Cairo, 2001), vol. 7, pp. 680-681. Cf. I. Goldziher, *Schools of Koranic Commentators* trans. W.H. Behn (Weisbaden, 2006), p. 20. See also, J. Burton, 'Linguistic Errors in the Qur'ān,' *Journal of Semitic Studies* 33 (1988), pp. 181-196.

¹⁰⁰⁸ See al-Ṭabarī, Tafsīr al-Ṭabarī: jāmi' al-bayān 'an ta'wīl āy al-Qur'ān, vol. 17, p. 240. Cf. Goldziher, Schools of Koranic Commentators, p. 20.

the grammatical problem in 4:162.¹⁰⁰⁹ One report has Zayd b. Thābit consult 'Uthmān about the collection of the Qur'ān: initially, 'Uthmān refused and told Zayd, 'You are a people who makes errors in speech (*talḥanūn*),' but after Zayd asked him again, 'Uthmān agreed to be consulted.¹⁰¹⁰ Another story suggests that the Caliph 'Uthmān was nonplussed about there being errors in the text of the Qur'ān. When the authoritative Qur'ānic codices which 'Uthmān had ordered produced were copied out and showed to him, al-Dānī (d. AH 444/AD 1053) reports, the Caliph found solecisms in them (*fa-wajada fihā ḥurūfan min al-laḥn*). 'Leave them,' 'Uthmān is supposed to have said, 'for the Arabs will set them right and put them into proper Arabic with their tongue, since the appearance [of the text] points to an error in the consonantal skeleton (*al-rasm*).'¹⁰¹¹

We have other indications of there being a flexible attitude towards the text of the Qur'ān among some groups in the earliest Islamic period. Islamic exegetical literature has preserved the story of the apostasy of one of Muḥammad's scribes, 'Abd Allāh b. Sa'd b. Abī Sarḥ, which suggests that the attitude towards the fixedness of the text of the Qur'ān was, at least among some early Muslims, rather liberal. Dictating part of the Qur'ānic revelation to Ibn Abī Sarḥ, Muḥammad included the words ''*azīz*, *ḥakīm*' ('Mighty, Wise,'). Ibn Abī Sarḥ, however, changed the text and instead wrote

¹⁰⁰⁹ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, pp. 33-34.

¹⁰¹⁰ Abū Bakr 'Abd Allāh b. Muḥammad b. Ibrāhīm b. Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Riyadh, 2004), p. 23.

¹⁰¹¹ See 'Uthmān b. Sa'īd al-Dānī, *al-Muqni' fī rasm maṣāḥif al-amṣār ma' kitāb al-nuqaț* (Istanbul, 1932), p. 124. See a collection of similar reports in Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif* (Cairo, 1936), pp. 32-33. Cf. also G. Bergsträßer and O. Pretzl, *Geschichte des Qorāns von Theodor Nöldeke*, vol. 3 (Leipzig, 1938), p. 2. NB: That al-Dānī rejects the authenticity of this report (*al-Muqni'*, p. 124) is not important. Regardless of whether 'Uthmān actually made this comment, its very composition and existence shows a diversity of Muslim attitudes towards the nature of the Quranic text. This principle holds true for all the various reports I cite here: their actual occurrence is less important than the sheer fact of their composition and existence as texts which shows that such stories formed part of what some Muslims understood to be sacred history.

down '*ghufūr, raḥīm*,' ('Forgiving, Merciful'). When Ibn Abī Sarḥ read the changed passage back to Muḥammad, the Prophet's response was, 'Yes, it's the same.' The scribe's reaction was to abandon Islam and return to the Quraysh in Mecca, who were at the time still Muḥammad's polytheist opponents. *""Azīz, ḥakīm*," had come down to him,' Ibn Abī Sarḥ is supposed to have told the Meccans, 'and so I changed it and then told him what I had written, and he said, "Yes, it's the same."¹⁰¹² Elsewhere, Ibn Abī Sarḥ is reported to have made the statement, 'Muḥammad would only write what I wanted.¹⁰¹³ Another report combines these two elements but does not explicitly mention Ibn Abī Sarḥ. The unnamed scribe in this version wrote *samī'an 'alīman* ('Hearing, Knowing') rather than *samī'an baṣīran* ('Hearing, the Seeing') and *samī'an baṣīran* rather than *samī'an 'alīman*; he later converted to Christianity in disillusionment rather than going back to paganism as Ibn Abī Sarḥ is supposed to have done. Nevertheless, his complaint was the same: 'I would only write what I wanted with Muḥammad.'¹⁰¹⁴

Regardless of whether these incidents actually occurred, the fact that they were recorded reflects an attitude of fluidity towards the text of the Qur'ān which existed in the earliest period of Islam. I will not go into the history of the text of the Qur'ān in depth in this chapter—I have collected information relating to this fascinating topic

¹⁰¹² See Muḥammad b. Jarīr al-Ṭabarī, *Tafsīr al-Ṭabarī: jāmi' al-bayān 'ān ta'wīl āy al-Qur'ān* (Cairo, 2001), vol. 9, p. 405.

¹⁰¹³ al-Ṭabarī, Tafsīr al-Ṭabarī: jāmi' al-bayān 'ān ta'wīl āy al-Qur'ān , vol. 11, p. 288.

¹⁰¹⁴ See Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif* (Cairo, 1936), p. 3. A statement of 'Abd Allāh b. Mas'ūd seems to have been made in partial response to stories like these: 'The error is not that a certain sūra enter into another one, nor is it that an verse end with '*hakīm* 'alīm' or ''alīm *hakīm*' or 'ghufūr raḥīm.' The error, rather, is that one puts in it what is not from it [sc. the Quran], or that one ends a verse of mercy with punishment, or a verse of punishment with a verse of mercy.' See Abū 'Ubayd al-Qāsim b. Sallām, *Kitāb faļā'il al-Qur'ān*, (Damascus, 1995), p. 355.

and placed it in an appendix.¹⁰¹⁵ A look at this history shows that the early Muslim community was unsure as to the exact nature of the contents of the Qur'ān, believed that significant portions, even entire *sūras* of the Qur'ān had actually been lost or not recorded, and was unsure exactly how to vocalize the text of the Qur'ān, an uncertainty that could at times have a legal impact.

Focusing on some aspects of the history of the actual text of the Qur'ān does not stem from an interest in the picayune, a fetishizing of jots and tittles. The question of the actual contents of the Qur'ān, the nature of its words and, indeed, entire *sūras*, is antecedent to any theological debates about its precise metaphysical nature, whether it was created or uncreated, or anything else. That something as important to Islam as the actual contents of Qur'ān itself, its very words, was contested and open to different and competing answers among elites in the first several centuries after the death of Muḥammad is symptomatic of something larger. If Muslim religious elites themselves had evolving and differing attitudes towards something as central as the Qur'ān, what are we to assume to have been the case among the non-elites, who must have formed the large majority of the Muslim community—and not just with respect to the Qur'ān, but with respect to a whole host of different things?

Even if we press the question of the religious elites' knowledge or possession of a strongly defined set of beliefs, we find that in this early period, we may be mistaken if we assume that it included too much. It has been, for example, forcefully argued that there was an important discontinuity between the time of the composition of the

¹⁰¹⁵ Along these same lines, see the evidence for lost portions of the Qur'ān collected in J. Burton, *The Sources of Islamic Law: Islamic Theories of Abrogation* (Edinburgh, 1990), pp. 43-55.

Qur'ān and the time of the composition of commentaries on it.¹⁰¹⁶ This is one obvious way of accounting for the presence in the Qur'ān of words whose precise meaning has eluded commentators, medieval and modern, as well as other enigmas, like the significance of the (on the face of it) meaningless Arabic letters which begin a number of different *sūras*. The fact that Muslim scholars had to resort to speculation and conjecture to explain the meanings of words like *īlāf, kalāla,* or the 'mysterious letters' suggests that by the time Muslims started trying to exegete the meaning of the Qur'ān, vital details about its composition and original context had been lost or forgotten.¹⁰¹⁷ In this vein, the Islamic tradition's many and conflicting attempts to identify the Şābi'ūn who, along with Christians, Jews and Magians, were regarded by the Qur'ān as People of the Book, might also be pointed out. 'It would seem almost incredible,' Arthur Jeffery wrote,

that when the Qur'ān grants special privilege and protection to four communities as true believers, no exact tradition as to the identity of one of the communities should have survived till the time when the Traditionists and Exegetes began their work of compilation. ... if so much uncertainty existed on so important a matter as the identity of a protected community, one can imagine how the case stands with regard to unimportant little details which are of profound interest to the philologist to-day, but which, in the early days of Islām, had no doctrinal or political significance to bring them prominently before the attention of the Muslim savants.¹⁰¹⁸

There seems to have been some sort of break in continuity between the event of the Qur'ān and later elite Muslim religious discourse. And we have evidence of this at more than just the level of forgotten meanings of words. Schacht, for example, pointed out

¹⁰¹⁶ Perhaps the strongest such arguments can be found in P. Crone, 'Two Legal Problems Bearing on the Early History of the Qur'ān,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 18 (1994), pp. 1-37.

¹⁰¹⁷ See Crone, *Meccan Trade*, pp. 203-210 and M. Cook, *The Koran* (Oxford, 2000), pp. 138-142.

¹⁰¹⁸ See A. Jeffery, *The Foreign Vocabulary of the Qur'ān* (Baroda, 1938), p. 4. For a survey of exegetical attempts at identifying the Ṣābi'ūn, see, J.D. McAuliffe, 'Exegetical identification of the Ṣābi'ūn,' *The Muslim World* 72 (1982), pp. 95-106. See also, C. Buck, 'The Identity of the Ṣābi'ūn: An Historical Quest,' *The Muslim World* 74 (1984), pp. 172-186. And see F. de Blois' article, 'Sabians,' in the *Encyclopedia of the Qur'ān*, vol. 4 (Leiden/Boston, 2004), pp. 511-513.

that though the Qur'ān expressly accepts written testimony for contracts (2:282), later Islamic law would reject written documents and only accept witnesses.¹⁰¹⁹ There are other important examples of Umayyad legal practice which contradicts Qur'ānic law as well.¹⁰²⁰

It cannot be emphasized too strongly that it is in this space that the earliest Christian-Muslim interactions were taking place in the Near East.

¹⁰¹⁹ Schacht, An Introduction to Islamic Law, pp. 18-19.

¹⁰²⁰ See Crone, 'Two Legal Problems,' pp. 10-12.

Chapter 11: On Christians and Muslims, III: The More Things Change, the More They Stay the Same

I devoted Chapter 9 to trying to discuss the spectrum of Christian beliefs and behaviors in the early medieval period; in Chapter 10, I attempted to do the same for Muslim beliefs in the early 'Islamic' period. In this present chapter, I will try to bring these two ends together to see how understanding Christianity and Islam in this period to include the non-elite, non-normative level changes how we think about the nature of early Christian-Muslim interactions and how we construct an image of the religious landscape of the early medieval Middle East. More specifically, in the same way I have sought to put the words 'Christian' and 'Muslim' under the hot lamp of the interrogator, here, I will attempt to do the same with the idea of 'conversion' and will seek to nuance our understanding of its meanings, motivations and results. I will argue that the coming of Islam and conversion to Islam actually probably did not represent a dramatic change at all for many, if not most, Middle Eastern Christians in the early 'Islamic' period.

Before advancing any further, it should also be pointed out that the persistence of previous religious practices and behaviors even after conversion to Islam is neither surprising nor unique to the Middle East. It is exactly what one would expect in a preindustrial society (and perhaps even in an industrial or post-industrial society) where states were weak, religious education and catechesis spotty, clergy often ill-equipped and poorly trained and levels of literacy relatively low. Episcopal visitors in Saxony and eastern Germany around the beginning of the seventeenth century, Ramsay MacMullen has pointed out, found that outside of elite company, the level of knowledge of Christianity plummeted markedly. 'Once out of the upper-class circles, however, and

430

even in a time of bitter theological rivalries to concentrate the greatest possible attention on the faith,' he reported,

the vast bulk of the population are found to have been largely or totally ignorant of the simplest matters of doctrine, rarely or never attending church. They were devoted instead to a "vigorous religious subculture…beyond the theologian's grasp, the preacher's appeal, or the visitor's power to compel"— that is, they were given over to "soothsayers, cunning women, crystal gazers, casters of spells, witches, and other practitioners of forbidden arts."¹⁰²¹

The content, sophistication, and volume of theological literature being produced in Europe at that time, and specifically in Germany, the epicenter of the Reformation, might easily mislead us into thinking that the concerns of the elites were shared by all. But then we would be mistaken. As in seventeenth century Germany, so in the early medieval Middle East. Such will be my argument.

'Mass ideological change'? Examining Conversion

In his work on conversion to Islam, Bulliet refers to the conversion of the Middle East's population from Christianity to Islam as an example of 'mass ideological change.'¹⁰²² One of my contentions in the past two chapters has been that the change in conversion between Christianity and Islam for the Christian carpenter or farmer or butcher was perhaps not that radical at all, especially if we keep in mind that in its earliest period, Islam, at least among the large mass of its adherents, may have been ideologically rather thin, particularly when compared to its later forms. Indeed, assuming widespread lack of knowledge of Islam among Arab conquerors may help explain why, for example, Syriac writers tend not to invoke Islam in describing the

¹⁰²¹ See R. MacMullen, *Christianizing the Roman Empire (A.D. 100-400)* (New Haven/London, 1984), p.
5. My thinking on the question of the Islamization of the Middle East in the early medieval period has been influenced significantly by this book.

¹⁰²² See e.g., Bulliet, Conversion to Islam in the Medieval Period, p. 4.

Arab conquests: 'it would be generally true,' Brock observed, 'to say that the Syriac sources of this period see the conquests primarily as Arab, and not Muslim.'¹⁰²³

It was precisely because such a religious change was not so radical that it was easy and that conversion became increasingly common. Viewed from a (later) doctrinal perspective, a conversion to Islam may have represented quite a drastic step. One denied such central Christian beliefs as the Trinity and the divinity of Christ and one embraced a new prophet and a new scripture. If, however, we accept a model where being Muslim did not necessarily entail a large number of strong theological commitments and at the same time we jettison a view of what it meant to be a Christian in this period which privileges doctrinal propositions and instead see Christianity as a commitment to certain shared symbols and rituals, the broad chasm people were crossing in their journey from Islam to Christianity begins to seem more like a slender crack in the earth.

Indeed, a tactic of Muslim proselytizers seeking to convert Christians down till the present has been to emphasize just how much Christianity and Islam share in common. This is a strategy that goes back to the earliest Islamic period. The *sīra* of Muḥammad contains stories of Christians recognizing Muḥammad's prophetic status which were clearly apologetic and conversionary in nature and aimed at Christians: we are told, for example, that the monk Baḥīrā, 'well versed in the knowledge of Christians,' recognized Muḥammad as foretold in Christian books while Muḥammad was still a boy,¹⁰²⁴ and we hear of Waraqa b. Nawfal, the cousin of Muḥammad's wife

¹⁰²³ See S.P. Brock, 'Syriac Views of Emergent Islam,' in G.H.A. Juynboll, ed., *Studies in the First Century of Islamic Society* (Carbondale and Edwardsville, 1982), p. 14.

¹⁰²⁴ See A. Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad: A Translation of Isḥāq's Sīrat Rasūl Allāh* (London, 1955), pp. 80-81.

Khadīja, 'who had become a Christian and read the scriptures and learned from those that follow the Torah and the Gospel' providing an important early confirmation of the divine origin of Muḥammad's prophetic call.¹⁰²⁵ Such stories were perhaps also meant to reassure Muslims that the message brought by Muḥammad fit seamlessly into salvation history, that the reaction of a group of Abyssinian or Najrānī Christians who converted to Islam after speaking with Muḥammad in Mecca—'They recognized in him the things which had been said of him in their scriptures'—was natural and to be expected from people who had a knowledge of Christian sacred texts.¹⁰²⁶

I have suggested that for many, perhaps most Christians, Christianity was not a series of doctrines to be believed, but a commitment to certain symbols and rituals which provided access to sacred power and offered means for coping with some of the most fundamental challenges in human existence. I have also attempted to show the central importance and enormous power that these symbols were believed to have held. It should not, therefore, be surprising that in the boundary lines between Christianity and Islam that were gradually erected and reinforced, it was precisely these symbols that became highly charged points, the rejection or acceptance of which placed a person solidly in one community or another. In chapter 6, I cited Anastasios of the Sinai's story about John of Bostra, a chartularios from Damascus who interviewed four demon-possessed young women in the district of Antioch. The three things they feared most from Christians, the demons told John, were the Cross, Baptism and the Eucharist, and of these three things, the Eucharist was the most powerful. This revelation, however, was not the end of the back and forth between John and the young

¹⁰²⁵ Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad*, p. 107.

¹⁰²⁶ See Crone, *Meccan Trade*, pp. 219-220 for a listing of 15 different such stories and a negative assessment of their historicity.

women: the exchange would continue beyond Christianity to cover other religions. 'Which faith do you love,' John asked the women, 'out of all those which exist in the world today?' The women did not mention any one religion specifically, but offered a set of beliefs that their favorite religion(s) lack: 'They say to him: "Those which neither have anything of the three [things] which we spoke to you of [i.e., the Cross, Baptism and the Eucharist] nor which confess either God or the Son of God, the son of Mary.'¹⁰²⁷

There may have been a number of faiths which lacked the sacraments and which denied that Jesus was the Son of God, but to an audience living under Muslim rule, one faith certainly stuck out. Robert Hoyland has pointed out that one significant theme in the second collection of Anastasios' *Narrations* where this story comes from, written around 690 AD, is an anxiety about Christian apostasy to Islam.¹⁰²⁸ Writing at nearly the exact same time, ca. 690-691, the *Apocalypse* of Pseudo-Methodios decried Christians apostatizing to Islam, and here again we can see the centrality of the acceptance or rejection of certain Christian symbols for marking communal belonging and participation. 'Many people who were members of the Church will deny the true Faith of the Christians' the anonymous author wrote, 'along with the holy Cross and the awesome Mysteries: without being subjected to any compulsion or lashings or blows, they will deny Christ, putting themselves on a par with the unbelievers.'¹⁰²⁹ Abandonment of Christianity is understood in terms of a rejection of the Cross and the Mysteries and a denial of Christ.

¹⁰²⁷ Greek text in Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' p. 79: Ποίαν πίστιν ἀγαπᾶτε ἐξ ὅλων τῶν ὄντων ἐν τῷ κόσμῳ σήμερον; Λέγουσιν αὐτῷ: Οἱ μὴ ἔχουντες μήτε ἕν πρᾶγμα ἐκ τῶν τριῶν ὧν εἴπομεν σοι, μήτε ὁμολογοῦντες θεὸν ἤ υιὸν θεοῦ τὸν υἱὸν τῆς Μαρίας. Very brief French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' p. 144.

¹⁰²⁸ Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 99-100.

¹⁰²⁹ Translation Brock in A. Palmer, S. Brock and R. Hoyland, *The Seventh Century in the West Syrian Chronicles* (Liverpool, 1993), p. 235. For Brock's dating of this apocalypse, see *ibid.*, p. 225.

The author of the anonymous *Chronicle of Zuqnin*, who seems to have written his work over the course of the years spanning 743 to 775 spoke bitterly of a large number of Christians converting to Islam in the later part of the eighth century. 'All wanton and careless people,' he observed

slipped quickly into the pit and chasm of perdition, destroying their souls as well as their bodies—in other words, everything they possessed: their faith in our Lord Jesus Christ; baptism; the holy seal of myron; together with the living body and purifying blood (of Christ). Instead of these, they bought for themselves unextinguishable fire, undying worm, a quarrelsome thief, Satan instead of Christ, and darkness instead of Paradise.¹⁰³⁰

As with Pseduo-Methodios, leaving Christianity was understood in abandoning a particular set of symbols and rituals. The author of the *Chronicle* would make this point more than once: 'numerous people,' he later wrote, 'converted to paganism [i.e., Islam] and renounced Christ, baptism, the Eucharist and the Cross through which every human being was granted salvation. They renounced all of the things that are part of Christ's programme of salvation, only confessing that Christ was the Word and the Spirit of God [cf. Sūra 4:171].'¹⁰³¹

The account of Christian apostasy in the *Chronicle of Zuqnin* is important because it serves as a caution against a view which completely evacuates doctrinal content from Christian or Muslim belief. The Christian renegades who were going over to Islam were not only rejecting certain central Christian symbols and rituals, they were also professing a new, lower Christology:

As soon as someone asked them: 'This "Word and Spirit of God in 'Īsā", what is it? They blasphemed, saying: "He is like Moses, Elijah and Muḥammad;" the prophet who was the founder of their faith. "He is simply a prophet, like other prophets, a man like you and me." But then they professed that he was not born

¹⁰³⁰ Translation A. Harrak in *idem.*, trans., *The Chronicle of Zuqnin: Parts III and IV. A.D.* 488-775 (Toronto, 1999), p. 322. For the date of the *Chronicle of Zuqnin*'s composition, see *ibid.*, p. 31.

¹⁰³¹ Translation Harrak, *The Chronicle of Zuqnin*, pp. 326-327.

from human seed, like anyone else, but they de[nied] him any divine substance. They only called him Word and Spirit of God, and Prophet, and one not born from the seed of man; instead, God ordered Mary and she conceived him, as the t[rees] are pollinated to pro[duce fru]it without the intervention of a male, since they are pollinated by the wind.¹⁰³²

The actual act of converting to Islam, as depicted by the author of the *Chronicle*, entailed a renunciation of Christian symbols and an explicit affirmation of a lower Christology in addition to an acknowledgement of Islamic doctrines. The *Chronicle* speaks of a deacon from the region of Edessa who decided to convert to Islam. The priests and notables of his village tried to persuade him not to convert, but with no success. The deacon then went to an Arab and told him he wanted to convert to Islam

at his hands:

This man did not pressure him; on the contrary, he asked him not to do so lest he should regret it one day and return to his faith, in which case great tortures would then be inflicted upon him. But he said: 'If the idea of repenting will occur to me, I will not turn away from your faith, because God indicated that to me.' The man said to him: 'Do you renounce Christ?' He said, 'Yes.' Then he said to him: 'Do you renounce Baptism?' He said, 'Yes.' He said: 'I renounce it.' He then said to him: 'Do you renounce the Cross the Eucharist and everything which Christians profess?' He replied: 'I renounce them.' At this point, the son of the Devil added to these words insults not requested by the Arabs. After he made him apostatise in this manner, he asked him: 'Do you believe in Muhammad as the messenger of God, and in the Book that descended upon him from Heaven?' He said: 'I believe.' Then he said: 'Do you believe that 'Īsā is the Word and Spirit of God, that he is a Prophet, and that he is not God?' He replied, saying: 'Yes.' Thus he made him renounce everything in his free will. For no one among the people was forcibly driven by anyone else, unless by the Devil his father, to renounce his faith, while many of them apostatised without any reason whatsoever.¹⁰³³

The dramatic language of such an account, however, should not cause us to

forget what I have previously attempted to show—it is not clear that all who called

themselves Christians in the seventh or eighth centuries necessarily had a high,

¹⁰³² Translation Harrak, *The Chronicle of Zuqnin*, p. 327.

¹⁰³³ Translation Harrak, *The Chronicle of Zuqnin*, p. 328.

orthodox Christology to begin with, or even any detailed Christology apart from perhaps a belief that Jesus was an especially powerful figure. And although Muslims professed a belief in a non-divine Jesus, their Jesus was still an exalted one, born of a Virgin, still called the Word of God.

This brings us back to my earlier point about apologetic and conversionary elements which made their way into the *sīra* of Muhammad and which seemed to have been aimed specifically at Christians: we might in this connection make mention of the first Muslim *hijra*, which was to Abyssinia. With most of the young community of Muslims having fled there across the Red Sea to escape the persecution of the Quraysh, two Qurashis came after them and sought to cause problems for them with the Negus in order to have them sent back to Mecca. Their point of attack was Christ: these Muslims, the Negus was told, speak awful things about Jesus. Summoned to give an account of Muslim beliefs, Ja'far b. Abī Ṭālib gave a summary of the Qur'ān's Christology: 'We say about him that which our prophet brought, saying, he is the slave of God, and his apostle, and his spirit and his word, which he cast into Mary the blessed virgin.' The Negus was duly impressed: '[he] took a stick from the ground and said, 'By God, Jesus, son of Mary, does not exceed what you have said by the length of this stick.¹⁰³⁴ Such stories were clearly aimed at commending the new faith of Islam to Christians, and if we presume ubiquitous Christian doctrinal heresy, the shift to Islam among such Christians living under Arab Muslim rule may perhaps not have been much a shift at all. To Christians like Simeon's goat herders such a high, though not divine, view of Jesus may not have struck them as particularly problematic.

¹⁰³⁴ Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad*, p. 152.

And in fact, the image we get of doctrinally-based Christian apostasy in the *Chronicle of Zugnin* is only part of the story. When the Christian in the *Chronicle of Zugnin* was contemplating conversion, he had been told by the Muslim to be sure about his decision—if he decided to go back on it, the consequences would be dire. Though the Qur'ān had nothing explicit to say about Muslim apostates, Muhammad is reported to have ordered death as the punishment for a Muslim who changed his religion.¹⁰³⁵ One possible way of interpreting the harshness of this penalty is to see it as a reflection of Muslim anxieties about shallow conversions, undertaken for reasons of expediency, which would not stick. By making death the punishment for leaving Islam once one had converted, Muslim religious authorities were attempting to keep the walls of their community from developing a multiplicity of leaks as converts seeped back out into their previous communities which were older, larger, and presumably populated by friends and relatives. A Muslim army sent by 'Alī b. Abī Ṭālib in the year 38 AH (AD 658), for example, found that the Banū Nājiyya were comprised of three different groups: one which had been Christian and converted to Islam, another which was firm in its Christianity, and yet another which had been Christian, converted to Islam, and then gone back to Christianity. 'We were a people (*qawm*) who were Christians and then became Muslims,' this last group told the Muslim army, 'but we have not seen a religion which is better than our first one.' When these apostates refused to go back to Islam, the Muslim army surprised and killed all of their fighters and took their children

¹⁰³⁵ See the article 'Apostasy' by F. Griffel in *El*³. For prophetic *hadīth* on apostasy, see, e.g., Abū Bakr 'Abd al-Razzāq b. Hammām al-Ṣan'ānī, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 168. In general, see Ibn Qudāma, *al-Mughnī*, vol. 12 (Cairo, 1996), pp. 101-162.

as captives.¹⁰³⁶ By making death the penalty for apostasy, Islam became a religious Hotel California—plenty of room there, but once in, one could never leave.

The fear of shallow conversions could have in part been a result of the nature of the motives underlying many of the shifts in religious allegiance. I have already suggested above that Muslim hegemony affected the religious incentive structure in areas under Muslim political control: in becoming a Muslim, one obtained immediate and tangible material benefits in addition to whatever spiritual consolations one might have gained. The massive amounts of wealth which flowed into the Muslim community as a result of its successful and far-flung conquests were unsurprisingly not without effect. 'Every community (*umma*) has a trial (*fitna*),' Muhammad is reported to have said, 'and the trial of my community is wealth.'¹⁰³⁷ We can see the role economic incentives played in conversion to Islam in the lifetime of Muhammad himself. Al-Jārūd, we are told, had been a noble and a Christian in the time of the *jāhiliyya*. He came to Muhammad as part of a delegation and Muhammad invited him to Islam. 'I have had a debt (*dayn*),' he told the Prophet, 'and I am leaving my religion (*dīnī*) for your religion (*li-dīnika*). Will you become responsible for my debt (*daynī*) for me?' Muhammad, we are told, stated that he would be al-Jārūd's guarantor, telling him that God had guided him to something better. And al-Jārūd converted.¹⁰³⁸ Such actions by the Prophet would serve as a model for later Muslims. In the 'Abbasid period, for instance, Ahmad b. Hanbal would be asked about a case where a promise of money

¹⁰³⁶ Muḥammad b. Jarīr al-Ṭabarī, *Ta'rīkh al-rusul wa-'l-mulūk* (ser. 1, vol. 6) (repr. Piscataway, 2005), pp. 3434-3435. Another version of this story is in 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), pp. 171-172.

¹⁰³⁷ Translation A. Bewley, in Muhammad ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 257. Arabic text in Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 134.

¹⁰³⁸ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 61. With reference to ET in Bewley, trans., *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, p. 51.

played a role in a conversion to Islam. 'Abū 'Abd Allāh,' we are told, 'was asked about a man who said to a Jew: "Convert to Islam so that I give you a thousand dirhams."' And so the Jew converted, but the man did not give him the money. 'The Prophet, God's prayers and peace be upon him,' Aḥmad responded, 'would allure people into embracing Islam.' But, Aḥmad, continued, it would be better if the convert were given the money he were promised.¹⁰³⁹

Perhaps most importantly for anybody other than save the most elite among non-Muslims, a conversion to Islam meant that one was no longer obliged to pay the poll tax, or *jizya*, required of all Peoples of the Book. And the importance of this can only be underestimated at the risk of obscuring and distorting our understanding of medieval social realities. Writing about the later Geniza period, Goitein documented at length the great difficulties the requirement to pay the *jizya* confronted many non-Muslims with and noted his surprise at this. 'In general,' he wrote,

it has to be emphasized that the subject of the poll tax occupies far more space in the Geniza records than one would anticipate. A very considerable section of the non-Muslim population must have been unable to pay it and often suffered humiliation and privation on its account. Whereas, in the higher circles, the prospects of appointment to leading government posts acted as an inducement for embracing Islam, the mass conversions in the lower classes might well have been caused in part by the intolerable burden of the poll tax.¹⁰⁴⁰

For the very early period which interests us here we of course do not have the sort of rich documentary evidence available to Goitein through the Geniza. We nevertheless possess indications that, just as would be the case centuries later in the period Goitein

¹⁰³⁹ 'But it only pleases me,' Aḥmad's response continued, 'that he pay him his due.' See Abū Bakr Aḥmad b. Muḥammad al-Khallāl, Aḥkām ahl al-milal min al-jāmi' li-masā'il al-imām Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal (Beirut, 1994), p. 10.

¹⁰⁴⁰ S.D. Goitein, A Mediterranean Society: The Jewish Communities of the Arab World as Portrayed in the Documents of the Cairo Geniza. Volume II: The Community (Berkeley, 1971), pp. 392-393; also, see more generally pp. 380-393.

was studying, in the earliest period after the conquest the requirement to pay the poll tax was motivating people to become Muslims.¹⁰⁴¹ We should not be surprised to read that 'Umar II, for example, ordered that no *jizya* was to be collected from a *dhimmī* who converted to Islam the day before he was to pay it.¹⁰⁴² Those who converted a day before their *jizya* was due could even be said to have planned ahead: apparently, some converts were literally waiting to the last second to change religious allegiance in order to get out of the burden of paying taxes: 'If he converts,' 'Umar II is reported to have stated, 'while the *jizya* is in the weighing pan of the scale, it is not to be taken from him.'¹⁰⁴³

Muslim officials connected the conversion of conquered peoples to Islam with payment of the *jizya* as well. Hayyān b. Shurayh the governor ('āmil) of Egypt wrote to 'Umar II that *dhimm*īs were rushing to convert to Islam and had ceased paying the *jizya*. 'God sent Muḥammad as one who calls people,' 'Umar wrote back, 'he did not send him as a tax collector. Therefore, if a person of the Book comes to you—if the People of the Covenant are rushing to convert to Islam and cutting off the payment of the *jizya*—then close your tax register (*kitābaka*) and accept him.'¹⁰⁴⁴ 'Umar II also wrote to his governor in Khurasan, al-Jarrāh b. 'Abd Allāh al-Ḥakamī and ordered him to summon

¹⁰⁴¹ Issues pertaining to the exact nature of taxation on non-Muslims and converts to Islam are complex and beyond the scope of this dissertation. On this topic, see the classic D.C. Dennett, Jr., *Conversion and the Poll Tax in Early Islam* (Cambridge, Mass., 1950). For an argument about the importance of changes in administrative personnel (from Christians to Muslims) and in the manner in which the Muslim government assessed taxes in the conversion of Egypt to Islam, see, G. Frantz-Murphy, 'Conversion in Early Islamic Egypt: The Economic Factor,' in Y. Raghib, ed., *Documens de l'Islam medieval: nouvelles perspectives de recherche* (Cairo, 1991), pp. 11-17, reprinted in R. Hoyland, ed., *Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society* (Aldershot, 2004), pp. 323-329.

¹⁰⁴² Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 349. Literally, 'who converts to Islam a day before the year [is up].' With reference to the ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 221.

¹⁰⁴³ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 349. With reference to the ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 221.

¹⁰⁴⁴ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 373. With reference to the ET available in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 239.

the people who were paying the *jizya* to Islam. If they converted, 'Umar commanded, their Islam should be accepted, the *jizya* was to be removed from them and they were to have the same rights and duties as Muslims did. 'By God,' a member of the Khurasanī *ashrāf* is reported to have told 'Umar, 'the only thing calling them to Islam is the removal of the *jizya*. Test them with circumcision!' Hundreds of years before Goitein's Geniza documents would suggest a similar social situation, Muslims themselves saw economic motives laying behind at least some conversions. 'Shall I turn them away from Islam through circumcision?' 'Umar is said to have replied. 'If they were to become Muslims and their conversion was a good one, they would be more quick to purity.' 'Umar's logic was that genuine conversion would swiftly lead to a concern with proper Muslim observance. We do not know whether 'Umar's expectations matched with what was actually happening in Khurasan, but Ibn Sa'd does report that some 4,000 people converted to Islam as a result of his policy regarding the *jizya* and circumcision.¹⁰⁴⁵ And we have evidence from Christian authors as well that economic factors were driving at least some conversions. The Coptic synaxary reports that in the time of the Patriarch Khā'īl I (sed. 744-767) some 24,000 Christians denied Christ in Egypt; Hoyland connected this apostasy with Hafs b. al-Walīd's lifting of the *jizya* on all converts to Islam.¹⁰⁴⁶

Indeed, nearly a century before this wave of apparently economically-driven conversions, the same phenomenon was already occurring among Christian

¹⁰⁴⁵ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7, p. 375. With reference to the ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, pp. 240-241. For a collection of 'Umar II's orders on the subject of taxation and conversion, see Dennett, *Conversion and the Poll Tax*, pp. 84-85.

¹⁰⁴⁶ For the mention of the conversion of these Christians, see J. Forget, ed., *Synaxarium Alexandrinum*, vol. 2 (CSCO SA 3:19) (Paris/Leipzig, 1952), p. 30. On Khā'īl I, see the article 'Khā'īl I' by S.Y. Labib in A.S. Atiya, ed., *The Coptic Encyclopedia*, vol. 5, (New York, 1991), pp. 1410-1412. For Hoyland on these conversions, see *idem.*, *Seeing Islam*, p. 343, esp. n. 25.

communities. In an angry letter to Simeon, the Bishop of Revardashir, the East Syrian Patriarch Isho'yahb III (d. AD 659) would lament the apparent mass apostasy of Christians in Oman in order to escape having to make a payment of half their possessions to Arab authorities. The conversions were so extensive that only two members of the clergy had remained Christian. 'How is it,' Isho'yahb would ask,

that the great people of the Mazūnāyē [sc. Omanīs], having seen neither sword nor fire nor torments, have like lunatics been taken captive by a love of half their possessions and the depths of apostasy have suddenly swallowed them up and they have perished for eternity? Two charred brands with the name of the priesthood have been rescued from the blaze of wickedness, but they have amounted to nothing. Oh, oh, oh, the pain! Not one small Eucharist has been consecrated to God as a personal sacrifice on behalf of a true faith by the many thousands of people who were called Christians.¹⁰⁴⁷

Isho'yahb was so extremely upset by the voluntary mass apostasy which had occurred

in Oman that he would return to the issue later in the same letter. 'How on earth could

your Mazūnāyē,' he asked Simeon again

leave their faith on their own account? And this [they did] when, as the Mazūnāyē themselves will say, the Arabs did not force them to leave their faith. They only told them to let go of half their possessions and to keep their faith. But they have left their faith forever and held on to half their possessions for a small time. And it is that faith which all the nations have bought and are buying with the blood of their necks and through which they inherit eternal life, [life] that your Mazūnāyē have not bought with half their possessions.¹⁰⁴⁸

Isho'yahb's letter gives us evidence that the same dynamic operating in the early second/eighth century during the reign of 'Umar II and later in Goitein's Geniza period was at work in the very earliest period of post-conquest Arab rule. When faced with the choice of converting to Islam or having to make payments to Muslim authorities, people were choosing to change their religion.

If at least some people—perhaps large numbers if Ibn Sa'd's anecdotes from Egypt and Khurasan or Isho'yahb's lament about mass apostasy in Oman were symptomatic of larger trends—were undertaking conversions out of economic motives, it should come as no surprise if those conversions did not stick and that renegades went back to their previous religions when they had a chance: a religious version, as it were, of buyer's remorse. A group of people in the region of the Jazira converted to Islam, we are told by one report, but after only a little while they apostatized. When informed about it, 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz simply ordered that the *jizya* be re-imposed on them and they be left alone.¹⁰⁴⁹ Their fate was easier than that of those members of the Banū Nājiyya who had had the misfortune of meeting 'Alī's army after their reversion to Christianity, but we have another example here of a pattern of conversion to Islam followed by a return to a former religion. I quoted the *Apocalypse* of Pseudo-Methodios above decrying Christian apostasy to Islam in the late seventh century, but Muslims themselves were producing apocalyptic laments about apostasy at about the same time. At the time of the death of Yazīd b. Mu'āwiya in 64 AH/AD 683—a little less than a decade before Ps.-Methodios was written—al-Dahhāk b. Qays wrote a letter to Qays b.

translated Syriac sources (Rawalpindi, 1974), pp. 94-96, contains an ET of the two passages from this letter of Isho'yahb I have cited here as well as historical discussion. Young (p. 96) suggests that the payment in question should not be confused with a *jizya*.

¹⁰⁴⁹ 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 171.

al-Haytham in which he reported apocalyptic sentiments he attributed to Muhammad. 'I heard the Prophet of God...', al-Dahhāk wrote, 'saying that at the Hour [there will be] calamities like clouds of smoke (*gita al-dukhān*) in which a man's heart dies just as his body dies. A man will wake up a Believer and in the evening be an infidel; in the evening he will be a Believer and in the morning an infidel. People will sell their portion of happiness and their religion for a fleeting benefit of the world.¹⁰⁵⁰ Scholars who have focused on Christian anxieties about apostasy to Islam have seen only part of the story and are operating with the advantage of 20-20 hindsight. Because Muslims eventually achieved numeric supremacy in the Middle East—a centuries-long process we look for and assume that conversion away from Christianity would cause consternation within the Christian community. But of course, Christians and Muslims in the seventh and eighth centuries had no way of knowing about Islam's eventual demographic triumph. If we look a bit closer and go beyond familiar passages from well-known Christian apocalyptic texts, we find evidence that at least some of these Christian apostates do not seem to have undertaken conversions which stuck and as a result, there was an Islamic anxiety about apostasy (or reversion) which was the mirror image of the Christian worry.

Statements about penalties for Muslims apostatizing in the early period also point to this simple fact that people were converting to Islam and then having second thoughts. 'Repentance is to be sought from the apostate for three days,' 'Umar II is reported to have ordered, 'if he repents [then he is to be let go], otherwise, his neck

¹⁰⁵⁰ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 131. With reference to the ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 1, p 255.

should be cut off.¹⁰⁵¹ One report has Abū Mūsā al-Ash'arī approach Mu'ādh b. Jabal (d. 2 AH/AD 624) in Yemen accompanied by a man who had been a Jew, then converted to Islam and then gone back to Judaism. Abū Mūsā and others had been trying to bring him back to Islam for two months. 'By God,' Mu'ādh is supposed to have told Abū Mūsā, 'I will not sit down until you sever his neck.' And so, the anecdote continues, the man's head was cut off.¹⁰⁵² Ibn Mas'ūd is said to have taken hold of a group of people who had apostatized from Islam in Iraq and written to the Caliph 'Umar about them. 'Show them the religion of truth,' 'Umar replied, 'and the testimony "There is no God but God." If they accept it, leave them go. But if they don't, kill them.' Some of these people accepted, we are told, and Ibn Mas'ūd let them be, but others did not, and so he killed them.¹⁰⁵³ There are other stories involving converts to Islam who go back to their original religion as well: al-Mustawrid al-'Ijlī was killed by 'Alī b. Abī Ṭālib for having gone back to Christianity after he had converted to Islam. 'Alī is supposed to have asked him to repent and also cut a cross off of his neck. When the Christians wanted al-Mustawrid's body, 'Alī had it burned.¹⁰⁵⁴ 'Alī asked another man who had converted to Islam and then apostatized to repent for a month before finally killing him.¹⁰⁵⁵

 $^{^{1051}}$ Ibn Sa'd, Kitāb al-țabaqāt al-kabīr, vol. 7, p. 344. With reference to the ET in Bewley, Men of Madina, vol. 2, p. 218.

¹⁰⁵² 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 168.

¹⁰⁵³ 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), pp. 168-169.

¹⁰⁵⁴ For various reports on 'Alī and al-Mustawrid, see 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 170. Note that in one version of this story (no. 18711) 'Alī only strikes al-Mustawrid with his foot and then al-Mustawrid is killed 'by the people.' Cp. the burning of al-Mustawrid's body with the burning of the body of Elias of Heliopolis (d. 799), a Christian who was accused of converting to Islam and then reverting to Christianity. After Elias had been executed and miraculous stories associated with his body began, the Muslim ruler of Damascus ordered that 'before the story of these visions spread, the saint's body should be taken down from the cross and burned with fire, so, he said, Christians may not take it and build churches and perform feasts celebrating his memory.' Trans. S. McGrath in *idem.*, 'Elias of Heliopolis: The Life of an Eighth-Century Syrian Saint,' in J.W. Nesbitt, ed., *Byzantine Authors: Literary Activities and Preoccupations. Texts and Translations dedicated to the Memory of Nicolas Oikonomides* (Leiden/Boston, 2003), p. 106.

¹⁰⁵⁵ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 164.

Similarly, 'Uthmān b. 'Affān asked a man who had converted to Islam and then apostatized to repent three times and then killed him when he refused.¹⁰⁵⁶

Christian sources, too, indicate that there was movement in and out of Islam in this early period. If a person becomes a Muslim or pagan, John the Stylite wanted to know from Jacob of Edessa, and after a time repents and comes back from his paganism to Christianity, should he be baptized again?¹⁰⁵⁷ The Armenian chronicler Sebeos reported that during the First Civil War, a Muslim army of 15,000 men in Egypt converted to Christianity and was baptized.¹⁰⁵⁸ In his *Narrations Useful for the Soul*, composed ca. AD 690, Anastasios of the Sinai wrote about a certain Christian named Moses who, five years after his father died 'denied the faith of Christ' and became a Muslim. Condemned by his friends for apostasy, Moses re-converted to Christianity, but after a short while, returned to Islam; his goings back and forth between religions, Anastasios noted, earned Moses the further censure of his friends—a clear example of the sort of social pressures that might play a role in bringing converts to reconsider their decision. Anastasios himself, having been a friend of Moses as well as an old

¹⁰⁵⁶ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), p. 164.

¹⁰⁵⁷ A. Vööbus, ed. and trans., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 367-368; SS 161-162) (Louvain, 1975), p. 253 (Syriac) and pp. 231-232 (ET). P. Bedjan, ed., Nomocanon Gregorii Barhebraei בסטר גאסות: לבימלינא ובמ לי אם ביווי: מכל פיא: לבכביני ביוייבי אלא : (Paris, 1898), p. 22: ים להמאה גמיבאה ממהא בלמה, כה i שבמינא: הנממשית בלהמ, וכנא גמיבהמאה. הבג נשמלאם. Jacob of Edessa: We do not re-baptize the Christian who becomes a Hagarene or a Pagan and then returns. Instead, let the prayer of the penitents be [said] over him by the Bishop and let him be appointed a period of penitence. When he completes it, let him communicate.' Also cf. C. Kayser, Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa: übersetzt und erläutert zum theil auch zuerst im grundtext veröffentlicht (Leipzig, 1886), p. 8: המהא הביהו האמל - תלה ביווי היה לא הבירו ביו לא הא לא הא ולא הא לא הא לא הא לא הא לא לא לא לא לא א We do not baptize anew حلمه رحم زيعتهايم. ويده المعند حلمه راحيم دامم مدر بغدلم يعد فالماهد.. the Christian who becomes a Muslim or a pagan when he returns. Instead, let the prayer of the penitents be [said] over him by the bishop and let there be fixed for him a time of repentance; when he has completed it, let him communicate.' And also ibid., p. 13: خام الحمة مخم بخ مخم بخ مخم بخم بخم بخم من المالية ا א שאמאשוויראתשאא וחוא ובא ובא האמע ב, האמש ב, אומש אווו ווויא ובא וווא ווויא יוח א אמשא יוח the case of a Christian who becomes a Hagarene and returns or when he becomes a pagan and returns, let there be a prayer over him from the bishop. When he has completed the time of penitence, let him communicate.'

¹⁰⁵⁸ See R.W. Thomson, trans, with J. Howard-Johnson and T. Greenwood, *The Armenian History attributed to Sebeos*, vol. 1 (Liverpool, 1999), p. 154 and see commentary in vol. 2, p. 287.

friend of Moses' father Azarias, found Moses an apostate while visiting the town of In and rebuked him for his infidelity. 'What can I do, reverend Father,' Moses asked him,

for insofar as I turn and become a Christian, the demon harasses me and when I become an apostate again, he does not bother me at all? But the spirit has appeared to me a number of times and commanded me, saying: "Do not bow down to Christ and I will not harass you. Do not confess him as God and the Son of God and I will not draw near to you. Do not take communion and I will not trouble you. Do not make the sign of the cross and I will love you."¹⁰⁵⁹

Anastasios has also left us a brief account of a martyr known as George the Black who was likely killed in the 650s. Taken captive while a young boy, George renounced Christianity when he was eight years old and became a Muslim. When George became an adolescent and possessed of knowledge, we are told, he went back to his original Christianity, thinking little, Athanasios noted, of the fear of any human. This act did not go unnoticed: one of George's fellow slaves, an apostate himself whom Anastasios called a 'Christ-hater' (μ ισόχριστος), slanderously reported George's reversion to Christianity to their master. The master sent for George and questioned him, urging the now-Muslim apostate to pray with him, but George refused.¹⁰⁶⁰ The punishment was a harsh one: he was hung in the air from his hands and feet, with his stomach facing the ground and his master cut him in half with a sword. The inhabitants of Damascus, Athanasios reported, took George's remains and placed them in a special

¹⁰⁵⁹ See S. Heid, 'Die C-Reihe erbaulicher Erzählungen des Anastasios vom Sinai im Codex Vaticanus Graecus 2592,' Orientalia Christiana Periodica 74 (2008), pp. 91-92 (includes GT). Καὶ τί ἔχω ποιῆσαι, κύρι ἀββᾶ, ὅτι καθό τε ἀποστρέφω καὶ γίνομαι Χριστιανός, χαλεπῶς σιαίνει με ὁ δαίμων, καὶ ἐπὰν πάλιν γένωμαι ἀποστάτης, ὅλως οὐ σιαίνει με; Ἀλλὰ καὶ πολλάκις ἐφάνη μοι τὸ πνεῦμα καὶ παρήγγειλέ μοι λέγων, Μὴ προσκυνήσῃς τὸν Χριστόν, καὶ οὐ σιαίνω σε. Μὴ ὁμολογήσῃς αὐτὸν θεὸν καὶ υἱὸν θεοῦ, καὶ οὐ προσεγγἰζω σοι. Μὴ κονωνήσῃς, καὶ οὐ παρενοχλῶ σοι. Μὴ κατασφραγίσῃ, καὶ ἀγαπῶ σε. For the date of these Narrations as ca. AD 690, see Hoyland, Seeing Islam, p. 99.

¹⁰⁶⁰ For the point that praying is one way (another being pronouncing the two *shahādas*) for an apostate to re-affirm his Islam, see the discussion in Ibn Qudāma, *al-Mughnī*, vol. 12, pp. 141-143.

memorial chapel.¹⁰⁶¹ Elias of Heliopolis was accused of converting from Christianity to Islam and then going back to Christianity, a charge which he denied since he claimed to have never converted to Islam in the first place. Nevertheless, he was beaten, imprisoned and eventually executed for his apostasy from Islam. Taken before the Muslim ruler of Damascus, a nephew of the caliph al-Mahdī, the ruler informed him of an edict of the Caliph which points to Christians going back and forth between Christianity and Islam in the late eighth century as well: 'those who convert to the faith of the Arabs and then immediately convert back again to Christianity,' the ruler told Elias, 'must be imprisoned, and if then, in spite of exhortations, they do not apostatize from the faith of Christ, they should be put to death.'¹⁰⁶² Sometimes a change back to Christianity would only come when the renegade was on his deathbed: is it lawful for a priest, Addai asked Jacob, to grant absolution to one who has converted to Islam or paganism if he is at the point of death?¹⁰⁶³

According to al-Ṭabarī, the Christian reverts of the Banū Nājiyya had left Islam for Christianity because they had come to the conclusion that Christianity was better (*afḍal*) than Islam. But there were other factors driving peoples' decisions to switch back and forth between Islam and another religion, as we can see in another story involving 'Alī b. Abī Ṭālib. 'Alī, we are told, was brought an old man who had been a Christian, then converted to Islam, and then apostatized and gone back to Christianity. The first motivation 'Alī considered was a monetary one: 'You have perhaps committed

¹⁰⁶¹ Heid, 'Die C-Reihe erbaulicher Erzählungen des Anastasios vom Sinai im *Codex Vaticanus Graecus* 2592,' pp. 102-103. Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p. 352, suggests that George converted to Islam ca. 640 and was martyred in the 650s.

¹⁰⁶² Trans. S. McGrath in *idem.*, 'Elias of Heliopolis: The Life of an Eighth-Century Syrian Saint,' in J.W. Nesbitt, ed., *Byzantine Authors: Literary Activities and Preoccupations. Texts and Translations dedicated to the Memory of Nicolas Oikonomides* (Leiden/Boston, 2003), pp. 100-101.

¹⁰⁶³ A. Vööbus, ed. and trans., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367-368; SS 161-162) (Louvain, 1975), p. 261(Syriac) and pp. 238 (ET).

apostasy,' 'Alī is said to have asked him, 'only in order to obtain an inheritance—then you will return to Islam?' No, the man replied. Next, 'Alī tried another reason—maybe there was a woman behind the man's religious change. 'Then perhaps you were betrothed to a woman and they refused to marry you to her,' 'Alī continued, 'so you wanted to marry her then return to Islam?' Once again, however, the man would reply in the negative. With Marx, as it were, and Freud having failed him as explanations of the apostate's behavior, 'Alī resorted to a bald exhortation: 'Then come back to Islam!' No, the man responded again, 'Until I meet Christ [i.e., until I die],' he went on, 'No!' 'Alī reacted by ordering that the man's head be cut off and his inheritance be given to his Muslim children.¹⁰⁶⁴

Understanding many conversions as often being nominal, motivated by expediency or undertaken based on considerations in which non-religious factors figured most prominently is one way of understanding the harshness of punishments to be meted out to apostates. It was quite simple: if the doors were not locked tightly, people might leave. And the complaints of some of 'Umar II's correspondents which we saw above suggest that at least some Muslims, neither enthused at the effects of the new converts on tax revenues nor persuaded by the purity of those converts' motives, would not have been saddened by their return to their original religions.

In some of the accounts of Christian apostasy which we have seen—such as in the *Chronicle of Zuqnin*—conversion to Islam and a rejection of Christianity is spelled out in what might be termed doctrinally-heavy language: the conversion is understood in part as a setting aside of one set of propositions about God, Christ, Muḥammad and

¹⁰⁶⁴ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1983), pp. 169-170.

taking up a new set. It was in this vein that Athanasios of the Sinai called the renegade Christian slave who informed his master of George the Black's reversion to Christianity a 'Christ-hater.' Such language, however, is very misleading. It is highly unlikely that this renegade, especially if he came from a Christian background, had any hostility towards Christ. I have tried to point out that the Qur'ān and Islam have historically been quite positive towards the person of Christ and this has been a major selling point used by Muslim proselytizers to woo Christians. An Islam which was hostile towards the figure of Christ would have no doubt been much less successful in converting what were some of the oldest, most populous and most intellectually sophisticated Christian regions in the world to its new religion.

Old Wine in New Wineskins: Understanding Religious Change

And it is now we can begin to see some of the payoff for jettisoning a model of early Christian-Muslim interaction which focuses on the differences in doctrines between the two religions and which pays an inordinate amount of attention to Christian-Muslim dispute texts. Such a focus is fundamentally misleading because it is first and foremost elitist. As I have attempted to point out, focusing on points of theological difference between Christians and Muslims takes as representative of Christian and Muslim viewpoints and theology the people whose views were probably the *least* representative of what the overwhelming majority of Christians and Muslims actually believed—intellectual and theological elites, persons who were often sectarian and spiritual entrepreneurs engaged in attempts at community formation, boundary maintenance and 'sheep stealing' from other confessions. In contrast to this, however, in previous chapters, I sought to show that the focus of most ordinary believers was on

451

things like health, safety and sheer survival and suggested that a more fruitful and productive way of thinking about Christianity in the seventh and eighth centuries was as a commitment to and belief in the power of certain symbols and rituals to help cope with the immediate and pressing struggles of everyday life.

If to be a Christian in this period meant to have a commitment to and belief in the power of certain things such as the Cross, the Eucharist, Baptism, the figure of Jesus—without necessarily being able to articulate the precise theological plumbing associated with each of them-then in certain respects an Islam that was itself doctrinally lite, as I have attempted to suggest, among the mass of its early adherents and still very much in the process of development, dispute and debate among the much smaller number of its own theological and spiritual entrepreneurs, was poised in a very advantageous position ideologically to win over large numbers of Christians to its new faith. If, for a Christian, becoming a Muslim meant only abjuration of certain rarefied doctrines which were only partially understood, or not understood at all and therefore incompletely believed (if at all) and playing no part in one's life, and at the same time conversion held out the possibility of maintaining an adherence to many familiar and cherished Christian symbols and rituals while escaping certain economic burdens, then the change that becoming a Muslim represented was as potentially attractive as it was small—which is to say, very.

Out With the Old, In with the...Old

At present, however, I am concerned with the question of understanding early Christian-Muslim interaction and religious conversion once we have abandoned a doctrinal perspective on these two religions and understood them in terms of rituals

452

and symbols. What is very important to point out is that it seems to have been the case that it was both possible and easy for a person to become a Muslim and yet maintain one's veneration for Christian symbols and rituals: one could move into a new house, so to speak, but keep much of the same and comfortable furniture from one's previous habitation. Later periods in Islamic history are much better documented in this regard. F.W. Hasluck pointed to numerous examples of wide-ranging continuations of Christian practices and use of Christian symbols by Muslims in the medieval and Ottoman periods: a cross marked on a stone used for curing; bread inscribed with crosses before baking; cross tattoos; phylacteries with the name 'wood of the Cross;' a cross placed in the minaret of a mosque to defend against bad luck; Muslim women having their babies baptized for protection; the name of Jesus or a cross or the first lines of the Gospel of John worn in protective amulets, for example.¹⁰⁶⁵ Similarly, Manolis Peponakis has collected evidence of a deep and extensive persistence of former Christian practices among rural converts to Islam in Crete: they wore the same clothes, drank wine and ate pork, invoked the Virgin, calling her 'Meire-Mana' (Μεϊρέ-μάνα), revered Christ, Saint John, Saint Spiridon, took ex-voto offerings to the Monastery of St George (whose feast day coincided with the Bektashis' spring festival), carried small lamps to country chapels, accepted the blessings of priests and called to the Virgin for help for pregnant women, took part in rites Christians performed to drive away plague and would even pay for Christian baptisms, though they themselves would not be present at the actual performance of the Mystery.¹⁰⁶⁶ Writing about the Balkans, Speros Vryonis noted a host of Christian survivals among Muslim communities there: not only did Muslims have

¹⁰⁶⁵ F.W. Hasluck, Christianity and Islam under the Sultans, vol. 1, (Oxford, 1929), pp. 30-37.

¹⁰⁶⁶ I have here basically translated a passage from Μ. Πεπονάκης, Εξισλαμισμοί και επανεκχριστιανισμοί στην Κρήτη (1645-1899) (Rethymno, 1997), pp. 75-76.

their children baptized, they also venerated Christian holy men and saints. What's more,

Many observed Easter by taking colored eggs from the Christians, which, they believed, would assure good health. In connection with health, they brought ill children to church on Good Friday, visited the local *ayasma* [sacred spring], sought the blessing of the priest in church on feast days, and took holy water from the priest for the benefit of the family members and the livestock. They made offerings to church icons, frequently and covertly kept church books and icons in their houses, and continued to perform animal sacrifices in the courtyards of certain churches and monasteries.

Muslim wedding ceremonies used pre-Islamic elements, Vryonis noted, Muslims continued celebrating the feast days of the saints who had been their family patrons when they were still Christian, and celebrated the feasts of Christian saints such as George, John, Peter and Barbara.¹⁰⁶⁷

We have no reason to believe that in the earliest centuries of Islamic history, when the script of Islamic orthodoxy was still being hammered out the situation would have been any less hybrid and mixed-up than it was in the later periods which scholars like Hasluck, Peponakis, and Vyronis studied; in fact, because what would become the central institutions, rites, texts and habits of later Islamic orthodoxies either did not yet exist or were in their very earliest stages of development, we should assume that the level of hybridity in this early period was even greater, especially if the large majority of Muslims had become Muslim through group conversion and possessed little profound acquaintance with the content, such as it was, of their new religion. For all

¹⁰⁶⁷ See S. Vryonis, 'Religious Changes and Patterns in the Balkans, 14th-16th Centuries,' in H. Birnbaum and S. Vryonis, Jr., eds., *Aspects of the Balkans: Continuity and Change. Contributions to the International Balkan Conference held at UCLA, October 23-28, 1969* (The Hague/Paris, 1972), pp. 173-176, quote on p. 175. My thinking about the role of religious syncretism played in Christian-Muslim conversion has been influenced by Vryonis' ideas, both in this article as well as in his The Decline of Medieval Hellenism in *Asia Minor and the Process of Islamization from the Eleventh through the Fifteenth Century* (Berkeley/Los Angeles/London, 1971), pp. 351-402.

our labels—Miaphyiste, Chalcedonian, Nestorian, Muslim, pagan, etc.—all the people we are dealing with in the seventh century shared one fundamental and inescapable fact in common: they were human beings and as such, had similar worries and anxieties about health, safety, their families, death and the afterlife as others did. Such concerns were ecumenical and interfaith in the broadest sense and many showed pronounced willingness to be equally interfaith and ecumenical when it came to dealing with these anxieties. Part of the growth and development of Christianity entailed a working out of a repertoire of tools for addressing and dealing with such issues of pressing concern and many Muslims seemed to have no great qualms in availing themselves of such resources and Christian converts to Islam seemed to see no great contradiction or tension in continuing to draw upon them once they had crossed over into a different religion; this is the dynamic underlying the sorts of hybridity of religious practice that we see in the Ottoman period. We have no reason to believe that it was a phenomenon which began only at that relatively late date, either.

Indeed, if we go over our sources from the seventh and eighth centuries we will find traces and hints of precisely the same sort of Muslim continuation of and veneration for Christian symbols and rituals going on which is so abundantly documented for later periods. The Arabs, Isho'yahb III would write in the middle of the seventh century, 'are not only not opposed to Christianity, they also sing the praises of our Faith and honor priests and the saints of Our Lord and aid churches and monasteries.'¹⁰⁶⁸ At the end of the same century, John of Phenek would attribute the

coming of Arab rule to God's care for Christians. 'We should not think of the advent (of the children of Hagar) as something ordinary,' he wrote,

but as due to divine working. Before calling them (God) had prepared them beforehand to hold Christians in honour; thus they also had a special commandment from God concerning our monastic station, that they should hold it in honour.¹⁰⁶⁹

Theodota of Amid (d. AD 698) was a holy man who was active in northern Mesopotamia over the course of the second half of the seventh century and in his Life we find more than just broad statements expressing a generally positive Arab disposition towards Christianity or Christians. What we find are a number of instances where Arabs show respect, deference and even reverence for Christian figures, symbols and institutions. When the Miaphysite Patriarch Theodore died ca. AD 649, for example, we are told that 'his disciples and the members of his monastery wept, as did the cities and villages and the believing peoples and the Arabs.¹⁰⁷⁰ Within the first decades of the Arab conquest, therefore, a Christian patriarch might hold a position of honor for Muslims such that his death would be mourned by them and Christians alike. Arab reverence for the Patriarch Theodore was no isolated incident, either. Later in the *Life* we find the Patriarch Julian II (sed. AD 687-708) receiving similar treatment. Theodore 'entered Amid with great honor,' the Life states, 'and the Christians and the Arabs who were present in Amid went out to meet him.' And if the Arabs who celebrated Julian's entry along with the Christians of Amid were bothered by the lamps,

יאר ארביא הבגוא הבאוא ארבי אושט ארביא ארבי הערבי אושט ידי אושט ארביא ארא ארבי אושט ידי ארא ארבי אושט ידי ארא אר given in this time authority over the world, [who] indeed, as you know, are with us and are not only not against Christianity but are people who praise our faith and who honor our priests and the saints of Our Lord and people who support churches and monasteries...'

¹⁰⁶⁹ Translation S.P. Brock in *idem.*, 'North Mesopotamia in the Late Seventh Century: Book XV of John Bar Penkāyē's Rīš Mellē,' Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam 9 (1987), p. 57.

¹⁰⁷⁰ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 548b (section 29 in my edition). For the Syriac, see Mardin 275/8, p. 491. For Theodore's date of death, see W. Hage, *Die syrisch-jacobitische Kirche in frühislamischer Zeit.* Nach orientalischen Quellen (Wiesbaden, 1966) (table insert).

crosses and incense that the *Life* notes were present there, their displeasure was not noted by the *Life*.¹⁰⁷¹

Theodota, for his part, was a charismatic holy man who could work miracles. His ecumenical appeal and power extended to include Jews, Muslims, pagans and heretical (i.e., non-Miaphysite) Christians and we see a number of occasions where Arab Muslims act reverentially towards this Christian saint; Theodota's *Life* even credits him with saving 'many souls from among the Arabs and Romans' in the border area between the Caliphate and Byzantium.¹⁰⁷² Muslim authorities were attracted to this figure. The governor of Dara, called Ilūstrayya in the Life, was keen to meet Theodota and when the holy man passed near the city, we are told that this official and 'his wife went out along with their children and they prostrated before them and were blessed by him.' Eager to have Theodota stay in his region, Ilūstrayya promised the holy man that he would pay the *jizya* of the monastery of Mar Abay at Qeleth out of his own pocket at Theodota's request. Theodota settled at Mar Abay and built a cell there.¹⁰⁷³ Earlier, while Theodota was staying at the Monastery of Mar Shem'ūn in Qartmin, the Arab governor ($lpha \rho \chi \omega \nu$) of Tūr 'Abdīn came to visit him and sought to be blessed by him and enjoy his conversation. But Theodota demurred. He later relented and visited the governor in his camp. When the holy man approached him, 'the governor rose up and prostrated to him,' we are told

and said, 'You are Theodota, whose report has gone out.' Then the Blessed One said to him, 'What you have heard about me is a lie, for I am weak and a sinner.

¹⁰⁷¹ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 556a (section 133 in my edition). For the Syriac, see Mardin 275/8, p. 544.

¹⁰⁷³ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 555b (section 127 in my edition).

And I have gone out weeping over my sins.' The governor said, 'Look! Truly you are a disciple of Jesus and a Blessed One among the people!'¹⁰⁷⁴

Theodota had had the option of saying no to the Arab ruler who wanted to speak with him and receive his blessing, but this does not always seem to have been the case for Christian clergy who were being sought out by Muslim officials. What should be done, Addai asked Jacob, if an Amīr commands the steward of a monastery to eat with him from the same dish? Should the man eat or should he refuse? 'I do not permit him,' Jacob replied, 'but necessity does.'¹⁰⁷⁵

The Arab official who had wanted to see Theodota had sought him out because of his reputation, but Theodota's reception among Arab administrators was not uniformly positive, at least initially. Because the holy man had written a letter to people living in Byzantine territory, an unnamed Arab who was in authority over Amid had Theodota seized and accused him of being a friend of the Byzantines. This action upset not only the entire city, we are told, but also all of the Arab cavalry there. Theodota was dragged to the local mosque and when the accusing Arab kicked him and he fell to the ground, 'all the Arabs cried out with a great shout and there was great pain in the Church of Our Lord.' The Arabs, like the Christians, were clearly not happy at the way Theodota was being treated. The Arab leader, however, was soon humbled: God took his sight away. Desperate, he sent for Theodota

¹⁰⁷⁴ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 555b, (section 126 in my edition). In Syriac, the governor is called both منصب and مندمت For the Syriac text, see Mardin 275/8, p. 538.

He fell down, prostrating to him and said, 'O Friend of God, have mercy on me! And forgive me leave for what I have sinned against you; and give me the light of my eyes which you have taken from me!

Theodota would heal the Muslim authority by making the sign of the cross in the name of Jesus over his eyes.¹⁰⁷⁶ This was a moment of great triumph for the Christian holy man. He went out from the ruler's presence, we are told, in a great procession and 'Christians, Arabs and pagans were blessed by him.' The leader who had persecuted him was soon recalled from his position and, as he was leaving Amid, fell from his horse and died from his injury. 'And so the people feared God and feared His servant,' the Life tells us.¹⁰⁷⁷ Not long after this, Theodota was made Bishop of Amid. Everyone in the city rejoiced, including its administrators, presumably Muslims, who were 'radiant in every adornment,' as well as 'the Arabs and all the cavalry, who were giving pleasing things to the city.¹⁰⁷⁸ Later in his life, Theodota would be given authority over the legal affairs of all the Christians of Amid, and it seems that the Christian bishop had the respect and obedience of local Muslim administrators: 'So the fear of the Blessed One was upon all the people; and on the chief men and administrators and those who stand before the officers of the ruler of this world,' the *Life* reports, 'They were obeying his command and the city and its territory were preserved from evils.¹⁰⁷⁹ Also late in life, Theodota passed through Edessa where, we are told, the chief men and administrators 'rejoiced when they heard about the Holy Theodota and they sought to see him with

¹⁰⁷⁶ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 556b (sections 135-136 in my edition). For the Syriac text, see Mardin 275/8, pp. 547-549.

¹⁰⁷⁷ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fols. 556b-557a (section 137 in my edition). For the Syriac text, see Mardin 275/8, p. 549.

¹⁰⁷⁹ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 558a (section 158 in my edition).

every effort. They went out to him and they greeted him and he prayed for them.'¹⁰⁸⁰ Similarly, according to Theophanes, the Caliph Hishām was friends with a monk from Syria named Stephen, whom he allowed the Christians to elect as Patriarch of Antioch, ending a forty-year period in which permission to elect a patriarch had not been granted by Muslim authorities.¹⁰⁸¹

Attraction to the power of the Christian holy man transcended all sectarian and confessional boundaries. The Miaphysite martyrology of Rabban Sliba, for example, would include a number of Chalcedonian saints among those it commemorated.¹⁰⁸² In this same vein, though Theodota was a Miaphysite we find a Nestorian in pain seeking him out for healing and prayer.¹⁰⁸³ Muslims, too, approached Theodota for help: 'A certain Arab came to the Holy One,' the *Life* states.

He had been seized by a difficult pain and was unable to walk. He therefore fell before the feet of the Holy One. His disciple begged him to pray for him, so he gave an order and a blessing came, then he anointed him with it. And he went away healthy and thanking $God.^{1084}$

We have other examples of Christian holy men healing Muslims. Rabban

Khudhāwī healed the withered limb of one of the Caliph Mu'āwiya's daughters by

baptizing her.¹⁰⁸⁵ When 'Ubayd Allāh b. Ziyād (d. 67 AH/AD 686), the governor of Iraq,

was suffering from a pain in his leg that was so bad he could not stand on it, he sent to

¹⁰⁸² See. P. Peeters, 'Le martyrologe de Rabban Sliba,' Analecta Bollandiana 27 (1927), p. 134.

¹⁰⁸⁰ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 560a (section 185 in my edition). A little while later (St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 560b (section 192 in my edition) and Mardin 275/8, pp. 575-576, we learn that the 'leaders and nobles' (حتدت منحات) of Mardin, Dara, Tur 'Abdin, and Ḥesnā d-Kīfā (= Stone Fortress) were eager to come out and meet Theodota and be blessed by him. Some of these may have been Muslims, some may have been Christians.

¹⁰⁸¹ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 577.

¹⁰⁸³ St Mark's Jerusaelm 199, fol. 560b (section 196 in my edition). For the Syriac, see Mardin 275/8, p. 576.

¹⁰⁸⁴ St Mark's Jerusaelm 199, fol. 560b (section 195 in my edition). For the Syriac, see Mardin 275/8, p. 576.

¹⁰⁸⁵ See A. Scher, ed. and trans., *Histoire nestorienne (Chronique de Séert)*, pt. 2, (PO 13) (Paris, 1919), p. 594 (with FT). For this, S. Qāshā, Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī khilāfat banī Umayya, vol. 3 (Beirut, 2005), p. 584.

the Christian holy man 'Abdā b. Hanīf for help. Mar 'Abdā sent 'Ubayd Allāh his staff with the advisory that when he used it for support, he would be healed; sure enough, once he used the staff, 'Ubayd Allāh was cured immediately.¹⁰⁸⁶ In the mid-seventh century, 'Utba, the governor of the province of Beth Garmai asked Sabrīshū', the area's metropolitan, to pray for two of his daughters who were afflicted by Satan. After seven days of his constant fasting, the girls were healed.¹⁰⁸⁷ Also in the seventh century, John of Daylam visited 'Abd al-Malik in Damascus. The Caliph 'asked him to pray for his daughter, who was tried by demons. She was healed, and the king, delighted, gave him royal gifts.' John, however, did not want gifts: what he wanted was permission to build churches and monasteries, so 'Abd al-Malik obliged, giving an order that John should be permitted to build churches and monasteries wherever he wanted and at the ruler's expense, no less.¹⁰⁸⁸ According to a verse panegyric on John of Daylam, however, it was 'Abd al-Malik's son, not his daughter that John healed: 'John washed his cross (in water) and signed it over the child's head, whereupon he was healed.¹⁰⁸⁹ John also visited the famous Muslim governor al-Hajjāj b. Yūsuf whom, according to the same panegyric, he cured of cancer; Arabic sources in fact offer some corroboration of this account of John's treatment of al-Hajjāj.¹⁰⁹⁰ The Chalcedonian Stephen of Mar Sabas (d. 794) was another such ecumenical and interfaith figure. 'Every request brought to him, he fulfilled,' his *Life* tells us, 'whether it be of the spirit or the body. He denied no one, but

¹⁰⁸⁶ See A. Scher, ed. and trans., *Histoire nestorienne (Chronique de Séert)*, pt. 2, (PO 13) (Paris, 1919), p. 589 (with FT). For this, see S. Qāshā, *Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī khilāfat banī Umayya*, vol. 3 (Beirut, 2005), p. 584.

¹⁰⁸⁷ See A. Scher, ed. and trans., *Histoire nestorienne (Chronique de Séert)*, pt. 2, (PO 13) (Paris, 1919), p. 632 (with FT). For this, see S. Qāshā, *Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī khilāfat banī Umayya*, vol. 3 (Beirut, 2005), p. 584. For Sabrīshū' as possibly a contemporary of Isho'yahb III, see Scher, p. 632, n. 1.

¹⁰⁸⁸ Translation S.P. Brock in *idem.*, 'A Syriac Life of John of Dailam,' *Parole de l'orient* 10 (1981-1982), pp. 148-149, quote on p. 148.

¹⁰⁸⁹ Translation Brock in 'A Syriac Life of John of Dailam,' p. 165.

¹⁰⁹⁰ See Brock, 'A Syriac Life of John of Dailam,' p. 168.

received all with the same respect, not favoring one above another. He showed mercy and compassion not only to Christians but also to Muslims. These he would feed with abundant food of diverse kinds.'¹⁰⁹¹ Was it right, John of Litarb had asked Jacob of Edessa, for a priest to give the blessings of the saints to Hagarenes and pagans who were afflicted by evil spirits, that they might rub them and thereby be healed? Jacob had been unequivocal in his response: it was by all means right to do so and such things should be given without restraint.¹⁰⁹² Muslims, too, would later show a latitudinarian attitude towards confronting problems and afflictions which were common across religious borders. When he was asked, Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal (d. 241 AH/AD 855) saw no harm in People of the Book making supplication for rain (*istisqā'*) alongside Muslims.¹⁰⁹³

Christian churches seem to have been objects of interest for some Muslims. This, at least, is presumed by a clause in one version of the so-called 'Pact of 'Umar': 'we will not raise our voices in prayer or in [scriptural] recitation,' the Christians promise, 'in our churches while Muslims are present.'¹⁰⁹⁴ Other versions of the 'Pact of 'Umar' had clauses in which Christians promised to not forbid Muslims from staying there, day or not, and in which they agreed to open their doors to travelers and wayfarers.¹⁰⁹⁵ Muslim interest in churches is borne out by other evidence as well. In a short report, Ismā'īl b. Rāfi' spoke of visiting 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz in a church after he was made

¹⁰⁹¹ Trans. J.C. Lamoreaux in *idem.*, ed. and trans., *The Life of Stephen of Mar Sabas*, (Arabic) p. 146; (ET) p. 131.

¹⁰⁹² See K.-E. Rignell, A Letter from Jacob of Edessa to John the Stylite of Litarab Concerning Ecclesiastical Canons edited from Ms. Br. Mus. Add. 14,493 with Introduction, Translation and Commentary. Syriac Text with Introduction, Translation and Commentary (Lund, 1979), p. 52. The Syriac text with an ET can be found above in n. 738.

¹⁰⁹³ See Abū Bakr Aḥmad b. Muḥammad b. Hārūn b. Yazīd al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'lzanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, (Riyadh, 1996), p. 120 (no.s 127-128).

¹⁰⁹⁴ wa-lā narfa'u aṣwātanā fī 'l-ṣalāt wa-lā al-qirā'a fī kanā'isinā fīmā yaḥḍuruhu al-Muslimūn. See Ibn Taymiyya, Iqtiḍā' al-ṣirāṭ al-mustaqīm mukhālafat aṣḥāb al-jaḥīm (Cairo, 1950), p. 121.

¹⁰⁹⁵ See the two versions of the *shurūț* '*umariyya* ('stipulations of 'Umar') recorded in Ibn Qayyim al-Jawziyya, Aḥkām ahl al-dhimma, vol. 2 (Beirut, 1995), pp. 113, 114.

Caliph.¹⁰⁹⁶ It is not clear what exactly 'Umar was doing there, and this may not have been immediately after he was declared Caliph; nevertheless, 'Umar II was not the first Umayyad to go to a church after becoming Caliph. According to the mid-seventh century *Maronite Chronicle*, after being made Caliph in Jerusalem, Muʻāwiya 'went up and sat down on Golgotha; he prayed there, and went to Gethsemane and went down to the tomb of the blessed Mary to pray in it.¹⁰⁹⁷ What is more, when an earthquake destroyed the ciborium and two walls of the church of Edessa in 59 AH/AD 679, Mu'āwiya ordered them rebuilt.¹⁰⁹⁸ And 'Abd al-Malik, as we have just seen, is supposed to have offered to pay for whatever churches and monasteries John of Daylam wanted to build. Ilūstrayya, the administrator of Dara, helped Theodota build his monastery at the end of the holy man's life.¹⁰⁹⁹ Imperial patronage of church and monastery construction may explain why, writing even as the Dome of the Rock was under construction, Anastasios of the Sinai reported the story of his own personal realization that demons had been at work clearing rubble off the Temple Mount thirty years previous: he considered it necessary to write such things down 'on account of those who think and say that what is being built right now in Jerusalem is a temple of God.' In other words, while the Dome of the Rock was being built, it seems, at least some

¹⁰⁹⁶ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, p. 374. With reference to the ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 2, p. 240.

¹⁰⁹⁷ Translation Palmer in Palmer, et al., *The Seventh Century in the West-Syrian Chronicles*, p. 31.

¹⁰⁹⁸ See J.-B. Chabot, ed. Chronique de Michel le syrien, patriarche jacobite de Antioche (1166-1199) (Paris, 1899-1910), vol. 4 (Syriac) 436-437; vol. 2 (FT) 457.

Christians believed that it was some sort of Christian structure. The Dome of the Rock's physical similarity to other Christian structures also could have played a role in this belief among Christians that 'Abd al-Malik was building a church. After all, only a few miles from Jerusalem was the fifth-century Church of the Kathisma, an octagonal structure, built around a sacred rock (where the Virgin had sat to rest on two different occasions—hence the church's name), which had undergone restoration in the early seventh century and whose mosaics in places resembled those of the Dome of the Rock.¹¹⁰⁰ Whatever the causes behind these Christian rumors that 'Abd al-Malik was building a church on the Temple Mount, Anastasios was certain the Caliph was doing no such thing: 'For how could a temple of God be built in that place?' he asked, citing Christ's statement that the area would be a wasteland (Mt. 23:38).¹¹⁰¹

And Caliphs, of course, were not the only Muslims who were interested in churches. Throughout Syria, churches were turned into mosques after the conquests, or partitioned to serve as places of worship for both Christians and Muslims.¹¹⁰² In the *Life* of Theodota we even find Arabs present at one of the holy man's homilies.¹¹⁰³ Yāqūt

¹¹⁰⁰ On the Church of the Kathisma and the Dome of the Rock, see O. Grabar, *The Dome of the Rock* (Cambridge, Mass./London, 2006), pp. 104-106. Grabar, p. 106, is cautious in accepting the idea that the Church of the Kathisma served as a model for the Dome of the Rock. I am not, however, making such a suggestion here, but am rather speculating that the resemblance between the two structures may have caused some to think that 'Abd al-Malik's new structure would be a church like the nearby Church of the Kathisma.

¹¹⁰¹ Heid, 'Die C-Reihe erbaulicher Erzählungen des Anastasios vom Sinai im *Codex Vaticanus Graecus* 2592,' p. 82: Ταῦτα δὲ ἀναγκαῖον ἐσκόπησα ἐντάξαι διὰ τοὺς νομίζοντας καὶ λέγοντας ναὸν θεοῦ εἶναι τὸν νῦν κτιζόμενον ἐν Ἱεροσολύμοις. Πῶς γὰρ κτισθήσεται ναὸς θεοῦ ἐν τῷ τόπῳ ἐκείνῳ; See also B. Flusin, 'L'esplanade du temple a l'arrivée des arabes, d'après deux récits byzantins,' in J. Raby and J. Johns, eds., *Bayt al-Maqdis: 'Abd al-Malik's Jerusalem. Part One* (Oxford, 1992), pp. 17-31.

¹¹⁰² See K.A.C. Creswell, A Short Account of Early Muslim Architecture (repr. Beirut, 1968), p. 7.

¹¹⁰³ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 557a (section 143 in my edition): 'On Sunday, the entire city assembled to convey the Holy One up to the church. And he spoke to them from the pulpit; when he ascended for his homily, the Arabs and the Christians gathered to see him and the church was filled inside and out and there was an enormous multitude. At the end of his homily, he fell down on his face before all of them above the pulpit and there was a great cry and much weeping.' For the Syriac, see Mardin 275/8, p. 551.

(d. 626 AH/AH 1229) reported that he had heard that the monks of the Monastery of Bar Sawmā near Melitene would pay the Byzantine Emperor 10,000 dinars every year on behalf of Muslims who had made vows there.¹¹⁰⁴ Various *hadīth* attributed to 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb have him refusing to go into churches on account of the images (suwar or *tamāthīl*) present in them and Ibn 'Abbās, we are told, disapproved of praying in churches if there were images (*tamāthīl*) in them.¹¹⁰⁵ The existence of such reports suggests, of course, that some Muslims had no such qualms, and even in normative Islamic sources we can find intimations of the spectrum of attitudes towards Muslim prayer in Christian places of worship which are suggested by reports of such activities in Christian texts. The last *hadīth* listed by 'Abd al-Razzāq's section on 'Prayer in a church' has Salmān al-Fārisī—himself a Christian renegade—seeking a place to pray. 'Seek a pure heart,' a foreign woman ('ilja) told him, 'and pray where you will.'¹¹⁰⁶ ''Ilja' can also have the connotation 'unbeliever,'¹¹⁰⁷ but 'Abd al-Razzāq would hardly have recorded a normative anecdote of Salmān taking advice about where to pray from a non-Muslim. What this incident may be suggestive of, therefore, is the openness of foreign converts to Islam to the use of their former places of worship for Islamic prayer.

Churches also held attractions for Muslims who were not former Christian converts. 'Āmir b. 'Abd Allāh b. 'Abd al-Qays, who died at some point during the reign

¹¹⁰⁴ See Abū 'Abd Allāh Yāqūt b. 'Abd Allāh al-Ḥamawī, *Mu'jam al-buldān*, vol. 2 (Beirut, 1957), p. 500. For this point, see S. A. Mourad, 'Christian Monks in Islamic Literature: A Preliminary Report on Some Arabic Apothegmata Patrum,' *Bulletin of the Royal Institute for Inter-faith Studies* 6:2 (2004), p. 84.

¹¹⁰⁵ For these reports, see 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 1(Beirut, 1970), pp. 411-412 ('Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb: nos. 1610, 1611; Ibn 'Abbās: no. 1608).

¹¹⁰⁶ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 1 (Beirut, 1970), p. 412 (no. 1612).

¹¹⁰⁷ See E.W. Lane, An Arabic-English Lexicon (London, 1863), s.v. 'ilj.

of Mu'āwiya, was famous for his ascetic ways.¹¹⁰⁸ When Ka'b al-Aḥbār saw 'Āmir in Syria he said of him, 'This is the monk of this community.'¹¹⁰⁹ Ibn Sa'd records a story in which 'Āmir and a group of others made a raid. Afterwards, the Muslims camped in a certain spot, but 'Āmir went away and alighted at a church. Placing a man at the church's door, he gave a stern order that no one was to be allowed to enter in to his presence. When the commander of the raid asked to be allowed to come in, 'Āmir agreed. 'I adjure you by God—may He make you remember,' 'Āmir told him, 'to cause me to desire this world or make me indifferent to the next.'¹¹¹⁰ Given his ascetic profile, 'Āmir's choice of visiting this church and wanting solitude there seems to have hardly been coincidental.

Not all Arab interest in what was going on inside churches was always as benign as in the cases of Muʻāwiya, 'Umar II, the Arabs who attended Theodota's homily, 'Āmir b. 'Abd Allāh, and perhaps Salmān and his foreign female advisor. 'Is it necessary that the doors of the church be shut when the Eucharist is being celebrated?', John the Stylite of Litarb asked Jacob of Edessa. It is indeed necessary, Jacob responded, 'especially on account of the Hagarenes, lest they enter into the church and mix with the believers and disturb them and mock the holy mysteries.'¹¹¹¹ What should happen

¹¹⁰⁸ For 'Āmir, see al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā*' al-rijāl, vol. 14 (Beirut, 1988), pp. 64-65.

¹¹⁰⁹ Trans. A. Bewley, in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 68. Arabic in Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 79.

¹¹¹⁰ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 79. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 68.

to a holy *tablīthā*, Addai asked Jacob, referring to a consecrated block of wood placed on the altar for the Eucharistic celebration,¹¹¹² which the Arabs have eaten meat upon and left with stained and defiled with fat? A *tablīthā* upon which pagans have eaten, Jacob responded, is no longer an altar. It can be washed and used for other purposes, or perhaps broken up and buried in the earth, but it will be retired from Eucharistic duties.¹¹¹³ In his *Questions and Answers* Anastasios of the Sinai, Jacob's contemporary, wrote about Arabs defiling Christian altars and holy places¹¹¹⁴ and, similarly, in his *Stories Useful for the Soul* Anastasios wrote about twenty four Arabs living in and defiling a church dedicated to the martyr Theodore located in a village outside of Damascus named Karsatas: one of the Arabs even shot an arrow at the image of St Theodore in the church.¹¹¹⁵

We have other narrative sources which put a fuller face on what can seem rather abstract when read as part of Jacob's canons. While he was still a Muslim, Rawḥ al-Qurashī (d. AD 799), actually lived in the Monastery of St Theodore in Damascus. Rawḥ was, we are told, very fond of the church there: he would steal its Eucharist and eat it, would drink what remained of the consecrated wine in the cup. He would take crosses from their places, tear up altar coverings and frequently show up when the

 $^{^{\}rm 1112}$ I am grateful to Sebastian Brock for giving me this definition of a *țablīthā*.

¹¹¹³ Mardin 310, fol. 200a: جنعت حناز معلد ملهج، :جد، مه جدیل ۲۵۵۵ جدی معرفی معند معرفی معرفی

¹¹¹⁴ See M. Richard and J.A Munitiz, edd., *Anastasii Sinaitae: Questiones et Responsiones* (Turnhout, 2006), p. 161 ...θυσιαστήρια θεοῦ πάλιν καὶ τόπους τιμίους μολύνοντες...

¹¹¹⁵ See Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' p. 64.

priest and congregation were in the church. Rawh's sitting room overlooked the church and on Sundays, he would drink alcohol and watch the Christians in their liturgy beneath him.¹¹¹⁶ During the life of the East Syrian Mar Johannan (d. AD 692), we are told that an 'Ishmaelite leader' came and made his dwelling among the hovels of the monks at Mar Johannan's monastery. The saint asked the Arab to leave two times but, indignant, he refused. As a result, the saint cursed him; the Arab's wife then gave birth to 'two people that were in one body, stuck together,' i.e., Siamese twins. Humbled, the Arab asked Mar Johannan to give the order that the child die, lest he have shame before his friends and fellow tribesmen on its account. 'And with the word of that man of the Lord, Mar Johannan,' the *History of the Monastery of Sabrīshū*' continues, 'the body died and that Arab went quickly away.'¹¹¹⁷

Rawh al-Qurashī was portrayed as recklessly irreverent in his behavior in a Christian church, but not all Muslims seem to have been so cavalier when it came to the Eucharist. Jacob of Edessa spoke of Muslims who took Eucharistic elements and brought them back from the land of the Greeks. Ultimately, their conscience led them to turn the host over to Jacob. He in turn restored it to the possession of Chalcedonians.¹¹¹⁸ What is important here is that Muslims had focused at all on the Eucharist as an item of value. The fact that they would take the trouble to remove the Eucharistic elements, transport them long distances, and then turn them over, presumably intact, to a member of the Christian clergy for reasons of conscience

¹¹¹⁶ See I. Dick, 'La passion arabe de S. Antoine Ruwaḥ: néo-martyr de Damas († 25 déc. 799),' *Le muséon* 74 (1961), p. 119 (FT on p. 127). On the vocalization of Anthony's Arabic/pre-baptismal name Rawḥ and on his name in general, see S.K. Samir, 'Saint Rawḥ al-Qurašī: etude d'onomastique arabe et authenticité de sa passion,' *Le Muséon* 105 (1992), pp. 343-359.

¹¹¹⁷ My translation. For the Syriac text, see A. Mingana, *Sources Syriaques* vol. 1, (Mosul, 1908), p. 199; (FT), pp. 247-248. cf. also Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p. 210.

¹¹¹⁸ Vööbus, ed., The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I (CSCO 367: SS 161) pp. 243-244. (See n. 557 above).

suggests that Muslims, like Christians, viewed those elements as possessing distinct and special powers.

I will speak about this more in the next chapter, but Christian women were marrying Muslim men and this was no doubt a motor driving the hybridity of practices among adherents to the new Islamic religion. In a letter which perhaps dates from 684, Athanasios II of Balad decried Christian women who were 'unlawfully' and 'inappropriately' marrying 'pagan' men; the 'pagans' he was referring to may have in fact been Muslims. Christian men also come under Athanasios' censure in this letter: 'greedy slaves of the belly,' they were mixing with the pagans in their eating and, along with the women who were marrying pagan men, even eating of the pagans' sacrifices.¹¹¹⁹

Once a Christian woman had married a Muslim, we find evidence that her husband might be concerned that she still had access to the Eucharist—another indication that Muslims viewed the Eucharist with importance. In the case of a Christian woman who marries a Hagarene of her own accord, Addai asked Jacob, is it

יווי Syriac text and FT in Nau, 'Littérature canonique syriaque inédite,' pp. 128-129: יעע אאר אר לבא ביזא להשהכולא ובי יוסול . ואושי השהרא הן כי מולינאי. גבוא וביא ובי וי וי לי היא ובי א ובי מאיי: מום גאי ואולא וא בחין בולעלין שע עוצא בבאולא ואבעורא. מושא ואב ואי ומי ומי ומי ומי ומי ומי ומי ומי מי מי מי מי הו שבו להוא הנה , ומשבוה בהשינואה ונואו עבה , בן ונהוא הב ועובא הב ומים הב ובאה הב ובא בא באבה לא א report has come to our humble hearing: namely, that dissolute people from among the Christians, greedy men who are slaves of the belly are mixing together with pagans in a way that befits one lacking discernment, and moreover that wretched women, in whatever way, are unlawfully and inappropriately married to pagans. All of them are at times eating without hesitation from their sacrifices, through their negligence forgetting the apostolic commandments and exhortations which for this reason have frequently proclaimed to those who have believed in Christ to distance themselves from fornication and from that which has been strangled and from blood and from the food of the sacrifices of pagans so they will not, by means of these things, become partakers of demons and their polluted table.' Cf. also the partial ET of this passage in Hoyland, Seeing Islam as Others Saw It (Princeton, 1997), p. 148. NB: This heading of this text seems to indicate that it refers to Muslims and not to pagan polytheists, though this may be a later addition. See Hoyland's discussion of this issue in *idem.*, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 148-149.

appropriate for priests to give her the Eucharist? If the woman's Muslim husband threatens to kill the priest if he does not give her the Eucharist, should he agree to give it to her for a time while the husband is seeking to have him killed, or is agreeing to give the Eucharist to such a person a sin? Would it be better for him to give her the Eucharist and she not become a Muslim and have her husband be a friend to the Christians? Jacob thought it was better to give such a woman the Eucharist than to have her convert to Islam.¹¹²⁰

Just as it seems to be the case that the threat of force was used to induce priests to give Christian wives of Muslim men the Eucharist, a threat of force also seems to have been used to motivate Christian priests to teach Muslim children. Is it appropriate, Addai asked Jacob, for a priest to teach the children of the Hagarenes who

¹¹²⁰ Mardin 310, fols. 213b-214a: المن من معنى المعالية الم בל במוא המאל לה אך לא נאכ לא מהוביא. אך והל לה היצב לוביא בי הה כל א אל לא לא בא בא בא אין אין אין אין אין אין ועב מהוא לה על האי אי אי אי בע בע גואל לה מהוכוא מלא אה או בי הה בלה ועת הה לו אואאיא . שבחב לבלחה בהצביעי וכשהאלא מנא איוא אוה במ, ואקוא וא אים במה ונאבול ביש נא בהוביא הלא המה גו. בקור מביא גלא המה גו. האם איי היאה מהא המיא בתיאה בהיא בה בא באיי בי באב לא האם לא גות מהא בבלה וול לה בהוצע לה מהוביאי. הלא הה לה שלא היאר היאר היאר היאר איי היא איי איי איי איי בהסומי גלמי בשאי וברלעוא למיות גמובין בייצא ובשבעא וולאב. וול מס וולפל אעוא מוזוא 'Addai: Concerning a Christian woman who of her own will marries a Hagarene: whether it is appropriate for priests to give her the Eucharist? And if there is a specific canon about this? And if her husband threatens to kill him if he does not give her the Eucharist, if it is right for him to agree for a time while he is seeking that he be killed, or whether for him to agree will be a sin for him? Or if it is better that he give her the Eucharist and she not become a Hagarene and have her husband be friendly to the Christians? Jacob: You have solved all your perplexities which are in this question with what you have said, namely, 'whether it is appropriate that the Eucharist be given to her and she not become a Hagarene.' On account of her not becoming a Hagarene—even if it means that the priest was sinning when he gave [it] to her, and even if her husband was not threatening—it is right for him to give her the Eucharist and he will not have a sin on account of giving to her. Now as for the last thing you said, namely, whether there is a specific canon concerning this, you should be guided in this way: if it is the case that there is no fear of apostasy, and her husband is not threatening, so that there be fear for other [women], that they too not stumble, and for the purpose of admonishing her, she should fall under the [punishment of the] canon so long as she seems to those in power able to bear it.' Cf. the ET in R. Hoyland, Seeing Islam, pp. 604-605.

have the authority to hurt him if he does not teach?¹¹²¹ Jacob saw no problem in this and indeed, noted that it might very well have beneficial results. These children may have been the product of marriages between Muslim men and Christian women, which would explain why a Muslim father would be keen to have his children taught by a Christian priest. Moreover, in the case of mixed Christian-Muslim marriages, it is not clear that the Muslim males had actually been born Muslim or whether they themselves were converts. In AD 779, for instance, the Caliph al-Mahdī forced 5,000 men of the Christian Arab tribe of Tanūkh to convert to Islam, but their wives continued to be Christians.¹¹²² One suspects that the type of Islam practiced by these men likely included the continuation of a number of practices and beliefs from their Christian past. Indeed, in the *Life* of Theodota, we are told of Theodota going up into his pulpit and ordering that money be given to help ransom captives. 'Our Lord was giving zeal to their hearts,' we are told, 'and they were fulfilling His commandment, Christians along with Hagarenes ($mhaqqr\bar{a}y\bar{e}$).^{'1123} Since the Life of Theodota usually refers to Arabs as *tayyāyē*, the use of *mhaggrāyē* here has led Andrew Palmer to suggest that the phrase refers to Christian converts to Islam.¹¹²⁴ This would mean that we have

¹¹²² See J.-B. Chabot, ed. Chronique de Michel le syrien, patriarche jacobite de Antioche (1166-1199) (Paris, 1899-1910), vol. 4 (Syriac), pp. 478-479; vol. 3 (FT), p. 1.

¹¹²⁴ A. Palmer, 'The Garshūnī Version of the Life of Theodotos of Amida,' *Parole de l'Orient* 16 (1990-1991), p. 256, suggests that *mhaggrāyē* may mean 'those who have become sons of Hagar.' In other words, he believes that mhaggrāyē in this text 'means converts to Islam' since Muslims are referred to as

evidence for Christian renegades attending church services and following the orders of Christian leaders. Similarly, the *Life* also reports that 'Hagarenes (*mhaggrāyē*), heretics and the Orthodox feared [Theodota], and everything that he would command, they were receiving joyfully.'¹¹²⁵

To take stock for a moment, we have seen that Muslims showed a reverence for Christian holy men and sought them out for blessings, conversation, mealcompanionship and healings. Moreover, they tried to obtain the blessings of Christian saints and the hanānā from these holy men. Muslims were interested in Christian churches, prayed there, attended Christian services there and turned some of them into mosques. Muslims—quite possibly former Christian converts—still seemed to regard Christian leaders as authority figures and would obey their orders and even apparently attend church. Such was the relationship of Muslim rulers to churches that some Christians even initially thought that the 'Abd al-Malik was building the Dome of the Rock as a Christian structure. Muslims showed a belief in the power of the Eucharist, going so far as to steal consecrated hosts from the Byzantine Empire and transport them back into Arab-controlled territory. Muslim men wanted their wives to be able to take communion, even to the point of using threats of force to make sure they were permitted. Muslims were also having their children educated by Christian priests.

tayyāyē (personal communication). See also, *idem.*, "Āmīd in the Seventh-Century Syriac Life of Theodūṭē,' in Emmanouela Grypeou, et al., *The Encounter of Eastern Christianity with Early Islam* (Leiden, 2006), pp. 125-126, where he discusses this issue and writes, 'I shall preserve this uncertainty in translation by writing Muslims/converts to Islam.'

And there is still more. We have seen evidence in this early period for a fascination with and belief in the power of the Christian Eucharist. This was not the only major Christian symbol or figure which was valued among Muslims. When it came to the figure of Jesus, we find that the Islamic tradition preserved a number of Jesus' sayings, attributing them to Jesus himself.¹¹²⁶ What's more, a number of sayings and parables of Jesus from the Gospels came to be attributed to Muhammad himself in the *hadīth* literature.¹¹²⁷ A number of Arabic inscriptions from late first to the late second century AH (the eighth century AD) in the Negev ask forgiveness from the 'Lord of Jesus,' the 'Lord of Jesus and Moses' and the 'Lord of Moses and Jesus;' one even refers to God as the 'Lord of Aaron and Jesus.'¹¹²⁸ Baptism of Muslims was also not unknown. Rabban Khudhāwī had healed Muʻāwiya's daughter by baptizing her and, as we saw earlier, in the Ottoman period, it was very common for Muslims to have their children baptized by priests. There is no reason not to think that Muslims were having their children baptized from the earliest post-conquest period. By the middle of the twelfth century A.D., the Miaphysite Bishop John of Marde would issue a canon forbidding the

¹¹²⁶ D. Cook, 'New Testament Citations in the Ḥadīth Literature and the Question of Early Gospel Translations into Arabic,' in E. Grypeou, M. Swanson and D. Thomas, eds., *The Encounter of Eastern Christianity with Early Islam* (Leiden/Boston, 2006), pp. 206-218.

¹¹²⁷ See e.g., Goldziher, Muslim Studies, vol. 2, pp. 346-356 and A. Guillaume, *The Traditions of Islam* (repr. New York, 1980), pp. 138-142.

¹¹²⁸ Appeals are also made to the 'Lord of Moses,' and God is once called the 'Lord of Moses and Abraham' and once called 'Lord of Muḥammad and Abraham.' See the lists of prophets in inscriptions in Y.D. Nevo, Z. Cohen, and D. Heftman, *Ancient Arabic Inscriptions from the Negev*, vol. 1, (Jerusalem, 1993), pp. 141-142. There are references to 'Lord of Issa': MA 487(10), MA 489(10); 'Lord of Moses': MA 401D(07), MA 4114(12), MA 4137(12), MA 4168(13), MA 4271(19), MA 4293(21), MA 4293(21), MA 4295(21), MA 4342(22), MA 4428(23), MA 4501(25), MA 4509(25), MA 4513(25); 'Lord of Jesus and Moses': MA 4204A(14), MA 4340(22); 'Lord of Muḥammad and Abraham': HS 3155(06); 'God of Moses an Abraham': MM113(01); 'Lord of Moses and Jesus': MA 4210(16), MA 4269(19), MA 4467(24), MA 4508(25); MA 4516(26); 'Lord of Moses and Aaron': SC303(03), SC305(03), YA3112(05); and 'Aaron and Jesus': HL4900(27). See also, Cook, 'New Testament Citations in the Ḥadīth Literature,' p. 189 and R. G. Hoyland, 'The Content and Context of Early Arabic Inscriptions,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 21 (1997), pp. 78-79.

baptism of Muslim infants in the same laver as Christian infants. 'In the case of the

children of Muslims,' John's canon stated,

we carefully order you and speak to you with an apostolic commandment that there is no authority from God for priests to baptize them with the children of believers and in our holy font. Instead, let them have a different baptism, apart, on a different day, either before or after, in ordinary [i.e., non-consecrated] water.

Rather than a Christian baptism, John prescribed that Muslim children were to be given

a different baptism, one for the remission of sins-what he called the 'baptism of John

[the Baptist]':

There shall only be for them a service of repentance, that is: a cycle and a prayer and a hymn of repentance, etc. Let the priest baptize the children of the Arabs as he says the following: I baptize this so-and-so in the name of the Lord with this baptism of John for the forgiveness of trespasses and the remission of sins. Amen. And let them anoint them with ordinary oil.¹¹²⁹

What we have here is an attempt to regulate and control what must have been a very

widespread practice. At roughly the same time in Anatolia, it was common for Turks to

have their children baptized, a practice which Balsamon reported.¹¹³⁰

One last major Christian symbol remains to be discussed: the cross. In later periods, there is a divergence between normative Islamic antipathy towards the cross and evidence of its use by Muslims for apotropaic purposes, and even with our scanty and problematic evidentiary base in this early period, we have some small pieces of information which suggest there was a spectrum of Muslim attitudes towards what is this perhaps most distinctive and divisive of all Christian symbols in the early 'Islamic'

¹¹²⁹ My translation. A. Vööbus, ed. and trans., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition II* (CSCO 375-376; SS 163-164) (Louvain, 1976), p. 246 (Syriac) and p. 259 (ET). I am grateful to David Taylor for bringing this passage to my attention.

¹¹³⁰ See the evidence for Turkish Muslims being baptized, which was collected by Speros Vryonis, in idem., *The Decline of Medieval Hellenism in Asia Minor and the Process of Islamization from the eleventh through the fifteenth century* (Berkeley, 1986), pp. 487-489 (Balsamon quoted on pp. 487-489).

period. A story which appeared in Theophilos of Edessa's (d. AD 785) now-lost *Chronicle* connects at least one instance of Muslim hostility to the cross to Jewish sources: at some point in the early 640s, the Arabs were apparently (re-) building the Temple of Solomon in Jerusalem, but it fell down. 'The Jews said, "If you do not take down the cross that is set across from the Temple on the Mount of Olives, the Temple will not be built. When they took down the cross, the building rose up. By means of this cause, they took down many crosses.'¹¹³¹ This anecdote may be just another example of traditional Christian hostility towards Judaism,¹¹³² but it could also reflect a moment in the early post-conquest period where Muslim attitudes towards the Christian symbol of the Cross were still more fluid and ambivalent than they would be in later periods. Indeed, Christian Arab soliders fighting for Muslims in the seventh century were said to have marched into battle preceded by the cross and the banner of St Sergios.¹¹³³

If such a moment of openness, so to speak, towards the cross ever existed, it might help us understand some other pieces of evidence we have from the early period. In the examples I cited above, we have several instances of Christians displaying the cross prominently while Muslims were present or Christians using the sign of the cross in the course of healing a sick Muslim: Theodota restored the Muslim official's sight by making the sign of the cross over his eyes and invoking the name of Jesus; John of

¹¹³² See, e.g. the story in Theophanes where a Jewish 'magician' tells Yazīd that destroying Christian icons throughout his realm will result in his reigning for forty years and thereby persuades him to do so. See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 555.

¹¹³³ For this, see H. Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 299.

Daylam used a cross to make the sign of the cross over the head over 'Abd al-Malik's son who was ill; Arabs were present and celebrating at the Patriarch Julian II's entry into Amid, a celebration where there were many crosses present. Perhaps most notable was Mu'āwiya's decision, upon being made Caliph, to go and pray at Golgotha and Gethsemane. It would be difficult to imagine two places more closely associated with the crucifixion of Jesus, an event that Muslims famously deny and which the cross points to.¹¹³⁴ According to the same *Maronite Chronicle*, however, only a few months later in the same year, 41 AH/660 AD, Mu' \bar{a} wiya tried to mint gold and silver coins without crosses on them, but this omission meant that people refused to use them.¹¹³⁵ Arab-Byzantine coins that displayed crosses on them, even when sometimes also bearing affirmations of the prophethood of Muhammad, reflected the ideological tension in Mu'āwiya's two acts.¹¹³⁶ As Clive Foss has pointed out, however, an official Greek inscription in the baths at Hammat Gader, rebuilt under Mu'āwiya in 662, is preceded by a cross and contains Mu'āwiya's name. Muslims used these baths and it is not improbable that Mu'āwiya himself visited there as well: 'In other words, public display of the cross was not incompatible with the official life of the Umayyad state.'1137 With this said, one of the main contentions of this chapter is that we should not confuse the official public life of a state or the religious ideology promoted by a

¹¹³⁴ See R. Stephen Humphreys' discussion of this event in his Mu'awiya ibn Abi Sufyan: From Arabia to Empire, (Oxford, 2006), p. 84.

¹¹³⁵ See Palmer et al., *The Seventh Century in the West-Syrian Chronicles*, p. 32.

¹¹³⁶ See C. Foss, Arab-Byzantine Coins: An Introduction, with a Catalogue of the Dumbarton Oaks Collection (Cambridge, Mass, 2008), pp. 117-118 for a discussion of the ideological tension represented by crosses appearing on Islamic coins and *ibid.*, p. 63 for a coin bearing a cross as well as an Arabic inscription reading 'Muḥammad, the Prophet of God.'

¹¹³⁷ Foss, Arab-Byzantine Coins, p. 118. For the inscription in question, see Y. Hirschfeld, *The Roman* Baths of Hammat Gader: Final Report (Jerusalem, 1997), pp. 238-240.

theological elite with the lived religious life of the overwhelming majority of society and perhaps even members of the elite as well.

Conclusion

Unfortunately, we will never have the sort of rich documentation about religious life and attitudes in the early medieval period that scholars of the Ottoman era or even high Middle Ages possess. Nevertheless, we do have hints and clues that many of the same phenomena of religious hybridity that we have abundant documentation for in those later periods were also occurring in the earliest 'Islamic' period as well. If, rather than thinking of Christianity in heavily doctrinal terms, we think of it in terms of an adherence to particular symbols and rituals and belief in the power of certain individuals, it becomes quickly clear that attitudes, at least among some parts of the Muslim population, towards Christian holy men, churches, the Eucharist, Baptism, Jesus and perhaps even the cross, in the early centuries of Islam were such that one could join the new Islamic religious community and yet give up little of what one had previously been committed to on a religious level. This is especially true since, as I have tried to suggest, the level of religious knowledge among the mass of Muslims, most of whom became Muslim through group conversions, was not very high, nor had the institutions and texts which eventually became sources of normativity in Islam crystallized, or in some cases, even been born.

We should be careful, too, not to let our understanding of the ideological ease of moving into Islam for Christians be obscured by the sources we have which tend to valorize and champion individuals who refused to convert, or who came back to Christianity once they had converted. Such individuals are exceptions that prove the

477

rule. The long-term religious demographic trend of the region shows that they were in quite a small minority in terms of their attitude towards conversion. Anastasios of the Sinai, for instance, describes in a few lines the unsuccessful attempt of local Arab Christians to fight off 'Saracen' invaders at Mt Sinai in the middle part of the seventh century; when it became clear that they could not hold off the mass of Muslims, they made a treaty with them and 'believed with them,' i.e., became Muslims.

Anastasios, however, focuses most of his attention on the one Arab Christian there who sought to flee through a precipitous and dangerous area 'choosing rather for himself the death of the body than to give up the faith of Christ and be in spiritual danger.' Before he could flee, the man's wife stopped him, weeping, and pleaded with him 'in the Arabic language' to offer her and their children up as sacrifices to God like Abraham rather than let them stay and fall into the hands of 'these wolves.' Before his flight, therefore, the man took out a sword and kills his wife and children rather than let them be forced to convert to Islam.¹¹³⁸

The dramatic nature of such a story should not distract us from what is most historically significant in the narrative: all the other Arab Christians apparently did convert upon their capitulation to the Muslim army. In Michael the Syrian's account of the forced conversion of 5,000 Christian Arabs from the tribe of Tanūkh only one—a man named Layth—suffered martyrdom.¹¹³⁹ We have no solid evidence as to what Islam would have meant or looked like to such Christian converts (or indeed, for the members of the Muslim army they fought), but my argument has been that very little actually changed for them religiously once they did become Muslims. One wonders just

¹¹³⁸ Greek text in Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' pp. 87-88. French summary available in *idem.*, 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase,' p. 129-132.

¹¹³⁹ Chronique de Michel le syrien : vol. 4 (Syriac), pp. 478-479; vol. 3 (FT), p. 1.

what their Islam looked like once the Caliph and his army moved along; like the *mhaggrāyē* in the *Life* of Theodota who apparently attended church and who joined Miaphysite and other Christians in joyfully following the holy man's commandments, did they hold to many of their previous Christian ways?

To be sure, later in the Middle Ages, once various competing systems of Muslim doctrine and law had been elaborated and codified, the change from Islam to Christianity was perhaps more marked, but even here we should not be blind to the tremendous role Islam's status as a new and minority religion existing among more ancient and sophisticated religions and the influx of converts from these religions played in shaping the elaboration of its classical form. The various challenges represented by the sheer presence of demographic super-majorities of non-Muslims in post-conquest early 'Islamic' societies are the Dark Matter of the early medieval Middle Eastern universe that historians need to take into account if they are to truly understand and explain the eventual shape Islam came to have. If we do not take seriously the question of how Muslims related to and appropriated the cultural traditions of the large conquered populations they found themselves ruling over by the middle part of the seventh century, our narrative and understanding of early medieval Middle Eastern and Islamic history will be depressingly familiar and predictable: guarrels and battles over conquest booty and succession between different interest groups within a small conquering elite who were concentrated in only a handful of places—one's mental map of the Middle East is essentially reduced to Medina, Damascus, Kufa, Basra, and perhaps Khurasan.

479

But the amount of attention such events and place receive is seductively misleading. 'The total number of Arabs who left their homes can hardly have exceeded, or even totaled, five hundred thousand,' Patricia Crone has written of the period after the conquests in the Middle East. 'The conquered peoples numbered perhaps twenty to thirty million.'¹¹⁴⁰

The goal of my final chapter will be to attempt to make this silent majority speak.

¹¹⁴⁰ P. Crone, 'The Early Islamic World,' in K. Raaflaub and N. Rosenstein, eds., *War and Society in the Ancient and Medieval World: Asia, the Mediterranean, Europe, and Mesoamerica* (Washington, DC, 1999), p. 314. Claude Cahen suggests that in the seventh century perhaps 100,000 and no more than 200,000 Arabs occupied 'most of the territory between the Hind[u] Kush and the Atlas Mountains.' See *idem.*, 'Socio-Economic History and Islamic Studies: Problems of Bias in the Adaptation of the Indigenous Population to Islam,' trans. P. Ditchfield in R. Hoyland, ed., *Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society* (Aldershot, 2004), p. 264 (a translation of the original article by Cahen, 'Histoire economic-sociale et islamologie: le problem prejudicial de l'adaptation entre les autochtones et l'Islam,' *Correspondence d'Orient* (Brussels, 1961), pp. 197-215.

Chapter 12: Rubbing Shoulders: A Shared World

'We must therefore read the great canonical texts, and perhaps also the entire archive of modern and pre-modern European and American culture, with an effort to draw out, extend, give emphasis and voice to what is silent or marginally present or ideologically represented...' Edward Said¹¹⁴¹

Textbooks and undergraduate courses on medieval Middle Eastern history begin with an obligatory nod in the direction of the Late Antique period: general information about the Byzantines and Sassanians, mention of the brutal and grinding Last Great War of Antiquity which weakened both powers and left them open to attack at their soft southern underbelly, perhaps some discussion of Zoroastrianism and a schematic typology of the different flavors of Christianity in the region which focuses primarily on the number of natures each group ascribed to the Incarnate Christ, not infrequently mangling the theological subtleties at play in the process. After these genuflections before Late Antiquity, this background setting is quietly pushed off stage and with it, the overwhelming majority of the population of the region, whose historical voice is effectively silenced. Now considered 'minorities,' their voices are henceforth only to be heard by those with ears to hear in specialist journals and publications which focus on 'Christian' Arabic or Syriac and which are usually theological or philological in orientation. Meanwhile, the study of Zoroastrianism and Middle Persian takes place in but a handful of locations globally and Jewish studies, for its part, all-too-often operates as a separate field and in a parallel universe.

In other words, an entire world goes gently into that good night. In its place, the focus of standard narratives of Middle Eastern history shifts nearly exclusively to (Muslim) Arabs and the politics of Islam. We find ourselves walking over the same

¹¹⁴¹ E. Said, Culture and Imperialism (New York, 1993), p. 66.

familiar ground: debates about who got what portion of the spoils of conquest and which tax breaks, murder, infighting and civil wars among the leaders of the small new religious polity. There are attempts—sometimes unfortunately apologetic—at writing about the beginnings of one sectarian group or another and usually involving confusing, competing precedence claims based on the family tree of Muhammad's extended clan. Then there are the debates as to what, if anything, we can or should really believe in the Arabic sources that report these various political, religious, military and familial conflicts, sources which, at least in the form we now have them, were mostly written down several centuries after the events they purport to describe. Whether historians choose to offer their readers what amount to (more or less) credulous English translations of medieval Arabic sources, or whether they attempt to offer (more or less) fanciful reconstructions as to what really happened in the seventh century or what Islam really meant in its early period, the results all bear a similar Arabo- and Islamo-centric emphasis. And, once the Arab conquests have happened, when non-Muslims do re-appear in narratives of Middle Eastern history, they do so in a partitioned-off, ghettoized fashion: in asides or special chapters which are devoted to 'minorities' and their treatment under Islamic law. This, despite the fact that the use of such post-Enlightenment, nation-state language in the medieval period is both anachronistic¹¹⁴² and simply wrong, for the non-Muslim population of the Middle East was demographically a majority and not a minority.¹¹⁴³

¹¹⁴² cf. T. el-Leithy, 'Coptic Culture and Conversion in Medieval Cairo, 1293-1524 A.D.,' p. 27, esp. n. 71.

¹¹⁴³ If we accept Richard Bulliet's estimate in his *Conversion to Islam in the Medieval Period: An Essay in Quantitative History* (Cambridge, MA/London, 1979), Syria became majority Muslim at some point around the year 275 AH/AD 888) (p. 109). Bulliet's information, however, should not be seen as reliable because of its methodological flaws. Apart from the urban and elite bias of its sources in a world where

This near-instantaneous shift in focus from the majority to the minority in Middle Eastern history occurs for a variety of reasons. It happens in part because the field of Middle Eastern history—from undergraduate courses, to academic jobs, to scholarly conferences, to book series put out by major university presses—is periodized based on a tacit assumption: medieval Middle Eastern history is the same as Islamic history. Such an assumption, though teleological, sectarian, misleading and reductionistic, is of course not surprising. We do not date historical epochs or design undergraduate survey courses on the basis of the era of Zoroaster or Mani, as important as these figures may have been to large numbers of people in the Late Antique and medieval worlds, for the simple reason that the contemporary influence of these figures is minimal. Today Muslims form the overwhelming majority of the Middle East and Arabic is the language which dominates the region—and all history, it has been observed, is a history of the present. The temptation, especially when there is

the overwhelming majority of the population was rural (A. Walmsley estimates that more than 80% of Syria's population lived in rural settlements, see idem., Early Islamic Syria: An Archaeological Assessment (London, 2007), p. 72), Bulliet's use of Islamic names as indicators of conversion in biographical dictionaries ignores the fact that we know from medieval sources that Christians were in fact taking Muslim names. This is suggested by the clause in the so-called 'Pact of 'Umar' (in Arabic, shurūț 'Umariyya, 'conditions of 'Umar,') where people of the book pledge that they will not take the kunyas of Muslims. In the high Middle Ages, Ibn Qayyim al-Jawziyya (d. 751 AH/AD 1350) offered a typology of three different kinds of names in his exposition of the shurūt 'Umariyya: names specific to Muslims (e.g., Muhammad, Ahmad, Abū Bakr, 'Umar, 'Uthmān, 'Alī, Talha, al-Zubayr), names specific to infidels (e.g., George, Peter, John, Matthew), and shared names (e.g., Yahyā, 'Īsā, Ayyūb, Dāwūd, Sulaymān, Zayd, 'Abd Allāh, 'Atiyya, Mawhūb, Salām, and even though he also lists it as being only for Muslims, 'Umar). See Shams al-Dīn Abū 'Abd Allāh Muhammad b. Abī Bakr b. Qayyim al-Jawziyya, Ahkām ahl al-dhimma, vol. 2, (Beirut, 1995), pp. 186-188. One could also point to $ah\bar{a}d\bar{t}h$ which focused on the question of the propriety of giving a non-Muslim a kunya as evidence for the fact that Muslims were doing precisely this; for a collection of such hadith see 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Musannaf, vol. 6 (Beirut, 1983), pp. 122-123. The suspicion that a clause in the shurūt 'Umariyya, hadīth on this topic and a typology such as that of Ibn al-Qayyim's suggests that Christians were in fact taking Muslim names is confirmed elsewhere: in his Answer to the Christians, al-Jahiz complains that Christians have taken the names al-Hasan, al-Husayn, al-'Abbās, al-Fadl and 'Alī, 'it only remains for them to be named Muhammad and have the kunya "Abū al-Qāsim." See al-Jāhiz, Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Bahr al-Jāhiz (Cairo, 1344), p. 18. Ibn al-Qayyim, too, complained that in his time Christians (and Jews) were taking Muslim kunyas like Abū 'l-'Alā', Abū 'l-Fadl and Abū 'l-Tayyib and names like Hasan and Husayn and 'Uthmān and 'Alī. See Ahkām Ahl al-Dhimma (Beirut, 1995), vol. 2, p. 189. For further criticism of Bulliet's methodology, see el-Leithy, 'Coptic Culture and Conversion in Medieval Cairo,' pp. 21-22.

a need to convince a funding body to award a grant in the picture, is to pick out those aspects of the past which are of the most interest to people who are alive today. The reality that much of the population of the Middle East for much of the Middle Ages was not in fact Muslim, that Arabic was one of a number of different literary languages in use there at that time, and that those inhabitants of the Middle East who would have called themselves Muslim did not adhere to a form of Islam that would have borne a strong resemblance to the scripturalist forms of the religion which attract the lion's share of scholarly attention today, are all things which are easily missed if we allow the subject matter and focus of Arabic sources, often normative, to color our own historical interests and blind us to other narratives and dynamics at work in the region.

To be fair, Islamicists have been aided and abetted by Byzantinists in the construction of such a distorted picture of the early medieval Middle East: narratives of decline and contraction in the Byzantine world make it easy to think that when the Arabs rode in in the seventh century what they encountered was a diminished and reeling society, a shell of its former self. The same can be said for kinder, gentler narratives of transformation, which maintain the same focus on the changes in urban culture as proponents of decline do but employ less pejorative and emotive language to describe essentially the same phenomena. It would be simplistic to say that these conflicting historiographies can be boiled down to a battle over which adjectives to use. But perhaps only just. Their end result is essentially the same: When Herakleios retreats from Syria, famously bidding it farewell, and large numbers of Greek-speaking

elites flee with him,¹¹⁴⁴ we are left to feel that the Emperor was in effect taking the last pieces of tarnished silver and chipped china from the cultural cabinet of a region which was exhausted from warfare, the plague and earthquakes, a rickety car driving erratically under the influence of Christianity and ticketed for the offense of no longer producing the sorts of texts that many modern scholars like to read. We stand before a now-empty region which has just formatted the hard drive of the past half millennium; the abandoned properties of these (Greek-speaking) elites are filled literally and figuratively by a new-elite, speaking a new language, following a new system of beliefs.

The notion of decline, contraction and even transformation in Byzantium thus functions as a Byzantine analogue to the Islamic notion of *jāhiliyya*, and with the seventh century seen as a cultural low point, such notions quickly become historiographic enablers for Islamo-centric accounts of medieval Middle Eastern history, rendering the region an empty husk to be filled with new contents produced by vigorous historical actors in the form of conquering Arabs. Ultimately, scholars themselves re-enact the narratives they have constructed for the seventh and eighth centuries, with Byzantine studies retreating from the Middle East alongside the army of Herakleios and Islamicists riding in with the Arabs.¹¹⁴⁵ Once they have left the Middle East, Byzantinists only return to the region riding on the back of Greek sources in the context of the reconquests of the tenth century, or to write about Arab-Byzantine relations, or perhaps the Crusades. In effect, what had been among the wealthiest and

¹¹⁴⁴ On the flight of Greek-speaking city dwellers from Syria after the Arab conquests, see F. Donner, *The Early Islamic Conquests* (Princeton, 1981), pp. 245-249. For such flight as exceptional, see C. Wickham, *Framing the Early Middle Ages: Europe and the Mediterranean, 400-800* (Oxford, 2005), p. 241.

¹¹⁴⁵ A while after I wrote this, I realized that it bears resemblance to comments made by P. Crone in her *Roman, provincial and Islamic Law: The Origins of the Islamic patronate* (Cambridge, 1987), p. 17. I read the relevant passage by Crone years ago and may have been subconsciously channeling it as I wrote, but cannot be sure.

culturally most important regions of the Empire lose their Byzantine bona fides once they are no longer under the political control of Constantinople. And it is not only their Byzantine bona fides that they lose—it is almost as if they slough off their entire Christian populations. Syria and Egypt (along with the Balkans) had provided perhaps as much as three-fourths of the Byzantine Empire's tax revenue and contained twothirds of its landmass,¹¹⁴⁶ these two had witnessed the birth of Christianity, its earliest expansion and contained its most ancient communities, including three of the five churches in the so-called 'Pentarchy,' had provided a number of the most significant theologians of the patristic period and yet, after the Arab conquests they, for all intents and purposes, fall off the radar screen of most histories of Christianity and now stand suddenly as strangers to the Byzantine world. It is often easy to forget that John of Damascus, the most important theologian in the Iconoclast Era and one of the greatest theologians in the (Chalcedonian) Orthodox tradition never set foot in the Byzantine Empire, was an Arabic speaker and spent his life under Umayyad rule, or that Maximos the Confessor, according to his earliest biography, was from Palestine, or that the seventh and eighth centuries saw a number of Syrian popes.¹¹⁴⁷

'The most dramatic effects of Islamic expansion clearly lay in the East,' Judith Herrin wrote in an important book, 'where the number of Christians in the ancient pentarchy of five patriarchates (the oldest centres in the Mediterranean) declined rapidly.' When we arrive at the late eighth century, Herrin observed that 'for the first

¹¹⁴⁶ See C. Wickham, *The Inheritance of Rome: Illuminating the Dark Ages* (New York, 2009), p. 259. Also see Haldon, *Byzantium in the Seventh Century*, p. 10 (relying M.F. Hendy, *Studies in the Byzantine Monetary Economy c.* 300-1450 (Cambridge, 1985), p. 625.)

¹¹⁴⁷ See the list of Popes and their places of origin in D. Sladen, *How to See the Vatican* (New York, 1914), p. xx: John V (685-686, from Antioch), Sisinnius (708, Syria), Constantine (708-715, Syria), Gregory III (731-741, Syria). Sergius I (687-701) was from Palermo, but his father had been from Antioch (see A.J. Ekonomou, *Byzantine Rome and the Greek Popes: Eastern Influences on Rome and the Papacy from Gregory the Great to Zacharias, A.D. 590-752* (Lanham, MD, 2007), p. 223).

time, the Christians who lived in the West probably outnumbered their brethren in the older centres of the East. While these numbers cannot be calculated, the scale of some of the western monastic foundations and the vast, though thinly populated areas brought into the faith imply a considerable increase. By whatever criterion we attempt to measure this growth, it must stand in marked contrast to the evident decrease of Christian observance in the East Mediterranean.'¹¹⁴⁸ Herrin's comments are notable for several reasons. First is their remarkably uncontroversial nature: she simply makes explicit the assumptions about the religious composition of the Middle East after the Islamic conquest which are commonly shared by Byzantinists, church historians and Islamicists alike, even if they are not quite so consciously articulated. The numerical decline and, moreover, decay, in the Middle East's Christian population during the first centuries of Muslim occupation, it is presumed, was swift and self-evident. Second, Herrin's statements are notable because she provides no footnotes or evidence whatsoever to substantiate such strong demographic and qualitative claims relating to the populations of these, the most ancient centers of Christianity. Nor does she provide any evidence for Muslim demographic ascendancy at this point.

Herrin is of course not alone in making such broad assertions on the basis of minimalist substantiation—no scholar before her (or after) has provided any evidence for such claims, though, as I have just stated, these claims and the assumptions underlying them are commonplaces. This is because, apart from Bulliet's valiant but flawed attempts at extrapolating broader population trends in Syria on the basis of a methodology built on the (heavily-urban) evidence of Iranian biographical dictionaries,

¹¹⁴⁸ J. Herrin, *The Formation of Christendom* (London, 1987), pp. 300, 303.

there simply is no evidence for Christian decline to be offered. To the contrary, in the first part of this dissertation, I attempted to show that we have many reasons to believe that a flourishing provincial culture of scholarship existed in the Middle East, one in which philosophical, medical and historical texts continued to be written by Christians there before, during and well after both the Byzantine 'Dark Age' and the Arab conquests. The fact that much of this literature was written in Syriac and that much of it is now lost or, if not lost, then remains understudied and indeed, unpublished, has contributed to our distorted understanding of post-conquest Syria, as has the nature of the Arabic source material, which easily misleads. But we should always keep in mind that the production of a large amount of literature, religious and non-, in Arabic starting in the ninth century, as well as the adoption of a more explicitly Islamic political ideology by the rulers of the Middle East beginning in the late seventh century can point to a number of things: the increasing importance of the new religion in legitimating rule, the growing self-awareness of various competing parts of the Muslim community and their attempts to narrate identity in ways that would legitimate their positions and delegitimate those of others, rivalry with the Christian East Romans, not to mention rivalry with indigenous Christians now living under minority Muslim rule. None of these factors, however, necessitates a marked and rapid decline in Christian population or Islamic numeric hegemony in the Middle East. It only takes a moment's reflection to realize that there is no obvious and necessary connection between the size of a religious community and the volume of literature that its adherents produce.¹¹⁴⁹

¹¹⁴⁹ I am grateful to Peter Brown for suggesting third- and fourth-century Christianity in the still overwhelmingly non-Christian Roman Empire as an example of this.

With Byzantinists evacuating the Middle East after the seventh century and Islamicists focusing on the political intrigues and protean beliefs of the region's ruling Arab minority, the mass of the population who was still living there and who did not flee with Herakleios and who did not convert to Islam and begin to speak Arabic once they found themselves under Arab political authority is left in silence, with only the occasional Islamicist to try to speak for it outside the small, specialized and heavilytheological parallel universe of Eastern Christian and Christian Arabic studies. These people, those who stayed, essentially fall through the cracks of our histories: they are not Byzantines, they are not Arabs (at least many of them were not), they are not Muslims. What can we call them? Syrian Christians? Middle Eastern Christians? There is not even a standard scholarly convention for referring to them. Whatever they were, whatever we call them, we should not forget that they were the large majority whose gradual Islamization and Arabization were as important for the shape that the Middle East and Islam eventually took as any events which may or may not have actually happened in the seventh-century Hijaz. Because we lack a recognized and established category to place them in, however, they vanish from most scholarly radar screens.

This dissertation has been an attempt at writing part of the history of those that stayed, for the history of the early Medieval Middle East is not the same as the history of the Muslim minority who ruled it. Indeed, to try to understand that minority apart from the sea of non-Muslims in which it lived is a fundamentally misguided effort. We need to re-adjust our thinking in this period and realize that the church was not, as one recent book has put it, in the shadow of the mosque, but rather the mosque was in the

489

shadow of the church, or better yet, churches.¹¹⁵⁰ This is certainly how at least some medieval Muslims viewed the matter, too. The medieval geographer al-Maqdisī (d. AH 380/AD 990?)¹¹⁵¹ offers the following anecdote about the motivations in building the Umayyad Mosque in Damascus and the Dome of the Rock in Jerusalem:

Now, talking to my father's brother one day said I: 'O my uncle, surely it was not fitting for al-Walīd to expend the resources of the Muslims on the mosque at Damascus. Had he expended as much in building roads, or the water tanks, or in repairing the fortresses, it would have been more proper and more to his credit.' Said he: 'You simply do not understand, my dear son. Al-Walīd was absolutely right, and it was open to him to do a worthy work. For he saw that Syria was a country settled by the Christians, and he noted there their churches so handsome with their enchanting decorations, renowned far and wide, such as are the Qumāma,¹¹⁵² and the churchs of Ludd (Lydda) and al-Ruhā [Edessa]. So he undertook for the Muslims the building of a mosque that would divert their attention from the churches, and make it one of the wonders of the world. Do you not realize how 'Abd al-Malik, seeing the greatness of the dome of the Muslims, hence erected, above the Rock, the dome you now see there?¹¹⁵³

At the end of my previous chapter I referred to this oft-invisible non-Muslim

population as the Dark Matter of early medieval Middle Eastern history: it must have

been everywhere, but more often than not, in part because of the sources we possess

and in part because of the way we read those sources and the questions and

¹¹⁵⁰ cf. S. Griffith, The Church in the Shadow of the Mosque: Christians and Muslims in the World of Islam (Princeton/Oxford, 2008).

 $^{^{\}rm 1151}$ See S. Miquel's article, 'al-Mukaddasī , Shams al-Dīn Abū 'Abd Allāh Muhammad b. Ahmad b. Abī Bakr al-Bannā' al-Shāmī,' in EI^2 .

¹¹⁵² i.e., the Qiyāma, or Church of the Resurrection (Anastasis). For the Muslim practice of referring to the Church of the Resurrection (*Kanīsat al-qiyāma*) as the Qumāma (='Dunghill') see K.A.C. Creswell, *Early Muslim Architecture: Umayyads, Early 'Abbāsids & Ṭūlūnids. Part One: Umayyads. AD 622-750* (Oxford, 1932), p. 24.

¹¹⁵³ Translation B.A. Collins, p. 146 in al-Muqaddasi, *The Best Divisions for Knowledge of the Regions. A Translation of* Ahsan al-Taqasim fi Ma'rifat al-Aqalim, (Reading, 1994). For this quote, see Creswell, *Early Muslim Architecture*, vol. 1, p. 101. Theophanes, for his part, perhaps reflecting the now-lost *Chronicle* of Theophilos of Edessa, saw al-Walīd's actions as coming from a similar motivation of religious competition, but portrayed them more negatively: 'In this year [AD 706-707],' he wrote, 'Oualid seized the most holy cathedral of Damascus. The wretched man did this out of envy of the Christians, because this church was surpassingly beautiful.' See Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 524. For the treatment of churches and monasteries, see the evidence amassed in A.S. Tritton, *The Caliphs and their Non-Muslim Subjects: A Critical Study of the Covenant of 'Umar* (London, 1930), pp. 37-60.

assumptions we bring to them, we simply do not see it. This is the case because Islamic sources written in Arabic and Christian sources written in Arabic, Syriac, Greek and other languages present the historian with a problem of incommensurables: is it possible to make these bodies of material talk to one another, especially when they often seem to be operating in different worlds?

Van Ess compared the situation in the early 'Islamic' period to a "'levantine" city like Beirut': 'Different communities live together, they deal with each other, they do business with each other, they do the administration and—today—even politics together, but they never talk to each other about their religion and consequently they are to an astonishing degree ignorant of what their neighbors believe.'¹¹⁵⁴ Cook showed long ago that van Ess's model was inadequate, that there was indeed much talking and debate going on among Christians, Muslims and Jews,¹¹⁵⁵ and in this, my final chapter, I am interested in picking up where Cook left off, for it is van Ess-like assumptions that underlie the entire way in which the history of the Middle East is organized, studied and taught in the modern Western world; it is only if we assume that the medieval Middle East operated like van Ess's modern Levantine city, with members of religious groups sealed off from one another, that we can justify banishing the region's non-Muslim majority to boutique publications and special aside chapters devoted to the sorts of clothing, belts and taxes these 'minorities' were supposed to wear and pay

¹¹⁵⁴ J. van Ess, 'The Beginnings of Islamic Theology,' in J.E. Murdoch and E.D. Sylla, eds., *The Cultural Context of Medieval Learning. Proceedings of the First International Colloquium on Philosophy, Science and Theology in the Middle Ages* (Dordrect/Boston, 1975), p. 100.

¹¹⁵⁵ See M. Cook, 'The Origins of "Kalām," Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 43 (1981), pp. 41-42.

according to normative legal sources whose connection to actual practice and lived experience is assumed rather than proven.¹¹⁵⁶

Cook corrected Van Ess as part of an important article in which he demonstrated that the form Muslim kalām took was a direct borrowing from pre-Islamic Christian styles of theological argumentation: he took what is perhaps the oldest-known example of kalām we have (the Questions of al-Hasan b. Muhammad b. al-Hanafiyya (d. ca. 100 AH/AD 718)), a text which already displayed the distinctive, aporetic style of questioning employed in Muslim disputation, and showed that this style of dilemma-based questioning was characteristic of an entire genre of Christian theological works which had nothing to do with Islam and indeed, which were being written before Muhammad received his first revelation. The similarities in genre between the Christian texts and the later Islamic texts were simply too striking to be coincidence.¹¹⁵⁷ Scholars may quibble about the use of a word like 'borrowing' and prefer instead to use other less provocative phrases like 'appropriation' or 'absorption,' or to speak rather in terms of Muslims continuing a pre-Islamic tradition of dialectical dispute.¹¹⁵⁸ At a certain level, however, such word games are immaterial for my present task: I am not interested in projects of religious, cultural or civilizational

¹¹⁵⁶ Note the complaints of al-Jāḥiẓ that many Christians have left off wearing the *zunnār* and that others were wearing it without wearing the type of clothing that Christians, as people of the Book, were supposed to be dressed in, and moreover, that many wealthy Christians were refusing to pay the *jizya*. See al-Jāḥiẓ, *Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī' Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ* (Cairo, 1344), p. 18.

¹¹⁵⁷ See M. Cook, 'The Origins of "Kalām,''' Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 43 (1981), pp. 32-43 and *idem., Early Muslim Dogma: A Source-critical Study* (Cambridge, 1981), pp. 156-157. See also my article, "Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes," pp. 671-716, in Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz, (Piscataway, NJ, Gorgias Press, 2008).

¹¹⁵⁸ For an example of an essay which focuses on what one might called nomenclature or procedural framing of the question of the relationship between Islam and older religions, see M. Pregill, 'The Hebrew Bible and the Quran: The Problem of the Jewish "Influence" on Islam,' *Religion Compass* 1/6 (2007), pp. 643-659.

(de)legitimation through the establishment of etiological precedence or purity: only Athena sprang fully-formed from the head of Zeus, without, as it were, any human fingerprints or historical genealogy. What I am interested in is the sheer fact that a cultural practice which existed before the Islamic conquests and indeed, before the birth of Muḥammad, reappeared in the Arab period in Islamic garb, speaking Arabic, as it were, and being used by Muslims; eventually, it came to be seen as being Islamic to the extent that Cook's discovery of an unmistakable pre-Islamic ancestor for it could count as a discovery at all—the pre-Islamic pedigree had been lost and forgotten.

This particular continuity—in the form that *kalām* took—is but one of a myriad of continuities between the pre- and post-conquest periods. In swallowing up the Middle East, the Arabs also ingested and took over a great deal of the cultural furniture which was there when they arrived and historians have suggested any number of such continuations of previous, pre-Islamic practices in the Islamic period. An incomplete list of these might include the following:

More on *kalām*: before Cook showed that the disjunctive, aporetic style of *kalām* texts was clearly characteristic of pre-Islamic, Christian theology, Pines pointed out that the standard order in which medieval treatises on *kalām* took up different doctrinal subjects bore a striking resemblance to the order of arrangement of the *De Fide Orthodoxa* of John of Damascus and suggested that, just as this important text established a pattern of organization that was eventually to be followed in Latin scholastic theology, it also served as the model for later *kalām*; Pines also suggested that specific Mu'tazilī doctrines regarding divine unity and free will were, in the former

case, a direct reaction against Christian theology and in the latter, an appropriation and expansion of it;¹¹⁵⁹

Jesus: in my last chapter, I referred to the fact that a large number of sayings from the Gospels have found their way into Islamic literature; here, I will echo Tarif Khalidi's observation that the corpus of Jesus material in Islamic literature—what Khalidi refers to as the 'Muslim gospel'—represents 'the largest body of texts relating to Jesus in any non-Christian literature;'¹¹⁶⁰ Khalidi collected more than three hundred sayings and stories attributed and connected to Jesus in the Islamic tradition, from the second through twelfth centuries AH (eighth-eighteenth centuries AD);¹¹⁶¹ and it is important to remember that in addition to this material which is attributed to Jesus, dozens of examples of sayings of Jesus from the Gospels can be found throughout Islamic literature attributed to Muḥammad, some other Muslim figure, or an unnamed mystic or wise man;¹¹⁶² the Lord's Prayer is even found attributed to Muḥammad in Islamic literature;¹¹⁶³ related to this is the entry into the Islamic religious vocabulary of Christian theological terms: Goldziher, for example, showed that the use of the word

¹¹⁵⁹ For these points, see S. Pines, 'Some traits of Christian Theological Writing in Relation to Moslem *Kalām* and Jewish Thought,' pp. 79-99, in S. Stroumsa, ed., *The Collected Works of Shlomo Pines*, vol. 3, *Studies in the History of Arabic Philosophy* (Jerusalem, 1996).

¹¹⁶⁰ See T. Khalidi, ed. and trans., *The Muslim Jesus: Sayings and Stories in Islamic Literature* (Cambridge, MA/London, 2001), p. 3.

¹¹⁶¹ They are collected and translated in his *The Muslim Jesus: Sayings and Stories in Islamic Literature* (Cambridge, MA/London, 2001). M. Asín y Palacios, 'Logia et agrapha Domini Jesu apud Moslemicos scriptores, asceticos praesertim, usitata,' (*Patrologia Orientalis* 13) (Paris, 1919), pp. 327-431 and (*Patrologia Orientalis* 19) (Paris, 1926), pp. 529-601 contains a classic collection of 225 sayings of Jesus preserved in a variety of Islamic texts.

¹¹⁶² See M. Asín y Palacios, 'Influencias evangélicas en la literatura religiosa del Islam,' pp. 8-27, in T.W. Arnold and R.A. Nicholson, eds., *A Volume of Oriental Studies Presented to Edward G. Browne…on his 60th Birthday* (Cambridge, 1922) for a collection of 45 such sayings. Goldziher also collected a number of examples of sayings of Jesus from the Gospels, or ones clearly inspired by evangelical pronouncements, attributed to Muhamad. See his 'Influences chrétienes dans la litérature religieuse de l'Islam,' in J. Desomogyi, ed., *Ignaz Goldziher: Gesammelte Schriften*, vol. 2, (Hildeshei, 1968), pp. 305-307, 312-313.

¹¹⁶³ See S.K. Bukhsh, *Contributions to the History of Islamic Civilization*, vol. 1 (2nd ed., Calcutta, 1929), p. 9 and pp. 5-12 in general for examples of elements of the Gospels which were given an Islamic pedigree in Muslim literature. NB: Bukhsh's book is a translation of A. von Kremer's *Culturgeschichtliche Streifzüge auf dem Gebiete des Islam* (Leipzig, 1873).

'shahīd' for 'martyr' was a post-Qur'ānic development related to the use of the word *'sāhdā*' in Syriac;¹¹⁶⁴

The shaping of the *sīra*: the biography of Muhammad was elaborated in a context where Muslims were a distinct minority living among more ancient religious groups who belonged to the same broad tradition of sacred history which had as its ultimate source the Hebrew Bible and in accounts of the *sīra* we can see evidence that the Muslim community sought to portray its prophet using motifs and elements from the sacred histories of the groups around it; this has been noted by a number of scholars: Horovitz pointed out that under polemical pressure, the biography of Muhammad was expanded to contain miraculous elements already in the time of Ibn Ishāq, though the motifs came from a variety of traditions, Christian elements stand out: 'It is remarkable how often in the biography of the Prophet we find mention of things Christian,' he observed, suggesting that attacks from Christian controversialists on Muhammad fueled the increase in miraculous motifs, some of them clearly inspired by events in the Gospels;¹¹⁶⁵ Goldziher observed the parallels between accounts of Muhammad miraculously increasing a supply of water to quench the thirst of a large number of believers, and multiplying only a little bit of barley and goat meat to feed a large number of people, and stories of Jesus turning water into wine and feeding the multitudes;¹¹⁶⁶ in an extraordinary article, Jensen showed nearly a century ago that there were extensive parallels, too uncanny and numerous to be mere coincidence,

¹¹⁶⁴ see Goldziher, 'Influences chrétienes dans la litérature religieuse de l'Islam,' pp. 307-312.

¹¹⁶⁵ J. Horovitz, 'The Growth of the Mohammed Legend,' *The Moslem World* 10 (1920), pp. 49-58, quote from p. 57, see esp. pp. 50, 57-58 (reprinted in U. Rubin, ed., *The Life of Muhammad* (Aldershot, 1998), pp. 269-278. D.J. Sahas, 'The Formation of Later Islamic Doctrines as a Response to Byzantine Polemics: The Miracles of Muhammad,' *The Greek Orthodox Theological Review* 27.1-2 (1982), pp. 307-324, makes a similar argument, independent of Horovitz.

¹¹⁶⁶ For these examples, see Goldziher, 'Influences chrétienes dans la litérature religieuse de l'Islam,' p. 304.

between the life of David as depicted in the Bible and the life of Muḥammad as represented in the *sīra*; Jensen suggested that other Biblical stories—those of the patriarchs, of Moses and Joshua and others—also found parallels in the portrayal of Muḥammad's life in the *sīra*;¹¹⁶⁷ he also pointed to the fact that nearly all of the details of the childhood and pre-history of Jesus found parallels in Muslim depictions of the life of Muḥammad;¹¹⁶⁸ later, Wensinck would document the extensive and striking parallels which Jensen had only alluded to; to cite Wensinck's account of only some of these remarkable resemblances:

Amina's pregnancy is without complications; a heavenly voice announces to her that she will bring the lord and prophet of his people into the world. One of his names will be al-Māhī, the 'Effacer', because God will cleanse his followers of their sins through him. Āmina has not brought other children into the world; and even Muhammad has not brothers and sisters, no half-brothers and halfsisters, no uncles, aunts, or aunts on his mother's side. He is pure at birth, circumcised, without an umbilical cord, and as he falls to earth, he braces himself with his hands. His birth is accompanied by extraordinary events in the heavens; on the occasion of his birth, Heraclius has the Jews murdered. Waraga explains that he can now die since he has seen the promised ones, and 'Abd al-Muttalib takes the new-born to the Ka'ba in his arms and thanks Allāh for this sign of His mercy. The boy grows up in the best way imaginable, borne up on Allāh's protective mercy. ... there are numerous echoes of the New Testament parables attributed to Muhammad; the collection of Tirmidhī even has a separate chapter on these *amthāl*. Like Jesus, Muhammad tells his followers about the future drama, *fitan*, and about the signs of the end of the world. Like Jesus, he was not sent with peace but with war and *jihād*. Like Jesus, he fasts

¹¹⁶⁷ See P. Jensen, 'Das Leben Muhammeds und die David-Sage,' *Der Islam* 12 (1922), pp. 84-93 for the Old Testament connections. After a remarkable discussion of the parallels between the life of David and the life of Muḥammad, Jensen notes, p. 93: 'Und so stehen wir vor der Tatsache, daß das ganze Leben Davids—und Sauls—in der Hauptsache—bezw. z.T.—in dem Muhammeds wiederkehrt.' The wide-ranging nature of these parallels, Jensen suggested, called for a reassessment of the historicity of the historical authenticity of both elements of the life of Muḥammad, as well as parts of the Qur'ān (p. 96). In tandem with Jensen's article, however, one should also read Horovitz's reaction to it, which is more circumspect about a number of the biblical parallels that Jensen identified and which also pointed out the need to look to post-Biblical Jewish, Christian and Zoroastrian sources and not just the Bible when seeking to understand the genesis of certain narratives in the *sīra*. See J. Horovitz, 'Biblische Nachwirkungen in der Sira,' *Der Islam* 12 (1922), pp. 184-189. More recently, Ze'ev Maghen has written an article pointing out Muḥammad-David connections and has promised additional work on this topic. See his 'Intertwined Triangles: Remarks on the Relationship between two Prophetic Scandals,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 33 (2007), pp. 17-92.

¹¹⁶⁸ Jensen, 'Das Leben Muhammeds und die David-Sage,' pp. 93-94.

longer than a normal mortal because he is given strength to do so from on high. Like Jesus, he declares that he is more dear to the true believer than parents and children.¹¹⁶⁹

Isrā'īliyyāt: related to the presence in the *sīra* of numerous stories about Muḥammad which have been consciously and unmistakably shaped according to Jewish and Christian models is the fact that a large amount of Biblically-inspired material found its way into Muslim *hadīth* and *tafsīr* literature; although the sources of this material were both Jewish and Christian, it came to be known as 'Isrā'īliyyāt';¹¹⁷⁰ 'Narrate about the Children of Israel,' Muḥammad is reported to have stated in a widely-reported *ḥadīth* which, Kister has pointed out, legitimated the taking up of Jewish and Christian stories by Muslim scholars, opening the floodgates for their traditions to come licitly pouring in;¹¹⁷¹

Sufism: Massignon pointed out that a number of 'theological and ascetic' words used by Sufis were of Aramaic (Jewish or Christian) origin and also pointed to various 'structural analogies' between elements of Sufism and Christian and Jewish parallels as well as the fact that 'a certain number of ascetic Islam's early works seem to be free transpositions of Christian writings;'¹¹⁷² this should come as no surprise, for there is evidence for widespread contact between early Muslim ascetics and Christian monks; in this vein, early Muslim ascetics were fond of quoting Jesus; indeed, the word 'Ṣūfī' itself

¹¹⁶⁹ See A.J. Wensinck, 'Muḥammad and the Prophets,' trans. M. Richter-Bernburg, in U. Rubin, ed., *The Life of Muḥammad* (Aldershot, 1998), pp. 339-340 (reprint of 'Muhammed und die Propheten,' *Acta Orientalia* 2 (1924), pp. 168-198.)

¹¹⁷⁰ For a definition of 'Isrā'īliyyāt,' see Muḥammad Wahīb 'Allām, *al-Isrā'īliyyāt fī tafsīr al-Qur'ānī* (Beirut, 2007), pp. 53-54 and see the various definitions offered in R. Na'nā'a, *al-Isrā'īliyyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr* (Damascus/Beirut, 1970), pp. 71-75. See also the article 'Isrā'īliyyāt,' by G. Vajda in El² for a definition and discussion of Isrā'īliyyat. Vajda focuses more on Isrā'īliyyat as a Jewish phenomenon.

¹¹⁷¹ On this tradition and on Isrā'īliyyāt, see Kister's richly-documented and excellent, 'Haddithū 'an banī isrā'il wa-la ḥaraja: A Study of an early tradition,' *Israel Oriental Studies II* (Tel Aviv, 1972), pp. 216-239. Reprinted in *idem., Studies in Jāhiliya and Early Islam* (London, 1980), no. XIV.

¹¹⁷² See L. Massignon, *Essay on the Origins of the Technical Language of Islamic Mysticism*, trans. B. Clark, (Notre Dame, 1997), pp. 50-52, quote on Christian writings from p. 52.

is said to refer to woolen garments worn by Muslim ascetics, perhaps in imitation of the Christian monks whom they interacted with;¹¹⁷³ Muslims themselves made this connection in the early medieval period: 'Ḥammād b. Abī Sulaymān went up to Basra,' Abū Nu'aym al-Iṣbahānī (d. AH 430/AD 1038) reported, 'and Farqad al-Sabakhī [d. AH 131/AD 748] came to him to him and on him was a garment of wool (*thawb ṣūf*), and so Ḥammād said to him: 'Remove from yourself this Christianity of yours!';¹¹⁷⁴ that the first Sufi *ribāț* was established in the hotbed of monasticism that was Syria has been pointed to as another point of contact with Christianity;¹¹⁷⁵

Sacred places: When Arabs conquered the Middle East in the seventh century, they took over the regions which had served as the backdrop for the major events of Jewish and Christian sacred history; these were lands which were already thickly populated with associations between Biblical figures and specific locales and insofar as the Qur'ān positions itself as the culmination of the same sacred history which Judaism and Christianity belong to, it should come as no surprise that Muslims took over and sometimes expanded a huge number of Jewish and Christian traditions which associated specific Biblical figures and events with particular places in Syria, Palestine, Jordan, Mesopotamia, Iraq, Egypt and South Arabia;¹¹⁷⁶

¹¹⁷³ See M. Smith, *Studies in Early Mysticism in the Near and Middle East* (Oxford, 1995), pp. 153-160 and A. Schimmel, *Mystical Dimensions of Islam* (Chappel Hill, 1975), pp. 34-35. cf. the report where Jesus' disciples ask him what he wears and he responds, 'Wool' (*al-sūf*) in Ibn Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 12 (Riyadh, 2004), p. 134 (no. 35232).

¹¹⁷⁴ Abū Nuʻaym al-Isbahānī, *Hilyat al-awliyā' wa-ṭabaqāt al-aṣfiyā'* (Beirut, 1988), vol. 4, pp. 221-222. On Farqad, see al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl* (Beirut, 1992), vol. 23, pp. 164-169; for two reports from Farqad speaking about his reading the Torah, see *ibid.*, p. 168. For this story about Hammād and Farqad and others which show Muslims making a (negative) connection between the woolen garment of Sufis and Christianity, see O. Livne-Kafri, 'Early Muslim Ascetics and the World of Christian Monasticism,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 20 (1996), p. 113.

¹¹⁷⁵ See S. Seppälä, In Speechless Ecstasy: Expression and Interpretation of Mystical Experience in Classical Syriac and Sufi Literature (Helsinki, 2003), p. 24.

¹¹⁷⁶ For this, see H. Busse, 'Der Islam und die biblischen Kultstätten,' *Der Islam* 42 (1966), pp. 113-147. Busse provides a listing, by city and region and based on medieval sources, pp. 137-142, of sites

Toponomy: hundreds of places have preserved their pre-Islamic, pre-Arabic names, and these names are often in origin Aramaic/Syriac;¹¹⁷⁷

Architecture: the earliest mosques lacked minarets and it has been suggested that this architectural feature actually had its genesis in the towers of Syrian churches, especially the four towers of the Church of St John the Baptist in Damascus which eventually became the Umayyad Mosque;¹¹⁷⁸ moreover, the first *minbar* was built by a Christian slave in Medina and scholars have also suggested a connection between the form of this classic feature of Islamic architecture and the pulpits found in eastern Christian churches;¹¹⁷⁹ similarly, in the case of another classic feature of the mosque, the concave *miḥrāb*, it seems that the first such *miḥrāb* was added to a mosque by Coptic workers rebuilding the mosque of Medina in 88-90 AH (AD 707-709) under al-Walīd and it has been therefore suggested that the concave *miḥrāb* itself owes its architectural

associated with biblical figures which become part of the Islamic tradition. See also, H. Scwarzbaum, *Biblical and Extra-Biblical Legends in Islamic Folk-Literature* (Walldorf-Hessen, 1982), pp. 69-72.

¹¹⁷⁷ One need only peruse the entries in A. Frayḥa, *Muʻjam al-mudun wa-'l-qurā al-lubnāniyya watafsīr maʿānīhā: dirāsā lughawiyya* (Beirut, 1972) to see the huge numbers of places in modern Lebanon whose names are originally Syriac/Aramaic. For Lebanon, also see the list of places with Syriac names, pp. 387-411, in J. Hobeika, 'al-Dawāthir al-suryāniyya fī Lubnān wa-Sūriya,' *al-Machriq* 37 (1939), pp. 289-412. Similarly, for a multitude of Aramaic/Syriac place names in Syria, see B. Ayyūb, *al-Uṣūl al-suryāniyya fī asmā' al-mudun wa-'l-qurā al-sūriyya wa-sharḥ maʿānīhā* (Aleppo, 2000). For medieval place names in Greater Syria (Syria, Lebanon, Palestine) with non-Arabic origins (Aramaic, Canaanite, Greek and other) see A. al-Ḥulw, *Taḥqīqāt ta'rīkhiyya lughawiyya fī 'l-asmā' al-jughrāfiyya al-sūriyya istinādan li-'l-jughrāfiyīn al-'arab* (Beirut, 1999). For the region of Mosul, a perusal of K. Awwād's *Taḥqīqāt buldāniyya*, *ta'rīkhiyya*, *athariyya fī sharq Mawṣil* (Baghdad, 1961) will turn up a large number of place names which are Aramaic in origin.

¹¹⁷⁸ See K.A.C. Creswell, *Early Muslim Architecture: Umayyads, Early 'Abbāsids, &* Tūlūnids. Part One: Umayyads A.D. 622-750 (Oxford, 1932), pp. 38-40. Creswell points out that there was no minaret in the first and second mosques built in Kufa, in the first and likely the second mosque built in Basra, and in the first mosque built in Fustat (p. 38). The first reference to a minaret comes in connection to the expansion of the mosque of 'Amr at Fustat in 53 AH (AD 673) and the minaret seems to have been introduced at the order of Mu'āwiya, who was living in Damascus. Interestingly, these minarets were referred to as *şawāmi*', an Arabic word which is commonly used to refer to towers lived in by Christian monks. On the possible connection between the minaret and Christian churches, see also R. Hillenbrand's article 'Manāra, Manār,' in *El*², vol. 6, esp. pp. 362-364. Hillenbrand identifies the first minaret as being built ca. 45 AH (AD 665) on the mosque in Basra.

¹¹⁷⁹ See Creswell, *Early Muslim Architecture*, vol. 1, pp. 31-32. See also J. Pedersen's article, 'Minbar,' in *EI*², vol. 7, pp. 73-76.

origin to the *haykal* in Egyptian churches; indeed, it seems to have been the case that in the second Islamic century, the use of a *mihrāb* was forbidden by some Muslims because it was seen as having come from Christian churches;¹¹⁸⁰ the striking similarities between the façade of the Umayyad Mosque in Damascus and the mosaic representation of the palace of Theodoric at Sant' Apollinare Nuovo in Ravenna has led to the suggestion that the façade of al-Walīd's mosque took as its inspiration the Chalke palace of Constantinople, which was the archetype for the palace of Theodoric; furthermore, it has been suggested that the three aisles of the Umayyad Mosque were the result of a habit of construction which came about from the Muslim practice of converting three-aisled Christian basilicas into mosques;¹¹⁸¹ the design of the Dome of the Rock, perhaps the most famous of all early Islamic structures, follows the plan of late antique Christian martyria and mausolea—the Church of the Kathisma which I referred to in my previous chapter is just one example, the most dramatic, of a number of pre-Islamic Christian structures which seem to be architectural forebears of 'Abd al-Malik's structure in Jerusalem;¹¹⁸²

Language: in the medieval period, Abū Bakr b. Durayd (d. 321 AH/AD 933) observed that 'Much from Syriac entered into the Arabic of the people of Syria, just as the Arabs of Iraq used many things from Persian'¹¹⁸³ and as one might expect, the Arab

¹¹⁸⁰ See Creswell, *Early Muslim Architecture*, vol. 1, pp. 98-99.

¹¹⁸¹ See Creswell, Early Muslim Architecture, vol. 1, pp. 135-137.

¹¹⁸² See O. Grabar, *The Dome of the Rock* (Cambridge, MA./London, 2006), pp. 98-106. See also the extensive discussion in Creswell, *Early Muslim Architecture*, vol. 1, pp. 70-90, of the architectural background of 14 different aspects of the Dome of the Rock.

¹¹⁸³ For the quote, see Abū Manṣūr al-Jawālīqī, al-Muʻarrab min al-kalām al-aʻjamī ʻalā ḥurūf almuʻjam (Cairo, 1361), p. 216. My translation, but cited in A. Schall, 'Der Arabische Wortschatz,' p. 148, in W. Fischer, ed., *Grundriβ der Arabischen Philologie: Band I: Sprachwissenschaft* (Wiesbaden, 1982).

conquests would not leave the language of the conquerors unaffected;¹¹⁸⁴ in the modern period a variety of studies have been done, mostly in Arabic, which show the influence that a Syriac/Aramaic substrate has had on the modern spoken dialects of Arabic in different parts of Greater Syria;¹¹⁸⁵ in the medieval period, al-Jawālīqī (d. 540 AH/AD 1145) composed a work on the foreign vocabulary in Arabic;¹¹⁸⁶ the great al-Suyūţī (d. 911 AH/AD 1505) wrote on the foreign vocabulary of the Qur'ān¹¹⁸⁷ and also wrote on how to distinguish foreign words in Arabic;¹¹⁸⁸ to such studies can be added the works of Siegmund Fraenkel on the Aramaic words found in classical Arabic in a variety of different linguistic areas¹¹⁸⁹ and Arthur Jeffery's work on foreign vocabulary in the Qur'ān; Jeffery's work shows that even before the Islamic conquests, Arabic speakers were in contact with other linguistic communities; studying the language of the Qur'ān, Jeffery noted, leads one to the 'conviction that not only the greater part of the religious vocabulary, but also most of the cultural vocabulary of the Qur'ān is of non-Arabic

¹¹⁸⁴ In general, see the overview of A. Schall, 'Der Arabische Wortschatz,' pp. 142-153, esp., pp. 148-150 on the influence of Islamized people on Arabic, in W. Fischer, ed., *Grundriß der Arabischen Philologie: Band I: Sprachwissenschaft* (Wiesbaden, 1982).

¹¹⁸⁵ For Mosul, see D. al-Chalabī al-Mawṣilī, al-Āthār al-āramiyya fī lughat al-Mawṣil al-ʿāmiyya (Mosul, 1935). For Lebanon and Syria, see J. Hobeika, 'al-Dawāthir al-suryāniyya fī Lubnān wa-Sūriyya,' al-Machriq 37 (1939), pp. 289-412; R. Nakhla, *Gharā'ib al-lahja al-lubnāniyya al-sūriyya* (Beirut, 1962), pp. 65-104; M.T. Feghali, Étude sur les emprunts syriaques dans les parlers arabes du Liban (Paris, 1918); F.M. Mubāraka, *Baqāyā al-ārāmiyya fī lughat ahl Ṣadad al-maḥkiyya* (Aleppo, 1999). For all of this and an overview in English, see J. Retsö, 'Aramaic/Syriac Loanwords,' pp. 178-182 in K. Versteegh, ed., *Encyclopedia of Arabic Language and Linguistics*, vol. 1 (Leiden/Boston, 2006). Also see F. Abu-Haidar, *A Study of the Spoken Arabic of Baskinta* (Leiden/London, 1979), pp. 178-179, which notes that most of the Syriac loan-words in the dialect of this Lebanese village have to do with agriculture or religion.

¹¹⁸⁶ See Abū Manṣūr al-Jawālīqī, al-Mu'arrab min al-kalām al-a'jamī 'alā ḥurūf al-mu'jam (Cairo, 1361). Shihāb al-Dīn Aḥmad al-Khafājī (d. 1069 AH/AD 1658) wrote a supplement to al-Jawālīqī's work called Kitāb shifā' al-ghalīl fīmā fī kalām al-'arab min al-dakhīl, (Cairo, 1325).

¹¹⁸⁷ See for example his al-Muhadhdhab fīmā waqa'a fī 'l-Qur'ān min al-mu'arrab (Beirut, 1988) and al-Mutawakkilī fīmā warada fī 'l-Qur'ān bi-'l-lugha al-ḥabashiyya wa-'l-fārisiyya wa-'l-hindiyya wa-'l-turkiyya wa-'lzanjiyya wa-'l-nabaṭiyya wa-'l-qibṭiyya wa-'l-suryāniyya wa-'l-'ibrāniyya wa-'l-rūmiyya wa-'l-barbariyya (Damascus, 1348).

¹¹⁸⁸ See al-Muzhir fī 'ulūm al-lugha wa-anwā'ihā, vol. 1, (Cairo, 1971), pp. 268-294. For all the preceding information on pre-modern Arabic-language studies of loan words in Arabic, I have been following A. Schall, 'Der Arabische Wortschatz,' p. 143, in W. Fischer, ed., *Grundriß der Arabischen Philologie: Band I: Sprachwissenschaft* (Wiesbaden, 1982).

¹¹⁸⁹ See S. Fraenkel, Die aramäischen Fremdwörter im Arabischen (Leiden, 1886).

origin;' the most important language for the Qur'ān's foreign vocabulary was Syriac;¹¹⁹⁰ similarly, Ahmed Hebbo's study of the foreign vocabulary of the *sīra* of Ibn Hishām, the oldest example of Arabic prose after the Qur'ān, found several hundred words of non-Arabic origin; as with the Qur'ān, Aramaic (Jewish or Christian) was the most important source of such words, accounting, for example, for nearly half of the religious vocabulary of foreign origin and 37% of all non-Arabic loanwords;¹¹⁹¹

Food: while adding some of their own cuisine to what they encountered, Arabs adopted the food of the conquered populations;¹¹⁹²

To these continuities, any number of others might be added: we are dealing with the whole of human culture. In addition to well known-continuities in coinage and administration,¹¹⁹³ one can mention that similarities have been pointed out between the physical movements which accompany Muslim prayer and the motions which were associated with the prayer of pre-Islamic Christian ascetics;¹¹⁹⁴ moreover, Goldziher suggested that there was a connection between the Zoroastrian practice of five daily prayers and the change in the number of required daily prayers in Islam from

¹¹⁹⁰ See A. Jeffery, *The Foreign Vocabulary of the Qur'ān* (Baroda, 1938), p. 2 (quote), Syriac as 'most copious source of Qur'ānic borrowings,' p. 19.

¹¹⁹¹ A. Hebbo, *Die Fremdwörter in der arabischen Prophetenbiographie des Ibn Hischām (gest. 218/834)* (Frankfurt am Main, 1984), pp. 370-371 and A. Schall, 'Der Arabische Wortschatz,' p. 148.

¹¹⁹² See M. Rodinson's article *Ghidhā*' in *EI*², vol. 2, pp. 1057-1072, esp. p. 1062.

¹¹⁹³ For a good treatment of the administrative continuities and discontinuities in Egypt in the first fifty years after the conquest, see P.M. Sijpesteijn, 'New Rule Over Old Structures: Egypt after the Muslim Conquest,' in H. Crawford, ed., *Regime Change in the Ancient Near East and Egypt: From Sargon of Agade to Saddam Hussein (Proceedings of the British Academy* 136) (Oxford, 2007), pp. 183-200. For the Umayyad administrative *ajnād* in Greater Syria being based on late Roman administrative structures, see J. Haldon, 'Seventh-Century Continuities: the *Ajnād* and the "Thematic Myth," in Av. Cameron, ed., *The Byzantine and Early Islamic Near East III: States, Resources and Armies* (Princeton, 1995), pp. 379-423. See also, A. Walmsley, *Early Islamic Syria: An Archaeological Assessment* (London, 2007), p. 73.

¹¹⁹⁴ See Seppälä, *In Speechless Ecstasy*, p. 20, citing a description of a Syrian monk's manner of prayer from John of Ephesus' (d. AD 586) *Lives of the Eastern Saints* as an example of pre-Islamic Christian ascetic prayer which bore resemblance to the eventual form that Muslim prayer would take. As will be seen below, pre-Islamic Arabs had contacts with Christian ascetics. See also the description of Manichaean prayer in G. Monnot's article, 'Ṣalāt,' in *El*², vol. 8, p. 932.

three to five.¹¹⁹⁵ Rudolf Macuch pointed out the close resemblance between the first half of the Muslim profession of faith—*lā* ilāha illā Allāh (There is no God but God)—and the pre-Islamic and very frequently-used Samaritan liturgical profession lyt 'lh 'l' 'hd (There is no God but One). What is more, Macuch pointed out the similarities between the entire Muslim shahāda—lā ilāha illā Allāh wa-Muhammad rasūl Allāh (There is no God but God and Muhammad is the Prophet of God)—and the (pre-Islamic) affirmation at the beginning of the important and popular Samaritan text, 'The Book of Miracles' (Mēmar Marqā): hw' h'l hq'ym wlyt 'awran lbr mnh lyt 'l dmwth nbyh ('He is the constant God and there is no one but him. There is no prophet like he (Moses)'). Similarly, the pre-Islamic Samaritan liturgical text known as the al-Durrān contains the affirmation lyt 'lh 'l' 'hd l' nby kmwšy nby ('There is no God but the One. There is no prophet like the Prophet Moses.')¹¹⁹⁶ Becker went so far as to argue that the best way to explain the structure and history of the Muslim Friday prayer service, its differences from the apparently more ancient organization of the communal prayers held during the two 'īds (particularly the peculiar institution of two *khutbas*), was by seeing the Friday prayer as having the Christian liturgy as a model: in the same way the Umayyads introduced into mosques architectural features from Christian churches such as the *minbar*, the *mihrāb* and the *maqsūra*, he suggested, there was historical warrant for believing that during this same time, drawing on a pattern of organization familiar

¹¹⁹⁵ See I. Goldziher, 'Islamisme et Parsisme: Mémoire lu à la séance générale du 6 septembre, à la Sorbonne,' repr. in J. Desomogyi, ed., *Ignaz Goldziher: Gesammelte Schriften*, vol. 4 (Hildersheim, 1970), p. 246.

¹¹⁹⁶ Translations are all Macuch's and can be found on pp. 3, 15-16 in his 'On the Pre-History of the Credal Formula "There is No God But God," trans. A.G. Goldbloom, in G. Hawting, ed., *The Development of Islamic Ritual* (Aldershot/Burlington, VT, 2006), pp. 3-21. Originally published as R. Macuch, 'Zur Vorgeschichte der Bekenntnisformel lā ilāha illā llāhu,' *Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft* 128 (1978), pp. 20-38. Macuch, p. 16, calls *al-Durrān* 'the oldest Samaritan collection of liturgy,' and also observes, 'If we are not very much mistaken, the Samaritans did have the formal priority of this creed over the Muslim one.'

from the structure of Eastern Christian liturgies, they had made changes to the Friday communal prayer gathering.¹¹⁹⁷

And so it goes. The question of the origins of Arabic grammar is a debated one, but long ago, Goldziher pointed out that it began when vowels started to be marked on words—something acknowledged, he pointed out, by the tradition itself. The Arabic system of using three different dots, placed above, below, and inside letters, Goldziher suggested, was a development of the Syriac system which placed a dot above or below in order to mark vowels. As further proof of this, he called attention to the fact that hafd and raf (another, early way of referring to the vowel markings kasra and damma, respectively) were literal translations of their Syriac equivalents, *rebasa* and *zeqafa*.¹¹⁹⁸ It has also been pointed out that the Syriac vowel names *petāhā*, *hebāsā* and *'esāsā* relate in their meaning to the Arabic *fatha*, *kasra*, and *damma* and suggested that the use of the word *jarr* in Arabic to refer to the genitive may be a literal translation of the Syriac hebāṣā. What is more, one can find traces in Arabic grammar of a distinction between long and short vowels which may be related to the Syriac grammatical tradition's use of this classification.¹¹⁹⁹ Other similarities between Arabic grammatical terminology before Sībawayhi and Syriac grammatical terminology, specifically that of Jacob of Edessa, have been pointed out.¹²⁰⁰

¹¹⁹⁷ See C.H. Becker, 'On the History of Muslim Worship,' trans. A. G. Goldbloom, in G. Hawting, ed., *The Development of Islamic Ritual* (Aldershot/Burlington, VT, 2006), pp. 49-74. Originally published as C.H. Becker, 'Zur Geschichte des islamischen Kultus,' *Der Islam* 3 (1912), pp. 74-99.

¹¹⁹⁸ See I. Goldziher, On the History of Grammar among the Arabs: An Essay in Literary History, trans. Kinga K. Dévényi and T. Iványi (Amsterdam/Philadelphia, 1994), pp. 4-9, esp. pp. 6-8.

¹¹⁹⁹ See C.H.M. Versteegh, Arabic Grammar and Qur'ānic Exegesis in Early Islam (Leiden/New York/Köln, 1993), pp. 30-31. In general, Versteegh's discussion of the question of Syriac influence on early Arabic grammar, pp. 28-32, is useful to read.

¹²⁰⁰ See R. Talmon, 'Jacob of Edessa the Grammarian,' pp. 174-176, in B. ter Haar Romeny, Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day (Leiden/Boston, 2008).

Of course, some, perhaps many, of the things I have offered here as continuities are quite possibly in fact no such thing at all and many more examples of suggested continuities could be offered, but these will have to suffice. Much of the research that has been done in this area was carried out generations ago by Orientalists who had a broad and rigorous philological training and deep familiarity with more than one Near Eastern religious tradition that is unfortunately no longer common among most scholars of Islam or Eastern Christianity or Judaism; moreover, political and cultural sensitivities make the very project of suggesting origin stories for religious or cultural phenomena which differ from the stories told by a tradition itself threatening, unnerving and perhaps even offensive to some.

Nevertheless, regardless of politics, regardless of the (lack of) tact and agendas, (nefarious and otherwise) of scholars who have unearthed them, regardless of contemporary religious and cultural sensitivities, regardless of (post-)colonialist thought and critiques, regardless of whether we choose not to look for them or to ignore them, the continuities themselves remain. And they point to a very simple fact: the Arab conquests of the Middle East of the seventh century had at least as much an impact on the conquerors and their new religion as those conquests had on the conquered indigenous peoples whose descendants would eventually become the region's Arabic-speaking, Muslim majority. We are dealing with wide-ranging parts of the whole of human existence: the language that was spoken, the food that was eaten, the way the government was run day-to-day, the sort of religious measures people resorted to to deal with matters outside their control, the understanding of who Muhammad was and what he did, the understanding of the importance and role of

Jesus, the language of the Qur'ān, the classification of sacred spaces, the physical layout and appearance of places of worship and more. These continuities are the result of actions taken by a huge number of historical actors whose names, places of birth, life and death, professions and other details are lost to us—this is the 'Dark Matter' to which I have referred. These individuals are invisible and were not historical actors in any robust sense—they have not left us sources which we can read and analyze and use to build modern historical syntheses. But like Dark Matter, the existence of the people who brought pre-Islamic cultural phenomena into, as it were, the bosom of Islam even as Islam was evolving, has to be posited to make sense of the Middle East and the Islam that result from the conquests of the seventh century. Again, though these anonymous individuals are not historical actors in any vigorous sense—they did not write treatises, rule kingdoms, lead armies, strike coins or build impressive monuments—in another, more profound sense, they are the most important historical actors of all. They are the ones whose descendants live in the region today and theirs is the Islam which is lived there, not the academic, normative Islam of medieval legal works. If we want to hear these actors speak, we have to learn to hear the echoes of their voices in the profound impact they and their descendants had on the shape that Islam and Middle Eastern society eventually took.

Our narrative sources, late and tendentious as they are, will mislead us if we look to them uncritically and hope to find straightforward answers to the question of how all these various pre-Islamic phenomena could have ended up wearing an Islamic name-tag and speaking Arabic. Smoking guns are hard to come by. Just as physicists have sought to devise sundry strategies for detecting Dark Matter, the challenge the

historian faces is to read the Arabic texts that we possess with an eye towards seeing the presence of the silent majority surrounding the Muslim minority in the Middle East which dominates our historical stage after the seventh century. Is there a way to integrate the image of the Middle East we get from Muslim Arabic texts with that we encounter in Syriac, Greek and Arabic texts written by Christians? Can we make incommensurables speak to one another?

The first step in reading these Islamic texts with a view towards discovering the silent majority and its role in the development of 'Islamic' society is to constantly keep in mind two points, one demographic, one religious, which I have returned to again and again in this chapter and the previous one: Muslims were a small minority and most of the earliest Muslims had come to Islam through mass conversion, not through intensely personal and highly-interiorized religious experiences. If we keep at the forefront of our historical imagination an image of early 'Islamic' society where Muslims were a small drop in a massive non-Muslim sea, where the bulk of Muslims were ones who had converted in groups and who did not have a strong sense of what 'Islam' required and entailed, where, after the conquests, conversion was often undertaken for reasons of expediency and under economic duress, and where it was possible to become a Muslim yet hold on to many Christian (or other pre-Islamic) symbols and rituals—in short, the sort of society I attempted to make an argument for in my previous chapter—we will have precisely the sort of social context which might explain the large number of continuities which we find between the pre-Islamic and 'Islamic' periods. 'Islam' was a placeholder which eventually came to have a set value (or a number of competing, but relatively well-articulated set values), but the process

by which Islam came to define itself and crystallize was nowhere near complete by the time of Muhammad's death.¹²⁰¹

The Anxiety of Influence

If we keep such an image of early 'Islamic' society at the forefront of our imagination, we will also not be surprised when we find evidence that Muslim religious leaders—the spiritual entrepreneurs who, much like Jacob of Edessa, were seeking to shore up and erect the boundaries of their fledgling religious community—were afflicted with an anxiety of influence.¹²⁰² Indeed, this is precisely what we should expect. If Muslim religious leaders had not had such an anxiety and tried to do something about it, the Arab conquerors of the seventh century and their descendants very likely would have suffered the same fate as the Mongol conquerors of the Middle East in the thirteenth: absorption and assimilation into the more developed and sophisticated religious traditions of the conquered people.

'These foreigners (*al-a'ājim*),' 'Umar II wrote to one of his governors, 'amuse themselves with things which Satan has adorned for them. Therefore, drive those Muslims who are near you away from that. By my life, it is appropriate for them to leave that [sort of thing], in accordance with what they read from the Book of God. So scold them away from what is vain and wanton in terms of singing and things like it. If they do not stop, then punish those of them who undertake it as an example with a chastisement which is not unjust.'¹²⁰³ 'Umar wrote these lines in the same letter I referred to in my previous chapter in which he decried Muslim women who were

¹²⁰¹ See the comments of G. Hawting in his 'Introduction,' in G. Hawting, ed., *The Development of Islamic Ritual* (Aldershot, 2006), pp. xxvi.

¹²⁰² This is an idea I owe to the work of Albrecht Noth (see below).

¹²⁰³ See Muhammad b. Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr* (Leiden, 1322), p. 290. With reference to the ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), pp. 245-246.

engaging in mourning practices from the *jāhiliyya*. The Caliph was dealing with a situation in which Muslims were both still engaged in pre-Islamic practices and where they were also adopting the behaviors of the conquered peoples around him and was none too happy on either account.

We have plenty of evidence to suggest that 'Umar II's anxiety of influence was not unique in the early Islamic period. 'If I die and you bring me out,' 'Imrān b. al-Husayn b. 'Ubayd (d. 53 AH/AD 673) is reported to have ordered, 'hurry as you walk and do not go slowly as the Jews and Christians walk slowly and do not cause fire and wailing (sawtan) to follow me.¹²⁰⁴ In one of the provisos of the so-called 'Pact of 'Umar,' Christians had promised not to raise their voices (*aṣwātanā*) with their dead¹²⁰⁵ and 'Imrān's request about how his funeral should be conducted suggests that some Muslims (perhaps converts?) had been following this Christian practice. But anxieties of influence extended to more than just funerary activities. According to one report relating to the collection of the text of the Qur'ān, once the text had been gathered, people discussed what the book should be called. One person suggested referring to it as 'al-sifr' ('the book') but Sālim, the mawlā of Abū Hudhayfa (who was credited in this report with the text's collection) averred: 'That is a word,' he is supposed to have said, 'which the Jews use as a name,' and so the people gathered there disapproved of it. Instead, Sālim suggested that they use the word 'mushaf ('codex') since he had seen a similar book in Ethiopia and that was the word used to refer to it there; this was the

¹²⁰⁴ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 6, with reference to the ET in Bewley, *Men of Madina*, vol. 1, p. 6.

¹²⁰⁵ Wa-lā narfa'u aṣwātanā ma'a mawtānā. See Ibn Taymiyya, Iqtidā' al-ṣirāṭ al-mustaqīm mukhālafat aṣḥāb al-jaḥīm (Cairo, 1950), p. 121.

label that everyone agreed on.¹²⁰⁶ The Prophet ordered that no one should dress in prayer as the Jews do, wearing only one garment: 'let he who has two garments dress himself and then pray.'¹²⁰⁷ After the conquest of Jerusalem, the Caliph 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb prayed on the Temple Mount and then asked the Jewish convert Ka'b al-Aḥbār where they should put a new mosque. Ka'b suggested putting it behind the Rock on the Temple Mount in order to combine both the direction of prayer of Moses and that of Muhammad. 'Umar rejected this idea: 'O Ka'b,' he said, 'you are imitating the Jewish religion! I have seen you taking off your shoes.'¹²⁰⁸ When travelling from al-Jābiya to Jerusalem 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb encountered some companions of Abū 'Ubayda who asked him to ride a certain kind of horse (*al-birdhawn*) and wear white clothing—it would look better on him, they told 'Umar, 'and we do not like for the People of the *Dhimma* to see you in the sort of style (*al-hay'a*) we see you in.' 'Umar did not take up the white clothes, but rode the horse for a while before getting rid of it. When members of his entourage tried to get him to wear the white clothes and ride the horse again, he refused. Once he arrived in Jerusalem, some Muslim men came to him 'having dressed,' al-Azdī tells us, 'in the clothing of the Byzantines and imitated them in their appearance (*hay'atihim*).' 'Stir up dust in their faces,' 'Umar commanded, 'until they

¹²⁰⁶ Al-Suyūțī, *Itqān*, vol. 1, p. 209.

¹²⁰⁷ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Musannaf*, vol. 1 (Beirut, 1970), p. 358 (no. 1390).

¹²⁰⁸ Translation Y. Friedmann, *The Battle of al-Qādisiyyah and the Conquest of Syria and Palestine*, vol. 12 of *The History of al-Tabarī* (*Ta'rīkh al-rusul wa 'l-mulūk*) (Albany, 1992), p. 195. See especially Friedmann's comments, n. 723, p. 195. Arabic text in Abu Ja'far Mohammad bin Jarir Al-Tabari, *Annals of the Apostles and Kings*, vol. 5 (repr. Piscataway, NJ, 2005), p. 2408. For this, see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p. 564. For changing early Muslim attitudes towards prayer in shoes relating an anxiety about imitating Jewish practices, see M.J. Kister, "Do not assimilate yourselves…' *Lā tashabbahū*,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 12 (1989), pp. 340-349.

return to our look (*hay'atinā*) and our custom and our clothing!¹²⁰⁹ Another clause in the 'Pact of 'Umar' had the Christians promise not to imitate Muslim dress in any way, or wear similar footwear, or part their hair in like manner.¹²¹⁰

Albrecht Noth pointed out that a variety of *hadīth* attribute to the Prophet injunctions that Muslims should not imitate non-Muslims: 'He who imitates a people is one of them,' 'He who imitates others does not belong to us,' 'Do not imitate Jews and Christians.' Another, related group of *hadīth* have Muhammad enjoining Muslims to be different from (*khālifū*) Jews and Christians. To Noth belongs the insight that these regulations stemmed from a fear of being swallowed up by the conquered peoples in the post-conquest world; he connected such injunctions as well as stipulations on things like non-Muslim dress in the so-called 'Pact of 'Umar' (the *shurūt* 'umariyya) with the fragile and threatened situation Muslims found themselves in in the post-conquest period: 'the dress rules (etc.) for non-Muslims can also (or only?) be understood as protecting the Muslim conquerors who began to settle in the conquered territories, but who were still a small minority in an alien environment,' he wrote; in trying to draw sharp lines between Muslim and non-Muslim by regulating what sort of headgear, footwear, hairstyle and means of transportation non-Muslims used, what the Pact of 'Umar was doing was attempting to 'protect Muslim identity.'¹²¹¹

¹²⁰⁹ Muḥammad b. 'Abd Allāh al-Azdī, *Ta'rīkh futūḥ al-shām* (Cairo, 1970), pp. 252-253. For this, see N. Khalek, *From Byzantium to Early Islam. Studies on Damascus in the Umayyad Era* (PhD Diss., Princeton, 2006), pp. 171-172.

¹²¹⁰ Ibn Taymiyya, Iqtiḍā' al-ṣirāṭ al-mustaqīm mukhālafat aṣḥāb al-jaḥīm (Cairo, 1950), p. 121.

¹²¹¹ See A. Noth, 'Problems of Differentiation between Muslims and Non-Muslims: Re-reading the "Ordinances of 'Umar" (*Al-Shurāț al-Umariyya*),' trans. M. Muelhaeusler in R. Hoyland, ed., *Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society* (Aldershot, 2004), pp. 119-121 (where Noth points out the two classes of *aḥādīth*, on imitation and differentiation) and p. 120 (quotes). This is a translation and reprint of the original article by Noth, 'Abgrenzungsprobleme zwischen Muslimen und Nicht-Muslimen. Die 'Bedingungen 'Umars (aš-Šurāț al-umariyya)' unter einem anderen Aspekt gelesen,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 9 (1987), pp. 290-315.

Similarly, Kister documented a number of different injunctions which were concerned with preventing and discouraging Muslims from imitating and adopting the customs and rituals of non-Muslims, especially Jews, but also pre-Islamic pagans and Christians as well.¹²¹² Before him, Vajda and Goldziher also took note of the Islamic tradition's concern that Muslims differentiate themselves the People of the Book: among other things, various *hadīth* ordered Muslims to dye their beards differently from those of the People of the book, to wear different clothing, to don different footwear, to wear their facial hair differently, to avoid the use of wigs because of their association with Jewish women; the Prophet enunciated regulations about interacting with menstruating women which were less strict than those followed by Jews and Islamic purity rules about female menstruation seem to have been purposefully more permissive than Jewish ones; Muslims were permitted sexual positions that Jews were not; the Prophet rejected Jewish claims about coitus interruptus; Muhammad criticized the Jewish and Christian practice of turning the tombs of prophets into pilgrimage sites and ordered Muslims to not act in the same way; Muslims were ordered to avoid greeting others by motioning with their fingers, like Jews, or with their hands, like Christians; Muslims were not to sway back and forth in prayer like Jews, or to raise their hands in prayer like Jews.¹²¹³ Measures were ordered about when Muslim fasts started and when they ended each day, when in the week and when in calendar they

¹²¹² See M.J. Kister, "Do not assimilate yourselves…' Lā tashabbahū,' Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam 12 (1989), pp. 321-371. Also cf. A.J. Wensinck, A Handbook of Early Muhammadan Tradition Alphabetically Arranged (Leiden, 1971), s.n. 'Jews.'

¹²¹³ For these examples and others, see G. Vajda, 'Juifs et Musulmans selon le Hadīt,' *Journal asiatique* 229 (1937), pp. 62-84. See also I. Goldziher, 'Usages Juifs d'après la littérature religeuse des musulmans,' in J. Desomogyi, ed., *Ignaz Goldziher: Gessamelte Schriften*, vol. 3, (Hildesheim, 1969), pp. 322-341. NB: p. 327: 'Bien des lois, bien des rites et même bien des usages de la vie ordinaire n'ont d'autre raison d'être, d'après l'exposé des motifs, que le désir, chez les Musulmans, de ne pas imiter les autres croyants et de se distinger d'eux le plus possible.'

took place—all with the express purpose of distinguishing Muslim fasts from those of the People of the Book; the time of the evening prayer was set so as not to imitate Jews; the Prophet expressed disapproval at peoples' saying to one another 'May God accept our (prayer) and yours' after praying because it was borrowed from the People of the Book; Muḥammad would stand at funerals until a rabbi informed him that Jews did the same: once Muḥammad heard this, he sat down and ordered those around him: 'Sit! Be different from them! (*khālifūhum*);' Muslims were to bury their dead differently from the People of the Book.¹²¹⁴

Above, I followed Kister in noting the existence of a *ḥadīth* in which Muḥammad encouraged Muslims to 'Narrate concerning the children of Israel for there is no sin (*lā ḥaraja*) in that,' a tradition that had legitimated Muslims taking up Jewish and Christian materials. But in addition to such encouragements we find a suspicion of foreign information as well. In one cryptic report Ibn Sīrīn (d. AH 110/AD 728) informs us, 'I told 'Abīda, "I have found a book. Shouldn't I read it?"' To which 'Abīda gave a simple response: 'No.'¹²¹⁵ It is difficult to know what sort of book Ibn Sīrīn found given the terseness of the anecdote, but we have other indications that there was some unease in the early Islamic period about the things that might be found from the conquered peoples who surrounded the early Muslim community. 'Do not learn the barbarous language (*raṭāna*) of the foreigners (*al-āʿājim*),' 'Umar b. *al-Khaṭṭāb* is said to have ordered, 'and don't enter into their presence in their churches on the day of their feast, for wrath will come down upon them.'¹²¹⁶ The Qur'ān itself seemed to admonish

¹²¹⁴ For all these examples (and others), see Goldziher, 'Usages Juifs d'après la littérature religeuse des musulmans,' pp. 322-341

¹²¹⁵ Ibn Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 8 (Riyad, 2004), p. 552 (no. 26709).

¹²¹⁶ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 1 (Beirut, 1970), p. 411 (no. 1609).

Believers who were in doubt about what God had revealed to ask those who had read scripture before them (Q 10:94); the Prophet, for his part, however, is reported to have said: 'I do not doubt and I do not ask.'¹²¹⁷ Asking Jews or Christians for information seems to have been a common temptation for early Muslims: 'How do you ask them about something,' Ibn 'Abbās is supposed to have said, referring to the People of the Book, 'when the Book of God is in your midst?'¹²¹⁸ Other versions of this report suggest that Muslim religious leaders were not happy at all that Muslims were asking Christians and Jews about what was in their scriptures and were ignoring the revelation brought by Muhammad: 'You ask the People of the Book about their books,' Ibn 'Abbās said, 'while you have with you the Book of God? You should read it as the closest of the scriptures in knowledge of God, one in which imperfection has not been mixed.¹²¹⁹ What we have is an attempt to assert the superiority of Muhammad's revelation over previous ones in order to stop Muslims from looking to Jewish and Christian texts. A still longer version of this same report has Ibn 'Abbās not only assert the superiority of Muhammad's revelation, but also assault the reliability of previous scriptures: 'How do you ask the People of the Book about something,' he is supposed to have said, 'when your Book, which God sent down to his Prophet...is among you? He [sc. Muhammad] introduced the books [sic] out of knowledge of his Lord and did not mix in imperfection. Has God not informed you in His Book that they have changed the Book of God and altered it and written the Book with their hands and then said, "This is from God" in order to exchange it for a small price (cf. Q 2:79). Has not the knowledge which

¹²¹⁷ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 6 (Beirut, 1973), pp. 125-126 (no. 10211).

¹²¹⁸ See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-faḍlihi, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), p. 51.

¹²¹⁹ See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-fadlihi, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), p. 53.

comes from asking them been forbidden? By God, we have never seen a man from among them asking you about what God has sent down to you!'¹²²⁰

Ibn 'Abbās's attack on Muslims asking Christians and Jews for information from their scriptures, at least in this longer report, seemed to have at least in part come from dismay at the lack of reciprocity in interest: People of the Book did not seem to be equally curious to find out what the Qur'ān had to say. But there was more than just a worry about asymmetry at play—there was the charge of Christians and Jews having corrupted their scriptures, purposefully, so as to trade the truth for an easier life here and now. Part of the suspicion of seeking information from Jews and Christians perhaps also stemmed from an anxiety that non-Muslims might try to trick and deceive Muslims or contradict Muhammad's message: Abū Namla spoke of sitting with Muhammad when 'a man from the Jews' came to the Prophet. 'O Muhammad,' the Jew asked, 'does this corpse speak?' 'God knows best,' was Muhammad's reply. 'I bear witness,' the Jew responded, 'that it speaks!' And so, we are told, Muhammad ordered Muslims: 'Do not speak to the People of the Book! Neither believe them nor consider them liars, but say "We have believed in God and his books and his prophets.' That way, if [what they say] is true, you have not called them liars, and if it is false, you have not believed them.'1221

There was also perhaps a worry that Muslims would be attracted to the scripture and teachings of prophets who preceded Muḥammad: 'By the One in whose hand is Muḥammad's soul,' the Prophet was supposed to have said to Muslims, 'if Moses were to appear to you and you were to follow him and leave me, you will have gone

¹²²⁰ See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, *Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-faḍlihi*, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), p. 52.

¹²²¹ See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-fadlihi, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), p. 51.

astray. You are my portion from among the nations and I am your portion among the Prophets.'¹²²² Muslims were not to get too fond of what they might find in other scriptures: Muḥammad was the prophet they had been allotted, just as they were the people whom he, as a prophet, had been allotted.

Even the tradition in which Muhammad encouraged Muslims to narrate about the children of Israel took different forms and was not always quite so positive about Muslims getting information from Jews and Christians. 'Do not ask the People of the Book about anything,' the Prophet is supposed to have said, according to one version of this tradition, 'for if they give you guidance, they have led their souls astray.' In response to this pronouncement, Muhammad was reportedly asked, 'O Apostle of God, are we not to narrate concerning the Children of Israel?' 'He said,' the report continued, 'Narrate—there is no sin.'¹²²³ Another version of this tradition had the Prophet admonishing: 'Do not ask the People of the Book about anything, for they will not guide you and they have led their souls astray: they deny the truth or believe in what is false.' Despite this suspicion of the motivations of the People of the Book, Muhammad expressed a confidence that, deep down inside, they knew that the message of Islam was right: 'There is no one among the People of the Book,' the Prophet continued, 'who does not have something in the back of his heart (illā fī galbihi tāliya) which calls him to God and His Book.'1224

Notwithstanding such reservations about seeking out information from People of the Book, learning their language and studying their scriptures, it seems that at least

¹²²² See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, *Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-faḍlihi*, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), p. 51.

¹²²³ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), (no. 4220) p. 543. On this more suspicious version of the haddithū tradition, see Kister, 'Haddithū 'an banī isrā'īla,' p. 219.

¹²²⁴ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), (no. 19332) pp. 543-544.

some Muslims were doing just this. 'Do you know Syriac well?' Muhammad was supposed to have asked his secretary, Zayd b. Thābit, 'For books are coming to me!" 'I said, "No," Zayd reported. The Prophet's response? "Then learn it!" 'So I learned it,' Zayd continued, 'in nineteen days.'¹²²⁵ There were several variations on this *hadīth* in circulation and 'Syriac' and 'Hebrew' seemed to have been interchangeable. 'Books which I do not want everyone to read are coming to me,' the Prophet told Zayd in a similar report, 'could you therefore learn Hebrew (or Syriac) writing?' 'I said yes,' the report goes on, 'and I learned it in seventeen nights.'¹²²⁶ We have other indications of early Muslims seeking information either from the books of the People of the Book or from actual Christian or Jewish informants. 'Abd Allāh b. Salām, a Jewish convert to Islam, is reported to have once approached the Prophet: 'I have recited the Qur'ān and the Torah,' he told him. 'Recite this one one night,' Muhammad responded, 'and this one the next.'¹²²⁷ Shurayk b. Khalifa reported seeing 'Abd Allāh b. 'Amr b. al-'Āṣ, a Companion of the Prophet and the son of the famous Muslim general, reading Syriac.¹²²⁸ 'Abd Allāh b. 'Amr was supposed to have gotten hold of two animal-loads of books from the People of the Book at the Battle of Yarmuk and he would use them to teach people.¹²²⁹ Al-Aqra', the *mu'adhdhin* of 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb, reported that 'Umar

¹²²⁵ fa-inna-hā ta'tīnī kutub. Ibn Abī Dāwud, Kitāb al-maṣāḥif (Leiden, 1937), p. 3. .

¹²²⁶ See al-Mizzī, Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl, vol. 10 (Beirut, 1989), p. 28.

¹²²⁷ Iqra' hādhā laylatan wa-ḥādhā laylatan. Abū 'Abd Allāh Shams al-Dīn al-Dhahabī, Kitāb tadhkirat al-ḥuffāz, vol. 1, (Hyderabad/Deccan, 1955), p. 27. For this example, see R. Na'nā'a, al-Isrā'īlīyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr (Damascus/Beirut, 1970), p. 160, n. 1.

¹²²⁸ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7.2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 189. ET available in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 306. 'Abd Allāh b. 'Amr b. al-'Āṣ was only eleven years younger than his famous father and was famous for the number of ḥadīth he transmitted. On 'Abd Allāh b. 'Amr b. al-'Āṣ, see al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 15 (Beirut, 1988), pp. 357-362.

¹²²⁹ For this, see R. Na'nā'a, al-Isrā'ilīyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr (Damascus/Beirut, 1970), p. 146.

'summoned the bishop and said, "Do you find in your books...?¹²³⁰ And there is still more: 'I came to the mountain,' said Abū Hurayra (d. AH 58 or 59/AD 678), perhaps the most prolific of all *ḥadīth* transmitters from Muḥammad, 'and I found there Ka'b [al-Aḥbār]. He and I stayed a day—with me telling him about the Prophet and him telling me about the Torah...'¹²³¹ 'From al-Ḥirah's churches,' Ibn al-Kalbī (d. AH 204/AD 819 or AH 206/821), the great genealogist and scholar reported, 'I used to obtain data about the Arabs, the genealogy of the family of Naṣr b. Rabī'ah, the dates of their service to the Persian emperors and the chronicle of their years. For in those churches is a record of their kingdom and all their affairs.'¹²³²

Above, I cited a report attributed to Ibn 'Abbās in which he urged Muslims not to read Christian and Jewish texts because they had been willfully changed to conceal God's truth. Another report, however, has 'Umar give his blessing to reading the Torah—so long as one knew it was free from alteration. 'If you know that it is the Torah which God sent down to Moses, the Son of 'Imrān,'—i.e., that it is not some later, corrupted version—'read it day and night.'¹²³³ Another report has 'Umar approach Muḥammad and give him a book: 'O Apostle of God,' he is supposed to have said, 'I have obtained an excellent book from a certain one of the People of the Book!'¹²³⁴ 'Abīda had

¹²³⁰ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7. 1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 73, ET made with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 62.

¹²³¹ Cited from al-Nisā'ī in R. Na'nā'a, al-Isrā'īlīyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr (Damascus/Beirut, 1970), pp. 137. On Abū Hurayra, see J. Robson's article, 'Abū Hurayra al-Dawsī al-Yamānī' in El².

¹²³² Translation M. Perlmann, from M. Perlmann, trans., *The Ancient Kingdoms*, vol. 4, *The History of al-Ţabarī* (Albany, 1987), p. 150. Arabic text in Abū Ja'far Muḥammad b. Jarīr al-Ṭabarī, *Annales quos scripsit Abu Djafar Mohammed ibn Djarir at-Tabari*, vol. 2 (Leiden, 1881-1882), p. 770. For this, see W. Atallah's article, 'al-Kalbī,' in El².

¹²³³ See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, *Jāmi*' bayān al-'ilm wa-faḍlihi, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), p. 53.

¹²³⁴ Muhammad's response was anger. 'Are they not perplexed at [their own books], O son of al-Khaṭṭāb?!' the Prophet is supposed to have responded. 'By the One in whose hand is my soul, I have brought you a spotless saying concerning them [sc. the scriptures of the People of the Book]: "Do not ask them about anything, for they will speak to you of something true and you will regard it false, or of something false and you will regard it true.' As with a tradition I referenced above, this particular report

told Ibn Sīrīn in a report I mentioned above not to read the book he had found, but not all Muslims had such a view towards newly discovered texts. According to a report in Ibn Sa'd, Abū al-Jald al-Jawnī 'used to read books.'¹²³⁵ 'My father,' Abū al-Jald's daughter reminisced, 'used to recite the Qur'ān every seven days and would finish the Torah in six—he would recite it while looking at it. And if it was the day when he was finishing it [sc. the Torah], people would gather for that reason. He would say, "it was said that mercy descends upon its completion [sc. the finishing of the recitation of the Torah]."¹²³⁶ Tubay', the son of the wife of Ka'b al-Aḥbar, we are told, was a learned man who read books and gained much knowledge by listening to Ka'b.¹²³⁷

Ka'b (d. 32 AH/AD 652-653) himself was a Yemeni Jew who converted to Islam and who was an important vector through which Jewish materials entered the Islamic tradition.¹²³⁸ Ka'b did not convert to Islam till after the death of Muḥammad, perhaps around 17 AH/AD 638 and the story of Ka'b's conversion, like the story of the monk Baḥīra, allowed Muslims to understand their religion as being foretold in and confirmed by previous religions which had grown from the soil of the Hebrew Bible. 'What prevented you from becoming Muslim in the time of the Apostle of God…and of Abū Bakr,' al-'Abbās is supposed to have asked Ka'b, 'up till the present in the time of 'Umar?' Ka'b's purported answer reflected the Muslim suspicion, which we have

contained a counterfactual claim which was aimed at both keeping Muslims away from Jewish and Christian scriptures as well as assuring them that Muḥammad's revelation was in line with what had come before: 'By the One in whose hand is my soul,' the Prophet continued, 'if Moses were alive, he would only be able to follow me.' See Ibn 'Abd al-Barr, *Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-faḍlihi*, vol. 2 (Medina, 1968), pp. 52-53. Compare this claim with Jesus' statement against Jewish opponents that Abraham had seen his ministry and rejoiced at it (John 8:56).

¹²³⁵ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7.1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 161.

¹²³⁶ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7.1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 161. ET made with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 140.

¹²³⁷ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7.2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 160.

 $^{^{\}rm 1238}$ See the article on Ka'b in $\it EI^2$ by M. Schmitz.

already encountered, that Jews and Christians were hiding parts of their scriptures which bore witness to the truth of Muḥammad's message. 'My Father,' Ka'b reportedly said, 'wrote a book for me from the Torah and turned it over to me and said, "Work with this," and put a seal on the rest of his books. He restrained me, with the right of a father over his son, from breaking the seal. When it came to the present and I saw Islam appear and saw no harm [in it], my soul said to me: "Perhaps your Father has concealed knowledge from you—he has hidden from you! If you were to read it..." So I broke the seal and I read it and I found in it a description of Muḥammad and his community and have therefore now come as a Muslim.'¹²³⁹

The story of Ka'b, like that of Baḥīra, shows that Muslims did in fact have a keen interest in seeing how Muḥammad's new text related to previous scriptures and believed that Muḥammad's claims would be verified there. Abū al-Jald's recitation of the Torah alongside the Qur'ān had been something of public interest and Ka'b himself, we are told, went so far as to study the Torah in the mosque: Ḥuṣayn b. Abī al-Ḥurr al-'Anbarī reported going into the mosque in Syria, in what must have been the earliest post-conquest period, and seeing Ka'b and 'Āmir b. 'Abd Allāh b. 'Abd al-Qays. 'Between them was one of the books of the Torah,' Ḥuṣayn narrated, 'and Ka'b was reading. When [Ka'b] came to something that pleased him, he explained it to ['Āmir].'¹²⁴⁰

Regardless of whether Muḥammad or 'Umar or Ibn 'Abbās or anyone actually ever uttered any of the traditions I have discussed above, they are important because they reflect precisely the sort of tensions between an openness to and interest in

¹²³⁹ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7.2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 154. ET made with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 277.

¹²⁴⁰ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 7.1 (Leiden, 1915), p. 89, ET made with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, trans. A. Bewley, vol. 1 (London, 1997), p. 68.

Judaism and Christianity and an aversion to information coming from these traditions that are precisely what one would expect if Muslim religious leaders were concerned about keeping their community, many of whose members did not have a profound acquaintance with or understanding of Muhammad's message, from assimilating into the highly-sophisticated, numerically superior communities they found themselves surrounded by. These traditions, when circulated, could serve as either warning signs to Muslims to avoid the religious literature of Christians and Jews, or alternately, could provide legitimation for their doing so. The continuities I have attempted to lay out in this chapter suggest that, despite the best efforts of some Muslim religious leaders to stanch the inflow of non-Muslim ideas into their young religion, much non-Muslim material did in fact 'enter the bloodstream of Islam,' to use Patricia Crone's expression.¹²⁴¹ This reality raises the question of the mechanisms of how non-Muslim material became Islamicized. What were the vectors through which so much pre-Islamic, late antique material came to wear a Muslim badge and have an Arabic calling card?

Reaching out and Touching Someone

The flow of information into Islam from older, non-Muslim communities must have occurred in a myriad of different ways and any model we put forth for trying to understand the process by which many aspects of what was simply Late Antique Christian, Jewish, or Middle Eastern culture came to be 'Islamic' as well must recognize the multiplicity of mechanisms of transmission. Historians have a weakness for the textual, but if we focus only on one this mode of transmission—essentially looking for

¹²⁴¹ A phrase I have taken from Patricia Crone's introductory remarks at the 'Islamic Freethinking and Western Radicalism' conference held at the Institute for Advanced Study, Princeton, New Jersey, 21-24, 2008.

evidence that some (anonymous?) Muslim directly copied an idea or practice from a Christian or Jewish text—we will blind ourselves to the fact that there must have been an enormous oral layer of transmission: Muslims and non-Muslims living together, side-by-side and having a shared existence. Indeed, Arab Muslim immigrants into Syria, from the very earliest period, settled in pre-existing towns and cities; the two Syrian garrison cities of al-Jābiya and al-Ramla never took off as significant places of Muslim habitation.¹²⁴² We must also remember that garrison cities themselves were not hermetically sealed off from the populations around them: in the previous chapter, I cited a letter of 'Umar II forbidding Christians from selling wine in garrison cities and one might also mention another letter of 'Umar II ordering the churches in the garrison cities of the Muslims be destroyed.¹²⁴³ Similarly, al-Ḥasan al-Baṣrī (d. AH 110/AD 728) is reported to have said that the *sunna* dictated destroying churches in the garrison cities, both new and old.¹²⁴⁴ We have other indications of Christians present in areas of Muslim settlement as well.¹²⁴⁵ And even without such indications, we would have to

¹²⁴² See F.C. Donner, *The Early Islamic Conquests* (Princeton, 1981), pp. 245-250. On Muslim settlement patterns in Syria, see D. Whitcomb, 'Amṣār in Syria? Syrian Cities after the Conquest,' Aram 6 (1994), pp. 13-33 and A. Walmsley, *Early Islamic Syria: An Archaeological Assessment* (London, 2007), pp. 71-112. Against the view that Muslims did not establish new towns and for a discussion of various garrison cities of (e.g., Aylah, 'Anjar, al-Ramlah), as well as the desert palaces, see *ibid.*, pp. 90-104. For an increase in contacts between Muslims and Christians towards the end of the seventh century, see R. Hoyland, 'Jacob of Edessa on Islam,' in G.J. Reinink and A.C. Klugkist, eds., *After Bardaisan: Studies on Continuity and Change in Syriac Christianity in Honour of Professor Han J.W. Drijvers* (Leuven, 1999), pp. 152-153.

¹²⁴³ See Shams al-Dīn Abī 'Abd Allāh Muḥammad b. Abī Bakr Ibn Qayyim al-Jawziyya, Aḥkām ahl al-dhimma, vol. 2, p. 122.

¹²⁴⁴ See 'Alī b. Muḥammad b. al-Durayhim, Manhaj al-ṣawāb fī qubḥ istiktāb ahl al-kitāb (Beirut, 2002), p. 166 and also 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 548 (no. 19351).

¹²⁴⁵ See the evidence assembled by Lammens for Christians in Ayla in 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 298 and his argument that the number of Christians in Medina *increased* after the death of Muḥammad such that 'Umar would lament their large number there on his deathbed (p. 269). Kufa, which along with Basra, was perhaps the garrison city *par excellence* was known in Syriac as 'Āqūlā or 'Aqūlā (see *Thesaurus Syriacus*, col. 2964) and had a pre-Islamic life and existence. For Christians in Islamic Kufa, see S. Qāshā, *Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī khilāfat banī Umayya*, vol. 2 (Beirut, 2005), pp. 409-421. Lammens, pp. 299-301, also contains information about the presence of Christians in Kufa and the open practice of Christians and

assume that the number of non-Muslim slaves and concubines in the garrison cities must have been substantial.¹²⁴⁶

If we have Muslims and Christians living in close proximity, what we find is that we are confronted again with the problem of the ghosts of conversations past which I took up earlier in this dissertation. Because the conversations, debates and discussions through which Muslims came into contact with the traditions of the non-Muslims over whom they ruled have all vanished and are unknown to us, we cannot recover what must have been one of the most important, if not *the* most important, vectors by which Muslims learned of non-Muslim ideas and practices. What we can do, however, is attempt to sketch out some of the concrete social milieux of contact where Muslims and non-Muslims rubbed shoulders.¹²⁴⁷ In other words, we can turn this question of intellectual and cultural history into one of social history as well in order to try to understand the nuts and bolts of the formation of what eventually is understood to be 'Islam' and 'Islamic society.' In what remains of this chapter, I will attempt to suggest some of the social milieux of contact and vectors by which Muslims came into contact with non-Muslims and in which their shared experiences there perhaps offered

al-Hīra, see Qāshā, *Aḥwāl al-naṣāra*, vol. 2, pp. 395-409. Also, see the article 'al-Hīra' by A.F.L. Beeston and I. Shahid in *El*² for al-Hīra as an important locus of Nestorian Christianity. According to Yāqūt, (*Mu'jam al*buldān, vol. 2 (Beirut, 1957)) monasteries in al-Hīra or near Kufa included Dayr Ibn Barrāq (al-Hīra, p. 496), Dayr Ibn Waddāh (al-Hīra, p. 496), Diyārāt al-Asāqif (p. 498, in Najaf, in the vicinity of Kufa and at the beginning of al-Hīra), Dayr al-Askūn (al-Hīra, 498), Dayr al-A 'war (in the vicinity of Kufa, p. 499), Dayr Banī Marīnā (in the vicinity of al-Hīra, p. 501), Dayr al-Jara'ah (in al-Hīra, p. 503), Dayr al-Jamājim (p. 503, in the vicinity of Kufa); Dayr al-Harīq (in al-Hīra, p. 505), Dayr Hanzala (al-Hīra, p. 507), Dayr Hanna (al-Hīra, p. 507), Dayr Sarjis wa-Bakkus (in Tīzanābādh, between Kufa and al-Qādisiyya, p. 514), Dayr al-Sawā (in the vicinity of al-Hīra, p. 530), Dayr Mārt Maryam (al-Hīra, p. 524), Dayr al-Lujj (al-Hīra, p. 530), Dayr Mārt Maryam (al-Hīra, p. 531), Dayr Mār Fāythūn (al-Hīra, p. 531), Dayr Mār 'Abdā (in the area of al-Hīra, p. 536), Dayr al-Maz'ūq (in the vicinity of al-Hīra, p. 538) and Dayr Hind al-Ṣughrā (in al-Hīra and close to the land of Banī 'Abd Allāh b. Dārim in Kufa, p. 541). Yāqūt also gives the names of several monasteries located near Basra: Dayr Jābīl (p. 503) was near Basra and Dayr al-Dihdār (p. 509) was a monastery of pre-Islamic origins in the area of Basra.

¹²⁴⁶ I am grateful to Peter Brown for this point.

¹²⁴⁷ I have been influenced here by the remarks and ideas of Crone at the 'Islamic Freethinking and Western Radicalism' conference, see above, n. 1241.

settings in which non-Muslim ideas and practices came to be taken up by Muslims. In the previous chapter, I dealt with one important area of contact—the relationship between Muslims and Christian holy men and sacraments. And now, from among the many further points of contact which must have existed, I will narrow my focus to the following: religiously-mixed families, daily contacts in towns and cities, Christian monasteries and religious festivals, religious converts and prisoners of war. I will take each of these up in turn.

Religious Interaction Begins...At Home

Many of the hybrid religious practices I attempted to adduce evidence for in my previous chapter no doubt were the result of marriages between Muslim men and Christian women, or marriages in which a man would convert to Islam but his wife would remain Christian. Muslim men were allowed to marry the women of the People of the Book (cf. Q 5:5) and we have evidence that this was an attractive prospect that even caused potential problems for Muslim women who could not find spouses. After Muslim forces captured al-Madā'in in Iraq, Ḥudhayfa was appointed by 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb as its governor. When 'Umar saw that the number of Muslim women without husbands was on the rise in the area, he ordered Ḥudhayfa to divorce his wife, who was herself not a Muslim. Ḥudhayfa wrote to the Caliph, asking whether he was permitted to marry a member of the People of the Book: 'It is indeed permissible,' 'Umar responded, 'but the non-Arab women are captivating, and if you draw near to them they will wrest you from your wives.'¹²⁴⁸ Arab soldiers might also marry non-Muslim women simply because there were no Muslim women to be found in places far from

¹²⁴⁸ Translation Y. Friedmann, in idem., trans., The Battle of al-Qādisiyyah and the Conquest of Syria and Palestine, vol. 12 of The History of al-Ṭabarī (Albany, 1992), p. 159.

home: 'I participated in the battle of al-Qādisiyyah with Sa'd,' Jābir reported, 'We married women from the People of the Book, as we did not find many Muslim women. When we returned, some of us divorced them and some of us kept them.'¹²⁴⁹ There was, of course, Prophetic precedent for marrying women from the People of the Book: numbered among Muḥammad's eleven wives was Ṣafiyya bint Ḥuyayy b. Akhṭab,¹²⁵⁰ a Jew, and the mother of Muḥammad's only son, Ibrāhīm, was a Coptic slave named Mary.¹²⁵¹ Muḥammad gave Mary's sister, Sīrīn, to Ḥassān b. Thābit, and she bore him a son named 'Abd al-Raḥmān.¹²⁵² Early caliphs would follow Muḥammad's lead: 'Uthmān b. 'Affān, for instance, had a Christian wife named Nā'ila b. al-Furāfiṣa and Mu'āwiya famously had a Christian wife name Maysūn.¹²⁵³

We should not forget that the demographic realities of the early 'Islamic' Middle East offered plenty of opportunities for this particular type of Muslim-Christian interaction. Muḥammad b. Abī Bakr wrote to 'Alī and asked him about the case of a Muslim man who had fornicated with a Christian woman: the Muslim, 'Alī responded, should receive the ḥadd punishment and the woman should be turned over to her religious community to be taken care of.¹²⁵⁴ And though I will focus here on Muslim men marrying non-Muslim, especially Christian, women, we should not think that non-

¹²⁴⁹ Translation Y. Friedmann, in *idem.*, trans., *The Battle of al-Qādisiyyah and the Conquest of Syria* and Palestine, vol. 12 of *The History of al-Ṭabarī* (Albany, 1992), p. 159.

¹²⁵⁰ See A. Guillaume, trans., *The Life of Muhammad: A translation of Isḥāq's* Sīrat Rasūl Allāh (London, 1955), pp. 511, 514-515, 516.

¹²⁵¹ See Guillaume, *The Life of Muḥammad*, p. 653.

¹²⁵² See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5, (Leiden, 1905), p. 196. ET available in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), p. 166.

¹²⁵³ See S. Qāshā, Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī 'l-khilāfat banī Umayya, vol. 1 (Beirut, 2005), p. 126. On Maysūn, see H. Lammen's article, 'Maysūn' in *EI*². For Nā'ila as Christian, see Abū Faraj al-Iṣbahānī, *Kitāb al-aghānī*, vol. 15 (Bulaq, 1868-1869), p. 70. For the common practice among the Umayyads of marrying women from the Christian tribe of Kalb, see H. Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 157.

¹²⁵⁴ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 9, (Beirut, 2000), p. 549 (no. 19356).

Muslim men and Muslim women had no venereal interaction: 'If a man from the People of the Book,' Ibn Jurayj reported, 'fornicates with a Muslim woman or steals something from a Muslim man, [a punishment] should be established against him and the Imām should not turn away from it.'¹²⁵⁵ Similarly, Jacob of Edessa himself had dealt with the question of whether a Christian man or woman who committed adultery with a pagan was to receive the same punishment as a Christian who committed adultery with a Christian.¹²⁵⁶ A letter from the Patriarch Athanasios of Balad (d. 686 AD), written perhaps in 684, condemns 'wretched' Christian women who were 'unlawfully and inappropriately' marrying pagan men (*hanpē*); these *hanpē* may have in fact been Muslims or, were at the very least, understood as such by the later tradition.¹²⁵⁷ In the seventh and eighth centuries, as now, the heart was blind to sectarian affiliation.¹²⁵⁸

The combination of demographics—Muslims existing as a small minority in a sea of non-Muslims—and permissive religious regulations—Muslim men could have up to four wives and were allowed to marry women from the People of the Book—meant

¹²⁵⁵ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 9, (Beirut, 2000), p. 550 (no. 19363).

¹²⁵⁸ Perhaps less romantically, mention can be made of Anastasios of the Sinai speaking about Arabs forcing elderly female ascetics who were virgins into marriage. See, M. Richard and J.A Munitiz, edd., Anastasii Sinaitae: Questiones et Responsiones (Turnhout, 2006) p. 162.

that it was only inevitable that religious intermarriage would take place.¹²⁵⁹ And when we read accounts of Muslims holding various Christian symbols and rituals in high esteem—baptism, Jesus, the Eucharist, saints, holy men—we should remember that many of these Muslims were no doubt married to Christian women, had Christian concubines, were the children of Christian mothers, or were descended from people who had been all of these things. In the twelfth century, in fact, Balsamon would explicitly link baptism of Muslims in Anatolia with the efforts of their Christian mothers.¹²⁶⁰ Some women who married Muslim men converted upon marriage, but others remained Christians. Ibn Rusta, writing in the third/tenth century, included a list of early Muslim notables (*ashrāf*) whose mothers were Christians.¹²⁶¹ Before him, Ibn al-Kalbī (d. AH 204/AD 819 or AH 206/821), composed a book, *Mathālib al-'Arab* (Faults of the Arabs), which provided lists of Arabs who fell into a number of categories, often dubious: sodomites, thieves, bastards, fornicators, men who married their stepmothers; included in his book were five chapters which were devoted to notable men who were the children of different kinds of non-Muslim women: Ethiopians, Byzantines, Sindis, Nabateans and Jews.¹²⁶² Before any debates or disputations held in the presence of a Caliph or Amīr took place or letters were sent back and forth between learned polemicists, there was this different and much, much more common type of

¹²⁵⁹ I am not bringing the question of concubinage into this discussion, but the existence of Christian slave-girls/concubines only strengthens my point.

¹²⁶⁰ See the quotation in Vryonis, The Decline of Medieval Hellenism in Asia Minor and the Process of Islamization from the eleventh through the fifteenth century (Berkeley, 1986), pp. 487-488.

¹²⁶¹ See Ibn Rusta, al-Mujallad al-sābi' min Kitāb al-a'lāq al-nafīsa (Leiden, 1892), p. 213. For this point, see Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 161, for discussion of the identities of these men, see *ibid.*, 162.

¹²⁶² See Hishām b. al-Kalbī, *Mathālib al-'Arab* (Beirut/London, 1998), pp. 103-110.

Muslim-Christian interaction: this is a world where Muslim-Christian religious exchanges started at home.

Religiously-mixed households and families presented Muslims with a host of challenges whose echoes we can hear in legal discussions. How did one negotiate the shoals of religious difference when members of one's immediate and extended family belonged to a different religion? In the ninth century, for example, the famous jurist Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal (d. 241 AH/AD 855), was asked about the case of a Muslim man who had *dhimmī* relatives and who would greet them with the Arabic '*al-salām* '*alaykum*;' such a man, Aḥmad held, should greet them in Persian and should not initiate contact with them with this (Islamic) greeting.¹²⁶³

Families that were multi-religious presented children with potentially thorny issues at the end of life. Muḥammad b. al-Ash'ath, for example, asked 'Umar and 'Uthmān what he should do about a paternal aunt of his who had died and who was Jewish.¹²⁶⁴ This was probably a question about whether and how he should take part in her funeral procession. In roughly the exact same period, Addai was asking Jacob of Edessa whether it was permissible for Christian women to take part in the funeral processions of pagan Harranians and Jews, something which Jacob permitted on account of love and human custom.¹²⁶⁵ Jacob also permitted pagans and Jews to take

¹²⁶³ See Abū Bakr Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Hārūn b. Yazīd al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'lzanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-şalāt wa-'l-farā'id min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, (Riyadh, 1996), pp. 462-463 (nos. 1110-1112).
¹²⁶⁴ See Ibn Sa'd, Kitāb al-ţabaqāt al-kabīr, vol. 5 (Leiden, 1905), p. 46. ET available in Muhammad

Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), p. 41.

part in Christian funeral processions.¹²⁶⁶ On the Islamic side of things, the treatment of the case of al-Harith b. 'Abd Allah provides an example of the different ways that Muslims dealt with taking part in such funeral processions. Al-Hārith had a Muslim father and a Christian mother—Ibn Sa'd tells us about him that 'in him was blackness, because his mother was a Christian Abyssinian'¹²⁶⁷—and there survive a number of varying reports about what exactly al-Hārith did upon his mother's death. According to one, members of Quraysh and other Muslims came to be present at her funeral procession, but al-Hārith told them that God had taken the obligation to attend away from them and that it would be more appropriate for members of her religious community to be in it than for them to be in it; as a result, they all left. Another report has al-Hārith finding out that his mother was a Christian only after her death, when a female servant secretly tells him that they discovered his mother wearing a cross when they undressed her to wash her body; in this report, it is once al-Hārith finds out about his mother's true identity that he tells Muslims that God has satisfied the obligation on their behalf and that it would be better for them to let her co-religionists be in the funeral procession. And, according to this version, al-Hārith's reputation increased for having done this. Yet another report has the Companions of the Prophet in the funeral procession and al-Hārith tells them that she has co-religionists other than them; in this report, however, there is no mention of Muslims departing from the procession, nor is

¹²⁶⁷ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5 (Leiden, 1905), p. 19. ET available in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), p. 15.

there mention of al-Ḥārith's reputation increasing as a result of his actions.¹²⁶⁸ One last account, from Ibn Sa'd, has al-Ḥārith and a number of Muslims take part in the funeral procession, in addition to a number of Christians, but both groups are separate from one another.¹²⁶⁹

These various permutations on what al-Ḥārith and other Muslims did about his Christian mother's funeral make it clear that there were varying answers to the question of how a Muslim should act when confronted by a question of whether and how to participate in funeral rituals when a non-Muslim family member passed away: depending on the report one took as authoritative, one might not take part in the funeral procession at all or one might attend, but be separate from non-Muslims. In the 'Abbasid period, when asked whether a Muslim could attend the funeral of a polytheist, Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal would cite the example of al-Ḥārith attending but standing to one side as precedent for permitting Muslims to participate.¹²⁷⁰

Ibn Ḥanbal's opinion was recorded in a collection of his opinions about matters relating to People of the Book made by al-Khallāl (d. 311 AH/ AD 923) and the range of questions asked there about only the issue of funerals and burial reflects a society in which Muslim and non-Muslim lived lives that were intertwined at the most intimate levels: A Jewish man dies who has a Muslim son, how should the son act? Abū Wā'il's (d. after 82 AH/ AD 701) mother died a Christian and he asked 'Umar what he should

¹²⁶⁸ These reports are all conveniently collected in al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 5 (Beirut, 1985), pp. 241-243. Quraysh present: from al-Zubayr b. Bakkār (p. 241); al-Ḥārith discovers his mother is a Christian: also from al-Zubayr b. Bakkār, pp. 241-242; Companions of the Prophet accompany the body: from al-Bukhārī, p. 242.

¹²⁶⁹ This report is contained in al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 5, p. 243, but the text in Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5 (Leiden, 1905), p. 19, is slightly better (reads 'alā ḥida rather than 'alā ḥaddihi). ET can be found in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), p. 15.

¹²⁷⁰ See Abū Bakr Aḥmad b. Muḥammad al-Khallāl, Aḥkām ahl al-milal min al-jāmi' li-masā'il al-Imām Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal (Beirut, 1994), p. 220.

do.¹²⁷¹ Qays b. Shammās's mother died a Christian and he wanted to attend her funeral; he asked the Prophet how he should act.¹²⁷² Beyond the question of taking part in the funeral procession of non-Muslim family members, Aḥmad would be asked nearly identical questions to what Addai had asked Jacob perhaps 150 years previously: could a man who had a Muslim neighbor with a Christian mother follow along in the mother's funeral procession? How about attending the funeral of neighbors who were Christians? Could a Muslim man with a Christian mother follow along in her funeral procession? A Muslim man whose father died a Christian? In all these cases, Aḥmad would draw upon the precedent of al-Ḥārith and counsel that one could take part in the procession or attend the funeral, but that one should stand apart.¹²⁷³

Religious intermarriage or inter-religious concubinage raised other interesting problems. A Muslim could make a Christian an executor:¹²⁷⁴ Ṣafiyya, the wife of Muḥammad, made one of her relatives who was a Christian an executor of her will;¹²⁷⁵ she also made a Jewish relative an executor.¹²⁷⁶ A Muslim could not be the heir of an unbeliever (*kāfir*) and an unbeliever could not be the heir of a Muslim;¹²⁷⁷ similarly, the Muslim could not inherit from a Jew or a Christian¹²⁷⁸ and Jews and Christians could not inherit from Muslims.¹²⁷⁹ A paternal aunt of al-Ash'ath b. Qays died, for example; she was a Jew. Al-Ash'ath went to 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb to seek her inheritance; 'Umar,

¹²⁷¹ On Abū Wā'il, see al-Mizzī, Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl, vol. 12 (Beirut, 1988), pp. 549-554.
¹²⁷² All of these examples can be found in al-Khallāl, Aḥkām ahl al-milal, pp. 218-219. The answers to such questions involve taking part in the funeral procession, but riding ahead of it on an animal and not being behind it. The concern seems to be with maintaining both the separateness as well as the social precedence of the Muslim participant in the funeral procession.

¹²⁷³ al-Khallāl, Aḥkām ahl al-milal,pp. 219-220.

¹²⁷⁴ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 571 (no. 19461).

¹²⁷⁵ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Musannaf, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 571 (no. 19462).

¹²⁷⁶ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Muṣannaf, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 571 (no. 19464).

¹²⁷⁷ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, al-Musannaf, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 563 (nos. 19423, 194246).

¹²⁷⁸ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 563 (no. 4247).

¹²⁷⁹ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 564 (nos. 19429, 19430).

however, refused to give it to him and instead granted it to Jews.¹²⁸⁰ Death brought out in other vivid ways some of the conundrums intermarriage might raise: Where should a Christian woman who dies while pregnant with a Muslim's child be buried—in a Muslim cemetery or in a Christian one?¹²⁸¹

Non-Muslim wives or slave girls who maintained their Christian (or Jewish) observance might represent a religious predicament for Muslim husbands or masters. Al-Awzā'ī (d. 157 AH/AD 774), a Syrian legal expert whose views represent some of the earliest legal opinions we have preserved in the Islamic tradition¹²⁸² was asked about a Muslim man who had a Christian slave girl. Could he forbid her from going to church, or should he permit her to do so? Was it possible for him to forbid her from making pilgrimage to Christian holy places (*al-ziyārāt*) or should he give her permission? Al-Awzā'ī's response allowed the master plenty of freedom: he saw no harm in forbidding her from doing these things; equally, however, he also saw no harm from giving her permission to do them, either. Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal, on the other hand, while holding that the Muslim master should not forbid her from making pilgrimages (*la yamna'uhā min ahl al-ziyārāt*), maintained that the master should not give the slave girl permission to go to church.¹²⁸³

A series of questions posed to Aḥmad offer us a glimpse at some of the issues which a Muslim husband had to deal with if he took a Christian for his wife. Could the Muslim husband, Aḥmad was asked, forbid his wife from drinking wine? He could

¹²⁸⁰ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), pp. 563-564 (no. 19426).

¹²⁸¹ al-Khallāl, Aḥkām ahl al-milal, pp. 220-223. The responses that were given to this question included: she could be buried in a Muslim cemetery; she could be buried in a Christian cemetery; she could be buried separately in a place between Christian and Muslim cemeteries.

¹²⁸² See J. Schacht's article 'al-Awzā'ī, Abū 'Amr 'Abd al-Raḥmān b. 'Amr,' in *EI*².

¹²⁸³ al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'l-zanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, p. 431 (no. 1001).

order her to not drink wine, Aḥmad responded; if she refused to accept his order, however, the husband could not forbid her from drinking. Another question: Could the husband forbid the wife from leaving the house to go to church? 'As for her leaving [the house],' Aḥmad held, 'it is not right for her to go out and he has the right to forbid her, because it is not appropriate for her to leave, save with his permission.' Could the husband forbid his Christian wife from bringing a cross into the house? Similar to the case of drinking wine, Aḥmad held that the husband might order her not to bring a cross in, but if the Christian wife did not accept his order, he could not forbid her. Abū 'Iṣām's solution, which Aḥmad thought was a good one, was to stipulate before marriage that the Christian wife not drink wine or go to church.¹²⁸⁴

In addition to questions about going to church, wine and crosses, there was the issue of whether a Muslim husband should let his Christian wife go to festivals celebrating Christian saints—Aḥmad said no.¹²⁸⁵ Related to the issue of a Christian wife was the issue of a Christian slave girl: when Aḥmad was asked whether the Muslim should grant permission to his Christian slave girl to go the celebration of Christian feast days, or to church, or to Christian gatherings, he held that her master should not permit her.¹²⁸⁶ What is more, the Muslim master or husband should not buy a *zunnār*—the belt which People of the Book were required to wear—for his Christian wife or slave girl; she should go out and buy it herself.¹²⁸⁷

¹²⁸⁴ See Abū Bakr Aḥmad b. Muḥammad b. Hārūn b. Yazīd al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'lzanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, (Riyadh, 1996), p. 430 (no. 997).

¹²⁸⁵ al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'l-zanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, p. 431 (no. 10000).

¹²⁸⁶ al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'l-zanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, p. 430 (no. 998).

¹²⁸⁷ al-Khallāl, Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'l-zanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', vol. 2, p. 431 (no. 1002).

In the fourteenth century, Ibn Qayyim al-Jawziyya (d. 751 AH/AD 1350) would expand Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal's discussions about what a Muslim husband or master could or could not control in the religious observation of his non-Muslim wife. According to Ibn al-Qayyim, the Muslim husband was not permitted to forbid his non-Muslim wife from undertaking fasts which she believed were obligatory (even if it meant that he could not have sex with her when he wanted), nor could he forbid her from praying towards the east in his house. The Muslim husband was not permitted to compel his Jewish wife to break the Sabbath and he could not force his wives to eat food which their religions forbade; as to whether he could forbid that his wife from eat pork, there were two different opinions. Similarly, there were two opinions to whether he could forbid her—if she wanted—from observing the fast of Ramadan with him. And so it went. Among other things the Muslim husband could not prevent the non-Muslim wife from doing, according to Ibn al-Qayyim, was reading her scripture, so long as she did not raise her voice as she did.¹²⁸⁸

Intermarriage between Muslim men and non-Muslim women no doubt played a significant role in introducing a number of non- and pre-Islamic religious practices into the bloodstream of popular Islam. Khālid al-Qasrī (d. AH 126/AD 743-744), for example, was the governor of Iraq and had a Christian mother. While governor, Khalid built her a church in Kufa, located behind the great mosque; the sounds of the *nāqūs* and chanting from Khālid's church would compete with the call to prayer and the preaching in the mosque.¹²⁸⁹ What is more, after building a fountain in that mosque,

¹²⁸⁸ For these points (and others), see Shams al-Dīn Abī 'Abd Allāh Muḥammad b. Abī Bakr Ibn Qayyim al-Jawziyya, Aḥkām ahl al-dhimma, vol. 1, (Beirut, 1995), p. 316.

¹²⁸⁹ For this, see A.S. Tritton, The Caliphs and their Non-Muslim Subjects: A Critical Study of the Covenant of 'Umar (London, 1930), pp. 45-46.

Khālid had a priest bless it on the grounds that the priest's prayer would be more effective than even that of 'Alī; Khālid was also supposed to have stated that Christianity was a better religion than Islam and was said to have favored Christians and other non-Muslims over Muslims in appointments to public office and in adjudicating disputes.¹²⁹⁰ Maysūn, the Christian wife of Mu'āwiya whom I mentioned above, was the mother of Yazīd, who succeeded his father as Caliph. Yazīd was raised in the area of Palmyra, among the Arabs of his mother's tribe, Kalb, which was composed of Christians and recent converts to Islam; this formation has been connected to Yazīd's later behavior as Caliph.¹²⁹¹ According to the *Kitāb al-Aghānī*, Yazīd's boon companions were Sarjūn (the father of John of Damascus) and the Christian poet al-Akhṭal; Yazīd was also said to have been the first Caliph in Islam to introduce musical instruments, to welcome singers and to show immorality and drink wine.¹²⁹²

The traditional concern of most students of Islam and Christianity, however, has not been popular ritual and practice, but rather doctrine and belief, a focus which corresponds to the assumption that doctrine is the most important part of a religious system. For this reason, a more controversial question, one which is perhaps unanswerable, is of the effect that widespread intermarriage between Muslim men and

¹²⁹⁰ For all these points, see G.R. Hawting's article, 'Khālid b. 'Abd Allāh al-Ķasrī' in *EI*². See also Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 162.

¹²⁹¹ See Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté* orientale/Université Saint-Joseph, 3.1 (1908), p. 190.

¹²⁹² Awwal man sanna al-malāhī fī 'l-Islām min al-khulafā' might also mean 'the first of the Caliphs to pursue amusements in Islam.' See Kitāb al-aghānī, vol. 16, p. 70. Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), p. 247, sees this as an exaggeration and an anti-Syrian/Umayyad slander (also, cf. his translation (along with his note on p. 272, n. 1)). Lammens also suggests, pp. 258-259, that the Sarjūn in this text should be actually understood to be John Damascene and not his father, who would have been too old by the reign of Yazīd to be the drinking companion of a young Caliph.

non-Muslim women had on the normative, textual Islam which forms the focus of much of Western Islamic studies. It would not be surprising if close interaction with Christians affected the religious beliefs of certain Muslims, even among the literate elite. Ibn al-Rāwandī (d. 4th century AH/10th century AD) wrote that no less than the great al-Naẓẓām (d. 221 AH/ AD 836), 'the head of the Mu'tazilites, despite the elevation of his level in theology (*kalām*) and his ability and authority in knowledge' composed a book on the superiority of Trinitarianism over unitarianism for a Christian boy whom he loved passionately (*'ashiqahu*) as a means of acquiring from the boy 'what God had forbidden.'¹²⁹³ Al-Jāḥiẓ, the student of al-Naẓẓām, certainly held that Christianity was a fertile breeding ground for all sorts of unbelief. 'Their religion,' he said of the Christians,

...resembles in certain of its manifestations the doctrine of the materialists (*al-dahriyya*), and they are among the causes of all confusion and doubt. Indicative of this is that we have never seen a religious group which is more unbelieving (*akthar zandaqatan*) than the Christians—or more confused or befuddled than they. Such is the case of all those who have looked into obscure matters with weak intellects. Do you not see that most of those who have been killed in unbelief (*zandaqa*)—of those who profess Islam and show it externally—are those whose fathers and mothers are Christians?¹²⁹⁴

The 'Pact of 'Umar' had Christians promising that they would not speak the language of the Muslims and that they would not show crosses or any of their religious books in the streets of the Muslims or in their markets; a safe assumption would be that Christians were doing just this.¹²⁹⁵ In the last chapter, I mentioned that Jacob of Edessa saw no

¹²⁹³ See Abū Muḥammad 'Alī b. Aḥmad b. Sa'īd b. Ḥazm, Ṭawq al-ḥamāma (Cairo, 1950), p. 130. cf. J. van Ess's article, 'ABŪ ESḤĀQ EBRĀHĪM B. SAYYĀR B. HĀNE' AL-NAZZĀM,' in the *Encyclopedia Iranica* vol. 1, (London/Boston/Henley, 1985), pp. 275-280, story cited on p. 276.

¹²⁹⁴ See al-Jāḥiẓ, Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ (Cairo, 1344), p. 17 (from Fī 'l-radd 'alā al-Naṣārā).

¹²⁹⁵ Wa-lā natakallamu bi-kalāmihim…wa-lā nuẓhiru ṣalīban wa-lā kutuban min kutub dīninā fī shay' min ṭuruq al-Muslimīn wa-lā aswāqihim. See Ibn Taymiyya, Iqtiḍā' al-ṣirāṭ al-mustaqīm mukhālafat aṣḥāb al-jaḥīm (Cairo, 1950), p. 121.

harm in Christian priests teaching the children of Hagarenes (he had no problem, either, with priests teaching the children of Jews and pagan Harranians),¹²⁹⁶ a phenomenon which I suggested could in part be attributed to families where at least one parent was a Christian or where the parents were converts to Islam who held on to much of their previous Christian baggage, so to speak. By the time we get to Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal in third/ninth century Baghdad, he was being asked about a Muslim who was teaching Qur'ān to the children of a Magian, a Jew and a Christian, something which did not please Aḥmad when he learned about it.¹²⁹⁷

The children of Muslim men were supposed to be Muslims, but this might not have always been the case and, to repeat a point I have already made, we should not underestimate the importance and role Christian mothers played in the formation of their Muslim children's religious identities. We should not let the eventual overwhelming Islamization of the Middle East, something which people in the seventh, eighth and ninth centuries had no way of knowing about, mislead us into thinking that each conversion to Islam meant that an irrevocable step had been taken or that contemporaries viewed such conversions as having permanent effects.

The story of the martyr Bakchos the Younger provides a late-eighth century example from Maiouma in Palestine of the sort of conflicts and hybrid identities which might result from conversions and inter-religious marriages. Bakchos' father, we are told, had been a Christian, as was his mother, 'but having been ensnared and drawn in

¹²⁹⁷ See al-Khallāl, pp. 120-121.

with Satanic enticements, he abandoned the holy worship of the Christians and drew near to the foul worship of the Hagarenes.¹²⁹⁸ After his conversion, the renegade would go on to have seven children whom he raised and taught in accordance with the custom of his new religion; his wife, however, was distressed at the new confession and would regularly attend Christian churches in secret where she would, the martyrdom reports, beseech God that she be separated from her husband and that she and her children be joined to the Christian church. Bakchos himself was the third of the seven children and was given the name Dahhāk at birth. He remained unmarried, according to the martyrdom, not because he refused to have anything to do with marriage, but because he wanted to become a Christian and be married to Christ by means of taking up the monastic way of life. Bakchos' desire to become a Christian no doubt had something to do with his mother's own secret Christianity and her wish that her children all convert to Christianity from Islam. When his father died, Bakchos reported his yearning to become a Christian to his mother, who rejoiced at what he told her. Bakchos went to Jerusalem where he met a monk at the Church of the Resurrection, a meeting which eventually led to his getting baptized at the lavra of St Sabas and receiving his new, Christian name. Later, Bakchos' mother came to Jerusalem to see the True Cross and also desiring to see her son, whom she found. Bakchos told her of his conversion to Christianity, his baptism and his taking up of the monastic garment: "At

¹²⁹⁸ F. A. Demetrakopoulou, "Άγιος Βάκχος ὁ Νέος,' Epistēmonikē epetēris tēs Philosophikēs Scholēs tou Panepistēmiou Athēnōn 26 (1977-1978), p. 344: 'Σατανικοῖος δὲ οὗτος δελεάσμασι παγιδευτεὶς καὶ συνελκυσθείς, τῆς ἱερᾶς τῶν Χριστιανῶν ἀποστὰς λατρείας, τῇ μυσαρῷ τῶν Ἀγαρηνῶν προσῆλθε λατρείῳ·' For a summary of this martyrdom/life, see C. Foss, 'Byzantine Saints in Early Islamic Syria,' Analecta Bollandiana 125 (2007), pp. 116-117.

last," he said, "by means of your prayers, O mother, I put into effect everything I long for without obstruction."¹²⁹⁹

When Bakchos' mother returned to Maiouma, she reported to her other children everything she had seen and all his holy ways: 'He suffers greatly and is grieved,' she told them, 'at our false doctrine.'¹³⁰⁰ At this point, they sold their belongings and all moved to a different region where they were baptized, along with their wives and children. The wife of one of Bakchos's brothers, however, did not go along with this family conversion, but instead left and 'made everything clear to the unbelievers.' This news of apostasy, we are told, outraged the Muslims, who paid a man who was, according to the martyrdom, thought to be a Christian but really a renegade to go about churches and monasteries looking for Bakchos.¹³⁰¹ Having been tasked with finding Bakchos/Dahhāk, the crypto-Muslim headed for Jerusalem, where, 'secretly and deceitfully walking up and down its squares,' he looked about for Bakchos. At last the man spotted Bakchos, having offered up a prayer and entering the Church of the Resurrection. 'He is one of us!' the agent shouted out, grabbing him by the shoulder and the back, 'He felt a disgust at our faith and has become a Christian. Look! He is even clothed with a monastic garment!'¹³⁰² At this point, the martyrdom takes a predictable path: Bakchos is put in prison and eventually taken before a Muslim ruler

¹²⁹⁹ Demetrakopoulou, "Άγιος Βάκχος ὁ Νέος,' p. 347: «ἐπὶ τέλους», φησίν, «εὐχαῖς σου, ὧ μῆτερ, ὁδηγούμενος πάντα τὰ ἐμοὶ ἐράσμια ἀνεμποδίστως»

¹³⁰⁰ Demetrakopoulou, "Άγιος Βάκχος ὁ Νέος,' p. 347: λίαν ἀλγεῖ καὶ ἀνιᾶται περὶ τῆς ὑμῶν κακοδοξίας

¹³⁰¹ Demetrakopoulou, "Άγιος Βάκχος ὁ Νέος,' p. 347: ἀπελθοῦσα δῆλα τοῖς ἀπίστοις πάντα πεποίηκεν

¹³⁰² Demetrakopoulou, "Άγιος Βάκχος ὁ Νέος,' p. 347 (first quote): Οὖτος οὖν ὁ πονηρὸς ἀνὴρ καὶ διάβολος ἐν Ἱεροσολύμοις γενόμενος καὶ τὰς πλατείας ἀναπατῶν περιεσκόπει ὑπούλως καὶ δολίως. Second quote, p. 348: ὁμόφυλος ἡμῖν ὤν, βδελυξάμενος τὴν καθ' ἡμᾶς πίστιν χριστιανὸς γέγονε καὶ ἰδοὺ καὶ μοναδικὸν ἐνδιδὺσκεται ἔνδυμα

who tries unsuccessfully to persuade him to come back to his 'ancestral faith.' In the end, Backchos was beheaded for his apostasy.

Worries about how literally we should be reading such accounts should not deter us from recognizing that this one martyrdom presents us with a whole spectrum of possible Christian responses to the religious opportunities presented by Islam in the early 'Islamic' period: Dahhāk/Bakchos' father, who converted for unspecified reasons; his mother, who followed her husband into Islam but who clung to a secret Christian observance; the children whose subsequent paths in life suggest that their religious identities were, if not confused, then not rock solid. If Bakchos' mother had actually been a secret Christian, as the martyrdom reports, it would be hard to imagine that her children would not be aware of their mother's attachment to her previous religion. The children themselves obviously had an affection for Christianity which was in no doubt at least partially the result of their mother's influence: Dahhāk/Bakchos was baptized and became a monk and credited his mother's prayers with helping him achieve what he desired. Moreover, all the rest of his siblings followed his example and were baptized as well. It should also be pointed out that the same pattern of tensions created by Christian-Muslim marriages played itself out at the other end of the Muslim world, in al-Andalus, where we also find a number of Christian martyrs who came from religiously mixed families.¹³⁰³

Perhaps most interestingly, the particular martyrdom in question provides us with another example of a possible Christian response to Islam—the Christian who, as it were, played it both ways—being a Christian when it suited him and being a Muslim

¹³⁰³ See A. Christys, *Christians in Al-Andalus: (711-1000)*, (Richmond, 2002), pp. 52-53.

when it suited him, in this case, in exchange for money from the Muslim rulers. Here we have an example of a confessional code switcher like we encountered in Chapter 4, but rather than switching identities between different versions of Christianity, this figure was switching between Christianity and Islam as expediency dictated. We should not forget that as time progressed and conversions gradually piled up, the Muslim community of the early medieval and medieval Middle East was increasingly a convert community. But, if the arguments of my previous chapter were in any way persuasive, this is how we should view the Muslim community in the Middle East from the very beginning of the conquest period. The shifting allegiances and mixed identities that can be seen in the martyrdom of Bakchos must have been commonplace.

The Practice of Everyday Life

Apart from intermarriage and religiously hybrid families, however, everyday life presented a myriad of opportunities for Muslims to come into contact with non-Muslims on a constant basis. Again, to return to the demographic realities I have stressed, such contact must have been unavoidable for Muslim settlers and immigrants living in garrison cities and pre-Islamic settlements throughout the Fertile Crescent where they would have often been a tiny minority, even in the places they were dwelling. And this contact was of the most literal kind as well: in his collection of hadīth, 'Abd al-Razzāq included a section on 'Shaking the Hand of the People of the Book' (*muṣāfaḥat ahl al-kitāb*): there was, it seems, a question as to whether it was appropriate for Muslim and Christian to do just this—'Abd Allāh b. Muḥayrīz, for example, (d. early second century AH/eighth century AD) was seen in Damascus

541

shaking the hand of a Christian.¹³⁰⁴ Some saw no harm in shaking hands (*muṣāfaḥa*) with Jews or Christians, but other Muslims disapproved of eating with them or engaging in any such hand shaking.¹³⁰⁵ Despite disapproval from some quarters, the very existence of the question and of an anecdote like the one reporting the behavior of 'Abd Allāh b. Muḥayrīz points to the reality that such interreligious contact of this most literal kind was happening. Similarly, despite disapproval of Muslims eating with Christians and Jews, as we saw in the last chapter, it seems that Muslims were initiating such interaction in at least some cases: Addai wrote to Jacob of Edessa to ask how the steward of a monastery should proceed if he were commanded by an Amīr to eat with him from the same bowl.¹³⁰⁶

There were other points of quotidian contact. In addition to families in which Muslims and non-Muslims lived together, Muslims and non-Muslims were living together who were not connected by marriage. In the second/eighth century in Ayla, Yazīd b. Abī Sumayya was known as a person who would pray the entire night while weeping. 'There was living with him in [his] house,' Ibn Sa'd reported, 'a Jewish woman who would weep out of mercy for him. And so one night in his supplication he said, "O God, this Jewish woman has wept out of mercy for me and her religion disagrees with mine. How much more then should you have mercy on me!"¹³⁰⁷ Living in Basra in the

¹³⁰⁴ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 6 (Beirut, 1973), p. 117 (no. 10173). On 'Abd Allāh b. Muḥayrīz, see al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā` al-rijāl*, vol. 16 (Beirut, 1992), pp. 106-110. He died either in the Caliphate of 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz or in the caliphate of al-Walīd b. 'Abd al-Malik.

¹³⁰⁵ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 6 (Beirut, 1973), p. 117 (disapprove: no. 10174; approve: 10175).

¹³⁰⁶ See n. 1075 above.

¹³⁰⁷ *Fa-Anta awlā bi-raḥmatī*. I am grateful to Yossi Witztum and Luke Yarbrough for helping me with this translation. See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 206; with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), p. 322. On Yazīd b. Abī Sumayya, see al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 32 (Beirut, 1992), pp. 151-152.

second/eighth century, 'Abd Allāh b. 'Awn b. Arṭabān had a house in the marketplace in

which Christians and Muslims both lived; he lived there as well. 'He would say,'

according to Ibn Sa'd, "Let Christians be below me; Muslims should not be below me."

And he dwelt in the top of his house.'¹³⁰⁸

And there was more. Without going into too great detail, one could mention

scribes,¹³⁰⁹ the army¹³¹⁰ (even in Muslim *ghazws* against non-Muslims),¹³¹¹ sailors and

Al-Mizzī does not give a date for Yazīd's death, but I take him as a second/eighth century figure based on the people whom he transmitted from, e.g. 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz.

¹³⁰⁸ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol 7, pt. 2 (Leiden, 1918), p. 36; with reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 1, trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997), p. 163.

¹³⁰⁹ See the biographical dictionary of Christian scribes and wazirs compiled by L. Cheikho, *Wuzarā' al-naṣrāniyya wa-kuttābuhā fī 'l-Islām: 622-1517*, (Jouniyeh, Lebanon, 1987). A read through al-Jahshiyārī's (d. AH 331) *Kitāb al-wuzarā' wa-'l-kuttāb* (Cairo, 1938), shows many examples of scribes who were Christians or mawālī. A.S. Tritton, *The Caliphs and their Non-Muslim Subjects: A Critical Study of the Covenant of 'Umar* (London, 1930), pp. 18-36 presents a large amount of evidence from a variety of sources of widespread Christian participation in Muslim administration.

¹³¹⁰ See, e.g., P. Crone, Slaves on Horses: The Evolution of the Islamic Polity (Cambridge, 1980), pp. 37-38; Lammens, 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' Mélanges de la Faculté orientale/Université Saint-Joseph, 3.1 (1908), p. 299; See also the canon of Jacob of Edessa on clergy who were forced to fight in the armies of the Muslims, Mardin 310, fols. 215b-216a (pp. 429-429): באואמוב ההא עשוא היה וגל וביוא בן הנה וכן ובי בבו בבו בבו בבו היא היה השלא היה ושלא היה ובלע נפהם לאודה לעובא שבים איני גלא אפטהמין. אפלא במואי מציצא מביל אם אליבא ביי איני איני איני איני איני איני ביי מובא: בידא באפא כך בהוא הבעיא המלך לעו כל במצובוא ומבי ההה להמה בשטוא. איבי וווב לה הל זבו והנינות הנושבל מה של מה . שלהו הנה הב ה השלש של אנה גרם . הנועום הם י בי מי מי מאלי מיי בי בי הי באא גבאי גבאי ג בי באי אי מי בא מי בא אי מי בא אי מי בא אי בי בי ג ביא גלבי. ווא ועליש בתואא האי בעור וביא בלעהו ווא למה ווא ונשלים וויש בתה אותוה ביו ביא במה היו ובו לא ועלי אי ביא ביא ב לא יש בים באגבים מחה בסלידא הנפטין. בעידא בעהיא למהם בי מלים ובשמאבו ה הביל erolfin inerensens, notion. resurred usize some sies los have here have אוא מאוראל . האמניטאאשלו יער האצא כה אבאשא איז וכאו אבי או אין געראא איז גערא איז א גער א איז א גער א איז א גער ומעידא וול ועולכם. ואם נעמע אם לא. הי ולוכ ואש לאר לא לא אין לאב ואש אול לא אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין ואנעול איזאאי אלא מער מגא לגינא באנא מגר בארא מפר בארא א גארא אין ארא ארא ארא אין ארא אין אין אין אין אין אין א 'Addai: When our citadel on the frontiers was being attacked by those from outside, the Arabs who were ruling inside ordered that everyone go out to the wall for the battle and they did not leave behind anyone whom they did not bring out, not even priests. In the case of a priest or a deacon who, when the battle grew fierce, threw a stone from the wall and struck and killed one of the fighters who was attempting to go up the wall, what does he deserve from the canons? Does he have a sin [in this]? I want to learn. Or, with respect to him, or or other priests and monks who, unwillingly were tied up with the ropes of a war machine (μαγγανικόν) and were throwing rocks and killing some opposing warriors, should they serve in the priesthood, or is it right that for a short time they be [...] the canon? Jacob: The fact that they acted unwillingly under compulsion and went out shows them to be free from these things which were done and therefore it is under the authority of their bishop to use mercy with them and

workmen,¹³¹² inter-religious debates,¹³¹³ or even the important role that Christians played as copyists of the Qur'ān in the early period, as examples.¹³¹⁴ What is more, when Christians had disputes with one another, they had the option of going before Muslim rulers for adjudication: perhaps unsurprisingly, the austere Jacob of Edessa issued a canon forbidding the clergy from taking their disagreements before worldly authorities.¹³¹⁵ But they were doing just this: "Umar wrote to 'Uday b. 'Uday,' one

¹³¹¹ See the series of questions about whether *dhimm*īs who take part in raids (*ghazā*) with Muslims get a share in the spoils, in Abū Bakr Aḥmad b. Muḥammad al-Khallāl, Aḥkām ahl al-milal min aljāmi' li-masā'il al-Imām Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal (Beirut, 1994), pp. 232-234.

allow them their service when it seems good to him. As for the deed of the priest who threw a stone from the wall when his eyes were looking and seeing the one whom he killed: after a fixed time in which he is held back from service for the purpose of repentance, the priest should be left to his conscience as to whether he will serve or not. Now as for the question as to whether they have sinned or not, it should not fall as a question. Rather this should be given to just judges and to the impartiality of God, the Knower and Searcher of all.' Harvard 93, fol. 29a: reads *ḥasyā* not *ḥesnā*. For the different attitudes Christian Arab tribes took vis-à-vis the Arab conquests, see M. A. Khrīsāt, 'Dawr al-'Arab al-mutanaṣṣira fī 'l-futūḥāt,' in *Proceedings of the Second Symposium on the History of Bilad al-Sham During the Early Islamic Period up to 40 A.H./640 A.D., ed. M.A. Bakhit and I. Abbas (Amman, 1987), pp. 135-164.*

¹³¹² See H.I. Bell and W.E. Crum, edd., *Greek Papyri in the British Museum. Catalogue, with Texts. Vol. IV: The Aphrodito Papyri* (London, 1910), pp. 435-450, for Coptic papyri showing men being conscripted and sent to serve as sailors on Muslim boats that were engaged in raiding in the Mediterranean and also to serve in official government building projects; pp. xxxii-xxxv, explains how the cursus worked and the mixture between Arab fighters and Egyptian sailors on board the ships.

¹³¹³ For a listing of such debates and their records, see the various bibliographies in the periodical *Islamochristiana* beginning with R. Caspar, A. Charfi, M. de Epalza, A.T. Khoury and P. Khoury, 'Bibliographie du dialogue islamo-chrétien,' *Islamochristiana* 1 (1975), pp. 125-181 and R. Caspar, A. Charfi, A.T. Khoury and K. Samir, 'Bibliographie du dialogue islamo-chrétien,' *Islamochristiana* 2 (1976), pp. 187-249, etc.

¹³¹⁴ For this, see M.J. Kister, 'Lā yamassuhu illā 'l-muṭahharūn… Notes on the Interpretations of a Qur'ānic Phrase,' Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam 34 (2008), pp. 330-331.

report states, "'If the People of the Book come to you, judge between them."¹³¹⁶ It is also worth mentioning that by the Geniza period a whole host of business partnerships between Muslims and non-Muslims had become utterly commonplace.¹³¹⁷

Monasteries and Festivals

Another important place where Muslims were coming into contact not just with Christians but with Christian religious institutions and practices was the monastery. 'I have met a large number of monks known for the forcefulness of their asceticism and the abundance of their knowledge,' 'Abd Allāh b. Ismā'īl al-Hāshimī, the Muslim correspondent of the Christian apologist al-Kindī, wrote. 'And I have entered into many cloisters and monasteries and Christian churches and attended their prayers the lengthy seven which they call "the prayers of the hours." Al-Hāshimī would go on to name and describe the different offices of the hours and Christian feast days and sacraments: 'For this, all of it, I have been present and witnessed its practitioners and known and been aware of it.'¹³¹⁸ Although the letter of al-Ḥāshimī may have actually

taken that which has been lost, nor to turn them over to whippings and scourgings. Instead, they should adjudicate and try their matter modestly and chastely and with justice and piety and as is meet for brothers in Christ, apart from all disturbance and blows, before members of the Church, according to the commandment of the Holy Apostle (1 Corinthians 6:1-6). For criticizing and reprimanding them, he says to those who are foolishly making an error like this, 'Has one of you acted brazenly when, having a case against his brother, they have gone to court before the outsiders and not before the Church?' And although he was saying these things to Christian laymen, if he was commanding Christian laypeople in this way, how much more in the case of clergy and monks is it not right that they should take their legal adversaries before secular rulers? How can he speak of everything which is right if it is the case that it is monks who are the ones who have a legal case and it is not at all right that they should demand their justice? Instead, if there is love among them, if he has some kind of case like this—be he a clergyman or a monk, who has destroyed something of his—and he dares to bring his case before secular judges and to turn his brother over to blows and scourging, he should be judged as an enemy of the law of Christ, and he should receive from the ecclesiastical canons a rebuke which is fitting for his error.' I am grateful to Yossi Witztum for suggestions on improving this translation.

¹³¹⁶ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 550 (no. 19361).

¹³¹⁷ For this, see S.D. Goitein, A Mediterranean Society: The Jewish Communities of the World as Portrayed in the Documents of the Cairo Geniza. Volume III: The Community (Berkeley/Los Angeles/London, 1971), pp. 293-298.

¹³¹⁸ Al-Hāshimī continues to describe his intimate knowledge of Christianity after this, but I won't belabor the point. For the quotes, see *Risālat* 'Abd Allāh b. Ismā'īl al-Hāshimī ilā 'Abd al-Masīḥ b. Isḥāq

been written by a Christian using a pseudonym and not by a Muslim, the interest in monasteries and in Christianity which his letter shows was not at all out of step with verisimilitude. In my previous chapter, I documented Muslim interest in churches and the things going on in them and even gave examples of Muslims living in or very close to churches. This is only the beginning of the story: contacts between Muslim ascetics and Christian monks have been well documented.¹³¹⁹ And if expecting every Muslim to have an intellectualized and deep interest in Christianity of the type which al-Ḥāshimī showed, or to have been attracted to the spiritual and ascetic aspects of monasteries, is perhaps unrealistic and asking more of Muslims than one would ask of non-Muslims, it is salutary to remember that there were other attractions to be had in these Christian institutions.

Monasteries had at least two things that were of interest to Muslims and non-Muslims alike: wine and the festivals of saints. Even before the coming of Islam, Arabs would go to Christians in order to get hold of wine. A'shā, for example, was a pre-Islamic Arab poet (d. AD 629) who became a Christian through his contact with the Christian Arab tribes of al-Ḥīra in southern Iraq who were known as the 'Ibādīs: 'he would go to them and buy wine from them,' the *Kitāb al-Aghānī* reported, 'and so they taught him [Christianity].'¹³²⁰ In the 'Islamic' period, non-Muslims and especially Christians would become associated with wine. 'The one who steals wine from the People of the Book,' 'Aṭā' (d. ca. 115 AH/AD 733) is supposed to have said, 'should have

al-Kindī yad'ūhu bi-hā ilā al-Islām wa-risālat 'Abd al-Masīḥ ilā al-Hāshimī yaruddu bi-hā 'alayhi wa-yad'ūhu ilā al-Naṣrāniyya (n.p. 1880), pp. 7, 8.

¹³¹⁹ See the collection of texts assembled, for example, in Y. Ṣādir, Ruhbān 'arab fī ba'ḍ siyar almutaṣawwifīn al-Muslimīn (Beirut, 2009). See also T. Andrae, In the Garden of Myrtles: Studies in Early Islamic Mysticism, trans. B. Sharpe (Albany, 1987), pp. 9-15.

¹³²⁰ See L. Cheikho, Shuʻarā' al-Naṣrāniyya qabla al-Islām (Beirut, 1999), p. 358 and see Abū al-Faraj al-Iṣbahānī, Kitāb al-Aghānī, vol. 8, (Bulaq, 1868), p. 79. For this, see G. Rothstein, Die dynastie der Lahmiden in al-Hîra: Ein versuch zur arabisch-persischen geschichte zur zeit der Sasaniden (Halle, 1899), p. 26.

his head cut off.'¹³²¹ 'We will not sell different kinds of wine (*khumūr*),' the Christians promised in the 'Pact of 'Umar.'¹³²² But they were in fact doing just this. In a letter supposed to have been written by 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz to Ayyūb b. Shurahbīl and the people of Egypt which dealt with the prohibition of wine, the Caliph took up the case of people who claimed the drink *tilā*' was different from wine in taste and temper and that there was no harm in drinking it. 'Those [people] only imbibe their drink—which they want to claim as licit (alladhī vastahillūna)—,' he wrote, 'at the hands of the Christians, who love to have Muslims go astray in their religion and have them enter into what is not licit for them, along with that which adds to the good sale of their wares and the easing of the burden on them.¹³²³ Abū Zubayd was a Christian Arab, related to the Christian tribe of Taghlib on his mother's side. Friends with al-Walīd b. 'Uqba, whom 'Umar I had appointed a fiscal official in the Jazira, Abū Zubayd eventually converted to Islam as a result of the entreaties of al-Walīd in 30 AH (AD 650). Enemies of al-Walīd would charge him with drinking alcohol with Abū Zubayd: 'Do you know that al-Walīd is drinking with Abū Zubayd?' they asked subversively: 'This man is your amir; Abū Zubayd is his chosen intimate, and they are both devotees of wine.¹³²⁴ Though al-Tabarī's account of Abū Zubayd and al-Walīd does not make an explicit connection, one wonders whether Christian renegades such as Abū Zubayd fell under the suspicion of being wine drinkers; one also wonders how many of them actually did continue to

¹³²¹ See 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 579 (no. 19503). On 'Aṭā' b. Abī Rabāḥ, see al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 20 (Beirut, 1992), pp. 69-86. For different dates of his death, see *ibid.*, pp. 84-85. Thomas asked Jacob of Edessa if it was appropriate for a Christian to knowingly drink wine from Jews; see (the damaged) Harvard Syriac 93, fols. 35b-37a.

¹³²² Ibn Taymiyya, Iqtiḍā' al-ṣirāṭ al-mustaqīm mukhālafat aṣḥāb al-jaḥīm (Cairo, 1950), p. 121.

¹³²³ See Ibn 'Abd al-Hakam, Sīrat 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz, p. 101.

¹³²⁴ Trans. R.S. Humphreys, *The Crisis of the Early Caliphate: The Reign of 'Uthmān A.D. 644-656/A.H. 24-*35, vol. 15, *The History of al-Tabarī* (Albany, 1990), pp. 48-49, quotes from p. 49.

drink wine once they had converted to Islam, especially given the wide variety of attitudes towards wine in the early period which we saw in the previous chapter.

Christian feast days provided the opportunity for both wine and also for the mixing of men and women. Well before the birth of Muḥammad, the festivals of saints had become associated with revelry and impurity. In the fifth century, Theodoret would write of one holy man, Maris, who had been virtuous from his youth. 'This he told me plainly,' Theodoret wrote, 'informing me that his body had remained chaste, just as it had left his mother's womb, and this although he had taken part in many festivals of martyrs when young, and captivated the crowds with the beauty of his voice...' Though Maris had been a cantor, 'neither his bodily beauty nor his brilliance of voice nor his mixing with the multitude injured his beauty of soul...'¹³²⁵ The festivals of saints were places where men and women mixed and thus were the cause of anxiety among church leaders who feared these occasions would enable sin. 'But as for you, O women who love God,' Theodota of Amid would write in his final prayer at the very end of the seventh century,

I command you, I, Theodota, the sinner, that when you have come to the commemoration of the saints, that you do not wear alluring adornments and radiant clothing and refined shoes on account of the thought of the world. For you will become stumbling blocks to those who look upon you, despite the fact that they fast and pray and hold vigils for their sins and for their afflictions. For looking at your fancy adornment they will be reproached and will become cut off from the help of the Saints. And, instead of them, you will receive hell with the demons. Rather than receiving help and prayers for you and for your households, you will take destruction and loss for your souls, which are the image of God.¹³²⁶

¹³²⁵ See Theodoret of Cyrrhus, *A History of the Monks of Syria*, trans. R.M. Price, (Kalamazoo, 1985), p. 131. I am grateful to Nick Marinides for bringing this passage to my attention.

¹³²⁶ St Mark's Jerusalem 199, fol. 563b (section 250 in my edition).

In the 'Islamic' period, Muslims would join Christians in celebrating feast days at monasteries. The most vivid testimony to this is a small genre of *kutub al-diyārāt*, books of monasteries, of which only one, that of al-Shāhbushtī (d. AH 388/AD 998), survives in any significant size.¹³²⁷ Organized into chapters, each named for a different monastery, it contains a wealth of poetry, much of it written about or inspired by monasteries, and anecdotes in which we see the elite of 'Abbasid society, including even Caliphs, going to monasteries for diversion, amusement and debauchery. Each chapter begins with a description of a different monastery, its location, and will even sometimes provide information about its feast day.¹³²⁸ 'This monastery is to the east of Baghdad,' a typical description (this one of the monastery of Samālū) begins

at the al-Shammāsiyya gate, on the al-Mahdī Canal; there are water mills [there] and gardens, trees and palm trees surround it. It is a pleasant spot, of fine construction, inhabited by those who visit it and its monks. At Easter in Baghdad there is an amazing spectacle there, for every Christian comes and takes communion in it and every Muslim who loves pleasure and amusement heads there to stroll about. It is among Baghdad's celebrated places for excursion and known areas of revelry.¹³²⁹

At least some members of the Muslim religious elites were none-too-happy about Muslims taking part in Christian festivals. Al-Maqrīzī (d. AH 845/AD 1442) left a lengthy description of Coptic feasts in Egypt, but he was careful to preface his account with a series of *ḥadīth* which discouraged Muslims from taking part in such activities and from learning the language of non-Muslims.¹³³⁰ Ibn al-Hāji (d. AH 737/AD 1336), a

¹³²⁷ On Christian monasteries in Muslim-ruled Middle East, see H. Zayyāt, 'al-Diyārāt alnaṣrāniyya fī 'l-Islām,' *al-Machriq* 36 (1938), pp. 289-417. More recently, for monasteries as sites of Christian-Muslim interaction, see E. Campbell, *A Heaven of Wine: Muslim-Christian Encounters at Monasteries in the Early Islamic Middle East* (PhD, diss., University of Washington, 2009).

¹³²⁸ See al-Shāhbushtī, *al-Diyārāt* (Beirut, 1986).

¹³²⁹ al-Shāhbushtī, al-Diyārāt (Beirut, 1986), p. 14.

¹³³⁰ Robert Griveau excerpted Maqrīzī's account from the *Khiṭaṭ* and published it with an FT in 'Les Fêtes des coptes,' in R. Graffin and F. Nau, eds., *Patrologia Orientalis* vol. 10, (Paris, 1915), pp. 313-343. Statements discouraging Muslim participation occur at the beginning, on p. 316.

Mālikī jurist who devoted a section of his book *al-Madkhal* to discussing some of the feasts of the People of the Book. Among the prohibitions he makes here was that a Muslim could not sell a Christian anything—meat, vegetables, clothing—that might help him celebrate his feast, nor could he help the Christian's animal, or assist him in any way in his religion: 'for this is something which honors their polytheism and aids their unbelief.'¹³³¹ Most interestingly perhaps, Ibn al-Ḥajj begins his discussion of these festivals by discussing just which Muslims were taking part in these events: 'There remains to talk about the festivals which most of them are accustomed to,' he wrote.

and they know that they are festivals which are particular to the People of the Book; and so certain people of this age imitate (*fa-tashabbaha*) them in them and participate with them in venerating them [sc. the festivals]. Would that it were only among the common people! You will see, however, a certain person who claims connection to knowledge (*'ilm*) doing this in his house [i.e., celebrating a festival] and helping them in it and being pleased at it [happening] among them. He will bring choice things to those—great or small—in his house, distributing coins and clothing according to what he thinks; some of them add that they give presents to the People of the Book during their festivals and send to them what they have need of for their feast days and thereby help to increase their unbelief. Some of them send sheep and some of them send green melons and some send dates and other things which are in season. And perhaps most of them agree with that, but this, all of it, contradicts the noble divine law.¹³³²

Muslim attendance and participation in Christian festivals was happening, therefore,

among more than just the uneducated and religiously uninformed.

When discussing Muslim attendance of Christian feast days and interest in

Christian churches, monasteries and monks, it is important to remember that many of

these Muslims, if not most, were descended from Christian converts; when we

encounter stories of Muslims visiting monasteries or celebrating Christian festivals, at

least part of what we are dealing with is how a society handles religious change: we are

¹³³¹ Ibn al-Ḥājj, *al-Madkhal*, vol. 2 (Egypt, 1960), p. 49.

¹³³² Ibn al-Hājj, *al-Madkhal*, vol. 2 (Egypt, 1960), p. 48.

looking at a sort of spiritual path dependency. One way of seeing such interest and visits is as another hybrid practice—like baptizing one's child—which resulted from conversion.¹³³³

Converts and Captives

Certainly one of the most important vectors by which Late Antique ideas and practices were assimilated by the conquerors and their new religion was through converts. Earlier in this chapter I cited the story of Hammād b. Abī Sulaymān rebuking Farqad al-Sabakhī in the eighth century for wearing a woolen garment, something which was redolent of Christian asceticism. Hammād told Farqad to take off that Christianity of his. Farqad himself, we learn in another place, 'was a weaver from among the Christians of Armenia,'¹³³⁴ and one wonders whether Farqad's Christian past had anything to do with the way in which he chose to articulate his own asceticism as a Muslim. The case of Farqad raises an interesting conceptual point for historians, as well. Converts who brought familiar stories, practices and ideas with them into their new religious context are one reason why it is difficult to find the proper language to speak about Late Antique elements present in Islam: if Farqad had been a Christian who

¹³³⁴ See Abū 'Abd Allāh Ismā'īl b. Ibrāhīm al-Ja'fī al-Bukharī, *Kitāb al-ta'rīkh al-kabīr*, vol. 7 (Beirut, 2001), p. 131 (no. 592).

was interested in asceticism and had worn a wool cloak and continued to have done so once he became a Muslim, does it make sense to say that he had 'borrowed' this practice from Christianity?¹³³⁵

An *isnād* from al-Ṭabarī's exegesis of Q 17:7 illustrates what I am speaking about very nicely. 'Ḥamīd related to us,' it begins

He said: 'Salama related to us on the authority of Ibn Isḥāq, on the authority of Abū 'Attāb—a man from the Taghlib, he had been a Christian for a period of his life, then afterwards, he converted to Islam and then he read the Qur'ān and became versed in religion and he was, according to what was said of him, a Christian for forty years, then he lived in Islam for forty years—he said...¹³³⁶

al-Ṭabarī continues with a story about the last prophet of Israel. What is important for us here is that this 'Attāb had lived much of his life as a Christian Arab and then became a Muslim and from there, eventually ended up teaching material he had no doubt learned as a Christian in a Muslim context. What we have here is essentially the Christian tradition of Biblical exegesis and understanding continuing under a different label.

Tamīm b. Aws (d. AH 40/AD 660) was a Christian who converted to Islam in 9 AH (AD 630); originally from Palestine, he serves as another good example of a convert who is thought to have brought Christian ideas and practices into Islam when he became a Muslim. Tamīm's Christian background has been pointed to to explain a number of things he has been held responsible for introducing into Islam: he was the first to light lamps in mosques; he was involved in the construction of the first *minbar*, built on Christian models; he was the one who told Muḥammad the story of the Beast

¹³³⁵ I am grateful to Lena Salaymeh for this point.

¹³³⁶ Abū Ja'far Muḥammad b. Jarīr al-Ṭabarī, Jāmi' al-bayān 'an ta'wīl āyy al-Qur'ān, vol. 14 (Cairo, 2001), p. 502. For this example, see I. Goldziher, *Schools of Koranic Commentators*, ed. and trans. W. Behn (Wiesbaden, 2006), p. 59.

(*al-jassāsa*) and the Antichrist (*al-dajjāl*) and Muḥammad himself taught these things on Tamīm's authority. Tamīm was also reputed to have been the first person to act as a $q\bar{a}$ ss, or popular storyteller—he sought permission, the story goes, to do so from 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb and was granted it¹³³⁷—and it is the qassās who have been credited with introducing a large amount of invented exegetical and historical material into the Islamic tradition, material they created for both edifying reasons and also for mere entertainment without regard for historical accuracy.¹³³⁸

This brings us back to the issue of Isrā'īliyyāt, which I have spoken of previously. Here is another area where large amounts of Jewish and Christian material were taken up into the Islamic tradition. One only need read the names in the *isnāds* of al-Ṭabarī's massive Qur'ānic commentary to encounter over and over again certain figures whose teaching and acts of transmission infused Islam with stories from older Abrahamic faiths. Scholars have sifted through historical and exegetical works, in addition to biographical dictionaries, and picked out some of the most important individuals responsible for bringing this Biblical material into a Muslim context.¹³³⁹ Some of these names have already come up in the course of this chapter: Tamīm al-Dārī, whom I have just mentioned and 'Abd Allāh b. 'Amr b. al-'Āş, who knew how to read Syriac. Ibn 'Abbās, perhaps the most important person in Islamic history for

¹³³⁷ For all this information about Tamīm, see M. Lecker's article 'Tamīm al-Dārī' in *EI*² see also see G. Levi Della Vida's article, 'Tamīm al-Dārī,' in *EI*¹. His conversion is also reported as having taken place in 7 AH (AD 628). For this information on Tamīm, see, too, Aḥmad b. 'Alī b. Ḥajar al-'Asqalanī, *al-Iṣāba fī tamyīz al-ṣaḥāba*, vol. 1 (Cairo, 1993), pp. 304-305 and 'Izz al-Dīn Ibn al-Athīr, *Usd al-ghāba fī ma'rifat al-ṣaḥāba*, vol. 1 (Beirut, n.d), pp. 428-429.

¹³³⁸ See P. Crone, *Meccan Trade and the Rise of Islam* (Princeton, 1987), pp. 215-230; I. Goldziher, *Muslim Studies (Muhammedanische Studien)*, trans. C.R. Barber and S.M. Stern, vol. 2 (London, 1971), pp. 150-159. See also Ch. Pellat's article, 'Ķāşş' in *El*².

¹³³⁹ I am thinking particularly of R. Na'nā'a, *al-Isrā'i*līyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr (Damascus/Beirut, 1970), pp. 132-197. Mention might also be made of M.W. 'Allām, *al-Isrā'i*līyāt fī 'l-tafsīr *al-Qur'ānī* (Beirut, 2007), pp. 65-74.

Qur'anic exegesis, was also credited with transmitting much Jewish and Christian material. Such was his erudition, he was called 'the rabbi of the Arabs' (hibr al-'arab).¹³⁴⁰ Ibn 'Abbās and 'Abd Allāh b. 'Amr b. al-'Ās serve as reminders that not all the prominent transmitters of Jewish and Christian lore were converts or descended from converts from these two religions, but certainly some significant transmitters were. Mention might also be made of a few more individuals. We have previously met in this chapter Ka'b al-Ahbār, a Jewish convert who transmitted large amounts of Jewish material into the Islamic tradition. Alongside him should be set 'Abd Allāh b. Salām (d. AH 43/AD 663-664), a Jew whose original name was al-Husayn and who converted to Islam when Muhammad made his flight to Medina, who is another such figure responsible for injecting large amounts of Jewish material into the Islamic tradition.¹³⁴¹ Wahb b. Munnabih (d. AH 110/AD 728 or AH 114/AD 732) was not a Jewish convert, but was nevertheless an important vector through which Biblical traditions from Ka'b and 'Abd Allāh were passed down.¹³⁴² Ibn Jurayj (d. 150 AH/AD 767), the son of a Greek slave named 'Jurayj' ('George') and reputed to be the first person to compose books in the Hijāz, was another prominent transmitter of Isrā'īliyyāt with a direct Jewish or Christian connection.¹³⁴³

¹³⁴⁰ Trans. W.M. Brinner from W.M. Brinner, trans., *The Children of Israel*, vol. 3, *The History of al-Ţabarī* (Albany, 1991), p. 46. Arabic text in Abū Ja'far Muḥammad b. Jarīr al-Ṭabarī, *Annales quos scripsit Abu Djafar Mohammed ibn Djarir at-Tabari*, vol. 1, (Leiden, 1879-1881), p. 461.

¹³⁴¹ See M.W. 'Allām, al-Isrā'īlīyāt fī 'l-tafsīr al-Qur'ānī (Beirut, 2007), pp. 71-73 and R. Na'nā'a, al-Isrā'īlīyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr (Damascus/Beirut, 1970), pp. 159-160. On 'Abd Allāh, see Ibn al-Athīr, Usd al-ghāba, vol. 3, (Beirut, 1996), pp. 265-266 and J. Horovitz's article "Abd Allāh b. Salām' in EI².

¹³⁴² See R.G. Khoury's article, 'Wahb b. Munabbih , Abū 'Abd Allāh,' in *El*² and Na'nā'a, *al-Isrā'īlīyāt* wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr, pp. 183-192.

¹³⁴³ On Ibn Jurayj al-Mizzī, *Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 18, pp. 338-354; (his father Jurayj slave and his Rūmī origin, p. 339; as *awwal man sannafa al-kutub*—along with Ibn Abī 'Arūba—p. 341). Also on Ibn Jurayj, see Ch. Pellat's article 'Ibn Djuraydj, Abu 'l- Walīd / Abū Khālid 'Abd al- Malik b. 'Abd al- 'Azīz b. Djuraydj al- Rūmī al- Ķurashī al- makkī (80–150/699–767)' in *El*². For all this and for Ibn Jurayj as prominent transmitter of Isrā'īliyyat, see Na'nā'a, *al-Isrā'īlīyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafs*īr, pp. 193-195.

We have the names of other converts who introduced ideas and practices into Islam as well. The Qadarite controversy—the dispute over human freedom and divine predestination—was one of the earliest theological issues to arise in Islam. And the first person to speak about *qadar* was supposed to have been a Christian from Iraq named SUSR or Sawsan who converted to Islam and then re-converted to Christianity. Ma'bad al-Juhanī, a famous early Qadarite, is said to have learned from Sawsan, and Ghaylan al-Dimashqī, another famous Qadarite, is said to have learned from Ma'bad. Ghaylan himself was a Coptic convert to Islam.¹³⁴⁴ Scholars have noted similarities between arguments adduced in favor of free-will by Qadarites and Christian theologians; they have also noted apparent Syriac calques in Qadarī vocabulary and other indications of Christian elements in Qadarism and Islamic theology more broadly.¹³⁴⁵

If we are interested in the questions of conversion and of how non-Muslim ideas were assimilated into and affected the development of Islam, we cannot ignore the

¹³⁴⁴ For this report, see Ibn 'Asākir, *Ta'rīkh madīnat Dimashq*, vol. 48, (Beirut, 1997), p. 192. See also Ch. Pellat's article 'Ghaylān b. Muslim, Abū Marwān al-Dimashkī al-Kibtī,' and J. van Ess's article 'Maʿbad b. 'Abd Allāh b. 'Ukaym al-Djuhanī,' in El². For Ghaylan and Ma'bad, see R. Caspar, A Historical Introduction to Islamic Theology: Muhammad and the Classical Period, trans. P. Johnstone (Rome, 1998), p. 158, n. 32. For Ma'bad as the first person to speak about *qadar* and then Ghaylān after him, see Ibn Qutayba, *al-Ma'ārif* (Cairo, 1960), p. 484. For a discussion of other accounts from the Islamic tradition concerning the question of the origins of Qadarism, see J. van Ess, Theologie und Gesellschaft im 2. Und 3. Jahrhundert Hidschra. Eine Geschichte des religiösen Denkens im frühen Islam, vol. 1 (Berlin/New York, 1991), pp. 72-73. NB: van Ess (p. 74) notes that while Awzā'ī made a connection between Ghaylan's Christian background (which paralleled that of Ma'bad) and his fall into heresy, in later reports about Ghaylan, no connection was made between Ghaylan's Christianity and heresy. According to van Ess, Arab aristocrats were suspicious of Ghaylan's anti-determinist teaching not because of any apparent connection to Christianity but rather because of the threat it posed to the social order. Against the idea that ascribing a heresy to some sort of Christian origin is a standard topos in Islamic heresiography, similar to the Christian practice, perhaps, of ascribing heresies to Jewish origins and Judaism, one might point out that in the index to Hellmut Ritter's edition of al-Ash'arī's Maqālāt al-islāmiyyīn (Wiesbaden, 1980), a classic and important work of Islamic heresiography, the word 'Christians' (al-naṣārā) only occurs three times and 'Jacobites' (al-ya'qūbiyya), occurs only once. The word 'Nestorian' does not occur and 'Jews' (al-yahūd) occurs twice. This all in a text which runs to some 611 pages.

¹³⁴⁵ See J. van Ess's article, 'Kadariyya' in *EI*²; see also M. Cook, *Early Muslim Dogma: A Source-critical study* (Cambridge, 1981), pp. 146-152 and A.S. Tritton, 'Foreign Influences on Muslim Theology,' *Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies* 10 (1942), pp. 837-842. Caspar, *A Historical Introduction to Islamic* Theology, pp. 158-161 lists Christian elements in Islamic theology, but seeks to de-emphasize any Christian 'influence' on the earliest theological debates in Islam.

issue of captives and the movement of peoples throughout the eastern Mediterranean that resulted from constant raiding and warfare—the early medieval period was a time of a constant influx of population into and out of Muslim-controlled areas in the form of prisoners of war. Among the unflattering characterizations of the ruling Muslims that John of Phenek would use at the end of the seventh century was that they were a people 'whose wish it is to take captives and deport.' Taking foreign captives and slaves was a yearly ritual:

Their robber bands went annually to distant parts and to the islands, bringing back captives from all the peoples under the heavens. Of each person they required a tribute, allowing him to remain in whatever faith he wished. Among them were also Christians in no small numbers: some belonged to the heretics, while others to us.¹³⁴⁶

A brief glance through some historical chronicles bears out John's observation.¹³⁴⁷ In 640, for example, we find the Arabs plundering and taking captives in Cilicia, a campaign which culminated with the sack of the town of Euchaita and with taking its entire population, men, women and children, captive.¹³⁴⁸ In 649-650, the Arabs brought 5,000 slaves with them back from an invasion of Isauria.¹³⁴⁹ In 661-662 there was another raid against the Byzantines which resulted in many captives.¹³⁵⁰ In 662-663, the

¹³⁴⁷ For the most part, I will base myself on events recorded in the 'Syriac Common Source,' i.e., the now-lost *Chronicle* of Theophilos of Edessa, as reconstructed by Robert Hoyland in *Seeing Islam as Others Saw It* (pp. 631-671) on the basis of material common to Theophanes, Dionysios of Tellmahre (via Michael the Syrian and the *Chronicle to the year 1234*), and Agapios of Manbij.

¹³⁴⁸ See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 4, p. 423 (Syriac) = vol. 2, p. 431 (FT). See also Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p. 640.

¹³⁴⁹ See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans., *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor: Byzantine and Near Eastern History, AD 284-813, (Oxford, 1997), p. 479.*

¹³⁵⁰ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 486.

Arabs took part of Sicily: 'The captives were settled at Damascus of their own free will.'¹³⁵¹ In 663-664, Sklavinians joined the Arabs in raiding against the Byzantines and afterwards, 5,000 of them settled near Apamea.¹³⁵² In AD 666-667 an Arab army which reached as far as Chalcedon took many captives.¹³⁵³ In AD 668-669, the Arabs captured some 80,000 prisoners in Africa.¹³⁵⁴ In AD 670-671 Arab raids on the Byzantines resulted in still more captives.¹³⁵⁵ In AD 685-686, the Arabs and the Byzantines made an agreement by which 12,000 Mardaites from Arab-controlled territory would be sent to Byzantine-ruled areas.¹³⁵⁶ In 693-694, an Arab expedition in Byzantine territory took many prisoners and in 694/695, an expedition in Armenia resulted in a large number of captives as well.¹³⁵⁷ An expedition in 696-697 against Byzantine territory saw many captives being taken again.¹³⁵⁸ In 708-709, the Arabs captured Tyana and took many of its inhabitants as slaves.¹³⁵⁹ The next year, 709-710, the Arabs raided Byzantine territory and took more captives.¹³⁶⁰ In 711-712, Philippikos seems to have transferred the Empire's population of Armenians into Arab territory; the Arabs, for their part, captured Amasya and took many captives.¹³⁶¹

And so it goes. These notices can be multiplied: Arabs took many Byzantine captives in 712-713,¹³⁶² 713-714,¹³⁶³ 721-722,¹³⁶⁴ 731-732,¹³⁶⁵ 736-737,¹³⁶⁶ 738-739,¹³⁶⁷ 740-

¹³⁵¹ Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, in *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 487. NB: The translators disagree with Theophanes' dating of these events (p. 487, n.1).

¹³⁵² C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 487.

¹³⁵³ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor, p. 490.

¹³⁵⁴ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 491.

¹³⁵⁵ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 492.

¹³⁵⁶ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 506.

¹³⁵⁷ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, pp. 513, 514.

¹³⁵⁸ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 516.

¹³⁵⁹ See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans., *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, pp. 525-526.

¹³⁶⁰ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 526.

¹³⁶¹ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 532. See n. 2 on understanding Philippikos' action vis-à-vis the Armenians.

¹³⁶² C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 533.

741,¹³⁶⁸ 741-742.¹³⁶⁹ The Byzantines themselves were taking captives as well. In 699-700, the Byzantines invaded Syria and took many Arab captives.¹³⁷⁰ In this instance, they apparently wanted the Arab captives, but when they captured parts of northern Syria in 744-745, the Byzantines sent the Muslim inhabitants away and moved the Christians—Miaphysites—to Thrace.¹³⁷¹ Around 750-751, the Byzantines took as captive the inhabitants of Claudia and all of Armenia IV.¹³⁷² And it should be pointed out that I have only here made mention of raids and captives taken based on Christian sources: if we look at Arabic materials, there is evidence for Muslim raids into Byzantine territory taking place literally every year, just as John of Phenek claimed.¹³⁷³ The movement of population must have been constant. This was not always due to wars and military raiding, either: in 686-687, Syria witnessed a famine which had the result that 'many men migrated to the Roman country.¹³⁷⁴ In 690-691, Justinian tried to move the population of Cyprus to Byzantine territory, but many of them drowned in transit; those who did not drown returned to Cyprus.¹³⁷⁵

¹³⁶³ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor, p. 534.

¹³⁶⁴ See Michael the Svrian, *Chronique*, vol. 2, p. 490 (FT) = vol. 4, p. 457. Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p.

^{655,} gives the date as 721-722, but see also Michael the Syrian, Chronique, vol. 2, p. 490, n. 4.

¹³⁶⁵ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 568.

¹³⁶⁶ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 570. ¹³⁶⁷ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor, p. 571.

¹³⁶⁸ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 576.

¹³⁶⁹ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 577.

¹³⁷⁰ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor, p. 518.

¹³⁷¹ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor, p. 584.

¹³⁷² See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 2, p. 518 (FT) = vol. 4, p. 472 (Syriac). See also C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor, p. 590. For this date, see Hoyland, Seeing Islam, p. 669.

¹³⁷³ See the material collected in E.W. Brooks, 'The Arabs in Asia Minor (641-750), From Arabic Sources,' Journal of Hellenic Studies 18 (1898), pp. 182-208.

¹³⁷⁴ Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 507.

¹³⁷⁵ C. Mango and R. Scott, trans. *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 509. On the transfer of people into and out of the Byzantine Empire in the early medieval periods, see C. Mango, Byzantium: The Empire of New Rome (New York, 1980), pp. 25-26.

Such movement of people was not lacking in social ramifications. This was a society in which the issue of captives was of concern to many people, across religious lines. 'Umar II, for example, wrote a letter to Muslim captives in Constantinople sending them money and someone to ransom them.¹³⁷⁶ Concern for captives of course operated at more than just the elite level. Theodota of Amid's *Life*, written in the early eighth century, picks out his compassion for captives and efforts to ransom them as one of the many signs of his holiness. 'He would speak to each person in accordance with their stature,' we are told,

and wore pain over those taken into captivity. He would stand in the pulpit of the church and speak on account of them. He would speak in the following way: 'My brothers, today, Our Lord asks of you through my hands. Give me, each one of you, ten *fals*; I have confidence in the Lord that He will reward you with His blessings instead of me.' And Our Lord was giving zeal to their hearts and they were fulfilling His commandment, Christians along with Muslims. He was saving captives and sending them away. And they would go, blessing and rejoicing and praying for Amid and for Theodota her Bishop.¹³⁷⁷

These grass-roots efforts, so to speak, at ransoming points to a simple fact: captives were located everywhere and came from all segments of society: in AD 739-740, the Caliph Hishām 'put to death the Christian prisoners in all the towns of his realm.'¹³⁷⁸ When the Mardaites revolted in 676-677, their mountain strongholds across the western Levant became a magnet for people looking for sanctuary: 'Many slaves,

¹³⁷⁶ See Ibn 'Abd al-Ḥakam, Sīrat 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz, pp. 163-164.

¹³⁷⁸ Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, in *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 573. Michael the Syrian placed this event in AD 731 (AG 1042) and suggested that Hishām was engaged in a mistaken act of tit-for-tat—he had falsely believed that the Byzantine Emperor Leo had had all of his Arab captives executed: See Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 2, p. 501 (FT) = vol. 4, p. 463 (date on p. 462).

captives and natives took refuge with them,' Theophanes tells us, 'so that in a short time they grew to many thousands.'¹³⁷⁹ In 653-654, two Christian brothers in Tripoli in Lebanon 'rushed to the city prison, where there was a multitude of Roman captives.' They broke into the prison, freed the captives, and together killed the Muslim ruler of the city.¹³⁸⁰

The presence of captives in society raised questions that theological leaders had to deal with. Since we see certain female captives transgressing, a concerned question directed at Anastasios of the Sinai asked, what should we say about them? Those who transgress from pleasure and wantonness, he replied, fall under a greater judgment than those who sin out of difficulty and necessity, just as the one who steals food from hunger has a smaller sin than the one who does not need and still steals. Women who are beautifully adorned have a different allowance than those women in their midst who are wearing chains.¹³⁸¹

I am interested in information flows¹³⁸² here, however, and the movement of people unsurprisingly had effects in this area as well. If we look, we can find trace examples of information being disseminated by these people, but given the numbers of captives who were moving and the constancy of their movement, we should assume that such traces as we have are only faint echoes of what must have been a much larger

¹³⁷⁹ Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, in *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 496.

¹³⁸⁰ Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, in *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 482.

¹³⁸¹ See M. Richard and J.A Munitiz, edd., Anastasii Sinaitae: Questiones et Responsiones (Turnhout, 2006) pp. 127-128: OÇ ΕΡΩΤΗΣΙΣ Ἐπειδὴ ὁρῶμέν τινας καὶ ἐν αἰχμαλωσία ὑπαρχούσας δούλας παρεξερχομένας, τί χρὴ περὶ αὐτῶν λέγειν; ΑΠΟΚΡΙΣΙΣ Αἱ μὲν καθ' ἡδονὴν καὶ στρῆνος παρεξερχόμεναι μείζονι κρίματι ὑποπίπτουσιν, αἱ δὲ ἀπὸ στενώσεως καὶ ἀνάγκης, ἐλάττονι, ὅπερ καὶ ἐπὶ τῶν κλεπτῶν, ὅτι κουφοτέραν ἁμαρτίαν ἔχει ὁ ἀπὸ πείνης κλέπτων τροφὰς ὑπὲρ τὸν μὴ δεόμενον καὶ συλοῦντα. Ἐφ' ἑκάστης δὲ ἁμαρτίας ἐστὶ κατανοῆσαι πολλὰς διαφοράς καὶ γὰρ ἄλλην συγγνώμην εἶχον αἱ καλλωπιζόμεναι καὶ κοσμούμεναι γυναῖκες ἐν τῆ ἰδία χώρα ὑπὲρ τὰς νῦν ἐν μέσῳ τῆς αἰχμαλωσίας τῶν ἀδελφῶν αὐτῶν σιδηροφορουσῶν, αὗται ἐνώπιον αὐτῶν χρυσοφοροῦσαι καὶ μὴ αἰσχυνόμεναι....

¹³⁸² I owe this language to John-Paul Ghobrial.

phenomenon. When people moved, they took their ideas, customs, habits and culture with them and they added those things to the flux of the societies they were now entering into. And this was a world where Arabic, the language of the conquerors, was still trying to find its way: according to Fück, by the early 'Abbasid period indigenous languages—Latin in Iberia, Berber in N. Africa, Coptic in Egypt, Aramaic in Mesopotamia—still dominated the countryside; in the cities of Iraq, they kept speaking Persian among the lower classes. People were even speaking Persian in the garrison cities. If anything, the situation was becoming more multi-lingual as time went on: by the reign al-Mahdī and Hārun al-Rashīd, Arab elites in Basra were speaking both Arabic and Persian.¹³⁸³

From time to time, we catch glimpses of linguistic intermediaries who served as the bridges between Arabic speakers and non-Arabic speakers,¹³⁸⁴ but we should also

¹³⁸³ Following closely J. Fück, 'Arabīya: recherches sur l'histoire de la langue et du style arabe, trans. C. Denieau, (Paris, 1955), pp. 70-72.

¹³⁸⁴ In the unpublished dispute between a monk from Beth Halē and an Arab Muslim, the record of the debate goes on for nearly eight folia in Syriac. A passing mention at the beginning of the text, however, informs us that the Arab 'was speaking to us through a translator.' (Diyarbakr Syriac 95, fol. 1a: مم حجال موجه حجال This translator is anonymous, but Arab Muslim rule and interaction with locals must have been built on many like him who could move back and forth across linguistic and cultural frontiers. More than mere interaction with locals, however, was enabled by multilingual intermediaries. The narrator of this dispute observes that the Muslim was 'greatly learned in our مليم The Muslim's knowledge of Christianity must have come from somewhere. For more on this text, see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 465-472, who concludes that it is a fictional piece which dates at the earliest to the late Umayyad period. I owe my copy of this manuscript to the generosity of Michael Cook and Krisztina Szilagyi. For Christian Arab tribes, bilingual in Arabic and Syriac, being asked to translate the Gospel into Arabic, see Michael the Syrian, Chronique, vol. 2, p. 422 (Syriac); vol. 4, p. 432 (French). For an example of Greek-Arabic bilingualism, see the religious discussion held between the Byzantine Jurja and Abū 'Ubayda in Muḥammad b. 'Abd Allāh al-Azdī, Ta'rīkh futūh al-Shām (Cairo, 1970), pp. 196-197. The account mentions a translator (tarjamān) (p. 197) who renders Abū 'Ubayda's words into 'Rūmiyya.' See also Anastasios of the Sinai's account (in Greek) of a Christian in Babylon in Egypt who was in charge of the prison there and who, in the story, mentions a prisoner speaking to him in the 'Egyptian language' (λέγει μοι αἰγυπτιακῆ γλώττη): See Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' p. 68. Nau (note, p. 68) suggests that this incident seems to have happened before the Arab invasion, since the Arabs would not have commissioned a Christian to be in charge of prisoners; this, however, is not obviously the case: see, e.g., the comments in Bell and Crum, Greek Papyri in the British Museum, vol. 4, p. xxxvii, 'Nearly all the pagarchs and probably all the subordinate local officials were Christians, and so,

assume that captives would eventually learn the language of their Arabic-speaking captors, or enough of it to get along, and this was all that was needed to open up a vector for cultural exchange. Of course, captives were spreading ideas well before the arrival of Muslims in the Middle East. The people of Iberia, Jacob of Edessa's *Chronology* informs us, were 'attracted to Christianity by means of a certain Christian woman, who had gone to that country as a captive.'¹³⁸⁵ This process would continue into the life of the Prophet. Muḥammad was known to sit and talk to a young Christian slave named Jabr, Ibn Isḥāq wrote, 'and they used to say "The one who teaches Muhammad most of what he brings is Jabr the Christian, slave of the B. al-Ḥaḍramī.''¹³⁸⁶ Jabr and Yasār, another of the various 'informants' of Muḥammad identified by the Islamic tradition, were thought in at least some quarters to have been captured at the hands of the Byzantines and turned into slaves.¹³⁸⁷ Such stories may have their origin in the fact that the Qur'ān itself alludes to a foreigner who was friends with Muḥammad and who was charged with feeding him the contents of his revelation: 'We know very well that

too, were the administrators of the naval centres of Alexandria, Rosetta and Damietta.' If the incident did take place after the Arab invasion (Anastasios writes at the end of the seventh century and does not give the man's name because, he states, he is still alive), we have an example here of an individual official who may have been trilingual—knowing Greek, Egyptian/Coptic, and Arabic. It was nameless, multi-lingual figures like this one who made Arab rule over non-Arab populations possible.

¹³⁸⁵ Trans. E.W. Brooks, in *idem.*, 'The Chronological Canon of James of Edessa,' Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft 53 (1899), pp. 309-310.

¹³⁸⁶ Trans. A. Guillaume, in *idem.*, trans., *The Life of Muhammad*, p. 180. Note that Jabr comes from the Aramaic 'gabrā,' meaning simply 'man.' This was first pointed out to me by Aron Zysow.

¹³⁸⁷ See C. Gilliot, 'Les «informateurs» juifs et chrétiens de Muḥammad,' p. 110. Of course, both of these figures could have been fabrications invented to exegete Q 16:103. Even if these two never existed, the fact that it might be suggested that they had been captives suggests something about associations which must have existed, at least in some portions of the Middle Ages, about the information-carrying functions captives might play.

they say, "Only a mortal is teaching him," it acknowledges, 'The speech at him whom they hint is foreign (*a'jamī*) and this is clear Arabic speech."

Learning from foreign captives was a common experience. 'This we heard from men who had been taken as captives to Khuzastan, [from] Tachkastan,' the Armenian historian Sebeos (or perhaps his source) writes at one point, 'Having been themselves eyewitnesses of these events, they gave this account to us.'¹³⁸⁹ For students of the Monothelete controversy of the seventh century, captives also play an important role. If we are to believe Michael the Syrian, the Monothelete understanding of the number of Christ's wills was the dominant one in Syria until an influx of captives from the Byzantine Empire changed things:

Now, while this doctrine [sc. Dyotheletism] had held sway in the regions of the Romans from the time of Constantine [IV], in the regions of Syria it was not accepted at all. At this time, however, it was planted by means of the captives and exiles who came and settled in Syria because of Arab raids. Increasingly, city dwellers and their bishops and their leaders were corrupted and accepted this doctrine on account of esteem for the Roman Empire.¹³⁹⁰

In the Arabic Life of John Damascene, John was educated by Cosmas, a Calabrian

'philosopher monk' who was brought to Damascus with a group of captives taken in a

raid on a boat at sea.¹³⁹¹ Hārūn al-Rashīd had a Byzantine slave girl who taught a young

¹³⁸⁸ Q 16:103. Translation Arberry, with some alteration. Al-Ṭabarī understood the person being referred to here by the Qur'ān to be a Byzantine slave (*'abd rūmī*). See, al-Ṭabarī, *Jāmi' al-bayān 'an ta'wīl āyy al-qur'ān*, vol. 14 (Cairo, 2001), p. 364.

 ¹³⁸⁹ Translated R.W. Thomson in *The Armenian History attributed to Sebeos. Part I: Translation and Notes*, vol. 1 (Liverpool, 1999), p. 102. N. 634, Thomson suggests that these lines from Sebeos' source. J.-H. Johnson and T. Greenwood, *The Armenian History Attributed to Sebeos. Part II: Historical Commentary* (Liverpool, 1999), vol. 2, pp. 248-249, suggest the same. For this, see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, pp. 125, 593.
 ¹³⁹⁰ Michael the Syrian, *Chronique*, vol. 2, p. 492 (FT) = vol. 4, pp. 457-458 (Syriac):

באגויטואא גיטבשא. איעיגא הסוא הי, הגא גאיביא אי בא וביא גיטמרך ארא באגיטא געטיא געטיא שאי האניטרא היא גיש אים גיבא פער שביא פער ארטיא. גברישא גרייא פסט באגאיט אישר אישריא. סראניאא אגיברט בואי בעלא הגיא מברטה. בער אספטרבשים באביא גברטאלא גיוסביא.

¹³⁹¹ C. Bacha, ed., *Sīrat al-qiddīs Yuḥannā al-Dimashqī* (Harissa, 1912), p. 12. For Cosmas as an example of information flowing through captives, see J. Herrin, 'Aspects of the Process of Hellenization in the early Middle Ages,' *Annual of the British School at Athens* 68 (1973), p. 118. As with most of the

slave boy she was related to and who was born in Baghdad Greek literature, how to read Greek books, and how to speak Greek;¹³⁹² al-Rashīd put Yūḥannā b. Māsawayh in charge of translating ancient books which were found in Ankara, Amorium and other Byzantine cities when Muslims took captives from them.¹³⁹³ Theophanes credits an architect from Heliopolis in Syria who was a refugee in the Byzantine Empire with the invention of the famous naval weapon of Greek Fire.¹³⁹⁴ In 693-694, refugee Slavs from the Byzantine Empire used their knowledge of their former home to help a Muslim army successfully raid there.¹³⁹⁵ A prisoner captured in Asia Minor claimed to be the son of the emperor Justinian; the Arabs outfitted him with regal trappings and had him tour about Syria in order to scare the Byzantines with the threat of a pretender to their throne.¹³⁹⁶

There was also the movement of individuals who were not captives: al-Ḥārith b. Kalada (d. AH 13/AD 634-635), the famous Arab doctor who counted Muḥammad among his patients, was said to have studied medicine in Persia and in Yemen.¹³⁹⁷ Ananias of Shirak (d. ca. 650), could not find the instruction he wanted in Armenia and so traveled to Greece, Constantinople, Alexandria, Jerusalem, Rome and Athens.¹³⁹⁸ Maximos the Confessor spread his teaching while travelling from Palestine to North Africa (where he

sources I use in this chapter, and indeed, throughout the dissertation, whether the events described in them actually took place and whether they were actually written at the time they purport to be composed, is irrelevant. Even as fictional narratives, they still reflect expectations and possibilities which indicate what was considered possible and plausible in the early medieval and medieval periods.

¹³⁹² Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 258.

¹³⁹³ Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 246.

¹³⁹⁴ See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans., *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 494, but see also n. 5 which calls into question crediting Kallinikos with this invention.

¹³⁹⁵ See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans., *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 513.

¹³⁹⁶ See C. Mango and R. Scott, trans., *The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor*, p. 570.

¹³⁹⁷ See Ṣā'id b. Aḥmad al-Andalusī, *Kitāb ṭabaqāt al-umam* (Beirut, 1912), p. 47. Pellat was skeptical about the claim that al-Ḥārith had studied in Yemen, see his article 'al-Ḥārith b. Kalada b. 'Amr b. Iladj al-Thakafī (d. 13/634-5), in *El*².

¹³⁹⁸ See F.C. Conybeare, trans., 'Ananias of Shirak (A.D. 600-650c.)', *Byzantinische Zeitschrift* 6 (1897), pp. 572-574.

found 87 Nestorian students from Nisibis who eventually moved to Rome) to Sicily to Rome to Constantinople and eventually being exiled to Lazika.¹³⁹⁹ Jacob of Edessa went to Alexandria from northern Mesopotamia in order to 'gather wisdom.'¹⁴⁰⁰ Archbishop Theodore (d. 690 AD) moved from Tarsus to Rome to Canterbury, with stops in Constantinople and (it is presumed) Antioch and Edessa along the way; the wide learning he brought with him to England has been credited with helping to create in Canterbury one of the most exciting centers of education in the early medieval period.¹⁴⁰¹ Already in the middle Ages, it was recognized that travelling for trade was one way that the pre-Islamic Arabs learned about other peoples¹⁴⁰² and travelling for trade did not stop once the Arabs had conquered the Middle East. The Christian scholar and translator Abū 'Alī b. Zur'a (d. AH 398/AD 1008), for instance, was known to travel to Byzantium as a merchant.¹⁴⁰³

But here my focus is captives. And captives can help us understand not only the movement of information in this early medieval world, they can help us understand religious change as well, for captives, removed from their homes, families and communities and enslaved might be prime candidates for conversion to a different religion. 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz wrote about a Muslim who was captured and then converted to Christianity: if this became known, his wife would be free of him and should undertake a waiting period of three menstrual cycles; his money was to be given

¹³⁹⁹ See S.P. Brock, 'An Early Syriac Life of Maximus the Confessor,' *Analecta Bollandiana* 91 (1973), pp. 314-319.

¹⁴⁰⁰ Michael the Syrian, *Chronique de Michel le Syrien, patriarche Jacobite d'Antioche*, 1166-1199, (Paris, 1899-1910), IV 445 = II 471 (FT)).

¹⁴⁰¹ See M. Lapidge, 'The career of Archbishop Theodore,' pp. 1-29 in *idem.*, ed., Archbishop Theodore: Commemorative Studies on His Life and Influence (Cambridge, 1995).

¹⁴⁰² See Şā'id b. Ahmad al-Andalusī (d. AH 462/AD 1069), *Kitāb tabqāt al-umam* (Beirut, 1912.), p. 44.

¹⁴⁰³ See Ibn Abī Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā', p. 319. See also the article on him 'Ibn Zur'a, Abū 'Alī 'Īsā b. Ishāk b. Zur'a,' in EI^2 .

to his Muslim heirs.¹⁴⁰⁴ 'Abd Allāh b. Abī Rabī'a, the father of al-Ḥārith b. 'Abd Allāh, captured al-Ḥārith's mother, we are told, along with six hundred other Ethiopians. Once captured, she made three different requests of 'Abd Allāh, all of which he granted; her second request was that he not force her to change her religion.¹⁴⁰⁵

Indeed, those who resisted conversion were heroes. One story tells of a messenger from Caliph 'Umar II who came upon a Muslim captive in Byzantine territory who was blind: given the choice between having his eyes gouged out and converting to Christianity, he told the Caliph's messenger, 'I chose my religion over my sight.' When the messenger returned to 'Umar and told him of the story, the Caliph was weeping before he even finished; he wrote to the Byzantine Emperor demanding the blinded Muslim be sent to him and promising he would not return any captured troops if the man was not released.¹⁴⁰⁶ Anastasios of the Sinai wrote of a 17 year-old Jew on Cyprus 'from the east' who had been preserved through captivity and now sincerely wanted to receive baptism and become a Christian.¹⁴⁰⁷ A theme, however, which characterizes Anastasios' *Stories Useful for the Soul* from the late seventh century is the difficult challenges faced by Christian captives under Muslim rule.¹⁴⁰⁸

What became of all these captives who were being moved around the eastern Mediterranean? The pattern they followed seems to have been: captivity, enslavement, conversion, manumission.¹⁴⁰⁹ And in the early period, it has been asserted, most

¹⁴⁰⁴ 'Abd al-Razzāq, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 9 (Beirut, 2000), p. 561 (no. 19412).

¹⁴⁰⁵ al-Mizzī, *Tahdĥīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl*, vol. 5 (Beirut, 1985), p. 241.

¹⁴⁰⁶ For the story, see Ibn 'Abd al-Ḥakam, Sīrat 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz, pp. 168-169.

¹⁴⁰⁷ See Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' p. 71. Τούτω τῷ πανοσίω μου πατέρι, προσῆλθέ τις παῖς Ἑβραῖος ἐξ ἀνατολῆς δισωθεὶς ἀπὸ αἰχμαλωσὶας, ἑπτακαιδεκαέτης ὑπάρχων, καὶ εἰλικρινῶς παρακαλῶν ἀξιωξῆναι τοῦ ἁγίου βαπτίσματος καὶ χριστιανὸς γενέσθαι

¹⁴⁰⁸ For this, see Hoyland, *Seeing Islam*, p. 100.

¹⁴⁰⁹ See P. Crone, 'The Early Islamic World,' p. 314.

converts to Islam were freedmen.¹⁴¹⁰ Once manumitted, a former slave would be the *mawlā*, or client, of the one who had freed him. And though some might complain that the children of prisoners of war were the causes of heresies in Islam,¹⁴¹¹ the reality is that, as Goldziher pointed out long ago, many of the most important figures in Islamic history had as their forebears Persian captives.¹⁴¹² Indeed, a study of the position and importance of *mawālī* in Islamic society and in the development of Islam itself is well beyond the scope of this work, but the importance of $maw\bar{a}l\bar{l}$ —both those who became clients of Muslims through conversion and those who became clients through manumission—can hardly be overemphasized. As an example, one can point an anecdote told by Ibn Shihāb al-Zuhrī (d. AH 124/AD 742) in which the Caliph 'Abd al-Malik asked him about who was in charge of Mecca, Yemen, Egypt, Syria, the Jazīra, Khurasan, Basra, and was exasperated to find that of all of these, only Basra had an Arab as its leader and the rest were run by $maw\bar{a}l\bar{i}$.¹⁴¹³ Having been conquered by the Arabs, it was these *mawālī* who eventually came to dominate the new society which resulted from the Arab conquests.¹⁴¹⁴ *Graecia capta ferum victorem cepit.*

¹⁴¹⁰ See P. Crone, *Roman, Provincial and Islamic law: The Origins of the Islamic Patronate* (Cambridge, 1987), p. 90. NB: Crone asserts this but offers no evidence to support such a claim.

¹⁴¹¹ See Tritton, 'Foreign Influences,' p. 838.

¹⁴¹² See I. Goldziher, *Muslim Studies*, vol. 1, trans. C.R. Barber and S.M. Stern (New Brunswick/London, 2006), p. 109.

¹⁴¹³ See Abū Ḥayyān al-Tawḥīdī, *al-Baṣā'ir wa-'l-dhakhā'ir*, vol. 2 (Damascus, n.d. [1964?]), pp. 414-417. For this anecdote, see R. Hoyland, 'Arabic, Syriac, and Greek Historiography in the First 'Abbasid Century: An Inquiry into Inter-Cultural Traffic,' *Aram* 3.1-2 (1991), p. 231.

¹⁴¹⁴ On the *mawālī*, their importance in Islamic society and for the development of Islam, and on the institution of walā', see the excellent article 'Mawlā' by A.J. Wensinck and P. Crone in *EI*². To get a sense of the profound importance of the economic and social roles played by *mawālī* in all aspects of Islamic society, see J. Judah, 'The Economic Conditions of the *Mawālī* in Early Islamic Times,' trans. M. Fishbein, in M.G. Morony, ed., *Manufacturing and Labour* (Ashgate, 2003), pp. 167-197.

Conclusion

In this chapter, I have focused primarily on the relationship between the Christian communities of the Middle East and the Arab conquerors who arrived in the middle of the seventh century. What is more, in my attempts at discussing milieux of contact between Christians and Muslims, I have only been able to scratch the surface of the host of ways in which Christian and Muslim lives must have intersected on a constant basis and have only touched briefly upon contacts between Christian ascetics and Muslim ascetics.

Sherlock Holmes would no doubt note that there have been many dogs, so to speak, which have not barked here—Jews and Persians being perhaps the two most prominent. This omission is the result of my own limitations—in time, space and expertise. At the same time, however, there has been not a small amount of work on Jewish connections and 'influences' on Muḥammad and the Qur'ān, and a standard trope in Islamic history emphasizes its Persianization after the 'Abbasid revolution. Is there room in between the life of the Prophet and the 'Abbasid *da'wa* for Muslims and for Islam to have undergone a Syrianization?

My efforts, such as they have been, have had a rather simple goal: to expand our understanding and conceptualization of what the Middle East looked like in the centuries after the Islamic conquest and to challenge the unspoken assumption that the history of the region is the history of the minority that ruled over it. Trying to understand that politically dominant minority apart from its existence in the context of its relationship to a non-Muslim majority, adhering to highly sophisticated and more ancient faiths is, in fact, a fundamentally misguided and misleading effort. It moreover

568

represents a teleological and sectarian vision of the region and an understanding of its past which is both elitist and exclusionary.¹⁴¹⁵ Against such visions of the Middle East, I have attempted to broaden the genealogy of various aspects of the region's cultural history and then make a case, as it were, for non-Muslim paternity, thereby giving voice to at least some parts of its medieval silent majority and granting that majority a part in begetting the present. In a world where the Christian population of the Middle East is in constant and sustained decline—and unfortunately often not in the most secure of circumstances—this is no mean goal or mere antiquarian endeavor.

Much and quite diverse ground has been covered in this dissertation but, perhaps incredibly, there has been a method to my madness. In my conclusion, I will attempt to briefly draw its various threads together into a broader vision of how we should think about the Late Antique and early medieval Middle East.

¹⁴¹⁵ I borrow the notions of such history as elitist and exclusionary from Khaled Fahmy's critique of histories of 19th and 20th century Alexandria which focus only on the cosmopolitanism of its European minority as elitist and exclusionary. See K. Fahmy, 'For Cavafy, with love and squalor: some critical notes on the history and historiography of modern Alexandria,' and 'Towards a social history of modern Alexandria,' in A. Hirst and M. Silk, eds., *Alexandria, Real and Imagined* (Ashgate, 2004), pp. 263-280 and 281-306.

Conclusion: A Syrie Trilingue?

'What has become an open question is: Are there experiences of the past that cannot be captured by the methods of the discipline, or which at least show the limits of the discipline?' Dipesh Chakrabarty¹⁴¹⁶

Many pages ago, I promised that this dissertation would focus on two large historical questions: the society that the Arabs encountered when they conquered the Middle East in the seventh century and the hybrid society that those conquests subsequently helped to create. I also declared my goal was to relativize both the importance of Greek and the significance of Islam in our understanding of the early medieval Middle East.

I could have, however, chosen to frame my aims in a slightly different fashion. What unites all the disparate threads and topics I have taken up is a rather simple objective: to write about (some important aspects of) the cultural history of Late Antique and early medieval Greater Syria and Mesopotamia from a perspective which takes very seriously the existence and experience of a large population of Aramaicspeaking¹⁴¹⁷ Christians in those regions, a population of Christians who almost certainly formed the majority of inhabitants. At root, this dissertation represents an argument that the history of the Middle East, under Byzantine rule and under Arab Muslim rule,

¹⁴¹⁶ D. Chakrabarty, *Provincializing Europe: Postcolonial Thought and Historical Difference* (Princeton/Oxford, 2008), p. 107.

¹⁴¹⁷ Throughout this dissertation, I have for the most part referred to these Christians as 'Syriacspeaking' rather than 'Aramaic speaking' in keeping with convention and standard usage and so as not to confuse readers. But here, at the end, I will use 'Aramaic-speaking' rather than 'Syriac-speaking' for the simple reason that it is technically incorrect to state that all of these Christians spoke Syriac. Syriac was a literary lingua franca and was the Aramaic dialect of Edessa, but it was not the only type of Aramaic spoken. Bar Bahlul cites at least sixteen different Aramaic dialects in his famous lexicon, ranging from Qatar to Syria. The Aramaic of Edessa is only one of these. See R. Duval, ed., *Lexicon Syriacum auctore Hassano Bar Bahlule*, vol. 3 (Paris, 1901), pp. xxiv-xxv, for a listing of the various kinds of Aramaic cited by Bar Bahlul. Bar Bahlul does not mention the only other dialect of Aramaic which was used by Christians as a literary language, the dialect which scholars refer to as Christian Palestinian Aramaic, and which was used exclusively by Chalcedonian Christians Palestine into the tenth century. CPA's literature, compared to Syriac, is very, very small and is comprised only of translations from Greek.

can be only be satisfactorily written by taking into account these Aramaic-speaking Christians: they were the Dark Matter in which the politically dominant minority groups that form the focus of our traditional narratives lived and moved and had their being. Mine is an argument that these politically-dominant minorities cannot be understood apart from the majority around them. It is also an argument that the region today cannot be understood without taking into account the reality that its current state is the result of a process of Arabization and Islamization that went on for hundreds and hundreds of years. It is a process which is in fact still on-going.

When we place these Aramaic-speakers and the texts they produced at the center of our narrative and interpret large historical questions in light of the evidence they have left behind, the answers those large questions receive take on a different hue, for although they composed a number of texts of great interest and considerable usefulness for the historical reconstruction of the early medieval period, many of those texts have languished unedited in Western and Middle Eastern libraries or have sat (relatively) unstudied and underutilized in old nineteenth and early twentieth-century tomes and periodicals in the handful of Western libraries that have strong collections in Syriac studies. The footnotes of this dissertation are littered with examples of such documents: the canons and letters of Jacob of Edessa; the letters of George of the Arabs; the *Life* of Theodota of Amid; the *Life* of Simeon of the Olives; the letters of Timothy I and Isho'yahb III; the texts of a number of different manuscript colophons.

I have tried to look at some of the major cultural developments of the Late Antique and early medieval Middle East from a vantage point firmly rooted in such Syriac texts, but from one which has also drawn upon Arabic and Greek material; I have

571

sought to integrate Byzantine and Islamic studies with Syriac studies. My footnotes reflect the depth of my indebtedness to the patient lucubrations and *philoponia* of scholars in all three of these fields. I have done this from the conviction that any full and satisfying cultural history of the Late Antique and early medieval Middle East will be one which attempts to make the seemingly incommensurable worlds of these different groups of sources speak to one another; they were, after all, speaking to one another and intertwined in the early Middle Ages.

The seventh century has traditionally been seen as being a time of great discontinuity and transformation, a time of beginnings and endings: the end of the ancient world, the death of the classical city, the end of Rome and the beginning of Byzantium, the beginning of Islam. And so on. But, building my house on the rock of a Syriac foundation, the story I have tried to tell has been one of a cultural continuity which lasted even as the rains descended, the floods came, the winds blew and beat down upon seventh-century Middle Eastern society. I have focused on a number of different types of cultural persistence in the preceding pages: continuities in scholarly and religious practices have perhaps stood out as the most notable. The widespread cultural continuity I have tried to suggest existed (and which still exists), however, can perhaps most clearly be illustrated by another example, pointed out by Goitein long ago in a little-cited yet fascinating article.

There exists, Goitein showed, a large number of common proverbs shared by Arabic speakers from the Gulf to Morocco; these have been sedulously recorded and documented by scholars and anthropologists. Somewhat similarly, in the medieval period, Muslim scholars collected and wrote down thousands of classical Arabic

572

proverbs, often pre-Islamic in origin. A comparison of these medieval collections of proverbs with their modern counterparts from all over the Arab world shows that there is almost no overlap at all between the two large bodies of material. The pre-Islamic and classical Arabic proverb has had no afterlife in modern Arabic-speaking societies.

What is striking, however, is that there is considerable overlap between the proverbs used in modern Arabic-speaking societies and pre-Islamic Near Eastern proverbs that one finds recorded in Hebrew and Aramaic in Jewish sources. These pre-Islamic proverbs, Goitein stressed, were not specifically Jewish but were rather part of a stock of proverbs common to all throughout the Middle East before the advent of Islam. What is especially fascinating is that originally-Aramaic proverbs occur in roughly the same percentages in Arabic-speaking countries with no Aramaic background (like Yemen or Egypt or in the Maghrib) as they do in countries where Arabic replaced Aramaic as the language of the common people. This points, Goitein suggested, to an early appropriation by Arabic speakers of the pre-Islamic Near Eastern heritage. The larger import of his discovery of a continuity between modern Arabic proverbs and pre-Islamic Aramaic and Hebrew proverbs and a simultaneous discontinuity between modern Arabic proverbs and classical Arabic proverbs is worth keeping in mind: 'The new society of the Middle Eastern civilization,' he wrote, 'differed widely from anything that had preceded it, but still had much more in common with the Hellenized

Aramaic speaking Ancient East than with the Bedouin civilization of pre-Islamic Arabia.^{'1418}

A moment's reflection will bear out the utterly unsurprising nature of Goitein's conclusion: although the Aramaic-speaking majority population of the Middle East usually disappears in our histories of the region after the Arab conquests (and even before), it did not disappear in reality; the Middle East is still populated with their descendants, though many, if not most, of them will no longer identify with these forbears. Revolutions, Richard Nixon is reported to have once said, change the way the world looks, not the way it works.¹⁴¹⁹

In writing about the eastern background to Byzantine hagiography, the great Bollandist Paul Peeters wrote of a Late Antique *Syrie bilingue*, a place where stories of Aramaic-speaking saints found themselves effortlessly being hellenized and transferred into Greek. The movement of stories across linguistic frontiers was not, Peeters argued, the result of the efforts of a school or the activities of a certain library. It was the outcome of a shared life between Greek speakers and Aramaic speakers: 'Ce fut plutôt une conséquence de la symbiose qui avait réuni sur le meme territoire deux ou plusieurs races différentes,' he wrote. 'Les influences dont elles ont béneficié ou pâti l'une et l'autre se sont produites par un jeu naturel de la vie.'¹⁴²⁰ Byzantine and oriental hagiography, composed in separate languages, had a deceptive, *prima facie* difference: the closer one looked, the more similarities one found between them,

¹⁴¹⁸ All of this information can be found in Goitein's article 'The Present-Day Arabic Proverb as A Testimony to the Social History of the Middle East,' pp. 361-379 in S.D. Goitein, *Studies in Islamic History and Institutions* (Leiden, 1968). Quote taken from p. 379.

¹⁴¹⁹ I am grateful to Peter Brown for sharing this quote with me.

¹⁴²⁰ See P. Peeters, *Le tréfonds oriental de l'hagiographie byzantine* (Brussels, 1950), p. 71.

la séparation suffisamment nette si on la réduit à la question des langues, le paraît moins quand on essaie d'entrer un peu plus avant dans le fond des choses. En beaucoup d'endroits, la frontière commune se réduit à une ligne fictive, out plutôt elle s'élargit en une zone indécise, sur laquelle les deux cultures ont un droit égal ou peut s'en faut. La diplomatie appellerait cela un *condominium*.¹⁴²¹

In other words, Late Antique Syria was a place where linguistic frontiers did not translate into cultural boundaries. The Arab conquests of the seventh century did not change this; instead, the prestige their new scripture enjoyed added a third literary language, Arabic, to the mix of a region with an already rich history of intercultural exchange and cross-pollination. What in fact happened in the seventh century was that Peeter's *Syrie bilingue* became a *Syrie trilingue*. In trying to place the existence and voices of the Middle East's Aramaic-speaking Christian population at the center of our understanding of the region's cultural history in the early Middle Ages, it has been my hope to capture some of the excitement of that pivotal moment in a way which does justice to the people living there at that time. And perhaps, in some small way, affect how we understand that region today.

¹⁴²¹ Peeters, *Le tréfonds oriental de l'hagiographie byzantine*, p. 137.

APPENDIX: On the History of the Text of the Qur'ān

A number of different traditions relating to the collection of the Qur'ān have been preserved offering accounts of what it was that caused the Muslim community to gather and write down the revelations Muhammad had received—justifying undertaking something which Muhammad himself is supposed not to have ordered.¹⁴²² Several traditions suggest that the motivating factor was the diversity and difference which existed among different readings of the Qur'ān that prompted action. In one case, 'Uthmān acted when Hudhayfa told him that people were disagreeing over the Qur'ān like Jews and Christians differed among one another.¹⁴²³ According to another report, 'Uthmān is supposed to have stated that he ordered the collection of the Qur'ān when he heard Muslims speaking of 'the reading of so-and-so' and 'the reading of soand-so,' just like the People of the Book.¹⁴²⁴ Both traditions suggest a fear that the Muslim community would experience the sorts of disagreements about differences in Bible translations that were happening among their Christian contemporaries and which I discussed earlier in this dissertation.¹⁴²⁵ Such was the anxiety that the Prophet is supposed to have weighed in on the issue. When Ibn Mas'ūd heard somebody reciting the Qur'ān in a way different from what he had heard from Muhammad, he went to Muhammad himself and told him about it. 'I noticed anger in his face,' Ibn

¹⁴²² See the traditions preserved in al-Dānī, *al-Muqni* pp. 4, 6, where Abū Bakr and Zayd b. Thābit express initial reticence at doing something (i.e., compiling the Quran) which Muḥammad himself had not ordered.

¹⁴²³ al-Dānī, *al-Muqni*', p. 5.

¹⁴²⁴ al-Dānī, *al-Muqni*['], p. 7. In another report, it is Hudhayfa who warns 'Uthmān that he must act before Muslims 'disagree about the Book like the Jews and Christians have disagreed,' see Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāhif*, p. 19.

¹⁴²⁵ Though Ibn Kathīr understood this to refer to disagreements between Jews, Samaritans and Christians about the Torah and to differences between the four Gospels. See *idem.*, *Kitāb faḍā'il al-Qur'ān* (Cairo, 1416), p. 70.

Mas'ūd reported, 'then he said, "You are both right. Those before you disagreed and that destroyed them."¹⁴²⁶

But, as the existence of such a *hadīth* might suggest, precisely such disagreements were apparently in fact taking place among Muslims. In Kufa, people following the reading of Abū Mūsā were gathering in one place and people following the reading of 'Abd Allāh b. Mas'ūd were gathering in another; Ibn Abī Dāwūd has left us an account of a disagreement between them on the wording of a verse in Sūrat al-Baqara (2:196) which enraged Hudhayfa.¹⁴²⁷ This was no isolated incident, either: 'It has reached me,' 'Alī is reported to have said of some Muslims, 'that a certain one of them is saying, "Indeed, my reading [of the Qur'ān] is better than yours!"¹⁴²⁸ In Iraq, a person asked another about a verse from the Qur'ān; when it was recited to him, he responded, 'I deny that.' This was spreading among the people.¹⁴²⁹ Some teachers were giving instruction in the reading of one person and others were giving instruction in the reading of another person; young people were starting to meet up and disagree over the Qur'ān, to the point that they were denying each others' readings. These reports made it to 'Uthmān, who was not happy, and who observed that the worst disagreements and the most errors in the Qur'ān were occurring in places distant from the garrison cities.¹⁴³⁰ Another nearly identical report has Qur'ānic experts, not young people, disagreeing with one another to the point that they were fighting. 'In my presence, you disagree,' 'Uthmān is supposed to have told them, 'and you deny parts of

¹⁴²⁶ Abū 'Ubayd al-Qāsim b. Sallām, *Kitāb faḍā'il al-Qur'ān*, (Damascus, 1995), p. 351.

¹⁴²⁷ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 12.

¹⁴²⁸ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 213, cf. the longer version of this report in Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 22.

¹⁴²⁹ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 23.

¹⁴³⁰ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 21.

it [sc. the Qur'ān] and make errors in it, O companions of Muḥammad! Meet together and write out for the people a main copy (*imāman*) which will unite them.'¹⁴³¹ This idea that there was some sort of connection between a common text and unity between believers is reflected in the first question a Muslim Amīr is supposed to have asked the Miaphysite Patriarch John of the Sedre (d. 648) in a Muslim-Christian dialogue which may have taken place within a decade of the Muslim conquest of Syria. The Patriarch John, we are told, was asked by him 'whether the Gospel which all those who exist and are called Christians in the entire world possess is one and the same and without change in anything?' The Gospel, the Patriarch affirmed, was in fact one all over the world. To this, however, the Amīr came back: "Why is it that though the Gospel is one, the Faith differs?""¹⁴³²

Muslim leaders were worried at the prospect of having both a divergent text and Muslims disagreeing with one another. In another report, 'Uthmān is said to have

¹⁴³¹ al-Dānī, al-Muqni⁺, p. 8. For a similar report, see also See Jalāl al-Dīn ⁺Abd al-Raḥmān b. Abī Bakr al-Suyūṭī, al-Itqān fī ⁺ulūm al-Qur'ān, vol. 1 (Beirut, 1999), p. 12. Here, ⁺Uthmān notes that the further away one was from him, the more errors there were in the different versions of the Quran and the more errors there were.

¹⁴³² F. Nau, 'Un colloque du patriarche Jean avec l'émir des Agaréens et faits divers des années 712 à 716,' Journal asiatique 5 (1915), p. 248. ano to < < 1. Kan a to Kabad an mar dot beca בו מה אביות ב מהלהריו על ה במהל ביושור ו הנהר ברגום בעוצי הלם , המלהר ב מעלעומר מה וב הייז הטאשמו. העישה היש אמל אמל המאיה מו בי מהו בי או היאשמת לה איש היא היאש איש היא היאש איש ובי המשלביו הייש בי And the Blessed One and Universal Father , محسلهم معسلهم. محسلهم was asked by him whether the Gospel is one and the same and without change in anything, which all those who are and who are called 'Christians' in the entire world possess. And the Blessed One responded to him that it was one and the same among the Greeks and Romans and Syrians and Egyptians and Ethiopians and Indians and Armenians and Persians and the rest of all countries and languages. And again, he was asking of him, why is it that though the Gospel is one, the faith is different?' Different dates have been given for this dispute. See, e.g., Nau, 'Un Colloque,' p. 227; H. Lammens, 'A propos d'un colloque entre le patriarche Jacobite Jean 1^{er} et 'Amr ibn al-'Ași,' *Journal Asiatique* 11 (1919), p. 98; G.J. Reinink, 'The Beginnings of Syriac Apologetic Literature in Response to Islam,' Oriens Christianus 77 (1993), pp. 171-187. Against Reinink, see more recently, H. Suermann, 'The Old Testament and the Jews in the dialogue between the Jacobite Patriarch John I and 'Umayr ibn Sa'd al-Anṣārī,' pp. 131-141, in Eastern Crossroads: Essays on Medieval Christian Legacy, ed. Juan Pedro Monferrer-Sala, (Piscataway, NJ, 2007). Also see R. Hoyland's short discussion and summary, pp. 464-465, in Seeing Islam as Others Saw It (Princeton, 1997).

heard the readings of Ubayy, 'Abd Allāh b. Mas'ūd and Mu'ādh b. Jabal, and told the people, 'Your prophet was taken from you only fifteen years ago and you have already disagreed about the Qur'ān?'¹⁴³³ Various *ḥadīth* credit the Prophet with having weighed in on this issue: 'Do not dispute over the Qur'ān,' Muḥammad is supposed to have said, 'arguing over it is unbelief.'¹⁴³⁴ Disagreements about the Qur'ān were causing such problems that something needed to be done. When 'Uthmān had variant codices burned, 'Alī is reported to have said, 'If 'Uthmān himself had not done it, I would have!' and 'Uthmān's action is said to have pleased the people.¹⁴³⁵ Indeed, it was said that if 'Uthmān had not written down the Qur'ān, they would have started reciting poetry.¹⁴³⁶

Traditional sources report that 'Uthmān's collection of the Qur'ān represented perhaps the third time the text was assembled—there had supposedly been earlier efforts at collection by Muḥammad himself and then by Abū Bakr.¹⁴³⁷ Once a consensus version of the Qur'ān had been produced at 'Uthmān's orders, he had copies of it sent out to various regions and, as I have just mentioned, ordered that all versions of Qur'ānic readings other than what was in his new version be burnt.¹⁴³⁸ There seems to have been a palpable anxiety that the sorts of disagreements which Muslims associated with Christians and Jews would seep into the new community and the destruction of texts was a means to stop this. 'Hadiths proliferated in the time of 'Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb,' al-Qāsim b. Muḥammad is reported to have said, 'so he asked the people to bring them to him and when they brought them to him he ordered their burning. Then he said, "It

¹⁴³³ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 24.

 ¹⁴³⁴ See the various versions of this report cited in Abū 'Ubayd, Kitāb fadā'il al-Qur'ān, pp. 353-355.
 ¹⁴³⁵ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, Kitāb al-Masāhif, p. 12. cf. ibid. p. 23.

¹⁰¹¹ ADI Dawud, Kildo di-Maşarılı, p. 12. cl. iola. p. 25.

¹⁴³⁶ Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 12, gives two different reports to this effect.

¹⁴³⁷ See Jalāl al-Dīn 'Abd al-Raḥmān b. Abī Bakr al-Suyūṭī, *al-Itqān fī 'ulūm al-Qur'ān*, vol. 1 (Beirut, 1999), pp. 207-208. Cf. the short summary of the traditional Muslim position by A. Jeffrey, *Materials for the History of the Text of the Qur'ān*, (Leiden, 1937), pp. 4-5.

¹⁴³⁸ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 212. Cf. also, al-Dānī, al-Muqni', p. 7.

is another scripture like the other text of the People of the Book" (*mathnāt ka-mathnāt ahl al-kitāb*).^{'1439}

'Uthmān's text of the Qur'ān was meant to record all of the revelations that Muḥammad had received, but various reports suggest that members of the Muslim community were not sure that everything had in fact been written down.¹⁴⁴⁰ 'Umar, for example, is supposed to have asked about a particular verse of the Qur'ān, but was told that it had been in the possession of a certain person who had been killed at the Battle of al-Yamāma.¹⁴⁴¹ Another report shows the potential precariousness of the process of collecting and writing down: Zayd b. Thābit spoke of a verse from Sūrat al-Aḥzāb (33:23) being lost when the 'Uthmānic codex was being copied out, so he did something about it. 'I used to hear the Apostle of God recite it,' Zayd noted. 'So we sought it out and found it with Khuzayma b. Thābit al-Anṣārī...and added it to its sūra in the codex.'¹⁴⁴² And though Zayd himself had been put in charge of collecting the Qur'ān, his own knowledge of the contents of the Qur'ān might not always be the best: 'When 'Uthmān was killed,' 'Ubayd b. Ḥunayn reported, 'I said to Zayd b. Thābit, "Recite al-A'rāf [Sūra 7] for me. So he said, "I do not have it memorized. You yourself recite it for

¹⁴³⁹ See Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabī*r, vol. 5, (Leiden, 1322), p. 140. With reference to ET in Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000), p. 123. Yossi Witztum has suggested to me that *mathna* here does not refer generically to a scripture, but rather to the Mishna, and that a comparison is being made here between the *ḥadīth* as competitors with the Qur'ān and the Mishna as a competitor to the Torah. My purpose in citing the anecdote is only to show that destroying texts was a way that at least some early Muslim leaders sought to deal with potential disagreements in the community. This was a method, of course, which Christians had long been employing.

¹⁴⁴⁰ T. Nöldeke, F. Schwally, *Geschichte des Qorāns*, vol. 1, *Über den Ursprung des Qorāns* (Leipzig, 1909), pp. 234-256, discusses a number of different traditions about verses which were not included in the 'Uthmānic recension. See also the discussion of H. Modarressi, 'Early Debates on the Integrity of the Qur'ān: A Brief Survey,' *Studia Islamica* 77 (1993), pp. 10-13, and E. Kohlberg and M. A. Amir-Moezzi, *Revelation and Falsification: The* Kitāb al-qirā'āt of Aḥmad b. Muḥammad al-Sayyārī (Leiden/Boston, 2009), pp. 12-23.

¹⁴⁴¹ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 209. See also, Ibn Abī Dāwūd, Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif, p. 10.

¹⁴⁴² al-Suyūṭī, *al-Itqān*, p. 212. Other versions of the same tradition can be found in Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, pp. 8-9. For a discussion of the various versions of this tradition, see T. Nöldeke and F. Schwally, *Geschichte des Qorāns*, vol. 2, *Die Sammlung des Qorāns* (Leipzig, 1919), p. 14, nn. 2 and 3.

me." So I recited it for him and he did not find fault with me, either for an *alif* or for a $w\bar{a}w$.¹⁴⁴³

Discussions of *nāsikh* wa-mansūkh—abrogating and abrogated verses in the Qur'ān—preserve accounts which suggest that not insignificant portions of the original Qur'ān were actually not recorded.¹⁴⁴⁴ 'By no means should any one of you say,' Ibn 'Umar is reported to have stated, "I have learned (*gad akhadhtu*) all of the Qur'ān"—and he does not know what "all of it" is! Much of the Qur'ān has gone away. Instead, let him say: "I have learned what has appeared [in the text]."¹⁴⁴⁵ According to a report from 'Ā'isha, in the time of Muhammad, Sūrat al-Ahzāb (33) was recited with 200 verses, but when 'Uthmān wrote out the codices, he was only able to make of them what one now finds in this *sūra*—some 73 verses.¹⁴⁴⁶ Similarly, Ubayy b. Ka'b is reported to have said that Sūrat al-Ahzāb was equal in length to Sūrat al-Baqara (2), the longest sūra in the Qur'ān, and that it contained the famous 'Stoning Verse,' (āyat al-rajm) which I will mention again shortly.¹⁴⁴⁷ This is not the only *sūra* which was apparently much shorter than it had originally been. Hudhayfa is reported to have stated that only onefourth of Sūrat al-Barā'a (9) was now being recited.¹⁴⁴⁸ Ubayy is also reported to have had a longer version of Sūrat al-Bayyina (98) which he claimed had been recited to him

¹⁴⁴³ Ibn Sa'd, *Kitāb al-ṭabaqāt al-kabīr*, vol. 5 (Leiden, 1322), p. 211. With reference to ET in Muhammd ibn Sa'd, *The Men of Madina*, vol. 2, trans. A. Bewley (London, 2000) p. 177.

¹⁴⁴⁴ I rely here mostly on the verses listed by al-Suyūṭī in his discussion of *nāsikh wa-mansūkh* in the *Itqān*, but see also Abū 'Ubayd's chapter on 'What was lifted up (*rufi'a*) from the Qur'ān after its being sent down and which has not been established in the codices (*maṣāḥif*),' in *Faḍā'il al-Qur'ān* (Damascus, 1995), pp. 320-327, which contains much of the same material. An ET of Abū 'Ubayd's chapter is available in: A. Jeffery, 'Abū 'Ubaid on the verses Missing from the Qur'ān,' *The Moslem World* 28 (1938), pp. 61-65.

¹⁴⁴⁵ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 662.

¹⁴⁴⁶ al-Suyūṭī, al-Itqān, p. 662.

¹⁴⁴⁷ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 662.

¹⁴⁴⁸ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 665. See also the reports from Ibn 'Abbās and 'Umar about the long length of al-Barā'a's revelation, *ibid.*, pp. 197-198.

by Muhammad on God's orders.¹⁴⁴⁹ Another verse not found in the 'Uthmānic recension is mentioned in a report attributed to Humayda bint Abī Yūnis in which she recalled a passage her father recited to her from the codex of 'Ā'isha, 'before 'Uthmān changed the codices.¹⁴⁵⁰ Maslama b. Mukhallad al-Ansārī was able to recite two āvas from the Qur'ān which were not written down in the codex of 'Uthmān.¹⁴⁵¹ Anas spoke of a verse which they recited until it was withdrawn (*rufi*'a).¹⁴⁵² Some claimed that the Qur'ān had once contained a verse about stoning: 'If a grown man and a woman commit adultery, stone them without hesitation, as a warning from God, for God is mighty, wise,^{'1453} though such a verse is no longer in the text. 'Umar famously is reported to have argued strongly that it was once part of the revelation: 'I indeed wanted to write on the margin of the Codex,' he is reported to have said, "Umar b. al-Khaṭṭāb and 'Abd al-Raḥmān b. 'Awf bear witness that the Apostle of God stoned and we also stoned.'¹⁴⁵⁴ 'By God,' 'Umar is also supposed to have said about this missing verse, 'were it not that people might say "'Umar had added something to God's book," I would have written in it just as it was revealed.'1455

But more than verses, or even extended sections of *sūras* were said to have not been recorded—entire *sūras* were now gone. Abū Mūsā al-Ash'arī spoke of a *sūra* having

¹⁴⁴⁹ al-Suyūṭī, *al-Itqān*, p.663. For discussion of the three verses of Ubayy which are not present in the 'Uthmānic recension, see Nöldeke-Schwally, *Geschichte des Qorāns*, vol. 2, pp. 44-45. See also the report of two additional verses of Sūrat al-Barā'a (9) which were added after the entirety of the *sūra* had been thought to have been collected, on the basis of Ubayy's recollection: Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 9.

¹⁴⁵⁰ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, pp. 662-663.

¹⁴⁵¹ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 664.

¹⁴⁵² al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 665.

¹⁴⁵³ Translation Jeffery, slightly altered, taken from 'Verses Missing from the Qur'an,' p. 62. For the Arabic text, see Abū 'Ubayd, *Faḍā'il al-Qur'ān*, p. 321.

¹⁴⁵⁴ Translation Jeffery, with slight alterations, 'Verses Missing from the Quran,' p. 63. Arabic text in Abū 'Ubayd, *Faḍā'il al-Qur'ān*, p. 322.

¹⁴⁵⁵ Translation Jeffery, with slight alterations, 'Verses Missing from the Quran,' p. 63. Arabic text in Abū 'Ubayd, *Faḍā'il al-Qur'ān*, p. 321.

been sent down which was like Sūrat al-Barā'a (9), but which was then retracted (rufi'at); a verse from this sūra, however, had been memorized, though it is not in the 'Uthmānic text.¹⁴⁵⁶ And this was not the only lost sūra Abū Mūsā knew of. 'We used to recite a sūra which we likened to one of the *musabbihāt*,' he is reported to have stated, 'but we were caused to forget it.' Abū Mūsā did, however, manage to memorize one verse from it.¹⁴⁵⁷ Another report speaks of two men who would recite a *sūra* which the Prophet had recited to them. One night, while praying, they found that they could not even recite a letter from the sūra. The next morning, they spoke to Muhammad about it. 'It is something which has been abrogated,' he said to them, 'turn away from it.'1458 In this case, the *sūras* disappeared with no remnants left behind, but we know of at least two other texts circulating in the early Islamic period—referred to, among other things, as Sūrat al-Khal' and Sūrat al-Hafd—which were regarded as Qur'ānic sūras but which were not in 'Uthmān's recension. What's more, the Islamic tradition has not only preserved reports about these two *sūras* but has also retained their actual texts. Modern scholarship has associated them most closely with Ubayy b. Ka'b,¹⁴⁵⁹ and they are reported to have been written down in his codex,¹⁴⁶⁰ but Ubayy was not the only figure connected to them in the tradition. 'Abd Allāh b. Zurayr al-Ghāfiqī claimed to have learned them from 'Alī b. Abī Tālib.¹⁴⁶¹ 'Umar b. al-Khattāb was said to have used them while praying.¹⁴⁶² Ibn 'Abbās was said to have these two $s\bar{u}ras$ in his codex as

¹⁴⁵⁶ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, pp. 663-664.

¹⁴⁵⁷ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 664., The musabbiḥāt are sūras 57, 59, 61, 62, 64.

¹⁴⁵⁸ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 664.

¹⁴⁵⁹ See e.g., W.M. Watt, *Bell's Introduction to the Qur'ān*, (Edinburgh, 1970), p. 46, and the discussion of the sūras in T. Nöldeke and F. Schwally, *Geschichte des Qorāns*, vol. 2, (Leipzig, 1919), pp. 33-38.

¹⁴⁶⁰ al-Suyūțī, al-Itqān, p. 229. For their place in Ubayy's ordering of the sūras, see *ibid.*, p. 226.

¹⁴⁶¹ al-Suyūṭī, al-Itqān, p. 229.

¹⁴⁶² al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 229.

readings of both Ubayy b. Ka'b and Abū Mūsā.¹⁴⁶³ Umayya b. 'Abd Allāh b. Khālid is said to have recited these two *sūras* in Khurasan.¹⁴⁶⁴

I have spoken only of verses and passages regarded as revelation by some early Muslims but which did not make it into 'Uthmān's codex, but it was the case that for at least some Muslims, parts of the 'Uthmānic recension did not belong in the actual Qur'ān. So, whereas Ubayy's copy of the Qur'ān seems to have included material in it that 'Uthmān's recension would not, 'Uthmān's version would have texts not found in the famous codex of Ibn Mas'ūd. The latter was notable for the fact that it excluded three *sūras* found in the 'Uthmānic text: the Fātiḥa (*sūra* 1) and *sūras* 113 (al-Falaq) and 114 (al-Nās), known as al-Mu'awwidhatān.¹⁴⁶⁵ In fact, it is reported that Ibn Mas'ūd used to scrape the text of these latter two out of the 'Uthmānic codex: 'Do not mix the Qur'ān with what is not from it,' he said, 'these two are not from the Book of God.'¹⁴⁶⁶

'Uthmān's attempt at eliminating disagreement and creating unity through a common text of the Qur'ān was not completely successful. I have only focused here on traditions recorded in Sunnī sources about missing verses and *sūras* in the Qur'ān, but in this early period groups other than the proto-Sunnīs had views about the completeness of the 'Uthmānic recension. A group of the Khawārij claimed that Sūrat Yūsuf (12) was not part of the Qur'ānic revelation.¹⁴⁶⁷ Some partisans of 'Alī would argue that 'Uthmān's text had omitted parts of Muḥammad's revelation or had added to

¹⁴⁶⁶ The text continues, however, 'The Prophet...was only ordered to seek refuge in God by means of them.' See Jalāl al-Dīn al-Suyūṭī, *al-Durr al-manthūr fī tafsīr bi-'l-ma'thūr*, vol. 15, (Cairo, 2003), p. 784.

¹⁴⁶³ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 230.

¹⁴⁶⁴ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, p. 230.

¹⁴⁶⁵ See al-Suyūṭī, *al-Itqān*, pp. 227, 229.

¹⁴⁶⁷ See Abū 'l-Ḥasan Alī b. Ismā'īl al-Ash'arī, *Kitāb maqālāt al-islāmiyyīn* (Weisbaden, 1980), p. 96 and Modarressi, 'Early Debates on the Integrity of the Qur'ān,' p. 23, esp. n. 106.

it;¹⁴⁶⁸ and indeed, a number of passages in the 'Uthmānic version of the Qur'ān have variants in other codices which mention either 'Alī or the family of Muḥammad in a manner which would seem to lend support to the proto-Shi'ī cause. Supporters of 'Alī and his family pointed to such passages as evidence that 'Uthmān had repressed anything that might aid their case.¹⁴⁶⁹

Even 'Uthmān's attempt at having older codices destroyed was not entirely successful. A number of traditions have been preserved in which 'Abd Allāh b. Mas'ūd voiced his strong opposition to the destruction of codices which did not agree with the text produced by Zayd b. Thābit.¹⁴⁷⁰ In fact, Ibn Mas'ūd refused to give his codex of the Qur'ān over to be burned and it became very popular in Kufa.¹⁴⁷¹ But Ibn Mas'ūd was not the only Companion who had had his own reading of the Qur'ān. 'People who were Companions of the Prophet...,' Abū Bakr b. 'Ayyāsh is reported to have said, 'recited the Qur'ān, and then they passed away and I have not heard their readings.'¹⁴⁷² Ḥafṣa, one of the wives of Muḥammad, is supposed to have come into possession of the text of the Qur'ān which had been produced Zayd b. Thābit for Abū Bakr after her father 'Umar b.

¹⁴⁶⁸ See al-Ash'arī, *Kitāb maqālāt al-islāmiyyīn*, p. 47. See also 'Alī b. Aḥmad b. Ḥazm, al-Faṣl fī 'lmilal wa-'l-ahwā' al-niḥal, vol. 2, (Beirut, 1975), p. 76.

¹⁴⁶⁹ See Modarressi, 'Early Debates on the Integrity of the Qur'ān,' pp. 25-26, and citations therein from the codices of Ibn Mas'ūd, Ubayy and others. On Shi'ī attitudes towards Uthmān's text, in addition to Modarressi's article, also see E. Kohlberg, 'Some notes on the Imāmite Attitude to the Qur'ān,' in S.M. Stern, A. Hourani and V. Brown, eds., *Islamic Philosophy and the Classical Tradition: Essays Presented by his friends and pupils to Richard Walzer on his seventieth birthday* (Columbia, South Carolina, 1972), pp. 209-224, and see I. *Schools of Koranic Commentators*, trans. W. H. Behn, (Wiesbaden, 2006), pp. 171-183. For a translation of Shi'ī verses and (apparently forged) *sūras*, see also W. St. Clair Tisdall, 'Shi'ah Additions to the Koran,' *The Moslem World* 3 (1913), pp. 227-241.

¹⁴⁷⁰ See, e.g., Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, pp. 13-18, but NB, the tradition preserved in *ibid.*, p. 18, where Ibn Mas'ūd comforts people frightened at the news of 'Uthmān's promulgation of new Quranic codices.

¹⁴⁷¹ On Ibn Mas'ūd's codex, see Jeffery, *Materials for the History of the Text of the Qur'ān*, pp. 20-24.

¹⁴⁷² Ibn Abī Dāwūd, Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif, p. 83. Cf. Jeffery, Materials for the History of the Text of the

Qur'ān, p. 8.

al-Khaṭṭāb's death.¹⁴⁷³ It is reported that Marwān b. al-Ḥakam, the governor of Medina, used to ask Ḥafṣa for this text, but she refused to give it to him. Once Ḥafsa died, Marwān ordered that Ḥafṣa's Qur'ān be sent to him and had it torn up. 'I only did this,' he is supposed to have said, 'because what is in it has been written and preserved in the Codex and I feared that if a long time passed among the people, someone might have doubts concerning these pages or say that there was something in them which was not written down [in 'Uthmān's codex].'¹⁴⁷⁴

In fact, Arthur Jeffery identified some 13 non-Uthmānic codices held by Companions of Muḥammad and another 13 secondary codices held by other early Muslims.¹⁴⁷⁵ And we have some indirect knowledge of their contents, too: medieval Muslim scholars composed works on the alternate readings available in these other *maṣāḥif* and their variants would also be cited in commentary literature, though it seems to be the case that the variants which were preserved were ones which helped shed light on the 'Uthmānic text; those which differed most radically from what became the received text did not get cited and are therefore now lost.¹⁴⁷⁶ Though none of these codices are known to survive, study of the ancient Qur'ānic fragments found in the Great Mosque of Ṣan'ā' in Yemen has shown that some of the manuscripts there do not follow the *sūra* organization adopted in 'Uthmān's reception: some seem to follow the *sūra* arrangement of Ibn Mas'ūd, while others seem to agree with the arrangement medieval sources credit to Ubayy b. Ka'b, while still others follow an arrangement of

¹⁴⁷³ See Ibn Kathīr, *Kitāb faḍā'il al-Qur'ān* (Cairo, 1416), pp. 56, 64-65.

¹⁴⁷⁴ See Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, pp. 24-25.

¹⁴⁷⁵ see Jeffery, Materials for the History of the Text of the Qur'ān, p. 14.

 $^{^{\}rm 1476}$ See Jeffrey, Materials for the History of the Text of the Qur'ān, p. 10.

sūras not mentioned in medieval sources.¹⁴⁷⁷ Of these various Companion Codices, that of Ibn Mas'ūd was perhaps the most famous and best known and its divergences from the 'Uthmānic recension would be used polemically. In his day, Ibn Qutayba (d. 276 AH/AD 889) would report that 'slanderers' (*al-tā'inīn*) who were critical of the Qur'ān were pointing out the many differences between the Qur'ānic codex of Ibn Mas'ūd and both 'ancient and modern codices.'¹⁴⁷⁸ The 'slanderers' Ibn Qutayba referred to may have perhaps been Muslim freethinkers and apostates,¹⁴⁷⁹ but Christians would also cite Ibn Masʻūd against Muslims in a polemical context: Ibn Hazm (d. 456 AH/AD 1064) mentioned that Christians were pointing out the differences between Ibn Mas'ūd's codex and the standard codices of the Qur'ān,¹⁴⁸⁰ and in his famous and withering *Apology*, written perhaps between AD 819 and 825,¹⁴⁸¹ the Christian writer known by the pseudonym 'al-Kindī' would speak about the codices of 'Alī, Ubayy b. Ka'b, Ibn Mas'ūd, referring specifically to Ibn Mas'ūd's not including Sūras 113 and 114 in his codex.¹⁴⁸² For his part, in the ninth century al-Jāhiz would similarly complain that Christians were seeking out contradictions in *hadīth*, weak *isnāds* in Muslim reports and confusing verses in the Qur'ān and sowing confusion among weak and ordinary Muslims.¹⁴⁸³

¹⁴⁷⁷ See G.R. Puin, 'Observations on early Qur'ān Manuscripts in Ṣan'ā',' in S. Wild, ed., *The Qur'an as Text* (Leiden, 1996), pp. 110-111. For this point, cf. M. Cook, *The Koran: A Very Short Introduction* (Oxford, 2000), p. 122.

¹⁴⁷⁸ See 'Abd Allāh b. Muslim b. Qutayba, *Ta'wīl mushkil al-Qur'ān* (Cairo, 1954), p. 19.

¹⁴⁷⁹ See, e.g., Ibn Qutayba's use of 'slanderers' ($t\bar{a}$ 'in \bar{n}) in a class with freethinkers (*mulhidin*), apostates (*murtāddīn*) and doubters (*murtābīn*) in his Ta'wīl *mukhtalif al-ḥadīth* (Cairo, 2006), p. 59. He could also be referring polemically to Mu'tazilī opponents.

¹⁴⁸⁰ Ibn Ḥazm, al-Faṣl fī 'l-milal wa-'l-ahwā' al-niḥal, vol. 2, p. 76. I was pointed to this passage by a footnote in a work of I. Goldziher, but can no longer recall where exactly I found the reference.

¹⁴⁸¹ See G. Tartar, Dialogue islamo-chrétien sous le calife Al-Ma'mûn (813-834). Les épitres d'Al-Hashimî et d'Al-Kindî (Paris, 1985), p. 63.

¹⁴⁸² See Risālat ʿAbd Allāh b. Ismāʿīl al-Hāshimī ilā ʿAbd al-Masīḥ b. Isḥāq al-Kindī yadʿūhu bi-hā ilā al-Islām wa-risālat ʿAbd al-Masīḥ ilā al-Hāshimī yaruddu bi-hā ʿalayhi wa-yadʿūhu ilā al-Naṣrāniyya (n.p. 1880), pp. 80-82; the reference to the ʿal-muʿawwidhatayn' and Ibn Masʿūd is on p. 81.

¹⁴⁸³ Abū 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ, al-Mukhtār fī 'l-radd alā al-Naṣārā (Beirut, 1991), p. 66; cf. idem., Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ (Cairo, 1344), pp. 19-20.

The collection of the text spearheaded by Zayd b. Thābit resulted in a personal copy of the Qur'ān for the Caliph 'Uthmān which was known as the *imām*; 'Uthmān had four copies of the *imām* made and then sent one to Basra, one to Kufa, one to Damascus and kept one in Medina.¹⁴⁸⁴ But these copies were not uniform, nor did they represent the final official version of the text of the Qur'ān. Lists have been preserved which record the differences in lettering between the *imām* and the Medinan codex as well as the differences between the Kufan, Basran, Medinan, and Damascene codices.¹⁴⁸⁵

What's more, 'Ubayd Allāh b. Ziyād (d. 67 AH/AD 686), an Umayyad governor in Iraq, is said to have added two-thousand letters to the Qur'ān.¹⁴⁸⁶ In a report whose reference to codices (*maṣāḥif*) is anachronistic and which was perhaps written in response to such textual interventions, Abū Rajā' is supposed to have asked Muḥammad about the diacritical points (*nuqat*) of the codices. 'I fear,' Muḥammad responded, 'that you will add to the letters or take away from them.'¹⁴⁸⁷ In addition to 'Ubayd Allāh's additions to the text, there is some evidence that al-Ḥajjāj b. Yusuf (d. 95 AH/AD 714), another Umayyad governor in Iraq, altered the text of the Qur'ān.¹⁴⁸⁸ Indeed, al-Ḥajjāj may have even acted as a second 'Uthmān and promulgated a new official version of the Qur'ān, based on the 'Uthmānic recension. Al-Kindī made reference to an attempt

¹⁴⁸⁴ See al-Dānī, *al-Muqni*', p. 10; Abū 'Ubayd, *Faḍā'il al-Qur'ān*, p. 333; and Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 37. There are also reports of seven rather than four copies being made. See, e.g., Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 34. The copy sent by 'Uthmān to each of these four places seems also to have been referred to as an *imām*—see *ibid.*, pp. 44-47. Also see Muḥammad b. 'Abd Allāh al-Zarkashī, *al-Burhān fī 'ulūm al-Qur'ān*, vol. 1, (Cairo, 1957), p. 240.

¹⁴⁸⁵ See Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, pp. 37-49. Note the reference to the maṣāḥif of the people of Mecca on pp. 40, 47, and 49. See also Abū 'Ubayd, *Faḍā'il al-Qur'ān*, pp. 328-333 and Nöldeke-Schwally, *Geschichte des Qorāns*, vol. 2, pp. 6-19.

¹⁴⁸⁶ See Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, p. 117. Cf. also Kohlberg and Moezzi, *Revelation and Falsification*, p. 18.

¹⁴⁸⁷ See Ibn Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, vol. 10, p. 23.

¹⁴⁸⁸ On this alleged collection by al-Ḥajjāj and for the following, cf. Kohlberg and Moezzi, *Revelation and Falsification*, pp. 18-20.

by 'Alī to collect the Qur'ān—an effort reported in Islamic sources¹⁴⁸⁹—and then made reference to an attempt by al-Ḥajjāj to collect the Qur'ān. 'You know,' al-Kindī wrote, 'that al-Ḥajjāj b. Yūsuf also collected the codices and omitted many things from them.'¹⁴⁹⁰ We find out what these many things are supposed to have been a bit later when al-Kindī makes more detailed reference to the collection of the Qur'ān. It seems that al-Kindī was quite familiar with Islamic sources—he speaks, for instance, about the disagreements among Muslims which led to 'Uthmān's decision to issue a standard text, the versions of 'Alī and Ubayy b. Ka'b, Ibn Mas'ūd's refusal to give his codex over, Zayd b. Thābit's manner of collecting the Qur'ān,¹⁴⁹¹ even about the text and controversy surrounding the 'Stoning Verse' and the partial text of one of the two 'lost *sūras*' I made reference to above.¹⁴⁹² When he came to al-Ḥajjāj, al-Kindī alleged that

he did not leave any codex, save that he gathered it and omitted from it many things—they mentioned that [the things omitted] were revealed concerning the descendants of Umayya, with the names of people, and concerning the descendants of 'Abbās, with the names of people. Copies were written out, with the composition al-Ḥajjāj wanted, in six codices. One was sent to Egypt and another to Syria, and another to Medina, and another to Mecca, and another to Kufa and another to Basra. He sought out the earlier codices and boiled oil for them and dumped them in it and so they were cut off; he imitated in that what 'Uthmān had done.¹⁴⁹³

It is important to stress al-Kindī's apparent familiarity with Islamic sources, for it gives

us reason to think that there may be some basis beyond polemical fancy in his

accusation that al-Hajjāj played some sort of role in shaping the text of the Qur'ān. al-

 ¹⁴⁸⁹ See, e.g., Ibn Abī Dāwūd, Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif, p. 10, and Modarressi, 'Early Debates,' pp. 14, 17-22.
 ¹⁴⁹⁰ See Risālat 'Abd Allāh b. Ismā'īl al-Hāshimī ilā 'Abd al-Masīh b. Ishāq al-Kindī yad'ūhu bi-hā ilā al-

Islām wa-risālat 'Abd al-Masīḥ ilā al-Hāshimī yaruddu bi-hā 'alayhi wa-yad'ūhu ilā al-Naṣrāniyya (n.p. 1880), p. 78. FT in Tartar, Dialogue islamo-chrétien, p. 183.

¹⁴⁹¹ Compare, for instance, al-Kindī's story of Zayd's decision to write down *al-tābūt* rather than *al-tābūh* (*Risāla*, p. 80) with the same story in al-Dānī, *al-Muqni*', p. 5.

¹⁴⁹² See *Risāla*, pp. 80-82.

¹⁴⁹³ *Risāla*, p. 82. My translation, but see the ET of A. Mingana in *idem.*, 'The Transmission of the Koran,' *The Moslem World* 7 (1917), p. 409 and the FT of Tartar in *Dialogue islamo-chrétien*, p. 190.

Hajjāj was also accused of having promulgated an official version of the Qur'ān in a letter from Leo III to 'Umar II preserved in the Armenian history of Ghevond.¹⁴⁹⁴ Muslim authors, too, recorded recollections of al-Ḥajjāj having altered the text of the Qur'ān. According to Ibn Abī Dāwūd, al-Ḥajjāj changed eleven different readings in 'Uthmān's recension and these changes which have been preserved in lists,¹⁴⁹⁵ and Arthur Jeffery collected other evidence from other Muslim sources which indicate that al-Ḥajjāj played some sort of role in altering the standard text of the Qur'ān.¹⁴⁹⁶

Whatever the reality behind these claims, it is clear that decades after the publication of 'Uthmān's edition, the text of the Qur'ān was still not fully stabilized: Hasan al-Baṣrī, writing perhaps in the year 700, seems to quote the Qur'ān in a version which does not correspond to the 'Uthmānic recension,¹⁴⁹⁷ and the deviation of inscriptions on early Islamic coins and monuments from the standard 'Uthmānic text has also been taken as an indicator that the Qur'ānic text was not completely fixed post-'Uthmān, or that there was a flexible attitude towards its citation.¹⁴⁹⁸ Most famously, perhaps, it has been pointed out that the Qur'ānic text in inscriptions on the

¹⁴⁹⁴ See A. Jeffery, 'Ghevond's Text of the Correspondence between 'Umar II and Leo III,' *The Harvard Theological Review* 37 (1944), p. 298.

¹⁴⁹⁵ See Ibn Abī Dāwūd, *Kitāb al-Maṣāḥif*, pp. 49-50, 117-118.

¹⁴⁹⁶ See Jeffery, 'Ghevond's Text,' p. 298, n. 48.

¹⁴⁹⁷ See M. Cook, *The Koran: A Very Short Introduction* (Oxford, 2000), pp. 120-121. On Hasan's readings of the Quran, see, G. Bergsträsser, 'Die Koranlesung des Hasan von Basra,' *Islamica* 2 (1926) pp. 11-57 and more recently, O. Hamdan, *Studien zur Kanonisierung des Korantexts* (Wiesbaden, 2006). The text was first published in H. Ritter, 'Studien zur Geschichte der islamischen Frömmigkeit,' *Islam* 21 (1933), pp. 1-83 (Arabic text on pp. 67-82) and has most recently been published in its two major recensions in S. A. Mourad, *Early Islam between Myth and History: al-Hasan al-Baṣrī* (*D.* 110 *H/728 CE*) *and the Formation of his Legacy in Classical Islamic Scholarship* (Leiden/Boston, 2006), p. 284-302. On this epistle and its date, see Mourad, *ibid*, pp. 176-239. Mourad suggests that it is in fact a tenth-century forgery not actually written by Hasan. On this epistle, also see M. Cook, *Early Muslim Dogma: A Source-Critical Study* (Cambridge, 1981), pp. 117-123.

¹⁴⁹⁸ Cook, *The Koran*, p. 121-122. For examples of slight changes in coins and inscriptions, see the article by R. Hoyland and V. Porter, 'Epigraphy,' in *The Encyclopedia of the Qur'ān*, vol. 2, (Leiden, 2002), pp. 25-43, esp. 'The Manipulation of the Qur'ān in Inscriptions,' pp. 30-31. See also, F. Imbert, 'Le Coran dans les graffiti des deux premiers siècles de l'hégire,' *Arabica* 47 (2000), pp. 381-390, esp. p. 389. Also, cf. ST 640(34) lns. 9-10 in Y.D. Nevo, Z. Cohen, and D. Heftman, *Ancient Arabic Inscriptions from the Negev*, vol. 1, (Jerusalem, 1993), p. 54.

Dome of the Rock, dated to 72 AH/AD 691-692, differs slightly from our current 'Uthmānic text.¹⁴⁹⁹ Study of early Qur'ānic commentators from the second and third Islamic centuries, such as Mujāhid (d. 104/722), Sufyān al-Thawrī (d. 162/778), 'Abd Allāh b. Wahb (d. 197/812), 'Abd al-Razzāq (d. 211/827), al-Farrā' (d. 207/822) and others shows that into the time of al-Farrā', the codex and readings of at least Ibn Mas'ūd were treated as equals to those of 'Uthmān, though the latter's text had begun to be accepted as the norm.¹⁵⁰⁰

It should also be pointed out that the 'Uthmānic recension did not itself eliminate diversity with respect to the Qur'ānic text: it only provided a boundary which might limit the possible number of variations in the text—this was because it was written in a script which contained no vowel markings or diacritical points. The ambiguity in the Arabic script was well-known—indeed, in his discussions with the Muslim wazir Abū al-Qasim al-Ḥusayn b. 'Alī al-Maghribī in 417 AH/1026 AD, the East Syrian Elia bar Shinaya, Metropolitan of Nisibis (d. after AD 1049), would cite Qur'ānic textual variants as evidence that the Arabic alphabet was more ambiguous and therefore inferior to the Syriac alphabet.¹⁵⁰¹ The consonantal skeleton of 'Uthmān's text of the Qur'ān was able to support a certain amount of textual indeterminacy and Muslim exegetical literature has preserved evidence of thousands of textual variants of different types.¹⁵⁰² Thus, for instance, the consonantal skeleton of the same word in Q 4:94 was read by some as *fa-tabayyanū* ('ponder') and by others as *fa-tathabbatū*

¹⁴⁹⁹ See Kohlberg and Moezzi, *Revelation and Falsification*, pp. 20-21.

¹⁵⁰⁰ For this point, see pp. 354-355 of F. Leemhuis' article 'Readings of the Qur'ān,' in *The Encyclopedia of the Qur'ān*, vol. 4 (Leiden/Boston, 2004).

¹⁵⁰¹ See L. Cheikho, 'Majālis Īliyyā Maṭrān Naṣībīn,' al-Machriq 5 (1922), p. 374. On Elia and the theological aspects of these discussions, see E.-K. Delly, *La théologie d'Elie bar-Šénaya*. *Etude et traduction de ses Entretiens* (Rome, 1957).

¹⁵⁰² See, for example, enormous number of readings from a wide variety of Islamic sources collected in 'Abd al-Laṭīf al-Khaṭīb, *Mu'jam al-qirā'āt*, vols. 1-11, (Damascus, 2002).

('ascertain') depending on where diacritics were placed.¹⁵⁰³ Despite the fact that the two readings read every single letter in the verbal root in distinct ways in this instance, the consequent difference in meaning between the two words was not very significant. But in other cases, however, different accepted vocalizations of the same 'Uthmānic consonantal skeleton might lead to contradictory legal rulings.¹⁵⁰⁴ And Goldziher documented a number of other instances where the ambiguity in the consonantal text allowed the introduction of readings clearly motivated by theological considerations: 'Several attempts,' he wrote, 'at deviation from the Koranic *textus receptus* have as their base the scruple to attribute expressions to God and the Prophet which are considered improper and embarrassing for the Supreme Being and His Messenger.'¹⁵⁰⁵ Just as was the case with the story of the 'Satanic Verses,' and the story of Muḥammad's plan to kill himself, theological qualms influenced the later Islamic tradition's understanding texts which had been unobjectionable to early Muslims.¹⁵⁰⁶

As a strategy for dealing with the multiplicity of textual variants to the 'Uthmānic text, the Sunnī tradition would make a distinction between the Qur'ān—the divine communication (*al-waḥī*) sent down to Muḥammad—and the different readings (*qirā'āt*) of the Qur'ān—the difference in the writing of the words of the communication.¹⁵⁰⁷ A famous statement of Muḥammad provided another way of accounting for these variations: 'The Qur'ān has come down in seven *ahrūf*, all of them

¹⁵⁰³ See I. Goldziher, *Schools of Koranic Commentators*, ed. and trans. W.H. Behn, (Wiesbaden, 2006), p. 3, and cf. e.g., Muḥammad b. Aḥmad b. Abī Bakr al-Qurṭubī, *al-Jāmi*' *li-aḥkām al-Qurʾān*, vol. 7 (Beirut, 2006), p. 49.

¹⁵⁰⁴ E.g., lamastum vs. lāmastum in Q 4:43 and yaṭhurna vs. yaṭṭahharna in Q 2:222. For these and more, see al-Zarkashī, al-Burhān, pp. 326-327.

¹⁵⁰⁵ Goldziher, *Schools of Koranic Commentators*, p. 12; see pp. 12-19 for examples of these changes in the text.

¹⁵⁰⁶ See also Goldziher's discussion of a similar process of theologically-motivated sanitization in the *hadīth* literature, *Schools of Koranic Commentators*, pp. 19-20.

¹⁵⁰⁷ See al-Zarkashī, *al-Burhān*, vol. 1, p. 218.

clear and sufficient,' the Prophet was reported to have said when approached with differing versions of the same Qur'ānic passage, 'So recite as you wish.'¹⁵⁰⁸ What exactly *aḥrūf* (sing. *ḥarf*) meant in this statement, however, was not exactly clear to later Muslims—al-Suyūṭī was able to list thirty-five different ways that scholars had understood the term—and whatever the text's meaning may have been, its ambiguity allowed it to be invoked almost talismanically by later Muslims who seeking to make sense of and find Prophetic legitimation for the potentially confusing and unnerving mass of information about the diversity of the Qur'ānic text.¹⁵⁰⁹

The use of non-'Uthmānic readings of the Qur'ān would continue down until the fourth/tenth century until Ibn Mujāhid (d. 324/936) established seven canonical readings of the 'Uthmānic consonantal text.¹⁵¹⁰ Ibn Mujāhid himself was not averse to resorting to political authorities to enforce the hegemony of the 'Uthmānic version of the Qur'ān. His contemporary, Ibn Shanabūdh (d. 328 AH/AD 939), would not only recite the Qur'ān in the versions of Ibn Mas'ūd, Ubayy b. Ka'b and others, but would also apparently debate people about his choice of Qur'ānic readings. Ibn Mujāhid brought Ibn Shanabūdh to the attention of the wazir Ibn Muqla who had him beaten and tortured until Ibn Shanabūdh withdrew from his previous position and acknowledged that the codex of 'Uthmān was the standard which one could not contradict and the only text from which one could recite the Qur'ān.¹⁵¹¹ At about this

¹⁵⁰⁸ See e.g., Ibn Qutayba's invocation of this *hadīth* to answer critics of the Qur'ān in *idem*, *Ta'wīl mushkil al-Qur'ān*, pp. 26-32. For various versions of this *hadīth*, see Aḥmad al-Baylī, *al-Ikhtilāf bayna al-qirā'āt* (Beirut, 1988), pp. 39-43.

¹⁵⁰⁹ al-Suyūțī, *al-Itqān*, pp. 172-183.

¹⁵¹⁰ See Leemhuis, 'Readings of the Qur'ān,' p. 356 and cf. al-Zarkashī, *al-Burhān*, vol. 1, p. 327-329.

¹⁵¹¹ See Yāqūt b. 'Abd Allāh al-Hamawī, *Kitāb irshād al-arīb ilā maʻrifat al-adīb*, vol. 6, (Cairo, 1930), pp. 300-304 and al-Khaṭīb al-Baghdādī, *Ta'rīkh madīnat al-salām*, vol. 2 (Beirut, 2001), pp. 103-104. See also R. Paret's article, 'Ibn Shanabūdh (Shanbūdh, Shannabūdh), Abu 'l-Ḥasan Muḥammad b. Aḥmad b. Ayyūb b. al-Ṣalt al-Baghdādī' in *El*².

same time, another figure Ibn Miqsam (d. 354 AH/AD 965), also fell afoul of the authorities for reciting a version of the Qur'ān which contradicted the consensus 'Uthmānic text and was summoned to the Sultan for going rogue in his Qur'ānic recitation.¹⁵¹²

Ibn Mujāhid would represent the final culmination of 'Uthmān's work at creating a unity text of the Qur'ān four centuries earlier. Before him, a book had been written mentioning five readings of the 'Uthmānic text.¹⁵¹³ After Ibn Mujāhid, the number of canonical readings would increase to ten and then to fourteen.¹⁵¹⁴

¹⁵¹² There are conflicting reports as to whether he repented. See Yāqūt, *Kitāb irshād al-arīb*, vol. 6, pp. 498-501. See also G.H.A. Juynboll's article, 'Ibn Miksam,' in EI^2 (Supplement).

¹⁵¹³ By Ibn Jubayr, see al-Zarkashī, al-Burhān, vol. 1, p. 329.

¹⁵¹⁴ For the history of the *qirā'āt* in general, see Leemhuis, 'Readings of the Qur'ān,' pp. 355-361.

Works Cited

Abbreviations

- *EI*¹ = *E.J. Brill's First Encyclopaedia of Islam,* 1913-1936, 9 vols., (Leiden/New York, 1987).
- *EI*² = *The Encyclopaedia of Islam: prepared by a number of leading orientalists,* 2nd ed., 12 vols. (Leiden, 1986-2004).
- *PG* = J.P. Migne, ed., *Patrologiae cursus completes. Series Graeca.* 161 vols. in 166 parts. (Paris, 1857-1887).

Manuscript Catalogs

- Mingana, A. Catalogue of the Mingana Collection of Manuscripts Now in the Possession of the Trustees of the Woodbrooke Settlement, Selly Oak, Birmingham, vol. 1, Syriac and Garshūni Manuscripts (Cambridge, 1933).
- Payne Smith, R. Catalogi Codicum Manuscriptorum Bibliothecae Bodleianae (Oxford, 1864).
- Sachau, E. Verzeichniss der syrischen Handschriften der Königlichen Bibliothek zu Berlin, 2 vols. (Berlin, 1899).
- Scher, A. Catalogue des manuscrits syriaques et arabes conservés dans la bibliothèque épiscopale de Séert (Kurdistan) (Mosul, 1905).
- Wright, W. Catalogue of Syriac manuscripts in the British museum acquired since the year 1838, 3 vols. (London, 1870-1872).
- ---. A Catalogue of the Syriac Manuscripts preserved in the Library of the University of Cambridge, 2 vols. (Cambridge, 1901).

Primary Sources I: Manuscripts

- Disputation between a monk from Beth Ḥalē and an Arab Muslim. Diyarbakr Syriac 95, fols. 1a-8b.
- Ephrem, Metropolitan of Elam. *Letter to Gabriel b. Bukhtīshūʻ on intercommunion*. Mingana Syriac 587, fols. 357b-360a.

George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes. *Letters*. BL Add. 12,154, fols. 222a-290a.

---. [?] Scholia on the Homilies of Gregory Nazianzen. BL Add. 14,725, fols. 100b-215.

Jacob of Edessa. Canons. Mardin 310, fols. 195a-213a (pp. 387-429).

- ---. Canons. Harvard Syriac 93, fols. 1a-44a. [See J. Rendel Harris, *The Gospel of the Twelve* Apostles together with the Apocalypses of each one of them (Cambridge, 1900), p. 8 for a description of the relevant parts of this MS, formerly Cod. Syr. Harris 85.]
- ---. *Commentary on the Pentateuch*. Mingana Syriac 147, fols. 1a-36b.
- ---. Letter to the Chalcedonians of Harran [Syriac fragments with Karshūnī translation]. Cambridge Add. 2889, fols. 272b-273b [quoted in a letter of Makkīkkha, Metropolitan of Mosul].
- ---. Letter to the Deacon Barhadbshabba, Against the Chalcedonians. BL Add. 16,631, fols. 14b-16b.
- ---. Letters to John, the Stylite of Litarb. BL Add. 12,172, fols. 79a-134b.
- ---. Letter to the Priest Addai. BL Add. 14,715, fols. 170a-173b.
- ---. Letter to Simeon the Stylite. BL Add. 17,168, fols. 154a-162a.
- ---. Liturgy. Cambridge Add. 2887, fols. 31a-35a.
- ---. Revision of the Pentateuch. Paris Syriac 26.
- ---. Scholia on the Old Testament [selections]. BL Add. 17,193, fols. 61a-69b.
- ---. Treatise against those who transgress ecclesiastical Canons [Chapter 12]. BL Add. 12,154, fols. 164b-168a.
- ---. Treatise against those who transgress ecclesiastical Canons [Chapter 12]. BL Add. 17,193, fols. 58a-61a.
- John of Litarb. *Letter to Daniel, An Arab Priest*. BL Add. 12,154, fols. 291a-294b. [NB: I have completed an edition and translation of this letter and will publish it in the future.]
- *Life of Simeon of the Olives.* Mardin 8/259, fols. 105a-127a. [NB: I have completed a translation of the *Life of Simeon of the Olives* based on Mardin 8/259 and Paris Syriac 375, though at present I have no plans to publish it since Andrew Palmer has promised a critical edition and translation of the text. Scholars interested in my translation should contact me.]

Questions against the pagans [sc. Sun Worshippers]. BL Add. 14.533, fols. 138b-139a.

Severos, a Monk of Edessa. *Catena Patrum on Scripture*. BL Add. 12,144, fols. 1a-233b.

Severos Sebokht. Letter to Yonan the Periodeute. Cambridge Add., 2812, fol. 109a-116a.

- ---. Chapter On the Primacy of Syrians' Knowledge of the Science of Astronomy. Paris Syriac 346 fols. 168b-171b. Partially published in F. Nau, ed. and trans., 'La cosmographie au VIIe siècle chez les Syriens,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 5 (15) (1910), pp. 248-252.
- Shem'ūn of Samosata. *Life of Theodota of Amid* [Syriac]. Mardin 275, fols. 237a-296b (pp. 481-600).
- ---. Life of Theodota of Amid [Karshūnī]. St Mark's Jerusalem, fols. 547a-564b. [I am working on an edition and translation of the Karshūnī version of the Life of Theodota, to be published with Andrew Palmer's Syriac edition by Brigham Young University Press and Gorgias Press.]
- Timothy I. *Letters*. Mingana Syriac 587, fols. 116b-357a. [NB: 280a-357a contain the unedited letters of Timothy].
- Yonan the Bishop. *Letter to Theodore the Periodeute on monogamy*. Cambridge Add. 2023, fols. 254b-259a.

Primary Sources II: Texts and Translations

'Abd al-Razzāq b. Hammām al-Ṣan'ānī. *al-Muṣannaf*, 11 vols. (Beirut, 1983).

---. *al-Muṣannaf*, 11 vols. (Beirut, 1970).

---. al-Muṣannaf. 12 vols. (Beirut, 2000).

Abū Faraj al-Isbahānī. *Kitāb al-aghānī*, 21 vols. (Bulaq, 1868-1869).

Abū Ḥayyān al-Tawḥīdī, 'Alī b. Muḥammad. *al-Baṣā'ir wa-'l-dhakhā'ir*, 4 vols. (Damascus, n.d. [1964?]).

Abū Nu'aym al-Isbahānī, *Ḥilyat al-awliyā' wa-ṭabaqāt al-asfiyā*', 10 vols. (Beirut, 1988).

Abū 'Ubayd al-Qāsim b. Sallām. *Kitāb faḍā'il al-Qur'ān* (Damascus, 1995). [One chapter translated in A. Jeffery, 'Abū 'Ubaid on the verses Missing from the Qur'ān,' *The Moslem World* 28 (1938), pp. 61-65.]

Abū Yūsuf Yaʻqūb b. Ibrāhīm. *Kitāb al-kharāj* (Cairo, 1346).

Abū 'Ubayd al-Qāsim b. Sallām. Kitāb faḍā'il al-Qur'ān, (Damascus, 1995).

al-Andalusī, Ṣā'id b. Aḥmad. Kitāb ṭabaqāt al-umam (Beirut, 1912).

Aphrahat. Demonstrations. Ed. W. Wright, The Homilies of Aphraates, The Persian Sage (London, 1869).

- Anastasios of the Sinai. *Questions and Answers*. M. Richard and J.A. Munitiz, *Anastasii Sinaitae Quaestiones et Responsiones* (CSCG 59) (Turnhout, 2006).
- ---. Various Narrations Concerning the Holy Fathers of the Sinai. Ed. F. Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits du moine Anastase sur les saints pères du Sinaï,' Oriens Christianus 2 (1902), pp. 58-89; idem., trans., 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase. Contribution a l'histoire du Sinai au commencement du VIIe siècle (traduction française),' Revue de l'institut catholique de Paris 1 (1902), pp. 1-26. An anonymous ET of this text can be found at http://www.monachos.net/content/patristics/patristictexts/76-anastasius-of-sinai-concerning-the-holy-fathers-in-sinai
- ---. Narrations beneficial for the Soul. Ed. and trans. S. Heid, 'Die C-Reihe erbaulicher Erzählungen des Anastasios vom Sinai im Codex Vaticanus Graecus 2592,' Orientalia Christiana Periodica 74 (2008), pp. 71-114. F. Nau, 'Le texte grec des récits utiles à l'âme d'Anastase (le Sinaïte),' Oriens Christianus 3 (1903), pp. 56-90; idem., 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase. Contribution à l'histoire du Sinai au commencement du VIIe siècle (traduction française),' Revue de l'institut catholique de Paris 1 (1902), pp. 110-151.
- Anthony of Takrit. On the Science of Rhetoric. Ed. and trans. J.W. Watt, The Fifth Book of the Rhetoric of Antony of Tagrit (CSCO 480-481: SS 203-204) (Louvain, 1986).
- Aristotle. The Categories. Ed. Kh. Georr, Les Catégories d'Aristote dans leurs versions syroarabes (Beirut, 1948).
- ---. *The Categories*. Ed. R. Gottheil, 'The Syriac Versions of the Categories of Aristotle,' *Hebraica* 9 (1893), pp. 166-215.
- ---. Organon (Arabic). Manțiq Arisțū, ed. 'Abd al-Raḥmān Badawī, 3 vols. (Cairo, 1948-1952).
- al-Ash'arī, Abū al-Ḥasan 'Alī b. Ismā'īl. Maqālāt al-islāmiyyīn wa-ikhtilāf al-muṣallīn (Wiesbaden, 1980). [Die Dogmatischen Lehren der Anhänger des Islam]
- Athanasios of Alexandria. *Athanasiana Syriaca*, ed. and trans. R.W. Thomson, 4 parts (CSCO 257-258, 272-273, 324-325, 386-387: SS 114-115, 118-119, 142-143, 167-168) (Louvain, 1965-1977).
- ---. Life of Anthony. Ed. and trans. R. Draguet, La vie primitive de s. Antoine conservée en syriaque (CSCO 417-418: SS 183-184) (Louvain, 1980).
- Athanasios I Gamolo. *The Conflict of Severos*. Ed. and trans. E.J. Goodspeed and W.E. Crum (*Patrologia Orientalis* 4) (Paris, 1908), pp. 569-726.

al-Azdī, Muḥammad b. 'Abd Allāh. Ta'rīkh futūḥ al-shām (Cairo, 1970).

- Bar Bahlul. *Lexicon*. Ed. R. Duval. *Lexicon Syriacum auctore Hassano Bar Bahlule*, 3 vols. (Paris, 1901).
- Bar Hebraeus. Chronicle. Ed. P. Bedjan. Gregorii Barhebraei Chronicon Syriacum, (Paris, 1890).
- ---. Gospel Commentary. Ed. and trans., W.E.W. Carr, Gregory Abu'l Faraj commonly called Bar-Hebraeus. Commentary on the Gospels from the Horreum Mysteriorum (London, 1925).
- ----. Ecclesiastical Chronicle. Edd. and trans. J.-B. Abbeloos and T.J. Lamy. Gregorii Barhebraei: Chronicon Ecclesiasticum, (Louvain, 1872-1877).
- ---. Nomocanon. Ed. P. Bedjan. Nomocanon Gregorii Barhebraei, (Paris, 1898).
- Basil of Caesarea. *On the Holy Spirit* [Syriac]. Ed. and trans. D.G.K. Taylor, *The Syriac Versions of the* De Spiritu Sancto by Basil of Caesarea, (CSCO 576-577: SS 228-229) (Louvain, 1999).
- al-Bukharī, Abū 'Abd Allāh Ismā'īl b. Ibrāhīm al-Ja'fī*. Kitāb al-ta'rīkh al-kabīr*, 9 vols. (Beirut, 2001).
- Chronicle of Seert. Ed. and trans. A. Scher, et al., *Histoire nestorienne (Chronique de Séert)* (Patrologia Orientalis 4.3, 5.2, 7.2, 13.4) (Paris, 1908-1950).
- Chronicle to 724. Ed. E.W. Brooks, Chronica Minora II (CSCO SS Series Tertia 4) (Paris, 1904).
- al-Dānī, 'Uthmān b. Sa'īd. al-Muqni' fī rasm maṣāḥif al-amṣār ma' kitāb al-nuqat (Istanbul, 1932).
- David of Ganjak. Penitential. C.J.F. Dowsett, trans., The Penitential of David of Ganjak (CSCO 217: SA 4) (Louvain, 1961).
- al-Dhahabī, Abū 'Abd Allāh Shams al-Dīn. *Kitāb tadhkirat al-ḥuffāẓ*, 4 vols. (Hyderabad/Deccan, 1955-1958).
- Dionysios bar Ṣalībī, Gospel Commentary. Edd. I. Sedlaček and J.B. Chabot, Dionysii bar Ṣalībī: Commentarii in Evangelia (CSCO, series 2: SS 98) (Paris, 1906).
- Discussion between Patriarch John and an Amīr concerning Religion. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, 'Un colloque du patriarche Jean avec l'émir des Agaréens,' Journal asiatique 11 (1915), pp. 225-279.

Elia bar Shinaya. Discussions with the Wazir Abū al-Qasim al-Ḥusayn b. 'Alī al-Maghribī. Ed. L.

Cheikho, 'Majālis Īliyyā Maṭrān Naṣībīn,' *al-Machriq* 5 (1922), pp. 33-44, 112-122, 267-272, 366-377, 425-434.

- Epiphanios of Salamis. Treatise on Weights and Measures [Syriac]. Ed. and trans. J.E. Dean, Epiphanius' Treatise on Weights and Measures: The Syriac Version (Studies in Ancient Oriental Civilization 11) (Chicago, 1935).
- ---. Treatise on Weights and Measures [Greek]. Ed. H. Μουτσουλα, 'Τὸ «Περὶ μέτρων καὶ σταθμῶν» ἔργον Ἐπιφανίου τοῦ Σαλαμῖνος' ΘΕΟΛΟΓΙΑ 44 (1973) pp. 157-209.
- ---. Treatise on Weights and Measures [Georgian]. Ed. and trans. M.-J. van Esbroeck, Les versions géorgiennes d'Épiphane de chypre. Traité des poids et des mesures (CSCO 460-461: SI 19-20) (Louvain, 1984).
- Galen. Anatomical Works [Arabic]. Ed. and trans. M. Simon, Sieben Bücher Anatomie des Galen Sieben Bücher Anatomie des Galen. ANATOMIKΩN ΕΓΧΕΙΡΗΣΕΩΝ ΒΙΒΛΙΟΝ Θ-ΙΕ. Zum ersten male veröffentlicht nach den handschriften einer arabischen übersetzung des 9. Jahrh. N. chr., 2 vols. (Leipzig, 1906).
- George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes. *Book I of the* Prior Analytics [Syriac trans.]. Ed. G. Furlani, 'Il Primo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' *Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche*, serie 6, vol. 5, fasc. 3 (1935), pp. 145-229.
- ---. Book II of the Prior Analytics [Syriac trans.]. Ed. G. Furlani. 'Il Secondo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' *Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche*, serie 6, vol. 6, fasc. 3 (1937), pp. 233-287.
- ---. The Categories and On Interpretation [Syriac trans]. Ed. G. Furlani, 'Le Categorie e gli Ermeneutici di Aristotele nella Versione Siriaca di Giorgio delle Nazioni,' Memorie della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Morali, Storiche e Filologiche, serie 6, vol. 5, fasc.1 (1933), pp. 5-68.
- ---. Commentary on Book I of the Prior Analytics. Ed. and trans. G. Furlani, 'Sul Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Primo Libro degli Analitici Anteriori di Aristotele,' Rivista degli Studi Orientali 20 (1943), pp. 47-65.

---. Commentary on Book II of the Prior Analytics. Ed. and trans. G. Furlani, 'Sul Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Secondo Libro degli Analitici Anteriori di Aristotele,' *Rivista degli Studi Orientali* 20 (1942), pp. 229-238.

---. Homily on Severos. Ed. and trans. K. McVey, George Bishop of the Arabs: a Homily on Blessed Mar Severus, Patriarch of Antioch (CSCO 530-531: SS 216-217) (Louvain, 1993).

- ---. Introduction to the Prior Analytics. 'Il Proemio di Giorgio delle Nazioni al Primo Libro dei Primi Analitici di Aristotele,' Rivista degli Studi Orientali 18 (1940), pp. 116-130.
- ---. *Letters and Poems.* GT in V. Ryssel, *Georgs des Araberbischofs: Gedichte und Briefe* (Leipzig, 1891). I am working on an edition and translation of the eleven extant letters of George of the Arabs which will be published by Gorgias Press.
- ---. *Letter 7 and Letter 9.* Ed. and trans. V. Ryssel, 'Die astronomischen Briefe Georgs des Araberbischofs,' *Zeitschrift für Assyriologie und Verwandte Gebiete 8* (1893): 1-55
- George of Resh'ayna. *Life of Maximos Confessor*. Ed. and trans. S.P. Brock, 'An Early Syriac Life of Maximus the Confessor,' *Analecta Bollandiana* 91 (1973), pp. 299-346.
- Gregory Nazianzen. Orations 1-3 [Greek]. Ed. and trans. J. Bernardi, Grégoire de Nazianze: discours 1-3 (Sources chrétiennes 247) (Paris, 1978).
- ---. Orations [Syriac]. Ed. J.-C. Haelewyck, Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca I: Oratio XL (Turnhout, 2001); Ed. A.B. Schmidt, Sancti Gregorii Nazinzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca II. Orationes XIII, XLI (Turnhout, 2002); Ed. J.-C. Haelewyck, Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca III: Orationes XXVII, XXXVIII, XXXIX, (Turnhout, 2005); Ed. idem., Sancti Gregorii Nazianzeni Opera: Versio Syriaca IV: Orationes XXVIII, XXIX, XXX et XXXI (Turnhout, 2007).
- Gregory of Nyssa. Commentary on the Song of Songs. Ed. and trans. C. van den Eynde, La version syriaque du commentaire de Grégoire de Nysse sur le cantique des cantiques: ses origines, ses témoins, son influence (Louvain, 1939).
- Hunayn b. Isḥāq. Risālat Hunayn b. Isḥāq ilā 'Alī b. Yaḥyā fī dhikr mā turjima min kutub Jālīnūs bi-'ilmihi wa-b'aḍ mā lam yutarjim. G. Bergsträsser, ed. and trans., Hunain ibn Isḥāq über die syrischen und arabischen Galen- übersetzungen (Leipzig, 1925).
- ---. G. Bergsträsser, ed. and trans., *Neue Materialien zu Ḥunain ibn Isḥāq's Galen Bibliographie* (Leipzig, 1932). [A new collation of the *Risāla* based on a newly discovered ms.]
- ---. Treatise on the Appointed Terms of Life. Ed. S. K. Samir, 'Maqāla fī 'l-ājāl li-Ḥunayn b. Isḥāq,' al-Machriq 65 (1991), pp. 403-425.

Ibn 'Abd al-Barr. *Jāmi' bayān al-'ilm wa-faḍlihi*, 2 vols. (Medina, 1968).

Ibn 'Abd al-Ḥakam, Abū Muḥammad. Sīrat 'Umar b. 'Abd al-'Azīz (Damascus, 1964).

Ibn Abī Dāwūd. Kitāb al-maṣāḥif (Cairo, 1936).

Ibn Abī Shayba, *al-Muṣannaf*, 16 vols, (Riyadh, 2004).

Ibn Abī 'Uṣaybi'a, 'Uyūn al-anbā' fī ṭabaqāt al-aṭibbā' (Beirut, 1965).

- Ibn al-'Adīm, *Bughyat al-Ṭalab fī ta'rīkh Ḥalab*, Ed. Suhayl Zakkār. 11 vols. (repr. Beirut, 1988-).
- Ibn 'Asākir, 'Alī b. al-Ḥasan. *Ta'rīkh madīnat Dimashq*, 80 vols. (Beirut, 1995-2000).
- Ibn al-Athīr, 'Izz al-Dīn. Usd al-ghāba fī ma'rifat al-ṣaḥāba, 8 vols. (Beirut, [?]-1996).
- Ibn al-Durayhim, 'Alī b. Muḥammad, *Manhaj al-ṣawāb fī qubḥ istiktāb ahl al-kitāb* (Beirut, 2002).
- Ibn al-Hājj, Muḥammad b. Muḥammad. al-Madkhal, 4 vols. in 2 parts (Egypt, 1960).
- Ibn Ḥajar al-'Asqalanī, Aḥmad b. 'Alī. al-Iṣāba fī tamyīz al-ṣaḥāba, 13 vols. (Cairo, 1993).
- Ibn Ḥazm, Abū Muḥammad 'Alī b. Aḥmad b. Sa'īd. *al-Faṣl fī 'l-milal wa-'l-ahwā' al-niḥal*, 5 vols. (Beirut, 1975).
- ---. Țawq al-ḥamāma (Cairo, 1950).
- Ibn Isḥāq. Sīrat Rasūl Allāh. Trans. A. Guillaume, The Life of Muhammad: A Translation of Isḥāq's Sīrat Rasūl Allāh (London, 1955).
- Ibn al-Kalbī, Hishām. *Mathālib al-'Arab* (Beirut/London, 1998).
- Ibn Kathīr, Ismāʻīl b. 'Umar. *Kitāb faḍā'il al-Qur'ān* (Cairo, 1416).
- Ibn Qayyim al-Jawziyya. Aḥkām ahl al-dhimma, 2 vols. in one (Beirut, 1995).
- Ibn Qudāma, Muwaffaq al-Dīn 'Abd Allāh b. Aḥmad. al-Mughnī, 16 vols. (Cairo, 1996).
- Ibn Qutayba, 'Abd Allāh b. Muslim. *al-Maʿārif* (Cairo, 1960).
- ---. Ta'wīl mukhtalif al-ḥadīth (Cairo, 2006).
- ---. Ta'wīl mushkil al-Qur'ān (Cairo, 1954).
- Ibn Rusta, al-Mujallad al-sābi' min Kitāb al-a'lāq al-nafīsa (Leiden, 1892).
- Ibn Sa'd. Kitāb al-țabaqāt al-kabīr. Ed. E. Sachau, et al. Biographien Muhammeds, seiner Gefährten und der späteren Träger des Islams, 9 vols. (Leiden, 1905-1940).
 [Muhammad Ibn Sa'd, The Men of Madina, 2 vols., trans. A. Bewley (London, 1997-2000) [translations of vol. 8 and 5, respectively]]

Ibn Taymiyya. Iqtiḍā' al-ṣirāṭ al-mustaqīm mukhālafat aṣḥāb al-jaḥīm (Cairo, 1950).

---. Majmūʻ fatāwā Shaykh al-Islām Aḥmad ibn Taymiyya, 37 vols. (Beirut, 1997).

Ibn Taghrībirdī, al-Nujūm al-zāhira fī mulūk miṣr wa-'l-qāhira, 16 vols. (Cairo, 1963-1971).

- Ish'oyahb III. *Life of Isho'sabran*. Ed. J.-B. Chabot, 'Histoire de Jésus-Sabran, écrite par Jésus-Yab d'Adiabène,' *Nouvelles archives des missions scientifiques et littéraires* 7 (1897), pp. 485-584.
- ---. *Letters.* Ed. and trans. R. Duval, *Išō*'yahb III Patriarcha: Liber Epistularum (CSCO: Series Secunda 2, 64) (Paris, 1904-1905).
- Jacob of Edessa. Canons. Ed. and trans. C. Kayser, Die Canones Jacob's von Edessa: übersetzt und erläutert zum theil auch zuerst im grundtext veröffentlicht, (Leipzig, 1886).
- ---. Canons. Ed. P. de Lagarde, *Reliquiae Iuris Ecclesiastici Antiquissimae* (Vienna, 1856) pp. محد مد
- ---. Canons. Ed. and trans. T.J. Lamy, Dissertatio de Syrorum fide et disciplina in re eucharistica (Louvain, 1859), pp. 98-171.
- ---. Chronicle. Ed. and trans. E.W. Brooks, 'The Chronological Canon of James of Edessa,' Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft 53 (1899), pp. 261-327.
- ---. Hexaemeron [Memra 1, 2, 4]. Ed. and trans. M. Greatrex. Memra One, Two and Four of the Hexaemeron of Jacob of Edessa: Introduction, Translation and Text (Phd, diss., University of Wales, College of Cardiff, 2000).
- ----. *Hexaemeron*. Ed. I.-B. Chabot, *Iacobi Edesseni Hexaemeron* (CSCO 92: SS 44) (Louvain, 1953).
- ---. Letter on Orthography. Ed. and trans. G. Phillips, A Letter by Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa, on Syriac Orthography (London, 1869). This work is supplemented by G. Phillips, Mār Jacob and Bar Hebraeus on Syriac Accents &c: Appendix III (London, 1870).
- ---. Letter on Orthography. Ed. and trans. J.P.P. Martin, Jacobi episcopi Edesseni Epistola ad Gregorium episcopum Sarugensem de orthographia syriaca (Leipzig, 1869).
- ---. *Letter 1 to John, the Stylite of Litarb*. Ed. and trans. R. Schröter, 'Erster Brief Jakob's von Edessa an Johannes den Styliten,' *Zeitschrift der Deutschen morgenländischen Gesellschaft* 24 (1870), pp. 261-300.
- ---. *Letters* 1-3, 5, 8, *to John, the Stylite of Litarb.* Trans. F. Nau, 'Cinq lettres de Jacuqes d'Édesse a Jean le stylite (traduction et analyse),' *Revue de l'Orient chrétien* 2:4/14 (1909), pp. 427-440.

- ---. *Letter 6 to John, the Stylite of Litarb*. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, 'Lettre de Jacques d'Édesse sur la généalogie de la sainte vierge,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 6 (1901), pp. 512-531.
- ---. *Letter 7 to John, the Stylite of Litarb*. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, 'Lettre de Jacques d'Édesse a Jean le stylite sur la chronologie biblique et la date de la naissance du messie,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 5 (1900) pp. 581-596.
- ---. Letter 12 and 13 to John, the Stylite of Litarb [French Translation]. Trans. F. Nau,
 'Traduction des lettres XII et XIII de Jacques d'Édesse,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 10 (1905), pp. 197-208, 258-282.
- ---. *Letter 12 and 13* to John, the Stylite of Litarb [Syriac text]. Ed. W. Wright, 'Two Epistles of Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa,' *Journal of Sacred Literature and Biblical Record* 10 (1867), pp. 430-460.
- ---. Letter to John, the Stylite of Litarb, from BL Add. 14,493. Ed. and trans. K.-E. Rignell, A Letter from Jacob of Edessa to John the Stylite of Litarab Concerning Ecclesiastical Canons edited from Ms. Br. Mus. Add. 14,493 with Introduction, Translation and Commentary. Syriac Text with Introduction, Translation and Commentary (Lund, 1979).
- ---. Old Testament Scholia [Selections]. Ed. and trans. G. Phillips, Scholia on Passages of the Old Testament by Mār Jacob, Bishop of Edessa (London, 1864).
- ---. Revision of 1 and 2 Samuel. Ed. and trans. A. Salvesen, The Books of Samuel in the Syriac Version of Jacob of Edessa (Leiden, 1999).
- ---. Testament of Our Lord. Ed. P. de Lagarde, Reliquiae Iuris Ecclesiastici Antiquissimae (Vienna, 1856; repr. Osnabrück/Wiesbaden, 1967), pp. – – L; I. Rahmani, *Testamentum Domini Nostri Jesu Christi*, pp. 2-18; F. Nau, ed. and trans., 'Fragment inédit d'une traduction syriaque jusqu'ici inconnue du *Testamentum D.N. Jesu Christi*,' *Journal asiatique* 9^e sér., 17 (1901), pp. 233-256; J.P. Arendzen, ed. and trans., 'A New Syriac Text of the Apocalyptic Part of the "Testament of the Lord,''' *Journal of Theological Studies* 2 (1901), pp. 401-416; A. Vööbus, ed. and trans., *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367-368; SS 161-162) (Louvain, 1975), pp. 1-7 (Syriac) and pp. 27-31 (ET) [for the attribution of this work to Jacob, see Drijvers (1994)]
- al-Jāḥiẓ. al-Bukhalā', ed. Ṣāfir Kūjān (Damascus, 1963).
- ---. Kitāb al-bukhalā', ed. T. al-Ḥājrī (Cairo, 1967).
- ---. Le livre des avares de Ğahiz, trans. C. Pellat (Paris, 1951).
- ---. al-Mukhtār fī 'l-radd alā al-Naṣārā (Beirut, 1991).

---. Thalāth rasā'il li-Abī 'Uthmān 'Amr b. Baḥr al-Jāḥiẓ (Cairo, 1344).

- al-Jawālīqī, Abū Manṣūr. al-Mu'arrab min al-kalām al-a'jamī 'alā ḥurūf al-mu'jam (Cairo, 1361).
- al-Jahshiyārī, Muḥammad b. 'Abdūs. *Kitāb al-wuzarā' wa-'l-kuttāb* (Cairo, 1938).
- John of Ephesus. Lives of the Eastern Saints. Ed. and trans. E.W. Brooks, The Lives of the Eastern Saints (Patrologia Orientalis 17.1, 18.4, 19.2) (Paris, 1923-1925).
- John bar Penkāyē. *Book of* Rīsh Mellē. Ed. and trans. A. Mingana, *Sources Syriaques* vol. 1, (Mosul, 1908), pp. 1*-204*. [NB: Mingana's translation is only of Book 15]
- ---. Book 15 of the Book of Rīsh Mellē. Trans. S.P. Brock, 'North Mesopotamia in the Late Seventh Century: Book XV of John bar Penkāyē's Rīš Mellē,' Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam 9 (1987), pp. 51-75.
- al-Khafājī, Shihāb al-Dīn Aḥmad. Kitāb shifā' al-ghalīl fīmā fī kalām al-'arab min al-dakhīl, (Cairo, 1325).
- al-Khallāl, Abū Bakr Aḥmad b. Muḥammad. Aḥkām ahl al-milal min al-jāmi' li-masā'il alimām Aḥmad b. Ḥanbal (Beirut, 1994).
- ----. Ahl al-milal wa-'l-ridda wa-'l-zanādiqa wa-tārik 'l-ṣalāt wa-'l-farā'iḍ min Kitāb al-Jāmi', 2 vols, (Riyadh, 1996).
- al-Khaṭīb al-Baghdādī. Ta'rīkh madīnat al-salām, 17 vols. (Beirut, 2001).
- al-Kindī. Risālat 'Abd Allāh b. Ismā'īl al-Hāshimī ilā 'Abd al-Masīḥ b. Isḥāq al-Kindī yad'ūhu bihā ilā al-Islām wa-risālat 'Abd al-Masīḥ ilā al-Hāshimī yaruddu bi-hā 'alayhi wayad'ūhu ilā al-Naṣrāniyya (n.p. 1880). FT: G. Tartar, Dialogue islamo-chrétien sous le calife Al-Ma'mûn (813-834). Les épitres d' Al-Hashimî et d' Al-Kindî (Paris, 1985).
- Libanios. Orations [Selections]. Trans. A.F. Norman, Antioch as a Centre of Hellenic Culture as Observed by Libanius (Liverpool, 2001).
- Lives of Aḥūdemmēh and Marūtha [Syriac]. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, Histoires d'Ahoudemmeh et de Marouta métropolitains Jacobites de Tagrit et de l'orient (VI^e et VII^e) siècles) (PO 3) (Paris, 1909), pp. 3-96.
- Life of Bakchos the Younger. Ed. F. A. Demetrakopoulou, "Άγιος Βάκχος ὁ Νέος,' Epistēmonikē epetēris tēs Philosophikēs Scholēs tou Panepistēmiou Athēnōn 26 (1977-1978), pp. 331-363.
- *Life of Elias of Heliopolis.* Trans. S. McGrath, 'Elias of Heliopolis: The Life of an Eighth-Century Syrian Saint,' in J.W. Nesbitt, ed., *Byzantine Authors: Literary Activities and*

Preoccupations. Texts and Translations dedicated to the Memory of Nicolas Oikonomides (Leiden/Boston, 2003), pp. 85-107.

- Life of John bar Aphtonia. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, 'Histoire de Jean Bar Aphtonia,' Revue de l'orient Chrétien 7 (1902), pp. 97-135.
- *Life of John of Dailam.* Ed. and trans. S.P. Brock, 'A Syriac Life of John of Dailam,' Parole de *l'orient* 10 (1981-1982), pp. 123-189.
- Life of John of Damascus [Arabic]. C. Bacha, ed., Sīrat al-qiddīs Yuḥannā al-Dimashqī (Harissa, 1912).
- Life of John of Tella. Ed. E.W. Brooks, Vitae Virorum apud Monophysitas Celeberrimorum (CSCO SS Series Tertia 25) (Paris, 1907), pp. 29-95.
- *The Life of Stephen of Mar Sabas* [Arabic]. Ed. and trans. J.C. Lamoreaux, *The Life of Stephen of Mar Sabas* (CSCO 578-578: SA 50-51) (Louvain, 1999).
- *The Life of Timothy of Kākhushtā* [Arabic]. J.C. Lamoreaux and C. Cairala edd. and trans. (*Patrologia Orientalis* 48.4) (Turnhout, 2000), pp. 468-613.
- Maronite Chronicle. Ed. E.-W. Brooks, Chronica Minora II (CSCO: Series Tertia 4) (Paris, 1904), pp. 43-74.
- al-Maqdisī, Aḥsan al-taqāsīm fī maʻrifat al-aqālīm. Trans. B.A. Collins in al-Muqaddasi, The Best Divisions for Knowledge of the Regions. A Translation of Ahsan al-Taqasim fi Maʻrifat al-Aqalim, (Reading, 1994).
- al-Maqrīzī, Taqī al-Dīn Aḥmad b. 'Alī. *Al-Mawā'iẓ wa-'l-i'tibār fī dhikr al-khiṭaṭ wa-'l-āthār* [excerpts] Ed. and trans. R. Griveau 'Les Fêtes des coptes par Taqi ed-Din Aḥmad ibn 'Ali al-Maqrizi,' in R. Graffin and F. Nau, eds., *Patrologia Orientalis* vol. 10, (Paris, 1915), pp. 313-343.
- al-Masʻūdī, ʻAlī b. Ḥusayn. *Murūj al-dhahab wa-ma*ʻādin al-jawhar. Ed. and trans. C. Barbier de Meynard, *Les prairies d'or*, 9 vols. (Paris, 1861-1917).
- Michael the Syrian. Chronicle. Ed. and trans. J.-B. Chabot. Chronique de Michel le syrien, patriarche jacobite de Antioche (1166-1199), 4 vols., (Paris, 1899-1910).
- ---. Chronicle [Armenian]. Trans. V. Langlois, Chronique de Michel le Grand, patriarche des Syriens jacobites (Venice, 1868).
- al-Mizzī, Jamāl al-Dīn Abī al-Hajjāj Yusūf, Tahdhīb al-kamāl fī asmā' al-rijāl, 35 vols, (Beirut, 1992).

Moshe bar Kepha. Introduction to the Psalms. Ed. and trans. G. Diettrich, Eine jakobitische

Einleitung in den Psalter (Giessen, 1901).

Muslim b. al-Ḥajjāj, Abū al-Ḥusayn. Ṣaḥīḥ Muslim. 5 vols. ([Cairo?], 1955-1956).

- Olympiodoros. *Commentary on the* Categories. Ed. and trans. G. Furlani, 'Contributi alla Storia della Filosofia Greca in Oriente: Testi Siriaci III. Frammenti di una versione siriaca del comment di Pseudo-Olimpiodoro alle Categorie d'Aristotele,' *Rivsta degli Studi Orientali* 7 (1916-1918), pp. 131-162.
- Passion of St Anthony of Rawh. Ed. and trans. I. Dick, 'La passion arabe de S. Antoine Ruwah: néo-martyr de Damas († 25 déc. 799),' *Le muséon* 74 (1961), pp. 109-133.
- Pseudo-Dionysios the Areopagite. The Ecclesiastical Hierarchy [selections]. Ed. and trans. W. Strothmann, Das Sakrament der Myron-Weihe in der Schrift De Ecclesiastica Hierarchia des Pseudo-Dionysios Aeropagita in syrischen Übersetzungen und Kommentaren, 2 vols., (Wiesbaden, 1977-1978).
- Pseudo-Nonnos. Mythological Scholia. Ed. and trans. S.P. Brock, *The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia* (Cambridge, 1971).
- Pseudo-Zacharias Rhetor. Chronicle. F.J. Hamilton and E.W. Brooks, trans., The Syriac Chronicle known as that of Zachariah of Mitylene (London, 1899).
- Philoxenos of Mabbug. Commentary on the Prologue of John. Ed. and trans. A. de Halleux, Philoxène de Mabbog. Commentaire du prologue johannique (Ms. Br. Mus. Add. 14,534) (CSCO 380-381: SS 165-166) (Louvain, 1977).
- ---. Letter to the Monks of Senoun. Ed. and trans. A. de Halleux, ed., Philoxène de Mabbog. Lettre aux Moines de Senoun (CSCO 231-232: SS 98-99) (Louvain, 1963).
- *Physiologos.* Ed. and trans. A. van Lantschoot, 'Fragments syriaques du Physiologus,' *Le Muséon* 72 (1959), pp. 37-51.
- ---. Ed. and trans. K. Ahrens, Das 'Buch der Naturgegenstände' (Kiel, 1892)
- *Qenneshre Fragment*. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, 'Appendice: Fragments sure le monastère de Qenneshre,' in *Actes du XIV congrès international des orientalistes*, vol. 2 (Paris, 1907), pp. 76-135.
- *Qur'ān.* Trans. M.M. Pickthall, *The Meaning of the Glorious Koran* (New York, n.d.).
- ---. Trans. A.J. Arberry, *The Koran Interpreted*, 2 vols. in one (New York, 1955; repr. 1996).
- al-Qurṭubī, Muḥammad b. Aḥmad b. Abī Bakr. al-Jāmi' li-aḥkām al-Qur'ān, 24 vols. (Beirut, 2006).

- Rabban Sliba. Martyrology. Ed. and trans. P. Peeters, 'Le martyrologe de Rabban Sliba,' Analecta Bollandiana 27 (1927), pp. 129-200.
- Sebeos. *History*. R.W. Thomson, trans., with J. Howard-Johnson and T. Greenwood, *The Armenian History attributed to Sebeos*, 2 vols. (Liverpool, 1999).
- Severos b. al-Muqaffa'. *History of the Patriarchs of the Coptic Church of Alexandria*. Ed. and trans. B. Evetts. (Patrologia Orientalis 1.2, 1.4, 5.1, 10.5) (Paris, 1904-1914).
- Severos Sebokht. *Treatise on the Astrolabe*. Ed. and trans. F. Nau, 'Le traité sur l'astrolabe plan de Sévère Sabokt,' *Journal asiatique* n.s. 13 (1899), pp. 56-101, 238-303.
- Severos of Antioch. Hymns. Ed. and trans. E.W. Brooks, They Hymns of Severus and Others in the Syriac Version of Paul of Edessa as Revised by James of Edessa in Patrologia Orientalis vol. 6 (pp. 1-179) and vol. 7 (pp. 593-802) (Paris, 1909-1911).
- ---. Letters. Ed. and trans. E.W. Brooks. The Sixth Book of the Select Letters of Severus, Patriarch of Antioch in the Syriac Version of Athanasius of Nisibis, 2 vols. in 4 parts (London, 1902-1904).
- al-Shāhbushtī, 'Alī b. Muḥammad, Abū al-Ḥasan. al-Diyārāt (Beirut, 1986).
- Simeon of Țaybūtheh, 'Medico-Mystical Work.' Ed. and trans. A. Mingana, 'Medico-Mystical Work, by Simon of Țaybūtheh,' *Woodbrooke Studies, vol. 7: Early Christian Mystics* (Cambridge, 1934), pp. 1-69, 281-320.
- Sortes Apostolorum. Trans. G. Furlani, 'Una recensione siriaca delle Sortes apostolorum,' Atti del Reale Istituto Veneto di Scienze, Lettere ed Arti (1922-1923) 82.2, pp. 357-363.
- al-Suyūṭī, Jalāl al-Dīn 'Abd al-Raḥmān b. Abī Bakr. *al-Durr al-manthūr fī tafsīr bi-'l-ma'thūr*, 17 vols. (Cairo, 2003).
- ---. al-Itqān fī 'ulūm al-Qur'ān, 2 vols. (Beirut, 1999).
- ---. al-Muhadhdhab fīmā waqaʻa fī 'l-Qur'ān min al-muʻarrab (Beirut, 1988).
- ---. al-Mutawakkilī fīmā warada fī 'l-Qur'ān bi-'l-lugha al-ḥabashiyya wa-'l-fārisiyya wa-'lhindiyya wa-'l-turkiyya wa-'l-zanjiyya wa-'l-nabaṭiyya wa-'l-qibṭiyya wa-'l-suryāniyya wa-'l-'ibrāniyya wa-'l-rūmiyya wa-'l-barbariyya (Damascus, 1348).
- ---. al-Muzhir fī 'ulūm al-lugha wa-anwā'ihā, 2 vols. (Cairo, 1971).
- al-Ṭabarī, Muḥammad b. Jarīr. Ta'rīkh al-rusul wa-'l-mulūk. Ed. M.J. de Goeje, Annales quos scripsit, 16 vols. (Leiden, 1879-1901) / repr. Piscataway, 2005). Trans. W.M. Brinner The Children of Israel, vol. 3, The History of al-Ṭabarī (Albany, 1991). Trans. F. Donner, The Conquest of Arabia, vol. 10, The History of al-Ṭabarī (Albany, 1993).

Trans. Y. Friedmann, The Battle of al-Qādisiyyah and the Conquest of Syria and Palestine, vol. 12 of The History of al-Ṭabarī (Ta'rīkh al-rusul wa 'l-mulūk) (Albany, 1992). R.S. Humphreys, The Crisis of the Early Caliphate: The Reign of 'Uthmān A.D. 644-656/A.H. 24-35, vol. 15, The History of al-Ṭabarī (Albany, 1990).

- ---. Tafsīr al-Ṭabarī: jāmi' al-bayān 'ān ta'wīl āy al-Qur'ān, 25 vols. (Cairo, 2001).
- Theodore Abū Qurrah. *Letter to the People of Armenia*. Ed. and trans. J.C. Lamoreaux, 'An Unedited Tract Against the Armenians by Theodore Abū Qurrah,' *Le Muséon* 105 (1992), pp. 327-341.
- Theodoret of Cyrrhus. A History of the Monks of Syria, trans. R.M. Price, (Kalamazoo, 1985).
- Theophanes. Chronicle. Trans. C. Mango and R. Scott, The Chronicle of Theophanes Confessor: Byzantine and Near Eastern History, AD 284-813, (Oxford, 1997).
- Theophilos of Edessa. *To Deukalion, his Son, from the Second Treatise*. Ed. F. Cumont in F. Cumont and F. Boll, edd. *Catalogus codicum astrologorum graecorum*, vol. 5, *Codicum Romanorum partem priorem* (Brussels, 1904), pp. 234-238.
- Thomas of Marga. *The Monastic History*. E.A.W. Budge, ed. and trans., *The Book of Governors: The Historia Monastica of Thomas Bishop of Margâ A.D. 840*, 2 vols. (London, 1893).
- Timothy I. Letters. Ed. and trans. O. Braun, *Timothei Patriarchae I: Epistulae* (CSCO 74-75: SS 30-31) (Paris, 1914-1915).
- ---. *Letter 43 and Letter 48.* trans S.P. Brock, 'Two Letters of the Patriarch Timothy from the Late Eighth Century on Translations From Greek,' *Arabic Sciences and Philosophy 9* (1999), pp. 233-246. Syriac text in H. Pognon, *Une version syriaque des aphorisms d'Hippocrate*, (Leipzig, 1903), pp. xvi-xviii, xxi-xxii.
- ---. *Letter 47.* Ed. and trans. O. Braun, 'Ein Brief des Katholikos Timotheos I über biblische Studien des 9 Jahrhunderts,' *Oriens Christianus* 1 (1901), pp. 299-313. ET in S.P. Brock, *A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature* pp. 245-250.
- ---. Letter to the Monks of Mar Marūn. Ed. and trans. R.J. Bidawid, Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I (Studi e Testi 187) (The Vatican, 1956), pp. 91-125, 🕁 🛹.
- Trophies of Damascus. Ed. and trans. G. Bardy, Les trophées de Damas: controverse judéochrétienne du VII^e siècle, (Patrologia Orientalis 15) (Paris, 1927), 171-291.

Wakī', Muḥammad b. Khalaf b. Ḥayyān. Akhbār quḍāt (Beirut, 2001).

Yāqūt b. 'Abd Allāh al-Hamawī. Kitāb irshād al-arīb ilā ma'rifat al-adīb, 7 vols. (Cairo, 1923-

1930).

- ---. *Muʿjam al-Buldān*, 7 vols. (Beirut, 1957-1995).
- al-Zarkashī, Muḥammad b. 'Abd Allāh. al-Burhān fī 'ulūm al-Qur'ān, 4 vols. (Cairo, 1957).
- Zuqnin Chronicle. Trans. A. Harrak, The Chronicle of Zuqnīn: Parts III and IV. A.D. 488-775 (Toronto, 1999).

Primary Sources III: Collections and Other

- Abramowski, L., and A.E. Goodman, edd. and trans., A Nestorian Collection of Christological Texts. Cambridge University Library MS. Oriental 1319, 2 vols. (Cambridge, 1972).
- Asín y Palacios, M., 'Influencias evangélicas en la literatura religiosa del Islam,' pp. 8-27, in T.W. Arnold and R.A. Nicholson, eds., *A Volume of Oriental Studies Presented to Edward G. Browne…on his 60th Birthday* (Cambridge, 1922).
- ---. 'Logia et agrapha Domini Jesu apud Moslemicos scriptores, asceticos praesertim, usitata,' (*Patrologia Orientalis* 13) (Paris, 1919), pp. 327-431 and (*Patrologia Orientalis* 19) (Paris, 1926), pp. 529-601.
- Assemani, J. Bibliotheca Orientalis Clementino-Vaticana, 3 vols. in four parts (Rome, 1719-1730).
- Assemani, S.E. and J.S. Assemani, *Bibliothecae Apostolicae Vaticanae Codicum Manuscriptorum*, vol. 3, (Paris, 1926).
- Becker, A. H. trans. Sources for the Study of the School of Nisibis (Liverpool, 2008).
- Bedjan, P. Histoire de Mar-Jabalaha: de trois autres Patriarches, d'un prêtre et de deux laïques, Nestoriens (Paris, 1895).
- Bell, H.I. and W.E. Crum, edd., *Greek Papyri in the British Museum. Catalogue, with Texts. Vol. IV: The Aphrodito Papyri* (London, 1910).
- Brooks, E.W. 'The Arabs in Asia Minor (641-750), From Arabic Sources,' *Journal of Hellenic Studies* 18 (1898), pp. 182-208.

---. Vitae Virorum apud Monophysitas Celeberrimorum (CSCO SS 3:25) (Paris, 1907).

- Budge, E.A.W. trans. and ed., *The Histories of Rabban Hôrmîzd the Persian and Rabban Bar* 'Idtâ (London, 1902).
- Ceriani, A.M. ed. Codex Syro-Hexaplaris Ambrosianus Photolithographice editus (Monumenta sacra et Profana ex Codicibus Praesertim, vol. 7) (Milan, 1874).

Cheikho, L. Shuʻarā' al-naṣrāniyya qabla al-Islām (Beirut, 1999).

- Cureton, W.S. Remains of a Very Antient Recension of the Four Gospels in Syriac Hitherto Unknown in Europe; Discovered, Edited, and Translated (London, 1858).
- de Lagarde, P., ed. Bibliothecae Syriacae (Gottingen, 1892).
- Forget, J., ed. and trans. *Synaxarium Alexandrinum* 2 vols. in 6 parts. (CSCO 47-49,67, 78, 90; SA 18-19) (Beirut, 1905-1926).
- Guidi, I. 'Mosè di Aghel e Simeone Abbate,' *Rendiconti delle sedute della R. Accademia dei Lincei: Classe di scienze morali, storiche e filologiche* 4/2 (1886), pp. 397-416, 546-557.
- Jaeger, W., ed. Gregorii Nysseni Opera (Leiden, 1952).
- Khan, G. Arabic Papyri: Selected Material from the Khalili Collection (London/Oxford, 1992).
- King, C.W. Julian the Emperor, containing Gregory Nazianzen's Two Invectives and Libanius' Monodoy with Julian's Extant Theosophical Writings (London, 1888).
- Kiraz, G.A. Comparative Edition of the Syriac Gospels: Aligning the Sinaiticus, Curetonianus, Peshitta and Harklean Versions, 2nd ed., 4 vols. (Piscataway, NJ, 2002).
- Macleod, M.D. Luciani Opera, 4 vols. (Oxford, 1972-1987).
- Nau, F., ed. and trans. 'Littérature canonique syriaque inédite,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 14 (1909), pp. 1-49, 113-130.
- Neumann, C.I. Iuliani Imperatoris Librorum Contra Christianos Quae Supersunt (Leipzig, 1880).
- Nevo, Y.D. Z. Cohen, and D. Heftman, Ancient Arabic Inscriptions from the Negev, vol. 1, (Jerusalem, 1993).
- Palmer, A. et al. *The Seventh Century in the West Syrian Chronicles* (Liverpool, 1993).
- Percival, H.R., trans. The Seven Ecumenical Councils of the Undivided Church: Their Canons and Dogmatic Decrees, vol. 14 of P. Schaff and H. Wace, eds., A Select Library of Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers of the Christian Church. Second Series (New York, 1900).
- Perry, B.E. Aesopica. A series of Texts relating to Aesop or ascribed to him or closely connected with the literary tradition that bears his name, vol. 1 (Urbana, 1952).

Rahmani, I.E. Studia Syriaca seu collectio documentorum hactenus ineditorum ex codicibus

syriacus, 4 vols. (Charfeh, 1904-1909).

- Sachau, E. Inedita Syriaca: Eine Sammlung syrischer Übersetzungen von Schriften griechischer Profanliteratur (Vienna, 1870).
- ---, ed. and trans., *Syrische Rechtsbücher*, 3 vols. (Berlin, 1907-1914).
- Renaudot, E. Liturgiarum Orientalium Collectio, 2 vols. (2nd ed.; Frankfurt/London, 1847).
- Ṣādir, Y. Ruhbān 'arab fī ba'ḍ siyar al-mutaṣawwifīn al-Muslimīn (Beirut, 2009).
- Smith, A. Porphyrii Philosophi Fragmenta (Stuttgart, 1983).
- Vööbus, A. The Book of Isaiah in the Version of the Syro-Hexapla. A facsimile edition of MS. St. Mark 1 in Jerusalem with an Introduction (CSCO 449: Subsidia 68) (Louvain, 1983).
- ---. The Pentateuch in the Version of the Syro-Hexapla. A fac-similie Edition of a Midyat MS. discovered 1964 (CSCO 369: Subsidia 45) (Louvain, 1975).
- ---. ed. and trans. The Statutes of the School of Nisibis (Papers of the Estonian Theological Society in Exile 12) (Stockholm, 1961).
- ---, ed. and trans. *The Synodicon in the West Syrian Tradition I* (CSCO 367-368: SS 161-162) (Louvain, 1975).
- ---, ed. and trans. Syriac and Arabic Documents Regarding Legislation Relative to Syrian Asceticism (Stockholm, 1960).
- Woods Callahan, V., trans. Saint Gregory of Nyssa: Ascetical Works (Washington, DC, 1967).

Secondary Sources

Abu-Haidar, F. A Study of the Spoken Arabic of Baskinta (Leiden/London, 1979).

Ahmed, S. 'Ibn Taymiyyah and the Satanic verses,' Studia Islamica 87 (1998), pp. 67-124.

- ---. [Ahmed, M.S.] The Satanic Verses Incident in the Memory of the Early Muslim Community. An Analysis of the early Riwāwyahs and their Isnāds, (PhD diss., Princeton University, 1997).
- 'Allām, Muḥammad Wahīb. al-Isrā'īliyyāt fī tafsīr al-Qur'ānī (Beirut, 2007).
- Altaner, B. 'Raymundus Lullus und der Sprachenkanon (can. 11) des Konzils von Vienne (1312)' *Historisches Jahrbuch* 53 (1933), pp. 190-219.

Andrae, T. In the Garden of Myrtles: Studies in Early Islamic Mysticism, trans. B. Sharpe

(Albany, 1987).

- Ando, C. 'Decline, Fall, and Transformation,' *Journal of Late Antiquity* 1.1 (2008), pp. 30-60.
- Avlamis, P. Aesopic Lives: Greek Imperial Literature and Urban Popular Culture (PhD, diss., Princeton University, 2010).
- Arnold, T.W. The Preaching of Islam: A History of the Propagation of the Muslim Faith, 2nd ed, (repr. New Delhi, n.d.).
- Atiya, A.S. ed. *The Coptic Encyclopedia*, 8 vols. (New York, 1991).
- Awwād, K. Taḥqīqāt buldāniyya, ta'rīkhiyya, athariyya fī sharq Mawṣil (Baghdad, 1961).
- Ayyūb, B. al-Uṣūl al-suryāniyya fī asmā' al-mudun wa-'l-qurā al-sūriyya wa-sharḥ maʿānīhā (Aleppo, 2000).
- Baars, W. 'Ein Neugefundenes Bruchstück aus der Syrischen Bibelrevision des Jakob von Edessa,' *Vetus Testamentum* 18 (1968), pp. 548-554.
- al-Bakhzānī, Yusūf al-Qas 'Abd al-Aḥad. Krūkhyo 'am ktḥobe srīṭe mbadre/Jawla ma'a makhṭūṭat suryāniyya mub'athara (Aleppo, 1994).
- Barsaoum, A. al-Lu'-lu' al-manthūr fī tā'rīkh al-'ulūm wa-'l-adab al-suryāniyya (repr. Glane, Holland, 1987).
- ----. *History of Syriac Literature and Science* (Kitab al-Lulu al-Manthur fi Tarikh al-Ulum wa al-Adab al-Suryaniyya), trans. and ed. M. Moosa, (Pueblo, CO, 2000).
- ---. 'Sīrat al-qiddis Yūḥannā ibn Aftūnīyā,' Al-Majalla al-Baṭrakīya al-Suryānīya 4:9 (1937) pp. 265-278.
- Bauer, W. Orthodoxy and Heresy in Earliest Christianity, trans. Philadelphia Seminar on Christian Origins (Philadephia, 1971).
- Baumstark, A. Aristoteles bei den Syrern vom V.-VIII Jahrundert (Leipzig, 1900).
- ---. Geschichte der Syrischen Literatur (Bonn, 1922).
- al-Baylī, Ahmad. al-Ikhtilāf bayna al-qirā'āt (Beirut, 1988).
- Beck, H.-G. Kirche und Theologische Literatur im Byzantinschen Reich (Munich, 1959).
- Becker, A. Fear of God and the Beginning of Wisdom: The School of Nisibis and Christian Scholastic Culture in Late Antique Mesopotamia (Philadelphia, 2006).

- Becker, C.H. 'On the History of Muslim Worship,' trans. A. G. Goldbloom, in G. Hawting, ed., *The Development of Islamic Ritual* (Aldershot/Burlington, VT, 2006), pp. 49-74.
 [Originally published as C.H. Becker, 'Zur Geschichte des islamischen Kultus,' *Der Islam* 3 (1912), pp. 74-99.]
- Bergsträsser, G. 'Die Koranlesung des Hasan von Basra,' *Islamica* 2 (1926) pp. 11-57.
- Bidawid, R.J. Les lettres du patriarche nestorien Timothée I (Studi e Testi 187) (The Vatican, 1956).
- Bingham, J. Origines ecclesiasticæ: or, The antiquities of the Christian church, and other works, of the Rev. Joseph Bingham ; with a set of maps of ecclesiastical geography, to which are now added, several sermons, and other matter, never before published ; the whole revised and edited, together with a biographical account of the author by his great grandson, Richard Bingham, 8 vols. (London, 1834).
- Bischoff, B. 'The Study of Foreign Languages in the Middle Ages,' *Mittelalterliche Studien: Ausgewählte Aufsätze zur Schriftkunde und Literaturgeschichte*, vol. 2, (Stuttgart, 1967), pp. 227-245.
- Blake, R.P. 'La littérature grecque en Palestine au VIII^e siècle,' *Le Muséon* 78 (1965), pp. 367-380.
- Bloch, M. The Historian's Craft, trans. P. Putnam (New York, 1953).
- Blok, A. 'The Narcissism of Minor Differences,' pp. 115-135, in *idem.*, *Honour and Violence* (Malden, Mass., 2001).
- Bowersock, G.W., P. Brown and O. Grabar, *Late Antiquity: A Guide to the Postclassical World* (Cambridge, Mass., 1999).
- Boyarin, D. Dying for God: Martyrdom and the Making of Christianity and Judaism (Stanford, 1999).
- Brière, M. 'Introduction générale aux homélies de Sévère d'Antioche,' in Les homilae cathedrals de Sévère d'Antioche: traduction syriaque de Jacques d'Édesse (Patrologia Orientalis 29) (Paris, 1960), pp. 7-72.
- Briquel-Chatonnet, F. 'Les manuscrits syriaques,' in *Nos sources: arts et littérature syriaques* (Antélias, 2005), pp. 39-58.
- Brock, S.P. 'Basil's *Homily on Deut. xv 9*: Some remarks on the Syriac manuscript tradition,' in J. Dümmer, ed., *Texte und Textkritik: Eine Aufsatzsammlung* (Berlin, 1987), pp. 57-66.

---. *The Bible in the Syriac Tradition*, 2nd ed. (Piscataway, NJ, 2006).

- ---. A Brief Outline of Syriac Literature (Kottayam, 1997).
- ---. 'The Development of Syriac Studies,' in *The Edward Hincks Bicentenary Lectures*, ed. K.J. Cathcart (Dublin, 1994), pp. 94-113.
- ---. 'An Early Syriac Life of Maximus the Confessor,' Analecta Bollandiana 91 (1973), pp. 299-346.
- ---. 'From Antagonism to Assimilation: Syriac Attitudes to Greek Learning,' in *East of Byzantium: Syria and Byzantium in the Formative Period*, edd. N. Garsoian, T. Mathews and R. Thompson (Washington, DC, 1982), pp. 17-34.
- ---. ed., with David G.K. Taylor. The hidden pearl: the Syrian Orthodox Church and its ancient Aramaic heritage, 4 vols., (Rome, 2001).
- ---. 'Jacob of Edessa's Discourse on the Myron,' Oriens Christianus 63 (1979), pp. 20-36.
- ---. 'Jewish Traditions in Syriac Sources,' Journal of Jewish Studies 30 (1979), pp. 212-232.
- ---. 'The Lives of the Prophets in Syriac: Some Soundings,' in C. Hempel and J.M. Lieu, edd., Bibilical Traditions in Transmission (Leiden/Boston, 2006), pp. 21-37.
- ---. 'The "Nestorian" Church: A lamentable misnomer,' *Bulletin of the John Rylands Library* 78 (1996 [1997]), pp. 53-66.
- ---. 'The Resolution of the Philoxenian/Harclean Problem,' in *New Testament Textual Criticism: Its Significance for Exegesis. Essays in honour of Bruce M. Metzger*, E.J. Epp and G.D. Fee, eds. (Oxford, 1981), pp. 325-343.
- ---. 'Some notes on the Syriac Versions of Porphyry's Eisagoge,' in Mélanges en hommage au professeur et au penseur libanais Farid Jabre (Publications de l'Université libanais, section d'études philosophiques et sociales) 20 (1989), pp. 41-50.
- ---. Studies in Syriac Christianity: History, Literature, Theology (Hampshire, 1992).
- ---. 'The Syriac Background to Ḥunayn's Translation Techniques,' *Aram* 3 (1991), pp. 139-162.
- ---. 'A Syriac Collection of Prophecies of the Pagan Philosophers,' *Orientalia Lovaniensia Periodica* 14 (1983), pp. 303-346.
- ---. 'The Syriac Commentary Tradition,' in C. Burnett, ed., *Glosses and Commentaries on Aristotelian Logical Texts: The Syriac, Arabic and Medieval Latin Traditions* (London, 1993), pp. 3-15.

- --- and L. van Rompay, 'The Syriac Manuscripts of Deir al-Surian: Some First Impressions,' *Newsletter of the Levantine Foundation* 1 (2006), pp. 3-4.
- ---. 'Syriac Historical Writing: A Survey of the Main Sources,' *Journal of the Iraqi Academy* (*Syriac Corporation*), 5 (1979/1980), 297-326.
- ---. Syriac Perspectives on Late Antiquity (Ashgate, 1984).
- ---. The Syriac Version of the Pseudo-Nonnos Mythological Scholia (Cambridge, 1971).
- ---. 'Syriac Views of Emergent Islam,' in G.H.A. Juynboll, ed., *Studies in the First Century of Islamic Society* (Carbondale and Edwardsville, 1982), pp. 9-21, 199-203.
- ---. 'Towards a History of Syriac Translation Technique,' in *III*' *Symposium Syriacum 1980*, ed. R. Lavenant, (Rome, 1983), pp. 1-14. [=Orientalia Christiana Analecta 221 (1983)]
- ---. 'Traduzioni Siriache degli Scritti di Basilio,' in *Basilio tra Oriente e Occidente*, edd. É. Baudry, S. Brock, et al. (Magnano, BI, 2001), pp. 165-180.
- ---. 'Two Syriac Translations of the Life of Epiphanios,' in J. Herrin, M. Mullet, and C. Otten-Froux, edd., *Mosaic: Festschrift for A.H.S. Megaw* (Athens, 2001), pp. 19-25.
- ---. 'Zur Überlieferungsgeschichte der Nonnos zugeschriebenen mythologischen scholion im Syrischen,' *Zeitschrift* der *Deutschen* Morgenländischen Gesellschaft, Supplementa 1,2 (1969), pp. 458-462.
- Brockelmann, C. Geschichte der arabischen Litteratur, 2 vols., 3 supplements (Leiden, 1937-1949).
- ---. *Lexicon Syriacum*, 2nd ed. (Halle, 1928).
- Brown, P. Power and Persuasion in Late Antiquity: Towards a Christian Empire (Madison, 1992),
- ---. The Rise of Western Christendom (2nd ed., Malden, MA./Oxford, 2003).
- ---. The World of Late Antiquity: AD 150-750 (London, 1971).
- ---. 'The World of Late Antiquity Revisited,' Symbolae Osloenses 72 (1997), pp. 5-30
- Buck, C. 'The Identity of the Ṣābi'ūn: An Historical Quest,' *The Muslim World* 74 (1984), pp. 172-186.
- Bukhsh, S.K. *Contributions to the History of Islamic Civilization*, 2 vols. (2nd ed., Calcutta, 1929-1930).

[NB: A translation of A. von Kremer's Culturgeschichtliche Streifzüge auf dem Gebiete des Islam (Leipzig, 1873)].

- Bulliet, R. Conversion to Islam in the Medieval Period: An Essay in Quantitative History (Cambridge, Mass., 1979).
- ---. 'Process and Status in Conversion and Continuity,' in M. Gervers and R.J. Bikhazi eds., Conversion and Continuity: Indigenous Christian Communities in Islamic Lands, Eighth to Eighteenth Centuries (Toronto, 1990), pp. 1-12.
- Būlus, A. 'Aftūnīyā,' Al-Majalla al-Baṭrakiyya 32 (October, 1965), pp. 82-87.
- Bundy, D.D. 'Jacob Baradaeus. The State of Research, a Review of Sources and a New Approach,' *Le muséon* 91 (1978), pp. 45-86.
- Burke, P. What is Cultural History?, (Cambridge/Malden, MA, 2004).
- Burnett, C.S.F. 'Some comments on the translating of works from Arabic into Latin in the mid-twelfth century,' in A. Zimmermann and I. Craemer-Ruegenberg, eds., *Orientalische Kultur und Europäisches Mittelalter* (Berlin/New York, 1985), pp. 161-171.
- Burton, J. 'Linguistic Errors in the Qur'ān,' *Journal of Semitic Studies* 33 (1988), pp. 181-196.
- ---. The Sources of Islamic Law: Islamic Theories of Abrogation (Edinburgh, 1990).
- Busse, H. 'Der Islam und die biblischen Kultstätten,' Der Islam 42 (1966), pp. 113-147.
- al-Bustānī, B. Muḥīṭ al-muḥīṭ: qāmūs muṭawwal li-lughat 'l-'arabiyya (Beirut, 1977).
- Cahen, C. 'Socio-Economic History and Islamic Studies: Problems of Bias in the Adaptation of the Indigenous Population to Islam,' trans. P. Ditchfield in R. Hoyland, ed., *Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society* (Aldershot, 2004), pp. 259-276 [A translation of the original article by Cahen, 'Histoire economic-sociale et islamologie: le problem prejudicial de l'adaptation entre les autochtones et l'Islam,' *Correspondence d'Orient* (Brussels, 1961), pp. 197-215.]
- Cameron, Av. 'Interfaith Relations in the First Islamic Century,' Bulletin of the Royal Institute for Inter-Faith Studies 1:2 (1999), pp. 1-12.
- ---. The Mediterranean World in Late Antiquity: AD 395-600 (London and New York, 1993).
- ---. 'New Themes and Styles in Greek Literature: Seventh-Eighth Centuries,' pp. 81-105, in Av. Cameron and L. I. Conrad, edd., *The Byzantine and Early Islamic Near East I: Problems in the Literary Source Material* (Princeton, 1992).

- ---. 'New Themes and Styles in Greek Literature, A Title Revisited,' in S.F. Johnson, ed., *Greek Literature in Late Antiquity: Dynamism, Didacticism, Classicism* (Aldershot, 2006), pp. 11-28.
- ---. 'The Perception of Crisis,' *Morfologie sociali e culturali in Europa fra Tarda Antichità e alto Medioevo*, vol. 1 (Spoleto, 1998), pp. 9-31.
- Campbell, E. A Heaven of Wine: Muslim-Christian Encounters at Monasteries in the Early Islamic Middle East (PhD, diss., University of Washington, 2009).
- Caspar, R., A. Charfi, M. de Epalza, A.T. Khoury and P. Khoury. 'Bibliographie du dialogue islamo-chrétien,' *Islamochristiana* 1 (1975), pp. 125-181.
- ---, A. Charfi, A.T. Khoury and K. Samir, 'Bibliographie du dialogue islamo-chrétien,' *Islamochristiana* 2 (1976), pp. 187-249.
- ---. A Historical Introduction to Islamic Theology: Muḥammad and the Classical Period, trans. P. Johnstone (Rome, 1998).
- Chabot, J.-B. 'Histoire de Jésus-Sabran, écrite par Jésus-Yab d'Adiabène,' *Nouvelles archives des missions scientifiques et littéraires* 7 (1897), pp. 485-584.
- Chakrabarty, D. Provincializing Europe: Postcolonial Thought and Historical Difference (Princeton/Oxford, 2008).
- Cheikho, L. Wuzarā' al-naṣrāniyya wa-kuttābuhā fī 'l-Islām: 622-1517, (Jouniyeh, Lebanon, 1987).
- Childers, J.W. 'Chrysostom's Exegetical Homilies on the New Testament in Syriac Translation,' in E.A. Livingstone, ed., *Studia Patristica* 33 (Leuven, 1997), pp. 509-516.
- Christys, A. Christians in Al-Andalus: (711-1000), (Richmond, 2002).
- Chrysos, E. 'Illuminating Darkness by Candlelight: Literature in the Dark Ages,' pp. 15-16, in P. Odorico and A. Agapitos edd., *Pour une «nouvelle» histoire de la literature byzantine. Problèmes, methods, approaches, propositions* (Paris, 2002).
- Cohen, A.P. *The Symbolic Construction of Community* (London/New York, 1985).
- Conybeare, F.C. 'Ananias of Shirak (A.D. 600-650c.)', *Byzantinische Zeitschrift* 6 (1897), pp. 572-584.
- Cook, D. 'New Testament Citations in the Hadīth Literature and the Question of Early Gospel Translations into Arabic,' in E. Grypeou, M. Swanson and D. Thomas, eds.,

The Encounter of Eastern Christianity with Early Islam (Leiden/Boston, 2006), pp. 185-224.

- Cook, M. Early Muslim Dogma (Cambridge, 1981).
- ---. 'The Origins of Kalām,' Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 43 (1980), pp. 32-43.
- Creswell, K.A.C. Early Muslim Architecture: Umayyads, Early 'Abbāsids & Ṭūlūnids. Part One: Umayyads. AD 622-750, 2 vols. (Oxford, 1932-1940).
- ---. A Short Account of Early Muslim Architecture (repr. Beirut, 1968).
- Crone, P. 'The Early Islamic World,' in K. Raaflaub and N. Rosenstein, eds., War and Society in the Ancient and Medieval World: Asia, the Mediterranean, Europe, and Mesoamerica (Washington, DC, 1999), pp. 309-332.
- ---. *Meccan Trade and the Rise of Islam* (Princeton, 1987).
- ---. Roman, Provincial and Islamic Law: The origins of the Islamic Patronate (Cambridge, 1987).
- ---. 'Serjeant and Meccan Trade,' Arabica 39 (1992) pp. 216-240.
- ---. Slaves on Horses: The Evolution of the Islamic Polity (Cambridge, 1980).
- ---. 'Two Legal Problems Bearing on the Early History of the Qur'ān,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 18 (1994), pp. 1-37.
- al-Dabte, Yousef, 'Iktishāf Dayr Qinnisrīn (Monastery of Qinnisre),' Mahd al-Ḥaḍarāt 2 (April, 2007), pp. 83-99.
- Dain, A. Les Manuscrits, (Paris, 1964).
- Delly, E.-K. La théologie d'Elie bar-Šénaya. Etude et traduction de ses Entretiens (Rome, 1957).
- Dennett, Jr., D.C. Conversion and the Poll Tax in Early Islam (Cambridge, Mass., 1950).
- Dols, M.W. 'The Origins of the Islamic Hospital: Myth and Reality,' *Bulletin of the History* of Medicine 61:3 (1987), pp. 367-390.
- ---. 'Syriac into Arabic: The Transmission of Greek Medicine,' *Aram* 1 (1989), pp. 45-52.
- Donner, F. The Early Islamic Conquests (Princeton, 1981).
- Drijvers, H.J.W. 'The Testament of Our Lord: Jacob of Edessa's Response to Islam,' Aram 6 (1994), pp. 104-114.

Duval, R. La littérature syriaque (Paris, 1907).

- Fahmy, K. 'For Cavafy, with love and squalor: some critical notes on the history and historiography of modern Alexandria,' in A. Hirst and M. Silk, eds., *Alexandria, Real and Imagined* (Ashgate, 2004), pp. 263-280.
- ---. 'Towards a social history of modern Alexandria,' in A. Hirst and M. Silk, eds., *Alexandria, Real and Imagined* (Ashgate, 2004), pp. 281-306.
- Fedwick, P.J. 'The Translations of the Works of Basil before 1400,' in *idem., Basil of Caesarea: Christian, Humanist, Ascetic: A Sixteen-Hundredth Anniversary Symposium,* vol. 2 (Toronto, 1981), pp. 439-512.
- Feghali, M.T. Étude sur les emprunts syriaques dans les parlers arabes du Liban (Paris, 1918).
- Fernández Marcos, N. Introducción a las Versiones Griegas de la Biblia, 2nd ed. (Madrid, 1998).
- Fiey, J-M. Assyrie chrétienne: contribution a l'étude de l'histoire et de la géographie ecclésiastiques et monastiques du nord de l'Iraq, 3 vols. (Beirut, 1965-1968).
- ---. 'Īšō'yaw le Grand: Vie du caltholicos nestorien Īšō'yaw III d'Adiabène (580-659),' Orientalia Christiana Periodica 35 (1969), pp. 305-333; vol. 36 (1970), pp. 5-46.
- Fischer, W., H. Gätje, et al., edd. *Grundriβ der Arabischen Philologie*, 3 vols. (Wiesbaden, 1982-1992).
- Flusin, B. 'L'esplanade du temple a l'arrivée des arabes, d'après deux récits byzantins,' in J. Raby and J. Johns, eds., *Bayt al-Maqdis: 'Abd al-Malik's Jerusalem. Part One* (Oxford, 1992), pp. 17-31.
- Forget, F. De Vita et scriptis Aphraatis, Sapientis Persae, dissertatio historico-theologica (Louvain, 1882).
- Foss, C. Arab-Byzantine Coins: An Introduction, with a Catalogue of the Dumbarton Oaks Collection (Cambridge, Mass, 2008).
- ---. 'Byzantine Saints in Early Islamic Syria,' Le Muséon 125 (2007), pp. 93-119.
- Fraenkel, S. Die aramäischen Fremdwörter im Arabischen (Leiden, 1886).
- Frantz-Murphy, G. 'Conversion in Early Islamic Egypt: The Economic Factor,' in Y. Raghib, ed., Documens de l'Islam medieval: nouvelles perspectives de recherche (Cairo, 1991), pp. 11-17, reprinted in R. Hoyland, ed., Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society (Aldershot, 2004), pp. 323-329.

- Frayḥa, A. Muʻjam al-mudun wa-'l-qurā al-lubnānī wa-tafsīr maʻānīhā: dirāsā lughawiyya (Beirut, 1972).
- Freimann, A. Die Isagoge des Porphyrius in den syrischen Uebersetzungen (Berlin, 1897).
- Fück, J. 'Arabīya: recherches sur l'histoire de la langue et du style arabe, trans. C. Denieau, (Paris, 1955).
- Furlani, G. 'Di alcuni passi della Metafisica di Aristotele presso Giacomo d'Edessa,' Rendiconti della R. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei. Classe di Scienze Morali Storiche e Filologische 5:30 (1921), pp. 268-273.
- ---. 'La Versione e il Commento di Giorgio delle Nazioni all' Organo Aristotelico,' *Studi Italiani di Filologia Classica* n.s. 3:2 (1923), pp. 305-333.
- Geary, P. 'L'humiliation des saints,' Annales. Histoire, Sciences Sociales 34 (1979), pp. 27-42.
- Geerard, M. Clavis Patrum Graecorum, 6 vols. (Turnhout, 1974-1998).
- Giardina, A., 'The Transition to Late Antiquity,' in *The Cambridge Economic History of the Greco-Roman World*, vol. 1, edd. W. Scheidel, I. Morris and R. Salle (Cambridge, 2007), pp. 743-768.
- Gilliot, G. 'Les «informateurs» juifs et chrétiens de Muḥammad. Reprise d'un problem traité par Aloys Sprenger et Theodor Nöldeke,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 22 (1998), pp. 84-126.
- Goitein, S.D. A Mediterranean Society: The Jewish Communities of the Arab World as Portrayed in the Documents of the Cairo Geniza, 6 vols. (Berkeley, 1967-1993).
- ---. 'The Present-Day Arabic Proverb as A Testimony to the Social History of the Middle East,' pp. 361-379 in *idem., Studies in Islamic History and Institutions* (Leiden, 1968).
- Goldziher, I. 'Influences chrétienes dans la litérature religieuse de l'Islam,' in J. Desomogyi, ed., *Ignaz Goldziher: Gesammelte Schriften*, vol. 2, (Hildeshei, 1968), pp. 302-321.
- ---. *Introduction to Islamic Theology and Law*, trans. A. and R. Hamori, (Princeton, 1981).
- ---. 'Islamisme et Parsisme: Mémoire lu à la séance générale du 6 septembre, à la Sorbonne,' repr. in J. Desomogyi, ed., *Ignaz Goldziher: Gesammelte Schriften*, vol. 4 (Hildersheim, 1970), pp. 232-260.
- ---. *Muslim Studies (Muhammedanische Studien)*, trans. C.R. Barber and S.M. Stern, 2 vols. (London, 1966-1971).

- ---. On the History of Grammar among the Arabs: An Essay in Literary History, trans. Kinga K. Dévényi and T. Iványi (Amsterdam/Philadelphia, 1994).
- ---. Schools of Koranic Commentators trans. W.H. Behn (Weisbaden, 2006).
- ---. 'Usages Juifs d'après la littérature religeuse des musulmans,' in J. Desomogyi, ed., *Ignaz Goldziher: Gessamelte Schriften*, vol. 3, (Hildesheim, 1969), pp. 322-341.
- González Blanco, A. 'Christianism on the Eastern Frontier,' in *Archaeology of the Upper Syrian Euphrates: The Tishrin Dam Area*, ed., G. del Olmo Lete and J.-L. Montero Fenollós, pp. 643-662.
- --- and G. Matilla Séiquer, 'Cristianización: Los Monasterios del Ámbito de Qara Qûzâq,' in *Antigüedad y Cristianismo* XV (1998), pp. 399-415.
- Gottheil, R. 'The Syriac Versions of the Categories of Aristotle,' *Hebraica* 9 (1893), pp. 166-215.
- Grabar, O. *The Dome of the Rock* (Cambridge, Mass./London, 2006).
- Griffith, S. The Church in the Shadow of the Mosque: Christians and Muslims in the World of Islam (Princeton, 2008).
- Grillmeier, A. Christ in Christian Tradition, II,1: From the Council of Chalcedon to Gregory the Great (590-604), (London, 1987).
- Grillmeier, A. et al. Jesus der Christus im Glauben der Kirche. Band 2/3: Die Kirchen von Jerusalem und Antiochien nach 451 bis 600 (Freiburg/Basel/Wien, 2002).
- Guidi, I. 'Di un' Iscrizione Sepolcrale Siriaca e della Versione dei Carmi di S. Gregorio Nazianzeno fatta da Candidato di Âmed,' in *Actes du dixième congrès international des orientalistes. Session de Genève 1894*, part 3 (Leiden, 1896), pp. 73-82.
- Guillaume, A. The Traditions of Islam (repr. New York, 1980).
- Gutas, D. 'The "Alexandria to Baghdad" Complex of Narratives. A Contribution to the Study of Philosophical and Medical Historiography among the Arabs,' *Documenti e Studi sulla Tradizione Filosofica Medievale* 10 (1999), pp. 155-193.
- ----. Greek Thought, Arabic Culture: The Graeco-Arabic Translation Movement in Baghdad and Early 'Abbāsid Society (2nd-4th/8th-10th centuries) (London/New York, 1998).
- Hage, W. Die syrisch-jacobitische Kirche in frühislamischer Zeit. Nach orientalischen Quellen (Wiesbaden, 1966).

Haldon, J. Byzantium in the Seventh Century: The Transformation of a Culture, Revised ed.

(Cambridge, 1997),

Hallaq, W.B. *The Origins and Evolution of Islamic Law* (Cambridge, 2005).

- de Halleux, A. 'La philoxénienne du symbole,' in *Symposium Syriacum, 1976 : célébré du 13* au 17 septembre 1976 au Centre culturel Les Fontaines de Chantilly, France : communications (OCA 205) (Rome, 1978), pp. 295-315.
- ----. 'La version syriaque des *Discours* de Grégoire de Nazianze,' in J. Mossay, ed., *II. Symposium Nazianzenum: Louvain la-Neuve, 25-28 août 1981*, (Paderborn, 1983), pp. 75-111.
- Hasluck, F.W. Christianity and Islam under the Sultans, 2 vols. (Oxford, 1929).
- Hau, F.R. 'Gondeschapur—eine medizinschule aus dem 6. Jahrhundert n. chr.,' *Gesnerus* 36 (1976), pp. 98-115.
- Hava, J.G. Al-Faraid: Arabic-English Dictionary, 5th ed. (Beirut, 1982).
- Hawting, G., ed. The Development of Islamic Ritual (Aldershot, 2006).

---. The Idea of Idolatry and the Emergence of Islam: From Polemic to History (Cambridge, 1999).

- Hebbo, A. Die Fremdwörter in der arabischen Prophetenbiographie des Ibn Hischām (gest. 218/834) (Frankfurt am Main, 1984).
- Hendy, M.F. Studies in the Byzantine Monetary Economy c. 300-1450 (Cambridge, 1985).
- Herrin, J. 'Aspects of the Process of Hellenization in the early Middle Ages,' Annual of the British School at Athens 68 (1973), pp. 113-126.
- ---. The Formation of Christendom (London, 1987).
- Hirschfeld, Y. The Roman Baths of Hammat Gader: Final Report (Jerusalem, 1997).
- Hobeika, J. 'al-Dawāthir al-suryāniyya fī Lubnān wa-Sūriyya,' *al-Machriq* 37 (1939), pp. 289-412.

Hornus, J.-M. 'Le corpus dionysien en syriaque,' Parole de l'orient 1 (1970), pp. 69-94.

- Horovitz, J. 'Biblische Nachwirkungen in der Sira,' Der Islam 12 (1922), pp. 184-189.
- ---. 'The Growth of the Mohammed Legend,' *The Moslem World* 10 (1920), pp. 49-58. [Reprinted in U. Rubin, ed. *The Life of Muḥammad* (Aldershot, 1998), pp. 269-278]

- Hoyland, R. 'Arabic, Syriac, and Greek Historiography in the First 'Abbasid Century: An Inquiry into Inter-Cultural Traffic,' *Aram* 3.1-2 (1991), pp. 211-233.
- ---. 'The Content and Context of Early Arabic Inscriptions,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 21 (1997), pp. 77-102.
- ---. 'Jacob of Edessa on Islam,' in G.J. Reinink and A.C. Klugkist, eds., *After Bardaisan: Studies on Continuity and Change in Syriac Christianity in Honour of Professor Han J.W. Drijvers* (Leuven, 1999), pp. 149-160.
- ---, ed. Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society (Aldershot, 2004).
- ---. Seeing Islam as Others Saw It (Princeton, 1997).
- Hugonnard-Roche, H. 'Jacques d'Édesse et sa reception d'Aristote,' in, *idem.*, *La logique d'Aristote du grec au syriaque* (Paris, 2004), pp. 39-55.
- ---. La logique d'Aristote du grec au syriaque (Paris, 2004).
- ---. 'Note sur Sergius de Reš'ainā, traducteur du grec en syriaque et commentateur d'Aristote,' in G. Endress and R. Kruk, eds., *The Ancient Tradition in Christian and Islamic Hellenism* (Leiden, 1997), pp. 121-143.
- ---. 'Sur les versions syriaques des *Catégories* d'Aristote,' *Journal asiatique* 275 (1987), pp. 205-222.
- al-Ḥulw, A. Taḥqīqāt ta'rīkhiyya lughawiyya fī 'l-asmā' al-jughrāfiyya al-sūriyya istinādan li-'ljughrāfiyīn al-'arab (Beirut, 1999).
- Humfress, C. Orthodoxy and the Courts in Late Antiquity (Oxford, 2007).
- Humphreys, R.S. Mu'awiya ibn Abi Sufyan: From Arabia to Empire, (Oxford, 2006).
- Hunger, H. Die Hochsprachiliche Profane Literatur der Byzantiner, 2 vols. (München, 1978).
- Inglebert, H. Histoire de la civilization romaine (Paris, 2005).
- Iskandar, A.Z. 'An Attempted Reconstruction of the Late Alexandrian Medical Curriculum,' *Medical History* 20 (1976), pp. 235-258.
- Jeffery, A. The Foreign Vocabulary of the Qur'ān (Baroda, 1938).
- ---. 'Ghevond's Text of the Correspondence between 'Umar II and Leo III,' *The Harvard Theological Review* 37 (1944), pp. 269-332.
- ---. Materials for the History of the Text of the Qur'ān, (Leiden, 1937).

Jellicoe, S. *The Septuagint and Modern Study* (Oxford, 1968).

Jensen, P. 'Das Leben Muhammeds und die David-Sage,' Der Islam 12 (1922), pp. 84-97.

- Jobes, K.H. and M. Silva. *Invitation to the Septuagint* (Grand Rapids, 2000).
- Jones, A.H.M., *The Later Roman Empire: 284-602: A Social, Economic, and Administrative Survey*, 2 vols. (Baltimore, 1986).
- Juckel, A. 'La reception des pères grecs pendant la «renaissance» syriaque. Renaissance – inculturation – identité,' in A. Schmidt and D. Donnet, eds., *Les pères grecs dans la tradition syriaque*, (Paris, 2007), pp. 89-125.
- Judah, J. 'The Economic Conditions of the *Mawālī* in Early Islamic Times,' trans. M. Fishbein, in M.G. Morony, ed. *Manufacturing and Labour* (Ashgate, 2003), pp. 167-197.
- Kazdhan, A., L.F. Sherry and C. Angelidi, *A History of Byzantine Literature (650-850)* (Athens, 1999).
- Khalek, N. From Byzantium to Early Islam. Studies on Damascus in the Umayyad Era (PhD Diss., Princeton, 2006).
- Khalidi, T., ed. and trans., *The Muslim Jesus: Sayings and Stories in Islamic Literature* (Cambridge, MA/London, 2001).
- Khalil, S. 'La "Geschichte des arabischen Schriftums" et la literature arabe chrétienne,' *Orientalia Christiana Periodica* 44 (1978), pp. 463-472.
- al-Khaṭīb, 'Abd al-Laṭīf. *Muʻjam al-qirā'āt*, vols. 1-11, (Damascus, 2002).
- Khrīsāt, M. A. 'Dawr al-'Arab al-mutanaṣira fī 'l-futūḥāt,' in Proceedings of the Second Symposium on the History of Bilad al-Sham During the Early Islamic Period up to 40 A.H./640 A.D., ed. M.A. Bakhit and I. Abbas (Amman, 1987), pp. 135-164.
- King, D. 'Paul of Callinicum and his place in Syriac Literature,' *Le muséon* 120 (2007), pp. 327-349.
- ---. The Syriac Versions of the Writings of Cyril of Alexandria: A study in Translation Technique (CSCO 626: Subsidia 123) (Louvain, 2008).
- Kister, M.J. "'A Bag of Meat": A Study of an Early Hadīth,' Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 33 (197), pp. 267-275.
- ---. "Do not assimilate yourselves...' Lā tashabbahū,' Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam

12 (1989), pp. 321-371.

- ---. 'Ḥaddithū 'an banī isrā'il wa-la ḥaraja: A Study of an early tradition,' Israel Oriental Studies 2 (Tel Aviv, 1972), pp. 215-239. [Reprinted in *idem.*, Studies in Jāhiliya and Early Islam (London, 1980), no. XIV.]
- ---. 'Lā yamassuhu illā 'l-muṭahharūn… Notes on the Interpretations of a Qur'ānic Phrase,' Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam 34 (2008), pp. 309-334.
- ---. Studies in Jāhiliyya and Early Islam (London, 1980).
- Kleyn, H.G. Jacobus Baradaeüs: De Stichter der Syrische Monophysietische Kerk (Leiden, 1882).
- Kohlberg, E. and M. A. Amir-Moezzi, *Revelation and Falsification: The* Kitāb al-qirā'āt of *Aḥmad b. Muḥammad al-Sayyārī* (Leiden/Boston, 2009).
- ----. 'Some notes on the Imāmite Attitude to the Qur'ān,' in S.M. Stern, A. Hourani and V. Brown, eds., Islamic Philosophy and the Classical Tradition: Essays Presented by his friends and pupils to Richard Walzer on his seventieth birthday (Columbia, South Carolina, 1972), pp. 209-224.
- Hamdan, O. Studien zur Kanonisierung des Korantexts (Wiesbaden, 2006).
- Imbert, F. 'Le Coran dans les graffiti des deux premiers siècles de l'hégire,' *Arabica* 47 (2000), pp. 381-390.
- Kruisheer, D. 'A Bibliographical Clavis to the Works of Jacob of Edessa (Revised and Expanded),' pp. 265-293 in B. ter Haar Romeny, ed., *Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day* (Leiden/Boston, 2008).
- ---. 'Reconstructing Jacob of Edessa's Scholia,' in J. Frishmann and L. van Rompay, edd., The Book of Genesis in Jewish and Oriental Christian Interpretation: A Collection of Essays (Traditio Exegetica Graeca 5) (Louvain, 1997), pp. 187-196.
- Krumbacher, K, A. Ehrhard, and H. Gelzer. *Geschichte der Byzantinischen Litteratur von Justinian bis zum Ende des Oströmischen Reiches (527-1453)*, 2nd ed. (Munich, 1897).
- Lammens, H. 'A propos d'un colloque entre le patriarche Jacobite Jean 1^{er} et 'Amr ibn al-'Āṣi,' *Journal asiatique* 11 (1919), pp. 97-110.
- ---. 'Études sur le règne du calife Omaiyade Mo'awiya I^{er},' *Mélanges de la Faculté Orientale/Université Saint-Joseph*, 3.1 (1908), pp. 145-312.
- Lane, E.W. Arabic-English Lexicon, 8 parts (London, 1863-1893).
- Lanz, E. 'Syrische Platonzitate in der Rhetorik des Anton von Tagrit,' in Göttinger

Arbeitskreis für syrischen Kirchengeschichte, ed., Paul de Lagarde und die syrischen Kirchengeschichte mit einem Geleitwort von Prof. D. Hermann Dörries (Göttingen, 1968), pp. 129-134.

- Lapidge, M. 'The career of Archbishop Theodore,' pp. 1-29 in *idem.*, ed., *Archbishop Theodore: Commemorative Studies on His Life and Influence* (Cambridge, 1995).
- Le Coz, R. Le médecins nestoriens au moyen âge (Paris, 2004).
- el-Leithy, T. Coptic Culture and Conversion in Medieval Cairo, 1293-1524 A.D. (PhD, diss., Princeton University, 2005).
- Lemerle, P. Byzantine Humanism: The First Phase, trans. H. Lindsay and A. Moffat, (Canberra, 1986).
- Levtzion, N. 'Toward a Comparative Study of Islamization,' in *idem.*, ed., *Conversion to Islam* (New York, 1979), pp. 1-23.
- Liebeschuetz, J.H.W.G., 'The birth of Late Antiquity,' *Antiquité Tardive* 12 (Turnhout, 2004), pp. 1-18, reprinted in *idem.*, *Decline and Change in Late Antiquity* (Aldershot, 2006), no. XV.
- ---. 'Late Antiquity and the concept of Decline,' *Nottinngham Medieval Studies* 45 (2001), pp. 1-11.
- ---. 'Transformation and Decline: Are the Two Really Incompatible?' in J.-U. Krause and C. Witschel, eds., Die Stadt in der Spätantike—Niedergang oder Wandel? Akten des internationalen kolloquiums in München am 30. und 31. Mai 2003 (Stuttgart, 2006), pp. 463-483.
- ----. "The use and abuses of the concept of "decline" in later Roman history. Or, was Gibbon politically incorrect?" with following discussion by Av. Cameron, B. Ward-Perkins, M. Whittow, and L. Lavan, in L. Lavan, ed., *Recent Research in Late-Antique Urbanism, Journal of Roman Archaeology*, ss. 42 (Portsmouth, Rhode Island, 2001), pp. 233-245.
- ---. 'Was there a Crisis of the Third Century?' in Crises and the Roman Empire: Proceedings of the Seventh Workshop of the International Network Impact of Empire (Nijmegen, June 20-24, 2006)(Leiden, Boston, 2007), pp. 11-20.
- Livne-Kafri, O. 'Early Muslim Ascetics and the World of Christian Monasticism,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 20 (1996), pp. 105-129.
- Loopstra, J.A. Patristic Selections In the "Masoretic" Handbooks of the Qarqaptā Tradition (PhD, diss., Catholic University of America, 2009).

McAuliffe, J.D. *Encyclopaedia of the Qur'ān*, 5 vols. (Leiden/Boston, 2001-2006).

---. 'Exegetical identification of the Ṣābi'ūn,' *The Muslim World* 72 (1982), pp. 95-106.

MacMullen, R. Christianizing the Roman Empire (A.D. 100-400) (New Haven/London, 1984).

- Macomber, W.F. 'The Literary Activity of Hunain b. Ishaq in Syriac,' Mahrajān li-afrām wa-ḥunayn/Ephrem-Hunayn Festival (Baghdad, 1974), pp. 570-544.
- Macuch, R. 'On the Pre-History of the Credal Formula "There is No God But God," trans.
 A.G. Goldbloom, in G. Hawting, ed., *The Development of Islamic Ritual*Aldershot/Burlington, VT, 2006), pp. 3-21. [Originally published as R. Macuch,
 'Zur Vorgeschichte der Bekenntnisformel *lā ilāha illā llāhu*,' *Zeitschrift der Deutschen Morgenländischen Gesellschaft* 128 (1978), pp. 20-38.]
- Maghen, Z. 'Intertwined Triangles: Remarks on the Relationship between two Prophetic Scandals,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 33 (2007), pp. 17-92.
- Mango, C. Byzantium: The Empire of New Rome (New York, 1980).
- ---. 'Greek Culture in Palestine after the Arab Conquest,' in G. Cavallo, G. de Gregorio, and M. Maniaci, eds., *Scritture, Libri e Testi nelle Aree Provinciali di Bisanzio*, vol. 1, (Spoleto, 1991), pp. 149-160.
- ---."The Tradition of Byzantine Chronography," *Harvard Ukrainian Studies* 12/13 (1988-89), pp. 360-372.
- Manna, Y. Qāmūs kaldānī-'arabī (Beirut, 1975).
- Margoliouth, J. P. Supplement to the Thesaurus Syriacus of R. Payne Smith, S.T.P. (Oxford, 1927).
- L'Abbé Martin. 'L'Hexaméron de Jacques d'Édesse,' *Journal asiatique* (8^{ème} sér.) 11 (1888) 401-90.
- Massignon, L. Essay on the Origins of the Technical Language of Islamic Mysticism, trans. B. Clark, (Notre Dame, 1997).
- al-Mawṣilī, D. al-Chalabī. al-Āthār al-āramiyya fī lughat al-Mawṣil al-'āmiyya (Mosul, 1935).
- Menze, V. Justinian and the Making of the Syrian Orthodox Church, (Oxford, 2008), pp. 106-144.
- Meyerhof, M. 'New Light on Hunain Ibn Ishaq and His Period,' *Isis* 8:4 (1926), pp. 685-724.

- ---. 'Notes sur quelques médecins juifs égyptiens qui sont illustrés à l'époque arabe,' *Isis* 12:1 (1929), pp. 113-131.
- ---. 'Über echte und unechte Schriften Galens, nach arabischen Quellen,' Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Philosophisch-Historische Klasse 28 (1928), pp. 533-548.
- Mingana, A. 'The Transmission of the Koran,' *The Moslem World* 7 (1917), pp. 223-232, 402-414 [NB: pp. 402-414 is entitled 'Transmission of the Kur'ān according to Christian Writers.']
- Modarressi, H. 'Early Debates on the Integrity of the Qur'ān: A Brief Survey,' *Studia Islamica* 77 (1993).
- Monneret de Villard, Ugo. *Lo Studio dell'Islām in Europa nel XII e nel XIII Secolo* (The Vatican, 1944).
- Morony, M. 'Bayn al-Fitnatayn: Problems in the Periodization of Early Islamic History,' *Journal of Near Eastern Studies* 40:3 (1981), pp. 247-251.
- ----. 'History and Identity in the Syrian Churches,' in J.J. van Ginkel, H.L. Murre-van den Berg, and T.M. van Lint, eds. *Redefining Christian Identity: Cultural Interaction in the Middle East since the Rise of Islam* (Orientalia Lovaniensia Analecta 134) (Leuven/Paris/Dudley, MA, 2005), pp. 1-34.
- ---. *Iraq after the Muslim Conquest*, 2nd ed. (Piscataway, NJ, 2005).
- Moss, C. 'A Syriac Patristic Manuscript,' *Journal of Theological Studies* 30 (1929), pp. 249-254.
- Mourad, S.A. 'Christian Monks in Islamic Literature: A Preliminary Report on Some Arabic Apothegmata Patrum,' *Bulletin of the Royal Institute for Inter-faith Studies* 6:2 (2004), pp. 81-98.
- ---. Early Islam between Myth and History: al-Ḥasan al-Baṣrī (D. 110 H/728 CE) and the Formation of his Legacy in Classical Islamic Scholarship (Leiden/Boston, 2006).
- Mubāraka, F.M. Baqāyā al-ārāmiyya fī lughat ahl Ṣadad al-maḥkiyya (Aleppo, 1999).
- Nakhla, R. Gharā'ib al-lahja al-lubnāniyya al-sūriyya (Beirut, 1962).
- Na'nā'a, R. al-Isrā'īliyyāt wa-atharuhā fī kutub al-tafsīr (Damascus/Beirut, 1970).
- Nau, F. 'L'araméen chrétien (syriaque): les traductions faites du grec en syriaque au VII^e siècle,' *Revue de l'histoire des religions* 99 (1929), pp. 232-287.

- ----.'La cosmographie au VIIe siècle chez les Syriens,' *Revue de l'orient chrétien* 5 (15) (1910), pp. 225-254.
- ---. 'Les récits inédits du moine Anastase. Contribution a l'histoire du Sinai au Commencement du VIIe siècle (traduction française),' *Revue de l'institut catholique de Paris* 1 (1902), pp. 1-26, 110-151.
- Nöldeke, T. *Geschichte des Qorāns* (Leipzig, 1909-1938). [NB: vol. 3 = G. Bergsträβer and O. Pretzl, *Geschichte des Qorāns von Theodor Nöldeke*, (Leipzig, 1938).]
- Noth, A. 'Problems of Differentiation between Muslims and Non-Muslims: Re-reading the "Ordinances of 'Umar" (*Al-Shurūț al-Umariyya*),' trans. M. Muelhaeusler in R. Hoyland, ed., *Muslims and Others in Early Islamic Society* (Aldershot, 2004), pp. 103-124. [translation of Noth's 'Abgrenzungsprobleme zwischen Muslimen und Nicht-Muslimen. Die 'Bedingungen 'Umars (aš-Šurūț al-umariyya)' unter einem anderen Aspekt gelesen,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 9 (1987), pp. 290-315.]
- Nutton, N. Ancient Medicine (London and New York, 2004).
- Obolensky, D. *The Byzantine Commonwealth: Eastern Europe* 500-1453 (New York/Washington, 1971).
- Palmer, A. "Āmīd in the Seventh-Century Syriac Life of Theodūṭē,' in Emmanouela Grypeou, et. al, *The Encounter of Eastern Christianity with Early Islam* (Leiden, 2006), pp. 111-138.
- ---. 'The Garshūnī Version of the Life of Theodotos of Amida,' *Parole de l'Orient* 16 (1990-1991), pp. 253-259.
- ---. Monk and Mason on the Tigris frontier: The Early History of Tur 'Abdin (Cambridge, 1990).
- ----. 'Saints' Lives With a Difference: Elijah on John of Tella (d. 538) and Joseph on Theodotos of Amida (d. 698),' *IV Symposium Syriacum 1984 Literary Genres in Syriac Literature*, H.J.W. Drijvers, R. Lavenant, C. Molenberg and G.J. Reinink, eds., (Rome, 1987), pp. 203-216.
- Parisot, I. 'Praefatio,' pp. IX-LXXX in *Patrologia Syriaca*, vol. 1 (Paris, 1894).
- Parmentier, M.F.G. 'Gregory of Nyssa's *De differentia essentiae et hypostaseos* (CPG 3196) in Syriac translation,' in H.R. Drobner and C. Klock, edd., *Studien zu Gregor von Nyssa und der Christlichen Spätantike* (Leiden, 1990), pp. 17-55.
- ---. 'Syriac Translations of Gregory of Nyssa,' Orientalia Lovaniensia Periodica 20 (1989), pp. 143-193.

Payne Smith, R. Thesaurus Syriacus. 2 vols. (Oxford, 1879-1901).

Peeters, P. Le tréfonds oriental de l'hagiographie byzantine (Brussels, 1950).

- Peponakis, Μ. Εξισλαμισμοί και επανεκχριστιανισμοί στην Κρήτη (1645-1899) (Rethymno, 1997).
- Perczel, I. 'Sergius of Reshaina's Syriac Translation of the Dionysian Corpus. Some Preliminary Remarks,' in C. Baffioni, ed., La diffusione dell' eredità classica nell' età tardoantica e medievale: Filologia, storia, dottrina (Alessandria, 2000) pp. 79-94.
- Petitmengin P., and B. Flusin. 'Le livre antique et la dictée: nouvelles recherches,' in *Mémorial André-Jean Festugière: antiquité païenne et chrétienne* (Genève, 1984), pp. 247-262.
- Peters, F.E. Aristoteles Arabus: The Oriental Translations and Commentaries on the Aristotelian Corpus (Leiden, 1968).
- ---. 'The Quest of the Historical Muhammad,' *International Journal of Middle Eastern Studies* 23 (1991), pp. 291-315.
- Pines, S. 'Notes on Islam and on Arabic Christianity and Judaeo-Christianity,' *Jerusalem Studies in Arabic and Islam* 4 (1984), pp. 135-152.
- ---, 'Some traits of Christian Theological Writing in Relation to Moslem *Kalām* and Jewish Thought,' pp. 79-99, in S. Stroumsa, ed., *The Collected Works of Shlomo Pines*, vol. 3, *Studies in the History of Arabic Philosophy* (Jerusalem, 1996).
- Pormann, P. 'The Physician and the Other: Images of the Charlatan in Medieval Islam,' Bulletin of the History of Medicine 79 (2005), pp. 189-227.
- ---, and E. Savage-Smith. *Medieval Islamic Medicine* (Washington, DC, 2007).
- Pregill, M. 'The Hebrew Bible and the Quran: The Problem of the Jewish "Influence" on Islam,' *Religion Compass* 1/6 (2007), pp. 643-659.
- Puin, G.R. 'Observations on early Qur'ān Manuscripts in Ṣan'ā',' in S. Wild, ed., *The Qur'an as Text* (Leiden, 1996), pp. 107-111.
- Qāshā, S. Aḥwāl al-naṣārā fī khilafat banī Umayya, 3 vols. (Beirut, 2005).
- Raguse, H. 'Syrische Homerzitate in der Rhetorik des Anton von Tagrit,' in Göttinger Arbeitskreis für syrischen Kirchengeschichte, ed., Paul de Lagarde und die syrischen Kirchengeschichte mit einem Geleitwort von Prof. D. Hermann Dörries (Göttingen, 1968), pp. 162-175.

- Rásonyi Nagy, L. 'Das uigurische Aesop-Josïpas Fragment,' *Byzantinisch-Neugriechische Jahrbucher* 7 (1930), pp. 429-443.
- Reynolds, G.S. 'The Muslim Jesus: Dead or Alive?', Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 72 (2009), pp. 237-258.
- Ritter, H. 'Studien zur Geschichte der islamischen Frömmigkeit,' *Islam* 21 (1933), pp. 1-83.
- Robinson, C.F. *Empire and Elites after the Muslim Conquest* (Cambridge, 2000).
- Robinson, N. Christ in Islam and Christianity (Albany, 1991).
- Rosenthal, F. 'Die Arabische Autobiographie,' Analecta Orientalia 14 (1937), pp. 1-40.
- ---. The Classical Heritage in Islam, trans. E. and J. Marmorstein (London and New York, 1975).
- ---. The Technique and Approach of Muslim Scholarship (Rome, 1947).
- Rothstein, G. Die dynastie der Lahmiden in al-Hîra: Ein versuch zur arabisch-persischen geschichte zur zeit der Sasaniden (Halle, 1899).
- Reinink, G.J. 'The Beginnings of Syriac Apologetic Literature in Response to Islam,' Oriens Christianus 77 (1993), pp. 165-187.
- Renoux, C. 'Langue et littérature arméniennes,' in M. Albert et al., eds., *Christianismes orientaux. Introduction a l'étude des langues et des littératures* (Paris, 1993), pp. 107-166.
- Reynolds, G.S. 'The Muslim Jesus: Dead or Alive?', Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 72 (2009), pp. 237-258.
- Reynolds, L.D. and N. Wilson. Scribes and Scholars: A Guide to the Transmission of Greek and Latin Literature 3rd ed. (Oxford, 1991).
- Rodinson, M. *Mohammed*, trans. A. Carter (New York, 1971).
- Roueché, M. 'Byzantine Philosophical Texts of the Seventh Century,' Jahrbuch der Österreichischen Byzantinistik 23 (1974), pp. 61-76.
- Rubin, U. The Eye of the Beholder: The Life of Muḥammad as viewed by the early Muslims (Princeton, 1995).
- ---, ed. The Life of Muḥammad (Aldershot, 1998).

- Sahas, D.J. 'The Formation of Later Islamic Doctrines as a Response to Byzantine Polemics: The Miracles of Muhammad,' *The Greek Orthodox Theological Review* 27.1-2 (1982), pp. 307-324.
- Said, E. Culture and Imperialism (New York, 1993).
- Saley, R. The Samuel Manuscript of Jacob of Edessa: A Study in Its Underlying Textual Traditions (Leiden, 1998).
- Saliba, G. 'Competition and the Transmission of the Foreign Sciences: Hunayn at the 'Abbasid Court,' *Bulletin of the Royal Institute of Inter-Faith Studies* 2:2 (Autumn 2000), 85-101.
- ---. Islamic Science and the Making of the European Renaissance (Cambridge, Mass. and London, 2007).
- Salvesen, A. 'The Purpose of Jacob of Edessa's Version of Samuel,' *The Harp* 8-9 (July 1995-1996), pp. 117-126.
- ---. 'Who's a Suryoyo? Some Syriac Writers on Syria and Syrians,' paper delivered at Princeton University, January 14, 2005.
- Samir, S.K. 'Saint Rawḥ al-Qurašī: etude d'onomastique arabe et authenticité de sa passion,' *Le Muséon* 105 (1992), pp. 343-359.
- Schacht, J. An Introduction to Islamic Law (Oxford, 1964).
- Schöffler, H.H. Die Akademie von Gondischapur: Aristoteles auf dem Wege in den Orient (Stuttgart, 1980).
- Schrier, O.J. 'Chronological problems concerning the lives of Severos bar Mašqā, Athanasios of Balad, Julianus Romāya, Yoḥannān Sābā, George of the Arabs and Jacob of Edessa, *Oriens Christianus* 75 (1991), pp. 62-90.
- ---. 'The Syriac and Arabic Versions of Aristotle's *Poetics*,' in G. Endress and R. Kruk, edd., *The Ancient Tradition in Christian and Islamic Hellenism* (Leiden, 1997), pp. 259-278.
- Schmidt, A. 'The Literary Tradition of Gregory of Nazianzus in Syriac Literature and its Historical Context,' *The Harp* 11-12 (1998-1999), pp. 127-134.
- Scwarzbaum, H. Biblical and Extra-Biblical Legends in Islamic Folk-Literature (Walldorf-Hessen, 1982).
- Sherwood, P. 'Sergius of Reshaina and the Syriac Versions of the Pseudo-Denis,' *Sacris Erdiri* 4 (1952), pp. 174-184.

Shoufani, E. Al-Riddah and the Muslim Conquest of Arabia (Toronto, 1973).

- Sijpesteijn, P.M. 'New Rule Over Old Structures: Egypt after the Muslim Conquest,' in H. Crawford, ed., *Regime Change in the Ancient Near East and Egypt: From Sargon of Agade to Saddam Hussein (Proceedings of the British Academy* 136) (Oxford, 2007), pp. 183-202.
- Seppälä, S. In Speechless Ecstasy: Expression and Interpretation of Mystical Experience in Classical Syriac and Sufi Literature (Helsinki, 2003).
- Sezgin, F. Geschichte des Arabischen Schriftums, 13 vols. (Leiden, 1967-).
- Skeat, T.C. 'The Use of Dictation in Ancient Book Production,' *Proceedings of the British Academy* 42 (1956), pp. 179-208.
- Sladen, D. How to See the Vatican (New York, 1914).
- Smith, M. Studies in Early Mysticism in the Near and Middle East (Oxford, 1995).
- Smith, W.G., ed. A Dictionary of Christian Biography, Literature, Sects and Doctrines; during the First Eight Centuries, 4 vols. (London, 1877-1887).
- St. Clair Tisdall, W. 'Shi'ah Additions to the Koran,' *The Moslem World* 3 (1913), pp. 227-241.
- Stern, S. 'Ibn al-Samh,' *Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society* 1/2 (1956), pp. 31-44.
- Strohmaier, G. 'Hunayn b. Ishak as a Philologist,' *Ephrem-Hunayn Festival* (Baghdad, 1974), pp. 544-529.
- ---. 'Völker- und Ländernamen in der Griechisch- Arabischen Übersetzungsliteratur,' *Philologus* 118 (1974), pp. 266-271.
- Suermann, H. 'The Old Testament and the Jews in the dialogue between the Jacobite Patriarch John I and 'Umayr ibn Sa'd al-Anṣārī,' pp. 131-141, in *Eastern Crossroads: Essays on Medieval Christian Legacy*, ed. Juan Pedro Monferrer-Sala, (Piscataway, NJ, 2007).
- Swete, H.B. An Introduction to the Old Testament in Greek (repr. New York, 1968).
- Talmon, R. 'Jacob of Edessa the Grammarian,' pp. 159-187, in B. ter Haar Romeny, Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day (Leiden/Boston, 2008).
- Tannous, J. "Between Christology and Kalām? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes," pp. 671-716, in *Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of*

Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz, (Piscataway, NJ, Gorgias Press, 2008). Reprinted as Jack Tannous, Between Christology and Kalam? The Life and Letters of George, Bishop of the Arab Tribes (Analecta Gorgiana 128) (Piscataway, NJ, Gorgias Press, 2009).

- Taylor, D.G.K. 'L'importance des pères de l'église dans l'oeuvre speculative de Barhebraeus,' *Parole de l'Orient* 33 (2008), pp. 63-86.
- ter Haar Romeny, B. 'Biblical Studies in the Church of the East: The Case of Catholicos Timothy I,' in *Studia Patristica* vol. 34, edd. M.F. Wiles, E.J. Yarnold and P.M. Parvis (Leuven, 2001), pp. 503-510.
- ---, ed. Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day (Leiden/Boston, 2008).
- ---. 'The Peshitta and its Rivals,' *The Harp* 11-12 (1998-1999), pp. 21-31.
- ---. A Syrian in Greek Dress: The Use of Greek, Hebrew, and Syriac Biblical Texts in Eusebius of Emesa's Commentary on Genesis (Louvain, 1997).
- ---. 'The Syriac Versions of the Old Testament,' in *Nos sources: arts et littérature syriaques* (Antélias, 2005), pp. 59-83.
- Thomson, R.W. A Bibliography of Classical Armenian Literature to 1500 AD (Turnhout, 1995).
- ---. 'An Eighth-Century Melkite Colophon From Edessa,' *Journal of Theological Studies*, n.s., 13 (1962) pp. 249-258.
- Tritton, A.S. The Caliphs and their Non-Muslim Subjects: A Critical Study of the Covenant of 'Umar (London, 1930).
- ---. 'Foreign Influences on Muslim Theology,' Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies 10 (1942), pp. 837-842.
- Trombley, F. 'The Council in Trullo (691-692): A Study in the Canons Relating to Paganism, Heresy, and the Invasions,' *Comitatus: A Journal of Medieval and Renaissance Studies* 9 (1978), pp. 1-18.
- Ullmann, M. Die Medizin im Islam (Leiden, 1970).

---. Islamic Medicine (Edinburgh, 1978).

Vajda, G. 'Juifs et Musulmans selon le Ḥadīt,' Journal asiatique 229 (1937), pp. 57-127.

van Bladel, K. *Hermes Arabicus*,(PhD diss., Yale, 2004).

- van Esbroeck, M. 'La triple preface syriaque de Phocas,' in Y. de Andia, ed., *Denys l'Aréopagite et sa postérité en Orient et en Occident* (Paris, 1996), pp. 167-186.
- van Ess, J. 'The Beginnings of Islamic Theology,' in J.E. Murdoch and E.D. Sylla, eds., *The Cultural Context of Medieval Learning. Proceedings of the First International Colloquium on Philosophy, Science and Theology in the Middle Ages* (Dordrect/Boston, 1975), pp. 87-111.
- ---. Theologie und Gesellschaft im 2. Und 3. Jahrhundert Hidschra. Eine Geschichte des religiösen Denkens im frühen Islam, 6 vols. (Berlin/New York, 1991-1997).
- van Roey, A. 'Les débuts des etudes syriaques et André Masius,' in *V Symposium Syriacum 1988*, ed. R. Lavenant (Rome, 1990), pp. 11-19.
- van Rompay, L. 'Proclus of Constantinople's "Tomus Ad Armenios" in the Post-Chalcedonian Tradition,' in C. Laga, J.A. Munitiz and L. van Rompay, edd., After Chalcedon: Studies in Theology and Church History Offered to Professor Albert van Roey for his Seventieth Birthday (Orientalia Lovaniensia Analecta 18) (Leuven, 1985), pp. 425-449.
- Versteegh, C.H.M. Arabic Grammar and Qur'ānic Exegesis in Early Islam (Leiden/New York/Köln, 1993).
- Versteegh, K., ed. Encyclopedia of Arabic Language and Linguistics, 4 vols. (Leiden/Boston, 2006-2009).
- Villagomez, C. The Fields, Flocks, and Finances of Monks: Economic Life at Nestorian Monasteries, 500-850 (PhD, diss, UCLA, 1998).
- Vööbus, A. The Hexapla and the Syro-Hexapla. Very Important Discoveries for Septuagint Research (Stockholm, 1971).
- ---. Syrische Kanonsessammlungen: Ein Beitrag zur Quellenkunde I. Westsyrische Originalurkunden 1, A (CSCO 307: Subsidia 35) (Louvain, 1975).
- Vosté, J.-M. 'L'introduction de Mose bar Kepa aux psaumes de David,' *Revue Biblique* 38 (1929), pp. 214-228.
- Vryonis, V. The Decline of Medieval Hellenism in Asia Minor and the Process of Islamization from the Eleventh through the Fifteenth Century (Berkeley/Los Angeles/London, 1971).
- ---. 'Religious Changes and Patterns in the Balkans, 14th-16th Centuries,' in H. Birnbaum and S. Vryonis, Jr., eds., *Aspects of the Balkans: Continuity and Change. Contributions to the International Balkan Conference held at UCLA, October 23-28, 1969* (The Hague/Paris, 1972), pp. 151-176.

- Walker, J. 'The Limits of Late Antiquity: Philosophy between Rome and Iran,' *The Ancient World* 33:1 (2002), pp. 45-69.
- Walmsley, A. Early Islamic Syria: An Archaeological Assessment (London, 2007).
- Walzer, R. Al-Farabi on the Perfect State: Abū Naṣr al-Fārābī's Mabād' Ārā' Ahl al-Madīna al-Faḍila (Oxford, 1985).
- ---. 'Islamic Philosophy,' in *idem., Greek into Arabic: Essays on Islamic Philosophy* (Oxford, 1962), pp. 1-28.
- ---. 'New Light on the Arabic Translations of Aristotle,' pp. 60-113 in *idem., Greek into Arabic: Essays on Islamic Philosophy*, (Oxford, 1962).
- Ward-Perkins, B. The Fall of Rome and the end of Civilization (Oxford, 2005).
- Watt, J. 'Al-Fārābī and the History of the Syriac Organon,' in Malphono w-Rabo d-Malphone: Studies in Honor of Sebastian P. Brock, ed. G. Kiraz (Piscataway, NJ, 2008), pp. 751-777.
- ---. 'Les pères grecs dans le curriculum théologique et philologique des écoles syriaques,' in A. Schmidt and D. Gonnet, eds., *Les pères grecs dans la tradition syriaque (Études Syriaques 4)* (Paris, 2007), pp. 27-41.
- ---. 'A Portrait of John Bar Aphtonia, Founder of the Monastery of Qenneshre,' in J. W. Drijvers and J.W. Watt, eds., *Portraits of Spiritual Authority: Religious Power in Early Christianity, Byzantium and the Christian Orient* (Leiden, 1999), pp. 155-169.
- Watt, W.M. Bell's Introduction to the Qur'ān, (Edinburgh, 1970).
- ---. Muhammad at Mecca (Oxford, 1953).
- ---. Muhammad: Prophet and Statesmen (London, 1961)
- Weiss, R. 'England and the Decree of the Council of Vienne on the teaching of Greek, Arabic, Hebrew, and Syriac,' in *idem.*, *Medieval and Humanist Greek: Collected Essays*, (Padova, 1977), pp. 68-107.
- Weitzman, M. The Syriac Version of the Old Testament: An Introduction (Cambridge, 1999).
- Wensinck, A.J. A Handbook of Early Muhammadan Tradition Alphabetically Arranged (Leiden, 1971).
- ---. 'Muḥammad and the Prophets,' trans. M. Richter-Bernburg, in U. Rubin, ed., *The Life* of Muḥammad (Aldershot, 1998), pp. 319-343 [translation of 'Muhammed und die

Propheten,' Acta Orientalia 2 (1924), pp. 168-198.]

- Wessel, S. 'Literary Forgery and the Monothelete Controversy: Some Scrupulous Uses of Deception,' *Greek, Roman, and Byzantine Studies* 42 (2001), pp. 201-220.
- Whitby, M. 'Greek Historical Writing after Procopius: Variety and Vitality,' in Av. Cameron and L.I. Conrad, edd., *The Byzantine and Early Islamic Near East I: Problems in the Literary Source Material* (Princeton, 1992), pp. 25-80.
- Whitcomb, D. 'Amṣār in Syria? Syrian Cities after the Conquest,' *Aram* 6 (1994), pp. 13-33.
- Wickham, C. Framing the Early Middle Ages: Europe and the Mediterranean, 400-800 (Oxford, 2005).
- ---. The Inheritance of Rome: Illuminating the Dark Ages (New York, 2009).
- Wiessner, G. Zur Handschriftenüberlieferung der syrischen Fassung des Corpus Dionysiacum (Göttingen, 1971).
- Wilks, M. 'Jacob of Edessa's Use of Greek Philosophy in His Hexaemeron,' in B. ter Haar Romeny, ed., *Jacob of Edessa and the Syriac Culture of His Day* (Leiden/Boston, 2008), pp. 223-238.
- Wright, W. A Short History of Syriac Literature (London, 1894/repr. Piscataway, NJ, 2001).
- Yarshater, E. Encyclopedia Iranica, 14 vols. (London/Boston, 1982-).
- Young, W.G. Patriarch, shah, and caliph : a study of the relationships of the Church of the East with the Sassanid Empire and the early caliphates up to 820 A.D., with special reference to available translated Syriac sources (Rawalpindi, 1974).
- Zayyāt, H. 'al-Diyārāt al-naṣrāniyya fī 'l-Islām,' al-Machriq 36 (1938), pp. 289-417.
- Zimmermann, F. Al-Farabi's Commentary and Short Treatise on Aristotle's De Interpretatione, (London, 1981).